Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265

Guoyao Wu Editor

Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health

Amino acids in systems function and health



Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology

Volume 1265

Series Editors

Wim E. Crusio, Institut de Neurosciences Cognitives et Intégratives d'Aquitaine, CNRS and University of Bordeaux UMR 5287, Pessac Cedex, France Haidong Dong, Departments of Urology and Immunology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA Heinfried H. Radeke, Institute of Pharmacology & Toxicology, Clinic of the Goethe University Frankfurt Main, Frankfurt am Main, Hessen, Germany Nima Rezaei, Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology provides a platform for scientific contributions in the main disciplines of the biomedicine and the life sciences. This series publishes thematic volumes on contemporary research in the areas of microbiology, immunology, neurosciences, biochemistry, biomedical engineering, genetics, physiology, and cancer research. Covering emerging topics and techniques in basic and clinical science, it brings together clinicians and researchers from various fields.

Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology has been publishing exceptional works in the field for over 40 years, and is indexed in SCOPUS, Medline (PubMed), Journal Citation Reports/Science Edition, Science Citation Index Expanded (SciSearch, Web of Science), EMBASE, BIOSIS, Reaxys, EMBiology, the Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS), and Pathway Studio.

2018 Impact Factor: 2.126.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/5584

Guoyao Wu Editor

Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health

Amino acids in systems function and health



Editor Guoyao Wu Department of Animal Science Texas A&M University College Station, TX, USA

 ISSN 0065-2598
 ISSN 2214-8019
 (electronic)

 Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology
 ISBN 978-3-030-45327-5
 ISBN 978-3-030-45328-2
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2
 ISBN 978-3-030-45328-2
 ISBN 978-3-030-45328-2
 ISBN 978-3-030-45328-2

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG. The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Contents

1	Amino Acids in Intestinal Physiology and Health 1 Martin Beaumont and François Blachier 1
2	Amino Acid Metabolism in the Liver: Nutritionaland Physiological Significance21Yongqing Hou, Shengdi Hu, Xinyu Li, Wenliang He,and Guoyao Wu
3	Amino Acids in Circulatory Function and Health39William Durante
4	Epithelial Dysfunction in Lung Diseases: Effectsof Amino Acids and Potential Mechanisms.57Jingqing Chen, Yuhang Jin, Ying Yang, Zhenlong Wu,57and Guoyao Wu
5	Amino Acid Metabolism in the Kidneys: Nutritional andPhysiological Significance.71Xinyu Li, Shixuan Zheng, and Guoyao Wu71
6	Amino Acids in Health and Endocrine Function97Nick E. Flynn, Max H. Shaw, and Jace T. Becker
7	Amino Acids in Reproductive Nutrition and Health
8	Impacts of Amino Acids on the IntestinalDefensive System133Wenkai Ren, Peng Bin, Yulong Yin, and Guoyao Wu
9	Maternal Nutrient Restriction and Skeletal MuscleDevelopment: Consequences for Postnatal HealthCamila Sandoval, Guoyao Wu, Stephen B. Smith, Kathrin A.Dunlap, and M. Carey Satterfield
10	Metabolism of Amino Acids in the Brain and Their Roles in Regulating Food Intake

11	Metabolism and Functions of Amino Acids in the Skin 187 F. Solano
12	Metabolism and Functions of Amino Acids in Sense Organs
Ind	ex

Amino Acids in Intestinal Physiology and Health

Martin Beaumont and François Blachier

Abstract

Dietary protein digestion is an efficient process resulting in the absorption of amino acids by epithelial cells, mainly in the jejunum. Some amino acids are extensively metabolized in enterocytes supporting their high energy demand and/or production of bioactive metabolites such as glutathione or nitric oxide. In contrast, other amino acids are mainly used as building blocks for the intense protein synthesis associated with the rapid epithelium renewal and mucin production. Several amino acids have been shown to support the intestinal barrier function and the intestinal endocrine function. In addition, amino acids are metabolized by the gut microbiota that use them for their own protein synthesis and in catabolic pathways releasing in the intestinal lumen numerous metabolites such as ammonia, hydrogen sulfide, branched-chain amino acids, polyamines, phenolic and indolic compounds. Some of them (e.g. hydrogen sulfide) disrupts epithelial energy metabolism and may participate in mucosal inflammation when present in excess, while others (e.g. indole derivatives) prevent gut barrier dysfunction or regulate enteroendocrine functions. Lastly, some recent data suggest that dietary amino acids might regulate the composition of the gut microbiota, but the relevance for the intestinal health remains to be determined. In summary, amino acid utilization by epithelial cells or by intestinal bacteria appears to play a pivotal regulator role for intestinal homeostasis. Thus, adequate dietary supply of amino acids represents a key determinant of gut health and functions.

Keywords

Amino acids · Intestinal epithelial cells · Intracellular metabolism · Microbiota · Bacterial metabolites · Intestinal barrier

1.1 Introduction

The quantities of dietary proteins ingested every day by Humans, whatever their animal or plant origin, are vastly different according to food availability and cultural dietary habits. In Western Europe and United States for instance, protein consumption averages approximately 1.5-fold the recommended daily amount (Rand et al.

ENVT, Toulouse, France

e-mail: martin.beaumont@inrae.fr

F. Blachier (🖂) Université Paris-Saclay, AgroParisTech, INRAE, UMR PNCA, Paris, France e-mail: francois.blachier@agroparistech.fr

1



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

G. Wu (ed.), *Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2_1

M. Beaumont GenPhySE, Université de Toulouse, INRA, INPT,

2003; Dubuisson et al. 2010; Pasiakos et al. 2015). In sharp contrast, for instance in Southern Ethiopia, the prevalence of inadequate dietary protein intake represents as much as 94% in women (Asayehu et al. 2017).

Protein digestion in the mammalian digestive tract is globally a very efficient process, being generally higher than 90% (Bos et al. 2005; Tomé 2012); even if some dietary proteins, like for instance proteins in rapeseed, are digested with lower efficiency (Bos et al. 2007). The amino acids and oligopeptides that are released from dietary and endogenous proteins in the lumen of the small intestine are absorbed mainly in the proximal jejunum through the enterocytes by a variety of transporters present in the brush-border and baso-lateral membranes of enterocytes (Bröer 2008; Mailliard et al. 1995). The intestinal epithelium can be viewed as a selective barrier towards luminal compounds in a context of a renewal of the intestinal epithelium that is complete within a few days (Potten and Allen 1977; Potten 1997) through mitosis of pluripotent stem cells and differentiation in different phenotypes with specialized functions (Lin 2003; Barker et al. 2008; Moore and Lemischka 2006).

In this chapter, we will present how some amino acids are metabolized by the intestinal epithelial cells during their transcellular journey from the lumen to the bloodstream. The consequences of these processes for enterocyte functionality will be presented. Then, the regulatory roles of amino acids in intestinal homeostasis will be described with a focus on the gut barrier and endocrine functions. We will also give an overview on the ways by which the intestinal microbiota metabolizes amino acids; and how such metabolic capacity is linked to functional implications in both the small and large intestine. Then, we will examine how dietary amino acids have an impact on the intestinal microbiota composition. The aim of the authors is not to cover in an exhaustive way the different topics presented in this chapter, but rather to give some representative examples illustrating how amino acid and their derived compounds may have an impact on intestinal physiology.

1.2 Amino Acid Metabolism by the Intestinal Cells and Functional Implications

From experimental works performed in animal models, mostly rodents and pigs, and from more limited clinical studies with human volunteers, it appears clearly that a significant part of several dispensable and indispensable amino acids present in the small intestine content are metabolized during their journey from the luminal side of the intestinal epithelium to the portal bloodstream (Baracos 2004). The in vitro studies of amino acid metabolism in the small and large intestine epithelial cells generally used isolated living absorptive enterocytes (Blachier et al. 1993) and colonocytes (Cherbuy et al. 1995) for determining their metabolic capacities towards the different amino acids and their metabolites produced within the luminal content. This in vitro design allows to document the metabolic capacity of intestinal cells towards amino acids, but not to fully extrapolate to the in vivo situation when numerous substrates are present at the same time in the luminal content. A major in vivo experimental design used to estimate the apparent amino acid intestinal absorption and metabolism consists of measuring the amino acid concentrations at different time after a meal in both the arterial and portal blood, as well as measuring continuously the blood flow in the portal vein (Rérat et al. 1988). These experiments help to determine if a given amino acid is globally degraded (e.g. glutamine and glutamate) or produced (e.g. aspartate and alanine) in the intestinal mucosa (Blachier et al. 1999). The limitation of such experiments resides in the fact that the portal vein does not exclusively drain amino acids from the intestine, but also from several other visceral tissues. The utilization of alimentary proteins labelled with stable isotope allows for following more precisely the metabolic fate of amino acids during their intestinal absorption (Morens et al. 2003). Utilization of amino acids in intestinal epithelial cells supports not only protein and nucleotide synthesis, but also the synthesis of various compounds with important biological functions like for instance the tripeptide glutathione (Reeds et al. 1997). It is worth noting that in the enterocytes from the small intestine, the amino acids can be supplied from both the luminal route (notably in the postprandial period), but also from the baso-lateral (blood) side (Windmuller and Spaeth 1975); while for the colonocytes, the amino acid supply is believed to be from the blood side exclusively (Darragh et al. 1994), even if this latter point remains somewhat controversial as some amino acid transporters have been identified on the luminal side of colonocytes (van der Wielen et al. 2017).

1.2.1 Glutamate, Glutamine, Arginine and Related Amino Acid Metabolism in Intestinal Absorptive Cells

Glutamate and glutamine are extensively metabolized in enterocytes (Darcy-Vrillon et al. 1994) and colonocytes (Darcy-Vrillon et al. 1993). Glutamate can be used in enterocytes for protein synthesis or can be extensively metabolized in other pathways including those involved in enterocyte ATP production (Blachier et al. 2009) (Fig. 1.1). Indeed, glutamine and glutamate are among the most important contributors for energy metabolism in mammalian enterocytes (Ashy et al. 1988) and colonocytes (Ardawi and Newsholme 1985). ATP production and utilization are intense in enterocytes. This corresponds to the fact that although the gastrointestinal tract represents approximately 5% of the body weight, it is responsible for around 20% of whole body oxygen consumption (Vaugelade et al. 1994; Yen et al. 1989). The intestinal epithelium presents a high energy demand (Watford et al. 1979) due to the rapid renewal of the epithelium, thus requiring intense anabolic metabolism. In addition, sodium extrusion through the Na/K ATPase activity following nutrient and electrolyte absorption is likely to represent a major ATP-consuming



process in enterocytes and colonocytes (Buttgereit and Brand 1995). The metabolic steps involved in glutamate utilization in enterocytes involve transamination with oxaloacetate to produce alphaketoglutarate and aspartate (Fig. 1.1). Incidentally aspartate, in addition to glutamine and glutamate, represent a major fuel for the absorptive enterocytes (Windmueller and Spaeth 1976). Glutamate can also be transaminated in the presence of pyruvate to produce alanine and alphaketoglutarate, these latter compounds entering the tricarboxylic cycle in the mitochondria. In contrast, for glutamine oxidation, an initial conversion of glutamine into glutamate and ammonia by the phosphate-dependent glutaminase activity has to proceed in the mitochondria of enterocytes (Pinkus and Windmueller 1977, Duée et al. 1995) (Fig. 1.2).

Glutamate, together with cysteine and glycine, are the amino acid precursors for the synthesis of glutathione in mammalian cells including intestinal epithelial cells (Coloso and Stipanuk 1989); and inhibition of mucosal glutathione synthesis is associated with alteration of intestinal functions that can be prevented by giving glutathione monoester orally (Martensson et al. 1990). In addition to their capacity to synthesize glutathione, human enterocytes take up extracellular glutathione (Iantomasi et al. 1997). Glutathione in intestinal mucosa appears to derive largely from the metabolism of enteral glutamate (Reeds et al. 1997). The ratio of reduced to oxidized glutathione is an important parameter for fixing the intracellular redox status and controlling the intracellular concentrations of both oxygen-reactive and nitrogen-reactive species (Chakravarthi et al. 2006; Kemp et al. 2008).

Glutamate and glutamine allow the net production of of proline (Wu et al. 1994a), ornithine (Henslee and Jones 1982), and citrulline (Wu et al. 1994b) (Fig. 1.1). Although neither ornithine nor citrulline are present in proteins, they represent important compounds for inter-organ metabolism. Ornithine that is mainly produced





together with urea from arginine by the arginase activity in enterocytes (Mouillé et al. 2004), can be exported in the portal vein and be used in the liver as an intermediate in the urea cycle (Lund and Wiggins 1986). A part of ornithine released from the amino precursors is converted to citrulline in enterocytes (Blachier et al. 1991) (Fig. 1.3). Then, citrulline is released in the portal vein, and passes through the liver without major uptake, and is then used for de novo synthesis of arginine in kidneys (Cynober 1994; Dhanakoti et al. 1990). In addition, a minor part of ornithine released from arginine and glutamine can be used by enterocytes and colonocytes for the stepwise production of the polyamines putrescine, spermidine and spermine (Fig. 1.3). These amino acidderived compounds are necessary for intestinal epithelial cells mitosis (Ray et al. 2001). However, except in the neonatal period, the endogenous production of polyamines by enterocytes and colonocytes appears barely detectable in mammals (Blachier et al. 1992; Mouillé et al. 2004), and, since the polyamine circulating concentration are below micromolar concentrations (Bartos et al. 1977), the enterocyte and colonocyte polyamine content depends almost exclusively on the polyamines in the luminal contents (Kumagai and Johnson 1988; Osborne and Seidel 1990), either from dietary or microbiota origin (detailed below) (Bardocz 1993; Blachier et al. 1991) (Fig. 1.3).

Arginine, apart from being a precursor of ornithine, is also a precursor of nitric oxide (NO) and citrulline in both enterocytes and colonocytes (Blachier et al. 2011, 1991, 1993; M'Rabet-Touil et al. 1993) (Fig. 1.3). The production of NO by the enterocytes appears to be involved in the protection of the gastrointestinal mucosa (Stark and Szurszewski 1992; Miller et al. 1993; Quintero and Guth 1992; Konturek et al. 1992; MacKendrick et al. 1993), the regulation of the intestinal motility (Calignano et al. 1992; Hata et al. 1990), and the modulation of the intestinal epithelial permeability (Kubes 1992, 1993). Although a limited amount of NO may play a protective role during active intestinal mucosal inflammation (Dijkstra et al. 1998; Perner and Rask-Madsen 1999; Guslandi, 1998), numerous studies reported increased production of NO in colon of patients suffering from ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease (Guihot et al. 2000; Lundberg et al. 1994; Boughton-Smith et al. 1993; Rachmilewitz et al. 1995; Singer et al. 1996; Leonard et al. 1998; Mc Laughlan et al. 1997; Zhang et al. 1998). Excessive NO, by itself or through reactions with oxygen species (e.g. leading to the production of the oxidant peroxynitrite) is likely to play a role in the genesis of the colonic mucosa lesions as observed in inflammatory bowel diseases (Beckman and Koppenol 1996; Banan et al. 2001; Kubes and McCafferty 2000).

1.2.2 Branched-Chain Amino Acid Metabolism in Intestinal Absorptive Cells

Regarding the metabolic fate of branched-chain amino acids (i.e. leucine, isoleucine, and valine), it has been determined in the pig model that 32% of leucine in the diet is extracted by the portal-drained viscera in the first pass, with 21% of the extracted leucine being utilized for the intestinal mucosa protein synthesis (Stoll et al. 1998), the rest of leucine being presumably catabolized. Overall, 44% of total branched-chain amino acids are extracted by first-pass splanchnic metabolism in neonatal piglets (Elango et al. 2002). The catabolism of the branched-chain amino acids in enterocytes appears to imply extensive transamination and decarboxylation (Chen et al. 2009). In contrast, other essential amino acids (i.e. histidine, lysine, methionine, phenylalanine, threonine, and tryptophan) that are used for protein synthesis in the intestinal mucosa are apparently little catabolized in enterocytes (Chen et al. 2009). Metabolism of essential amino acids in colonic epithelial cells remains to be determined.

1.2.3 Sulfur-Containing Amino Acid Metabolism in Intestinal Absorptive Cells

As indicated above, cysteine is a precursor for the synthesis of glutathione, and it has been determined that between 30% and 50% of the total utilization of this amino acid by the body is devoted to the overall glutathione synthesis (Fukagawa et al. 1996; Malmezat et al. 1998). If we consider the utilization of sulfur-containing amino acids in enterocytes, the net portal balance for methionine represents as much as 48% of intake in piglets, suggesting that a relatively large part of the dietary methionine is consumed by the portal-drained viscera for protein synthesis and catabolism (Stoll et al. 1998). More precisely, the piglet gastrointestinal tract consumes approximately 20% of the dietary methionine (Riedijk et al. 2007). Cysteine, fed enterally or parenterally appears effective for sparing dietary methionine (Shoveller et al. 2003). In the neonatal piglet model, sulfur-containing amino acid deficiency results in small intestine atrophy with lower goblet cells and lower glutathione intestinal content (Bauchart-Thevret et al. 2009). These effects were associated with upregulation of the intestinal methionine cycle activity. Furthermore, in young pig, the gastrointestinal tract appears to be a site for whole-body transmethylation and transsulfuration, these two metabolic pathways being responsible for a majority of methionine utilization by the gastrointestinal tract (Riedijk et al. 2007). However, as previously said, despite large utilization by the intestine, methionine is little catabolized in enterocytes suggesting that this amino acid may be substantially consumed in other cells of the portal-drained viscera, and/or by the intestinal microbiota.

1.2.4 Threonine Metabolism in Intestinal Absorptive Cells

As noted above, the metabolic capacity of enterocytes for threonine catabolism is close to the limit of detection (Chen et al. 2009). The intestinal mucins are glycoproteins very rich in threonine (Fogg et al. 1996). In a model of experimental colitis, the intestinal inflammation increases the gastrointestinal uptake of threonine and mucin synthesis (Rémond et al. 2009). Dietary threonine extraction by the small intestine is likely to reduce threonine availability for other tissues when mammals are fed a diet marginally deficient in threonine (Hamard et al. 2009). Interestingly, a moderate threonine deficiency was responsible for an alteration of the intestinal functionality in terms of paracellular permeability (Hamard et al. 2010). The high rate of utilization by the intestinal mucosa appears largely due to the incorporation of this amino acid in the proteins of the mucosa, notably in the proteins secreted by the mucous (goblet) cells (Schaart et al. 2005).

1.2.5 Lysine and Phenylalanine Metabolism in Intestinal Absorptive Cells

In the piglet model, when expressed as a percentage of the enteral tracer input, it has been determined that the first-pass metabolism of lysine is substantial, averaging 35% (Stoll et al. 1998). However, only 18% of what is used in the firstpass metabolism is recovered in the intestinal mucosa proteins. This may be due to lysine utilization by the microbiota. However, there are also evidences in favor of de novo synthesis of lysine by the intestinal microbiota (Torrallardona et al. 1996; Backes et al. 2002). However, the net result of lysine production and utilization by the intestinal microbiota in different contexts remains to be determined (Davila et al. 2013). Interestingly, it has been shown that dietary lysine used by the portal-drained viscera is driven by its luminal bioavailability; and this utilization is stimulated immediately after meal ingestion (Bos et al. 2003).

In the piglet model, when expressed as a percentage of the enteral tracer, a marked first pass metabolism of phenylalanine is measured averaging 35%, with 18% of what is used in the total first-pass metabolism being recovered in mucosal proteins (Stoll et al. 1998).

1.3 Regulatory Roles of Amino Acids in Endocrine and Intestinal Barrier Functions

1.3.1 Amino Acids and Enteroendocrine Function

Enteroendocrine cells are one type of polarized differentiated intestinal epithelial cells. These cells that are the hormone-producing cells of the intestine, represent not more than 1% of the intestinal epithelial cells, and are present all along the gastro-intestinal tract, where they are located in the intestinal villi, but also in the crypts (Janssen and Depoortere 2013). The hormones secreted by the entero-endocrine cells present a broad spectrum of physiological effects. For instance, the effects of cholecystokinin (CCK) include stimulation of endocrine pancreas secretion (Hermansen 1984), intestinal motility (Meyer et al. 1989), regulation of gastric emptying (Liddle et al. 1986), and food intake (Lo et al. 2014). A wide range of luminal compounds, such as nutrients (Furness et al. 2013), bacterial metabolites (e.g. short-chain fatty acids (Christiansen et al. 2018)), and microbial components (Bugunovic et al. 2007; Lebrun et al. 2017) are able to stimulate the expression and the secretion of gut enterohormones. Among these compounds, protein hydrolysates and amino acids are known to stimulate the release of CCK through numerous type of receptors (Choi et al. 2007). The aromatic amino acids phenylalanine and tryptophan have been identified as the most effective for increasing CCK release (Hira et al. 2008; Liou et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2011). The taste receptor T1R1 and T1R3 expressed in CCKsecreting cells have been shown to be implicated in the CCK secretion in response to phenylalanine, leucine, and glutamate (Daly et al. 2013). In the small intestine, amino acids sensing by enteroendocrine cells via G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR) such as calcium-sensing receptor (CaSR) and GPR142 induces the releases of hormones such as glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP1) (Gribble and Reimann 2016).

1.3.2 Amino Acids and Intestinal Barrier Function

The intestinal mucosa is a physicochemical and immunological barrier against luminal antigens and enteric pathogens. Besides their role as building blocks for protein synthesis, amino acids regulate critical functions of the intestinal barrier such as epithelial permeability, tight junction formation, antimicrobial peptides secretion, mucus production and innate immune responses (Vidal-Lletjos et al. 2017; Coëffier et al. 2010). Herein, we summarize the main effects on the gut barrier of amino acids individually or in combination (Fig. 1.4).

Tryptophan plays a key role in mucosal homeostasis, as exemplified by the detrimental effects of a tryptophan deficient diet in a colitis mouse model, notably through the down regulation of multiple antimicrobial peptides in a mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR)-dependent manner (Hashimoto et al. 2012). Beneficial effects of dietary tryptophan supplementation were observed in a porcine model of colitis, with a reduction of intestinal permeability and of proinflammatory cytokine production (Kim et al. 2010). In a mouse model of colitis, tryptophan

supplementation also prevented intestinal inflammation through activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) (Islam et al. 2017). Indeed, several tryptophan catabolites produced by the gut microbiota (detailed bellow) activate the AhR pathway that is a master regulator of the gut barrier function (Agus et al. 2018). Tryptophan supplementation also upregulated the gene expression of AhR target genes and downregulated the expression of interleukin 8 in piglets (Liang et al. 2018). Moreover, some of the beneficial effects of tryptophan for gut health might be related to its metabolism by epithelial indoleamine 2,3 oxygenase (IDO) that produces the immune regulator metabolite kynurenine (Agus et al. 2018).

The beneficial effects of glutamine for mucosal homeostasis have been demonstrated by numerous studies. Glutamine limits intestinal inflammation by downregulating the production of cytokines by immune (macrophages, lymphocytes) and epithelial cells notably through nuclear factor- κ B (Nf- κ B) pathway inhibition (Achamrah et al. 2017). Additionally, glutamine prevents oxidative stress by regulating intracellular glutathione (Coëffier et al. 2010). Glutamine also regulates the epithelial permeability through an upregulation of the



Fig. 1.4 Main effects of amino acids on the intestinal epithelium

The effects of amino acids (either positive or negative) are indicated in regards (left to right) to hormone secretion, innate immune functions, mucosal inflammation, antimicrobial peptide secretion, epithelial permeability, and mucus secretion

expression of tight junction proteins such as occludin, claudin-1, zonula occludens-1 (Achamrah et al. 2017). Glutamine supplementation in mice upregulated the expression of Toll-Like receptor 4 (Tlr4) and pro-inflammatory cytokines in the ileum, while in the jejunum, glutamine upregulated the expression of Mucin 4 and of several antimicrobial peptides (Ren et al. 2014a). These results suggest that the effects of glutamine supplementation on immune responses are dependent of the intestinal segment considered. It remains to be investigated whether this activation of immune response in the mucosa, depending on the overall context, is beneficial or not for gut health. Another study in mice showed that glutamine supplementation increased the number of immunoglobulin A (IgA)+plasma cells, upregulated the expression of the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (Pigr), and increased IgA secretion in intestine of mice (Wu et al. 2016). These effects were associated with an upregulation of the expression of genes involved in plasma cells maturation (TGF-B proteins, Th2 cytokines, BAFF and APRIL), but were not observed after an antibiotic treatment, suggesting a potential involvement of the microbiota in the regulation of IgA secretion by glutamate.

Endotoxemia and sepsis have been shown to represent situations of markedly impaired glutamine metabolism in intestine. Endotoxemia that is defined as the presence of endotoxin in blood may result from a transfer of a pathological amount of endotoxin (also called bacterial lipopolysaccharide, LPS) from the intestinal lumen to the bloodstream due to impaired gut selective barrier function. Major endotoxemia can lead to sepsis that is characterized by a whole-body inflammatory state (Tsiotou et al. 2005). Sepsis shock can lead to multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (Nardi et al. 2013; Venkatesh et al. 2013). In critically ill patients, the gastrointestinal tract is believed to play a central role in the pathogenesis of septic shock (Hassoun et al. 2001; Swank and Deitch 1996). Indeed, increased gut permeability and bacterial translocation play an active role in multiple organ failure by inducing a vicious cycle of increased intestinal permeability, leading to increased transfer of luminal compounds in the bloodstream (Deitch et al. 1987; Hassoun et al.

2001). In septic patients, the sodium-dependent glutamine transport is decreased in both jejunum and ileon (Salloum et al. 1991). Furthermore, gut glutamine and oxygen consumption are markedly diminished in such patients (Souba et al. 1990). In rats receiving an intraperitoneal injection of LPS, transport measurement indicated a decreased activity in the jejunum of the sodium-dependent glutamine uptake and glutaminase activity (Salloum et al. 1991; Souba et al. 1990; Haque et al. 1997), suggesting less glutamine being available for enterocyte metabolism. In the model of sepsis provoked experimentally by caecal ligation and puncture, the capacity of enterocytes for oxidation and the intestinal mucosa glutaminase activity are decreased (Ardawi et al. 1990), with a concomitant negative nitrogen balance. Although the mechanisms underlying decreased glutamine metabolism in enterocytes in septic animals remain unclear, interleukin-1 (IL-1) has been shown to act as a mediator of the alterations in gut glutamine in endotoxemia and sepsis (Augsten et al. 1991; Mester et al. 1993). However, it is worth noting that the effect of endotoxemia and sepsis on glutamine metabolism in the intestinal mucosa is likely unspecific since absorption of several other amino acids, including leucine, proline, glutamate and arginine, are also affected (Salloum et al. 1991; Abad et al. 2001; Gardiner et al. 1995; Sodeyama et al. 1993). Indeed, following endotoxemia, almost all circulating amino acids are markedly decreased suggesting a marked decrease of the intestinal functions, notably the function of absorption (Boutry et al. 2012), even if the associated anorexia may contribute to the decrease of amino acid concentration in blood.

Several other amino acids showed protective effects for the intestinal mucosa when tested individually. Arginine can modulate the intestinal immune response through regulation of nitric oxide production, polyamine synthesis or by upregulating the expression of antimicrobial peptides (Coëffier et al. 2010). In mice, arginine supplementation upregulated the expression of Tlr4, pro-inflammatory cytokines, and antimicrobial peptides in the ileum (Ren et al. 2014b). Here again, the consequences for gut health of these latter modifications remained to be deter-

mined, but could represent, depending on the context, either a reinforcement of the innate immunity or a detrimental inflammatory response. In a pig model of colitis, cysteine supplementation reduced intestinal permeability and mucosal inflammation (Kim et al. 2009). Histidine reduced histologic damages and pro-inflammatory cytokines levels in a mouse model of colitis, (Andou et al. 2009). Glycine is able to reduce the myeloperoxidase activity and pro-inflammatory cytokines in the colonic mucosa in a rodent model of colitis (Tsune et al. 2003).

The mucus layers that are part of the intestinal barrier function protect the intestinal epithelium from luminal aggression (Birchenough et al. 2015). Intestinal goblet cells, the cells responsible for mucus secretion, are polarized differentiated epithelial cells. Their density increases from the duodenum to the colon and this increase parallels the increase in the number of bacteria (Deplancke and Gaskins 2001). In the piglet model, an adequate dietary threonine consumption appears critical for the production of the intestinal mucus, and parenteral threonine supply can ameliorate different signs of threonine deficiency (Law et al. 2007). Under pathological conditions such as ileitis, threonine requirement is presumably increased to participate in the maintenance and/or the recovery of intestinal morphology and physiology (Mao et al. 2011).

Lastly, some studies reported beneficial effects of amino acids mixtures on mucosal healing after an inflammatory episode. In a rat model of colitis, dietary supplementation with amino acids highly represented in mucins (threonine, cysteine, proline and serine) increased intestinal mucus production and thus favored mucosal healing (Faure et al. 2006). In another rodent study, dietary supplementation after colitis induction with a mixture of three amino acids (glutamate, methionine and threonine) improved mucosal healing while it did not improved inflammatory parameters (Liu et al. 2013). The beneficial effects of this amino acid mixture might be related to their involvement in energy metabolism, and glutathione and mucus synthesis.

In summary, several amino acid (mainly tryptophan and glutamine) play a critical role in the maintenance of intestinal barrier. Although direct effects of amino acids are involved in their beneficial role on the mucosa, it has been recently hypothesized that the gut microbiota could mediate some of the health effects of amino acids.

1.4 Amino Acid Metabolism by the Intestinal Microbiota and Functional Implications

Although the microbiota is not abundant in the proximal part of the small intestine, and the intestinal transit is relatively rapid there (Schippa and Conte 2014; Dinning 2016), some recent data suggest that the microbiota could play a role in the utilization and production of amino acids, even if, as said above, the balance between both processes is not fully understood (Portune et al. 2016).

The situation is further complicated by the fact that a part of both endogenous and dietary proteins present in the small intestine luminal content can be transferred to the large intestine through the ileocaecal junction (Gibson et al. 1976). In the large intestine, the microbiota, thanks to its protease and peptidase activities, degrade these undigested or not fully digested proteins in peptides and amino acids (Portune et al. 2016). Amino acids are not believed to be absorbed by the large intestine epithelium to any significant extent, except during a short period following birth (Fuller 2012; van der Wielen et al. 2017). Then, amino acids are used by the intestinal microbiota for its own protein synthesis, and for utilization in catabolic pathways that generates numerous metabolic end products (Libao-Mercado et al. 2009, Dai et al. 2010, Blachier et al. 2007). Some of these metabolites are absorbed through the colonic epithelium, and during this process can be further metabolized giving rise to the production of co-metabolites (i.e. bacterial metabolites that are modified by the host (Rajani and Jia 2018)). Some of these amino acid-derived bacterial metabolites and co-metabolites have been shown to exert both beneficial and deleterious effects, depending on their chemical structure

and concentrations, on the intestinal epithelial cells (Blachier et al. 2017).

1.4.1 Relevance for Gut Health of Bacterial Metabolites Produced from Amino Acids

Bacterial metabolites are key molecular intermediates between the microbiota and its host. From a quantitative point of view, complex carbohydrate (mostly dietary fibers) degradation is the most important metabolic activity of the gut microbiota, releasing the short chain fatty acids (SCFA) acetate (C2), propionate (C3) and butyrate (C4) (O'Keefe 2016). SCFA are generally considered beneficial for gut health since they contribute to epithelial energy metabolism and promote the intestinal barrier function (Koh et al. 2016). Although quantitatively less important, the metabolic output of amino acid degradation by the gut microbiota is much more diverse (summarized in Table 1.1). Bacterial catabolism of amino acids releases in the intestinal lumen ammonia, SCFA, branched chain fatty acids, hydrogen sulfide (H₂S), amines, polyamines, phenolic and indolic compounds, and compounds known as neurotransmitters. Strikingly, the greatest diversity of metabolites is observed for aromatic amino acid-derived bacterial metabolites.

Some bacterial metabolites produced by the microbiota from amino acids have been identified as metabolic troublemakers (Fig. 1.5). Although at low concentration (i.e. <40 µM), the cysteinederived bacterial metabolite H₂S is used as an energy substrate by colonocytes and provides ATP (Goubern et al. 2007), at a higher concentration, H₂S inhibits mitochondrial respiration and inhibits SCFA oxidation, leading to an impairment of epithelial energy metabolism (Blachier et al. 2019). Similarly, the tyrosine-derived bacterial metabolite *p*-cresol impairs colonocyte mitochondrial metabolism, an effect associated with reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Andriamihaja et al. 2015). Last, the bacterial deamination product ammonia inhibits SCFA oxidation and oxygen consumption by colonocytes (Andriamihaja et al. 2010). Collectively, these data show that some bacterial metabolites **Table 1.1** Main metabolites produced by the gut microbiota from amino acids

Category AA precursor		Bacterial metabolites		
Branched AA	Leucine	Isovalerate		
	Valine	Isobutyrate, 2-methylbutamine		
	Isoleucine	2-methylbutyrate		
Aromatic AA	Tryptophan	Indole, indole-3-pyruvate, indole-3-lactate, indole- 3-propionate, indole-3-acrylic acid,indole-3-acetate, indole-3-aldehyde, tryptamine, skatole, serotonin		
	Tyrosine	 4-hydroxyphenyllactate, 4-hydroxyphenylpyruvate, 4-hdyroxyphenylpropionate, 4-hydroxyphenylacetate, 4-hydroxybenzoate, 4-ethylphenol, p-cresol, phenol, dopamine 		
	Phenylalanine	Phenylpyruvate, phenyllactate, phenylacetate, 3-phenylpropionate, benzoate, phenylethylamine		
Sulfur containing AA	Cysteine	Hydrogen sulfide		
Other AA	Proline	Valerate		
	Glycine	Methylamine, acetate		
	Ornithine	Agmatine, putrescine, spermidine, spermine, GABA		
	Lysine	Cadaverine, acetate, butyrate		
	Arginine	Putrescine, spermidine, spermine, GABA		
	Alanine	Ethylamine, acetate, propionate		
	Histidine	Histamine		
	Threonine	Acetate, propionate		
	Glutamate	Acetate, butyrate		
	Aspartate	Acetate		
AA deamination		Ammonia		

derived from amino acids degradation can severely impair energy supply in the intestinal epithelium when they reach high concentrations.

Several bacterial metabolites produced by the gut microbiota from amino acids degradation were



Fig. 1.5 Effects of amino acid-derived bacterial metabolites on the intestinal epithelium The effects (either positive or negative) are indicated in regards (left to right) to DNA damages, hormone secretion, production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, mucus layer integrity, epithelial permeability, and mitochondrial energy production

found to disrupt intestinal barrier and induce inflammation (Fig. 1.5). H₂S in excess may disrupt the mucus layer through disulfur bond reduction, leading to an increased exposure of the epithelial cells to toxic luminal compounds, such as heme (Ijssennagger et al. 2015). Moreover, this metabolite upregulates pro-inflammatory genes expression in epithelial cells in a model of intra-colonic instillation in rats (Beaumont et al. 2016). The tyrosinederived bacterial metabolites phenol and p-cresol increase epithelial permeability in vitro (Hughes et al. 2008; Wong et al. 2016). Ammonia also increases epithelial permeability and induces the expression of the tumor necrosis factor α (Villore Tudela et al. 2015). In contrast, other metabolites produced from amino acids exert protective effects for mucosal homeostasis. A mixture of branched chain fatty acids (isovalerate and isobutyrate), respectively derived from leucine and valine, dose dependently prevented the disruption of the epithelial barrier in vitro (Boudry et al. 2013). Interestingly, disruption of the epithelial barrier induced by p-cresol was prevented by 3-phenylpropionate and 3-(3-hydroxyphenyl)propionate, these bacterial metabolites being produced notably from phenylalanine or tyrosine degradation (Wong et al. 2016). The histidine and arginine-derived bacterial metabolites histamine, putrescine and spermine dose dependently inhibited interleukin-18 secretion by mice colon explants (Levy et al. 2015).

Importantly, gut microbiota derived metabolites produced from tryptophan recently emerged as major regulators of intestinal gut barrier homeostasis (Agus et al. 2018, Roager and Licht 2018). Indole, the main tryptophan derived bacterial metabolite (Jin et al. 2014), strengthen the epithelial barrier in vitro (Bansal et al. 2010) and prevents colitis-associated mucosal damages in vivo (Shimada, et al. 2013). However, in order to establish the beneficial vs. deleterious effects of increased production of indole by the gut microbiota, it appears important to consider that indoxyl sulfate, a co-metabolite derived from indole is considered to contribute to renal disease progression (Ellis et al. 2018; Leong and Sirich 2016; Tan et al. 2017; Ramezani and Raj 2014).

Indole-3-acrylic acid, produced from tryptophan by *Peptostreptococcus* species, alleviates intestinal inflammation and upregulates *Mucin* 2 gene expression (Wlodarska et al. 2017). Indole-3-propionate, produced from tryptophan by *Clostridium* species, reduced intestinal permeability and inflammation through pregame X receptor (PXR) (Venkatesh et al. 2014; Dodd et al. 2017). Indole-3-aldehyde, produced from tryptophan by *Lactobacillus* species, regulates mucosal immunity through interleukin-22 production and AhR (Zelante et al. 2013). Together, the protective effects of bacterial metabolites derived from tryptophan on gut health might contribute to the beneficial effects of tryptophan supplementation observed in colitis models (Hashimoto et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2010).

Interestingly, several recent reports suggest that bacterial amino acid derived metabolites could regulate the endocrine function of the gut (Fig. 1.5). The tryptophan bacterial catabolite indole regulates the secretion of glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) by enteroendocrine cells *in vitro* (Chimerel et al. 2014). Similarly, hydrogen sulfide stimulated GLP-1 secretion by L-cells (Pichette et al. 2017). If confirmed *in vivo*, these results would indicate that amino acid derived bacterial metabolites represent new compounds that could be targeted for the control of intestinal hormones secretion.

Some bacterial metabolites produced from amino acids have been shown to alter DNA integrity (Fig. 1.5). This topic is in our opinion of particular importance as long-term exposure of colonic crypt stem cells to excessive DNAdamaging agents is likely to increase the risk of unrepaired DNA lesions in these cells (Gill and Rowland 2002). To make a long and complicated story short, the cancer stem cell hypothesis propose that crypt stem cells are the cells at the origin of intestinal cancer (Vermeulen et al. 2008; Barker et al. 2009). However, whether a colorectal cancer stem cell is a transformed descendent of a normal intestinal stem cell, or whether differentiated cells can acquire a cancer stem cell phenotype upon transformation remains unknown (Yousefi et al. 2017). The mechanisms for genetic changes in colorectal cancer and their interactions with the environmental risk factors are difficult to unravel. However, recent studies have begun to better clarify how the intestinal microbiota can generate genomic changes in colorectal cancer, for instance through toxin production, metabolite synthesis, reactive species production etc. (Wang et al. 2017). Among the luminal compounds that have been identified as able to alter DNA integrity in mitochondria and nuclei, several of them appears to be bacterial metabolites derived from amino acids. The bacterial metabolite *p*-cresol that is produced from tyrosine has been shown to be genotoxic upon human colonocytes in a dose-dependent manner without any

cytotoxic effects (Andriamihaja et al. 2015). Phenol that is also produced by the intestinal microbiota from tyrosine, appears to be a precursor of the mutagenic compounds p-diazoquinone after reacting with nitrite (Kikugawa and Kato 1988). Hydrogen sulfide that is a bacterial metabolite produced from cysteine was reported to be able to alter DNA integrity in intestinal colonic epithelial cells (Attene-Ramos et al. 2010). However, these results were not confirmed in further experiments, likely because of different experimental design. Indeed, using both in vivo colonic intraluminal instillation in rats and longer-term culture of human colonic epithelial cells with millimolar concentrations of the H_2S donor NaHS, no effect of this agent on DNA integrity was detected using the sensitive gamma H2AX genotoxicity test (Beaumont et al. 2016).

1.4.2 Effects of Amino Acid Supplementation on Microbiota Composition and Metabolic Activity

Although the effects of dietary protein on the gut microbiota composition are well described (Blachier et al. 2019), only few studies investigated the impact of individual amino acid supplementation on the microbiota composition and its metabolic activity. In weaned piglets, dietary tryptophan supplementation increased large intestine microbiome α -diversity and the abundance of the SCFA producers Prevotella and Roseburia while it reduced the abundance of Clostrium species and Enterobacter (Liang et al. 2018). Moreover, in this study tryptophan supplementation increased the colonic concentration of propionate, indole 3-acetate and tryptamine (Liang et al. 2018). In a pilot study with Humans, glutamine supplementation for 14 days decreased the abundance of the Actinobacteria, Firmicutes, Dialister and Dorea (de Souza et al. 2015). In mice, glutamine supplementation reduced the abundance of Firmicutes and increased Bifidobacterium and Streptococcus in the jejunum while it decreased abundance of Firmicutes, the

- Abad B, Mesonero JE, Salvador MT, Garcia-Herrera J, Rodriguez-Yoldi MJ (2001) Effect of lipopolysaccharide on small intestine L-leucine transport in rabbit. Dig Dis Sci 46:1113–1119
- Achamrah N, Déchelotte P, Coëffier M (2017) Glutamine and the regulation of intestinal permeability. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2017(20):86–91
- Agus A, Planchais J, Sokol H (2018) Gut microbiota regulation of tryptophan metabolism in health and disease. Cell Host Microbe 23:716–724
- Andou A, Hisamatsu T, Okamoto S, Chinen H, Kamada N, Kobayashi T, Hashimoto M, Okutsu T, Shimbo K, Takeda T, Matsumoto H, Sato A, Ohtsu H, Suzuki M, Hibi T (2009) Dietary histidine ameliorates murine colitis by inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine production from macrophages. Gastroenterology 136:564–574
- Andriamihaja M, Davila AM, Eklou-Lawson M, Petit N, Delpal S, Allek F, Blais A, Delteil C, Tomé D, Blachier F (2010) Colon luminal content and epithelial cell morphology are markedly modified in rats fed with a high-protein diet. Am J Phys 299:G1030–G1037
- Andriamihaja M, Lan A, Beaumont M, Audebert M, Wong X, Yamada K, Yin Y, Tomé D, Carrasco-Pozo C, Gotteland M, Kong X, Blachier F (2015) The deleterious metabolic and genotoxic effects of the bacterial metabolite p-cresol on colonic epithelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 85:219–227
- Ardawi MS, Newsholme EA (1985) Fuel utilization in colonocytes of the rat. Biochem J 231:713–719
- Ardawi MS, Jamal YS, Ashy AA, Nasr H, Newsholme EA (1990) Glucose and glutamine metabolism in the small intestine of septic rats. J Lab Clin Med 115:660–668
- Asayehu TT, Lachat C, Henauw S, Gebrevesus SH (2017) Dietray behavior, food and nutrient intake of women do not change during pregnancy in Southern Ethiopia. Matern Child Nutr 13:e12343
- Ashy AA, Salleh M, Ardawi M (1988) Glucose, glutamine, and ketone-body metabolism in human enterocytes. Metabolism 37:602–609
- Attene-Ramos MS, Nava GM, Muellner MG, Wagner ED, Plewa MJ, Gaskins HR (2010) DNA damage and toxicogenomic analyses of hydrogen sulfide in human intestinal epithelial FHs 74 Int cells. Environ Mol Mutagen 51:304–314
- Augsten TR, Chen MK, Flynn TC, Souba WW (1991) The effects of endotoxin on the splanchnic metabolism of glutamine and related substrates. J Trauma 31:742–751
- Backes G, Hennig U, Petzke KJ, Elsner A, Junghans P, Nürnberg G, Metges CC (2002) Contribution of intestinal microbial lysine to lysine homeostasis is reduced in minipigs fed a wheat gluten-based diet. Am J Clin Nutr 76:1347–1325
- Banan A, Fields JZ, Zhang Y, Keshavarzian A (2001) iNOS upregulation mediates oxidant-induced disruption of F-actin and barrier of intestinal monolayers. Am J Phys 280:G1234–G1246

Streptococcus and *Lactobacillus* in the ileum, suggesting intestinal segments-specific effects (Ren et al. 2014a). Arginine supplementation in mice decreased the *Firmicutes* to *Bacteroidetes* ratio in the jejunum and ileum (Ren et al. 2014b). Proline supplementation during gestation in mini-pigs reduced the abundance of *Prevotella* and SCFA concentration in the proximal colon (Ji et al. 2018).

1.5 Conclusion

Amino acid metabolism by the epithelial cells and by the gut microbiota is involved in key processes of intestinal homeostasis such as epithelium renewal, gut hormone secretion, gut barrier function and immune regulations. Therefore, an adequate supply of amino acids from dietary proteins (both in quality and quantity) to epithelial cells and intestinal bacteria is a pivotal determinant of intestinal health and functions. Intestinal bacteria produce numerous metabolites from amino acids, and, although several of these metabolites have been shown to impact the intestinal epithelium metabolism and functions either in a beneficial or deleterious way, further works are required to understand better how these compounds, individually or in mixture, impact the intestinal mucosa in different situations including healthy and inflammatory states. In addition, other important questions remain unanswered, such as the relevance of essential amino acids utilization and production by bacteria for host nutrition, as well as the consequences of the modifications of the gut microbiota composition for gut health. An improved understanding of the host-microbiota crosstalk in amino acid metabolism is essential to refine the nutritional recommendations for amino acid and dietary protein intake in relationship with the maintenance or recovery of intestinal health.

Acknowledgments The authors wish to thank the National Institute of Agronomic Research and Environment (INRAE) for continuous support; and all the contributors in the field, notably those who could not be cited herein because of space limitation.

- Bansal T, Alaniz RC, Wood TK, Jayaraman A (2010) The bacterial signal indole increases epithelial-cell tightjunction resistance and attenuates indicators of inflammation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:228–233
- Baracos VE (2004) Animal models of amino acid metabolism: a focus on the intestine. J Nutr 134:1656S–1659S
- Bardocz S (1993) The role of dietary polyamines. Eur J Clin Nutr 47:683–690
- Barker N, van de Wetering M, Clevers H (2008) The intestinal stem cells. Genes Dev 22:1856–1864
- Barker N, Ridgway RA, van Es JH, van de Wetering M, Begthel H, van den Born M, Danenberg E, Clarke AR, Sansom OJ, Clevers H (2009) Crypt stem cells as the cells-of-origin of intestinal cancer. Nature 457:608–611
- Bartos F, Bartos D, Grettie DP, Campbell RA (1977) Polyamine levels in normal human serum. Comparison of analytical methods. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 75:915–919
- Bauchart-Thevret C, Stoll B, Chacko S, Burrin DG (2009) Sulfur amino acid deficiency upregulates intestinal methionine cycle activity and suppresses epithelial growth in neonatal pigs. Am J Phys 296:E1239–E1250
- Beaumont M, Andriamihaja M, Lan A, Khodorova N, Audebert M, Blouin JM, Grauso M, Lancha L, Benetti PH, Benamouzig R, Tomé D, Bouillaud F, Davila AM, Blachier F (2016) Detrimental effects for colonocytes of an increased exposure to luminal hydrogen sulfide: the adaptive response. Free Radic Biol Med 93:155–164
- Beckman JS, Koppenol WH (1996) Nitric oxide, superoxide, and peroxynitrite: the good, the bad, and ugly. Am J Phys 271:C1424–C1437
- Birchenough GM, Johansson ME, Gustafsson JK, Bergström JH, Hansson GC (2015) New developments in goblet cell mucus secretion and function. Mucosal Immunol 8:712–719
- Blachier F, Darcy-Vrillon B, Sener A, Duée PH, Malaisse WJ (1991) Arginine metabolism in rat enterocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1092:304–310
- Blachier F, M'Rabet-Touil H, Posho L, Morel MT, Bernard F, Darcy-Vrillon B, Duée PH (1992) Polyamine metabolism in enterocytes isolated from newborn pigs. Biochim Biophys Acta 1175:21–26
- Blachier F, M'Rabet-Touil H, Posho L, Darcy-Vrillon B, Duée PH (1993) Intestinal arginine metabolism during development. Evidence for de novo synthesis of L-arginine in newborn pig enterocytes. Eur J Biochem 216:109–117
- Blachier F, Guihot-Joubrel G, Vaugelade P, Le Boucher J, Bernard F, Duée PH, Cynober L (1999) Portal hyperglutamatemia after dietary supplementation with monosodium glutamate in pigs. Digestion 60:349–357
- Blachier F, Mariotti F, Huneau JF, Tomé D (2007) Effects of amino acid-derived luminal metabolites on the colonic epithelium and physiopathological consequences. Amino Acids 33:547–562
- Blachier F, Boutry C, Bos C, Tomé D (2009) Metabolism and functions of L-glutamate in the epithelial cells

of the small and large intestine. Am J Clin Nutr 90:814S-821S

- Blachier F, Davila AM, Benamouzig R, Tomé D (2011) Channelling of arginine in NO and polyamine pathways in colonocytes and consequences. Front Biosc (Landmark Ed) 16:1331–1343
- Blachier F, Beaumont M, Andriamihaja M, Davila AM, Lan A, Grauso M, Armand L, Benamouzig R, Tomé D (2017) Changes in the luminal environment of the colonic epithelial cells and physiopathological consequences. Am J Pathol 187:476–486
- Blachier F, Beaumont M, Portune KJ, Steuer N, Lan A, Audebert M, Khodorova N, Andrihamihaja M, Airinei G, Benamouzig R, Davila AM, Armand L, Rampelli S, Brigidi P, Tomé D, Claus SP, Sanz Y (2019) Highprotein diets for weight management: interactions with the intestinal microbiota and consequences for gut health. A position paper by the MyNewGut study group. Clin Nutr 38:1012-1022
- Blachier F, Beaumont M, Kim E (2019) Cysteine-derived hydrogen sulfide and gut health: a matter of endogenous or bacterial origin. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 22:68–75
- Bos C, Stoll B, Fouillet H, Gaudichon C, Guan X, Grusak MA, Reeds PJ, Tomé D, Burrin DG (2003) Intestinal lysine metabolism is driven by the enteral availability of dietary lysine in piglets fed a bolus meal. Am J Phys 285:E1246–E1257
- Bos C, Juillet B, Fouillet H, Turlan L, Daré S, Luengo C, N'tounda R, Benamouzig R, Gausserès N, Tomé D, Gaudichon C (2005) Postprandial metabolic utilization of wheat protein in humans. Am J Clin Nutr 81:87–94
- Bos C, Airinei G, Mariotti F, Benamouzig R, Bérot S, Evrard J, Fénart E, Tomé D, Gaudichon C (2007) The poor digestibility of rapeseed protein is balanced by its very high metabolic utilization in humans. J Nutr 137:594–600
- Boudry G, Jamin A, Chatelais L, Gras-Le Guen C, Michel C, Le Huërou-Luron I (2013) Dietary protein excess during neonatal life alters colonic microbiota and mucosal response to inflammatory mediators later in life in female pigs. J Nutr 143:1225–1232
- Boughton-Smith NK, Evans SM, Hawkey CJ, Cole AT, Balsitis M, Whittle BJ, Moncada S (1993) Nitric oxide synthase activity in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. Lancet 342:338–340
- Boutry C, Matsumoto H, Bos C, Moinard C, Cynober L, Yin Y, Tomé D, Blachier F (2012) Decreased glutamate, glutamine and citrulline concentrations in plasma and muscle in endotoxemia cannot be reversed by glutamate or glutamine supplementation: a primary intestinal defect? Amino Acids 43:1485–1498
- Bröer S (2008) Amino acid transport across mammalian intestinal and renal epithelia. Physiol Rev 88:249–286
- Bugunovic M, Davé SH, Tilstra JS, Chang DT, Harpaz N, Xiong H, Mayer LF, Plevy SE (2007) Enteroendocrine cells express functional toll-like receptors. Am J Phys 292:G1770–G1783

- Buttgereit F, Brand MD (1995) A hierarchy of ATPconsuming processes in mammalian cells. Biochem J 312:163–167
- Calignano A, Whittle BJ, Di Rosa M, Moncada S (1992) Involvment of endogenous nitric oxide in the regulation of rat intestinal motility in vivo. Eur J Pharmacol 229:273–276
- Chakravarthi S, Jessop CE, Bulleid NJ (2006) The role of glutathione in disulphide bond formation and endoplasmic-reticulum-generated oxidative stress. EMBO Rep 7:271–275
- Chen L, Li P, Wang J, Li X, Gao H, Yin Y, Hou Y, Wu G (2009) Catabolism of nutritionally essential amino acids in developing porcine enterocytes. Amino Acids 37:143–152
- Cherbuy C, Darcy-Vrillon B, Morel MT, Pégorier JP, Duée PH (1995) Effect of germfree state on the capacities of isolated rat colonocytes to metabolize n-butyrate, glucose, and glutamine. Gastroenterology 109:1890–1899
- Chimerel C, Emery E, Summers DK, Keyser U, Gribble FM, Reimann F (2014) Bacterial metabolite indole modulates incretin secretion from intestinal enteroendocrine L cells. Cell Rep 9:1202–1208
- Choi S, Lee M, Shiu AL, Yo SJ, Hallden G, Aponte GW (2007) GPR93 activation by protein hydrolysate induces CCK transcription and secretion in STC-1 cells. Am J Phys 292:G1366–G1375
- Christiansen CB, Gabe MBN, Svensen B, Dragsted LO, Rosenkile MM, Holst JJ (2018) The impact of shortchain fatty acids on GLP-1 and PYY secretion from the isolated perfused rat colon. Am J Phys 315:G53–G65
- Coëffier M, Marion-Letellier R, Déchelotte P (2010) Potential for amino acids supplementation during inflammatory bowel diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis 16:518–524
- Coloso RM, Stipanuk MH (1989) Metabolism of cyst(e) ine in rat enterocytes. J Nutr 119:1914–1924
- Cynober L (1994) Can arginine and ornithine support gut functions? Gut 35:S42–S45
- Dai ZL, Zhang J, Wu G, Zhu WY (2010) Utilization of amino acids by bacteria from the pig small intestine. Amino Acids 39:1201–1215
- Daly K, Al-Rammahi M, Moran A, Marcello M, Ninomiya Y, Shirazi-Beechey SP (2013) Sensing of amino acids by the gut-expressed taste receptor T1R1-T1R3 stimulates CCK secretion. Am J Phys 304:G271–G282
- Darcy-Vrillon B, Morel MT, Cherbuy C, Bernard F, Posho L, Blachier F, Meslin JC, Duée PH (1993) Metabolic characteristics of pig colonocytes after adaptation to a high fiber diet. J Nutr 123:234–243
- Darcy-Vrillon B, Posho L, Morel MT, Bernard F, Blachier F, Meslin JC, Duée PH (1994) Glucose, galactose, and glutamine metabolism in pig isolated enterocytes during development. Pediatr Res 36:175–181
- Darragh AJ, Cranwell PD, Moughan PJ (1994) Absorption of lysine and methionine from the proximal colon of the piglet. Br J Nutr 71:739–752
- Davila AM, Blachier F, Gotteland M, Andriamihaja M, Benetti PH, Sanz Y, Tomé D (2013) Intestinal luminal

nitrogen metabolism: role of the gut microbiota and consequences for the host. Pharmacol Res 68:95–107

- De Souza AZ, Zambom AZ, Abboud KY, Reis SK, Tannihao F, Guadagnini D, Saad MJ, Prada PO (2015) Oral supplementation with L-glutamine alters gut microbiota of obese and overweight adults: a pilot study. Nutrition 31:884–889
- Deitch EA, Berg R, Specian R (1987) Endotoxin promotes the translocation of bacteria from the gut. Arch Surg 122:185–190
- Deplancke B, Gaskins HR (2001) Microbial modulation of innate defense: goblet cells and the intestinal mucus layer. Am J Clin Nutr 73:1131S–1141S
- Dhanakoti SN, Brosman JT, Herzberg GR, Brosnan ME (1990) Renal arginine synthesis: studies in vitro and in vivo. Am J Phys 259:E437–E442
- Dijkstra G, Moshage H, van Dullemen HM, de Jager-Krikken A, Tiebosch AT, Kleibeuker JH, Jansen PL, van Goor H (1998) Expression of nitric oxide synthases and formation of nitrotyrosine and reactive oxygen species in inflammatory bowel disease. J Pathol 186:416–421
- Dinning PG (2016) Recording in vivo human colonic motility: what have we learnt over the past 100 years? Adv Exp Med Biol 891:213–222
- Dodd D, Spitzer MH, Van Treuren W, Merrill BD, Hryckowian AJ, Higginbottom SK, Le A, Cowan TM, Nolan GP, Fischbach MA, Sonnenburg JL (2017) A gut bacterial pathway metabolizes aromatic amino acids into nine circulating metabolites. Nature 551:648–652
- Dubuisson C, Lioret S, Touvier M, Dufour A, Calamassi-Tran G, Volatier JL, Lafay L (2010) Trends in food and nutritional intakes of French adults from 1999 to 2007: results from the INCA surveys. Br J Nutr 103:1035–1048
- Duée PH, Darcy-Vrillon B, Blachier F, Morel MT (1995) Fuel selection in intestinal cells. Proc Nutr Soc 54:83–94
- Elango R, Pencharz PB, Ball RO (2002) The branchedchain amino acid requirement of parenterally fed neonatal piglets is less than the enteral requirement. J Nutr 132:3123–3129
- Ellis RJ, Small DM, Ng KL, Versey DA, Vitetta L, Francis RS, Gobe GC, Morais C (2018) Indoxyl sulfate induces apoptosis and hypertrophy in human kidney proximal tubular cells. Toxicol Pathol 46:449–459
- Faure M, Mettraux C, Moennoz D, Godin J-P, Vuichoud J, Rochat F, Breuillé D, Obled C, Corthésy-Theulaz I (2006) Specific amino acids increase mucin synthesis and microbiota in dextran sulfate sodium-treated rats. J Nutr 136:1558–1564
- Fogg FJ, Hutton DA, Jumel K, Pearson JP, Harding SE, Allen A (1996) Characterization of pig colonic mucins. Biochem J 316:937–942
- Fukagawa NK, Ajami AM, Young VR (1996) Plasma methionine and cysteine kinetics in response to an intravenous glutathione infusion in adult humans. Am J Phys 270:E209,14

- Fuller M (2012) Determination of protein and amino acid digestibility in foods including implications of gut microbial amino acid synthesis. Br J Nutr 108:S238–S246
- Furness JB, Rivera LR, Cho HJ, Bravo DM, Callaghan B (2013) The gut as a sensory organ. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 10:729–740
- Gardiner KR, Gardiner RE, Barbul A (1995) Reduced intestinal absorption of arginine during sepsis. Crit Care Med 23:1227–1232
- Gibson JA, Sladen GE, Dawson AM (1976) Protein absorption and ammonia production: the effects of dietary protein and removal of the colon. Br J Nutr 35:61–65
- Gill CI, Rowland IR (2002) Diet and cancer: assessing the risk. Br J Nutr 88:S73–S87
- Goubern M, Andriamihaja M, Nübel T, Blachier F, Bouillaud F (2007) Sulfide, the first inorganic substrate for human cells. FASEB J 21:1699–1706
- Gribble FM, Reimann F (2016) Enteroendocrine cells: Chemosensors in the intestinal epithelium. Annu Rev Physiol 78:277–299
- Guihot G, Guimbaud R, Bertrand V, Narcy-Lambare B, Couturier D, Duée PH, Chaussade S, Blachier F (2000) Inducible nitric oxide synthase activity in colon biopsies from inflammatory areas: correlation with inflammation intensity in patients with ulcerative colitis but not with Crohn's disease. Amino Acids 18:229–237
- Guslandi M (1998) Nitric oxide and inflammatory bowel diseases. Eur J Clin Investig 28:904–907
- Hamard A, Sève B, Le Floc'h N (2009) A moderate threonine deficiency differently affects protein metabolism in tisues of early-weaned piglets. Comp Biochem Physiol A 152:491–497
- Hamard A, Mazurais D, Boudry G, Le Huërou-Luron I, Sève B, Le Floc'h N (2010) A moderate threonine deficiency affects gene expression profile, paracellular permeability and glucose absorption capacity in the ileum of piglets. J Nutr Biochem 21:914–921
- Haque SM, Chen K, Usui N, Iiboshi Y, Okuyama H, Masunari A, Nezu R, Takagi Y, Okada A (1997) Effects of endotoxin on intestinal hemodynamics, glutamine metabolism, and function. Surg Today 27:500–505
- Hashimoto T, Perlot T, Rehman A, Trichereau J, Ishiguro H, Paolino M, Sigl V, Hanada T, Hanada R, Lipinski S, Wild B, Camargo SMR, Singer D, Richter A, Kuba K, Fukamizu A, Schreiber S, Clevers H, Verrey F, Rosenstiel P, Penninger JM (2012) ACE2 links amino acid malnutrition to microbial ecology and intestinal inflammation. Nature 487:477–481
- Hassoun HT, Kone BC, Mercer DW, Moody FG, Weisbrodt NW, Moore FA (2001) Post-injury multiple organ failure: the role of the gut. Shock 15:1–10
- Hata F, Ishii T, Kanada A, Yamano N, Kataoka T, Takeuchi T, Yagasaki O (1990) Essential role of nitric oxide in descending inhibition in the rat proximal colon. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 172:1400–1406
- Henslee JG, Jones ME (1982) Ornithine synthesis from glutamate in rat small intestinal mucosa. Arch Biochem Biophys 219:186–197

- Hermansen K (1984) Effects of cholecystokinin (CCK)-4, nonsulfated CCK-8, and sulfated CCK-8 on pancreatic somatostatin, insulin, and glucagon secretion in the dog: studies in vitro. Endocrinology 114:1770–1775
- Hira T, Nakajima S, Eto Y, Hara H (2008) Calciumsensing receptor mediates phenylalanine-induced cholecystokinin secretion in enteroendocrine STC-1 cells. FEBS J 275:4620–4626
- Hughes R, Kurth MJ, McGilligan V, McGlynn H, Rowland I (2008) Effect of colonic bacterial metabolites on Caco-2 cell paracellular permeability in vitro. Nutr Cancer 60:259–266
- Iantomasi T, Favilli F, Marraccini P, Magaldi T, Bruni P, Vincenzini MT (1997) Glutathione transport system in human small intestine epithelial cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1330:274–283
- Ijssennagger N, Belzer C, Hooiveld GJ, Dekker J, Mil SWC, van Müller M, Kleerebezem M, van der Meer R (2015) Gut microbiota facilitates dietary hemeinduced epithelial hyperproliferation by opening the mucus barrier in colon. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 112:10038–10043
- Islam J, Sato S, Watanabe K, Watanabe T, Ardiansyah HK, Aoyama Y, Tomita S, Aso H, Komai M, Shirakawa H (2017) Dietary tryptophan alleviates dextran sodium sulfate-induced colitis through aryl hydrocarbon receptor in mice. J Nutr Biochem 42:43–50
- Janssen S, Depoortere I (2013) Nutrient sensing in the gut: new roads to therapeutics? Trends Endocrinol Metab 24:92–100
- Ji Y, Guo Q, Yin Y, Blachier F, Kong X (2018) Dietary proline supplementation alters colonic luminal microbiota and bacterial metabolite composition between days 45 and 70 of pregnancy in Huanjiang mini-pigs. J Anim Sci Biotechnol 9:18
- Jin UH, Lee SO, Sridharan G, Lee K, Davidson LA, Jayaraman A, Chapkin RS, Alaniz R, Safe S (2014) Microbiome-derived tryptophan metabolites and their aryl hydrocarbon receptor-dependent agonist and antagonist activities. Mol Pharmacol 85:777–788
- Kemp M, Go YM, Jones DP (2008) Nonequilibrium thermodynamics of thiol/disulfide redox systems: a perspective on redox system biology. Free Radic Biol Med 44:921–937
- Kikugawa K, Kato T (1988) Formation of a mutagenic diazoquinone by interaction of phenol with nitrite. Food Chem Toxicol 26:209–214
- Kim CJ, Kovacs-Nolan J, Yang C, Archbold T, Fan MZ, Mine Y (2009) L-cysteine supplementation attenuates local inflammation and restores gut homeostasis in a porcine model of colitis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1790:1161–1169
- Kim CJ, Kovacs-Nolan JA, Yang C, Archbold T, Fan MZ, Mine Y (2010) L-tryptophan exhibits therapeutic function in a porcine model of dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)-induced colitis. J Nutr Biochem 21:468–475
- Koh A, De Vadder F, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Bäckhed F (2016) From dietary Fiber to host physiology: shortchain fatty acids as key bacterial metabolites. Cell 165:1332–1345

- Konturek SJ, Brzozowski T, Maika J, Szlachcic A, Nauert C, Slomiany B (1992) Nitric oxide in gastroprotection by aluminium-containing antacids. Eur J Pharmacol 229:155–162
- Kubes P (1992) Nitric oxide modulates epithelial permeability in the feline small intestine. Am J Phys 254:G81–G86
- Kubes P (1993) Ischemia-reperfusion in feline small intestine: a role for nitric oxide. Am J Phys 264:G143–G149
- Kubes P, McCafferty DM (2000) Nitric oxide and intestinal inflammation. Am J Med 109:150–158
- Kumagai J, Johnson LR (1988) Characteristics of putrescine uptake in isolated rat enterocytes. Am J Phys 254:G81–G86
- Law GK, Bertolo RF, Adjiri-Awere A, Pencharz PB, Ball RO (2007) Adequate oral threonine is critical for mucin production and gut function in neonatal piglets. Am J Phys 292:G1293–G1301
- Lebrun LJ, Lenaerts K, Kiers D, Pais de Barros JP, Le Guern N, Plesnik J, Thomas C, Bourgeois T, Dejong CHC, Kox M, Hundscheid IHR, Khan NA, Mandard S, Deckert V, Pickkers P, Drucker DJ, Lagrost L, Grober J (2017) Enteroendocrine L cells sense LPS after gut barrier injury to enhance GLP-1 secretion. Cell Rep 21:1160–1168
- Leonard N, Bishop AE, Polak JM, Talbot IC (1998) Expression of nitric oxide synthase in inflammatory bowel disease is not affected by corticosteroid treatment. J Clin Pathol 51:750–753
- Leong SC, Sirich TL (2016) Indoxyl sulfate: review of toxicity and therapeutic strategies. Toxins 8:358
- Levy M, Thaiss CA, Zeevi D, Dohnalová L, Zilberman-Schapira G, Mahdi JA, David E, Savidor A, Korem T, Herzig Y, Pevsner-Fischer M, Shapiro H, Christ A, Harmelin A, Halpern Z, Latz E, Flavell RA, Amit I, Segal E, Elinav E (2015) Microbiota-modulated metabolites shape the intestinal microenvironment by regulating NLRP6 inflammasome signaling. Cell 163:1428–1443
- Liang H, Dai Z, Liu N, Ji Y, Chen J, Zhang Y, Yang Y, Li J, Wu Z, Wu G (2018) Dietary L-tryptophan modulates the structural and functional composition of the intestinal microbiome in weaned piglets. Front Microbiol 9:1736
- Libao-Mercado AJ, Zhu CL, Cant JP, Lapierre H, Thibault JN, Sève B, Fuller MF, de Lange CF (2009) Dietary and endogenous amino acids are the main contributors to microbial protein in the upper gut of normally nourished pigs. J Nutr 139:1088–1094
- Liddle RA, Morita ET, Conrad CK, Williams JA (1986) Regulation of gastric emptying in humans by cholecystokinin. J Clin Invest 77:992–996
- Lin H (2003) Stem cells: to be or not to be. Nature 425:353–355
- Liou AP, Sei Y, Zhao X, Feng J, Lu X, Thomas C, Pechhold S, Raybould HE, Wank SA (2011) The extracellular calcium-sensing receptor is required for cholecystokinin secretion in response to L-phenylalanine in acutely isolated intestinal I cells. Am J Phys 300:G538–G546
- Liu X, Beaumont M, Walker F, Chaumontet C, Andriamihaja M, Matsumoto H, Khodorova N, Lan A, Gaudichon C, Benamouzig R, Tomé D, Davila AM, Marie JC, Blachier F (2013) Beneficial effects of an

amino acid mixture on colonic mucosal healing in rats. Inflamm Bowel Dis 19:2895–2905

- Lo CC, Davidson WS, Hibbard SK, Georgievsky M, Lee A, Tso P, Woods SC (2014) Intraperitoneal CCK and fourth-intraventricular Apo AIV require both peripheral and NTS CCK1R to reduce food intake in male rats. Endocrinology 155:1700–1707
- Lund P, Wiggins D (1986) The ornithine requirement of urea synthesis. Formation of ornithine from glutamine in hepatocytes. Biochem J 239:773–776
- Lundberg JO, Hellström PM, Lundberg JM, Alving K (1994) Greatly increased luminal nitric oxide in ulcerative colitis. Lancet 344:1673–1674
- M'Rabet-Touil H, Blachier F, Morel MT, Darcy-Vrillon B, Duée PH (1993) Characterization and ontogenesis of nitric oxide synthase in pig enterocytes. FEBS Lett 331:243–247
- MacKendrick W, Caplan M, Hsueh W (1993) Endogenous nitric oxide protects against platelet-activating factor-induced bowel injury in the rat. Pediatr Res 34:222–228
- Mailliard ME, Stevens BR, Mann GE (1995) Amino acid transport by small intestinal, hepatic, and pancreatic epithelia. Gastroenterology 108:888–910
- Malmezat T, Breuillé D, Pouyet C, Mirand PP, Obled C (1998) Metabolism of cysteine is modified during the acute phase of sepsis in rats. J Nutr 128:97–105
- Mao X, Zheng X, Qiao S, Wu G, Li D (2011) Specific roles of threonine in intestinal mucosal integrity and barrier function. Front Biosci 3:1192–1200
- Martensson J, Jain A, Meister A (1990) Glutathione is required for intestinal function. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87:1715–1719
- Mc Laughlan JM, Seth R, Vautier G, Robins RA, Scott BB, Hawkey CJ, Jenkins CJ (1997) Interleukin-8 and inducible nitric oxide synthase mRNA levels in inflammatory bowel disease at first presentation. J Pathol 181:87–92
- Mester M, Tompkins RG, Gelfand JA, Dinarello CA, Burke JF, Clark BD (1993) Intestinal production of interleukin-1 alpha during endotoxemia in the mouse. J Surg Res 54:584–591
- Meyer BM, Werth BA, Beglinger C, Hildebrand P, Jansen JB, Zach D, Rovati LC, Stalder GA (1989) Role of cholecystokinin in regulation of gastrointestinal functions. Lancet 2:12–15
- Miller MJ, Zhang XJ, Sadowska-Krowicka H, Chotinaruemol S, McIntyre JA, Clark DA, Bustamante SA (1993) Nitrix oxide release in response to gut injury. Scand J Gastroenterol 28:149–154
- Moore KA, Lemischka IR (2006) Stem cells and their niches. Science 311:1880–1885
- Morens C, Bos C, Pueyo ME, Benamouzig R, Gausserès N, Luengo C, Tomé D, Gaudichon C (2003) Increasing habitual protein intake accentuates differences in postprandial dietary nitrogen utilization between protein sources in humans. J Nutr 133:2733–2740
- Mouillé B, Robert V, Blachier F (2004) Adaptive increase of ornithine production and decrease ammonia metabolism in rat colonocytes after hyperproteic diet ingestion. Am J Phys 287:G344–G351

- Nardi O, Polito A, Aboab J, Colin G, Maxime V, Clair B, Friedman D, Orlikowski D, Sharshar T, Annane D (2013) StO2 guided early resuscitation in subjects with severe sepsis or septic shock: a pilot randomized trial. J Clin Monit Comput 27:215–221
- O'Keefe SJD (2016) Diet, microorganisms and their metabolites, and colon cancer. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 13:691–706
- Osborne DL, Seidel ER (1990) Gastrointestinal luminal polyamines: cellular accumulation and enterohepatic accumulation. Am J Phys 258:G576–G584
- Pasiakos SM, Agarwal S, Lieberman HR, Fulgoni VL 3rd. (2015) Sources and amounts of animal, dairy, and plant protein intake of US adults in 2007-2010. Nutrients 7:7058–7069
- Perner A, Rask-Madsen J (1999) Review article: the potential role of nitric oxide in chronic inflammatory bowel disorders. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 13:135–144
- Pichette J, Fynn-Sackey N, Gagnon J (2017) Hydrogen sulfide and sulfate prebiotic stimulates the secretion of GLP-1 and improves glycemia in male mice. Endocrinology 158:3416–3425
- Pinkus LM, Windmueller HG (1977) Phosphatedependent glutaminase of small intestine: localization and role in intestinal glutamine metabolism. Arch Biochem Biophys 182:506–517
- Portune K, Beaumont M, Davila AM, Tomé D, Blachier F, Sanz Y (2016) Gut microbiota role in dietary protein metabolism and health-related outcomes: the two sides of the coin. Trends Food Sci Technol 57:213–232
- Potten CS (1997) Epithelial cell growth and differentiation II. Intestinal apoptosis Am J Physiol 273:G253–G257
- Potten CS, Allen TD (1977) Ultrastructure of cell loss in intestinal mucosa. J Ultrastruct Res 60:272–277
- Quintero E, Guth PH (1992) Nitric oxide-mediated gastric hyperemia decreases ethanol-induced gastric mucosal injury in uremic rats. Dig Dis Sci 37:1324–1328
- Rachmilewitz D, Karmeli F, Okon E, Bursztyn M (1995) Experimental colitis is ameliorated by inhibition of nitric oxide synthase activity. Gut 37:247–255
- Rajani C, Jia W (2018) Disruptions in gut microbial-hostco-metabolism and the development of metabolic disorders. Clin Sci 132:791–811
- Ramezani A, Raj DS (2014) The gut microbiome, kidney disease, and targeted interventions. J Am Soc Nephrol 25:657–670
- Rand WM, Pellett PL, Young VR (2003) Meta-analysis of nitrogen balance studies for estimating protein requirements in healthy adults. Am J Clin Nutr 77:109–127
- Ray RM, McCormack SA, Johnson LR (2001) Polyamine depletion arrests growth of IEC-6 and Caco-2 cells by different mechanisms. Am J Phys 281:G37–G43
- Reeds PJ, Burrin DG, Stoll B, Jahoor F, Wykes L, Henry J, Frazer ME (1997) Enteral glutamate is the preferential source for mucosal glutathione synthesis in fed piglets. Am J Phys 273:E408–E415
- Rémond D, Buffière C, Godin JP, Mirand PP, Obled C, Papet I, Dardevet D, Williamson G, Breuillé D, Faure M (2009) Intestinal inflammation increases gastrointestinal threonine uptake and mucin synthesis in enterally fed minipigs. J Nutr 139:720–726

- Ren W, Duan J, Yin J, Liu G, Cao Z, Xiong X, Chen S, Li T, Yin Y, Hou Y, Wu G (2014a) Dietary L-glutamine supplementation modulates microbial community and activates innate immunity in the mouse intestine. Amino Acids 46:2403–2413
- Ren W, Chen S, Yin J, Duan J, Li T, Liu G, Feng Z, Tan B, Yin Y, Wu G (2014b) Dietary arginine supplementation of mice alters the microbial population and activates intestinal innate immunity. J Nutr 144:988–995
- Rérat A, Jung J, Kandé J (1988) Absorption kinetics of dietary hydrolysis products in conscious pigs given diets with different amounts of fisch protein. 2: individual amino acids. Br J Nutr 60:105–120
- Riedijk MA, Stoll B, Chacko S, Schierbeek H, Sunehag AL, van Goudoever JB, Burrin DG (2007) Methionine transmethylation and transsulfuration in the piglet gastrointestinal tract. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:3408–3413
- Roager HM, Licht TR (2018) Microbial tryptophan catabolites in health and disease. Nat Commun 9:3294
- Salloum RM, Copeland EM, Souba WW (1991) Brush border transport of glutamine and other substrates during sepsis and endotoxemia. Ann Surg 213:401–409
- Schaart MW, Schierbeek H, van der Schoor SR, Stoll B, Burrin DG, Reeds PJ, van Goudoever JB (2005) Threonine utilization is high in the intestine of piglets. J Nutr 135:765–770
- Schippa S, Conte MP (2014) Dysbiotic events in gut microbiota: impact on human health. Nutrients 6:5786–5805
- Shimada Y, Kinoshita M, Harada K, Mizutani M, Masahata K, Kayama H, Takeda K (2013) Commensal bacteriadependent indole production enhances epithelial barrier function in the colon. PLoS One 8:e80604
- Shoveller AK, Brunton JA, House JD, Penchartz PB, Ball RO (2003) Dietary cysteine reduces the methionine requirement by an equal proportion in both parenterally and enterally fed piglets. J Nutr 133:4215–4224
- Singer II, Kawka DW, Scott S, Weidner JR, Mumford RA, Riehl TE, Stenson WF (1996) Expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase and nitrotyrosine in colonic epithelium in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology 111:871–885
- Sodeyama M, Gardiner KR, Regan MC, Kirk SJ, Efron G, Barbul A (1993) Sepsis impairs gut amino acid absorption. Am J Surg 165:150–154
- Souba WW, Herskowitz K, Klimberg VS, Salloum RM, Plumley DA, Flynn TC, Copeland EM 3rd (1990) The effects of sepsis and endotoxemia on gut glutamine metabolism. Ann Surg 211:543–549
- Stark ME, Szurszewski JH (1992) Role of nitric oxide in gastrointestinal and hepatic function and disease. Gastroenterology 103:1928–1949
- Stoll B, Henry J, Reeds PJ, Yu H, Jahoor F, Burrin DG (1998) Catabolism dominates the first-pass intestinal metabolism of dietary essential amino acids in milk protein-fed piglets. J Nutr 128:606–614
- Swank GM, Deitch EA (1996) Role of the gut in multiple organ failure: bacterial translocation and permeability changes. Word J Surg 20:411–417
- Tan X, Cao X, Zou J, Shen B, Zhang X, Liu Z, Lv W, Teng J, Ding X (2017) Indoxyl sulfate, a valuable biomarker

in chronic kidney disease and dialysis. Hemodial Int $21{:}161{-}167$

- Tomé D (2012) Criteria and markers for protein quality assessment: a review. Br J Nutr 108:S222–S229
- Torrallardona D, Harris CI, Coates ME, Fuller MF (1996) Microbial amino acid synthesis and utilization in rats: incorporation of 15N from 15NH4Cl into lysine in the tissues of germ-free and conventional rats. Br J Nutr 76:689–700
- Tsiotou AG, Sakorafas GH, Anagnostopoulos G, Bramis J (2005) Septic shock: current pathogenetic concepts from a clinical perspective. Med Sci Monit 11:RA76–RA85
- Tsune I, Ikejima K, Hirose M, Yoshikawa M, Enomoto N, Takei Y, Sato N (2003) Dietary glycine prevents chemical-induced experimental colitis in the rat. Gastroenetrology 125:775–785
- Van der Wielen N, Moughan PJ, Mensink M (2017) Amino acid absorption in the large intestine of humans and porcine models. J Nutr 147:1493–1498
- Vaugelade P, Posho L, Darcy-Vrillon B, Bernard F, Morel MT, Duée PH (1994) Intestinal oxygen uptake and glucose metabolism during nutrient absorption in the pig. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 207:309–316
- Venkatesh AK, Avula U, Bartimus H, Reif J, Schmidt MJ, Powell ES (2013) Time to antibiotics for septic shock: evaluating a proposed performance measure. Am J Emerg Med 31:680–683
- Venkatesh M, Mukherjee S, Wang H, Li H, Sun K, Benechet AP, Qiu Z, Maher L, Redinbo MR, Phillips RS, Fleet JC, Kortagere S, Mukherjee P, Fasano A, Le Ven J, Nicholson JK, Dumas ME, Khanna KM, Mani S (2014) Symbiotic bacterial metabolites regulate gastrointestinal barrier function via the xenobiotic sensor PXR and toll-like receptor 4. Immunity 41:296–310
- Vermeulen L, Todaro M, de Sousa MF, Sprick MR, Kemper K, Perez Alea M, Richel DJ, Stassi G, Medema JP (2008) Single cell cloning of colon cancer stem cells reveals a multi-lineage differentiation capacity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:13427–13432
- Vidal-Lletjos S, Beaumont M, Tomé D, Benamouzig R, Blachier F, Lan A (2017) Dietary protein and amino acid supplementation in inflammatory bowel disease course: what impact on the colonic mucosa? Nutrients 9:310
- Villore Tudela CV, Boudry C, Stumpff F, Aschenbach JR, Vahjen W, Zentek J, Pieper R (2015) Downregulation of monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1) gene expression in the colon of piglets is linked to bacterial protein fermentation and proinflammatory cytokine-mediated signalling. Br J Nutr 113:610–617
- Wang Y, Chandra R, Samsa LA, Gooch B, Fee BE, Cook JM, Vigna SR, Grant AO, Liddle RA (2011) Amino acids stimulate cholecystokinin release through the Ca2+ sensing receptor. Am J Phys 300:G528–G537

- Wang X, Yang Y, Huycke MM (2017) Microbiome-driven carcinogenesis in colorectal cancer: models and mechanisms. Free Radic Biol Med 105:3–15
- Watford M, Lund P, Krebs HA (1979) Isolation and metabolic characteristics of rat and chicken enterocytes. Biochem J 178:589–596
- Windmueller HG, Spaeth AE (1976) Metabolism of absorbed aspartate, asparagine, and arginine by rat small intestine in vivo. Arch Biochem Biophys 175:670–676
- Windmuller HG, Spaeth AE (1975) Intestinal metabolism of glutamine and glutamate from the lumen as compared to glutamine from blood. Arch Biochem Biophys 171:662–672
- Wlodarska M, Luo C, Kolde R, d'Hennezel E, Annand JW, Heim CE, Krastel P, Schmitt EK, Omar AS, Creasey EA, Garner AL, Mohammadi S, O'Connell DJ, Abubucker S, Arthur TD, Franzosa EA, Huttenhower C, Murphy LO, Haiser HJ, Vlamakis H, Porter JA, Xavier RJ (2017) Indoleacrylic Acid produced by commensal peptostreptococcus species suppresses inflammation. Cell Host Microbe 22:25–37
- Wong X, Carrasco-Pozo C, Escobar E, Navarrete P, Blachier F, Andriamihaja M, Lan A, Tomé D, Cires MJ, Pastene E, Gotteland M (2016) Deleterious effect of p-cresol on human colonic epithelial cells prevented by proanthocyanidin-containing polyphenol extracts from fruits and proanthocyanidin bacterial metabolites. J Agric Food Chem 64:3574–3583
- Wu G, Borbolla AG, Knabe DA (1994a) The uptake of glutamine and release of arginine, citrulline and proline by the small intestine of developing pigs. J Nutr 124:2437–2444
- Wu G, Knabe DA, Flynn NE (1994b) Synthesis of citrulline from glutamine in pig enetrocytes. Biochem J 299:115–121
- Wu M, Xiao H, Liu G, Chen S, Tan B, Ren W, Bazer FW, Wu G, Yin Y (2016) Glutamine promotes intestinal SIgA secretion through intestinal microbiota and IL-13. Mol Nutr Food Res 60:1637–1648
- Yen JT, Nienaber JA, Hill DA, Pond WG (1989) Oxygen consumption by portal vein-drained organs and by whole animal in conscious growing swine. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 190:393–398
- Yousefi M, Li L, Lengner CJ (2017) Hierarchy and plasticity in the intestinal stem cell compartment. Trends Cell Biol 27:753–764
- Zelante T, Iannitti RG, Cunha C, De Luca A, Giovannini G, Pieraccini G, Zecchi R, D'Angelo C, Massi-Benedetti C, Fallarino F, Carvalho A, Puccetti P, Romani L (2013) Tryptophan catabolites from microbiota engage aryl hydrocarbon receptor and balance mucosal reactivity via interleukin-22. Immunity 39:372–385
- Zhang XJ, Thompson JH, Mannick EE, Correa P, Miller MJ (1998) Localization of inducible nitric oxide synthase mRNA in inflamed gastrointestinal mucosa by in situ reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction. Nitric Oxide 2:187–192



Amino Acid Metabolism in the Liver: Nutritional and Physiological Significance

Yongqing Hou, Shengdi Hu, Xinyu Li, Wenliang He, and Guoyao Wu

Abstract

The liver plays a central role in amino acid (AA) metabolism in humans and other animals. In all mammals, this organ synthesizes many AAs (including glutamate, glutamine, alanine, aspartate, asparagine, glycine, serine, and homoarginine), glucose, and glutathione (a major antioxidant). Similar biochemical reactions occur in the liver of birds except for those for arginine and glutamine hydrolysis, proline oxidation, and gluconeogenesis from AAs. In contrast to mammals and birds, the liver of fish has high rates of glutamate and glutamine oxidation for ATP production. In most animals (except for cats and possibly some of the other carnivores), the liver produces taurine from methionine or cysteine. However, the activity

Y. Hou

S. Hu

of this pathway is limited in human infants (particularly preterm infants) and is also low in adult humans as compared with rats, birds and livestock species (e.g., pigs, cattle and sheep). The liver exhibits metabolic zonation and intracellular compartmentation for ureagenesis, uric acid synthesis, and gluconeogenesis, as well as AA degradation and syntheses. Capitalizing on these extensive bases of knowledge, dietary supplementation with functional AAs (e.g., methionine, N-acetylcysteine, and glycine) to humans and other animals can alleviate or prevent oxidative stress and damage in the liver. Because liver diseases are common problems in humans and farm animals (including fish), much research is warranted to further both basic and applied research on hepatic AA metabolism and functions.

Keywords

$$\label{eq:liver} \begin{split} \text{Liver} \cdot \text{Amino acids} \cdot \text{Metabolism} \cdot \text{Nutrition} \cdot \\ \text{Humans} \cdot \text{Animals} \end{split}$$

2.1 Introduction

The liver plays a central role in the digestion, metabolism, transport, and storage of nutrients, as well as detoxification, immunity and health (Treyer and Müsch 2013). In this organ, amino

Hubei International Scientific and Technological Cooperation Base of Animal Nutrition and Gut Health, Wuhan Polytechnic University, Wuhan, China

Feed Research Institute, Newhope Liuhe Feeds Inc., Chengdu, Sichuan, China

Key Laboratory of Feed and Livestock and Poultry Products Quality & Safety Control, Ministry of Agriculture, Chengdu, Sichuan, China

X. Li · W. He · G. Wu (⊠) Department of Animal Science, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA e-mail: g-wu@tamu.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

G. Wu (ed.), Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2_2

acids (AAs) serve as the building blocks of proteins (including such transport proteins as albumin, lipoproteins, transferrin, and retinol-binding protein); the regulators of intracellular protein turnover (protein synthesis and proteolysis); conjugators with bile acids; substrates for the syntheses of glutathione (the most abundant low-molecular-weight antioxidant in cells), taurine (essential for retinal, cardiac and skeletal muscle functions), glucose, lipids, and antiinflammatory molecules; and protectors against toxic xenobiotics and pathogenic microorganisms (Hou et al. 2015a; Wu 2018). For example, the liver of a healthy human adult releases about 20 g albumin per day (Maxwell et al. 1990). Moreover, the liver is a major site for the metabolism of lipoproteins, such as very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), and high-density lipoprotein (HDL; Perez-Matos et al. 2019). Thus, in humans and other animals, abnormal metabolism of AAs in the liver results in many diseases [including edema, hepatic encephalopathy, fatty liver, hepatic injury, hepatic cirrhosis (scarring), and liver failure (a life-threatening condition)] and increases risk for liver cancer (Holm et al. 1999; Lee and Kim 2019). In all animals (including mammals, birds, fish, and shrimp), liver dysfunction also reduces their food intake, growth, and development (Wu 2020a). This issue is critical for the production of farm animals worldwide, because feed efficiency is a major factor affecting economic returns and sustainability. Furthermore, in mammalian fetuses and avian embryos, where the production of erythrocytes occurs in their livers, spleens and bone marrows, this physiological process is stimulated by fetal/embryonic liverderived erythropoietin (Palis 2014). Therefore, research on hepatic AA metabolism has both medical and agricultural significance, and is the focus of the current work.

2.2 Anatomy of the Liver

Based on gross anatomy, the liver has four lobes: left, right, caudate, and quadrate. In animals (bears, cats, cattle, channel catfish, chickens, dogs, geese, goats, guinea pigs, hawks, humans, mice, monkeys, owls, pigs, rabbits, sheep, and zebrafish) that have a gallbladder, the liver is closely connected with the gallbladder (Oldham-Ott and Gilloteaux 1997). The latter stores bile (a mixture of water, bile salts, cholesterol and bilirubin) produced by the liver, and then releases the bile into the duodenum in response to a feedinginduced surge of cholecystokinin (a peptide secreted by enteroendocrine cells in the small intestine) in plasma (Liddle 1995). In contrast, some mammals (i.e., horses, deer, rats, seals, and laminoids), birds (e.g., pigeons, parrots and doves), certain fish (e.g., lampreys), and all invertebrates lack a gallbladder (Oldham-Ott and Gilloteaux 1997). In animals without a gallbladder, bile flows directly from the liver into the lumen of the duodenum through the bile duct. As the bile flows through the bile ducts, its composition is modified by the addition of a bicarbonate secretion from ductal epithelial cells in response to a surge of the duodenum-derived secretin.

The liver has a high rate of oxidative metabolism and, therefore, needs a large amount of oxygen. This is met by a high rate of blood flow into this organ. The liver accounts for only 2.5% of body weight (BW) but receives 20-25% of the cardiac blood output (Lautt 2010). In a healthy 70-kg human with a 1.75 kg liver, the total blood flow into the liver is 30 ml/min per kg BW or 120 ml/min per 100 g liver, with ~70-75% and 25–30% of the blood being supplied by the portal veil and the hepatic artery, respectively. Waterand lipid-soluble nutrients that are carried within the portal vein and the hepatic artery enter the liver for extraction by hepatocytes and other types of cells (Wu 2018). The nutrients that bypass the liver without uptake and metabolites released from the liver enter the inferior vena cava for utilization in extrahepatic tissues or for excretion (Lautt and Greenway 1987).

The functional unit of the liver is the hepatic acinus, which contains the terminal branches of the portal vein, hepatic arteries, and bile ducts. There are about 100,000 acini in the human liver (Lautt and Greenway 1987). Blood from the portal venule and blood from the hepatic arteriole enter hepatic sinusoids (the capillaries in the liver with

discontinuous basement membrane), where nutrients and gases are exchanged with hepatocytes and associated cells. The porous sinusoidal endothelium of the liver is permeable to molecules as large as albumin, but not to cells (e.g., red blood cells, platelets, and monocytes) (Kent and Stylianou 2011). Components of the blood plasma, including small molecules (e.g., AAs, glucose, and ammonia) and macromolecules (e.g., albumin, LDL and HDL) within the hepatic sinusoid cross its endothelium through the endothelial cells (for small molecules) and the fenestrae (porous sites between endothelial cells; for macromolecules) into the space of Disse (a location in the liver between a hepatocyte and a sinusoid; Fig. 2.1). Subsequently, these substances cross the basolateral (sinusoidal) membrane of the hepatocyte into the cell, as reported for humans, pigs, rodents, and zebrafish (Nedredal et al. 2003; Cheng et al. 2019). Their uptake into the hepatocyte is mediated through specific transporters for AAs or glucose, receptor-mediated endocytosis for albumin, LDL receptor-mediated endocytosis for LDL, and scavenger receptor class B member 1 (SR-B1)mediated endocytosis for HDL (Kent and Stylianou 2011). Likewise, AAs, glucose, proteins (e.g., albumin, VLDL, and HDL), and some conjugated bilirubin are released by the hepatocyte across its basolateral membrane into the space of Disse, and then enter (a) the hepatic sinusoid through the fenestrae in its endothelium, and (b) the hepatic lymphatic system through its lym-



Fig. 2.1 The hepatic acinus (the functional unit of the liver) consists of the terminal branches of the portal vein and hepatic arteries for exchanges of nutrients and gases with hepatocytes and associated cells. Small molecules (e.g., AAs, glucose, and ammonia) and macromolecules (e.g., albumin, LDL and HDL) within the hepatic sinusoid (the capillaries in the liver) cross its endothelium through the endothelial cells (for small molecules) and the fenestrae (for macromolecules) into the space of Disse. Subsequently, these substances cross the basolateral (sinusoidal) membrane of the hepatocyte into the cell. Likewise, AAs, glucose, proteins (e.g., albumin, VLDL, and HDL), and some conjugated bilirubin are released by the hepatocyte across its basolateral membrane into the space of Disse, and then enter (a) the hepatic sinusoid through the fenestrae in its endothelium and (b) the

hepatic lymphatic system. In contrast, glycine- or taurineconjugated bile acids, phospholipids (e.g., phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine), unesterified cholesterol, and some conjugated bilirubin (a metabolite of heme) are released by the hepatocyte across its apical (canalicular) membrane into the canaliculus formed from adjacent hepatocytes. The bile flows into bile ductules and then bile ducts. The solid circle denotes a transporter, receptor-mediated endocytosis, or receptor-mediated exocytosis. AAs amino acids, Alb albumin, AM apical membrane, BM basolateral membrane, CBa conjugated bile acids, CBn conjugated bilirubin, CHO cholesterol (unesterified), EC endothelial cell, HDL high-density lipoprotein, KC Kupffer cell (macrophage in liver), Gluc, glucose, HC hepatocyte, LDL low-density lipoprotein, PL phospholipids, VLDL very low-density lipoprotein

phatic capillaries (Tanaka and Iwakiri 2016). The non-diffusion discharge of these substances at the basolateral membrane of the hepatocyte is mediated through specific transporters for AAs and glucose, the neonatal crystallizable fragment receptor (FcRn)-mediated exocytosis for albumin, and receptor-mediated exocytosis for VLDL and HDL, and multidrug resistance protein-3 for conjugated bilirubin (Treyer and Müsch 2013; Keppler 2014; Pyzik et al. 2017). In contrast, glycine- or taurineconjugated bile acids, phospholipids (e.g., phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine), unesterified cholesterol, and some conjugated bilirubin (a metabolite of heme) are released by the hepatocyte across its apical (canalicular) membrane into the canaliculus (a duct-like structure) formed from adjacent hepatocytes (Gissen and Arias 2015). The bile salt export pump, ATPbinding cassette (ABC) transporters (particularly ABC-B4), and multidrug resistance protein-2 are responsible for the canalicular efflux of bile salts, phospholipids, and conjugated bilirubin, respectively (Keppler 2014; Khabou et al. 2017), whereas ABC-G5/ABC-G8 as a dimer (Brown and Yu 2009) and SR-B1 (Wiersma et al. 2009) transport unesterified cholesterol from the hepatocyte across its apical membrane into the canaliculus. The bile (e.g., 400-800 ml per day in an adult human) flows into bile ductules and then bile ducts. Thus, the polar structure of the hepatocyte is essential for its physiological function.

Based on oxygen supply and metabolism, the hepatic acinus is divided into three zones (Wu 2018). Zone I (periportal hepatocytes) is nearest to the venules of the portal vein and the arterioles of the hepatic artery and is the most oxygenated. Zone III (perivenous hepatocytes), which is farthest from the microvasculature of the entering blood vessels, is around the hepatic central vein and is poorly oxygenated. Zone II (midzone) is the transition zone located between zones I and III. Hepatocytes in zones I, II and III represent ~80%, 10-15%, and 5-10% of total hepatocytes, respectively, and have very different metabolic patterns (Häussinger et al. 1992; Schleicher et al. 2015). Examples are given in Table 2.1. This concept of metabolic zonation helps us understand how AAs are metabolized in the liver.

Periportal hepatocytes	Perivenous hepatocytes
Amino acid (AA)	Amino acid (AA)
metabolism	metabolism
AA uptake and	Glutamate and
degradation (except	α-ketoglutarate
glutamate, aspartate and	uptake ^b
histidine)	Ornithine
	aminotransferase
Glutaminase ^b	Glutamine
	synthetase ^b
Histidine degradation ^b	Aspartate uptake
Urea cycle	Glutathione
	synthesis
Lipid metabolism	Lipid metabolism
ATP-citrate lyase	Bile acid synthesis ^b
Cholesterol synthesis	Esterification of
	free fatty acids
Fatty acid oxidation	Fatty acid synthesis
Ketogenesis ^c	Triacylglycerol
The set is line as	Norma la maitra
Hepatic lipase	lipoprotoin
	synthesis
Glucose metabolism	Glucose metabolism
Glucose release	Glucose uptake
Gluconeogenesis	Glycolysis
Glycogen degradation to	Glycogen
glucose	degradation to
Sideose	pyruvate
Glycogen synthesis from	Glycogen synthesis
lactate & AAs	from glucose
Other pathways	Other pathways
Carbonic anhydrase V	Carbonic anhydrase
	II and III
Oxidative energy	Xenobiotic
metabolism	metabolism and
	detoxification

Table 2.1 Primary localization of metabolic pathways in periportal or perivenous hepatocytes of the liver^a

Adapted from Wu (2018)

^aExcept for those pathways indicated with a superscript letter b, most pathways are unequally distributed along the acinus (metabolic zonation), with highest activities in the indicated hepatocytes

^bExclusively located in the indicated hepatocytes

^eThis pathway is highly active in most animals during starvation but is limited in pigs

2.3 Amino Acid Transporters and Uptake by the Liver

Hepatocytes express AA transport systems A, N, ASC, L, T, X_{AG}^- , y^+ , and Orn/Cit exchanger, with the letters denoting their substrate specificity (Table 2.2). The liver extracts most AAs from the

Table 2.2 Amino	acid (AA) trai	nsporters in the man	unalian liver		
Protein name	Gene name	Transport system	Transport mechanism	Major AA	Consequences of defects
EAAT3/EAAC1	SLCIAI	X^{-}_{AG}	Na^+	L-Glu, D/L-Asp, L-Cys	Metabolic disorders
EAAT2/GLT1	SLCIA2	X^{-}_{AG}	Na^+	L-Glu, D/L-Asp	Metabolic disorders
ASCT1	SLC1A4	ASC	Antiporter	L-Ala, L-Ser, L-Cys	Metabolic disorders
rBAT	SLC3A1	HC-HAAT	Exchanger	Neutral and basic AAs (heterodimer with SLC7A9)	Cystinuria
4F2hc	SLC3A2	HC-HAAT	Exchanger	Neutral AAs (heterodimer with SLC7A5-8 and SLC7A10-11)	Metabolic disorders
GlyT1	SLC6A9	Gly	Na+/Cl-	Gly	NKHG
CAT-1	SLC7A1	y+	Uniporter	Basic AAs	Hyptertension
CAT-2	SLC7A2	y+	Uniporter	Basic AAs	Intestinal inflammation
LAT2	SLC7A8	L	Antiporter	Large neutral AAs	Metabolic disorders
TAT1 (MCT10)	SLC16A10	Τ	Facilitated	Aromatic AAs (Phe, Tyr, Trp)	Metabolic disorders
VGLUT3	SLC17A8	VGT	Cl-/uniporter	L-Glu	Metabolic disorders
ORC2	SLC25A2	Orn/Cit carrier	H ⁺ /antiporter	Mit L-Orn/L-Cit exchange	HHH syndrome, UCD
AGC2	SLC25A13	Asp/Glu carrier	H ⁺ /antiporter	L-Asp, L-Glu	Type-2 citrullinemia
ORC1/ORNT1	SLC25A15	Orn/Cit carrier	H ⁺ /antiporter	Mit L-Orn/L-Cit exchange	HHH syndrome
GC1	SLC25A22	Glu carrier	H ⁺ -coupled; OH ⁻ /antiporter	L-Glu	Metabolic disorders
MGT	SLC25A38	Gly	Uniporter	Gly (Mit influx)	Anemia
SNAT2	SLC38A2	А	Na^+	Ala-preferring, neutral AAs	Metabolic disorders
SNAT3	SLC38A3	N	Na^+	L-Gln, L-Asn, L-His, L-Ala	Metabolic disorders
SNAT4	SLC38A4	A	Na^+	Ala-preferring, neutral AAs	Metabolic disorders
SNAT5	SLC38A5	N	Na^+	L-Gln, L-Asn, L-His, L-Ala	Metabolic disorders
SNAT7	SLC38A7	N	Na^+	L-Gln, L-Asn, L-His, L-Ala	Metabolic disorders
LAT3	SLC43A1	L	Uniporter	Large neutral AAs	Metabolic disorders
Cystinosin	SLC66A4	LCT	H ⁺ -coupled	Efflux of Cys from lysosome	Metabolic disorders
Adapted from Kan	dasamy et al. ((2018) and Wu (201	3)		

HC-HAAT heavy chain of heteromeric amino acid transporter, HH hyperornithinemia-hyperammonemia-homocitrullinuria, LCT lysosomal cystine transporter, MGT mitochondrial glycine transporter, Mit mitochondrial, NKHG non-ketotic hyperglycemia, rBAT related to b^{0,+} amino acid transporters, UCD urea-cycle defect, VGT vesicular glutamate transporter EAAC1 excitatory amino-acid carrier 1; GLT1 glutamate transporter 1 blood in the portal vein and hepatic artery at different rates but cannot take up some AAs from the blood. For example, mammalian hepatocytes lack transporters for citrulline and have a limited ability to extract arginine, lysine, ornithine and histidine from the blood, whereas periportal hepatocytes do not take up glutamate or aspartate (Wu 2013). Defects of AA transporters result in metabolic disorders (including diseases) in humans and other animals (Kandasamy et al. 2018).

Using the pig as an animal model, Kristensen and Wu (2012) characterized the pattern of AA uptake by the liver in vivo. In the 60-kg growing pigs fed a 16%-crude protein diet, the liver has the net uptake of basic and neutral proteinogenic AAs from the portal vein at different proportions of their net portal-vein fluxes (Table 2.3). Generally, the rates of hepatic uptake of AAs in decreasing order are: small neutral AAs > large

Table 2.3 Net uptake of amino acids (AAs) from the portal vein or the net release of AAs by the liver of 60-kg pigs fed a 16%-crude protein diet

Group 1 AAs		Group 2 AAs		Group 3 AAs	
	Net uptake	AA	Net	AA	
	from the		uptake		
	PV by the		from the		
	liver		PV by		Net release
AA			the liver		by the liver
Ala	52%	Arg	8%	Asp	10.8 mg/
					kg BW
Asn	56%	His	9%	Glu	1260 mg/
					kg BW
Cys	70%	Ile	9%		
Gln	230 mg/	Leu	9%		
	kg BW				
Gly	73%	Lys	10%		
Met	17%	Thr	10%		
Phe	51%	Val	10%		
Pro	40%				
Ser	28%				
Trp	35%				
Tyr	54%				

Adapted from Wu (2018). The 60-kg pig was fed every 8 h (3 times daily) a 16%-crude protein diet. The daily feed intake of the pig was 3.6% of its body weight. Values in the table are the percentage (%) of the portal vein flux, unless specified otherwise for aspartate, glutamate, and glutamine

(+) denotes net uptake, and (-) net release *BW* body weight, *PV* portal vein

neutral AAs > BCAAs = basic AAs. Based on the portal and hepatic fluxes of AAs, proteinogenic AAs in the diet are classified into three groups. The first group of AAs are those AAs that are absorbed from the small intestine into the portal vein and taken up by the liver at $\geq 17\%$ of their net portal fluxes: alanine, asparagine, cysteine, glycine, methionine, phenylalanine, proline, serine, tryptophan, and tyrosine. The second group of AAs are those AAs that are absorbed from the small intestine into the portal vein and taken up by the liver at $\leq 10\%$ of their net portal fluxes: arginine, histidine, isoleucine, leucine, lysine, threonine, and valine. The third group of AAs are those AAs that exhibit little entry from the smallintestinal lumen into the portal vein: aspartate and glutamate. The 60-kg pig liver receives little dietary aspartate and glutamate from the portal vein as noted previously, but takes up 230 mg glutamine/kg body weight from the portal vein (ultimately the diet and arterial blood), and releases 1260 mg glutamate and 10.8 mg aspartate per kg body weight as a result of hepatic AA metabolism. Among all AAs, the percentages of hepatic uptakes of Gly and Cys from the portal vein are greatest in growing pigs, indicating the active metabolism of these two AAs in the liver. The low uptake of branched-chain AAs and basic AAs helps to maximize the availability of these AAs in the diet for utilization by extra-hepatic tissues.

Because the surgical technique to cannulate the portal vein is invasive and risky, little information is available about the uptake of AAs by the human liver. However, the analysis of arterial - hepatic venous differences in AAs revealed that the human splanchnic bed (the portal-drained viscera plus liver) extracts a large amount of alanine (likely occurring in the liver) and glutamine (likely occurring in the small intestine) but relatively a very small amount of arginine, lysine and ornithine, while releasing a significant amount of citrulline (likely occurring in the small intestine) (Felig 1975). Van de Poll et al. (2007) reported that 92% of citrulline and 88% of arginine reaching the liver from the hepatic artery and portal vein were not extracted by the liver of fasting patients with colorectal metastases. Similar

results were obtained from studies with patients undergoing a pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy (Neis et al. 2017).

2.4 Amino Acid Metabolism in the Liver

The liver is the major organ to degrade AAs, although its ability to catabolize branched-chain AAs is limited in mammals and birds (Brosnan 2003). Interestingly, in humans and other terrestrial animals consuming optimal amounts of AAs, only a small amount of AAs is degraded in their livers. For example, in 60-kg pigs fed a 16%-crude protein diet, all the ammonia absorbed into the portal blood is removed during its single passage through the liver, and this organ takes up a small amount of ammonia released from peripheral tissues (Kristensen and Wu 2012). These authors have also reported that 95% of the urea-N released from the liver is accounted for by the hepatic uptake of ammonia from the portal vein and the hepatic artery in 60-kg pigs. In other words, only 5% of the urea-N released by the liver is provided from hepatic AA degradation when the pigs are fed a balanced diet. This is consistent with a low rate of hepatic gluconeogenesis in fed pigs (Wu 2018).

2.4.1 Gluconeogenesis

In mammals, the liver is a major organ to synthesize glucose from substrates with ≥ 3 carbons during the post-prandial period, such as glucogenic AAs (e.g., alanine, asparagine, glutamine, serine and phenylalanine), fructose, lactate, pyruvate and glycerol via the gluconeogenesis pathway in mammals, including humans and pigs (Wu 2018). This metabolic pathway also requires ATP and NADH. In fasting mammals, the liver and kidneys contribute to almost equal amounts of glucose to the blood to meet the requirement for glucose (e.g., 125 g/day in a 70-kg human or 74.4 mg/h per kg BW) by the brain, red blood cells, immunocytes, eyes, kidneys, and other cell types (Jungas et al. 1992; Møller et al. 2000). In 30-kg overnight-fasted pigs, the whole-body production of glucose is 133 mg/h per kg BW (Iozzo et al. 2006). For comparison, the rates of glucose synthesis in nonpregnant, pregnant, and lactating fed sheep are 87, 110, and 218 mg/h per kg BW, respectively (Wu 2018). In nonruminant mammals, alanine is the principal AA extracted by the liver, accounting for 25% and 33% of total hepatic AA extraction, respectively, in the postabsorptive and fed state (Brosnan et al. 2001). In gestating sheep, serine is likely the major glucogenic substrate in the liver (Kwon et al. 2003).

Hepatic gluconeogenesis is regulated by hormones as well as the availability of substrates, ATP, NADH and fructose-2,6-bisphophate. Catecholamines, glucagon and glucocorticoids stimulate hepatic synthesis of glucose from AAs and other substrates (e.g., lactate and glycerol) via: (a) activating the cAMP-dependent signaling decreasing the intracellular concentration of fructose-2,6-bisphophate, as occurring during intensive exercise (the short-term mechanism); (b) enhancing the long-term expression of key genes related to the pathway [e.g., phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) and glucose-6phosphatase (G-6-Pase)], as occurring in diabetes and fasting (the long-term mechanisms); and (3) acting on extrahepatic tissues (e.g., skeletal muscle and white adipose tissue) to increase the release of glucogenic substrates (both short- and long-term mechanisms; Hatting et al. 2018). In contrast, insulin inhibits this hepatic metabolic pathway through the opposite modes of actions. In addition to these mechanisms, the oxidation of fatty acids to provide ATP plays a crucial role in hepatic glucose synthesis, as demonstrated by hypoglycemia in infants lacking carnitine palmitoyltransferase-I, a key enzyme responsible for the transfer of long-chain acyl-CoA from the cytosol to the mitochondrion for biological oxidation (Collins et al. 2010). Furthermore, whether or not AAs are used for glucose synthesis in hepatocytes depends on the intracellular location of PEPCK. For example, in the liver of chickens, PEPCK is exclusively localized in the mitochondrion and, therefore, the catabolism of AAs in the cells does not provide the cytosol with NADH that is required for conversion of the 1,3-bisphosphoglycerate into glyceraldehyde

3-phosphate (Watford 1985). Therefore, the liver of fed or fasted chickens cannot synthesize glucose from any AA.

In obese and type-II diabetic subjects, excessive production of glucose by their livers contributes to hyperglycemia and metabolic syndrome. Thus, the production of glucose by the liver must be suppressed in these patients. In contrast, hepatic gluconeogenesis is vital for the survival and growth of newborns because this pathway provides at least 50% of glucose needed by suckling neonates (including humans, pigs and calves) because the milk of mammals generally does not contain sufficient lactose or glucose (Wu 2018). Therefore, the same pathway can be either beneficial or detrimental, depending on the physiological or pathological state of the subjects.

2.4.2 Glutamine and Glutamate Metabolism

The liver synthesizes and degrades both glutamine and glutamate in a compartment-specific manner (Brosnan 2003; Hou and Wu 2018). In periportal mammals, hepatocytes express phosphate-activated glutaminase (a mitochondrial enzyme) that hydrolyzes glutamine into glutamate and ammonia. The latter is detoxified locally via the urea cycle. Liver-type glutaminase absolutely requires NH₃ for activation, has high K_m for glutamine and high affinity for phosphate, and is not affected by low glutamate concentration. The glutamine-derived glutamate is taken up by perivenous hepatocytes via cytosolic glutamine synthetase to regenerate glutamine. This constitutes an intercellular glutamine-glutamate cycle in the liver. Thus, the absence of an arterialvenous difference in the concentration of glutamine across the liver does not necessarily indicate the absence of its hepatic metabolism, and may be associated with high rates of both glutamine hydrolysis in periportal hepatocytes and glutamate amination in perivenous hepatocytes. In the rat perfused with ≤ 1 mM glutamine, there is no net utilization of this AA (Curthoys and Watford 1995). The inter-cellular glutamine-glutamate cycle plays an important role in: (a) scavenging ammonia by the high-affinity glutamine synthetase to maintain low concentrations of ammonia in plasma; and (b) adjusting ammonia flux into either urea or glutamine according to the needs for regulation of the acid-base balance. For example, at normal pH, there is no release of glutamine by the liver. However, at pH < 7.4, the hydrolysis of glutamine into glutamate and ammonia is decreased and the synthesis of glutamine from glutamate and ammonia is increased, thereby resulting in the release of glutamine from the liver.

The plasma concentration of glutamine (~1 mM) in birds is much greater than that (~0.25 to 0.5 mM) in mammals (Wu 2013). In the avian liver, phosphate-activated glutaminase is absent but glutamine synthetase is present in the mitochondria of hepatocytes to generate glutamine as an intermediate in uric acid synthesis (Watford and Wu 2005; Wu et al. 1998). This ensures the successful detoxification of ammonia that is derived from AA catabolism. Whether the avian liver extracts glutamine from the blood depends on the nutritional state. For example, in the fed state, the liver of chickens does not take up glutamine from the arterial blood (Tinker et al. 1986). Thus, the high concentration of glutamine in the liver of fed poultry results primarily from its endogenous synthesis of glutamine from glutamate and ammonia, and glutamine can be considered as the sink of both the nitrogen and carbon atoms of AAs (Hou et al. 2015b). In the fasting state, the chicken liver actively takes up glutamine from the arterial blood, and the extracted amount is the highest (the same order of ranking as alanine) among all AAs (Tinker et al. 1986). The physiological significance of this process is largely unknown, but it may help to regulate hepatic nutrient metabolism, such as inhibiting proteolysis, AA degradation, and glycogenesis to spare protein, AAs and glucose.

The livers of zebrafish, hybrid-striped bass, and largemouth bass actively oxidize both glutamine and glutamate to provide ATP (Jia et al. 2017; Li and Wu 2019). Phosphate-activated glutaminase (a mitochondrial enzyme) hydrolyzes glutamine into ammonia and glutamate, whereas glutamine transaminases L and K (cytosolic and mitochondrial enzymes) converts glutamine into α -ketoglutaramate, which is deaminated by ω -amidase into ammonia plus α -KG. Both glutamate dehydrogenase (a mitochondrial enzyme) and glutamate transaminases (cytosolic and mitochondrial enzymes) convert glutamate into α-KG plus either ammonia (in the case of the former) or alanine/aspartate (in the case of the latter). These enzymes are expressed in the liver (possibly periportal hepatocytes) of the fish. The hepatocytes of fish, such as elasmobranch fish and holocephalan elephant fish, also express glutamine synthetase (a mitochondrial enzyme) to synthesize glutamine from ammonia and glutamate (Anderson 2001), and this reaction likely occurs in both periportal and perivenous hepatocytes.

In mammals, birds and fish, glutamine participates in many vital physiological processes, including: the syntheses of uric acid in the liver, aminosugars, nucleic acids, and NAD (Wu 2013). Of particular note, glutamine:fructose-6phosphate transaminase (a cytosolic enzyme) catalyzes the formation of glutamate from glutamine in the liver. In this reaction, glutamine donates the amide group for the synthesis of UDP-N-acetylglucosamine, which is a precursor for the formation of all macromolecules containing amino sugars (including membrane hormone receptors and heparin) (Häussinger and Schliess 2007). Thus, the hexosamine-synthetic pathway is essential to the growth, development, and function of hepatocytes, as well as the structure of the extracellular matrix in the liver. For the oxidation of glutamate in the liver, it must be deaminated into α -ketoglutarate by either glutamate dehydrogenase (a mitochondrial enzyme) or glutamate transaminases (cytosolic and mitochondrial enzymes), followed by the sequential conversion of a-ketoglutarate into succinate, malate, pyruvate and acetyl-CoA (Wu 2013).

2.4.3 Arginine, Proline and Ornithine

Periportal hepatocytes extract a small amount of arginine from the hepatic artery and portal vein, as noted previously. The mammalian liver contains a particularly high activity of arginase I (a cytosolic enzyme) in periportal hepatocytes to

hydrolyze arginine into ornithine and urea. The resulting ornithine enters the mitochondrion in exchange for the export of citrulline from the mitochondrion into the cytosol via the Cit/Orn exchanger. This helps to facilitate the hepatic urea cycle for the removal of ammonia. Because periportal hepatocytes lack ornithine aminotransferase (OAT, a mitochondrial enzyme; Kuo et al. 1991), they release most of the resultant ornithine, which is subsequently taken up by perivenous hepatocytes that express OAT (O'sullivan et al. 1998). Thus, in perivenous hepatocytes, ornithine is metabolized into pyrroline-5carboxylate (P5C; O'sullivan et al. 1998), which is reduced by P5C reductase [a cytosolic enzyme that is enriched in periportal hepatocytes but is also present at a much lower activity in perivenous hepatocytes (Pink 2002)] to generate proline. In addition, perivenous hepatocytes (which also express arginase activity in the cytosol) extract a small amount of arginine from the blood for the production of proline via OAT and P5C reductase (Pink 2002).

The mammalian liver takes up a large amount of proline and metabolizes this AA via proline oxidase (a mitochondrial enzyme) in a cellspecific manner. Specifically, periportal hepatocytes express a low activity of proline oxidase that converts a small amount of proline into P5C (Pink 2002). This reaction may help to regulate glucose metabolism via the pentose cycle activity and the transport of cytosolic NADPH into the mitochondrion (Wu 2013). Because these cells lack OAT, the proline-derived P5C is not further metabolized locally. Thus, it appears that perivenous hepatocytes are the major site for proline catabolism in the liver. The activity of proline oxidase was considered to be the highest in the liver among mammalian tissues (including the small intestine and kidney) (Valle and Simell 1995). However, we found that the activity of proline oxidase in the porcine liver was only 58%, 34%, and 14% of that in the porcine kidney, intact jejunum, and jejunal mucosa, respectively (Wu et al. 1997). This is consistent with the finding that proline oxidase is enriched in perivenous hepatocytes that account for only a small percentage of cells in the liver (Pink 2002).
The avian liver lacks arginase and proline oxidase but contains a low activity of OAT (Furukawa et al. 2018). Thus, compared with the mammalian liver, metabolism of arginine, proline and ornithine via these enzymes in the avian liver is absent or very limited. This helps to explain why the concentration of ornithine in the plasma of chickens is nearly not detectable (only about 1 nmol/ml), in comparison with that in the plasma of pigs (50-100 nmol/ml) (Wu et al. 1997). In chickens, a significant amount of arginine may be utilized for the hepatic production of creatine, because their livers express both arginine:glycine amidinotransferase and guanidinoacetate N-methyltransferase for converting arginine and glycine into creatine (Zhu and Evans 2001). This is likely important for the rapid growth of skeletal muscle in broilers.

The livers of elasmobranch fish and holocephalan elephant fish are capable of synthesizing urea from ammonia as a mechanism for its detoxification (Anderson 2001). Ureotelic terrestrial vertebrates express carbamoylphosphate synthetase (CPS)-I to convert ammonia and bicarbonate into carbamoylphosphate in the mitochondria of periportal hepatocytes. In contrast, the livers of ureotelic fish contain CPS-III (a mitochondrial enzyme), which uses glutamine rather than ammonia as the nitrogenous substrate and depends on N-acetylglutamate as an allosteric activator. For comparison, CPS-II (a cytosolic enzyme for pyrimidine synthesis) also uses glutamine as the nitrogenous substrate but does not depend on N-acetylglutamate for catalytic activity. Thus, in the fish, the synthesis of glutamine from ammonia and glutamate by the mitochondrial glutamine synthetase is the first step in the conversion of ammonia into urea. This is analogous to avian livers, which synthesize glutamine from ammonia and glutamate by the mitochondrial glutamine synthetase as the initial reaction of a metabolic pathway for the detoxification of ammonia as uric acid (Wu 2018). Most teleost fish excrete 5-20% of nitrogen as urea, but a greater value (30%) has been reported for largemouth bass. This is consistent with an exceedingly high activity of arginase in the liver of largemouth bass to hydrolyze arginine into urea

plus ornithine. Because the liver of largemouth bass lacks proline oxidase (our unpublished work), arginase is the only source of ornithine that is generated within this organ.

2.4.4 Sulfur AA Metabolism

Methionine, cysteine, and taurine are called sulfur AAs, because they contain a sulfur atom. Animalsource foods provide taurine and generally contain more methionine and cysteine than plant-source foods (Hou et al. 2019; Li and Wu 2020). In humans and other animals, the liver is the only organ that can completely metabolize methionine and cysteine into CO_2 (Wu 2013). All animals can convert methionine into cysteine via the cytosolic transsulfuration pathway but lack enzymes to recycle cysteine into methionine. Thus, dietary provision of cysteine can spare the requirements of animals for dietary methionine. The transsulfuration pathway also generates S-adenosylmethionine (the major donor of the methyl group required for biochemical reactions such as polyamine and creatine syntheses) from methionine (Brosnan and Brosnan 2007). In subjects with a defect of the transsulfuration pathway, cysteine must be included in diets, because the hepatic syntheses of proteins, glutathione (a major antioxidant), taurine (in most species), and other biologically active substances (e.g., H₂S) depends on cysteine. In humans and other animals (including fish), hepatic dysfunction reduces the ability of the liver to synthesize glutathione for local function and release into the blood, contributing to systemic oxidative stress and the darkening of tissues such as the heart and skin due to the presence of oxidized molecules (e.g., protein and lipids). Under conditions of oxidative stress, exogenous administration of cysteine in the form of N-acetylcysteine to humans and animals is beneficial for improving metabolic profiles and health (including liver health). For example, dietary supplementation with N-acetylcysteine alleviates liver injury in lipopolysaccharide-challenged piglets (Yi et al. 2014), as reported for humans with drug- or oxidative stress-induced liver injury (Wu et al. 2004).

There are species differences in the hepatic synthesis of taurine from cysteine. Humans and most other animals can convert cysteine into taurine in the liver at various rates. However, this metabolic pathway is negligible in some animals (e.g., cats) due to a very low activity of hepatic cysteine dioxygenase and cysteinesulfinate decarboxylase (Rogers and Morris 1979). Thus, taurine must be included in diets for cats to prevent retinal degeneration and cardiomyopathy. Human infants, particularly preterm infants, have a limited ability to synthesize taurine despite an adequate provision of its precursors in diets (Geggel et al. 1985), as reported for young or adult cats. In adult humans, the rate of taurine synthesis is exceedingly low in comparison with rats, because the activity of hepatic cysteinesulfinate decarboxylase (a key enzyme in taurine synthesis) is about 3 orders of magnitude lower in the young and adult men than that in rats (Sturman 1993). Compared with livestock (e.g., cattle, pigs, and sheep) and poultry (e.g., chickens and ducks), adult humans also have a very low ability to synthesize taurine. Thus, adult humans who consume only plant-source foods (which contain no taurine) but no animal products are at increased risk for taurine deficiency (Rogerson 2017), because the precursors of taurine (methionine and cysteine) are present at low concentrations in most proteins of plant origin (e.g., corn, potato, rice, wheat, and vegetables) (Hou et al. 2019). Although dogs are also carnivores like cats, dogs can synthesize sufficient taurine from cysteine when fed diets containing adequate methionine or cysteine. However, a significant decrease in plasma taurine concentration occurs in dogs fed a protein-restricted diet (e.g., 10% protein, dry matter basis) due to a reduced availability of both methionine and cysteine (Sanderson et al. 2001).

Taurine plays major roles in physiology and nutrition. First, this AA is used to conjugate bile acids to form bile salts in the liver that facilitate intestinal absorption of dietary lipids (including lipid-soluble vitamins) and eliminate cholesterol in bile via the fecal route. While humans and many other animals can use both taurine and glycine to conjugate bile acids, cats and dogs are only able to utilize taurine to conjugate bile acids (Sturman 1993), indicating a unique role of taurine in the nutrition and metabolism of the companion animals. Second, taurine is a major antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antiapoptotic factor, and a physiological stabilizer of cell membranes. Third, taurine regulates Ca²⁺ signaling, fluid homeostasis in cells, retinal photoreceptor activity, osmoregulation; nerve and muscle conduction networks, and neurological development. Thus, humans, cats and possibly some other animals (e.g., carnivorous fish) have requirements for dietary taurine.

2.4.5 Metabolism of Aromatic AAs

Phenylalanine, tyrosine, and tryptophan are aromatic AAs, because they contain an aromatic ring. In humans and other animals, the liver is the only organ that can completely metabolize these three AAs into CO_2 (Wu 2013). All animals can convert phenylalanine into tyrosine via the cytosolic tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4)-dependent phenylalanine hydroxylase, but lack enzymes to recycle tyrosine into phenylalanine. Thus, dietary provision of tyrosine can spare the requirements of animals for dietary phenylalanine. The hydroxylation of phenylalanine competes with NO synthase for BH4, thereby influencing blood flow and other NO-dependent signaling pathways. In subjects with a deficiency of BH4 or phenylalanine hydroxylase, tyrosine must be included in diets, because the cell-specific syntheses of proteins, thyroid hormones, dopamines, catecholamines, and melanin in the body depends on tyrosine. In these patients, dietary intake of protein (particularly phenylalanine) must be controlled tightly to prevent a pathologically high concentration of phenylalanine in plasma. Of note, BH4 is essential as a cofactor of tyrosine hydroxylase in the metabolic pathway of converting tyrosine into dopamines, catecholamines, and melanin. Likewise, tryptophan hydroxylase requires BH4 for the production of serotonin, melatonin, and related metabolites from tryptophan. Humans and other animals (including fish) with hepatic dysfunction because of viral, bacterial and parasite infections or inadequate nutrition have an impaired ability to degrade and remove: (a) the black-color products (e.g., melanin and homogentisate) of phenylalanine and tyrosine catabolism by melanocytes and the liver; and (b) melatonin (a product of tryptophan) generated primarily by the pineal gland. The tyrosine metabolites are accumulated in the skin, directly resulting in black skin syndrome. In addition, melatonin can interfere with the metabolism and function of melanocytes of the skin (Kim et al. 2015) and, therefore, may also play a role in the onset of black skin syndrome.

2.4.6 Glycine and Serine Metabolism

The liver is the most active organ in the interconversion of glycine and serine through vitamin B₆dependent serine hydroxymethyltransferase (SHMT). This reaction plays an important role in intracellular one-carbon metabolism (Stover and Schirch 1990). There are two isoforms of SHMT: SHMT1 (cytosolic) and SHMT2 (mitochondrial). Due to the compartmentation of metabolic pathways, SHMT1 is involved in the syntheses of purines and thymidylate, whereas SHMT2 contributes to the production of formate from serine (Brosnan et al. 2015). The mitochondria and cytosol of hepatocytes readily convert serine and tetrahydrofolate into glycine and N^5 , N^{10} -methylene tetrahydrofolate. Thus, oral administration of serine to humans and other animals markedly increases the concentration of glycine in the plasma. In contrast, animals have a limited ability to convert glycine into serine due to a low concentration of N^5 , N^{10} -methylene tetrahydrofolate or other methyl group donors such as S-adenosylmethionine, betaine and choline in the cells. Note that in the mitochondria, the oxidation of glycine into ammonia plus CO_2 with the concomitant formation of N^5 , N^{10} methylene tetrahydrofolate from tetrahydrofolate is coupled with the conversion of glycine into serine. Therefore, oral administration of glycine to humans and other animals only slightly augments the concentration of serine in the plasma (Wang et al. 2013). Nonetheless, dietary supplementation with glycine can alleviate oxidative stress and hepatic injury in response to various pathological conditions, such as infections, sepsis, and drug toxicity (Wang et al. 2013). Besides serine, 4-hydroxyproline is another major substrate for the synthesis of glycine through hydroxyproline oxidase (Wu et al. 2019). This pathway is nutritionally important for the provision of glycine to milk-fed neonates, because milk is deficient in glycine but contains a large amount of 4-hydroxyproline and its peptides. Because all plant-source foods contain a low content of glycine (Hou et al. 2019) and cannot provide adequate glycine for mammals (including humans), vegans are at high risk for glycine deficiency. This will result in metabolic abnormalities, including anemia, oxidative stress, and impaired protein synthesis.

2.4.7 Branched-Chain Amino Acid (BCAA) Metabolism

In the liver of mammals, the degradation of BCAAs is limited due to a low activity of BCAA transaminase, as noted previously (Brosnan 2003). However, hepatocytes actively decarboxylate branched-chain α-keto acids (released primarily from skeletal muscle) into acyl-CoA, which is used either for ketogenesis (in most animals) or gluconeogenesis (for valine and isoleucine). In the livers of zebrafish, hybrid-striped bass, and largemouth bass, leucine transamination and decarboxylation are active but their rates are much lower than those for glutamate or glutamine oxidation (Jia et al. 2017; Li and Wu 2019). This illustrates species-dependent differences in hepatic BCAA catabolism. Thus, the liver participates in the inter-organ metabolism of BCAAs and produces ketone bodies (in most animals) or glucose in response to physiological needs.

In patients with liver cirrhosis (the scarring of the liver) or hepatic encephalopathy (brain dysfunction as a result of severe liver disease), the plasma concentrations of BCAAs decrease but those of aromatic AAs increase (Campollo et al. 1992; Holeček 2018). Under those conditions, the hepatic urea cycle is impaired, resulting in: (a) hyperglycemia that stimulates BCAA transamination and oxidation in red and white skeletal muscles (Holecek et al. 2011); and (b) decreases in the catabolism of aromatic AAs by the liver. This is an adaptation of the living individuals to the liver diseases because the transamination of BCAAs with α -KG generates glutamate, which undergoes amination with ammonia to form glutamine in tissues (e.g., skeletal muscle and brain) as a mechanism to remove ammonia from the blood. There have been suggestions that dietary supplementation with BCAAs may promote anabolic pathways and remove ammonia, therefore alleviating syndromes of liver cirrhosis (the scarring of the liver) or hepatic encephalopathy (Tajiri and Shimizu 2013). However, there is no consensus regarding the efficacy of such a nutritional treatment for the liver disorders (Milan 2018). At present, hyperammonemia is managed by restricting dietary protein intake and administering benzoate or phenylbutyrate to remove ammonia. Benzoate acts through conjugating with glycine to form hippurate, whereas phenylbutyrate is converted by mitochondrial β-oxidation into phenylacetyl-CoA that is conjugated with glutamine to generate phenylacetylglutamine (Wu 2013). Both hippurate and phenylacetylglutamine are excreted in the urine.

2.4.8 Homoarginine Synthesis from Arginine and Lysine

The liver and kidneys of humans and other animals rats and synthesize (e.g., pigs) L-homoarginine and ornithine from arginine and lysine via a putative mitochondrial enzyme called arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT; Hou et al. 2016; Tsikas and Wu 2015). This enzyme catalyzes the transfer of the amidino group from L-arginine to L-lysine to form homoarginine. The concentrations of homoarginine in the plasma and liver of rats are about 2 and 115 µM, respectively (Hou et al. 2015b). Less than 0.025% and <0.045% of ingested arginine is metabolized to homoarginine in growing pigs and adult rats, respectively (Hou et al. 2016; Wu et al. 2016). At present, little is known about homoarginine synthesis in birds, fish or shrimp (Li et al. 2020). The function of this arginine metabolite in the liver is unknown, but as an analogue of arginine may play a role in regulating the synthesis of NO and creatine by hepatocytes and kidneys.

2.4.9 Creatine Synthesis from Arginine, Glycine and Methionine

Creatine plays an important in the energy metabolism of the brain and skeletal muscle via creatine kinase (that converts creatine and ATP into creatine phosphate and ADP), as well as antioxidative reactions in multiple types of cells and tissues (Wu 2020b). Under physiological conditions, creatine and creatine phosphate are spontaneously converted to creatinine, which is excreted in the urine. The loss of creatine plus creatine phosphate is about 1.7% of the total body creatine pool or 2.04 g creatine/day in a 70-kg healthy adult human that contains 120 g of total creatine in the form of free creatine and creatine phosphate (Brosnan and Brosnan 2007). Because the total pool of creatine in the body is constant, the lost creatine must be replaced from either diets or de novo synthesis (da Silva et al. 2009). Humans consuming а typical meatcontaining Western diet obtain about one-half of their creatine through de novo synthesis and onehalf from diets (Brosnan and Brosnan 2007). In contrast, vegetarians, who do not ingest animalsource foods, obtain very little dietary creatine and must depend on endogenous synthesis for creatine provision. These subjects have a high risk for creatine deficiency (Wu 2020b).

Studies with the rat model have established that creatine synthesis from arginine, glycine and methionine in animals involves the metabolism of AAs among different organs, primarily the kidneys, liver, and pancreas (Wu and Morris 1998). This metabolic pathway involves: (1) arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT, a mitochondrial enzyme located primarily in the renal tubules and pancreas, and to a much lesser extent in the liver, brain and other organs), and (2) guanidinoacetate *N*-methyltransferase (GAMT, a cytosolic enzyme located primarily in

the liver and pancreas and, to a much lesser extent, the kidneys and brain). AGAT converts arginine and glycine into ornithine and guanidinoacetate (glycocyamine). The latter is methylated by GAMT to creatine in the presence of S-adenosylmethionine (a metabolite of methionine). This reaction maintains the circulating guanidinoacetate at a low concentration to protect the injury of the brain, because elevated levels of guanidinoacetate result in neurotoxicity (Brosnan and Brosnan 2007). It is unlikely that in mammals, the liver contributes a significant fraction of guanidinoacetate production in the whole body, because the hepatic uptake of arginine is low and the cytosolic arginine is rapidly hydrolysed by arginase I to urea and ornithine. In rats, the kidney is the principal site of guanidinoacetate production, although the pancreas may provide a physiologically significant amount of guanidinoacetate to the liver. This notion is supported by the following lines of evidence, First, the concentrations of arginine in the livers of humans and rats are exceedingly low [about 15 μ M (Barle et al. 1996) and 60 μ M (Dohm et al. 1981), respectively]. Second, rat hepatocytes synthesize creatine from guanidinoacetate but not arginine, glycine plus methionine (da Silva et al. 2009). Third, the renal output of guanidinoacetate in rats fed a creatine-free diet is equal to the renal excretion of creatinine (the product of the nonenzymatic degradation of creatine and creatine phosphate) when expressed as mmol/day (Edison et al. 2007). In humans, the renal production of guanidinoacetate represents only 20% of the daily loss of creatinine (Edison suggesting et al. 2007), that most of guanidinoacetate must be synthesized in other tissues, possibly including the pancreas, small intestine, and the brain. Thus, there are speciesdifferences in creatine synthesis among animals. At present, little is known about this synthetic pathway in farm animals (including pigs, cattle, sheep, poultry, fish, and shrimp) (Li et al. 2020).

Studies with rats have demonstrated that de novo synthesis of creatine is regulated primarily via changes in the expression of AGAT in the kidneys. Renal expression of this enzyme is induced by growth hormone but is strongly inhibited by dietary intake of creatine (Guthmiller et al. 1994). Consistent with such a finding, Edison et al. (2007) reported that dietary supplementation with creatine (4 g/kg diet; similar to the content of creatine in red meat for human diets) to adult rats decreased renal AGAT activity by 86% and plasma guanidinoacetate concentration by 70%, in comparison with control rats fed a creatinefree diet. Similar regulatory mechanisms occur in humans, as the ingestion of creatine by young adults [20 g creatine monohydrate per day for the first week (loading phase) and 5 g/day for 19 subsequent week (maintenance phase)] reduced plasma guanidinoacetate levels by 50% after creatine loading and by 30% during the maintenance phase (Derave et al. 2004). This finding is consistent with the downregulation of renal AGAT expression.

2.5 Conclusion and Perspectives

In mammals (including humans, pigs and rats), the liver is the only organ to degrade all AAs taken up from the blood except for BCAAs, and plays an active role in the syntheses of glutamate, glutamine, alanine, aspartate, asparagine, glycine, serine, proline, homoarginine, and glucose. In addition, the mammalian liver converts phenylalanine into tyrosine, as well as methionine into cysteine, but cannot recycle tyrosine into phenylalanine or cysteine into methionine. Similar findings have been reported for the liver of birds except that it lacks arginase, phosphateactivated glutaminase, proline oxidase, and gluconeogenesis from AAs. The liver of fish extensively catabolizes glutamate and glutamine and, to a much lesser extent, BCAAs, for ATP production (Li et al. 2020). Most animals (except for cats and possibly some of the other carnivores) can synthesize taurine from cysteine in hepatocytes. Ammonia generated from hepatic AA degradation is converted into urea and uric acid in the livers of mammals and birds, respectively. In teleost fish, most of the ammonia produced from AA catabolism in their hepatocytes is released into the living environment, and some of the ammonia is converted into urea via the urea

cycle analogous to that in mammals except that CPS-III catalyzes the formation of carbamoylphosphtae from glutamine and bicarbonate. Dietary supplementation with functional AAs (e.g., methionine, *N*-acetylcysteine and glycine) is beneficial for alleviating or preventing oxidative stress and damage in the liver. Although the mammalian liver synthesizes homoarginine, the physiological functions of this metabolite are unknown. Furthermore, little is known about the zonation of glutamate, glutamine, serine, glycine, arginine, ornithine and proline metabolism in the livers of aquatic animals. Filling in this knowledge gap is expected to elucidate the mechanisms responsible for the beneficial effects of functional AAs on improving hepatic structure and function.

Acknowledgments This work was supported, in part, by Hubei Provincial Foundation of Natural Science (2016CFA070; Y. Hou), the Program of National Agricultural Research Outstanding Talents of China (2015; Y. Hou), and Texas A&M AgriLife Research (H-8200; G. Wu). We thank students and research assistants in our laboratories for helpful discussions.

References

- Anderson PM (2001) Urea and glutamine synthesis: Environmental influences on nitrogen excretion. Fish Physiol 20:239–277
- Barle H, Ahlman B, Nyberg B, Andersson K, Essén P, Wernerman J (1996) The concentrations of free amino acids in human liver tissue obtained during laparoscopic surgery. Clin Physiol 16:217–227
- Brosnan JT (2003) Interorgan amino acid transport and its regulation. J Nutr 133:2068S–2072S
- Brosnan JT, Brosnan ME (2007) Creatine: endogenous metabolite, dietary, and therapeutic supplement. Annu Rev Nutr 27:241–261
- Brosnan JT, Brosnan ME, Yudkoff M, Nissim I, Daikhin Y, Lazarow A, Horyn O, Nissim I (2001) Alanine metabolism in the perfused rat liver. J Biol Chem 276:31876–31882
- Brosnan ME, MacMillan L, Stevens JR, Brosnan JT (2015) Division of labour: how does folate metabolism partition between one-carbon metabolism and amino acid oxidation? Biochem J 472:135–146
- Brown JM, Yu L (2009) Opposing gatekeepers of apical sterol transport: Niemann-pick C1-like 1 (NPC1L1) and ATP-binding cassette transporters G5 and G8 (ABCG5/ABCG8). Immunol Endocr Metab Agents Med Chem 9:18–29

- Campollo O, Sprengers D, McIntyre N (1992) The BCAA/ AAA ratio of plasma amino acids in three different groups of cirrhotics. Rev Investig Clin 44:513–518
- Cheng D, Morsch M, Shami GJ, Chung RS, Braet F (2019) Albumin uptake and distribution in the zebrafish liver as observed via correlative imaging. Exp Cell Res 374:162–171
- Collins SA, Sinclair G, McIntosh S, Bamforth F, Thompson R, Sobol I, Osborne G, Corriveau A, Santos M, Hanley B (2010) Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A (CPT1A) P479L prevalence in live newborns in Yukon, Northwest Territories, and Nunavut. Mol Genet Metab 101:200–204
- Curthoys NP, Watford M (1995) Regulation of glutaminase activity and glutamine metabolism. Annu Rev Nutr 15:133–159
- da Silva RP, Nissim I, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT (2009) Creatine synthesis: hepatic metabolism of guanidinoacetate and creatine in the rat in vitro and in vivo. Am J Phys 296:E256–E261
- Derave W, Marescau B, Vanden Eede E, Eijnde BO, De Deyn PP, Hespel P (2004) Plasma guanidino compounds are altered by oral creatine supplementation in healthy humans. J Appl Physiol 97:852–857
- Dohm GL, Beecher GR, Warren RQ, Williams RT (1981) Influence of exercise on free amino acid concentrations in rat tissues. J Appl Physiol 50:41–44
- Edison EE, Brosnan ME, Meyer C, Brosnan JT (2007) Creatine synthesis: production of guanidinoacetate by the rat and human kidney in vivo. Am J Phys 293:F1799–F1804
- Felig P (1975) Amino acid metabolism in man. Annu Rev Biochem 44:933–955
- Furukawa K, He WL, Leyva-Jimenez H, Bailey CA, Bazer FW, Toyomizu M, Wu G (2018) Developmental changes in the activities of enzymes for polyamine synthesis in chickens. Poult Sci 97(E-Suppl 1):3–4
- Geggel H, Ament M, Heckenlively J (1985) Nutritional requirement for taurine in patients receiving longterm, parenteral nutrition. N Engl J Med 312:142–146
- Gissen P, Arias IM (2015) Structural and functional hepatocyte polarity and liver disease. J Hepatol 63:1023–1037
- Guthmiller P, Van Pilsum JF, Boen JR, McGuire DM (1994) Cloning and sequencing of rat kidney L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase. Studies on the mechanism of regulation by growth hormone and creatine. J Biol Chem 269:17556–17560
- Hatting M, Tavares CDJ, Sharabi K, Rines AK, Puigserver P (2018) Insulin regulation of gluconeogenesis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1411:21–35
- Häussinger D, Schliess F (2007) Glutamine metabolism and signaling in the liver. Front Biosci 12:371–391
- Häussinger D, Lamers H, Moorman AF (1992) Hepatocyte heterogeneity in the metabolism of amino acids and ammonia. Enzyme 46:72–93
- Holeček M (2018) Branched-chain amino acids in health and disease: metabolism, alterations in blood plasma, and as supplements. Nutr Metab 15:33

- Holecek M, Kandar R, Sispera L, Kovarik M (2011) Acute hyperammonemia activates branched-chain amino acid catabolism and decreases their extracellular concentrations: different sensitivity of red and white muscle. Amino Acids 40:575–584
- Holm E, Oliver S, Eva G (1999) Amino acid metabolism in liver disease. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2:47–53
- Hou YQ, Yin YL, Wu G (2015a) Dietary essentiality of "nutritionally nonessential amino acids" for animals and humans. Exp Biol Med 240:997–1007
- Hou YQ, Jia SC, Nawaratna G, Hu SD, Dahanayaka S, Bazer FW, Wu G (2015b) Analysis of L-homoarginine in biological samples by HPLC involving pre-column derivatization with *o*-phthalaldehyde and *N*-acetyl-Lcysteine. Amino Acids 47:2005–2014
- Hou YQ, Hu SD, Jia SC, Nawaratna G, Che DS, Wang FL, Bazer FW, Wu G (2016) Whole-body synthesis of L-homoarginine in pigs and rats supplemented with L-arginine. Amino Acids 48:993–1001
- Hou YQ, Wu G (2018) L-Glutamate nutrition and metabolism in swine. Amino Acids 50:1497–1510
- Hou YQ, He WL, Hu SD, Wu G (2019) Composition of polyamines and amino acids in plant-source foods for human consumption. Amino Acids 51:1153–1165
- Iozzo P, Gastaldelli A, Järvisalo MJ, Kiss J, Borra R, Buzzigoli E, Viljanen A, Naum G, Viljanen T, Oikonen V, Knuuti J, Savunen T, Salvadori PA (2006) Ferrannini E,4, Nuutila P. ¹⁸F-FDG assessment of glucose disposal and production rates during fasting and insulin stimulation: a validation study. J Nuclear Med 47:1016–1022
- Jia SC, Li XY, Zheng SX, Wu G (2017) Amino acids are major energy substrates for tissues of hybrid striped bass and zebrafish. Amino Acids 49:2053–2063
- Jungas RL, Halperin ML, Brosnan JT (1992) Quantitative analysis of amino acid oxidation and related gluconeogenesis in humans. Physiol Rev 72:419–448
- Kandasamy P, Gyimesi G, Kanai Y, Hediger MA (2018) Amino acid transporters revisited: new views in health and disease. Trends Biochem Sci 43:752–789
- Kent AP, Stylianou IM (2011) Scavenger receptor class B member 1 protein: hepatic regulation and its effects on lipids, reverse cholesterol transport, and atherosclerosis. Hepat Med 3:29–44
- Keppler D (2014) The roles of MRP2, MRP3, OATP1B1, and OATP1B3 in conjugated hyperbilirubinemia. Drug Metab Dispos 42:561–565
- Khabou B, Durand-Schneider AM, Delaunay JL, Aït-Slimane T, Barbu V, Fakhfakh F, Housset C, Maurice M (2017) Comparison of in silico prediction and experimental assessment of ABCB4 variants identified in patients with biliary diseases. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 89:101–109
- Kim TK, Lin Z, Tidwell WJ, Li W, Slominski AT (2015) Melatonin and its metabolites accumulate in the human epidermis in vivo and inhibit proliferation and tyrosinase activity in epidermal melanocytes in vitro. Mol Cell Endocrinol 404:1–8

- Kristensen NB, Wu G (2012) Metabolic functions of the porcine liver. In: *Nutritional Physiology of Pigs*, edited by K.E. Bach, N.J. Knudsen, H.D. Kjeldsen, and B.B. Jensen. Danish pig research center, Copenhagen, Denmark. Chapter 13:1–17
- Kuo FC, Hwu WL, Valle D, Darnell JE (1991) Jr Colocalization in pericentral hepatocytes in adult mice and similarity in developmental expression pattern of ornithine aminotransferase and glutamine synthetase mRNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:9468–9472
- Kwon H, Spencer TE, Bazer FW, Wu G (2003) Developmental changes of amino acids in ovine fetal fluids. Biol Reprod 68:1813–1820
- Lautt WW (2010) Hepatic circulation: physiology and pathophysiology. Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences, San Rafael
- Lautt WW, Greenway CV (1987) Conceptual review of the hepatic vascular bed. Hepatology 7:952–963
- Lee DY, Kim EH (2019) Therapeutic effects of amino acids in liver diseases: current studies and future perspectives. J Cancer Prev 24:72–78
- Liddle RA (1995) Regulation of cholecystokinin secretion by intraluminal releasing factors. Am J Phys 269:G319–G327
- Li XY, Wu G (2019) Oxidation of energy substrates in tissues of Largemouth bass (Micropterus salmoides). J Anim Sci 97 (Suppl 3):68–69
- Li P, Wu G (2020) Composition of amino acids and related nitrogenous nutrients in feedstuffs for animal diets. Amino Acids 52:523–542
- Li XL, Zheng SX, Wu G (2020) Nutrition and metabolism of glutamate and glutamine in fish. Amino Acids 52:671-691
- Maxwell JL, Terracio L, Borg TK, Baynes JW, Thorpe SR (1990) A fluorescent residualizing label for studies on protein uptake and catabolism in vivo and in vitro. Biochem J 267:155–162
- Møller N, Meek S, Bigelow M, Andrews J, Nair KS (2000) The kidney is an important site for in vivo phenylalanine-to-tyrosine conversion in adult humans: a metabolic role of the kidney. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:1242–1246
- Nedredal GI, Elvevold KH, Ytrebø LM, Olsen R, Revhaug A, Smedsrød B (2003) Liver sinusoidal endothelial cells represents an important blood clearance system in pigs. Comp Hepatol 2:1
- Neis EPJG, Sabrkhany S, Hundscheid I, Schellekens D, Lenaerts K, Olde Damink SW, Blaak EE, Dejong CHC, Rensen SS (2017) Human splanchnic aminoacid metabolism. Amino Acids 49:161–172
- Oldham-Ott CK, Gilloteaux J (1997) Comparative morphology of the gallbladder and biliary tract in vertebrates: variation in structure, homology in function and gallstones. Microsc Res Tech 38:571–597
- O'sullivan D, Brosnan JT, Brosnan ME (1998) Hepatic zonation of the catabolism of arginine and ornithine in the perfused rat liver. Biochem J 330:627–632
- Palis J (2014) Primitive and definitive erythropoiesis in mammals. Front Physiol 5:3

- Perez-Matos MC, Sandhu B, Bonder A, Jiang ZG (2019) Lipoprotein metabolism in liver diseases. Curr Opin Lipidol 30:30–36
- Pink DBS (2002) Hepatic zonation of Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate metabolism. M.S. thesis, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, Canada
- Pyzik M, Rath T, Kuo TT, Win S, Baker K, Hubbard JJ, Grenha R, Gandhi A, Krämer TD et al (2017) Hepatic FcRn regulates albumin homeostasis and susceptibility to liver injury. Proc Nalt Acad Sci USA 114:E2862–E2871
- Rogers QR, Morris JG (1979) Essentiality of amino acids for the growing kitten. J Nutr 109:718–723
- Rogerson D (2017) Vegan diets: practical advice for athletes and exercisers. J Int Soc Sports Nutr 14:36
- Sanderson SL, Gross KL, Ogburn PN, Calvert C, Jacobs G, Lowry SR, Bird KA, Koehler LA, Swanson LL (2001) Effects of dietary fat and L-carnitine on plasma and whole blood taurine concentrations and cardiac function in healthy dogs fed protein-restricted diets. Am J Vet Res 62:1616–1623
- Schleicher J, Tokarski C, Marbach E, Matz-Soja M, Zellmer S, Gebhardt R, Schuster S (2015) Zonation of hepatic fatty acid metabolism - the diversity of its regulation and the benefit of modeling. Biochim Biophys Acta 1851:641–656
- Stover P, Schirch V (1990) Serine hydroxymethyltransferase catalyzesthehydrolysisof5,10-methenyltetrahydrofolate to 5-formyltetrahydrofolate. J Biol Chem 265:14227–14233
- Sturman JA (1993) Taurine in development. Physiol Rev 73:119–147
- Tajiri K, Shimizu Y (2013) Branched-chain amino acids in liver diseases. World J Gastroenterol 19:7620–7629
- Tanaka M, Iwakiri Y (2016) The hepatic lymphatic vascular system: structure, function, markers, and lymphangiogenesis. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2:733–749
- Tinker DA, Brosnan JT, Herzberg GR (1986) Interorgan metabolism of amino acids, glucose, lactate, glycerol and uric acid in the domestic fowl (Gallus domesticus). Biochem J 240:829–836
- Treyer A, Müsch A (2013) Hepatocyte polarity. Compr Physiol 3:243–287
- Tsikas D, Wu G (2015) Homoarginine, arginine, and relatives: analysis, metabolism, transport, physiology, and pathology. Amino Acids 47:1697–1702
- Valle D, Simell O (1995) The hyperornithinemias. In: Scriver CR, Beaudet AL, Sly WS, Valle D (eds) The metabolic and molecular bases of inherited disease, vol 1, 7th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp 1147–1185
- van de Poll MC, Siroen MP, van Leeuwen PA, Soeters PB, Melis GC, Boelens PG, Deutz NE, Dejong CH (2007) Interorgan amino acid exchange in humans: consequences for arginine and citrulline metabolism. Am J Clin Nutr 85:167–172

- Wang WW, Wu ZL, Dai ZL, Yang Y, Wang JJ, Wu G (2013) Glycine metabolism in animals and humans: implications for nutrition and health. Amino Acids 45:463–477
- Watford M (1985) Gluconeogenesis in the chicken. Fed Proc 44:2469–2474
- Watford M, Wu G (2005) Glutamine metabolism in uricotelic species: variation in skeletal muscle glutamine synthetase, glutaminase, glutamine levels and rates of protein synthesis. Comp Biochem Physiol B 140:607–614
- Wiersma H, Gatti A, Nijstad N, Oude Elferink RPJ, Kuipers F, Tietge UJF (2009) Scavenger receptor class B type I mediates biliary cholesterol secretion independent of ATP-binding cassette transporter g5/g8 in mice. Hepatology 50:1263–1272
- Wu G (2013) Amino acids: biochemistry and nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Wu G (2018) Principles of animal nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Wu G (2020a) Management of metabolic disorders (including metabolic diseases) in ruminant and nonruminant animals. In: Bazer FW, Lamb GC, Wu G (eds) Animal agriculture: challenges, innovations, and sustainability. Elsevier, New York, pp 471–492
- Wu G (2020b) Important roles of dietary taurine, creatine, carnosine, anserine and hydroxyproline in human nutrition and health. Amino Acids 52:329–360
- Wu G, Morris SM (1998) Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. Biochem J 336:1–17
- Wu G, Davis PK, Flynn NE, Knabe DA, Davidson JT (1997) Endogenous synthesis of arginine plays an important role in maintaining arginine homeostasis in postweaning growing pigs. J Nutr 127:2342–2349
- Wu G, Chung-Bok M, Vincent N, Kowalski TJ, Choi YH, Watford M (1998) Distribution of phosphate-activated glutaminase isozymes in the chicken: absence from liver but presence of high activity in pectoralis muscle. Comp Biochem Physiol B 120:285–290
- Wu G, Fang YZ, Yang S, Lupton JR, Turner ND (2004) Glutathione metabolism and its implications for health. J Nutr 134:489–492
- Wu ZL, Hou YQ, Hu SD, Bazer FW, Meininger CJ, McNeal CJ, Wu G (2016) Catabolism and safety of supplemental L-arginine in animals. Amino Acids 48:1541–1552
- Wu Z, Hou Y, Dai Z, Hu CA, Wu G (2019) Metabolism, nutrition, and redox signaling of hydroxyproline. Antioxid Redox Signal 30:674–682
- Yi D, Hou YQ, Wang L, Ding BY, Yang ZG, Li J, Long MH, Liu YL, Wu G (2014) Dietary N-acetylcysteine supplementation alleviates liver injury in lipopolysaccharide-challenged piglets. Br J Nutr 11:46–54
- Zhu Y, Evans MI (2001) Estrogen modulates the expression of L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase in chick liver. Mol Cell Biochem 221:139–145

e-mail: durantew@health.missouri.edu

Department of Medical Pharmacology and Physiology, University of Missouri,

W. Durante (🖂)

Columbia, MO, USA

G. Wu (ed.), Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2_3

Amino Acids in Circulatory Function and Health

William Durante

Abstract

Cardiovascular disease is the major cause of global mortality and disability. Abundant evidence indicates that amino acids play a fundamental role in cardiovascular physiology and pathology. Decades of research established the importance of L-arginine in promoting vascular health through the generation of the gas nitric oxide. More recently, L-glutamine, L-tryptophan, and L-cysteine have also been shown to modulate vascular function via the formation of a myriad of metabolites, including a number of gases (ammonia, carbon monoxide, hydrogen sulfide, and sulfur dioxide). These amino acids and their metabolites preserve vascular homeostasis by regulating critical cellular processes including proliferation, migration, differentiation, apoptosis, contractility, and senescence. Furthermore, they exert potent anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects in the circulation, and block the accumulation of lipids within the arterial wall. They also mitigate known risk factors for cardiovascular disease, including hypertension, hyperlipidemia, obesity, and diabetes. However, in some instances, the metabolism

of these amino acids through discrete pathways yields compounds that fosters vascular disease. While supplementation with amino acid monotherapy targeting the deficiency has ameliorated arterial disease in many animal models, this approach has been less successful in the clinic. A more robust approach combining amino acid supplementation with antioxidants. anti-inflammatory agents, and/or specific amino acid enzymatic pathway inhibitors may prove more successful. Alternatively, supplementation with amino acid-derived metabolites rather than the parent molecule may elicit beneficial effects while bypassing potentially harmful pathways of metabolism. Finally, there is an emerging recognition that circulating levels of multiple amino acids are perturbed in vascular disease and that a more holistic approach that targets all these amino acid derangements is required to restore circulatory function in diseased blood vessels.

Keywords

Amino acids · L-Arginine · L-Glutamine · L-Cysteine · L-Tryptophan · Endothelium · Vascular smooth muscle cells · Atherosclerosis · Vascular disease



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

³⁹

3.1 Introduction

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality, accounting for 31% of all deaths worldwide (Benjamin et al. 2017). Advancing age, genetic factors, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, insulin resistance, obesity, diabetes, and lifestyle choices such as smoking, diet, and sedentarism are major risk factors for cardiovascular disease. While the age-adjusted mortality rate for cardiovascular disease has declined in industrialized countries due to societal changes, improvements in risk factors, and medical care, the aging population and the continuing epidemic of obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) threatens to reverse this achievement, highlighting the need for new treatment modalities that target this disease.

Atherosclerosis is the most common underlying cause of cardiovascular disease. It is an inflammatory disease that is distinguished by the progressive accumulation of lipids and inflammatory cells within the intima of arteries (Tabas et al. 2015). The disease is initiated by the subendothelial retention of low density lipoproteins (LDLs) in focal regions of arteries where blood flow is disturbed. Turbulent flow in these areas triggers endothelial cell (EC) dysfunction which facilitates the entry of lipoproteins into the susceptible region. Various modifications of the trapped lipoproteins, including the formation of oxidized LDL (oxLDL), leads to the expression of adhesion receptors and chemokine production by ECs resulting in the recruitment of immune cells to the forming lesion. The modified lipoproteins also leads to the proliferation and migration of vascular smooth muscle cells (SMCs) into the intima. Infiltrating monocytes differentiate into macrophages and scavenger receptor-mediated uptake of lipoproteins by macrophages leads to foam cell formation. Eventual foam cell death generates a core region in the plaque comprised of necrotic and apoptotic cells, extracellular material, and cholesterol.

The adaptive arm of the immune response also contributes in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis (Durante 2011). T cells present in the plaque, adjacent adventitia, or in the draining lymph

node undergo activation following interaction with antigen presenting cells, which process and present local antigens. Owing to a favorable cytokine environment, a T helper 1 ($T_{\rm H}$ 1) cell response usually predominates leading to the production of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α) which accelerates lesion formation by stimulating the expression of inflammatory cytokines, adhesion molecules, proteolytic enzymes, and thrombotic mediators. In contrast, T regulatory (T_{Reg}) cells interfere with the inflammatory actions of T_H1 cells. In many instances inflammation within the plaque resolves leading to the formation of a thick fibrous cap that provides a protective barrier between circulating platelets and the prothrombotic material in the plaque (Libby 2008). However, non-resolving inflammation leads to the formation of a plaque with a large lipid-filled necrotic core and a vulnerable thin fibrous cap. Subsequent rupture of the compromised plaque by hemodynamic forces within the vessel wall or loss of ECs leads to abrupt thrombotic occlusion of the artery that precipitates acute clinical events such myocardial infarction, stroke, and endorgan failure.

Growing evidence indicates that amino acids play an instrumental role in cardiovascular physiology and pathology. While all amino acid are important for protein synthesis, a subset of amino acids are intimately associated with vascular health. Decades of research established the importance of L-arginine (Arg) in regulating vascular and immune cell function and atherosclerosis through the production of the gas nitric oxide (NO). Recent clinical studies have also identified circulating levels of L-glutamine (Gln) and L-glutamate (Glu) as key predictors of cardiovascular disease while experimental work reveals fundamental mechanisms by which glutaminolysis modulates vascular cell function and pulmonary arterial hypertension. More recently, the complex actions of L-tryptophan (Trp) and its metabolites on vascular cell function and atherosclerosis have been revealed. In addition, ongoing studies are documenting the importance of a panoply of L-cysteine (Cys)-derived metabolites in maintaining vascular homeostasis. In this review, we will describe the metabolism and

function of these four key amino acids in the circulation, and highlight potential therapeutic approaches that target these amino acids in vascular disease.

3.2 L-Arginine

Arg is a cationic, semi-essential amino acid that participates in numerous physiological processes (see Wu and Morris 1988; Durante 2001). Arg metabolism is regulated both through the expression of the cationic amino acid transporters of the solute carrier 7 (SLC7) family and by the enzymes responsible for its catabolism (Fig. 3.1). The discovery in the late 1980s that Arg is oxidized to NO and L-citrulline (Cit) by NO synthase (NOS) spurred considerable interest in this amino acid within the cardiovascular community. Besides serving as a substrate for NOS, Arg plays an important structural and functional role by assisting in the intracellular assembly of the dimeric form of NOS and ensuring the proper coupling between the oxidative and reductive domains of the enzyme. In this respect, lack of Arg or the obligatory cofactor tetrahydrobiopterin leads to the uncoupling of the enzyme and the production of superoxide rather than NO. NOS-derived Cit is subsequently converted back to Arg by the sequential action of argininosuccinate synthetase and argininosuccinate lyase. The significance of this recycling mechanism is illustrated by the decrease in NO synthesis and increase in blood pressure in argininosuccinate lyase-deficient rodents and humans (Erez et al. 2011).

There are three distinct isoforms of NOS: neuronal NOS (NOS1), inducible NOS (NOS2), and endothelial NOS (NOS3) (see Forstermann and Sessa 2012). While NOS1-derived NO is involved in synaptic plasticity and acts as a neurotransmitter for the central control of blood pressure, NOS2-derived NO plays a role in host defense and contributes to the pathophysiology of inflam-



Fig. 3.1 Overview of L-arginine transport and metabolism. L-Arginine is transported into cells by the SLC7 family of transporters and metabolized via four discrete enzymatic pathways. *ADC* arginine decarboxylase, *AGAT* L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase, *Arg* L-arginine, *ARG* arginase, *ASL* argininosuccinate lyase, *AS* argininosuccinate, *ASS* argininosuccinate synthetase, *Cit* L-citrulline, *GA* guanidinoacetate, *GAMT* guanidinoace

tate N-methyltransferase, *Gly* glycine, *Glu* L-glutamate, *HArg* L-homoarginine, *Lys* L-lysine, *NO* nitric oxide, *NOS* nitric oxide synthase, *Orn* L-ornithine, *ODC* ornithine decarboxylase, *OAT* ornithine aminotransferase, *Pro* L-proline, *P5C* pyrroline-5-carboxylate, *P5CR* pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase, *P5CD* pyrroline-5-carboxylate dehydrogenase, *SLC7* solute carrier family 7

matory diseases. In contrast, the release of NO by NOS3 performs a pivotal task in preserving vascular health. EC-derived NO regulates blood flow and blood pressure by inhibiting arterial tone. In addition, NO exerts a potent antithrombotic effect by hindering platelet aggregation and adhesion and limits intimal thickening by blocking SMC proliferation, migration, and collagen synthesis. The generation of NO by ECs also retards inflammation by inhibiting the expression of adhesion molecules, the production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and the recruitment, infiltration and activation of leukocytes within the vessel wall. Conversely, a NO deficiency results in endothelial dysfunction that is characterized by increased EC apoptosis, impaired endotheliumdependent vasodilation, and EC activation, which collectively contributes to the development of vascular disease. Consistent with this notion, loss of function polymorphisms in the NOS3 gene are associated with a significantly higher risk of ischemic heart disease while gain of function polymorphisms are correlated with decreased blood pressure and reduced risk of coronary heart disease, peripheral artery disease, and stroke (Casas et al. 2004; Emdin et al. 2018). Similarly, mice with NOS3 deficiency exhibit hypertension and aggravated atherosclerosis (Chen et al. 2001).

Arg methylation is a common posttranslational modification that is catalyzed by protein arginine methyl transferases. Subsequent proteolysis of proteins containing methylated Arg results in the liberation of asymmetric dimethylarginines (ADMA), symmetric dimethylarginine (SDMA), and N^G-monomethyl-Larginine (L-NMMA). Elevated plasma concentrations of ADMA and L-NMMA are strong risk factors for cardiovascular disease (Liu et al. 2018), and high serum ADMA levels are associated with an increased risk of microvascular and macrovascular disease in T2DM (Ganz et al. 2017). The robust association between ADMA/L-NMMA and cardiovascular disease likely reflect the ability of these methylated compounds to antagonize NO synthesis. ADMA and L-NMMA, but not SDMA, are competitive inhibitors of NOS3. In addition, they both enhance NOS3 uncoupling leading to the production of superoxide, which further reduces NO bioavailability. ADMA and L-NMMA may also block NOS3 function by competing with Arg for uptake by the SLC7 transporters.

Vascular cells also express the enzyme arginase that hydrolyzes Arg to ornithine and urea. There are two distinct isoforms of arginase, arginase I and II: arginase I is a cytosolic enzyme that is highly expressed in the liver where it catalyzes the final step of the urea cycle, while arginase II is a cytosolic enzyme that is widely found outside the liver. The presence of arginase has been documented in a multitude of blood vessels and both arginase isoforms have been detected in ECs (Li et al. 2016) and SMCs (Durante 2013). The arginase product L-ornithine is further metabolized by ornithine decarboxylase to the polyamine putrescine which forms the successive polyamines spermine and spermidine. Vascular cell proliferation is associated with elevations in polyamine production and inhibition of polyamine synthesis negates cell growth (Durante et al. 1998; Li et al. 2002). L-Ornithine is also converted to pyrroline-5-carboxylate by ornithine aminotransferase that is further catabolized by pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase to L-proline, a key precursor needed for the synthesis of many structural proteins, including collagen (Durante et al. 2000, 2001). Alternatively, L-ornithine is metabolized by pyrroline-5-carboxylate dehydrogenase to Glu.

Numerous studies show that arginase limits endothelial NO production by competing with NOS3 for substrate Arg (see Durante et al. 2007; Pernow and Jung 2013; Caldwell et al. 2018). Arginase-mediated impairments in NO bioavailability and endothelial function have been demonstrated in patients and/or animals with diabetes, hypercholesterolemia, atherosclerosis, hypertension, heart failure, aging, and sickle cell disease. Moreover, we recently reported that vascular arginase activity is upregulated in obese Zucker rats and that it impairs NO-mediated arteriolar vasodilation in these animals (Johnson et al. 2015). In a follow-up study, we identified an agedependent increase in arginase in blood vessels and plasma of obese Zucker rats that is paralleled by a decline in plasma Arg and NO (Peyton et al. 2018a). Moreover, chronic administration of an arginase inhibitor to pre-hypertensive animals prevents the rise in blood pressure and this is associated with increases in blood Arg and NO. The ability of arginase to promote hypertension has also been documented in animal models of diabetes, insulin-resistance, sickle cell anemia, and essential hypertension.

Arginase also plays a role in atherosclerosis. Increases in arginase II expression and activity are observed in atherosclerotic blood vessels (Ryoo et al. 2008). Strikingly, pharmacological inhibition of arginase or deletion of arginase II in apolipoprotein E (apoE)-deficient mice reduces plaque burden, SMC senescence and apoptosis, macrophage content, oxidative stress, and inflammatory cytokine expression within the atherosclerotic lesion, while improving EC dysfunction and arterial stiffness (Ryoo et al. 2008; Ming et al. 2012; Xiong et al. 2013). Moreover, adoptive transfer experiments indicate that fewer donor arginase II-deficient monocytes than arginase II-replete monocytes enter the plaque of apoE-null mice. Conversely, overexpression of arginase II in ECs promotes endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis in apoE-deficient animals (Vaisman et al. 2012). Surprisingly, an atheroprotective role for arginase I has been detected. Arginase I expression is elevated in macrophages derived from rabbits with a low predisposition to atherosclerosis compared to macrophages obtained from animals with a high proclivity for the disease (Teupser et al. 2006). In addition, intraplaque gene transfer of arginase I attenuates macrophage infiltration and inflammation, whereas local silencing of arginase I enhances these responses (Wang et al. 2011a). Thus, the regulatory role of arginase in atherosclerosis is intricate, isoform-dependent, and requires further study.

Diminished global Arg bioavailability is associated with the development of coronary artery disease and heightened long-term risk for major adverse cardiovascular events, including death, myocardial infarction, and stroke (Tang et al. 2009). Low serum Arg also predicts the evolution of microvascular disease in patients with T2DM (Ganz et al. 2017), while a reduction in Arg availability is independently associated with pulmonary hypertension and increased mortality in patients with sickle cell disease (Morris et al. 2005). Preclinical studies have also noted a decrease in plasma Arg in animal models of obesity, diabetes, and sickle cell disease (Pieper and Peltier 1995; Romero et al. 2002; Johnson et al. 2015). Moreover, a plethora of small clinical and experimental studies indicate that enteral or parenteral administration of Arg corrects endothelial dysfunction associated with coronary artery disease, peripheral artery disease, hyperlipidemia, smoking, hypertension, sickle cell anemia, diabetes, and obesity (see Wu and Meininger 2000; Wu et al. 2009). Alternatively, restoration of circulating and tissue levels of Arg by Cit administration improves NO bioavailability also and endothelium-dependent vasodilation in numerous maladies (Allerton et al. 2018). In fact, owing to a more favorable pharmacokinetic profile, supplemental Cit is more efficient than Arg in increasing systemic Arg availability (Schwedhelm et al. 2008). In addition, dietary supplementation with Arg retards the progression of atherosclerosis in high cholesterol-fed rabbits (Boger et al. 2007; Cooke et al. 1992). Arg administration also normalizes blood pressure in obese rats and elicits a preferential vasodepressor action in obese hypertensive patients relative to lean normotensive subjects (Johnson et al. 2015; Castejon et al. 2002). Furthermore, Arg feeding influences vascular remodeling. Short-term Arg/Cit supplementation reduces arterial stiffness in middle-aged men and in patients with kidney disease (Ochiai et al. 2012; Annavarajula et al. 2012). Arg administration also reduces intimal thickening after arterial injury or vein grafting in rodents (McNamara et al. 1993; Hamon et al. 1994; Okazaki et al. 1997). The vascular benefits associated with dietary Arg supplementation are largely due to an increase in NO bioavailability; however, other mechanisms may also be operative (Wu and Meininger 2000).

The beneficial effects of Arg supplementation are not universally observed. A recent metaanalysis found that flow-mediated dilation and NO levels are not improved by oral supplementation of Arg in patients with cardiovascular or metabolic disease (Rodrigues-Krause et al. 2019). Moreover, long-term clinical studies indicate that Arg administration does not improve vascular function when added to standard therapy in patients with coronary or peripheral arterial disease (Blum et al. 2000; Wilson et al. 2007). Beyond failure, Arg therapy is associated with higher post-infarction mortality in patients with acute coronary syndrome and may worsen endothelial function in patients with peripheral artery disease (Schulman et al. 2006; Wilson et al. 2007). These findings are in-line with a Mendelian randomization study proposing that high Arg levels are associated with a higher risk of ischemic heart disease (Au Yeung et al. 2016). However, they are at odds with studies demonstrating the safety of dietary supplementation with Arg in healthy humans and animals (Yang et al. 2015; Wu et al. 2016; McNeal et al. 2018), raising the possibility that the detrimental effects of Arg are disease-specific. In this respect, the adverse effects of Arg may be related to NOS3 uncoupling due to the oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin and/or channeling of Arg through harmful pathways such as arginase or NOS2, which are upregulated in atherosclerosis. In addition, chronic exposure to Arg accelerates EC senescence providing another mechanism by which Arg may exacerbate vascular disease (Scalera et al. 2009).

Arg is also metabolized by the enzyme L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT) which catalyzes the transfer of the amidino group from Arg to L-glycine (Gly) to produce guanidinoacetate. Subsequently, guanidinoacetate N-methyl transferase (GAMT) methylates guanidinoacetate to creatine. However, AGAT also utilizes lysine to generate L-homoarginine (HArg). Clinical studies indicate that low plasma concentrations of HArg independently predicts mortality from cardiovascular disease, whereas high plasma concentrations are independently associated with reduced mortality in stroke patients (Marz et al. 2010; Pilz et al. 2011; Choe et al. 2013). Genome-wide association studies identified AGAT as the key enzyme for HArg synthesis in humans (Choe et al. 2013). Furthermore, AGAT-null mice have low plasma HArg levels and demonstrate increased morbidity in an experimental model of stroke that is rec-

tified by HArg feeding. Conversely, GAMT-deficient mice have higher plasma HArg concentrations and smaller experimental strokes, suggesting that HArg is causally involved in the pathophysiology of stroke. Oral supplementation with HArg for up to 4 weeks also elevates circulating HArg levels in human subjects without any adverse effects, supporting the implementation of larger prospective studies investigating the effect of HArg administration in patients with cardiovascular disease (Atzler et al. 2016). The mechanism underlying the protective actions of HArg remain unknown but may be related to the ability of HArg to promote NO synthesis by serving as a NOS substrate or arginase inhibitor. Finally, Arg may also be metabolized by Arg decarboxylase to agmatine. Further studies are needed to confirm the presence and functional significance of this pathway in the vasculature.

3.3 L-Glutamine

Gln is a conditionally essential amino acid that is indispensable during stages of rapid growth or in pathological states such as trauma, sepsis, and critical illness (Xi et al. 2011). Gln is a necessary nitrogen donor for the de novo synthesis of purines, pyrimidines, nucleotides, and glucosamine (Fig. 3.2). However, a majority of Gln is metabolized to Glu and ammonia (NH₃) by the mitochondrial enzyme, glutaminase (GLS). There are two isoforms of GLS, GLS1 and GLS2, but GLS1 is preferentially expressed in the vasculature (Bertero et al. 2016; Peyton et al. 2018b). The GLS product Glu is then catabolized by Glu dehydrogenase and/or aminotransferases to α -ketoglutarate which enters the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle for ATP synthesis or as an anaplerotic source of carbon for the production of lipids and non-essential amino acids, satisfying both the energetic and macromolecular requirements of cells. Furthermore, Glu is used for the synthesis of the antioxidant glutathione (GSH).

Cross-sectional clinical studies indicate that plasma Gln or the Gln:Glu ratio is inversely associated with higher body mass index, blood



Fig. 3.2 Overview of L-glutamine transport and metabolism. L-Glutamine is transported into cells by various transporters and preferentially metabolized to L-glutamate and ammonia by the mitochondrial enzyme glutaminase. L-Glutamine and L-glutamate can be converted to a number of important molecules. *Asn* L-asparagine, *ASNS* asparagine synthetase, *Asp* L-aspartate, *ATP* adenosine

pressure, triglycerides, and insulin resistance, whereas plasma Glu levels are associated with adverse metabolic parameters (Newgard et al. 2009; Wurtz et al. 2012; Cheng et al. 2012). In a prospective study, the circulating Gln:Glu ratio was associated with diminished risk for incident cardiovascular disease, while plasma Glu was linked with increased risk (Zheng et al. 2016). Interestingly, small clinical trials found that Gln supplementation enhances myocardial repair and improves risk factors in patients with coronary heart disease (Khogali et al. 2002; Lomivorotov et al. 2011; Sufit et al. 2012). In addition, perioperative oral Gln administration reduces cardiac damage after coronary revascularization (Chavez-Tostado et al. 2017). Moreover, a large prospective study found that dietary Gln intake is inversely related to the risk of cardiovascular mortality, independent of other dietary or lifestyle factors (Ma et al. 2018). Collectively, these studies highlight on impor-

triphosphate, *CO* carbon monoxide, *Gln* L-glutamine, *GLS* glutaminase, *Glu* L-glutamate, *GLUD* glutamate dehydrogenase, *GSH* glutathione, *HO-1* heme oxygenase-1, $\alpha KG \alpha$ -ketoglutarate, *Mal* L-malate, *NH₃* ammonia, *OAA* oxaloacetate, *TAs* transaminases, *TCA* tricarboxylic acid, *NEAA* nonessential amino acids

tant protective role for Gln against cardiovascular disease.

The mechanisms by which Gln promotes vascular health are not fully known. However, experimental studies show that Gln protects ECs against oxidative and inflammatory stress (Hinshaw and Burger 1990; Hsu et al. 2006). In addition. Gln supplementation corrects endothelium-dependent relaxation in L-NMMAtreated animals and lowers blood pressure in mice fed a high-fat diet (Cheng et al. 2012; Addabbo et al. 2013). The metabolism of Gln by GLS1 also prevents EC senescence and is critical for redox homeostasis through the production of GSH (Unterluggauer et al. 2008; Kim et al. 2017; Huang et al. 2017). Furthermore, the selective loss of GLS1 in ECs results in impaired vessel sprouting in mouse models of angiogenesis, suggesting a key role for this enzyme in blood vessel formation (Kim et al. 2017; Huang et al. 2017). More recently, we reported that GLS1 stimulates

EC proliferation and migration by fueling the TCA cycle (Peyton et al. 2018b). Interestingly, we also found that Gln-derived NH₃ is a major driver of heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) gene expression in ECs (Liu et al. 2017). This is noteworthy since HO-1 is responsible for generating carbon monoxide (CO) from heme (Durante et al. 2006). Much like NO, CO exerts many salutary effects in the circulation. Indeed, we recently documented that NH₃ protects against EC death via the HO-1-mediated generation of CO (Liu et al. 2017). Moreover, the ability of Gln to prevent tissue injury following ischemia-reperfusion may also be HO-1 dependent (Korthuis and Durante 2005). Thus, the NH₃-HO-1-CO signaling axis represents a unique mechanism by which Gln preserves vascular health.

However, increases in glutaminolysis may have undesirable effects. For example, vascular stiffening stimulates the hyperproliferation of pulmonary ECs and SMCs due to the induction of GLS1 (Bertero et al. 2016). GLS1 inhibition or knockdown prevents stiffness-induced cellular hyperproliferation, which is restored by the addition of Glu. Pulmonary artery stiffness and GLS1 expression is increased in the rat monocrotaline model of pulmonary hypertension and Gln measured in isolated pulmonary vascular cells is decreased, suggestive of anaplerotic flux through the TCA cycle. Interestingly, glutaminolysis also fosters fibrosis by stimulating collagen translation via the α -ketoglutarate-mediated activation of mammalian target of rapamycin, setting up a vicious cycle of extracellular matrix stiffening, glutaminolysis, and hyperproliferation (Ge et al. 2018). GLS1 inhibition interrupts this cycle and ameliorates pulmonary hypertension in rats. Similar patterns of Glu and GLS1 expression are noted in rhesus macaques with simian immunodeficiency virus-associated pulmonary hypertension and in lung samples from human patients with pulmonary hypertension. Furthermore, lower blood Gln:Glu ratios are detected in patients who had higher pulmonary arterial pressure, further implicating glutaminolysis in pulmonary arterial hypertension.

GLS1 may also modulate vascular cell function by interacting with NOS. An early report identified a GLS-initiated pathway for Arg synthesis from Gln in macrophages and monocytes (Murphy and Newsholme 1998). This study found that the addition of Gln to macrophages stimulates a significant increase in NO synthesis, while pharmacological inhibition of GLS1 decreases NO generation. In contrast, Gln inhibits the production of NO in cultured ECs (Sessa et al. 1990). However, the inhibitory effect of Gln on NO synthesis does not involve GLS1, as inhibition of this enzyme has no effect of NOS3 expression or activity (Huang et al. 2017). Instead, this inhibitory effect is mediated by the metabolism of Gln by L-glutamine:fructose-6phosphate aminotransferase to glucosamine, which inhibits pentose cycle activity and lowers NADPH levels that are required for NOS activity (Wu et al. 2001).

3.4 L-Tryptophan

Trp is an essential amino acid that is metabolized via two major pathways (Fig. 3.3). Trp hydroxylase mediates the conversion of 5% of Trp to 5'-hydroxytrytophan, which is then transformed by amino acid decarboxylase to serotonin, an important neurotransmitter and modulator of platelet aggregation and blood pressure. However, a large majority (95%) of Trp is metabolized by the kynurenine (Kyn) pathway. Here, Trp is catabolized by tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase (TDO) or indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) to N-formylkynurenine. These enzymes form the rate-limiting reaction within the Kyn pathway, with TDO governing basal Trp flux while IDO controls Trp movement through this pathway under disease conditions. There are two isoforms of IDO: IDO1 is widely expressed, inducible, and contributes to a majority of Trp degradation, while IDO2 is constitutively expressed in specific tissues. Once formed, N-formylkynurenine is degraded to Kyn by Kyn formamidase. Kyn is further metabolized to kynurenic acid or anthranilic acid by the actions of kynurenic amino transferases or kynurenase, respectively. Alternatively, Kyn is converted to 3'-hydroxykynurenic acid by kynurenine-3-monooxygenase



Fig. 3.3 Overview of L-tryptophan metabolism. L-Tryptophan is metabolized by the serotonin or kynurenine pathway. *AA* anthranilic acid, *ADC* amino acid decarboxylase, *Gly* glycine, *3-HAA* 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid, *3-HK* 3-hydroxykynurenine, *IDO* indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, *KA* kynurenine acid, *KAT* kynurenine aminotransferase, *KFase* N-formyl-kynurenine formami-

dase, 5-HTP 5-hydroxytryptophan, KMO kynurenine hydroxylase monooxygenase, Kyn kynurenine, KYNU kynureninase, NAD⁺ nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide, N-formylKyn N-formylkynurenine, QA quinolinic acid, TDO tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase, Trp L-tryptophan, TPH tryptophan hydrolase

which is further metabolized into 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid (3-HAA), and ultimately to quinolinic acid and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide.

Clinical studies indicate that Trp metabolism via the Kyn pathway is associated with cardiovascular disease. The plasma Kyn:Trp ratio, a surrogate for IDO activity, is increased in patients with coronary artery disease and correlates with established cardiovascular risk factors, including body mass index, LDL, triglycerides, and waist circumference (Wirleitner et al. 2003; Pertovaara et al. 2007). Elevated IDO expression is also observed in the macrophage-rich cores of advanced atherosclerotic plaques in human subjects (Niinisalo et al. 2010). In addition, blood IDO activity is positively associated with increases in carotid artery intima-media thickness, an early marker of atherosclerosis (Niinisalo et al., 2008). Elevated levels of plasma kynurenines including kynurenic acid, 3-hydroxykynurenic acid, anthranilic acid, and 3-HAA also predict the risk of acute myocardial infarction in patients with stable angina pectoris (Pedersen et al. 2015). Furthermore, high kynurenic acid concentrations in plaques are associated with an unstable phenotype whereas undetectable or low levels of this acid are seen in stable plaques, indicating a role for Trp metabolites in modulating plaque stability (Metghalchi et al. 2015).

Experimental studies suggest a role for the Kyn pathway in atherosclerosis. Pharmacological inhibition of IDO results in a significant increase in atherosclerosis in apoE-deficient mice that is paralleled by an increase in the expression of adhesion molecules and chemokines, and accumulation of macrophages within the plaque (Polyzos et al. 2015). Moreover, the acceleration in atherosclerosis and inflammation is reversed by the exogenous administration of 3-HAA. Similarly, genetic deletion of IDO1 in apoE-deficient mice exacerbates atherosclerosis at 15 weeks of age by downregulating the expression of the anti-inflammatory cytokine, interleukin-10 (IL-10) (Cole et al. 2015). Although IDO1 deletion does not alter circulating cholesterol levels, it significantly increases the infiltration of macrophages and

T-cells into the atherosclerotic plaque. Moreover, loss of IDO results in an unstable plaque at 30 weeks of age that is predisposed to rupture. Interestingly, addition of 3,4-dimethoxycinnamoylanthranilic acid, an orally active synthetic derivative of 3-HAA, but not Kyn, increases IL-10 production by splenic B cells and decreases inflammatory cytokine production by human atheroma cell cultures. These results suggest the IDO1-derived 3-HAA protects against atherosclerosis. This notion is further supported by work showing that IDO1-expressing aortic dendritic cells block atherosclerosis in mice by dampening vascular inflammation via the induction of T_{Reg} cells (Yun et al. 2016) and by another study demonstrating that 3-HAA reduces lesion size in LDL receptor-deficient mice by lowering plasma lipids and T-cell-mediated inflammation in plaques (Zhang et al. 2012a). However, in direct opposition, one study found that IDO1-deficiency inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-knockout mice via an upregulation of IL-10 (Metghalchi et al. 2015). The reason for these conflicting reports is not known but may be related to possible differences in the genetic background of animals. Clearly, additional studies are needed to elucidate the role of IDO in atherogenesis.

The Kyn pathway is also associated with endothelial dysfunction. Infusion of mice with angiotensin II augments IDO expression and 3'-hydroxykynurenic acid content in ECs and this is accompanied by increases in oxidative stress, EC apoptosis, and impaired endotheliumdependent relaxation (Wang et al. 2014). However, these actions of angiotensin II are suppressed in IDO1-deficient mice. Mechanistically, it was determined that angiotensin II-enhanced 3-hydroxykynurenine production stimulates the generation of superoxide by NAD(P)H oxidase leading to EC apoptosis and dysfunction. Interestingly, knockout of IDO1 also averts vascular SMC apoptosis and the development of abdominal aortic aneurysms in angiotensin II-treated LDL receptor-deficient mice, further incriminating IDO1 in the pathological actions of

angiotensin II (Metghalchi et al. 2018). In addition, kynurenic acid triggers the adhesion of neutrophils and leukocytes to vascular endothelium via the activation of G protein-coupled receptor 35, suggesting that this acid may lead to the recruitment of leukocytes into the vessel wall (Barth et al. 2009).

The metabolism of Trp also plays an important role in blood pressure regulation. In a seminal study, Wang et al. (2010) reported that both Trp and Kyn dilate pre-constricted blood vessels; however, the dilating response to Trp requires IDO activity and an intact endothelium whereas the response to Kyn is IDO- and endotheliumindependent. In addition, they showed that Kyninduced arterial relaxation is mediated by the activation of soluble guanylate cyclase and adenylate cyclase, and that intravenous infusion of Kyn decreases blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive mice. They also found that IDO is expressed in ECs of resistance arteries and contributes to the decrease in blood pressure in mouse models of inflammation, and suggested that IDO-derived Kyn is a novel mediator of hypotension in human sepsis. Circulating Kyn levels are elevated in hypertensive versus normotensive patients (Pedersen et al. 2015), and plasma Kyn as well as kynurenic acid, 3-hydroxykynurenic acid, and anthranilic acid are increased in renovascular hypertensive rats, suggesting that activation of the Kyn pathway functions in a compensatory manner to mitigate hypertension. Furthermore, injection of kynurenic acid into the rostral ventrolateral medulla results in a pronounced drop in arterial blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats, indicating that multiple IDO-derived products possess anti-hypertensive properties (Ito et al. 2000). Lastly, IDO-deletion exaggerates pulmonary hypertension, right ventricular hypertrophy, and pulmonary arterial thickening in mice exposed to hypoxia (Xiao et al. 2013). In contrast, augmented pulmonary endothelial IDO expression attenuates the development of pulmonary hypertension and its associated pathologies in rodent models of pulmonary hypertension.

3.5 L-Cysteine

Cys is a semi-essential amino acid that is metabolized to a number of important molecules (Yin et al. 2016). Cys is transformed to GSH via two successive enzymatic reactions (Fig. 3.4). Cys and Glu are first coupled by glutamate cysteine ligase to form γ -glutamylcysteine, which along with Gly is converted by GSH synthase to GSH; an endogenous antioxidant that directly neutralizes free radicals and reactive oxygen species (ROS). Cys is also oxidized by cysteine dioxygenase to cysteine sulfinate. This product is furmetabolized ther by cysteine sulfinate decarboxylase to hypotaurine, which is subsequently oxidized to taurine. Alternatively, cysteine sulfinate is transaminated by aspartate aminotransferase (AAT) to β -sulfinylpyruvate which spontaneously decomposes to SO₂. Finally, H₂S is produced enzymatically from Cys by cystathionine β -synthase and cystathionine γ -lyase (CSE), or by the combined action of Cys amino transferase and 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase. Minor amounts of H₂S may be oxidized to SO₂.

Several Cys metabolites exert favorable effects in the circulation. In particular, a high intake of taurine is associated with a reduced risk of cardiovascular disease (Yamori et al. 2001). Furthermore, subjects with higher levels of urinary taurine excretion have lower body mass, blood pressure, and plasma total cholesterol levels. Experimental studies indicate that taurine prevents the development of atherosclerosis in animals (Murakami et al. 2002). Several mechanisms account for the anti-atherosclerotic effect of taurine. Taurine blocks arterial lipid accumulation and the elevation of LDL in animals fed a high-fat/high-cholesterol diet. Taurine supplementation also decreases serum and aortic levels of lipid peroxides in these animals. In addition, taurine protects against EC apoptosis and inflammation induced by oxLDL, and normalizes endothelium-dependent vasodilation in mice fed a high cholesterol diet (Kamata et al. 1996; Ulrich-Merzenich et al. 2007). Taurine also inhibits the proliferation of vascular SMCs and subsequent neointima formation in injured carotid arteries of rats by downregulating ROS production (Murakami et al. 2010).

The signaling gas H₂S has also emerged as a critical regulator of vascular homeostasis. It stimulates blood flow by dilating blood vessels and inhibiting platelet aggregation. H₂S also elicits potent antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antiapoptotic, and angiogenic responses. Many of its biological actions occur by targeting proteins for sulfhydration, where sulfur is added to the thiol groups of specific cysteine residues to form a persulfide. This posttranslational modification alters protein function and has been shown to upregulate numerous protective signaling pathways (Meng et al. 2018). In addition, H_2S promotes the NOS3 signaling pathway by enhancing the phosphorylation and activation of the enzyme, stabilizing the enzyme in its dimeric form, and



Fig. 3.4 Overview of L-cysteine metabolism to glutathione, taurine, hydrogen sulfide, and sulfur dioxide. *AAT* aspartate aminotransferase, *CAT* cysteine amino transferase, *CBS* cystathionine β -synthase, *CDO* cysteine dioxygenase, *CS* cysteine sulfonate, *CSD* cysteine sulfonate decarboxylate, *CSE* cystathionine γ -lyase, *GCL* glutamate

cysteine ligase, *Cys* L-cysteine, γ -*Glu-Cys* γ -glutamylcysteine, *GS* glutathione synthase, *GSH* glutathione, *H*₂*S* hydrogen sulfide, *3MP* 3-mercaptopyruvate, *MPST* 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase, *SO*₂ sulfur dioxide, *SP* β -sulfinylpyruvate inhibiting the activity of phosphodiesterase (Wang et al. 2017).

While all three enzymatic pathways have been identified in vascular cells, CSE is the major regulator of H₂S in the vasculature. Considerable evidence indicates that CSE plays a protective role in atherosclerosis. CSE knockout mice have low circulating levels of H₂S and when fed a high-fat diet develop increased fatty streak formation, oxidative stress, adhesion molecule expression, and aortic intimal proliferation relative to wild-type animals (Mani et al. 2013). Similarly, inhibition or deletion of CSE exacerbates inflammation and atherosclerosis in apoEknockout mice (Zhang et al. 2012b; Ford et al. 2013). In all instances, restoration of H_2S levels following the administration of a H₂S donor reduces plaque size as well as the formation of inflammatory cytokines and superoxide in these animals (Liu et al. 2013). H₂S administration also improves endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation and circulating levels of NO in apoEdeficient mice (Lin et al. 2016). A deficiency of H₂S is also observed in humans with atherosclerosis. Diminished plasma H₂S levels are detected in chronic hemodialysis patients with accelerated atherosclerosis and in patients with severe coronary artery disease (Gao et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2017). Defective H_2S production has also been observed in patients with diabetes (Jain et al. 2010), and a recent study reported reduced CSE expression and H₂S levels in patients with abdominal aortic aneurysms (Gomez et al. 2016). Thus, oral supplementation with H₂S donors may serve as a therapeutic approach to treat a number of vascular pathologies.

Studies in our laboratory established an important protective role for H_2S in ischemiareperfusion injury (Zuidema et al. 2011). Preconditioning of animals with H_2S prior to an ischemic insult of the murine small intestine causes post-capillary venules to shift to an antiinflammatory phenotype such that these vessels fail to support increases in post-ischemic leukocyte rolling and adhesion. H_2S also induces HO-1 activity in this setting, and pharmacological blockade or genetic deletion of HO-1 prevents the anti-adhesive actions of antecedent H_2S , implicating HO-1 in this process. H_2S also defends against ischemia-reperfusion injury in other tissues via both HO-1-dependent and independent mechanisms (Wu et al. 2015). By dilating resistance arteries, H_2S also contributes to the maintenance of arterial blood pressure (Kanagy et al. 2017). Pharmacological inhibition of H_2S synthesis elevates blood pressure in rats while global deletion of CSE results in age-dependent increases in blood pressure in mice. Contrarily, administration of H_2S donors reduces blood pressure in animal models of hypertension.

There is some evidence that SO_2 also serves as a signaling molecule in the circulation. Endogenously derived or exogenously administered SO₂ relaxes blood vessels in the rat. The mechanisms underlying this response are complex involving ion channels and cyclic nucleotides (Huang et al. 2016). In addition, SO_2 and its derivatives decreases arterial hypertension in rats, and lowers mean pulmonary arterial blood pressure and improves structural pulmonary arterial remodeling by blocking collagen deposition, pulmonary arterial SMC proliferation, and inflammation in rodents with pulmonary hypertension (Jin et al. 2008; Sun et al. 2010). SO₂ administration also diminishes atherosclerosis and reduces myocardial infarct size following ischemia-reperfusion in rodents (Li et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2011b).

3.6 Summary

There is an emerging appreciation for the role of amino acids in vascular health. Amino acids serve as precursors for the synthesis of a remarkable array of molecules that impact vascular function. Of particular importance is the metabolism of amino acids to signaling gases such as NO, CO, NH₃, H₂S, and SO₂ which underlie many of the cardioprotective actions of amino acids. These gases along with other amino acid metabolites play a central role in preserving vascular homeostasis by regulating critical cellular processes such as proliferation, migration, differentiation, apoptosis, contractility, and senescence. In addition, amino acids and their metabolites exert potent anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects in the circulation and block the accumulation of lipid within the vessel wall. Moreover, they mitigate known risk factors for cardiovascular disease, including hypertension, hyperlipidemia, obesity, and diabetes. However, in some instances, the metabolism of amino acids through certain pathways may yield compounds that promote vascular disease.

Preclinical and clinical studies have identified deficiencies in circulating levels of amino acids in a number of vascular pathologies. While supplementation with amino acid monotherapy targeting the deficiency has successful ameliorated arterial disease in many animal models, mixed results have been reported in the clinic. In such situations combination therapy should be considered. In the case of Arg deficiency, coadministration of Arg and Cit results in a more rapid increase in plasma Arg levels and marked augmentation of NO availability than supplementation of the single amino acid alone (Morita et al. 2014). Combining amino acid supplementation with antioxidants and anti-inflammatory agents to better combat the oxidative and inflammatory environment of atherosclerosis should also be considered. In addition, the use of specific pharmacological inhibitors may further optimize amino acid supplementation strategies by channeling amino acids towards beneficial metabolic pathways. For example, the use of arginase or NOS2 inhibitors may increase the efficacy of Arg and/or Cit supplementation by directing Arg to NOS3 while avoiding the potential harmful arginase and NOS2 pathways. Alternatively, one may bypass dangerous pathways of metabolism by administering specific amino acid metabolites with known protective actions rather than the parent molecule. Particularly attractive is the administration of amino acid-derived gases or synthetic analogues of amino acid metabolites. A number of gas-releasing molecules and stable amino acid derivatives have been developed and proven safe and efficacious in various experimental models, and are currently undergoing clinical testing (Cole et al. 2015; Ismailova et al. 2018; Li et al. 2018). Finally, there is a growing realization that circulating levels of multiple amino acids may be perturbed in patients with vascular disease. Thus, a more holistic approach that targets all these amino acid derangements may be needed to fully restore circulatory function in these patients.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by American Heart Association grant #17IRG33370074 and American Diabetes Association grant #1-17-IBS-290.

References

- Addabbo F, Chen Q, Patel DP, Rabadi M, Ratliff B, Zhang F et al (2013) Glutamine supplementation alleviates vasculopathy and corrects metabolic profile in an in vivo model of endothelial cell dysfunction. PLoS One 8:e65458
- Allerton TD, Proctor DN, Stephens JM, Dugas TR, Spielman G, Irving BA (2018) L-Citrulline supplementation: impact on cardiometabolic health. Nutrients 10:921
- Annavarajula SK, Dakshinamurty KV, Naidu MUR, Reddy CP (2012) The effect of L-arginine on arterial stiffness and oxidative stress in chronic kidney disease. Indian J Nephrol 22:340–346
- Atzler D, Schönhoff M, Cordts K, Ortland I, Hoppe J, Hummel FC et al (2016) Oral supplementation with L-homoarginine in young volunteers. Br J Clin Pharmacol 82:1477–1485
- Au Yeung SL, Lin SL, Lam HS, Schooling CM (2016) Effect of L-arginine, asymmetric dimethylarginine, and symmetric dimethylarginine on ischemic heart disease risk: a Mendelian randomization study. Am Heart J 182:54–61
- Barth MC, Ahluwalia N, Anderson TJ, Hardy GJ, Sinha S, Alvarez-Cordona JA et al (2009) Kynurenic acid triggers firm arrest of leukocytes to vascular endothelium under flow conditions. J Biol Chem 284:19189–19195
- Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE, Cushman M, Das SR, Deo R et al (2017) Heart disease and stroke statistics-2017 update. Circulation 135:e146–e603
- Bertero T, Oldham WM, Cottrill KA, Pisano S, Vanderpool RR, Yu Q et al (2016) Vascular stiffness mechanoactivates YAP/TAZ-dependent glutaminolysis to drive pulmonary hypertension. J Clin Invest 126:3313–3335
- Blum A, Hathaway L, Mincemoyer R, Schenke WH, Kirby M, Csako G et al (2000) Oral L-arginine in patients with coronary artery disease on medical management. Circulation 101:2160–2164
- Boger RH, Bode-Boger SM, Brandes RP, Phivthongngam L, Bohme M, Nafe R et al (2007) Dietary L-arginine reduces the progression of atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed rabbits: comparison with lovastatin. Circulation 96:1282–1290
- Caldwell WR, Rodriguez PC, Toque HA, Narayanan SP, Caldwell RB (2018) Arginase: a multifaceted

enzyme important in health and disease. Physiol Rev $98{:}641{-}665$

- Casas JP, Buatista LE, Humphries SE, Hingorani AD (2004) Endothelial nitric oxide synthase genotype and ischemic heart disease: meta-analysis of 26 studies involving 23028 subjects. Circulation 109:1359–1364
- Castejon AM, Hoffmann IS, Jimenez E, Cubeddu RJ, Baldonedo RM, Cubeddu LX (2002) Differential blood pressure effects of oral glucose and intravenous L-arginine in healthy lean normotensive and obese hypertensive subjects. J Hum Hypert 16 (S1):S133-S136
- Chavez-Tostado M, Carrill-Llamas F, Martinez-Gutierrez PE, Alvarado-Ramirez A, Lopez-Taylor JG, Vasquez-Jiminez JC et al (2017) Oral glutamine reduces myocardial damage after coronary revascularization under cardiopulmonary bypass. A random clinical trial. Nutr Hosp 34:277–283
- Chen J, Kuhlencordt PJ, Astern J, Gyurko R, Huang PL (2001) Hypertension does not account for the accelerated atherosclerosis and development of aneurysms in male apolipoprotein e/endothelial nitric oxide synthase double knockout mice. Circulation 104:2391–2394
- Cheng S, Rhee EP, Larson MG, Lewis GD, McCabe EL, Shen D et al (2012) Metabolite profiling identifies pathways associated with metabolic risk in humans. Circulation 125:2222–2231
- Choe CU, Atzler D, Wild PS, Carter AM, Boger RH, Ojeda F et al (2013) Homoarginine levels are regulated by L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase and affect stroke outcome: results from human and murine studies. Circulation 128:1451–1461
- Cole JE, Astola N, Cribbs AP, Goddard ME, Park I, Green P et al (2015) Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-1 is protective in atherosclerosis and its metabolites provide new opportunities for drug development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 112:13033–13038
- Cooke JP, Singer AH, Tsao P, Zera P, Rowan RA, Billingham ME (1992) Antiatherogenic effects of L-arginine in the hypercholestrolemic rabbit. J Clin Invest 90:1168–1172
- Durante W (2001) Regulation of L-arginine transport and metabolism in vascular smooth muscle cells. Cell Biochem Biophys 35:19–34
- Durante W (2011) Protective role of heme oxygenase-1 against inflammation in atherosclerosis. Front Biosci 16:2372–2388
- Durante W (2013) Role of arginase in vessel wall remodeling. Front Immunol 4:111
- Durante W, Liao L, Peyton KJ, Schafer AI (1998) Thrombin stimulates vascular smooth muscle cell polyamine synthesis by inducing cationic amino acid transporter and ornithine decarboxylase activity. Circ Res 83:217–223
- Durante W, Liao L, Reyna SV, Peyton KJ, Schafer AI (2000) Physiologic cyclic stretch directs L-arginine transport and metabolism to collagen synthesis in vascular smooth muscle cells. FASEB J 14:1775–1783
- Durante W, Liao L, Reyna SV, Peyton KJ, Schafer AI (2001) Transforming growth factor-β1 stimulates L-arginine transport and metabolism in vascular

smooth muscle cells: role in polyamine and collagen synthesis. Circulation 103:1121–1127

- Durante W, Johnson FK, Johnson RA (2006) Role of carbon monoxide in cardiovascular function. J Cell Mol Med 10:672–686
- Durante W, Johnson FK, Johnson RA (2007) Arginase: a critical regulator of nitric oxide synthesis and vascular function. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 34:906–911
- Emdin CA, Khera AV, Klarin D, Natarajan P, Zekavat SM, Nomura A et al (2018) Phenotypic consequences of a genetic predisposition to enhanced nitric oxide signaling. Circulation 137:222–232
- Erez A, Nagamani SC, Shchelochkov OA, Premkumar MH, Campeau PM, Chen Y et al (2011) Requirement of arginosuccinate lyase for systemic nitric oxide production. Nat Med 17:1619–1626
- Ford A, Al-Magableh M, Gaspari TA, Hart JL (2013) Chronic NaHS treatment is vasoprotective in high fatfed ApoE(-/-) mice. Int J Vasc Med 2013:915983
- Forstermann U, Sessa WC (2012) Nitric oxide synthase: regulation and function. Eur Heart J 33:72–80
- Ganz T, Wainstein J, Gilad S, Limor R, Boaz M, Stern N (2017) Serum asymmetric dimethylarginine and arginine levels predict microvascular and macrovascular complications in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 33:e2836
- Gao L, Xu Z, Yin Z, Chen K, Wang C, Zhang H (2015) Association of hydrogen sulfide with alterations of monocyte chemokine receptors, CCR2 and CX3CR1 in patients with coronary artery disease. Inflamm Res 64:627–635
- Ge J, Cui H, Xie N, Banerjee S, Guo S, Dubey S et al (2018) Glutaminolysis promotes collagen translation and stability via α-ketoglutarate-mediated mTOR activation and proline hydroxylation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 58:378–390
- Gomez I, Ozen G, Deschildre C, Amgoud Y, Boubaya L, Gorenne I et al (2016) Reverse regulatory pathway (H₂S/PGE₂/MMP) in human aortic aneurysm and saphenous vein varicosity. PLoS One 11:e0158421
- Hamon M, Vallet B, Bauters C, Wernert N, McFadden EP, Lablanche JM et al (1994) Long-term oral administration of L-arginine reduces intimal thickening and enhances neoendothelium-dependent acetylcholineinduced relaxation after arterial injury. Circulation 90:1357–1362
- Hinshaw DB, Burger JM (1990) Protective effect of glutamine on endothelial cell ATP in oxidant injury. J Surg Res 49:222–227
- Hsu CS, Chou SY, Liang SJ, Chang CY, Yeh SL (2006) Effect of physiological levels of glutamine on ICAM-1 expression in endothelial cells activated by preeclamptic plasma. J Reprod Med 51:193–198
- Huang Y, Tang C, Du J, Jin H (2016) Endogenous sulfur dioxide: a new member of the gasotransmitter family in the cardiovascular system. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2016:8961951
- Huang H, Vandekeere S, Kalucka J, Bierhansl L, Zecchin A, Bruning U et al (2017) Role of glutamine and interlinked asparagine metabolism in vessel formation. EMBO J 36:2334–2352

- Ismailova A, Kuter D, Bohle DS, Butler IS (2018) An overview of the potential therapeutic applications of CO-releasing molecules. Bioinorg Chem Appl 2018:8547364
- Ito S, Komatsu K, Tsukamoto K, Sved AF (2000) Excitatory amino acids in the rostral ventrolateral medualla support blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertension 35:413–417
- Jain SK, Bull R, Rains JL, Bass PF, Levine SN, Reddy S et al (2010) Low levels of hydrogen sulfide in the blood of diabetic patients and streptozotocin-treated rats causes vascular inflammation? Antioxid Redox Signal 12:1333–1337
- Jin HF, Du SX, Zhao X, Wei HL, Wang YF, Liang YF et al (2008) Effects of endogenous sulfur dioxide on monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension in rats. Acta Pharmacol Sin 29:1157–1166
- Johnson FK, Peyton KJ, Liu XM, Azam MA, Shebib AR, Johnson RA et al (2015) Arginase promotes endothelial dysfunction and hypertension in obese rats. Obesity 23:445–452
- Kamata K, Suguira M, Kojima S, Kasuyu Y (1996) Restoration of endothelium-dependent relaxation in both hypercholesterolemia and diabetes by chronic taurine. Eur J Pharmacol 303:47–53
- Kanagy NL, Szabo C, Papapetropoulos A (2017) Vascular biology of hydrogen sulfide. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 312:C537–C549
- Khogali SE, Pringle SD, Weryk BV, Rennie MJ (2002) Is glutamine beneficial in ischemic heart disease? Nutrition 18:123–126
- Kim B, Li J, Jang C, Arany Z (2017) Glutamine fuels proliferation but not migration of endothelial cells. EMBO J 36:2321–2333
- Korthuis RJ, Durante W (2005) Heme oxygenase-1: a pluripotent sentinel limiting the systemic inflammatory response to extremity ischemia and reperfusion. Crit Care Med 33:2701–2703
- Li H, Meininger CJ, Kelly JR Jr, Morris SM Jr, Wu G (2002) Activities of arginase I and II are limiting for endothelial cell proliferation. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 282:R64–R69
- Li W, Tang C, Jin H, Du J (2011) Regulatory effects of sulfur dioxide on the development of atherosclerotic lesions and vascular hydrogen sulfide in atherosclerotic rats. Atherosclerosis 215:323–330
- Li H, Meininger CJ, Bazer FW, Wu G (2016) Intracellular sources of ornithine for polyamine synthesis in endothelial cells. Amino Acids 48:2401–2410
- Li Z, Polhemus DJ, Lefer DJ (2018) Evolution of hydrogen sulfide therapeutics to treat cardiovascular disease. Circ Res 123:590–600
- Libby P (2008) The molecular mechanisms of the thrombotic complications of atherosclerosis. J Intern Med 263:517–527
- Lin Y, Chen Y, Zhu N, Zhao S, Fan J, Liu E (2016) Hydrogen sulfide inhibits the development of atherosclerosis through up-regulating protein S-nitrosylation. Biomed Pharmacother 83:466–476

- Liu Z, Han Y, Li L, Lu H, Meng G, Li X et al (2013) The hydrogen sulfide donor, GYY4137, exhibits antiatherosclerotic activity in high fat fed apolipoprotein E(-/-) mice. Br J Pharmacol 169:1795–1809
- Liu XM, Peyton KJ, Durante W (2017) Ammonia promotes endothelial cell survival via the heme oxygenase-1-mediated release of carbon monoxide. Free Radic Biol Med 102:37–46
- Liu X, Xu X, Shang R, Chen Y (2018) Asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) as an important risk factor for the increased cardiovascular diseases and heart failure in chronic kidney disease. Nitric Oxide 78:113–120
- Lomivorotov VV, Efremov SM, Shmirev VA, Ponomarev DN, Lomivorotov VN, Karaskov AM (2011) Glutamine is cardioprotective in patients with ischemic heart disease following cardiopulmonary bypass. Heart Surg Forum 14:E384–E388
- Ma W, Heianza Y, Huang T, Wang T, Sun D, Zheng Y et al (2018) Dietary glutamine, glutamate, and mortality: two large prospective studies in US men and women. Int J Epidemiol 47:311–320
- Mani S, Li H, Untereiner A, Wu L, Yang G, Austin RC, Dickhout JG et al (2013) Decreased endogenous production of hydrogen sulfide accelerates atherosclerosis. Circulation 127:2523–2534
- Marz W, Meinitzer A, Drechsler C, Pilz S, Krane V, Kleber ME et al (2010) Homoarginine, cardiovascular risk, and mortality. Circulation 122:967–975
- McNamara DB, Bedi B, Aurora H, Tena L, Ignarro LJ, Kadowitz PJ, Akers DL (1993) L-arginine inhibits balloon catheter-induced intimal hyperplasia. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 193:291–296
- McNeal CJ, Meininger CJ, Wilborn CD, Tekwe CD, Wu G (2018) Safety of dietary supplementation with arginine in adult humans. Amino Acids 50:1215–1229
- Meng G, Zhao S, Xie L, Han Y, Ji Y (2018) Protein S-sulfhydration by hydrogen sulfide in cardiovascular system. Br J Pharmacol 175:1146–1156
- Metghalchi S, Ponnuswamy P, Simon T, Haddad Y, Laurans L, Clement M et al (2015) Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase fine-tunes immune homeostasis in atherosclerosis and colitis through repression of interleukin-10 production. Cell Metab 22:460–471
- Metghalchi S, Vandestienne M, Haddad Y, Esposito B, Dairou J, Tedgui A et al (2018) Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase knockout limits angiotensin II-induced aneurysm in low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice fed with high fat diet. PLoS One 13:e0193737
- Ming XF, Rajapakse AG, Yepuri G, Xiong Y, Carvas JM, Reffieux J et al (2012) Arginase II promotes macrophage inflammatory responses through mitochondrial reactive oxygen species, contributing to insulin resistance and atherogenesis. J Am Heart Assoc 1:e000992
- Morita M, Hayashi T, Ochiai M, Maeda M, Yamaguchi T, Ina K et al (2014) Oral supplementation with combination of L-citrulline and L-arginine rapidly increases plasma L-arginine concentration and enhances NO bioavailability. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 454:53–57

- Morris CR, Kato GJ, Poljakovic M, Wang X, Blackwelder WC, Sachdev V et al (2005) Dysregulated arginine metabolism, hemolysis-associated pulmonary hypertension, and mortality in sickle cell disease. JAMA 294:81–90
- Murakami S, Kondo Y, Sakurai T, Kitajima H, Nagate T (2002) Taurine suppresses development of atherosclerosis in Watanabe heritable syndrome hyperlipidemic (WHHL) rabbits. Atherosclerosis 163:79–87
- Murakami S, Sakurai T, Toda Y, Sakono M, Fukuda N (2010) Prevention of neointima formation by taurine ingestion after carotid balloon injury. Vasc Pharmacol 53:177–184
- Murphy C, Newsholme P (1998) Importance of glutamine metabolism in murine macrophages and human monocytes to L-arginine biosynthesis and rates of nitrite or urea production. Clin Sci 95:397–407
- Newgard CB, An J, Bain JR, Muehlbauer MJ, Stevens RD, Lien LF et al (2009) A branched-chain amino acid-related metabolic signature that differentiates obese and lean humans and contributes to insulin resistance. Cell Metab 9:311–326
- Niinisalo P, Raitala M, Pertovaara M, Oja SS, Lehtimaki T, Kahonen M et al (2008) Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity associates with cardiovascular risk factors: the health 2000 study. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 68:767–770
- Niinisalo P, Oksala N, Levula M, Pelto-Huikko M, Jarvinen O, Salenius JP et al (2010) Activation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-induced tryptophan degradation in advanced atherosclerotic plaques: Tampere vascular study. Ann Med 42:55–63
- Ochiai M, Hayashi T, Morita M, Ina K, Maeda M, Watanabe F et al (2012) Short-term effects of L-citrulline supplementation on arterial stiffness in middle-aged men. Int J Cardiol 155:257–261
- Okazaki J, Komori K, Kawasaki K, Eguchi D, Ishida M, Sugimachi K (1997) L-arginine inhibits smooth muscle cell proliferation of vein graft intimal thickness in hypercholestrolemic rabbits. Cardiovasc Res 36:429–436
- Pedersen ER, Tuseth N, Eussen SJ, Ueland PM, Strand E, Svingen GF et al (2015) Association of plasma kynurenines with risk of myocardial infarction in patients with stable angina. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 35:455–462
- Pernow J, Jung C (2013) Arginase as a potential target in the treatment of cardiovascular disease: reversal of arginine steal? Cardiovasc Res 98:334–343
- Pertovaara M, Raitala A, Juonola M, Lehtimaki T, Huhtala H, Oja SS et al (2007) Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase enzyme activity correlates with risk factors for atherosclerosis: the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. Clin Exp Immunol 148:106–111
- Peyton KJ, Liu XM, Shebib AR, Johnson FK, Johnson RA, Durante W (2018a) Arginase inhibition prevents the development of hypertension and improves insulin resistance in obese rats. Amino Acids 50:747–754

- Peyton KJ, Liu XM, Yu Y, Yates B, Behnammanesh G, Durante W (2018b) Glutaminase-1 stimulates the proliferation, migration, and survival of human endothelial cells. Biochem Pharmacol 156:204–214
- Pieper GM, Peltier BA (1995) Amelioration by L-arginine of a dysfunctional arginine/nitric oxide pathway in diabetic endothelium. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 25:397–403
- Pilz S, Meinitzer A, Tomaschitz A, Drechsler C, Ritz E, Krane V et al (2011) Low homoarginine concentration is a novel risk factor for heart disease. Heart 97:1222–1227
- Polyzos KA, Ovchinnikova O, Berg M, Baumgartner R, Agardh H, Pirault J et al (2015) Inhibition of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase promotes vascular inflammation and increases atherosclerosis in Apoe-/- mice. Cardiovasc Res 106:295–302
- Rodriques-Krause J, Krause M, da Rocha IMG, Umpierre D, Fayh APT (2019) Association of L-arginine supplementation with markers of endothelial dysfunction in patients with cardiovascular or metabolic disorders: a systemic review and meta-analysis. Nutrients 11:15
- Romero JR, Suzuka SM, Nagel RL, Fabry ME (2002) Arginine supplementation of sickle transgenic mice reduces blood cell density and Gardos channel activity. Blood 99:1103–1108
- Ryoo S, Gupta G, Benjo A, Lim HK, Camara A, Sikkha G et al (2008) Endothelial arginase II: a novel target for the treatment of atherosclerosis. Circ Res 102:923–932
- Scalera F, Closs EI, Flick E, Martens-Lobenhoffer J, Boissel JP, Lendeckel U et al (2009) Paradoxical effect of L-arginine: acceleration of endothelial cell senescence. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 386:650–655
- Schulman SP, Becker LC, Kass DA, Champion HC, Terrin ML, Forman S et al (2006) L-arginine therapy in acute myocardial infarction: the Vascular Interaction with Age in Myocardial Infarction (VINTAGE MI) randomized clinical trial. JAMA 295:58–64
- Schwedhelm E, Maas R, Freese R, Jung D, Lukas Z, Jumbrecina A et al (2008) Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamics properties of oral L-citrulline and L-arginine: impact of nitric oxide metabolism. Br J Clin Pharmacol 65:51–59
- Sessa WC, Hecker M, Mitchell JA, Vane JR (1990) The metabolism of L-arginine and its significance for the biosynthesis of endothelium-derived relaxing factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87:8607–8611
- Sufit A, Weitzel LB, Hamiel C, Queensland K, Dauber I, Rooyackers O et al (2012) Pharmacologically dosed oral glutamine reduces myocardial injury in patients undergoing cardiac surgery: a randomized pilot feasibility trial. Enteral Nutr 36:556–561
- Sun Y, Tian Y, Prabha M, Liu D, Chen S, Zhang R et al (2010) Effects of sulfur dioxide on hypoxic pulmonary vascular structural remodeling. Lab Invest 90:68–82

- Tabas I, Garcia-Cardena G, Owens GK (2015) Recent insight into the cellular biology of atherosclerosis. J Cell Biol 209:13–22
- Tang WHW, Wang Z, Cho L, Brennan DM, Hazen SL (2009) Diminished global arginine bioavailability and increased arginine catabolism as metabolic profile of increased cardiovascular risk. J Am Coll Cardiol 53:2061–2067
- Teupser D, Burkhardt R, Wilfert W, Haffner I, Nebandahl K, Thiery J (2006) Identification of macrophage arginase I as a new candidate gene of atherosclerosis resistance. Arterioscl Thromb Vasc Biol 26:365–371
- Ulrich-Merzenich G, Zeitler H, Vetter H, Bhonde RR (2007) Protective effects of taurine on endothelial cells impaired by high glucose and oxidized low density lipoproteins. Eur J Nutr 46:431–438
- Unterluggauer H, Mazurek B, Lener E, Hutter E, Eigenbrodt W, Zwersche W et al (2008) Premature senescence of human endothelial cells induced by inhibition of glutaminase. Biogerentology 9:247–259
- Vaisman BL, Andrews KL, Khong SML, Wood KC, Moore XL, Fu Y et al (2012) Selective endothelial overexpression of arginase II induces endothelial dysfunction and hypertension and enhances atherosclerosis in mice. PLoS One 7:e39487
- Wang Y, Liu H, McKenzie G, Witting PK, Stasch JP, Hahn M et al (2010) Kynurenine is an endothelium-derived relaxing factor produced during inflammation. Nat Med 16:279–285
- Wang XP, Chen YG, Qin WD, Zhang W, Wei SJ, Wang J et al (2011a) Arginase I attenuates inflammatory cytokine secretion induced by lipopolysaccharide in vascular smooth muscle cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 31:1853–1860
- Wang XB, Huang XM, Ochs T, Li XY, Jin HF, Tang CS et al (2011b) Effect of sulfur dioxide preconditioning on rat myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury by inducing endoplasmic reticulum stress. Basic Res Cardiol 106:865–878
- Wang Q, Zhang M, Ding Y, Wang Q, Zhang W, Song P et al (2014) Activation of NAD(P)H oxidase by tryptophan-derived 3-hydroxykynurenine accelerates endothelial apoptosis and dysfunction in vivo. Circ Res 114:480–492
- Wang ZJ, Wu J, Guo W, Zhu YZ (2017) Atherosclerosis and the hydrogen sulfide signaling pathway: therapeutic approaches to disease prevention. Cell Physiol Biochem 42:859–875
- Wilson AM, Harada R, Nair N, Balasubramanian N, Cooke JP (2007) L-arginine supplementation in peripheral artery disease: no benefit and possible harm. Circulation 116:188–195
- Wirleitner B, Rudzite V, Neurauter G, Murr C, Kalnins U, Erglis A et al (2003) Immune activation and degradation of tryptophan in coronary heart disease. Eur J Clin Invest 33:550–554

- Wu G, Meininger CJ (2000) Arginine nutrition and cardiovascular function. J Nutr 130:2626–2629
- Wu G, Morris SM Jr (1988) Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. Biochem J 336:1–17
- Wu G, Haynes TE, Li H, Yan W, Meininger CJ (2001) Glutamine metabolism to glucosamine is necessary for glutamine inhibition of endothelial nitric oxide synthesis. Biochem J 353:245–252
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Davis TA, Kim SW, Li P, Rhoads JM et al (2009) Arginine metabolism and nutrition in growth, health, and disease. Amino Acids 37:153–168
- Wu D, Wang J, Li H, Xue M, Ji A, Li Y (2015) Role of hydrogen sulfide in ischemia-reperfusion injury. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2015:186908
- Wu Z, Hou Y, Hu S, Bazer FW, Meininger CJ, McNeal CJ et al (2016) Catabolism and safety of supplemental L-arginine in animals. Amino Acids 48:1541–1552
- Wurtz P, Makinen VP, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Turkiainen T, Kettunen J et al (2012) Metabolic signatures of insulin resistance in 7,098 young adults. Diabetes 61:1372–1380
- Xi P, Jiang Z, Zheng C, Lin Y, Wu G (2011) Regulation of protein metabolism by glutamine: implications for nutrition and health. Front Biosci 16:578–597
- Xiao Y, Christou H, Liu L, Visner G, Mitsialis SA, Kouremabana S et al (2013) Endothelial indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase protects against development of pulmonary hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 188:482–491
- Xiong Y, Yu Y, Montani JP, Yang Z, Ming XF (2013) Arginase II induces vascular smooth muscle cell senescence and apoptosis through p66Shc and p53 independently of its L-arginine ureahydrolase activity: implications for atherosclerotic plaque vulnerability. J Am Heart Assoc 2:e000096
- Yamori Y, Liu L, Ikeda K, Miura A, Mizushima S, Miki T et al (2001) Distribution of twenty-four hour urinary taurine excretion and association with ischemic heart disease mortality in 24 populations of 16 countries: results from the WHO-CARDIAC study. Hypertens Res 24:453–457
- Yang Y, Wu ZL, Jia SC, Dahanayaka S, Feng S, Meininger CJ, McNeal CJ, Wu G (2015) Safety of long-term dietary supplementation with L-arginine in rats. Amino Acids 47:1907–1920
- Yin J, Ren W, Yang G, Duan J, Huang X, Fang R et al (2016) L-cysteine metabolism and its nutritional implications. Mol Nutr Food Res 60:134–146
- Yun TJ, Lee JS, Machmach K, Shim D, Choi J, Wi YJ et al (2016) Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-expressing aortic plasmacytoid dendritic cells protect against atherosclerosis by induction of regulatory T cells. Cell Metab 23:852–866
- Zhang L, Ovchinnikova O, Jonsson A, Lundberg AM, Berg M, Hansson GK et al (2012a) The tryptophan metabolite 3-hydroxy-anthranilic acid lowers plasma

- Zhang H, Guo C, Wu D, Zhang A, Gu T, Wang L et al (2012b) Hydrogen sulfide inhibits the development of atherosclerosis with suppressing CX3CR1 and CX3CL1 expression. PLoS One 7:e41147
- Zheng Y, Hu FB, Ruiz-Canela M, Clish CB, Dennis C, Salas-Salvado J et al (2016) Metabolites of glutamate metabolism are associated with incident cardiovascu-

lar events in the PREDIMED PREvencion con DIeta MEDiterranea (PREDIMED) trial. J Am Heart Assoc 5:e003755

Zuidema MY, Peyton KJ, Fay WP, Durante W, Korthuis RJ (2011) Antecedent hydrogen sulfide elicits an antiinflammatory phenotype in postischemic murine small intestine: role of heme oxygenase-1. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 301:H888–H894



Epithelial Dysfunction in Lung Diseases: Effects of Amino Acids and Potential Mechanisms 4

Jingqing Chen, Yuhang Jin, Ying Yang, Zhenlong Wu, and Guoyao Wu

Abstract

Lung diseases affect millions of individuals all over the world. Various environmental factors, such as toxins, chemical pollutants, detergents, viruses, bacteria, microbial dysbiosis, and allergens, contribute to the development of respiratory disorders. Exposure to these factors activates stress responses in host cells and disrupt lung homeostasis, therefore leading to dysfunctional epithelial barriers. Despite significant advances in therapeutic treatments for lung diseases in the last two decades, novel interventional targets are imperative, considering the side effects and limited efficacy in patients treated with currently available drugs. Nutrients, such as amino acids (e.g., arginine, glutamine, glycine, proline, taurine, and tryptophan), peptides, and bioactive molecules, have attracted more and more attention due to their abilities to reduce oxidative stress, inhibit apoptosis, and regulate immune responses, thereby improving epithelial barriers. In this review,

we summarize recent advances in amino acid metabolism in the lungs, as well as multifaceted functions of amino acids in attenuating inflammatory lung diseases based on data from studies with both human patients and animal models. The underlying mechanisms for the effects of physiological amino acids are likely complex and involve cell signaling, gene expression, and anti-oxidative reactions. The beneficial effects of amino acids are expected to improve the respiratory health and well-being of humans and other animals. Because viruses (e.g., coronavirus) and environmental pollutants (e.g., PM2.5 particles) induce severe damage to the lungs, it is important to determine whether dietary supplementation or intravenous administration of individual functional amino acids (e.g., arginine-HCl, citrulline, N-acetylcysteine, glutamine, glycine, proline and tryptophan) or their combinations to affected subjects may alleviate injury and dysfunction in this vital organ.

Keywords

Amino acids · Lung dysfunction · Barrier integrity · Inflammatory response · Signaling pathways

J. Chen \cdot Y. Jin \cdot Y. Yang (\boxtimes) \cdot Z. Wu

State Key Laboratory of Animal Nutrition, China Agricultural University, Beijing, China

Department of Animal Science, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

G. Wu (ed.), *Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2_4

G. Wu

Abbreviations

CaMKK2	calcium/calmodulin-dependent					
	kinase 2					
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary					
	disease					
IL-6	interleukin 6					
Keap1	Kelch-like ECH associated protein					
	1					
LPS	lipopolysaccharide					
NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa B					
NLR	Nod-like receptors					
NO	nitric oxide					
Nrf2	nuclear factor erythroid 2-related					
	factor					
PAR	protease-activated receptors					
PRRs	pathogen recognition receptors					
RLR	RIG-I-like receptors					
ROS	reactive oxygen species					
Th	T helper					
TJs	tight junctions					
TLR	Toll-like receptors					
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor alpha					
ZO	zonulae occludens					

4.1 Introduction

The lungs are the foundational organs of the respiratory system, whose most important function is to facilitate gas exchange between the environment and the bloodstream (Zhang et al. 2018). In this process called respiration, oxygen in the ambient air enters the blood, whereas CO_2 (a product of nutrient metabolism) leaves the blood. Structurally, the bronchial monolayer epithelium in the respiratory system is responsible for preserving airway homeostasis in the lungs. Disruption of the barrier integrity by various stimuli, such as toxins, chemical pollutants, detergents, viruses, bacteria, microbial dysbiosis, and allergens, can contribute to the development of lung diseases (Budden et al. 2017; Georas and Rezaee 2014). Biochemically, these endogenous or exogenous risk factors activate an abnormal inflammatory response in the respiratory system, leading to the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), the breakdown of the epithelial integrity in the airways and alveoli, and ultimately reduced airflow capacity and lung dysfunction (Agusti and Hogg 2019; Guo and Ward 2007; Lang et al. 2002; Rahman et al. 2005; Zhang et al. 2018).

Despite significant advances in the pathogenesis of lung diseases in the last two decades, currently clinical therapies for lung diseases are largely dependent on the application of bronchodilators or glucocorticoids to improve airflow and ameliorate clinic symptoms in patients (Atto et al. 2019; Boskabadi et al. 2018; Bream-Rouwenhorst et al. 2008; Grainge and Rice 2010). Growing evidence has shown that the impairment of epithelial barrier in the alveoli is a critical step for the initiation and development of lung diseases (Steelant 2020). In our recent study, we found that dietary supplementation with L-arginine or glycine reduced immune cell infiltration, decreased mRNA levels for inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and decreased the apoptosis of alveolar cells in LPS-challenged mice (Ma et al. 2019). These findings provide a new nutritional strategy to ameliorate lung injury through oral administration of functional amino acids. In this article, we reviewed recent progress in epithelial barrier biology and pathobiology related to lung disease. We also discussed potential mechanisms responsible for the beneficial effects of some amino acids in human patients and animal models.

4.2 **Respiratory Barrier Integrity**

The lung is made up of dozens of cell types and has evolved architecturally into a series of branching airways and alveoli to support an efficient permeable transfer of oxygen and carbon dioxide for the respiratory system and the whole body (Warheit-Niemi et al. 2019). An appropriate function of the lung is predominantly dependent on the alveolar epithelial cells, one of the predominant cells in the respiratory tract (Fig. 4.1). Under physiological conditions, the intracellular homeostasis and the normal function of the lungs are maintained through nutrient metabolism and



Fig. 4.1 Functional amino acids activate Nrf2 survival signaling, while inhibiting NRLP3 inflammasome to alleviate lung injury. Air pollutants, cigarette smoke and bacterial or viral infections cause oxidative stress and inflammation in the lungs. Nrf2 activation induces the expression of cytoprotective genes to counteract the toxic effect of *ROS* and inhibits the transcription of proinflammatory cytokines, especially in macrophages, to reduce the recruitment of inflammatory cells into the lungs. Increased levels of ROS reduce Nrf2 and activate inflam-

its regulation. However, following a severe or prolonged insult or injury to the alveolar epithelial cells, over-activation of immune responses leads to the accumulation of ROS, increased infiltration by immunocytes, and impaired function of the lungs (Kosmider et al. 2011; Steelant 2020).

masome, leading to the upregulation of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α expression as well as the death of lung epithelial cells and consequently emphysema. Functional amino acids such as Arg, Gln, Gly activate the Nrf2 survival signaling to increase the expression of anti-oxidative genes possibly through modulating the NLRP3 inflammasome to inhibit the pro-inflammatory factors, thus improving the lung epithelial barrier. Arg, L-arginine; *Gly*, glycine; Gln, L-glutamine; *IL*, interleukin; *ROS*, reactive oxygen species; *Nrf2*, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2

The neighboring alveolar epithelial cell of the respiratory airway are held together by tight junctions (TJs) and adherens junctions, therefore forming a physical barrier against external particles and a first line of defense of the mucosal immunity (Georas and Rezaee 2014; Lambrecht and Hammad 2014). Similar to TJ proteins in the gas-

trointestinal tract, the claudin family proteins, occludin, and scaffolding proteins, such as zonulae occludens (ZO)-1, ZO-2, ZO-3, multi-PDZ domain protein 1, and others, have been identified as main components of the TJ complexes in the lungs (Sugita et al. 2018). A decrease in the abundance of TJ proteins and an increase in the epithelial permeability have been observed in multiply lung diseases, such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and allergic lung inflammation (Georas and Rezaee 2014: Lambrecht and Hammad 2014; Tatsuta et al. 2019). Disruption of TJs with a leaking epithelium allows a close contact of airway lumen contents (including pathogens, allergens, and toxins) with immune cells, triggering the activation of inflammatory responses (Mattila et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2019; Wieczfinska et al. 2015). In addition, the respiratory fluid, mucus, surfactant proteins, and the motility of cilia are critical for the mucosal barrier function and the innate immune response by promoting the elimination of luminal contents. If this defense system is impaired or cannot be repaired, epithelial damage and lung dysfunction will occur (Price and Sisson 2019). Consistently, therapeutic molecules with an ability to regulate the abundances of TJ proteins and surfactant proteins, as well as the secretion of the mucins have been reported to improve mucosal barrier integrity and lung function in human patients and animal models (Boskabadi et al. 2018; Kouis et al. 2018; Ma et al. 2019; Marudamuthu et al. 2019).

4.3 Amino Acid Metabolism in the Lungs

Amino acids enter the lungs from the blood circulation via various sodium-dependent and independent transporters (Table 4.1). There is no *de novo* synthesis of citrulline, arginine, cysteine, three branched-chain AAs (BCAAs; isoleucine, leucine and valine), methionine, phenylalanine, taurine, threonine, tryptophan, tyrosine, histidine, or lysine in the lungs (Wu 2013). In addition, the lungs lack: (a) the transsulfuration pathway for converting methionine into cysteine (Berggren et al. 1984); (b) phenylalanine hydroxylase for converting phenylalanine into tyrosine (McGee et al. 1972); and (c) enzymes for converting taurine, threonine, tryptophan, tyrosine, histidine, or lysine into pyruvate, acetyl-CoA or the intermediates of the Krebs cycle (Wu 2013). However, the lungs can synthesize: (a) arginine from citrulline via argininosuccinate synthase and lyase (Wu and Morris Jr. 1998); (b) ornithine and proline from arginine via arginase-II, ornithine aminotransferase, and pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase; (c) alanine, glutamate and glutamine from BCAAs plus α-ketoglutarate (α-KG) via BCAA transaminase, glutamate transaminase, and glutamine synthetase (Souba et al. 1990); and (d) glutamate and aspartate from glutamine via phosphate-activated glutaminase, glutamate: pyruvate transaminase (alanine transaminase), and glutamate: oxaloacetate transaminase (aspartate transaminase); and (e) ornithine from proline via proline oxidase and ornithine aminotransferase (mitochondrial enzymes; Wu et al. 1997). These synthetic reactions also serve as metabolic pathways for the catabolism of arginine, alanine, glutamate, glutamine, aspartate, and proline in the lungs. In addition, serine and glycine are interconvertible in this organ through the action of serine hydroxymethyltransferase (present in both the cytosol and mitochondria), which plays an important role in both pulmonary health and the treatment of lung cancer (Amelio et al. 2014). Furthermore, in all cell types of the lungs (including macrophages, endothelial cells, epithelial cells, and smooth muscle cells), nitric oxide (NO; a major vasodilator and signaling molecule) and citrulline are generated from arginine by NO synthase (Folkerts et al. 2001), whereas ornithine decarboxylase decarboxylates ornithine to form putrescine (Hoet and Nemery 2000). The latter is converted into spermidine and spermine by decarboxylated 5-adenosylmethionine-dpendent spermidine synthase and spermine synthase (cytosolic enzymes), respectively. The polyamines (putrescine, spermidine and spermine) are essential for DNA and protein syntheses and, therefore, play an important role in pulmonary health and diseases (including lung cancer; Agostinelli et al. 2020). During

	Gene name	Transport	Transport	Major AA	Consequences
Protein name		system	mechanism		of defects
EAAT3/EAAC1	SLC1A1	X ⁻ _{AG}	Na ⁺	L-Glu, D/L-Asp, L-Cys	Metabolic disorders
ASCT1	SLC1A4	ASC	Antiporter	L-Ala, L-Ser, L-Cys	Metabolic disorders
ASCT2	SLC1A5	ASC	Antiporter	L-Ala, L-Ser, L-Cys	Metabolic disorders
rBAT	SLC3A1	HC-HAAT	Exchanger	Neutral and basic AAs	Cystinuria
				(heterodimer with SLC7A9)	
4F2hc	SLC3A2	HC-HAAT	Exchanger	Neutral AAs	Metabolic disorders
				(heterodimer with SLC7A5-8	
				and SLC7A10-11)	
GlyT1	SLC6A9	Gly	Na ⁺ /Cl	Gly	NKHG
ATB ^{0,+}	SLC6A14	Gly	Na ⁺ /Cl	Neutral AAs and cationic AAs	Obesity; abnormal
					Food intake
CAT-1	SLC7A1	y+	Uniporter	Basic AAs	Hyptertension
CAT-2	SLC7A2	y+	Uniporter	Basic AAs	Inflammation
ORC1/ORNT1	SLC25A15	Orn/Cit carrier	H ⁺ /antiporter	Mit L-Orn/L-Cit exchange	HHH syndrome
GC2	SLC25A18	Glu carrier	H ⁺ -coupled;	L-Glu	Metabolic disorders
			OH ⁻ /antiporter		
Not assigned	SLC38A10	А	Na ⁺	L-Gln, L- Ala	Metabolic disorders
LAT3	SLC43A1	L	Uniporter	Large neutral AAs	Metabolic disorders
Cystinosin	SLC66A4	LCT	H ⁺ -coupled	Efflux of Cys from lysosome	Metabolic disorders

Table 4.1 Amino acid (AA) transporters in the mammalian lungs

Adapted from Kanai and Hediger (1992), Kandasamy et al. (2018) and Wu (2013)

HC-HAAT heavy chain of heteromeric amino acid transporter, *HHH* hyperornithinemia-hyperammonemia-homocitrullinuria, *LCT* lysosomal cystine transporter, *MGT* mitochondrial glycine transporter, *it* mitochondrial, *NKHG* non-ketotic hyperglycemia, *rBAT* related to b^{0,+} amino acid transporters

sepsis or LPS infection, the lungs export an increased amount of glutamine by inducing the expression of glutamine synthetase at the transcriptional level partially mediated by glucocorticoid hormones (Lukaszewicz et al. 1997).

4.4 Functional Amino Acids, a Paradigm Shift in Protein Nutrition

Besides serving as building blocks for proteins, which are the most fundamental component in tissues, amino acids have enormous physiological importance, such as the synthesis of low molecular-weight substances (e.g., nitric oxide, polyamines, creatine, carnosine, dopamine, serotonin, and glutathione), regulate metabolism and immune response, and maintain intestinal barrier function (Wu 2013; Wu et al. 2014). Based on studies on the fundamental effects of amino acids, as well as their metabolism and biological functions, a new concept of "functional amino acid" has been proposed (Hou and Wu 2017). In contrast to the traditional classification of nutritionally essential or non-essential amino acids, which were defined based on the criterion of growth or nitrogen balance, the con-

cept of "functional amino acids" is based on physiological functions of amino acids to improve survival, growth, development, lactation, reproduction, and health of humans and other animals (Wu 2014). This view advances our understating of amino acid nutrition and metabolism, as well as dietary requirements for amino acids to maintain various functions of cells and tissues under both physiological and pathological conditions. Accumulating evidence has shown that functional amino acids are critical for the regulation of protein synthesis, gene expression, immune response, intestinal barrier function, and cellular fate decision (Hou et al. 2015; Wu et al. 2014).

4.5 Effects of Functional Amino Acids on Respiratory Barrier Function

The pulmonary epithelium is the predominant cells that prevent the entry of luminal contents into the blood circulation, while ensuring proper gas exchange. A relationship between low TJ protein abundance and high epithelial permeability has been reported for the gastrointestinal or respiratory epithelium of human patients and animal models (He et al. 2017). This observation supports a critical role of TJ proteins in epithelial integrity and prompts new search for molecules or compounds to reduce epithelial permeability and improve mucosal barrier function using both in vivo or in vitro models (Atto et al. 2019). A comparative study has identified differences in the metabolism of amino acids between patients with and without bacterial infection during the early stage of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (32). Specifically, COPD patients affected with bacterial infection had lung dysfunction, which was accompanied by decreased plasma levels of asparagine, citrulline, glutamine, histidine, methionine, serine, and threonine, compared with COPD patients without bacterial infection (Inoue and Ikeda 2019). This finding links lung injury with the abnormal metabolism of amino acids under pathological conditions.

L-Arginine (Arg), a product of glutamine (via the formation of glutamate) and proline metabolism via the intestinal-renal axis (Wu and Morris 1998), is a critical substrate for nitric oxide (NO) production by NOS, as noted previously. It has been shown that plasma Arg concentration is reduced in animal models of lung injury, including sheep (Murakami et al. 2007), rabbits (Chao et al. 2011; Yoshida et al. 1999), and rodents (Chu et al. 2005; Mabalirajan et al. 2010). This is likely due to increases in the expression of arginase-II in extrahepatic tissues and the leakage of hepatic arginase-I and extrahepatic arginase II into the blood, resulting in an excessive hydrolysis of arginine into ornithine plus urea. Supplementation with Arg leads to an increased bioavailability of Arg, which in turn, restores endothelial function, decreases inflammatory response, improves bronchial epithelial barrier, and mitochondrial dysfunction, therefore improving the lung function (Chao et al. 2011; Mabalirajan et al. 2010). L-Citrulline can be converted into L-argininosuccinate by argininosuccinate synthase, and L-argininosuccinate is subsequently converted into Arg by argininosuccinate lyase (Curis et al. 2005). These two enzymes are present in the lungs and other tissues in mammals and birds. Oral or intravenous administration of L-citrulline can enhance the circulating levels of Arg and systemic synthesis of NO, thereby attenuating hyperoxia-induced lung damage (Grisafi et al. 2012). Of particular note, dietary supplementation with arginine, which is safe for healthy adult humans (up to 30 g/day in divided doses; McNeal et al. 2018) as well as growing and adult pigs (up to 2% in the diet; Wu et al. 2016), prevents or alleviates pulmonary hypertension and injury in humans and farm animals under various pathological conditions (Wu 2020; Wu et al. 2000).

L-Glutamine (Gln) is the most abundant amino acid in the plasma of both humans and many other animals (Wang et al. 2015a). A critical function of Gln in maintaining intestinal mucosal barrier integrity has been described in various animal models (Jiao et al. 2015; Wu 2013; Wu et al. 2014). Depletion of plasma Gln is associated with the impairment of intestinal barrier breakdown, which can be abolished by Gln supplementation in animals and human patients. We have investigated the physiological functions of amino acids in piglets, a well-known animal model for studying nutrition and metabolism. Our studies indicate that dietary supplementation with Gln, glutamate, or glycine attenuates weaning- or oxidative stress-induced epithelial barrier dysfunction by regulating the abundance and intracellular localization of TJ proteins (Fan et al. 2019; Wang et al. 2015b), as well as apoptosis (Fan et al. 2019; Jiao et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2014) and unfolded protein response (He et al. 2019) in piglets. Also, we found that Gln regulates the abundance of TJ proteins and intestinal barrier in a CaMKK2-dependent manner, thereby contributing to improvements in intestinal nutrient absorption and protein synthesis in weanling piglets (Wang et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2015b). It remains unknown whether these amino acids affect alveolar epithelium in virusor endotoxin-challenged lungs.

We have conducted animal studies to address the foregoing issue. In our work, mice pretreated with aerosolized Arg, Gln, or glycine were exposed to aerosolized LPS to induce lung injury. We found that Arg or glycine pretreatment reduced LPS-induced collagen deposition, apoptosis of alveolar cells, decreased mRNA levels for inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and reduced the accumulation of neutrophils and macrophages in the lung tissues of mice, thus contributing to an improved respiratory function (Ma et al. 2019). Gln administration reduced LPS-induced collagen deposition and inflammatory cytokines without affecting other parameters examined in the study (Ma et al. 2019). More studies are required to uncover underlying mechanisms responsible for these beneficial effects. In a previous study, Zhang et al. (2007) reported that Gln supplementation attenuated an LPSinduced increase in bronchoalveolar epithelial permeability and a concomitant decrease in the abundance of TJ proteins. The latter include occludin, zonula occludens (ZO)-1, and adherens junction protein E-cadherin. Clearly, increasing Gln availability protected the alveolar epithelium against barrier dysfunction and lung injury in rats (Zhang et al. 2007). These observations support the view that supplementation with functional amino acids, such as Arg, Gln, or glycine, may offer a novel nutritional strategy to reduce the deleterious effects of bacterial infection on alveolar function.

4.6 Effect of Amino Acid on Cellular Metabolic Programming and Lung Injury

Metabolic programming is one of the important mechanisms by which cellular responses are regulated under specific conditions (Vigeland et al. 2019). Dysregulation of metabolic reprogramming in lung diseases, such as asthma and COPD, might impair the innate function of immune cells (Michaeloudes et al. 2019). Gln utilization by lungs and other tissues increases under various stress conditions due to enhanced expression of mitochondrial phosphate-activated glutaminase, such that Gln becomes a conditional essential amino acid (Wilmore and Shabert 1998). Inhibition of glutamine metabolism with 6-diazo-5-oxo-L-norleucine that binds to glutamineutilizing enzymes and transporters, accelerated recovery from LPS-induced acute lung injury, as shown by reduced immune cell infiltration and decreased protein levels for pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Vigeland et al. 2019). This metabolic programming is mainly due to the fact that immune cells, such as neutrophils, macrophages, and lymphocytes have a high metabolic rate and rely on Gln metabolism to support activation and immune response in response to stress or bacterial infection (Wang et al. 2015a). Also, a depletion of Gln in blood represents a riskf for poor treatment outcomes and is associated with increased mortality in critical illness (Oudemans-van Straaten et al. 2001). Consistently, Gln supplementation reduces abdominal sepsis, or LPS-induced lung injury in animals models (Lai et al. 2014). Consistently, a deficiency of ASCT2 (a transporter of Gln and small neutral amino acids) impaired the induction of T helper 1 (Th1) and Th17 cells, attenuated activation of mTORC1 signaling, and inflammatory T cell responses in mouse models, further substantiating a functional role of cellular programming on immunocyte activation and inflammatory responses (Nakaya et al. 2014). Gln enhances expression of AST2increases its availability in the cells to alleviate the adverse effects of general immune activation (Nakaya et al. 2014). In addition, Gln promotes tissue repair by enhancing the production of growth factors by immune cells. For example, EGF-like growth factor, amphiregulin (AREG), is a growth factor produced by macrophages, regulatory T cells, and type-2 innate lymphoid cells in the animal models of lung injury (Xu et al. 2016). Administration of an antibody to neutralize AREG has been reported to exacerbate LPSinduced lung injury (Ogata-Suetsugu et al. 2017; Xu et al. 2016). Inhibition of Gln metabolism with 6-diazo-5-oxo-L-norleucine increased the mRNA level of AREG in immune cells, which in turn promoted tissue repair and improved the function of the lungs in mice (Vigeland et al. 2019). These findings indicate a novel target for the prevention and treatment of lung injury by interfering with the metabolic programming of immunocytes. More studies are warranted to validate these effects in other inflammatory lung diseases and to elucidate the underlying molecular mechanisms.

The fibroblast is the most abundant mesenchymal cell responsible for producing the majority of extracellular matrix proteins (Nieweld and Summer 2019). Differentiation of lung fibroblasts into myofibroblasts leads to excessive deposition of extracellular matrix proteins, which impair the lung architecture and alveoli barrier function (Nalysnyk et al. 2012). However, metabolic requirements for myofibroblast activation and matrix production are largely unknown. In a recent study, using human lung fibroblasts as a model, Hamanaka et al. (2019) demonstrated that Gln-derived biosyntheses of glycine and proline through inter-organ metabolism are required for myofibroblast differentiation and collagen protein production in human lung fibroblasts (Hamanaka et al. 2019). This result has identified a novel metabolic reprogramming of fibroblasts in the development of pulmonary fibrosis. Both glycine and proline are necessary to maintain the extracellular matrix of lungs, and may also play an important role in their anti-oxidative reactions (Li and Wu 2018). It remains unknown how different host cells regulate their metabolism pathways in response to Gln depletion or supplementation in the body.

4.7 Effects of Amino Acids on NLRP3 Inflammasomes and Lung Diseases

The innate immune system acts as the first line of defense in response to environmental risk factors. A serial of pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs), such as Toll-like receptors (TLR), RIG-I-like receptors (RLR), protease-activated receptors (PAR), Nod-like receptors (NLR), C-type lectin receptors, sense the pathogens in contact with the airway epithelium (Hartl et al. 2018). Nod-like receptors (NLRs), including NOD1, NOD2, and NLRP3, are intracellular pattern recognition molecules that can detect microbial- and danger-associated molecular patterns.

NLRP3 inflammasomes is a multiprotein large-cytoplasmic complex that is composed of NLRP3, apoptosis-associated speck-like proteins (ASC), and pro-caspase-1. Activation of NLRP3 has emerged as an important regulator of lung diseases (Xu et al. 2018). Both LPS and ROS have been reported to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome and caspase-1, promote the cleavage and maturation of pro-interleukin (IL)-1ß (biologically the most active cytokine in the lungs of patients), resulting in damage to lung tissue (Xu et al. 2018). The resistance of NLRP3-deficient mice to polymicrobial sepsis-induced lethality validates a critical role of NLRP3 in the pathogenesis of lung disease (Chen et al. 2019; Fukumoto et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2019). We found that glycine administration reduced the LPS-induced accumulation of neutrophils and macrophages, as well as inflammatory responses and collagen deposition in the lung tissues of mice (Ma et al. 2019). Further study showed that

LPS-induced upregulation of NLPP3 and IL-1 β expression was reduced by glycine supplementation (Zhang et al. 2020), indicating a regulatory effect of glycine on decreasing NLRP3 inflammasomes. Considering that ROS are activators of NLRP3 but glycine alleviates ROS-induced cellular damage by promoting the synthesis of GSH (an endogenous antioxidant) in intestinal porcine epithelial cells (Wang et al. 2014), it is plausible that administration of glycine might modulate the NLRP3/IL-1 β signaling, therefore improving the lung epithelial barrier in LPS-challenged mice.

4.8 Effects of Amino Acid on the Nrf2 Signaling and Lung Injury

The nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) is a transcription factor that regulates the expression of genes implicated in protection against oxidative damage in the lungs and other tissues (Cho and Kleeberger 2020; Mizumura et al. 2020). Under normal conditions, Nrf2 is continuously degraded in a Kelch-like ECH associated protein (Keap)1-dependent manner through the proteasome pathway. However, in the presence of elevated concentrations of ROS or electrophiles, Nrf2 is stabilized due to the disruption of Keap1mediated repression. This leads to the accumulation of NrF2 in the nucleus to activate the expression of anti-oxidative genes, such as catalytic and modulatory subunits of the GSH synthesizing enzyme glutamate-cysteine ligase (GCLC and GCLM), thioredoxin reductase 1, hemeoxygenase-1 (HO-1), NAD(P)H Ouinone Dehydrogenase-1 (NQO-1), xCT, a subunit of cystine/glutamate transporter (Qian et al. 2018). Thus, NrF2 plays an important role in alleviating oxidative damage and improving the function of the lungs. Consequently, Nrf2-knockout mice are more susceptible to LPS-induced lung inflammation than their wild-type counterparts, as indicated by neutrophils infiltration, as well as the elevated levels of proinflammatory cytokines (tumor necrosis factor- α and interleukin-6) and chemokines (macrophage inflammatory protein 2 and magnesium-dependent phosphatase 1) (Li et al. 2017; Thimmulappa et al. 2006).

In critical illness or in response to severe stress, serum Gln level is decreased which is accompanied by a modest therapeutic outcome and an increased mortality (Oudemans-van Straaten et al. 2001). Gln supplementation promotes the expression of subunits of the GSH synthesizing enzyme, GCLC and GCLM, in a Nrf2-dependent manner, leading to increases in the synthesis and concentration of GSH and reduced cellular damage in intestinal and lung tissues (Venoji et al. 2015). In a recent study, de Oliveira et al. (2019) found that Gln treatment reduced myeloperoxidase activity, decreased inflammatory responses, and improved both the morphological alteration and function in the lungs of LPS-challenged mice. We also observed that functional amino acids (e.g., glycine) activated Nrf2 survival signaling, while inhibiting NRLP3 inflammasome (Zhang et al. 2020), indicating a regulatory effect of amino acids on the Nrf2 signaling pathway. Note that glycine is highly abundant in meat (e.g., beef; Wu et al. 2016) but is relatively deficient in all plant-source proteins (Hou et al. 2019; Li and Wu 2020). Therefore, antioxidant agents or functional foods that modulate Nrf2 would be expected to potentially therapeutic options to alleviate lung injury by enhancing intracellular concentrations of antioxidant molecules (including enzymes) in the alveolar epithelium.

4.9 Effects of Amino Acids on the Lung Microbiota and Lung Disease

Healthy lungs were traditionally believed to be sterile due to their effective antimicrobial defenses (Budden et al. 2017). This view was challenged by the isolation of bacteria from the respiratory tract of healthy individuals with the use of culture-independent approaches for microbial community profiling (Faner et al. 2017). Compared with the gastrointestinal tract where more than 100 trillion microorganisms reside, the lungs of humans and animals harbor 10^3 – 10^5 CFU/g of tissue (Remot et al. 2017), with *Bacteroides, Firmicutes* and *Proteobacteria* being the predominant phyla commonly observed (He et al. 2017). There is a relatively much lower abundance of bacteria in the lungs than in the gastrointestinal tract. However, increasing evidence indicates that lung microbiota dysbiosis is a critical environmental factor that interacts with host cells and contributes to the pathogenesis of multiple lung diseases through various mechanisms (Dickson et al. 2013; He et al. 2017; Wu and Segal 2017). First, microbes play an important role in shaping the normal and pathologic immune responses in lungs (He et al. 2017). Deregulation of microbiota in the lungs may predispose humans and other animals to the development of respiratory disease, and has a significant impact on clinical outcomes of respiratory disorders (Segal et al. 2014). Also, the microflora in the lungs can translocate to the gastrointestinal tract and other tissues through blood circulation, therefore triggering inflammatory responses (Sze et al. 2014). Additionally, intestinal bacteria influence the composition and diversity of microbiota in the lungs, therefore forming a bidirectional gut-lung axis (Budden et al. 2017; He et al. 2017). More studies are required to uncover the complicated crosstalk between the lungs and gut, as well as their impacts on health.

It is known that the intestinal microbiota affects the physiology, metabolism, and immunity of the host through: (a) interactions with enterocytes and immune cells of the gastrointestinal tract; and (b) the production of bacterial metabolites. Studies with pigs have shown that most of the amino acids in the intestinal lumen can be utilized by intestinal bacteria for protein synthesis and catabolism at various rates (Dai et al. 2012a; Dai et al. 2011), therefore affecting the proportions of dietary amino acids entering the portal vein, as well as the availability of amino acids for various cells in the lungs and colonized bacteria. This may be a reason why the intestinal microbiota affects the development of lung diseases as observed in clinical patients and experimental animals (O'Dwyer et al. 2016). Of note, dietary supplementation with functional amino acids (e.g., Gln, Trp and Arg) has been reported to regulate the bacterial ecosystem of the gut and improve the intestinal health of animals (Dai et al. 2012b, 2013; Liang et al. 2019; Wang et al. 2020). To extend this observation, we conducted an experiment involving mice pretreated with aerosolized arginine, glutamine, or glycine before exposure to aerosolized LPS (13). Each of these three amino acids was found to have beneficial effects on reducing LPS-induced lung injury (Ma et al. 2019). Although arginine supplementation can stimulate the production of NO (a potential oxidant) by LPS-activated macrophages, other benefits of this amino acid may contribute to its role in alleviating the infiltration of neutrophils into the lung tissues and in improving alveolar integrity and function. More studies are needed to explore whether the beneficial effect of the functional amino acids is associated with microbiota alterations in the lungs of animals.

4.10 Conclusion and Perspectives

Studies from clinical patients and animal models have provided enormous amounts of data on the development to lung injury (including inflammatory cell infiltration and morphological alterations), as well as the cellular and molecular events underlying the pathogenesis. Recent studies have shown that certain amino acids are critically important nutrients for maintaining the integrity and the functionality of the lungs by promoting the syntheses of proteins, bioactive compounds, and nucleic acids, which are required for cell proliferation, immune response, and cellular homeostasis. Accumulating evidence indicates that depletion of amino acids or deregulation of amino acid metabolism is associated with the development of multiple lung diseases. Amino acid supplementation improves lung homeostasis by regulating mucosal barrier function, inhibiting apoptotic cell death, and restoring the integrity of epithelial barrier via multiple signaling pathways. However, there is a long way to translate the basic research into clinical applications for the treatment of patients with lung disease. First, lung injury is a complicated pathological process and multiple types of cells (including endothelial cells, epithelium, smooth muscle cells, and fibroblasts) contribute to the dysfunction of the lungs. It remains unknown how these cells respond to
amino acids under various physiological and pathological conditions. Second, amino acids have been reported to alleviate inflammatory responses and improve lung function. However, underlying mechanisms are not well defined and more studies are required to fulfill this gap of knowledge before their applications to clinical medicine. Third, most of our understanding and observations are based on studies with rodents. Despite a high degree of similarity in nutrition, physiology and immunology between mice and humans, it should be borne in mind that no animal models can fully mimic human disease. Thus, precautions should be taken not to simply extrapolate results from animals to humans. Also, data from various animal studies are not always consistent and sometimes are very different, due to differences in experimental designs, animal models, the duration and dosage of chemical exposure, methods for analysis, and the interpretation of results. Careful studies and a critical thinking are required to draw a convincing conclusion. Furthermore, because viruses [e.g., coronavirus (COVID-19, Shi et al. 2020) and influenza virus (Herold et al. 2015)] induce severe damage to the lungs, it is important to determine whether dietary supplementation or intravenous administration of individual functional amino acids (e.g., arginine-HCl, citrulline, N-acetylcysteine, glutamine, glycine, proline and tryptophan) or their combinations to affected subjects may ameliorate injury and dysfunction in this vital organ. Finally, because air pollution impairs the development of organs (particularly lungs; Wu et al. 2019), effects of environmental pollutants (e.g., PM_{2.5} particles) on amino acid metabolism in the lungs and nutritional methods involving the use of amino acid supplementation to alleviate respira-

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 31572423, and 31625025), the "111" Project (B16044), Jinxinnong Animal Science Development Foundation, and Texas A&M AgriLife Research (H-8200). Y.Y. and G.W. designed the review; J.C., Y. J., Y.Y., Z.W., and G.W. drafted the manuscript; Z.W., Y. Y., and G.W. revised and finalized the manuscript. Y.Y. and G.W. had primary responsibility for final content. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

tory disorders should be investigated.

References

- Agostinelli E (2020) Biochemical and pathophysiological properties of polyamines. Amino Acids 52: 111–117
- Agusti A, Hogg JC (2019) Update on the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 381:1248–1256
- Amelio I, Cutruzzolá F, Antonov A, Agostini M, Melino G (2014) Serine and glycine metabolism in cancer. Trends Biochem Sci 39:191–198
- Atto B, Eapen MS, Sharma P, Frey U, Ammit AJ, Markos J, Chia C, Larby J, Haug G et al (2019) New therapeutic targets for the prevention of infectious acute exacerbations of COPD: role of epithelial adhesion molecules and inflammatory pathways. Clin Sci (Lond) 133:1663–1703
- Berggren M, Dawson J, Moldeus P (1984) Glutathione biosynthesis in the isolated perfused rat lung: utilization of extracellular glutathione. FEBS Lett 176:189–192
- Boskabadi J, Mokhtari-Zaer A, Abareshi A, Khazdair MR, Emami B, Mohammadian Roshan N, Hosseini M, Boskabady MH (2018) The effect of captopril on lipopolysaccharide-induced lung inflammation. Exp Lung Res 44:191–200
- Bream-Rouwenhorst HR, Beltz EA, Ross MB, Moores KG (2008) Recent developments in the management of acute respiratory distress syndrome in adults. Am J Health Syst Pharm 65:29–36
- Budden KF, Gellatly SL, Wood DL, Cooper MA, Morrison M, Hugenholtz P, Hansbro PM (2017) Emerging pathogenic links between microbiota and the gut-lung axis. Nat Rev Microbiol 15:55–63
- Chao YK, Wu YC, Yang KJ, Chiang LL, Liu HP, Lin PJ, Chu Y (2011) Pulmonary perfusion with L-arginine ameliorates post-cardiopulmonary bypass lung injury in a rabbit model. J Surg Res 167:e77–e83
- Chen H, Ding Y, Chen W, Feng Y, Shi G (2019) Glibenclamide alleviates inflammation in oleic acid model of acute lung injury through NLRP3 inflammasome signaling pathway. Drug Des Devel Ther 13:1545–1554
- Cho HY, Kleeberger SR (2020) Mitochondrial biology in airway pathogenesis and the role of NRF2. Arch Pharm Res 43:297–320
- Chu SJ, Lee TY, Yan HC, Lin SH, Li MH (2005) L-arginine prevents air embolism-induced acute lung injury in rats. Crit Care Med 33:2056–2060
- Curis E, Nicolis I, Moinard C, Osowska S, Zerrouk N, Benazeth S, Cynober L (2005) Almost all about citrulline in mammals. Amino Acids 29:177–205
- Dai ZL, Wu G, Zhu WY (2011) Amino acid metabolism in intestinal bacteria: links between gut ecology and host health. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) 16:1768–1786
- Dai ZL, Li XL, Xi PB, Zhang J, Wu G, Zhu WY (2012a) Metabolism of select amino acids in bacteria from the pig small intestine. Amino Acids 42:1597–1608
- Dai ZL, Li XL, Xi PB, Zhang J, Wu G, Zhu WY (2012b) Regulatory role for L-arginine in the utilization of

amino acids by pig small-intestinal bacteria. Amino Acids 43:233–244

- Dai ZL, Li XL, Xi PB, Zhang J, Wu G, Zhu WY (2013) L-glutamine regulates amino acid utilization by intestinal bacteria. Amino Acids 45:501–512
- de Oliveira GP et al (2019) Glutamine therapy reduces inflammation and extracellular trap release in experimental acute respiratory distress syndrome of pulmonary origin. Nutrients 11(4):831
- Dickson RP, Erb-Downward JR, Huffnagle GB (2013) The role of the bacterial microbiome in lung disease. Expert Rev Respir Med 7:245–257
- Fan X, Li S, Wu Z, Dai Z, Li J, Wang X, Wu G (2019) Glycine supplementation to breast-fed piglets attenuates post-weaning jejunal epithelial apoptosis: a functional role of CHOP signaling. Amino Acids 51:463–473
- Faner R, Sibila O, Agusti A, Bernasconi E, Chalmers JD, Huffnagle GB, Manichanh C, Molyneaux PL, Paredes R et al (2017) The microbiome in respiratory medicine: current challenges and future perspectives. Eur Respir J 49(4):1602086
- Fukumoto J, Fukumoto I, Parthasarathy PT, Cox R, Huynh B, Ramanathan GK, Venugopal RB, Allen-Gipson DS, Lockey RF et al (2013) NLRP3 deletion protects from hyperoxia-induced acute lung injury. Am J Phys 305:C182–C189
- Folkerts G, Kloek J, Muijsers RB, Nijkamp FP (2001) Reactive nitrogen and oxygen species in airway inflammation. Eur J Pharmacol 429:251–262
- Georas SN, Rezaee F (2014) Epithelial barrier function: at the front line of asthma immunology and allergic airway inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 134:509–520
- Grainge C, Rice P (2010) Management of phosgeneinduced acute lung injury. Clin Toxicol (Phila) 48:497–508
- Grisafi D, Tassone E, Dedja A, Oselladore B, Masola V, Guzzardo V, Porzionato A, Salmaso R, Albertin G et al (2012) L-citrulline prevents alveolar and vascular derangement in a rat model of moderate hyperoxiainduced lung injury. Lung 190:419–430
- Guo RF, Ward PA (2007) Role of oxidants in lung injury during sepsis. Antioxid Redox Signal 9:1991–2002
- Hamanaka RB, O'Leary EM, Witt LJ, Tian Y, Gokalp GA, Meliton AY, Dulin NO, Mutlu GM (2019) Glutamine metabolism is required for collagen protein synthesis in lung fibroblasts. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 61:597–606
- Hartl D, Tirouvanziam R, Laval J, Greene CM, Habiel D, Sharma L, Yildirim AO, Dela Cruz CS, Hogaboam CM (2018) Innate immunity of the lung: from basic mechanisms to translational medicine. J Innate Immun 10:487–501
- He Y, Wen Q, Yao F, Xu D, Huang Y, Wang J (2017) Gutlung axis: the microbial contributions and clinical implications. Crit Rev Microbiol 43:81–95
- Herold S, Becker C, Ridge KM, Budinger GR (2015) Influenza virus-induced lung injury: pathogenesis and implications for treatment. Eur Respir J 45:1463–1478
- He Y, Fan X, Liu N, Song Q, Kou J, Shi Y, Luo X, Dai Z, Yang Y et al (2019) L-glutamine represses the

unfolded protein response in the small intestine of weanling piglets. J Nutr 149:1904–1910

- Hoet PH, Nemery B (2000) Polyamines in the lung: polyamine uptake and polyamine-linked pathological or toxicological conditions. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 278:L417–433
- Hou Y, Wu G (2017) Nutritionally nonessential amino acids: a misnomer in nutritional sciences. Adv Nutr 8:137–139
- Hou Y, Yin Y, Wu G (2015) Dietary essentiality of "nutritionally non-essential amino acids" for animals and humans. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 240:997–1007
- Hou YQ, He WL, Hu SD, Wu G (2019) Composition of polyamines and amino acids in plant-source foods for human consumption. Amino Acids 51:1153–1165
- Inoue S, Ikeda H (2019) Differences in plasma amino acid levels in patients with and without bacterial infection during the early stage of acute exacerbation of COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 14:575–583
- Jiao N, Wu Z, Ji Y, Wang B, Dai Z, Wu G (2015) L-glutamate enhances barrier and antioxidative functions in intestinal porcine epithelial cells. J Nutr 145:2258–2264
- Kanai Y, Hediger MA (1992) Primary structure and functional characterization of a high-affinity glutamate transporter. Nature 360:467–471
- Kandasamy P, Gyimesi G, Kanai Y, Hediger MA (2018) Amino acid transporters revisited: new views in health and disease. Trends Biochem Sci 43:752–789
- Kosmider B, Messier EM, Chu HW, Mason RJ (2011) Human alveolar epithelial cell injury induced by cigarette smoke. PLoS One 6:e26059
- Kouis P, Hadjisavvas A, Middleton N, Papatheodorou SI, Kyriacou K, Yiallouros PK (2018) The effect of L-arginine on ciliary beat frequency in PCD patients, non-PCD respiratory patients and healthy controls. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 48:15–21
- Lai CC, Liu WL, Chen CM (2014) Glutamine attenuates acute lung injury caused by acid aspiration. Nutrients 6:3101–3116
- Lambrecht BN, Hammad H (2014) Allergens and the airway epithelium response: gateway to allergic sensitization. J Allergy Clin Immunol 134:499–507
- Lang JD, McArdle PJ, O'Reilly PJ, Matalon S (2002) Oxidant-antioxidant balance in acute lung injury. Chest 122:314S–320S
- Lee S, Nakahira K, Dalli J, Siempos II, Norris PC, Colas RA, Moon JS, Shinohara M, Hisata S et al (2017) NLRP3 inflammasome deficiency protects against microbial sepsis via increased lipoxin B4 synthesis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 196:713–726
- Li YJ, Shimizu T, Shinkai Y, Hirata Y, Inagaki H, Takeda K, Azuma A, Yamamoto M, Kawada T (2017) Nrf2 regulates the risk of a diesel exhaust inhalationinduced immune response during bleomycin lung injury and fibrosis in mice. Int J Mol Sci 18:649
- Li P, Wu G (2018) Roles of dietary glycine, proline and hydroxyproline in collagen synthesis and animal growth. Amino Acids 50:29–38
- Li P, Wu G (2020) Composition of amino acids and related nitrogenous nutrients in feedstuffs for animal diets. Amino Acids 52:523–542

- Liang HW, Dai ZL, Kou J, Sun KJ, Chen JQ, Yang Y, Wu G, Wu ZL (2019) Dietary l-tryptophan supplementation enhances the intestinal mucosal barrier function in weaned piglets: Implication of tryptophanmetabolizing microbiota. Int J Mol Sci 20:20
- Liu N, Ma X, Luo X, Zhang Y, He Y, Dai Z, Yang Y, Wu G, Wu Z (2018) L-Glutamine attenuates apoptosis in porcine enterocytes by regulating glutathione-related redox homeostasis. J Nutr 148:526–534
- Liu H, Gu C, Liu M, Liu G, Wang D, Liu X, Wang Y (2019) Ventilator-induced lung injury is alleviated by inhibiting NLRP3 inflammasome activation. Mol Immunol 111:1–10
- Lukaszewicz G, Abcouwer SF, Labow BI, Souba WW (1997) Glutamine synthetase gene expression in the lungs of endotoxin-treated and adrenalectomized rats. Am J Phys 273:L1182–L1190
- Ma X, Zhang Y, Jiang D, Yang Y, Wu G, Wu Z (2019) Protective effects of functional amino acids on apoptosis, inflammatory response, and pulmonary fibrosis in lipopolysaccharide-challenged mice. J Agric Food Chem 67:4915–4922
- Mabalirajan U, Ahmad T, Leishangthem GD, Dinda AK, Agrawal A, Ghosh B (2010) L-Arginine reduces mitochondrial dysfunction and airway injury in murine allergic airway inflammation. Int Immunopharmacol 10:1514–1519
- Marudamuthu AS, Bhandary YP, Fan L, Radhakrishnan V, MacKenzie B, Maier E, Shetty SK, Nagaraja MR et al (2019) Caveolin-1-derived peptide limits development of pulmonary fibrosis. Sci Transl Med 11:eaat2848
- Mattila P, Joenvaara S, Renkonen J, Toppila-Salmi S, Renkonen R (2011) Allergy as an epithelial barrier disease. Clin Transl Allergy 1:5
- McGee MM, Greengard O, Knox WE (1972) The quantitative determination of phenylalanine hydroxylase in rat tissues. Its developmental formation in liver. Biochem J 127:669–674
- McNeal CJ, Meininger CJ, Wilborn CD, Tekwe CD, Wu G (2018) Safety of dietary supplementation with arginine in adult humans. Amino Acids 50:1215–1229
- Michaeloudes C, Bhavsar PK, Mumby S, Xu B, Hui CKM, Chung KF, Adcock IM (2019) Role of metabolic reprogramming in pulmonary innate immunity and its impact on lung diseases. J Innate Immun 12:1–16
- Mizumura K, Maruoka S, Shimizu T, Gon Y (2020) Role of Nrf2 in the pathogenesis of respiratory diseases. Respir Investig 58:28–35
- Murakami K, Enkhbaatar P, Yu YM, Traber LD, Cox RA, Hawkins HK, Tompkins RG, Herndon D, Traber DL (2007) L-arginine attenuates acute lung injury after smoke inhalation and burn injury in sheep. Shock 28:477–483
- Nakaya M, Xiao Y, Zhou X, Chang JH, Chang M, Cheng X, Blonska M, Lin X, Sun SC (2014) Inflammatory T cell responses rely on amino acid transporter ASCT2 facilitation of glutamine uptake and mTORC1 kinase activation. Immunity 40:692–705
- Nalysnyk L, Cid-Ruzafa J, Rotella P, Esser D (2012) Incidence and prevalence of idiopathic pulmonary

fibrosis: review of the literature. Eur Respir Rev 21:355–361

- Nieweld C, Summer R (2019) Activated fibroblasts: gluttonous for glutamine. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 61:554–555
- O'Dwyer DN, Dickson RP, Moore BB (2016) The lung microbiome, immunity and the pathogenesis of chronic lung disease. J Immunol 196:4839–4847
- Ogata-Suetsugu S, Yanagihara T, Hamada N, Ikeda-Harada C, Yokoyama T, Suzuki K, Kawaguchi T, Maeyama T, Kuwano K et al (2017) Amphiregulin suppresses epithelial cell apoptosis in lipopolysaccharide-induced lung injury in mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 484:422–428
- Oudemans-van Straaten HM, Bosman RJ, Treskes M, van der Spoel HJ, Zandstra DF (2001) Plasma glutamine depletion and patient outcome in acute ICU admissions. Intensive Care Med 27:84–90
- Price ME, Sisson JH (2019) Redox regulation of motile cilia in airway disease. Redox Biol 27:101146
- Qian M et al (2018) PICK1 deficiency exacerbates sepsisassociated acute lung injury and impairs glutathione synthesis via reduction of xCT. Free Radic Biol Med 118:23–34
- Rahman I, Biswas SK, Jimenez LA, Torres M, Forman HJ (2005) Glutathione, stress responses, and redox signaling in lung inflammation. Antioxid Redox Signal 7:42–59
- Remot A, Descamps D, Noordine ML, Boukadiri A, Mathieu E, Robert V, Riffault S, Lambrecht B, Langella P et al (2017) Bacteria isolated from lung modulate asthma susceptibility in mice. ISME J 11:1061–1074
- Segal LN, Rom WN, Weiden MD (2014) Lung microbiome for clinicians. New discoveries about bugs in healthy and diseased lungs. Ann Am Thorac Soc 11:108–116
- Shi H, Han X, Jiang N, Cao Y, Alwalid O, Gu J (2020) Radiological findings from 81 patients with COVID-19 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet Infect Dis 20:P425–434
- Souba WW, Herskowitz K, Plumley DA (1990) Lung glutamine metabolism. J Parenter Enter Nutr 14:68S–70S
- Steelant B (2020) Epithelial dysfunction in chronic respiratory diseases, a shared endotype? Curr Opin Pulm Med 26:20–26
- Sugita K, Steer CA, Martinez-Gonzalez I, Altunbulakli C, Morita H, Castro-Giner F, Kubo T, Wawrzyniak P, Ruckert B et al (2018) Type 2 innate lymphoid cells disrupt bronchial epithelial barrier integrity by targeting tight junctions through IL-13 in asthmatic patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol 141:300–310
- Sze MA, Tsuruta M, Yang SW, Oh Y, Man SF, Hogg JC, Sin DD (2014) Changes in the bacterial microbiota in gut, blood, and lungs following acute LPS instillation into mice lungs. PLoS One 9:e111228
- Tatsuta M, Kan OK, Ishii Y, Yamamoto N, Ogawa T, Fukuyama S, Ogawa A, Fujita A, Nakanishi Y et al (2019) Effects of cigarette smoke on barrier function and tight junction proteins in the bronchial epithe-

lium: protective role of cathelicidin LL-37. Respir Res 20:251

- Thimmulappa RK, Scollick C, Traore K, Yates M, Trush MA, Liby KT, Sporn MB, Yamamoto M, Kensler TW et al (2006) Nrf2-dependent protection from LPS induced inflammatory response and mortality by CDDO-Imidazolide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 351:883–889
- Venoji R, Amirtharaj GJ, Kini A, Vanaparthi S, Venkatraman A, Ramachandran A (2015) Enteral glutamine differentially regulates Nrf 2 along the villuscrypt axis of the intestine to enhance glutathione levels. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 30:1740–1747
- Vigeland CL, Beggs HS, Collins SL, Chan-Li Y, Powell JD, Doerschuk CM, Horton MR (2019) Inhibition of glutamine metabolism accelerates resolution of acute lung injury. Physiol Rep 7:e14019
- Wang W, Wu Z, Lin G, Hu S, Wang B, Dai Z, Wu G (2014) Glycine stimulates protein synthesis and inhibits oxidative stress in pig small intestinal epithelial cells. J Nutr 144:1540–1548
- Wang B, Wu G, Zhou Z, Dai Z, Sun Y, Ji Y, Li W, Wang W, Liu C, Han F, Wu Z (2015a) Glutamine and intestinal barrier function. Amino Acids 47:2143–2154
- Wang H, Zhang C, Wu G, Sun Y, Wang B, He B, Dai Z, Wu Z (2015b) Glutamine enhances tight junction protein expression and modulates corticotropin-releasing factor signaling in the jejunum of weanling piglets. J Nutr 145:25–31
- Wang B, Wu Z, Ji Y, Sun K, Dai Z, Wu G (2016) L-glutamine enhances tight junction integrity by activating CaMK kinase 2-AMP-activated protein kinase signaling in intestinal porcine epithelial cells. J Nutr 146:501–508
- Wang M, Tan G, Eljaszewicz A, Meng Y, Wawrzyniak P, Acharya S, Altunbulakli C, Westermann P, Dreher A et al (2019) Laundry detergents and detergent residue after rinsing directly disrupt tight junction barrier integrity in human bronchial epithelial cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol 143:1892–1903
- Wang B, Sun SQ, Liu MY, Chen H, Liu N, Wu ZL, Wu G, Dai ZL (2020) Dietary L-tryptophan supplementation regulates colonic serotonin homeostasis and inhibits gut inflammation in mice with dextran sodium sulfate-induced colitis. J Nutr 150:1966–1976
- Warheit-Niemi HI, Hult EM, Moore BB (2019) A pathologic two-way street: how innate immunity impacts lung fibrosis and fibrosis impacts lung immunity. Clin Transl Immunol 8:e1065
- Wieczfinska J, Sokolowska M, Pawliczak R (2015) NOX modifiers-just a step away from application in the therapy of airway inflammation? Antioxid Redox Signal 23:428–445
- Wilmore DW, Shabert JK (1998) Role of glutamine in immunologic responses. Nutrition 14:618–626
- Wu G (2013) Amino acids: biochemistry and nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton

- Wu G (2014) Dietary requirements of synthesizable amino acids by animals: a paradigm shift in protein nutrition. J Anim Sci Biotechnol 5:34
- Wu G (2020) Management of metabolic disorders (including metabolic diseases) in ruminant and nonruminant animals. In: Bazer FW, Lamb GC, Wu G (eds) Animal agriculture: challenges, innovations, and sustainability. Elsevier, New York, pp 471–492
- Wu G, Morris SM Jr (1998) Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. Biochem J 336:1–17
- Wu BG, Segal LN (2017) Lung microbiota and its impact on the mucosal immune phenotype. Microbiol Spectr 5:BAD-0005-2016
- Wu G, Davis PK, Flynn NE, Knabe DA, Davidson JT (1997) Endogenous synthesis of arginine plays an important role in maintaining arginine homeostasis in postweaning growing pigs. J. Nutr 127:2342–2349
- Wu G, Meininger CJ, Knabe DA, Bazer FW, Rhoads JM (2000) Arginine nutrition in development, health and disease. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 3:59–66
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Dai Z, Li D, Wang J, Wu Z (2014) Amino acid nutrition in animals: protein synthesis and beyond. Annu Rev Anim Biosci 2:387–417
- Wu G, Cross HR, Gehring KB, Savell JW, Arnold AN, McNeill SH (2016) Composition of free and peptidebound amino acids in beef chuck, loin, and round cuts. J Anim Sci 94:2603–2613
- Wu G, Brown J, Zamora ML, Miller A, Satterfield MC, Meininger CJ, Steinhauser CB, Johnson GA, Burghardt RC, Bazer FW, Li Y, Johnson NM, Molina MJ, Zhang R (2019) Adverse organogenesis and predisposed long-term metabolic syndrome from prenatal exposure to fine particulate matter. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 116:11590–11595
- Xu Y, Meng C, Liu G, Yang D, Fu L, Zhang M, Zhang Z, Xia H, Yao S et al (2016) Classically activated macrophages protect against lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury by expressing amphiregulin in mice. Anesthesiology 124:1086–1099
- Xu F, Wen Z, Shi X, Fan J (2018) Inflammasome in the pathogenesis of pulmonary diseases. Exp Suppl 108:111–151
- Yoshida K, Yoshimura K, Haniuda M (1999) L-arginine inhibits ischemia-reperfusion lung injury in rabbits. J Surg Res 85:9–16
- Zhang YL, Li QQ, Guo W, Huang Y, Yang J (2007) Effects of chronic ethanol ingestion on tight junction proteins and barrier function of alveolar epithelium in the rat. Shock 28:245–252
- Zhang H, Wang Z, Liu R, Qian T, Liu J, Wang L, Chu Y (2018) Reactive oxygen species stimulated pulmonary epithelial cells mediate the alveolar recruitment of FasL(+) killer B cells in LPS-induced acute lung injuries. J Leukoc Biol 104:1187–1198
- Zhang YC, Ma X, Jiang D, Chen JQ, Jia H, Wu ZL, Kim IH, Yang Y (2020) Glycine attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury by regulating NLRP3 inflammasome and NRF2 signaling. Nutrients 12(3):611



5

Amino Acid Metabolism in the Kidneys: Nutritional and Physiological Significance

Xinyu Li, Shixuan Zheng, and Guoyao Wu

Abstract

The kidneys are developed from the intermediate mesoderm of the embryo. They are important for osmoregulation, regulation of acid-base balance, reabsorption of nutrients, and excretion of metabolites. In fish, the kidneys also serve as a hematopoietic, lymphoid and endocrine organ for the generation of red blood cells, the development of lymphocytes, and the production of hormones (e.g., glucocorticoids, catecholamines, and thyroid hormones). In humans and all animals, kidneys play a vital role in the metabolism and reabsorption of amino acids (AAs) and glucose. Specifically, this organ contributes to glucose synthesis from AAs, lactate and pyruvate via the gluconeogenesis pathway; regulates acidbase balance via inter-organ metabolism of glutamine; and synthesizes arginine, tyrosine, and glycine, respectively, from citrulline, phenylalanine, and 4-hydroxyproline. In mammals and birds, kidneys participate in creatine synthesis. Renal dysfunction adversely alters the concentrations of AAs in blood, while pro-

X. Li · G. Wu (🖂)

Department of Animal Science, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA e-mail: g-wu@tamu.edu

S. Zheng Guangdong Yuehai Feeds Group Co., Ltd, Zhanjiang, Guangdong, China moting muscle protein breakdown, inflammation, mitochondrial abnormalities, defects in the immune response, and cardiovascular diseases. Moderation of dietary AA intake has a protective and therapeutic effect on chronic kidney disease. Understanding the functions and metabolism of AAs in kidneys is essential for maintaining whole-body homeostasis, improving health and well-being, and preventing or treating renal metabolic diseases in humans and farm animals (including swine, poultry, ruminants, fish and shrimp).

Keywords

Kidney · Amino acids · Renal dysfunction · Animals · Human

5.1 Introduction

The main function of the kidney is to maintain the homeostasis of water, minerals and metabolites as well as acid-base balance, osmolality, and blood pressure in the body. This is achieved through filtering the blood supplied from the renal arteries, reabsorbing nutrients into the blood circulation, and excreting metabolites (e.g., ammonia, urea, homocysteine, ketone bodies, and methylarginines). The rate of blood flow through the kidneys is particularly high. For

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

G. Wu (ed.), *Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2_5

example, in humans, the kidneys receive about 20% of the blood pumped out of the heart and filter about 1.25 L of blood per minute (Kierszenbaum and Tres 2015). Kidneys also produce hormones that affect the function of other organs. As a result, well-functioning kidneys are essential to health and well-being. However, many individuals (e.g., 11.5% of the adult population in the United States) have chronic kidney disease and are at increased risk for cardiovascular events and progression to kidney failure (Tangri et al. 2011). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), globally 864,226 deaths (or 1.5% of deaths) were attributable to chronic kidney disease in 2012. Ranked the fourteenth in the list of leading causes of death, this disease accounts for 122 deaths per 1 million people (Webster et al. 2017).

Maintaining health and preventing disease outbreaks is vital to the economy and safety in animal production. This is because farm animals (including swine, poultry, cows, sheep, goats, fish, and shrimp) usually face numerous stresses, including high-density rearing, imbalance in nutrient intakes, heavy metal and non-metal containments, heat or cold environments, air and water pollution, and challenges by infectious agents (e.g., parasites, bacteria, fungi and viruses). Behavioral and physiological alterations will occur when affected animals cannot mount a successful response to one or more of these stresses (Blokhuis et al. 1998). For example, heat stress or metal toxicity can induce oxidative damage due to enhanced production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), mitochondrial dysfunction, and metabolic disorder, thereby compromising renal function (Pandey and Madhuri 2014; Belhadj Slimen et al. 2016). In fish, which lack bone marrow and lymph nodes, the kidneys serve as the hematopoietic organ and are a major lymphoid organ (Kum and Sekkin 2011). Renal dysfunction adversely affects immunity and increases susceptibility to disease, while decreasing feed intake and growth, thereby hindering animal production (Blokhuis et al. 1998; Anderson et al. 2011).

Most of amino acids (AAs) are catabolized by the kidneys via numerous pathways (including asparaginase, glutamate dehydrogenase, glutaminase, transaminases, and D-AA oxidases), and that filtered AAs are almost completely reabsorbed by the proximal convoluted tubule into the blood in normal physiological states (Levillain et al. 1997; Wu 2013a, b). The kidneys also play a vital role in the biosynthesis of some AAs and their derivatives. As a result, renal dysfunction will induce the deficiency of these AAs and their derivatives. Moreover, understanding the functions and metabolism of AAs in the kidneys is important for preventing and treating chronic renal diseases in both humans and farm animals. This review highlights the development and functions of the kidneys in different animals, as well as AA metabolism in this organ and its relationship with renal diseases.

5.2 Kidney Development and Structure

In all vertebrate species, the kidney originates from the intermediate mesoderm that is called the nephrogenic mesoderm (Cullen-McEwen et al. 2016). The embryonic development of the kidney is complex in that two or three different kidneys (depending on species) are formed in temporal and spatial sequences. In amniotes (birds, mammals, and reptiles), nephrogenesis begins at the embryonic stage and completes at birth. This process occurs through a series of successive phases: archinephros, pronephros, mesonephros, and metanephros (Cullen-McEwen et al. 2016). Archinephros occurs in the embryos as the simplest kind of excretory organ, which is nonfunctional in humans and other mammals. Then, three types of a more advanced kidney develop from the embryonic archinephros: the pronephros from its anterior section, the mesonephros from its middle section, and the metanephros from its hind section. The pronephros and mesonephros are generally transient embryonic kidneys that subsequently degenerate and have little or no function in adult mammals. However, the mesonephros is the functional kidney in fish and amphibians (Seely 2017). Generally, the metanephros develops when an outgrowth of the primary nephric duct (the ureteric bud or metanephric diverticulum) extends into the surrounding metanephric mesenchyme (Dressler 2006; Seely 2017). The metanephros is the adult kidney or the functional kidney in humans and other amniotes (Cullen-McEwen et al. 2016). The functional kidney has an extensively branched collecting duct system and a large number of nephrons (Cullen-McEwen et al. 2016; Denic et al. 2016). During postnatal growth, mammals increase their renal performance via increases in nephron size and glomerular filtration rate (Davidson 2014).

In contrast to mammals, fish form the pronephros and mesonephros, with the latter being the permanent adult kidney (Davidson 2014). Generally, fish embryos develop externally and are therefore exposed to environmental pressures from water and salts, and the pronephric kidneys play a vital role in osmoregulation. In zebrafish, the functional larval pronephros consists of two nephrons with glomeruli fused at the embryo midline just ventral to the dorsal aorta (Drummond 2005). At the juvenile stage, the mesonephros kidney is formed, which consists of hundreds of nephrons that branch distally (Davidson 2014). Unlike the mammalian metanephric kidneys, the mesonephric kidneys of fish continue to add new nephrons as their body mass increases during their lives (Davidson 2014; Upadhyay and Silverstein 2014).

5.3 Functions of the Kidneys

The nephron is the functional unit of the kidney, and is composed of a renal corpuscle (a glomerulus and glomerular capsule known as Bowman's capsule) and renal tubules (including the proximal convoluted tubule, the loop of Henle, and the distal convoluted tubule). The glomerulus filters the blood into the renal tubule, and the glomerular filtration rate (GFR) is an indicator of overall kidney function. The GFR is defined as the total amount of fluid filtered through all of the nephrons per unit of time (Levey et al. 2015). Filtration is the process by which cells and large proteins are retained while substances of small molecular weights are filtered from the blood to make an ultrafiltrate fluid. Most of molecules (such as

water, glucose, and AAs) in the ultrafiltrate are reabsorbed from the renal tubule into the peritubular capillary and blood circulation. In a healthy adult human, reabsorption by renal tubules recovers about 70 g AAs per day (Young 1991). Moreover, the kidneys excrete a variety of metabolites (such as ammonia, urea, uric acid, methylarginines, homocysteine, and ketone bodies) into urine (McNeal et al. 2018). For example, in humans, about 180 L of ultrafiltrate fluid passes into the renal tubules per day. Most of the fluid is reabsorbed by the tubular cells into the blood circulation, and only about 1.5 L of the fluid is excreted as urine (Kierszenbaum and Tres 2015). Due to their functions in excretion, reabsorption, and filtration, the kidneys play a vital role in maintaining whole-body homeostasis, such as acid-base balance, electrolyte concentrations in plasma, extracellular fluid volume, and blood pressure. The kidneys accomplish these homeostatic functions both independently and in concert with other organs, particularly the endocrine system. Various endocrine hormones coordinate the endocrine functions, including antidiuretic hormone, thyroid hormone, adrenal cortical hormone, renin, angiotensin II, aldosterone, glucocorticoids, mineralocorticoids, prolactin, prostaglandins, and atrial natriuretic peptide, gastrin, among others (McDonald et al. 1976; Afsar et al. 2016; Ahmed and Ramesh 2016). For example, antidiuretic hormone is the hormone of paramount importance in the regulation of water excretion by the mammalian kidneys, but other hormones also influence renal excretion of water. In particular, aldosterone, which is produced by the cortex of the adrenal gland, stimulates the reabsorption of water by renal tubules along with Na⁺, thereby increasing blood volume and decreasing urine volume. Furthermore, glucagonlike peptide-1, which is excreted by endocrine cells of the small intestine, can increase the GFR, renal plasma flow, urine output, and the excretion of Na⁺, K⁺, and HCO₃⁻ (Afsar et al. 2016). In postnatal mammals and birds, another important function of the kidneys is the regulation of erythropoiesis (the production of erythrocytes) by the bone marrow. Although the kidney is not the site of erythropoiesis in these species, it releases a hormone called erythropoietin in response to cellular hypoxia. Through erythropoietin receptormediated signaling cascades that involve the Janus kinase-2 and its downstream proteins, phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase A, the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK1/2), p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), and signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 (STAT5), erythropoietin stimulates the bone marrow to produce red blood cells (Watowich 2011).

In amniotes, the kidneys efficiently reabsorb water from the renal tubules into blood, and therefore a relatively small amount of water reaches the bladder (Mahasen 2016). Compared with terrestrial animals, fish have a special need to maintain their internal environment because of the constant exposure to external water and substances. Freshwater fish have a higher concentration of salts in blood than the external environment, contributing to the net osmotic gain of water and diffusional loss of salts across the gills. This conundrum is solved through several strategies, including excretion of relatively dilute urine, active uptake of salts across the gill, and possibly ingestion of more salts in the food (Evans 2002). In freshwater fish species, the kidneys generally remove, as dilute urine, a considerable amount of water that passively enters the body via the gill. This dilute urine is almost completely composed of water. Freshwater fish species have a good size of the renal corpuscle and hence a high water output. On the contrary, in marine fish, the renal corpuscle is small or absent and the renal tubule is short, thereby minimizing the glomerular infiltration of blood and conserving water as well as minimizing the reabsorption of salts by the renal tubules and producing a urine with concentrated salts (Mahasen 2016). In marine fish, excessive salts are removed largely through the kidneys. Of particular note, cartilaginous fishes (sharks, skates, rays, and chimaeras) have an ability to adapt a high-salinity marine environment through a unique urea-based osmoregulation strategy, as their kidneys reabsorb nearly all of the filtered urea in the primary urine (Hyodo et al. 2014).

In fish, each kidney contains two segments: the anterior (head) and the posterior (trunk). The filtration and urine-forming functions are carried out by the posterior kidney, as noted previously. In contrast to mammals and birds, fish lack bone marrow, lymph nodes, and adrenal gland but possess the head kidney to serve as a hematopoietic, lymphoid and endocrine organ for the production of erythrocytes (red blood cells), cytokines, antibodies, and some hormones (Shoemaker et al. 2015). Thus, hematopoiesis occurs in the head kidney in fish, instead of the bone marrow in postnatal mammals and birds. In addition, the head kidney plays an important role in both innate and adaptive immunities in fish (see Sect. 5.7). Furthermore, the head kidney of fish produces glucocorticoids from cholesterol, as well as catecholamines and thyroid hormones from tyrosine. Thus, in fish, the kidney has a high metabolic rate (including AA catabolism and ATP production) to support its integrated hematopoietic, immune, and endocrine functions.

5.4 Amino Acid Transporters in the Kidneys

Tissues in the kidney receive AAs that are supplied from the arterial blood. In addition, epithelial cells of the renal tubule reabsorb free AAs from its lumen (the AAs that are filtered through the glomerulus) into the blood. These processes require specific AA transporters and play an important role in maintaining AA homeostasis in plasma (Verrey et al. 2005, 2009). Generally, AAs are transported across the plasma membrane via: (1) simple diffusion (passive and nonsaturable), (2) Na⁺-independent systems (facilitated diffusion), and (3) Na⁺-dependent systems (active transport). Some Na⁺-dependent transport proteins can use Li⁺ instead of Na⁺, and a few of AA transport proteins are H⁺-driven. In the kidney, AA transporters are highly expressed in the luminal brush border membrane of the proximal segments of the renal tubule (Palacín et al. 1998; Verrey et al. 2009). On the basis of sequence similarity, AA transporters are grouped into solute carrier (SLC) families (Table 5.1). For exam-

Gene	Protein	Cotransport	Predominant substrate	Affinity
SLC6A19	B ⁰ AT1	Na ⁺	Neutral amino acids	Low
SLC6A15	B ⁰ AT2	Na ⁺	Pro, Leu, Val, Ile, and Met	High
SLC6A18	XT2	Na ⁺	Gly and Ala	High
SLC6A20	IMINO or XT3	Na ⁺ or Cl	Pro, Cys, Ala, Leu, Met, Phe, and Gly	Medium
SLC36A1	PAT1	H ⁺	Gly, Ala, Pro	Low
SLC36A2	PAT2	H ⁺	Gly, Ala, Pro	Medium
SLC3A1/SLC7A9	rBAT / b ^{0, +} AT		Cationic amino acids or Cys	High
SLC1A2	EAAT2	Na+, H+, K+	Glu, Asp	High
SLC1A1	EAAT3	Na ⁺ , H ⁺ , K ⁺	Glu, Asp	High
SLC38A4	SNAT4	Na ⁺	Gly, Ala, Ser, Cys, Gln, Asn, and Met	Medium
SLC1A4	ASCT1	Na ⁺	Ala, Ser, and Cys	High
SLCA5	ASCT2	Na ⁺	Ala, Ser, Cys, Thr, and Gln	High
SLC3A2/SLC7A10	4F2 hc/asc1		Gly, Ala, Ser, Cys, and Thr	High
SLC6A6	TauT	Na ⁺ , Cl	Tau, β-Ala	High
SLC16A10	TAT1		Trp, Tyr and Phe	Low
SLC3A2/SLC7A7	4F2hc/y+LAT1	Na ⁺ (symport with AA)	Arg, Lys, Gln, His, Met and Leu	High
SLC3A2/SLC7A6	4F2hc/y+LAT2	Na ⁺ (symport with AA)	Arg, Lys, Gln, His, Met and Leu	High

 Table 5.1
 Transporters of amino acids in kidneys

Adapted from Boll (2004); Bröer (2006 and 2008), and Wu (2013a)

ple, B⁰AT1 (SLC6A19), XT2 (SLC6A18) and IMINO (SLC6A20) systems transport neutral AAs from the lumen of the renal proximal tubule into its epithelial cells (Bröer 2006, 2008; Verrey et al. 2009). Moreover, H⁺-dependent transporters, such as PAT1 (SLC36A1) and PAT2 (SLC36A2), have been identified in the kidney (Daniel et al. 2006). Besides, cationic AAs (e.g., arginine, ornithine and lysine) are taken up by cationic AA transporters in a Na⁺-independent manner. The cystine transporter consists of a catalytic subunit of the SLC7 family and a disulfidelinked accessory subunit referred to as a heavy chain called rBAT [related to neutral and basic $(b^{0,+})$ AA transporter; SLC3A1; Verrey et al. 2009]. Mutations in the SLC3A1 gene result in cystinuria that is characterized by high concentrations of cystine (an AA with a very low solubility in water) in the urine, leading to the formation of cystine stones in the kidneys, ureter, and bladder. The transport of anionic AAs (e.g., glutamate and aspartate) requires the Na⁺dependent transporters (EAAT1, EAAT2 and EAAT3). Competition of the transport of AAs by the cell occurs when they are structurally similar (e.g., among large neutral AAs, basic AAs, acidic AAs, small neutral AAs, or β -AAs).

5.5 Amino Acid Metabolism in the Kidneys

5.5.1 Gluconeogenesis

Gluconeogenesis is the metabolic pathway for the synthesis of glucose from non-glucose substrates, such as lactate, pyruvate, glycerol, and gluconeogenic AAs. A major function of gluconeogenesis is to provide the body with glucose in response to physiological needs. There are four rate-controlling reactions in gluconeogenesis that are catalyzed by pyruvate carboxylase, phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK), fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase (FBPase), and glucose-6-phosphatase (G6Pase). All of these enzymes are present in the kidneys of rats (Anderson and Stowring 1973), chickens (Shen and Mistry 1979; Watford et al. 1981), humans (Møller et al. 2000), and some fish species (Knox et al. 1980; Kirchner et al. 2008; Kumar et al. 2010). PEPCK and G6Pase are mainly expressed in the proximal tubules (Pollock 1989; Sun et al. 2002). Moreover, FBPase and PEPCK are colocalized in the kidney and liver, which contributed almost equally to glucose synthesis in fasting humans (Yánez et al. 2003). Similar to other animals, the gluconeogenic enzymes are

expressed mainly in the liver and kidneys of fish species, and gluconeogenesis does not occur in skeletal muscle (Knox et al. 1980). In the kidneys of some species, whether AAs are the substrates for glucose synthesis depends on the intracellular location of PEPCK (Wu 2013a). As reported for chickens (Watford et al. 1981), the presence of PEPCK in the cytoplasm allows for the generation of NADH from glucogenic AAs and, therefore, the production of glucose from the AAs.

The mammalian kidneys synthesize glucose and release it into the blood circulation under various physiological conditions (Gerich 2010). In the post-absorptive state, renal gluconeogenesis (primarily from glutamine) contributes 20–25% of glucose production in adult humans (Stumvoll et al. 1999), and the kidneys release nearly the same amount of glucose into the circulation as the liver (Mitrakou 2011). In contrast, the contribution of alanine to gluconeogenesis occurs almost exclusively in the liver (Stumvoll et al. 1998). In the body, the production of new glucose molecules occurs mainly through gluconeogenesis in the kidneys and liver, and to a lesser extent via glycogenolysis in the liver and skeletal muscle (Stumvoll et al. 1997). In all animals, the kidney contains very little glycogen and, therefore, produces little glucose through glycogenolysis (Stumvoll et al. 1997; Gerich 2010).

Not all AAs are used for endogenous glucose synthesis (Wu 2013a). Generally, AAs are classified as "glucogenic" or "ketogenic" based on the type of intermediates that are formed from their metabolism. Glucogenic AAs are converted into either pyruvate or one of the intermediates in the Krebs cycle. Leucine and lysine are strictly ketogenic AAs because they are catabolized to acetyl CoA (Fig. 5.1). The kidneys synthesize glucose



Fig. 5.1 The ketogenic and glucogenic- amino acids metabolism in animals. Amino acids with red color: ketogenic only; Amino acids with green color: both glucogenic and ketogenic; Amino acids with black color:

glucogenic only. G6Pase, glucose-6-phosphatase; *PCL* pyruvate carboxylase, PEPCK, phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase; *PEP* phosphoenolpyruvate, "----"denotes glucogenic reactions

from many AAs, but glutamine, alanine, glutamate, aspartate, proline, ornithine and arginine are the main AA substrates for the renal gluconeogenesis (Krebs et al. 1963). A mixture of AAs, pyruvate, lactate, and glycerol at normal plasma concentrations can support renal gluconeogenesis at an initial rate of about 0.6 µmol/min per g of kidney (Bowman 1970). As noted previously, the kidney is the major organ for gluconeogenesis from AAs in birds (Watford et al. 1981) and contributes to about 30% of the glucose produced in the starved chickens (Tinker et al. 1986). Renal gluconeogenesis is species-dependent. For example, high expression levels of FBPase and PEPCK are present in the kidneys and liver of some fish species (e.g., cod, salmons and trout), and glucose is produced from AAs (e.g., alanine and glutamine) in their kidneys and liver (Moon and Foster 1995; NRC 2011). However, in many fish species, the kidney lacks PEPCK and is not capable of gluconeogenesis from any potential substrates (Moon and Foster 1995).

Renal gluconeogenesis is regulated by some hormones. Insulin, growth hormone, cortisol, and catecholamines influence renal glucose release in the mammalian kidneys (Wirthensohn and Guder 1986; Schoolwerth et al. 1988). For example, expression of renal gluconeogenic genes in mice is inhibited by both insulin and glucose reabsorption via the inactivation of FoxO1 and PGC1 α , respectively (Sasaki et al. 2017). The regulation of gluconeogenesis from glutamine by insulin and glucose also occurs in the kidneys of humans (Stumvoll et al. 1999). All of the metabolic pathways for renal glucose synthesis and whole-body homeostasis of glucose are altered in patients with diabetes mellitus (Gerich 2010). Patients with T2DM have an increased release of glucose into the circulation by the kidneys in the fasting and postprandial states, which impairs glucose homeostasis and leads to hyperglycemia (Triscari et al. 1979; Meyer et al. 1998). Epinephrine, norepinephrine, and prostaglandin E-2 (PGE2) also regulate gluconeogenesis in fish (Enes et al. 2009). Some fish species have poor regulation of gluconeogenesis in response to starch intake, which may result from relatively high concentrations of glucogenic AAs in the diets (NRC 2011).

5.5.2 Glutamine and Glutamate

Glutamine is the one of the most important free AAs in the blood of humans and numerous animal species, and plays key roles in diverse physiological processes, including the syntheses of DNA, RNA, protein, aminosugars, NAD, and glucose (Wu 2013a). In the kidney, glutamine catabolism is initiated via four enzymes: (1) phosphate-activated glutaminase, (2) glutamine transaminases K and L, (3) glutamine: fructose-6phosphate transaminase, and (4) carbamoylphosphate synthase-II. Among these pathways, glutaminase contributes to most of glutamine degradation, which produces glutamate and NH₄⁺ primarily in the proximal tubule. (Welbourne 1974). Glutamate is catabolized by glutamate dehydrogenase to NH_4^+ and α -ketoglutarate $(\alpha$ -KG). The latter enters the Krebs cycle for oxidation to CO₂ and water. Overall, the complex oxidation of one mole of glutamine generates two moles of NH₄⁺ and 2 mol of HCO₃⁻. NH₄⁺ is directly excreted into the lumen of the renal tubule through the apical NHE3 (sodiumhydrogen exchanger-3), whereas HCO₃⁻ is returned into the blood by crossing the basolateral membrane via the electrogenic sodiumcoupled bicarbonate co-transporter (Weiner et al. 2015). In the kidneys, about 50% of NH_4^+ is reabsorbed into the blood primarily by the thick ascending limb of the loop of Henle via the apical membrane Na+-K+-2Cl- symporter (NKCC2) and NH₄⁺ transporter and the basolateral membrane NHE4 (Fig. 5.2). Similar mechanisms are also present in fish species (Claiborne et al. 1982; Evans and Cameron 1986). Because of the renal reabsorption, only about 59% of the ammonia produced by the kidneys appears in the urine. Ammonia accounts for about 10% of total renal nitrogen excretion under basal conditions, but can increase substantially under a variety of clinical conditions such as acidosis, infections, manganese deficiency, urea cycle defects, and excessive intake of dietary protein or AAs (Wu 2013a).

The reabsorption of bicarbonate (HCO_3^-) and excretion of hydrogen ions (H^+) in the kidneys play an important role in maintaining the acid– base balance (Vercoutère et al. 2004). This can be



Fig. 5.2 Integrated overview of renal ammonia metabolism. Renal ammoniagenesis occurs primarily in the proximal tubule, involving glutamine uptake, glutamine metabolism forming ammonium and bicarbonate, and apical NH_4^+ (H⁺) secretion. Note: ammonia reabsorption in

the thick ascending limb, involving apical NKCC2mediated uptake results in medullary ammonia accumulation. Ammonia is secreted in the collecting duct via parallel H⁺ and NH₃ secretion. α -KG, α -ketoglutarate

achieved partly via: (1) the regulation of glutamine uptake through the apical Na⁺-dependent neutral AA transporter-1 and the basolateral Na⁺-coupled neutral AA transporter-3 (Weiner et al. 2015); and (2) expression of glutaminase. Under acidotic conditions, glutaminase activity, along with the uptake and catabolism of glutamine by the kidney, is greatly enhanced to generate NH₃ for removing excess H⁺ as NH₄⁺ (Wu 2013a). In rats, acidotic kidneys extract glutamine and produce NH₃ at rates that are 4–5 times greater than those in nonacidotic kidneys (Welbourne 1974). An inhibition of glutamine synthetase contributes to an increase in intracellular ammonia concentration in the kidneys of acidotic rats (Hems 1972). In contrast, in response to alkalosis, the kidneys excrete more HCO_3^{-} by decreasing H⁺ secretion from the tubular epithelial cells as well as the rates of glutamine catabolism and ammonium excretion (Fig. 5.2).

Besides the kidneys, the gut and skeletal muscle also play an important role in inter-organ metabolism of glutamine, which is a major substrate for endogenous synthesis of citrulline and arginine in most mammals (Fig. 5.3). Although the small intestine takes up glutamine from the arterial blood at all times albeit at different rates, the liver either releases or takes up glutamine depending on various physiological conditions (Welbourne 1987). For example, in acidotic animals, the release of glutamine by skeletal muscle is enhanced, the liver becomes a net producer of glutamine, and the uptake of arterial glutamine by the small intestine is reduced, resulting in an increased provision of glutamine for ammoniagenesis in the kidneys. Studies with rats have



Fig. 5.3 Arginine synthesis in most mammalian animals. The small intestine of most mammals (including humans, pigs, cattle, sheep, and rats) converts glutamine and proline into citrulline, and releases citrulline into the blood. In adult mammals, the kidneys are the major site for the synthesis of arginine from citrulline. Birds lack an ability to form citrulline from glutamine or proline, but their tissues (including the kidneys are capable of converting citrulline into arginine. At present, little is known about endogenous synthesis of arginine in aquatic animals (e.g., fish and shrimp). Note: there is no net synthesis of argi-

shown that skeletal muscle and liver contribute about 55% and 45%, respectively, of the glutamine extracted by the kidneys during chronic acidosis (Schrock and Goldstein 1981). In contrast to mammals, the skeletal muscle of some fish (e.g., holostean and teleost fish) does not appear to have a net synthesis of glutamine due to a greater activity of glutaminase than glutamine synthetase (Chamberlin et al. 1991). However, this does not necessarily mean a lack of net glutamine synthesis by the skeletal muscle of aquatic animals because of the complex intracellular

nine by the liver under physiological conditions. The conversion of glutamine and glutamate into citrulline occurs exclusively in the mitochondria of enterocytes. Arginine is mainly formed from citrulline in the cytoplasm of almost all cell types. *ASL* argininosuccinate lyase, *ASS* argininosuccinate synthase, *NAG* N-acetylglutamate, *OAT* ornithine aminotransferase, *OCT* ornithine carbamoyltransferase, *PO* proline oxidase, *PDG* phosphate-activated glutaminase, *P5CS* pyrroline-5carboxylate synthase. This figure is adapted from Wu (2013a, b)

compartmentation of these two enzymes. In support of this view, Zhou et al. (2018) reported that the skeletal muscle of hybrid striped bass synthesized glutamine from branched-chain AAs as the amino-group donors and release glutamine from the tissue.

As in mammals and birds, glutamine is also crucial for the renal regulation of acid-base balance in fish (Li et al. 2020). The activities of both glutaminase and glutamine synthetase are high in the kidneys of holostean and teleost fish (Chamberlin et al. 1991). There is a metabolic channeling between glutaminase and glutamine synthetase in the kidneys of the dogfish shark to regulate their ammonia production (King and Goldstein 1983). This pathway involves the increased uptake of glutamine in the arterial blood by the kidneys and the increased degradation of glutamine into ammonia and α -KG during acidosis. However, the majority of ammonia and/ or urea is excreted across the gills rather than through the kidney in most fish species (Ip et al. 2001). Both Na⁺/H⁺ exchange and vacuolar-type H⁺-ATPase are present in the epithelium of gills to export H⁺ from the fish to the environment (Cameron and Kormanik 1982). The gills generally excrete much more acids from the body than the kidneys during acidosis, but the renal reabsorption of HCO₃⁻ is required in the systemic regulation of acid-base balance as noted previously (Perry et al. 2003).

5.5.3 Arginine and Nitric Oxide (NO) Production

Arginine is a basic AA in physiological fluids and a precursor for the syntheses of proteins, NO, urea, polyamines, proline, glutamate, creatine and agmatine (Wu and Morris 1998; Wu et al. 2009). The metabolism and functions of arginine has been well summarized (Morris Jr. 2016; Wu et al. 2009, 2016). In adult mammals, the endogenous synthesis of arginine involves the intestinalrenal axis (Reyes et al. 1994; Wu and Morris 1998; Brosnan and Brosnan 2004). Specifically, citrulline is synthesized from glutamine, glutamate and proline in the mitochondria of enterocytes, released from the small intestine, and taken up primarily by kidneys for arginine production. About 85% of the gut-derived citrulline is taken up by the kidneys for quantitative conversion into arginine, which is then released into the renal vein (Brosnan and Brosnan 2004). In neonates, most of the citrulline synthesized in enterocytes is converted locally into arginine (Wu and Knabe 1995; Wu 1997). In cats, the small intestine does not produce citrulline due to the deficiency of pyrroline-5-carboxylate (P5C) synthase, and therefore there is no *de novo* synthesis of arginine (Rogers and Phang 1985). For fish, the endogenous synthesis of arginine is likely limited (NRC 2011), but no information is available regarding P5C synthase activity in any of their tissues. It should be borne in mind that a lack of the hepatic urea cycle is not the reason for possible absence of *de novo* arginine synthesis in some fish. The fact that cats and possibly many species of fish have survived without the ability to synthesize arginine may be attributed to their usual consumption of animal-source foods (containing high-arginine content) as carnivores.

In the kidneys of mammals and birds, citrulline is readily converted into arginine via argininosuccinate synthetase and argininosuccinate lyase, which are localized in their proximal tubule (Silbernagl 1988; Brosnan and Brosnan 2004). An adult human produces about 2 g arginine/day, which is 40%–50% of 4–5 g of dietary arginine intake per day (Brosnan and Brosnan 2004). The kidneys have a high capacity for converting citrulline into arginine but arginine synthesis is limited in vivo by the rate of delivery of citrulline (Dhanakoti et al. 1990). It is unknown whether the kidneys can convert citrulline into arginine in aquatic animals (e.g., fish).

Production of arginine by the kidneys is important for the health of animals. This amino acid has versatile physiological functions directly or indirectly through its metabolites (e.g., NO, agmatine, and ornithine; Wu 2013a,b). As a signaling molecule, NO regulates blood flow, angiogenesis, embryogenesis, immune response, hormone secretion, and protein synthesis (Wu 2013a). Interestingly, the concentration of arginine in plasma declines as the aging kidneys develop progressive injury, which could contribute to endothelial dysfunction and decreased NO production in chronic renal disease (Baylis and Corman 1998). An increase in renal arginine production may serve to sustain systemic NO production in response to endotoxemia (Hallemeesch et al. 2002). As a result, arginine may be regarded as a nutritionally essential amino acid for aging subjects, and dietary supplementation with arginine may be required to maintain sufficient substrate levels for NO production (Weinstein and Anderson 2010). The reduced NO-generating

capacity in aging subjects may also result, in part, from deficiencies of NO synthase and its cofactors such as tetrahydrobiopterin and NADPH (Mistry et al. 2002; Delp et al. 2008).

5.5.4 Methylarginine and Sulfur AA Metabolism

Dimethylarginines, such as asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA), N^G-monomethyl-l-arginine (NMMA) and symmetrical dimethylarginine (SDMA), result from the degradation of methylated proteins (Wu 2013a). Production of NO from arginine is reduced by ADMA and NMMA (competitive inhibitors of NOS) as well as SDMA (an inhibitor of arginine transport) (Tsikas et al. 2018). The kidneys play an important role in the metabolism and disposal of these endogenous arginine analogues (Van De Poll et al. 2004). Moreover, the kidneys have an ability to degrade ADMA and NMMA to citrulline via N^Gdimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase. Renal excretion also plays a role in the eliminaof endogenous dimethylarginines. tion In humans, approximately 4.5% of the ADMA generated in the body is excreted in the urine, and the remainder is metabolized by the kidneys and liver (Ogawa et al. 1987; Van De Poll et al. 2004). Concentrations of free NMMA, ADMA, and SDMA in the plasma are low in healthy subjects $(<1 \mu M)$ (Wu 2013a). However, renal dysfunction elevates ADMA or NMMA levels, thereby inhibiting NO synthesis, impairing endothelial function, and promoting atherosclerosis (Sibal et al. 2010; Cooke and Ghebremariam 2011).

Arginine methylation reactions involve the modification of guanidino N atoms and require S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), which is a metabolite of methionine (Wu 2013a). In mammals, the kidneys play an important role in sulfur AA metabolism (Fig. 5.4). In the reaction catalyzed by protein arginine N-methyltransferase, SAM is converted into S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAHC). The latter is also a metabolic precursor of homocysteine in tissues. Garibotto et al. (2010) suggested that the mammal kidneys have a good

ability to remove SAHC, but not homocysteine from the bloodstream. Thus, elevated concentrations of SAHC in the whole blood are associated with renal dysfunction, and SAHC may modulate one-carbon flux (Stam et al. 2004). Considering that SAHC is a feedback inhibitor of most methyltransferases, the kidneys may play a major role in the control of the overall transmethylation rates and the circulating levels of homocysteine. Moreover, homocysteine may also inhibit N^Gdimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase, causing ADMA to accumulate and suppressing NO synthesis (Stühlinger et al. 2001; Holven et al. 2003). This could impair endothelium-mediated NO-dependent vasodilatation. Of note, the regeneration of methionine from homocysteine is regulated by the one carbon cycle which is mediated by nutrients, such as folic acid, vitamin B₁₂, and vitamin B₆. Thus, dietary supplementation with these vitamins can reduce blood homocysteine levels and provide an effective therapy to improve outcomes in patients undergoing coronary angioplasty (Schnyder et al. 2002). In addition, intake of plant-source proteins, which contain less methionine and cysteine than animal-source proteins (Hou et al. 2019; Li and Wu 2020), may be beneficial for patients with hepatic and renal diseases who have a reduced ability to metabolize homocysteine or excrete this metabolite in urine.

5.5.5 Creatine Synthesis

In mammals and birds, the kidneys participate in the inter-organ synthesis of creatine from arginine, glycine, and methionine (Fig. 5.5). This metabolic pathway requires arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT) and guanidinoacetate *N*-methyltransferase (GAMT) (Silva et al. 2014). AGAT transfers the guanidino group from arginine to glycine to produce guanidinoacetate and ornithine. This enzyme is expressed primarily in the renal tubule, pancreas, and to much lesser extent, in the liver and other tissues (Wu 2013a). The kidneys are the major site for the production of guanidinoacetate in mammals and birds, as the renal activity of AGAT is the primary



Fig. 5.4 The methylarginines and sulfur amino acid metabolism pathway in animals. Taurine is synthesized from cysteine in the liver of most mammals (except for cats and possibly some of the other carnivores) and birds. Taurine plays important roles as an antioxidant and as well as a regulator of cell signaling and metabolism in the

determinant of in vivo creatine synthesis (Wyss and Kaddurah-Daouk 2000). The liver takes up guanidinoacetate from the blood and converts this metabolite into creatine via GAMT, which requires SAM as the cofactor. In skeletal muscle, creatine is spontaneously degraded to creatinine, which is excreted in the urine. The lost creatine must be replaced from diets or de novo synthesis to maintain its total pool in the body (Barcelos et al. 2016). In rats, the kidneys produce a sufficient quantity of guanidinoacetate to replace creatinine lost in the urine (Silva et al. 2014). A 70-kg healthy adult synthesizes 1.7 g creatine per day from 2.3 g arginine, 1.0 g glycine, and 2.0 g methionine (Wu and Morris 1998) to match the daily irreversible loss of creatine (1.7 g/day) as

kidneys. *ADMA* asymmetric dimethylarginine, DDAH, N^G-dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase; H₄-folate, tetrahydro-folate; *NMMA* N^G-monomethyl-l-arginine, *NO* nitric oxide, PRMTs, protein arginine methyltransferases; *SAM S*-adenosyl-L-methionine, *SAH S*-adenosyl-L-homocysteine, *SDMA* symmetrical dimethylarginine

creatinine via the urine (Stead et al. 2006; Edison et al. 2007).

In contrast to mammals and birds, skeletal muscle is the organ for *de novo* creatine synthesis in fish. Borchel et al. (2014) reported that: (a) AGAT is nearly absent from the kidneys of the rainbow trout, (b) GAMT is weakly expressed in their liver, and (c) both AGAT and GAMT are strongly expressed in their skeletal muscle. Similar results were obtained for other four species of fish: maraena whitefsh (Coregonus maraena), pikeperch (Sander lucioperca), European perch (Perca fuviatilis), and the Atlantic herrings (Borchel et al. 2019). Thus, in the skeletal muscle of fish, the guanidinoacetate generated by AGAT is locally used for creatine production by GAMT. In these aquatic animals,



Fig. 5.5 The synthesis of creatine in animals: Creatine is synthesized from arginine, glycine, and methionine in animals via inter-organ cooperation. The creatine can be fur-

ther converted into creatinine in skeletal muscle. *AGAT* arginine:glycine amidinotransferase

besides the skeletal muscle, the kidneys also strongly express GAMT (Borchel et al. 2014, 2019) and, therefore, are capable of converting diet- and blood-derived guanidinoacetate into creatine.

In mammals, creatine synthesis is regulated by the availability of substrates and renal AGAT activity. Studies with rats have shown that the expression of this enzyme at the pre-translational level is down-regulated by dietary creatine intake but up-regulated by growth hormone (McGuire et al. 1984; Guthmiller et al. 1994; Edison et al. 2007). Thus, dietary supplementation with creatine to rats decreases renal AGAT mRNA levels and activity as well as the production of guanidinoacetate by the kidneys (Edison et al. 2007). In addition, AGAT is inhibited by ornithine (Sipilä 1980) but activated by arginine (Edison et al. 2007). Therefore, arginine supplementation enhances the production of guanidinoacetate and creatine (Edison et al. 2007), which is beneficial for endothelial function (Bodamer et al. 2005). At present, little is known about creatine biosynthesis in fish.

The main function of creatine is to store energy in tissues, primarily skeletal muscle and brain, via creatine kinase, which interconverts creatine and phosphocreatine (Brosnan and Brosnan 2016). This enzyme is expressed at high levels in most of the cells and tissues that have high energy requirements, including the brain, kidneys, retinal photoreceptor cells, spermatozoa, testis, uterus, placenta, sensory hair cells of the inner ear, as well as skeletal, cardiac, and smooth muscles (Wu 2013a). Because of the action of creatine kinase, the concentration of ATP in the brain varies little despite large and rapid changes in turnover rates (Kekelidze et al. 2001). For example, the rate of the creatine kinase-catalyzed reaction rapidly increases with increased ATP demand (e.g., in seizures) but decreases with decreased ATP synthesis (e.g., hypoxia). In a resting state, skeletal muscle transfers excessive ATP to creatine, generating phosphocreatine; in a physically active state, skeletal muscle hydrolyzes phosphocreatine, releasing energy. Approximately 95% of creatine plus phosphocreatine in the body is present in skeletal muscle and brain, indicating the importance of creatine in maintaining ATP homeostasis.

5.5.6 Tyrosine Synthesis

The sources of tyrosine can be diets, protein breakdown, and phenylalanine hydroxylation. The liver and kidneys express phenylalanine hydroxylase, which irreversibly converts phenylalanine into tyrosine (Hufton et al. 1995). In female rats, the kidney (and the liver) is devoid of phenylalanine hydroxylase on Day 20 of gestation, but at birth contains 20% of the adult activity (McGee et al. 1972). In contrast to the liver, the kidneys have a limited ability to degrade tyrosine (Møller et al. 2000; Boirie et al. 2004). In adults, the kidneys extract phenylalanine from the blood and release tyrosine (Kopple 2007). In the post-absorptive state, the human kidneys synthesize an appreciable amount of tyrosine from phenylalanine at the rate of 5.2 µmol/min, compared with the rate of 3.0 µmol/min in the splanchnic bed (the portal-drained viscera plus liver; Møller et al. 2000). Humans and other animals (e.g., dogs and rats) with renal and hepatic disease may be at risk for phenylalanine overloading and tyrosine deficiency (Møller et al. 2000; Kopple 2007), raising the possibility that tyrosine is a nutritionally essential AA under these conditions (e.g., end-stage renal disease; Kopple 2007). The rate of conversion of phenylalanine into tyrosine is approximately 50% lower in patients with end-stage renal disease in comparison with healthy subjects (Boirie et al. 2004). Tyrosine has important physiological functions, including the syntheses of thyroid hormones and neurotransmitters (Wu 2013a,b). In chronic kidney failure, the concentrations of tyrosine and the ratio of tyrosine/phenylalanine are reduced in plasma and many tissues, with either no change or an increase in phenylalanine concentrations (Kopple 2007).

5.5.7 Glycine and Serine Synthesis

Glycine plays an important role in metabolic regulation, anti-oxidative reactions, and neurological function, such as (1) preventing tissue injury; (2) enhancing anti-oxidative capacity; (3) promote protein synthesis and wound healing; (4) improving immunity; and (5) treating metabolic disorders in obesity, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, ischemia-reperfusion injuries, cancers, and various inflammatory diseases (Wang et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2014a,b). Typical intake of dietary glycine meets at most 20% and 14% of daily glycine needs in young pigs (Hou et al. 2015a) and adult humans (Wu 2020b). Thus, these mammals must synthesize a majority of glycine needed daily to ensure their optimal health, growth, and feed efficiency (Li and Wu 2018). Available evidence shows that glycine is a nutritionally essential AA for maximal protein accretion in milk-fed piglets (Wang et al. 2014a).

The pathways for glycine synthesis via different sources are summarized in Fig. 5.6. In rats, the metabolism of hydroxyproline by the kidneys may contribute to a significant production of both glycine and serine. All the enzymes (hydroxyproline oxidase, hydroxyoxoglutarate aldolase, and alanine glyoxalate transaminase) involved in the metabolism of hydroxyproline to glycine are present in the kidneys and cortical tubules (Lowry et al. 1985). Alanine-glyoxylate aminotransferase is responsible for the nearly irreversible transfer of the amino group from alanine to glyoxylate, yielding glycine and pyruvate (Wang et al. 2013). Therefore, the rate of hydroxyproline metabolism is increased by alanine as a nitrogen donor (Lowry et al. 1985). Wu et al. (2019) have estimated that dietary plus endogenously-derived hydroxyproline contributes to most (64%) of the total glycine synthesis in 7-day-old pigs, whereas glucose plus gluta-



Fig. 5.6 The synthesis of glycine and serine from hydroxyproline, choline or D-3-phosphoglycerate. These synthetic pathways in mammals, fish and birds are cell- and tissue- specific. *SHMT* serine hydroxymethyl transferase

mate contributes to $\sim 25\%$ of total glycine synthesis in the neonates. Consistent with this view, milk and plasma contain large amounts of hydroxyproline-rich small peptides (Hu et al. 2017).

There are multiple pathways to degrade glycine in mammals and birds (Coon et al. 1974; Wu 2013a). In the liver and kidneys of these animals, glycine can be converted into serine by serine hydroxymethyl transferase at a low rate or degraded to NH₃ and CO₂ by glycine cleavage system (GCS) at a higher rate, with the regeneration of tetrahydrofolate. The low activities of renal GCS and serine hydroxymethyl transferase are necessary for the net production of glycine by the kidneys (Lowry et al. 1985; Wu et al. 2019). Thus, although the kidneys of mammals and birds may release serine into the blood circulation, the concentration of serine in plasma is enhanced only moderately by dietary glycine supplementation (Wang et al. 2013). Interestingly, the kidneys of fish have a higher activity of serine dehydratase (converting serine into pyruvate and NH_4^+) as compared with mammals, and are a major site for serine catabolism in the body (Jürss and Bastrop 1995).

5.5.8 Branched-Chain Amino Acid (BCAA) Metabolism

BCAAs play an important role in whole-body nitrogen metabolism under both physiological and pathological conditions (Cano et al. 2006). In dogs, the kidneys take up BCAAs (valine, leucine, and isoleucine) after consuming AAs in a meal (Kuhlmann and Kopple 1990). In the postabsorptive state, whole-blood-renal AA exchanges are characterized by the release of leucine from the kidneys that accounts for one-third of whole-body leucine production, with no net renal exchange for valine or isoleucine (Tizianello et al. 1983). This indicates a different metabolic fate of leucine than the other two BCAAs in the kidneys. The plasma pool of BCAAs in the postabsorptive state is regulated by their release from tissues (e.g., skeletal muscle and kidneys) due to proteolysis, their uptakes by the tissues, and their oxidation in a tissue-specific manner (Felig 1975; Abumrad and Miller 1983; Price et al. 1998). Catabolic factors, such as acidosis and inflammation, are responsible for increases in intramuscular protein breakdown and BCAA degradation (Kopple et al. 2005), in association with an enhanced activity of branched-chain α-ketoacid (BCKA) dehydrogenase (May et al. 1987; Lim et al. 1998). In mammals and birds, BCKAs are extensively oxidized to CO2 and water in the kidneys due to a high activity of BCKA dehydrogenase. Likewise, in fish species, the kidneys seem to be important for the catabolism of BCAAs because a high activity of BCAA transaminase is present in the posterior kidney (Hughes et al. 1984). Dietary supplementation with leucine or valine increases the activity of BCAA transaminase in the posterior kidney of Lake trout, Salvelinus namaycush (Hughes et al. 1984). Thus, in all animal species studied, the kidneys play an important role in regulating whole-body BCAA homeostasis.

5.5.9 Homoarginine Synthesis

L-Homoarginine (hArg) has an additional –CH2 group on its main carbon chain than L-arginine. Thus, hArg is a structural homologue of arginine. Synthesis of hArg by rats and humans was discovered by Ryan and Wells (1964), with the major sites of synthesis including the kidneys and liver (Ryan et al. 1968, 1969; Hou et al. 2015b). Less than 0.025% and < 0.045% of ingested arginine is metabolized to hArg in pigs and rats, respectively (Hou et al. 2016). Concentrations of hArg in plasma are relatively low (approximately 2 μ M) in healthy humans (Marescau et al. 1985) and rats (Hou et al. 2015b), increase up to 20 μ M in hyperargininemic patients (Marescau et al.

1985), and decrease in diabetic mice (Wetzel et al. 2019). The enzyme responsible for hArg synthesis in animals is unknown, but there are suggestions that mitochondrial arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT) catalyzes the transfer of the amidino group from L-arginine to L-lysine to form hArg, with L-ornithine being a product (Tsikas and Wu 2015). The concentrations of hArg in the brain, kidney and liver of rats are about 1.5, 100 and 115 µM, respectively (Hou et al. 2015b). Although AGAT activity in the liver is 20 times greater than that in the kidneys, concentrations of hArg in the liver are only 15% greater than those in the kidneys, possibly due a relatively low concentration of arginine in the liver (~0.05 mM) as compared with a much higher concentration (~1.5 mM) in the kidneys, and (b) the possibility of a higher rate of hArg catabolism in the liver than in the kidney.

hArg can regulate the metabolism of arginine and other nutrients by inhibiting arginine transport across the cell membranes, arginase, as well as liver and bone alkaline phosphohydrolases, while serving as a substrate for NO synthase (Tsikas et al. 2018). Whether hArg has a beneficial or an adverse effect on NO production likely depends on cell type, extracellular and intracellular concentrations of arginine, and activities of competing pathways for hArg and arginine metabolism. There is evidence that low concentrations of hArg in plasma are associated with a high risk of cardiovascular (Atzler et al. 2015) and renal (Wieczorek-Surdacka et al. 2019) diseases in humans and animals. Accordingly, dietary supplementation with hArg [via either drinking water (50 mg/L) or a mini-osmotic pump (0.72 mg/kg body weight per day)] for 12 weeks prevents kidney damage in diabetic mice (Wetzel et al. 2019).

5.6 Benefits of AAs on Renal Function

The current recommended protein intake for healthy adult humans with minimal physical activity is 0.8 to 1.0 g/kg body weight/day (Wu 2016). Excessive protein intake may promote

renal damage by chronically increasing glomerular pressure and hyperfiltration in mammals (Brenner et al. 1982; Martin et al. 2005; Beasley et al. 2014). In dogs, transition from a carbohydrate meal to a meat meal resulted in a 50–100% increase in glomerular filtration rate (GFR; King and Levey 1993). High protein intake may accelerate renal disease in adults with mild renal insufficiency or in peritoneal dialysis patients, leading to a progressive loss of renal capacity and function (Johnson et al. 2003; Knight et al. 2003). In another study, increased GFR and renal hypertrophy as well as hormonal changes occur at moderate rates after the consumption of a high-protein diet (e.g., 2.6 g protein/kg body weight/day vs 0.1 to 0.4 and 1.0 to 1.4 g protein/kg body weight/ day for 2 weeks; King and Levey 1993; Martin et al. 2005). However, an early study indicated that glucagon, insulin and growth hormone were not involved in an increase of GFR induced by protein intake (Bergstrom et al. 1985), indicating a complex interplay among nutritional and physiological factors. Reddy et al. (2002) reported that consumption of low-carbohydrate and highprotein diets (19 g carbohydrate and 164 g protein for the first 2 weeks and 33 g carbohydrate and 170 g protein for the subsequent 4 weeks) increased risks for stone formation and bone loss, compared with a regular (control) diet (285 g carbohydrate and 91 g protein). However, interpretation of this result is confounded because the dietary intakes of energy and minerals (including calcium) were lower in the high-protein group, compared with the control group. Nonetheless, dietary protein restriction is a common treatment for patients with renal disease by alleviating uremic symptoms due to the better control of hyperparathyroidism, hyperphosphatemia and hyperkalemia as well as improvements in the epithelial integrity of the renal tubule (Pedrini et al. 1996; Chauveau et al. 2007). Changes from a low to a high intake of dietary protein can allow for adaptive alterations in renal size and function without adverse effects (Skov et al. 1999). Results of clinical studies indicate that consumption of a weight-loss diet containing 90-120 g protein per day does not affect renal function in overweight subjects or in obese adults with type-II diabetes,

compared with the counterparts consuming 55–70 g protein per day (Wu 2016). Aquatic animals naturally require 100–200% greater dietary protein than land mammals (Wu 2018), it is unclear whether such a high intake of protein over a prolonged period of time may adversely affect the health of fish and shrimp. Thus, it is important to study the roles of AAs not only as major metabolic fuels for the kidneys of aquatic animals but also as protectors of their renal health.

Restricted intakes of dietary protein below physiological requirements for AAs may be harmful to health by accelerating the development of protein-energy wasting, leading to adverse consequences such as malnutrition and increased risk for death (Garibotto 1999). Protein-energy wasting is a strong predictor of the adverse outcomes that are characterized by a decline in body protein mass and energy reserves. Unfortunately, this metabolic condition is often under-appreciated in early to moderate stages of chronic kidney disease (Kovesdy et al. 2013). A protein-restricted diet supplemented with some AAs or the α -ketoacids or hydroxyacid analogues of AAs (e.g., phenylalanine and methionine) may have potential beneficial effects on improving renal function and survival (Abel, et al. 1973; King and Levey 1993). For example, oral administration of tyrosine, tyrosine-containing dipeptides, or N-acetyl-tyrosine can replete the plasma and intracellular pools of tyrosine and improve nitrogen balance in chronic renal failure patients on a low protein diet (Druml et al. 1989). The AA supplements for those patients include valine, leucine, isoleucine, phenylalanine, threonine, tryptophan, lysine, methionine, tyrosine, and histidine (Alvestrand et al. 1983; Cano et al. 2006). Patients with chronic kidney disease on dialysis have been recommended to reduce protein intake from 1.2 to < 0.8 or even < 0.6 g/kg body weight per day (Kalantar-Zadeh et al. 2011). BCAA and BCKA supplements may be integrated into a therapeutic strategy that includes protein restriction for these subjects (Cano et al. 2006). However, high levels of dietary BCAAs can exert a deleterious effect on renal disease and should be avoided at all times (Pillai and Verrey 2019).

Functional AAs hold great promise in prevention and treatment of metabolic diseases, such as renal dysfunction (Wu 2013b). A deficiency of AAs or glutathione depletion may contribute to disturbances in renal structure and function (Epstein et al. 1982). An increase in renal blood flow in response to a short-term AA infusion can protect the kidneys from acute ischemic insults in animal models (King and Levey 1993). Glycine has a positive effect on reducing medullary injury in perfused kidneys (Silva et al. 1991) and mild ischemia-reperfusion injury in the kidneys in vivo, in part by decreasing initial damage and preventing chronic hypoxia (Yin et al. 2002). Thus, glycine can be used to prevent or treat ischemic and/or toxin-induced injury to the kidneys. Similarity, Baines et al. (1990) reported that small neutral AAs, such as glycine and alanine, prevented tubular disruption through their physicochemical effects on stabilizing the tertiary structure of membrane proteins. Some AAs play a role in the renal cell cycle and apoptosis, function as osmolytes during the stress response, scavenge reactive oxygen species (ROS), and modulate blood flow (Chesney et al. 2010). For example, taurine reduces oxidant levels in diabetic nephropathy (Trachtman et al. 1995), and protects against Cd-induced renal oxidative damages (Manna et al. 2009) or cyclosporine Ainduced hypertension and nephrotoxicity (Hagar et al. 2006). In addition, arginine corrects renal failure-associated endothelial dysfunction (Hand et al. 1998) and hypertension (Wu et al. 2000). L-Citrulline may also be beneficial for ameliorating renal disorders, while facilitating the removal of ammonia through arginine synthesis by proximal renal tubules and other cell types.

5.7 Functions of AAs in the Immune System of Fish Kidneys

As noted previously, the anterior (head) kidney is an important immune organ in fish, in addition to their thymus and spleen. The head kidney contains cytokine-producing T-lymphocytes (T-cells), antibody-producing B-lymphocytes

(B-cells), and ROS-producing macrophages (Shoemaker et al. 2015). Protein synthesis in immunocytes require AAs. Our recent studies have shown that AAs, such as glutamate and glutamine, are more important energy substrates than glucose and fatty acids in the kidneys of fish (Jia et al. 2017). These findings indicate an essential role of the head kidney and AAs in innate and adaptive immunities in fish. There are many lines of evidence that functional AAs have beneficial effects on the immune system of fish via improving the kidney functions. For example, arginine stimulates the proliferation of T-lymphocytes in response to mitogens (Ochoa et al. 2001) and increases the number of cell surface receptors in fish (Cheng et al. 2011). In Jian carp, the transcript levels of inflammatory response genes in the head kidney are up-regulated by increasing dietary arginine intake (Chen et al. 2015). In addition, glutamine supplementation improves the development of B-cells in the head kidney of fish in the head kidney (Hu et al. 2015). Similarly, glutamine supplementation promotes the development of the head kidney in channel catfish (Pohlenz et al. 2012). Finally, leucine suppleantioxidant mentation augments activities, immune-gene expression, and ant-inflammatory responses in the head kidney of Labeo rohita fingerlings (Giri et al. 2015). Thus, AAs and their metabolism in the kidneys play an important role in mounting immune responses to challenges by bacterial, viral, parasitic, and fungal pathogens.

5.8 Conclusion and Perspectives

Results from studies with humans and different animal species indicate that the kidneys play a vital role in AA metabolism and hemostasis through the following mechanisms: the reabsorption of free AAs and other nutrients by the proximal tubules into the blood; the production of glucose from AAs via gluconeogenesis; regulation of the acid-base balance via the inter-organ metabolism of glutamine; the synthesis of arginine from citrulline and the conversion of arginine into NO; the generation of polyamines from arginine and ornithine; the generation of tyrosine



Fig. 5.7 The diseases development from the impaired amino acids metabolism in kidney dysfunction (like chronic kidney failure). *ADMA* asymmetric dimethylarginine, BCAAs, branched-chain amino acids

from phenylalanine; glycine and serine syntheses; the catabolism of BCAAs; the metabolism of methylarginines and sulfur AAs; ATP production; and immune response. Renal dysfunction alters the pathways of AA metabolism and, therefore, whole-body AA homeostasis, leading to health problems, including excessive muscle protein breakdown, inflammation, mitochondrial dysfunction, impaired immune system, and cardiovascular diseases (Fig. 5.7). Although a reduced intake of protein is usually recommended to subjects with chronic renal failure in humans and other mammals, moderate supplementation with AAs (including valine, leucine, isoleucine, phenylalanine, threonine, tryptophan, lysine, methionine, tyrosine, histidine, glycine, glutamine, and taurine) may provide a beneficial effect to meet physiological requirements.

Most of the knowledge on renal AA metabolism was gained from studies with land mammals and birds. At present, little is known about AA synthesis or catabolism in the kidneys of fish. In aquatic animals, the nutritional values of AAs are often evalu-

ated on the basis of growth, protein accretion, survival, immunity, anti-oxidative ability, or meat quality. We propose that protective effects of AAs on renal structure and function should also be an important criterion with which to assess dietary requirements of fish for these nutrients. It is likely that renal AA metabolism differs between fish and terrestrial animals. Although much research has been done with humans, mice and rats regarding the roles of the gut, intestinal microbiome, liver, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue in metabolic disorders (including diseases), there is only a limited number of published studies regarding the improvement of renal functions in livestock and poultry production or aquaculture (Wu 2020a). Further studies are warranted to address this critical issue in order to further enhance the quantity and sustainability of animal production.

Acknowledgments We thank students and research assistants in our laboratory for helpful discussions. Financial support by Guangdong Yeuhai Feeds Group Co., Ltd. is gratefully appreciated.

References

- Abel RM, Beck CH Jr, Abbott WM, Ryan JA Jr, Barnett GO, Fischer JE (1973) Improved survival from acute renal failure after treatment with intravenous essential L-amino acids and glucose: results of a prospective, double-blind study. N Engl J Med 288:695–699
- Abumrad NN, Miller B (1983) The physiologic and nutritional significance of plasma-free amino acid levels. J Parent Ent Nutr 7:163–170
- Afsar B, Vaziri ND, Aslan G, Tarim K, Kanbay M (2016) Gut hormones and gut microbiota: implications for kidney function and hypertension. J Am Soc Hypertens 10:954–961
- Ahmed SB, Ramesh S (2016) Sex hormones in women with kidney disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant 31:1787–1795
- Alvestrand A, Fürst P, Bergström J (1983) Intracellular amino acids in uremia. Kidney Int 16(Suppl):S9–S16
- Anderson JW, Stowring LI (1973) Glycolytic and gluconeogenic enzyme activities in renal cortex of diabetic rats. Am J Phys 224:930–936
- Anderson PA, Berzins IK, Fogarty F, Hamlin HJ, Guillette LJ Jr (2011) Sound, stress, and seahorses: the consequences of a noisy environment to animal health. Aquaculture 311:129–138
- Atzler D, Schwedhelm E, Choe CU (2015) L-Homoarginine and cardiovascular disease. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 18:83–88
- Baines AD, Shaikh N, Ho P (1990) Mechanisms of perfused kidney cytoprotection by alanine and glycine. Am J Phys 259:F80–F87
- Barcelos RP, Stefanello ST, Mauriz JL, Gonzalez-Gallego J, Soares FA (2016) Creatine and the liver: metabolism and possible interactions. Minirev Med Chem 16:12–18
- Baylis C, Corman B (1998) The aging kidney: insights from experimental studies. J Am Soc Nephrol 9:699–709
- Beasley JM, Katz R, Shlipak M, Rifkin DE, Siscovick D, Kaplan R (2014) Dietary protein intake and change in estimated GFR in the cardiovascular health study. Nutrition 30:794–799
- Belhadj Slimen I, Najar T, Ghram A, Abdrrabba M (2016) Heat stress effects on livestock: molecular, cellular and metabolic aspects, a review. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr 100:401–412
- Bergstrom J, Ahlberg M, Alvestrand A (1985) Influence of protein intake on renal hemodynamics and plasma hormone concentrations in normal subjects. Acta Med Scand 217:189–196
- Blokhuis HJ, Hopster H, Geverink NA, Korte SM, Van Reenen CG (1998) Studies of stress in farm animals. Comp Haematol Int 8:94–101
- Bodamer OA, Sahoo T, Beaudet AL, O'Brien WE, Bottiglieri T, Stöckler-Ipsiroglu S, Wagner C, Scaglia F (2005) Creatine metabolism in combined methylmalonic aciduria and homocystinuria. Ann Neurol 57:557–560

- Boirie Y, Albright R, Bigelow M, Nair KS (2004) Impairment of phenylalanine conversion to tyrosine inend-stage renal disease causing tyrosine deficiency. Kidney Int 66:591–596
- Boll M, Daniel H, Gasnier B (2004) The SLC36 family: proton-coupled transporters for the absorption of selected amino acids from extracellular and intracellular proteolysis. Pflugers Arch 447:776–779
- Borchel A, Verleih M, Rebl A, Kühn C, Goldammer T (2014) Creatine metabolism differs between mammals and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Springerplus 3:510
- Borchel A, Verleih M, Kühn C, Rebl A, Goldammer T (2019) Evolutionary expression differences of creatine synthesis-related genes: implications for skeletal muscle metabolism in fish. Sci Rep 9:5429
- Bowman RH (1970) Gluconeogenesis in the isolated perfused rat kidney. J Biol Chem 245:1604–1612
- Brenner BM, Meyer TW, Hostetter TH (1982) Dietary protein intake and the progressive nature of kidney disease: the role of hemodynamically mediated glomerular injury in the pathogenesis of progressive glomerular sclerosis in aging, renal ablation, and intrinsic renal disease. N Engl J Med 307:652–659
- Bröer S (2006) The SLC6 orphans are forming a family of amino acid transporters. Neurochem Int 48:559–567
- Bröer S (2008) Amino acid transport across mammalian intestinal and renal epithelia. Physiol Rev 88:249–286
- Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT (2004) Renal arginine metabolism. J Nutr 134:2791S–2795S
- Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT (2016) The role of dietary creatine. Amino Acids 48:1785–1791
- Cameron JN, Kormanik GA (1982) The acid-base responses of gills and kidneys to infused acid and base loads in the channel catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus*. J Exp Biol 99:143–160
- Cano NJ, Fouque D, Leverve XM (2006) Application of branched-chain amino acids in human pathological states: renal failure. J Nutr 136:2998–3078
- Chamberlin ME, Glemet HC, Ballantyne JS (1991) Glutamine metabolism in a holostean (*Amia calva*) and teleost fish (*Salvelinus namaycush*). Am J Phys 260:R159–R166
- Chauveau P, Combe C, Rigalleau V, Vendrely B, Aparicio M (2007) Restricted protein diet is associated with decrease in proteinuria: consequences on the progression of renal failure. J Renal Nutr 17:250–257
- Chen G, Liu Y, Jiang J, Jiang W, Kuang S, Tang L, Tang W, Zhang YA, Zhou X, Feng L (2015) Effect of dietary arginine on the immune response and gene expression in head kidney and spleen following infection of Jian carp with *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Fish Shellfish Immunol 44:195–202
- Cheng Z, Buentello A, Gatlin DM III (2011) Effects of dietary arginine and glutamine on growth performance, immune responses and intestinal structure of red drum, *Sciaenops ocellatus*. Aquaculture 319:247–252
- Chesney RW, Han X, Patters AB (2010) Taurine and the renal system. J Biomed Sci 17:S4

- Claiborne JB, Evans DH, Goldstein L (1982) Fish branchial Na⁺/NH₄⁺ exchange is via basolateral Na+-K+activated ATPase. J Exp Biol 96:431–434
- Cooke JP, Ghebremariam YT (2011) DDAH says NO to ADMA. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 31:1462–1464
- Coon CN, Luther LW, Couch JR (1974) Effect of glycine and serine in synthetic amino acid diets upon glycine and serine metabolism in chicks. J Nutr 104:1018–1023
- Cullen-McEwen L, Sutherland MR, Black MJ (2016) The human kidney: parallels in structure, spatial development, and timing of nephrogenesis. In: Little MH (ed) Kidney development, disease, repair and regeneration. Academic, New York, pp 27–40
- Daniel H, Spanier B, Kottra G, Weitz D (2006) From bacteria to man: archaic proton-dependent peptide transporters at work. Physiology 21:93–102
- Davidson A (2014) J: kidney regeneration in fish. Nephron Exp Nephrol 126:45–49
- Delp MD, Behnke BJ, Spier SA, Wu G, Muller-Delp JM (2008) Aging diminishes endothelium-dependent vasodilation and tetrahydrobiopterin content in rat skeletal muscle arterioles. J Physiol 586:1161–1168
- Denic A, Glassock RJ, Rule AD (2016) Structural and functional changes with the aging kidney. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 23:19–28
- Dhanakoti SN, Brosnan JT, Herzberg GR, Brosnan ME (1990) Renal arginine synthesis: studies in vitro and in vivo. Am J Phys 259:E437–E442
- Dressler GR (2006) The cellular basis of kidney development. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 22:509–529
- Druml W, Roth E, Lenz K, Lochs H, Kopsa H (1989) Phenylalanine and tyrosine metabolism in renal failure: dipeptides as tyrosine source. Kidney Int 27(Suppl):S282–S286
- Drummond IA (2005) Kidney development and disease in the zebrafish. J Am Soc Nephrol 16:299–304
- Edison EE, Brosnan ME, Meyer C, Brosnan JT (2007) Creatine synthesis: production of guanidinoacetate by the rat and human kidney in vivo. Am J Phys 293:F1799–F1804
- Enes P, Panserat S, Kaushik S, Oliva-Teles AA (2009) Nutritional regulation of hepatic glucose metabolism in fish. Fish Physiol Biochem 35:519–539
- Epstein FH, Brosnan JT, Tange JD, Ross BD (1982) Improved function with amino acids in the isolated perfused kidney. Am J Phys 243:F284–F292
- Evans DH (2002) Osmoregulation by vertebrates in aquatic environments. Encycl Life Sci:1–4
- Evans DH, Cameron JN (1986) Gill ammonia transport. J Exp Zool 239:17–23
- Felig P (1975) Amino acid metabolism in man. Annu Rev Biochem 44:933–955
- Garibotto G (1999) Muscle amino acid metabolism and the control of muscle protein turnover in patients with chronic renal failure. Nutrition 15:145–155
- Garibotto G, Sofia A, Saffioti S, Bonanni A, Mannucci I, Verzola D (2010) Amino acid and protein metabolism in the human kidney and in patients with chronic kidney disease. Clin Nutr 29:424–433

- Gerich JE (2010) Role of the kidney in normal glucose homeostasis and in the hyperglycaemia of diabetes mellitus: therapeutic implications. Diabetic Med 27:136–142
- Giri SS, Sen SS, Chi C, Kim HJ, Yun S, Park SC, Sukumaran V (2015) Effect of dietary leucine on the growth parameters and expression of antioxidant, immune, and inflammatory genes in the head kidney of Labeo rohita fingerlings. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 167:36–43
- Guthmiller P, Van Pilsum JF, Boen JR, McGuire DM (1994) Cloning and sequencing of rat kidney L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase. Studies on the mechanism of regulation by growth hormone and creatine. J Biol Chem 269:17556–17560
- Hagar HH, El Etter E, Arafa M (2006) Taurine attenuates hypertension and renal dysfunction induced by cyclosporine a in rats. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 33:189–196
- Hallemeesch MM, Soeters PB, Deutz NE (2002) Renal arginine and protein synthesis are increased during early endotoxemia in mice. Am J Phys 282:F316–F323
- Hand MF, Haynes WG, Webb DJ (1998) Hemodialysis and L-arginine, but not D-arginine, correct renal failure-associated endothelial dysfunction. Kidney Int 53:1068–1077
- Hems DA (1972) Metabolism of glutamine and glutamic acid by isolated perfused kidneys of normal and acidotic rats. Biochem J 130:671–680
- Holven KB, Haugstad TS, Holm T, Aukrust P, Ose L, Nenseter MS (2003) Folic acid treatment reduces elevated plasma levels of asymmetric dimethylarginine in hyperhomocysteinaemic subjects. Br J Nutr 89:359–363
- Hou YQ, Yin YL, Wu G (2015a) Dietary essentiality of "nutritionally nonessential amino acids" for animals and humans. Exp Biol Med 240:997–1007
- Hou YQ, Jia SC, Nawaratna G, Hu SD, Dahanayaka S, Bazer FW, Wu G (2015b) Analysis of L-homoarginine in biological samples by HPLC involving pre-column derivatization with *o*-phthalaldehyde and *N*-acetyl-Lcysteine. Amino Acids 47:2005–2014
- Hou YQ, Hu SD, Jia SC, Nawaratna G, Che DS, Wang FL, Bazer FW, Wu G (2016) Whole-body synthesis of L-homoarginine in pigs and rats supplemented with L-arginine. Amino Acids 48:993–1001
- Hou YQ, He WL, Hu SD, Wu G (2019) Composition of polyamines and amino acids in plant-source foods for human consumption. Amino Acids 51:1153-1165
- Hu K, Zhang JX, Feng L, Jiang WD, Wu P, Liu Y, Jiang J, Zhou XQ (2015) Effect of dietary glutamine on growth performance, non-specific immunity, expression of cytokine genes, phosphorylation of target of rapamycin (TOR), and anti-oxidative system in spleen and head kidney of Jian carp (*Cyprinus carpio* var. Jian). Fish Physiol Biochem 41:635–649
- Hu S, Nawaratna G, Long BD, Bazer FW, Johnson GA, Brosnan JT, Wu G (2017) The hydroxyproline–glycine pathway for glycine synthesis in neonatal pigs. J Anim Sci 95:45

- Hufton SE, Jennings IG, Cotton RG (1995) Structure and function of the aromatic amino acid hydroxylases. Biochem J 311:353–366
- Hughes SG, Rumsey GL, Nesheim MC (1984) Effects of dietary excesses of branched-chain amino acids on the metabolism and tissue composition of lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*). Comp Biochem Physiol A 78:413–418
- Hyodo S, Kakumura K, Takagi W, Hasegawa K, Yamaguchi Y (2014) Morphological and functional characteristics of the kidney of cartilaginous fishes: with special reference to urea reabsorption. Am J Phys 307:R1381–R1395
- Ip YK, Chew SF, Randall DJ (2001) Ammonia toxicity, tolerance, and excretion. Fish Physiol 20:109–148
- Jia SC, Li XY, Zheng SX, Wu G (2017) Amino acids are major energy substrates for tissues of hybrid striped bass and zebrafish. Amino Acids 49:2053–2063
- Johnson DW, Mudge DW, Sturtevant JM, Hawley CM, Campbell SB, Isbel NM, Hollett P (2003) Predictors of decline of residual renal function in new peritoneal dialysis patients. Perit Dial Int 23:276–283
- Jürss K, Bastrop R (1995) Amino acid metabolism in fish. In: Hochachka PW, Mommsen TP (eds) Biochemistry and molecular biology of fishes, vol 4, pp 159–189
- Kalantar-Zadeh K, Cano NJ, Budde K, Chazot C, Kovesdy CP, Mak RH, Mehrotra R, Raj DS, Sehgal AR, Stenvinkel P, Ikizler TA (2011) Diets and enteral supplements for improving outcomes in chronic kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol 7:369–384
- Kekelidze T, Khait I, Togliatti A, Benzecry JM, Wieringa B, Holtzman D (2001) Altered brain phosphocreatine and ATP regulation when mitochondrial creatine kinase is absent. J Neurosci Res 66:866–872
- Kierszenbaum AL, Tres L (2015) Histology and cell biology: an introduction to pathology E-book. Elsevier Health Sciences
- King PA, Goldstein LE (1983) Renal ammoniagenesis and acid excretion in the dogfish, Squalus acanthias. Am J Physiol 245:R581–R589
- King AJ, Levey AS (1993) Dietary protein and renal function. J Am Soc Nephrol 3:1723–1737
- Kirchner S, Panserat S, Lim PL, Kaushik S, Ferraris RP (2008) The role of hepatic, renal and intestinal gluconeogenic enzymes in glucose homeostasis of juvenile rainbow trout. J Comp Physiol B 178:429–438
- Knight EL, Stampfer MJ, Hankinson SE, Spiegelman D, Curhan GC (2003) The impact of protein intake on renal function decline in women with normal renal function or mild renal insufficiency. Ann Intern Med 138:460–467
- Knox D, Walton MJ, Cowey CB (1980) Distribution of enzymes of glycolysis and gluconeogenesis in fish tissues. Mar Biol 56:7–10
- Kopple JD (2007) Phenylalanine and tyrosine metabolism in chronic kidney failure. J Nutr 137:1586S–1590S
- Kopple JD, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Mehrotra R (2005) Risks of chronic metabolic acidosis in patients with chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int 67:S21–S27

- Kovesdy CP, Kopple JD, Kalantar-Zadeh K (2013) Management of protein-energy wasting in nondialysis-dependent chronic kidney disease: reconciling low protein intake with nutritional therapy. Am J Clin Nutr 97:1163–1177
- Krebs HA, Bennett DA, De Gasquet P, Gascoyne T, Yoshida T (1963) Renal gluconeogenesis. The effect of diet on the gluconeogenic capacity of rat-kidneycortex slices. Biochem J 86:22–27
- Kuhlmann MK, Kopple JD (1990) Amino acid metabolism in the kidney. Semin Nephrol 10:445–457
- Kum C, Sekkin S (2011) The immune system drugs in fish: immune function, immunoassay, drugs. In: Aral F, Dogu Z (eds) Recent advances in fish farms, pp 169–216
- Kumar V, Sahu NP, Pal AK, Kumar S, Sinha AK, Ranjan J, Baruah K (2010) Modulation of key enzymes of glycolysis, gluconeogenesis, amino acid catabolism, and TCA cycle of the tropical freshwater fish Labeo rohita fed gelatinized and non-gelatinized starch diet. Fish Physiol Biochem 36:491–499
- Levey AS, Becker C, Inker LA (2015) Glomerular filtration rate and albuminuria for detection and staging of acute and chronic kidney disease in adults: a systematic review. JAMA 313:837–846
- Levillain O, Parvy P, Hassler C (1997) Amino acid handling in uremic rats: citrulline, a reliable marker of renal insufficiency and proximal tubular dysfunction. Metabolism 46:611–618
- Li P, Wu G (2018) Roles of dietary glycine, proline, and hydroxyproline in collagen synthesis and animal growth. Amino Acids 50:29–38
- Li P, Wu G (2020) Composition of amino acids and related nitrogenous nutrients in feedstuffs for animal diets. Amino Acids 52:523–542
- Li XL, Zheng SX, Wu G (2020) Nutrition and metabolism of glutamate and glutamine in fish. Amino Acids 52:671–691
- Lim VS, Yarasheski KE, Flanigan MJ (1998) The effect of uraemia, acidosis, and dialysis treatment on protein metabolism: a longitudinal leucine kinetic study. Nephrol Dial Transplant 13:1723–1730
- Lowry M, Hall DE, Brosnan JT (1985) Hydroxyproline metabolism by the rat kidney: distribution of renal enzymes of hydroxyproline catabolism and renal conversion of hydroxyproline to glycine and serine. Metabolism 34:955–961
- Mahasen LM (2016) Evolution of the kidney. Anat Physiol Biochem Int J 1:555554
- Manna P, Sinha M, Sil PC (2009) Taurine plays a beneficial role against cadmium-induced oxidative renal dysfunction. Amino Acids 36:417–428
- Marescau B, Qureshi IA, De Deyn P, Letarte J, Ryba R, Lowenthal A (1985) Guanidino compounds in plasma, urine and cerebrospinal fluid of hyperargininemic patients during therapy. Clin Chim Acta 146:21–27
- Martin WF, Armstrong LE, Rodriguez NR (2005) Dietary protein intake and renal function. Nutr Metab 2:25
- May RC, Hara Y, Kelly RA, Block KP, Buse MG, Mitch WE (1987) Branched-chain amino acid metabolism

in rat muscle: abnormal regulation in acidosis. Am J Phys 252:E712–E718

- McDonald KM, Miller PD, Anderson RJ, Berl T, Schrier RW (1976) Hormonal control of renal water excretion. Kidney Int 10:38–45
- McGee MM, Greengard O, Knox WE (1972) The quantitative determination of phenylalanine hydroxylase in rat tissues. Its developmental formation in liver. Biochem J 127:669–674
- McGuire DM, Gross MD, Van Pilsum JF, Towle HC (1984) Repression of rat kidney L-arginine: glycine amidinotransferase synthesis by creatine at a pretranslational level. J Biol Chem 259:12034–12038
- McNeal CJ, Meininger CJ, Wilborn CD, Tekwe CD, Wu G (2018) Safety of dietary supplementation with arginine in adult humans. Amino Acids 50:1215-1229
- Meyer C, Stumvoll M, Nadkarni V, Dostou J, Mitrakou A, Gerich J (1998) Abnormal renal and hepatic glucose metabolism in type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest 102:619–624
- Mistry SK, Greenfeld Z, Morris SM Jr, Baylis C (2002) The 'intestinal–renal'arginine biosynthetic axis in the aging rat. Mech Ageing Dev 123:1159–1165
- Mitrakou A (2011) Kidney: its impact on glucose homeostasis and hormonal regulation. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 93:S66–S72
- Møller N, Meek S, Bigelow M, Andrews J, Nair KS (2000) The kidney is an important site for in vivo phenylalanine-to-tyrosine conversion in adult humans: a metabolic role of the kidney. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:1242–1246
- Moon TW, Foster GD. Tissue carbohydrate metabolism, gluconeogenesis and hormonal and environmental influences. In: Biochemistry and molecular biology of fishes, PW Hochachka and TP Mommsen. 1995; 4: 65-100. Elsevier, New York
- Morris SM Jr (2016) Arginine metabolism revisited. J Nutr 146:2579S–2586S
- National Research Council (2011) Nutrient requirements of fish and shrimp. National Academies Press, Washington, DC
- Ochoa JB, Strange J, Kearney P, Gellin G, Endean E, Fitzpatrick E (2001) Effects of L-arginine on the proliferation of T lymphocyte subpopulations. J Parent Enteral Nutr 25:23–29
- Ogawa T, Kimoto M, Watanabe H, Sasaoka K (1987) Metabolism of NG, NG-and NG, NG-dimethylarginine in rats. Arch Biochem Biophys 252:526–537
- Palacín M, Estévez R, Bertran J, Zorzano A (1998) Molecular biology of mammalian plasma membrane amino acid transporters. Physiol Rev 78:969–1054
- Pandey G, Madhuri S (2014) Heavy metals causing toxicity in animals and fishes. Res J Anim Vet Fish Sci 2:17–23
- Pedrini MT, Levey AS, Lau J, Chalmers TC, Wang PH (1996) The effect of dietary protein restriction on the progression of diabetic and nondiabetic renal diseases: a meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 124:627–632
- Perry SF, Shahsavarani A, Georgalis T, Bayaa M, Furimsky M, Thomas SL (2003) Channels, pumps,

and exchangers in the gill and kidney of freshwater fishes: their role in ionic and acid-base regulation. J Exp Zool A 300:53–62

- Pillai S, Verrey F (2019) Dietary amino acids affect the rate of chronic kidney disease progression in rats. FASEB J 33(Suppl 1):570.1
- Pohlenz C, Buentello A, Criscitiello MF, Mwangi W, Smith R, Gatlin DM III (2012) Synergies between vaccination and dietary arginine and glutamine supplementation improve the immune response of channel catfish against *Edwardsiella ictaluri*. Fish Shellfish Immunol 33:543–551
- Pollock AS (1989) Induction of renal phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase mRNA: suppressive effect of glucose. Am J Phys 257:F145–F151
- Price SR, Wang XI, Bailey JL (1998) Tissue-specific responses of branched-chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase activity in metabolic acidosis. J Am Soc Nephrol 9:1892–1898
- Reddy ST, Wang CY, Sakhaee K, Brinkley L, Pak CY (2002) Effect of low-carbohydrate high-protein diets on acid-base balance, stone-forming propensity, and calcium metabolism. Am J Kidney Dis 40:265–274
- Reyes AA, Karl IE, Klahr SA (1994) Role of arginine in health and in renal disease. Am J Phys 267:F331–F346
- Rogers QR, Phang JM (1985) Deficiency of pyrroline-5carboxylate synthase in the intestinal mucosa of the cat. J Nutr 115:146–150
- Ryan WL, Wells IC (1964) Homocitrulline and homoarginine synthesis from lysine. Science 144:1122–1123
- Ryan WL, Barak AJ, Johnson RJ (1968) Lysine, homocitrulline, and homoarginine metabolism by the isolated perfused rat liver. Arch Biochem Biophys 123:294–297
- Ryan WL, Johnson RJ, Dimari S (1969) Homoarginine synthesis by rat kidney. Arch Biochem Biophys 131:521–526
- Sasaki M, Sasako T, Kubota N, Sakurai Y, Takamoto I, Kubota T, Inagi R, Seki G, Goto M, Ueki K, Nangaku M (2017) Dual regulation of gluconeogenesis by insulin and glucose in the proximal tubules of the kidney. Diabetes 66:2339–2350
- Schnyder G, Roffi M, Flammer Y, Pin R, Hess OM (2002) Effect of homocysteine-lowering therapy with folic acid, vitamin B12, and vitamin B6 on clinical outcome after percutaneous coronary intervention: the Swiss Heart study: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 288:973–979
- Schoolwerth AC, Smith BC, Culpepper RM (1988) Renal gluconeogenesis. Miner Electrolyte Metab 14:347–361
- Schrock H, Goldstein LE (1981) Interorgan relationships for glutamine metabolism in normal and acidotic rats. Am J Phys 240:E519–E525
- Seely JC (2017) A brief review of kidney development, maturation, developmental abnormalities, and drug toxicity: juvenile animal relevancy. J Toxicol Pathol 30:125–133
- Shen CS, Mistry SP (1979) Development of gluconeogenic, glycolytic, and pentose-shunt enzymes in the chicken kidney. Poult Sci 58:663–667

- Shoemaker C, Xu DH, LaFrentz B, LaPatra S (2015) Overview of fish immune system and infectious diseases. In: Lee CS, CLim DM, III G, Webster CD (eds) Dietary nutrients, additives and fish health. Wiley, Hoboken, pp 1–24
- Sibal L, Agarwal SC, Home PD, Boger RH (2010) The role of asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) in endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular disease. Curr Cardiol Rev 6:82–90
- Silbernagl ST (1988) The renal handling of amino acids and oligopeptides. Physiol Rev 68:911–1007
- Silva P, Rosen S, Spokes K, Epstein FH (1991) Effect of glycine on medullary thick ascending limb injury in perfused kidneys. Kidney Int 39:653–658
- Silva RP, Clow K, Brosnan JT, Brosnan ME (2014) Synthesis of guanidinoacetate and creatine from amino acids by rat pancreas. Br J Nutr 111:571–577
- Sipilä I (1980) Inhibition of arginine-glycine amidinotransferase by ornithine. A possible mechanism for the muscular and chorioretinal atrophies in gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina with hyperornithinemia. Biochim Biophys Acta 613:79–84
- Skov AR, Toubro S, Bülow J, Krabbe K, Parving HH, Astrup A (1999) Changes in renal function during weight loss induced by high vs low-protein low-fat diets in overweight subjects. Int J Obesity 23:1170–1177
- Stam F, van Guldener C, Wee PM, Kulik W, Smith DE, Jakobs C, Stehouwer CD, de Meer K (2004) Homocysteine clearance and methylation flux rates in health and end-stage renal disease: association with S-adenosylhomocysteine. Am J Phys 287:F215–F223
- Stead LM, Brosnan JT, Brosnan ME, Vance DE, Jacobs RL (2006) Is it time to reevaluate methyl balance in humans? Am J Clin Nutr 83:5–10
- Stühlinger MC, Tsao PS, Her JH, Kimoto M, Balint RF, Cooke JP (2001) Homocysteine impairs the nitric oxide synthase pathway: role of asymmetric dimethylarginine. Circulation 104:2569–2575
- Stumvoll M, Meyer C, Mitrakou A, Nadkarni V, Gerich JE (1997) Renal glucose production and utilization: new aspects in humans. Diabetologia 40:749–757
- Stumvoll M, Meyer C, Perriello G, Kreider M, Welle S, Gerich J (1998) Human kidney and liver gluconeogenesis: evidence for organ substrate selectivity. Am J Phys 274:E817–E826
- Stumvoll M, Perriello G, Meyer C, Gerich J (1999) Role of glutamine in human carbohydrate metabolism in kidney and other tissues. Kidney Int 55:778–792
- Sun MS, Pan CJ, Shieh JJ, Ghosh A, Chen LY, Mansfield BC, Ward JM, Byrne BJ, Chou JY (2002) Sustained hepatic and renal glucose-6-phosphatase expression corrects glycogen storage disease type la in mice. Hum Mol Genet 11:2155–2164
- Tangri N, Stevens LA, Griffith J, Tighiouart H, Djurdjev O, Naimark D, Levin A, Levey AS (2011) A predictive model for progression of chronic kidney disease to kidney failure. JAMA 305:1553–1559
- Tinker DA, Brosnan JT, Herzberg GR (1986) Interorgan metabolism of amino acids, glucose, lactate, glycerol

and uric acid in the domestic fowl (Gallus domesticus). Biochem J 240:829–836

- Tizianello A, Deferrari G, Garibotto G, Robaudo C, Lutman M, Passerone G, Bruzzone M (1983) Branched-chain amino acid metabolism in chronic renal failure. Kidney Int 16:S17–S22
- Trachtman H, Futterweit S, Maesaka J, Ma C, Valderrama E, Fuchs A, Tarectecan AA, Rao PS, Sturman JA, Boles TH (1995) Taurine ameliorates chronic streptozocin-induced diabetic nephropathy in rats. Am J Phys 269:F429–F438
- Triscari J, Stern JS, Johnson PR, Sullivan AC (1979) Carbohydrate metabolism in lean and obese Zucker rats. Metabolism 28:183–189
- Tsikas D, Wu G (2015) Homoarginine, arginine, and relatives: analysis, metabolism, transport, physiology, and pathology. Amino Acids 47:1697–1702
- Tsikas D, Bollenbach A, Hanff E, Kayacelebi AA (2018) Asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA), symmetric dimethylarginine (SDMA) and homoarginine (hArg): the ADMA, SDMA and hArg paradoxes. Cardiovasc Diabetol 17:1
- Upadhyay K, Silverstein DM (2014) Renal development: a complex process dependent on inductive interaction. Curr Pediatr Rev 10:107–114
- Van De Poll MC, Soeters PB, Deutz NE, Fearon KC, Dejong CH (2004) Renal metabolism of amino acids: its role in interorgan amino acid exchange. Am J Clin Nutr 79:185–197
- Vercoutère B, Durozard D, Baverel G, Martin G (2004) Complexity of glutamine metabolism in kidney tubules from fed and fasted rats. Biochem J 378:485–495
- Verrey F, Ristic Z, Romeo E, Ramadan T, Makrides V, Dave MH, Wagner CA, Camargo SM (2005) Novel renal amino acid transporters. Annu Rev Physiol 67:557–572
- Verrey F, Singer D, Ramadan T, Vuille-dit-Bille RN, Mariotta L, Camargo SM (2009) Kidney amino acid transport. Pflugers Arch 458:53–60
- Wang W, Wu Z, Dai Z, Yang Y, Wang J, Wu G (2013) Glycine metabolism in animals and humans: implications for nutrition and health. Amino Acids 45:463–477
- Wang W, Wu Z, Lin G, Hu S, Wang B, Dai Z, Wu G (2014a) Glycine stimulates protein synthesis and inhibits oxidative stress in pig small intestinal epithelial cells. J Nutr 144:1540–1548
- Wang W, Dai Z, Wu Z, Lin G, Jia S, Hu S, Dahanayaka S, Wu G (2014b) Glycine is a nutritionally essential amino acid for maximal growth of milk-fed young pigs. Amino Acids 46:2037–2045
- Watford M, Hod Y, Chiao YB, Utter MF, Hanson RW (1981) The unique role of the kidney in gluconeogenesis in the chicken. The significance of a cytosolic form of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase. J Biol Chem 256:10023–10027
- Watowich SS (2011) The erythropoietin receptor: molecular structure and hematopoietic signaling pathways. J Investig Med 59:1067–1072

- Webster AC, Nagler EV, Morton RL, Masson P (2017) Chronic kidney disease. Lancet 389:1238–1252
- Weiner ID, Mitch WE, Sands JM (2015) Urea and ammonia metabolism and the control of renal nitrogen excretion. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 10:1444–1458
- Weinstein JR, Anderson S (2010) The aging kidney: physiological changes. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 17:302–307
- Welbourne TC (1974) Ammonia production and pathways of glutamine metabolism in the isolated perfused rat kidney. Am J Phys 226:544–548
- Welbourne TC (1987) Interorgan glutamine flow in metabolic acidosis. Am J Phys 253:F1069–F1076
- Wetzel MD, Gao T, Venkatachalam M, Morris SM Jr, Awad AS (2019) L-Homoarginine supplementation prevents diabetic kidney damage. Physiol Rep 7:e14235
- Wieczorek-Surdacka E, Hanff E, Chyrchel B, Kuźniewski M, Surdacki A, Tsikas D (2019) Distinct associations between plasma osteoprotegerin, homoarginine and asymmetric dimethylarginine in chronic kidney disease male patients with coronary artery disease. Amino Acids 51:977–982
- Wirthensohn GA, Guder WG (1986) Renal substrate metabolism. Physiol Rev 66:469–497
- Wu G, Knabe DA (1995) Arginine synthesis in enterocytes of neonatal pigs. Am J Physiol 269:R621-R629
- Wu G (1997) Synthesis of citrulline and arginine from proline in enterocytes of postnatal pigs. Am J Phys 272:G1382–G1390
- Wu G (2013a) Amino acids: biochemistry and nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Wu G (2013b) Functional amino acids in nutrition and health. Amino Acids 45:407–411
- Wu G (2016) Dietary protein intake and human health. Food Funct 7:1251–1265
- Wu G (2020a) Management of metabolic disorders (including metabolic diseases) in ruminant and nonruminant animals. In: Bazer FW, Lamb GC, Wu G (eds) Animal agriculture: challenges, innovations, and sustainability. Elsevier, New York, pp 471–492

- Wu G (2020b) Important roles of dietary taurine, creatine, carnosine, anserine and hydroxyproline in human nutrition and health. Amino Acids 52:329-360
- Wu G, Morris SM (1998) Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. Biochem J 336:1–17
- Wu G, Meininger CJ, Knabe DA, Baze FW, Rhoads MJ (2000) Arginine nutrition in development, health and disease. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 3:59–66
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Davis TA, Kim SW, Li P, Rhoads JM, Satterfield MC, Smith SB, Spencer TE, Yin Y (2009) Arginine metabolism and nutrition in growth, health and disease. Amino Acids 37:153–168
- Wu ZL, Hou YQ, Hu SD, Bazer FW, Meininger CJ, McNeal CJ, Wu G (2016) Catabolism and safety of supplemental L-arginine in animals. Amino Acids 48:1541–1552
- Wu G (2018) Principles of Animal Nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florid
- Wu ZL, Hou YQ, Dai ZL, Hu CA, Wu G (2019) Metabolism, nutrition, and redox signaling of hydroxyproline. Antioxid Redox Signal 30:674–682
- Wyss M, Kaddurah-Daouk R (2000) Creatine and creatinine metabolism. Physiol Rev 80:1107–1213
- Yánez AJ, Nualart F, Droppelmann C, Bertinat R, Brito M, Concha II, Slebe JC (2003) Broad expression of fructose-1, 6-bisphosphatase and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase provide evidence for gluconeogenesis in human tissues other than liver and kidney. J Cell Physiol 197:189–197
- Yin M, Zhong Z, Connor HD, Bunzendahl H, Finn WF, Rusyn I, Li X, Raleigh JA, Mason RP, Thurman RG (2002) Protective effect of glycine on renal injury induced by ischemia-reperfusion in vivo. Am J Phys 282:F417–F423
- Young GA (1991) Amino acids and the kidney. Amino Acids 1:183–192
- Zhou CP, Song F, Wu G (2018) Catabolism of branchedchain amino acids in tissues of hybrid striped bass (*Morone chrysops x M. Saxatilis*). Aquaculture America Annual Meeting, Las Vegas, Feb. 19–22, 2018

Amino Acids in Health and Endocrine Function

Nick E. Flynn, Max H. Shaw, and Jace T. Becker

Abstract

Dietary amino acids play an important role in maintaining health. Branched chain amino acids can adversely increase blood pressure whereas arginine and citrulline can reduce it. D-amino acids play important roles in several cell types including testis, the nervous system and adrenal glands. Several amino acids also can have dramatic effects on diabetes; branched chain amino acids, phenylalanine and tyrosine have been implicated while others, namely arginine and citrulline can improve outcomes. Leucine has been shown to play important roles in muscle primarily through the mTOR pathway though this effect does not translate across every population. Glutamine, arginine and D-aspartate also exert their muscle effects through mTOR. Relationships between amino acids and endocrine function include that of glucocorticoids, thyroid function, glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1), ghrelin, insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and leptin. Leucine, for example, can alleviate the effect of dexamethasone on muscle protein accretion. Interestingly, amino acid transporters play an important role in thyroid function. Several amino acids have been shown to

N. E. Flynn (⊠) · M. H. Shaw · J. T. Becker Department of Chemistry and Physics, West Texas A&M University, Canyon, TX, USA e-mail: nflynn@wtamu.edu increase GLP-1 levels in non-diabetics when administered orally. Similarly, several amino acids increase ghrelin levels in different species while cysteine can decrease it in mice. There is evidence to suggest that the arginine/ NO pathway may be involved in modulating some of the effects of ghrelin on cells. In regard to IGF-1, branched chain amino acids can increase levels in adults while tryptophan and phenylalanine have been shown to increase levels in infants. Finally, leptin levels can be elevated by branched chain amino acids while restricting leucine in high fat diets can increase leptin sensitivity.

Keywords

Dietary · Hypertension · D-amino acid · Diabetes · mTOR · Glucocorticoids · Thyroid · Glucagon like protein-1 · Ghrelin and leptin

Abbreviations

NO	nitric oxide
IGF-1	insulin-like growth factor 1
GLP1	Glucagon-like peptide 1
BCAA	branched chain amino acids

G. Wu (ed.), *Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2_6

Check for updates

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

6.1 Introduction

The primary purpose of this review is to provide a broad update on the impact of amino acids on both health and endocrine function. This article intentionally does not focus on detailed molecular mechanisms related to these aspects of amino acids in relation to health as there are other reviews that effectively accomplish this (Wu 2009, El Hiani et al. 2019; Agostinelli 2020). With regard to amino acids in health, we will cover dietary amino acids, hypertension, D-amino acids, diabetes and muscle amino acid sensing. In regard to endocrine function we will cover glucocorticoids, thyroid function, glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1), ghrelin, insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and leptin.

6.2 Dietary Amino Acids and Health: An Update

Both the source and corresponding intake of amino acids are known to affect health (Wu 2016, 2020). A summary of the effects discussed here can be found in Table 6.1. Recent studies suggest a link between dietary amino acid intake and a variety of health parameters including: bone mineral density, signalling molecule levels, cellular pathways, hypertension and reproduction. It is important to emphasize that the source of dietary amino acids (e.g. plant vs animal) has been shown to have a significant impact on the incidence of diabetes in epidemiology studies (Ke et al. 2018). Analysis of amino acid intake using discordant twins suggest that intake of certain amino acids, namely alanine, arginine, glycine, leucine and lysine, are associated with higher bone mineral density (Jennings et al. 2016).

Several studies suggest that amino acid intake can affect hormone and cytokine levels. Administering purified amino acids to broiler chickens elevated IGF-1 levels while reducing IFN- γ and TNF- α levels compared to control. This supplementation also led to increased carcass and breast weight (Wandita et al. 2018). Administration of a mixed amino acid solution to dairy cattle followed by ghrelin injection led to

marked increases in insulin and glucagon accompanied by a greater decline in plasma glucose (Fukumori et al. 2011). When L-theanine, an amino acid in tea leaves (Wu 2013), is administered to performance athletes, a decrease in postexercise IL-10 levels which suggests that it exerts an effect on cellular TH1/TH2 balance (Juszkiewicz et al. 2019). Conversely, administration of β -alanine during military training led to an increase in IL-10 in soldiers (Hoffman et al. 2018). There are, however, conflicting results as to whether arginine supplementation in healthy individuals can affect growth hormone, IGF-1 and insulin production (da Silva et al. 2014). The effects of arginine on individuals likely depend on their nutritional and physiological status. For example, oral arginine has been shown to actually reduce growth hormone levels after resistance training in strength trained males (Forbes et al. 2014). In obese subjects, dietary supplementation with 30 g arginine/day for 90 days did not affect the concentrations of insulin, growth hormone, or thyroid stimulating hormone in serum, but reduced systolic blood pressure and serum glucose concentration in females, as well as serum concentrations of free fatty acids in both males and females (McNeal et al. 2018).

Administration of dietary amino acids based on prior studies, however, does not always provide the same clinical result in select patient populations. Arginine and lysine, both known for their ability to stimulate growth hormone secretion in other studies, could not mediate an increase in growth hormone secretion in elderly heart failure patients (Smeets et al. 2017).

Some of the effects of dietary amino acids actually start at the sensory level of the tongue. T1R1 and T1R3 receptors on the tongue detect amino acids in food while various organs (intestine, pancreas and heart) are capable of detecting extracellular amino acids. Furthermore, there are mechanisms in the body including GCN2, LYNUS and mTOR which can adjust cellular pathways based upon amino acid sensing and Lushchak provides a good review of these mechanisms in relation to amino acid sensing (Lushchak et al. 2019).

Elevated dietary intake of aromatic amino acids, specifically phenylalanine obtained from

Dietary Amino Acid(s) Species/Subjects/Cell types Positive effect (improvement) response) Ala, Arg, Gly, Leu and Lys Human Bone density N/A Purified amino acids Broiler Chickens IGF-1 Carcass and breast weight IFN-7 and TNF-α Mixed amino acid solution + ghrclin injection Dairy cattle Insulin Glucagon Plasma glucose L-Theanine Performance athletes Brain function IL-10 N/A Arginine Resistance trained males Growth hormone N/A Arginine and Lysine Elderly heart failure patients No effect on growth hormone at the dose used N/A Arginine + B vitamins Human Reduced blood pressure N/A Cysteine Human (obese) N/A Mileser Ie, Leu, Val, Tyr and Phe Hypertensive patients N/A glucose at high dose Branched chain amino acids + high fat diet Human (obese) N/A Obesity-induced insulin resistance Leucine Mice Improved glucose tolerance and insulin signaling N/A Citrulline and Citrulline + Arginine Humans Reduced blood glucose				Negative effect (adverse
Ala, Arg, Gly, Leu and Lys Human Bone density N/A Purified amino acids Broiler Chickens IGF-1 Carcass and breast weight IFN-γ and TNF-α Mixed amino acids olution + ghrelin injection Dairy cattle Insulin Glucagon Plasma glucose B-Alamine Performance athletes Brain function IL-10 N/A Arginine Military training IL-10 N/A Arginine and Lysine Elderly heart failure patients No effect on growth hormone at the dose used N/A Aromatic amino acids Human Reproductive system N/A Cysteine Human Reproductive system N/A Cysteine Human Reduced blood pressure N/A Citrulline Prehypertensive patients N/A Magnet dasting blood glucose at high dose Branched chain amino acids + high fat diet Mice Improved glucose tolerance N/A Citrulline and Citrulline + Arginine Humans Reduced holod glucose N/A Citrulline and Citrulline + Arginine Humans Reduced holod glucose N/A Citrulline and Citrulline + Arginine Humans Reduced blood glucose N/A Citrulline and Citrulline + Arginine Type 2 diabetic rats sensecnce Reduced blood glucose N/A	Dietary Amino Acid(s)	Species/Subjects/Cell types	Positive effect (improvement)	response)
Purified amino acids Broiler Chickens IGF-1 Carcass and breast weight IFN-γ and TNF-α Mixed amino acid solution + ghrelin injection Dairy cattle Insulin Glucagon Plasma glucose L-Theanine Performance athletes Brain function IL-10 N/A Arginine Resistance trained males Growth hormone N/A Arginine and Lysine Elderly heart failure patients No effect on growth hormone at the dose used N/A Aromatic amino acids Human Reproductive system N/A Arginine + B vitamins Humans Reduced blood pressure N/A Citrulline Prehypertensive and hypertensive patients N/A Impaired fasting blood glucose at high dose Branched chain amino acids + high fat diet Human (obese) N/A Obesity-induced insulin resistance Leucine Type 2 diabetic rats Reduced hood glucose tolerance and insulin signaling N/A Glutamine Humans Reduced blood glucose N/A Guroutine + trapinine Type 2 diabetic rats Reduced blood glucose N/A Glutamine Humans Improved insulin sign	Ala, Arg, Gly, Leu and Lys	Human	Bone density	N/A
Nixed amino acid solution + ghrelin injectionDairy cattleInsulin GlucagonPlasma glucoseL-TheaninePerformance athletesBrain functionL-10β-AlanineMilitary trainingIL-10N/AArginineResistance trained malesGrowth hormoneN/AArginine and LysineElderly heart failure patientsNo effect on growth hormone at the dose usedN/AAromatic amino acidsHumanBlood pressureN/ACysteineHumanReproductive systemN/ACysteine + B vitaminsHumansReduced blood pressureN/ACitrullinePrehypertensive and hypertensive patientsN/AImpaired fasting blood glucose at high doseBrached chain amino acids + high fat dietHuman (obese)N/AObesity-induced insulin resistanceLeucineMiceImproved glucose tolerance and insulin signalingN/ACitrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced holod glucoseN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced dolod glucoseN/ALeucineHumanReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineHumansGlucagon like protein accretionN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced dolod glucoseN/ALeucineHumansGlucagon like protein-1N/ALeucineHumansGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlutamineHealthy humansGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlutamineHealthy humansGlucagon like protein	Purified amino acids	Broiler Chickens	IGF-1 Carcass and breast	IFN- γ and TNF- α
Mixed amino acid solution Darry cattle Insulin Glucagon Plasma glucose L-Theanine Performance athletes Brain function IL-10 N/A β-Alanine Military training IL-10 N/A Arginine Resistance trained males Growth hormone N/A Arginine and Lysine Elderly heart failure patients No effect on growth hormone at the dose used N/A Aromatic amino acids Human Blood pressure N/A Arginine + B vitamins Humans Reduced blood pressure N/A Citrulline Prehypertensive and hypertensive patients Reduced blood pressure N/A Ile, Leu, Val, Tyr and Phe Hypertensive patients N/A Impaired fasting blood glucose at high dose Branched chain amino acids + high fat diet Improved glucose tolerance and insulin signaling N/A Citrulline and Citrulline + Arginine Type 2 diabetic rats Reduced blood glucose N/A Glutamine Healthy humans Reduced blood glucose N/A Leucine Ulured cells			weight	
L-Theanine Performance athletes Brain function IL-10 β-Alanine Military training IL-10 N/A Arginine Resistance trained males Growth hormone N/A Arginine and Lysine Elderly heart failure patients No effect on growth hormone at the dose used N/A Aromatic amino acids Human Blood pressure N/A Cysteine Humans Reduced blood pressure N/A Citrulline Prehypertensive and hypertensive patients Reduced blood pressure N/A Ile, Leu, Val, Tyr and Phe Hypertensive patients N/A Impaired fasting blood glucose at high dose Branched chain amino acids + high fat diet Mice Improved glucose tolerance and insulin signaling N/A Citrulline and Citrulline + Arginine Type 2 diabetic rats Reduced endothelial senescence N/A Arginine Humans Improved insulin sensitivity/ sceretion N/A Glutamine Healthy humans Reduced blood glucose N/A Leucine + Vitamin D Older male humans Muscle protein synthesis N/A Leucine	Mixed amino acid solution + ghrelin injection	Dairy cattle	Insulin Glucagon	Plasma glucose
β-Alanine Military training IL-10 N/A Arginine Resistance trained males Growth hormone N/A Arginine and Lysine Elderly heart failure patients No effect on growth hormone at the dose used N/A Aromatic amino acids Human Blood pressure N/A Cysteine Human Reduced blood pressure N/A Arginine + B vitamins Humans Reduced blood pressure N/A Citrulline Prehypertensive patients N/A Impaired fasting blood glucose at high dose Branched chain amino acids + high fat diet Mice Improved glucose tolerance and insulin signaling N/A Citrulline and Citrulline + Type 2 diabetic rats Reduced blood glucose N/A Arginine Humans Improved insulin sensitivity/ sceretion N/A Glutamine Healthy humans Reduced blood glucose N/A Leucine Ultured cells Muscle protein synthesis N/A Glutamine Healthy humans Glucagon like protein-1 N/A Leucine Vipephan Humans Glucag	L-Theanine	Performance athletes	Brain function	IL-10
ArginineResistance trained malesGrowth hormoneN/AArginine and LysineElderly heart failure patientsNo effect on growth hormone at the dose usedN/AAromatic amino acidsHumanBlood pressureN/ACysteineHumanReproductive systemN/ACysteineHumansReduced blood pressureN/ACitrullinePrehypertensive and hypertensive patientsReduced blood pressureN/AIle, Leu, Val, Tyr and PheHypertensive patientsN/AImpaired fasting blood glucose at high doseBranched chain amino acids + high fat dietMiceImproved glucose tolerance and insignalingN/ACitrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced blood glucoseN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineMiceImproved insulin signalingN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucine + Vitamin DOlder male humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein synthesisN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AIleucine + Vitamin DOlder male humansGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlutamineType chabeterGlucagon like protein-1N/ATryptophanHumansGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlutamineType chabeterN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin	β-Alanine	Military training	IL-10	N/A
Arginine and LysineElderly heart failure patientsNo effect on growth hormone at the dose usedN/AAromatic amino acidsHumanBlood pressureN/AAromatic amino acidsHumanReproductive systemN/AArginine + B vitaminsHumansReduced blood pressureN/ACitrullinePrehypertensive and hypertensive patientsReduced blood pressureN/AIle, Leu, Val, Tyr and PheHypertensive patientsN/AImpaired fasting blood glucose at high doseBranched chain amino acids + high fat dietMiceImproved glucose tolerance and insulin signalingN/ACitrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced blood glucoseN/AGlutamineHealthy humansImproved insulin sensitivity/ sceretionN/AGlutamineHealthy humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineGlutamineType 2 diabetic ratsMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucineHumansGlucagon like protein-1N/ALeucineKibeepGhrelin releaseN/ACitrullineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1MASheepGhrelin releaseN/ALeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCitrullineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCitrulline and Citrulline +Reduced blood glucose <td< td=""><td>Arginine</td><td>Resistance trained males</td><td>Growth hormone</td><td>N/A</td></td<>	Arginine	Resistance trained males	Growth hormone	N/A
Patientshormone at the dose usedAromatic amino acidsHumanBlood pressureN/ACysteineHumansReproductive systemN/AArginine + B vitaminsHumansReduced blood pressureN/ACitrullinePrehypertensive and hypertensive patientsReduced blood pressureN/AIle, Leu, Val, Tyr and PheHypertensive patientsN/AImpaired fasting blood glucose at high doseBranched chain amino acids + high fat dietHuman (obese)N/AObesity-induced insulin resistanceLeucineMiceImproved glucose tolerance and insulin signalingN/ACitrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced blood glucoseN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineHumans skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ACitrulline + Vitamin DOlder male humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineUcutred cellsMuscle protein-1N/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlucagon like protein-1N/A <td>Arginine and Lysine</td> <td>Elderly heart failure</td> <td>No effect on growth</td> <td>N/A</td>	Arginine and Lysine	Elderly heart failure	No effect on growth	N/A
Aromatic amino acidsHumanBlood pressureN/ACysteineHumanReproductive systemN/AArginine + B vitaminsHumansReduced blood pressureN/ACitrullinePrehypertensive and hypertensive patientsReduced blood pressureN/AIle, Leu, Val, Tyr and PheHypertensive patientsN/AImpaired fasting blood glucose at high doseBranched chain amino acids + high fat dietMiceImproved glucose tolerance and insulin signalingN/ACitrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced endothelial senescenceN/AGlutamineHealthy humansImproved insulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineUnder male humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineUltured cellsMuscle protein-1N/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/ALeucineMiceM/AGlucagon like protein-1N/ATryptophan of LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin releaseGlu, Glu, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/ACysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin		patients	hormone at the dose used	
CysteineHumanReproductive systemN/AArginine + B vitaminsHumansReduced blood pressureN/ACitrullinePrehypertensive and hypertensive patientsReduced blood pressureN/AIle, Leu, Val, Tyr and PheHypertensive patientsN/AImpaired fasting blood glucose at high doseBranched chain amino acids + high fat dietHuman (obese)N/AObesity-induced insulin resistanceLeucineMiceImproved glucose tolerance and insulin signalingN/ACitrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced endothelial seenescenceN/AGlutamineHealthy humansImproved insulin sensitivity/ secretionN/ALeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/ALeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsTyptophanHumansGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Glu, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/ACysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsDecineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ALeucineInfantsIGF-1N/ALeucineNodiabeticsLeptin <td< td=""><td>Aromatic amino acids</td><td>Human</td><td>Blood pressure</td><td>N/A</td></td<>	Aromatic amino acids	Human	Blood pressure	N/A
Arginine + B vitaminsHumansReduced blood pressureN/ACitrullinePrehypertensive and hypertensive patientsReduced blood pressureN/AIle, Leu, Val, Tyr and PheHypertensive patientsN/AImpaired fasting blood glucose at high doseBranched chain amino acids + high fat dietHuman (obese)N/AObesity-induced insulin resistanceLeucineMiceImproved glucose tolerance and insulin signalingN/ACitrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced endothelial senescenceN/AArginineHumansReduced blood glucoseN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucine + Vitamin DOlder male humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/ALeucineHumans Keletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ACitrudine mineHealthy humansGlucagon like protein-1N/AIcucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Glu, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/ATryptophan or LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsTryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acids <td>Cysteine</td> <td>Human</td> <td>Reproductive system</td> <td>N/A</td>	Cysteine	Human	Reproductive system	N/A
CitrullinePrehypertensive and hypertensive patientsReduced blood pressureN/AIle, Leu, Val, Tyr and PheHypertensive patientsN/AImpaired fasting blood glucose at high doseBranched chain amino acids + high fat dietHuman (obese)N/AObesity-induced insulin resistanceLeucineMiceImproved glucose tolerance and insulin signalingN/ACitrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced endothelial senescenceN/AArginineHumansImproved insulin sensitivity secretionN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein-1N/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlutamineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsTryptophanHumansGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin levelsN/ACysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsTryptophan or LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsTryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/A <td>Arginine + B vitamins</td> <td>Humans</td> <td>Reduced blood pressure</td> <td>N/A</td>	Arginine + B vitamins	Humans	Reduced blood pressure	N/A
Ile, Leu, Val, Tyr and PheHypertensive patientsN/AImpaired fasting blood glucose at high doseBranched chain amino acids + high fat dietHuman (obese)N/AObesity-induced insulin resistanceLeucineMiceImproved glucose tolerance and insulin signalingN/ACitrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced endothelial senescenceN/AArginineHumansImproved insulin sensitivity/ secretionN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein synthesisN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein-1N/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/ATryptophanHumansGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlucagon like protein-1N/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaNondiabeticsLeptinBranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ALoucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ALoucineResistance trained menIGF-	Citrulline	Prehypertensive and hypertensive patients	Reduced blood pressure	N/A
Branched chain amino acids + high fat dietHuman (obese)N/AObesity-induced insulin resistanceLeucineMiceImproved glucose tolerance and insulin signalingN/ACitrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced endothelial senescenceN/AArginineHumansImproved insulin sensitivity/ secretionN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/ATryptophan or LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/APhenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levels	Ile, Leu, Val, Tyr and Phe	Hypertensive patients	N/A	Impaired fasting blood glucose at high dose
LeucineMiceImproved glucose tolerance and insulin signalingN/ACitrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced endothelial senescenceN/AArginineHumansImproved insulin sensitivity/ secretionN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucine + Vitamin DOlder male humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/AGlucaginMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ALeucineNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ALeucineReduced chain aminoACultured cellsLogine	Branched chain amino acids + high fat diet	Human (obese)	N/A	Obesity-induced insulin resistance
and insulin signalingCitrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced endothelial senescenceN/AArginineHumansImproved insulin sensitivity/ secretionN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucine + Vitamin DOlder male humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlut, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/AGysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino 	Leucine	Mice	Improved glucose tolerance	N/A
Citrulline and Citrulline + ArginineType 2 diabetic ratsReduced endothelial senescenceN/AArginineHumansImproved insulin sensitivity/ secretionN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucine + Vitamin DOlder male humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/AGysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLeucineRatsLeptin sensitivityN/A			and insulin signaling	
ArgininesenescenceArginineHumansImproved insulin sensitivity/ secretionN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucine + Vitamin DOlder male humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/ACysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLeucineRatsLeptin sensitivityN/A	Citrulline and Citrulline +	Type 2 diabetic rats	Reduced endothelial	N/A
ArginineHumansImproved insulin sensitivity/ secretionN/AGlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucine + Vitamin DOlder male humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/AGlucagon or LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levels	Arginine		senescence	
GlutamineHealthy humansReduced blood glucoseN/ALeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucine + Vitamin DOlder male humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/ATryptophan or LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLeucineRatsLeptin sensitivityN/A	Arginine	Humans	Improved insulin sensitivity/ secretion	N/A
LeucineHuman skeletal muscleInsulin signaling in muscleN/ALeucine + Vitamin DOlder male humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/ATryptophanHumansGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/ATryptophan or LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaNondiabeticsLeptinN/ABranched chain amino acidsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levels	Glutamine	Healthy humans	Reduced blood glucose	N/A
Leucine + Vitamin DOlder male humansMuscle protein synthesisN/ALeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/ATryptophanHumansGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/ATryptophan or LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLeucineRatsLeptin sensitivityN/A	Leucine	Human skeletal muscle	Insulin signaling in muscle	N/A
LeucineCultured cellsMuscle protein accretionN/AGlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/ATryptophanHumansGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/ATryptophan or LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levels	Leucine + Vitamin D	Older male humans	Muscle protein synthesis	N/A
GlutamineType 2 diabetic patientsGlucagon like protein-1N/ATryptophanHumansGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/ATryptophan or LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levels	Leucine	Cultured cells	Muscle protein accretion	N/A
TryptophanHumansGlucagon like protein-1N/AGlu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/ATryptophan or LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levels	Glutamine	Type 2 diabetic patients	Glucagon like protein-1	N/A
Glu, Gln, Lys, Thr or ValSheepGhrelin releaseN/ATryptophan or LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLeucineRatsLeptin sensitivityN/A	Tryptophan	Humans	Glucagon like protein-1	N/A
Tryptophan or LeucineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsCysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLeucineRatsLeptin sensitivityN/A	Glu, Gln, Lys, Thr or Val	Sheep	Ghrelin release	N/A
CysteineMiceN/AGhrelin levelsBCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLeucineRatsLeptin sensitivityN/A	Tryptophan or Leucine	Mice	N/A	Ghrelin levels
BCAA + carbohydratesHumansIGF-1N/ALeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLeucineRatsLeptin sensitivityN/A	Cysteine	Mice	N/A	Ghrelin levels
LeucineResistance trained menIGF-1N/ATryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLeucineRatsLeptin sensitivityN/A	BCAA + carbohydrates	Humans	IGF-1	N/A
Tryptophan + Phenylalanine in formulaInfantsIGF-1N/ABranched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLeucineRatsLeptin sensitivityN/A	Leucine	Resistance trained men	IGF-1	N/A
Branched chain amino acidsNondiabeticsLeptinN/ALysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLeucineRatsLeptin sensitivityN/A	Tryptophan + Phenylalanine in formula	Infants	IGF-1	N/A
Lysine restricted dietsPigletsN/AReduced leptin levelsLeucineRatsLeptin sensitivityN/A	Branched chain amino acids	Nondiabetics	Leptin	N/A
Leucine Rats Leptin sensitivity N/A	Lysine restricted diets	Piglets	N/A	Reduced leptin levels
	Leucine	Rats	Leptin sensitivity	N/A

Table 6.1 Dietary amino acids in health, endocrine function and physiology

N/A not applicable or reported

animal sources, may be associated with hypertension (Teymoori et al. 2018). The same group also demonstrated that diets high in animal protein and dairy resulted in an amino acid pattern high in branched chain, aromatic, alcoholic amino acids and proline which may be associated with an increased risk of hypertension (Teymoori et al. 2017) that we will explore later. Finally, the positive effects of coconut water on the reproductive system may, indeed, be due to cysteine (Kunle-Alabi et al. 2017).

6.3 Amino Acids and Hypertension

Links between amino acid intake and hypertension have only recently been recognized. Branched chain amino acids (BCAA) and the aromatic amino acids tyrosine and phenylalanine have been associated with both hypertension and impaired fasting glucose (Weng et al. 2015). It is worth noting that these amino acids are also elevated in patients with β blocker induced impaired fasting glucose (Cooper-Dehoff et al. 2014). Given the well known association between diets high in saturated fats and hypertension, it would be worth comparing the amino acids in relation to hypertension.

While some amino acids have detrimental effects on hypertension, others can apparently be beneficial. A recent clinical trial demonstrated that combining administration of arginine and B vitamins can restore endothelial function and lower blood pressure in mild to moderate hypertensive patients (Menzel et al. 2018). Citrulline has been demonstrated to relieve hypoxia induced hypertension in newborn pigs (Fike et al. 2015) and can reduce blood pressure in overweight men in response to exercise (Figueroa et al. 2016). Given the high concentration of citrulline in watermelon, one study was able to demonstrate that administration of watermelon extract could effectively reduce blood pressure (Massa et al. 2016) in prehypertensive and hypertensive patients. It is believed that much of the effects of arginine and citrulline on blood pressure are exerted through nitric oxide (NO) pathways, but it would be worth examining their associated effects on other areas explored in this particular article.

6.4 D-Amino Acids and Health

Because they are not incorporated into nascent proteins as a result of protein synthesis mechanisms in cells, D-amino acids were quite often ignored in regard to their effect on cellular metabolism. We now know that this is certainly not the case. Table 6.2 provides the major effects of D-amino acids on health discussed below.

D-aspartate serves signalling roles in several parts of the body including the reproductive and nervous systems. Immature Leydig cells were shown to accumulate D-asparate and increase androstenedione and testosterone synthesis in parallel to D-aspartate levels (Raucci et al. 2014). Similarly, D-aspratate regulates the release and synthesis of leutenizing hormone and testosterone in both humans and rats (Topo et al. 2009). Additionally, D-aspartate administration has been shown to increase androgen receptor expression while reducing estrogen receptor expression in rat testis (Santillo et al. 2014). D-asparate is degraded by D-aspartate oxidase thus regulating its levels in the body. This enzyme also degrades D-glutamate. Studies in animals where this enzyme is knocked out demonstrate an increase in D-asparate levels while D-glutamate levels remain unchanged (Han et al. 2015). Synthesis pathways for most D-amino acids are poorly understood in mammals and remain a fertile area for future research. D-aspartate could arguably be produced by a serine dehydratase enzyme, but apparently is not produced by glutamicoxaloacetic transaminase-1 enzyme (Tanaka-Hayashi et al. 2015). D-asparate promotes L-glutamate release in selected areas of the brain and has been suggested as a potential treatment for schizophrenia (Errico et al. 2018).

Three notable D-amino acids, D-aspartate, D-serine and D-alanine are known to interact with NMDA receptors in the nervous system (Kiriyama and Nochi 2016). These receptors are involved in learning and memory. D-serine is not uniformly distributed in the nervous system. The cerebrum contains the highest levels but even in this location there is a divergent distribution. This distribution pattern suggests that D-serine may exhibit localized effects of N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors which the authors suggest may play a role in treating neurological diseases. (Suzuki et al. 2017). Release of D-serine is mediated through the alanine-serine- cysteine transporter-1 (Rosenberg et al. 2013). D-serine may originate from the glia in the cerebral cortex and serve as the coagnosist for NMDA receptors. Similar to

D- amino acid	Organ/Cells/Species	Effect
D-aspartate	Leydig cells (human)	↑ androstenedione and testosterone synthesis
D-aspartate	Reproductive system (human)	↑ Leutinizing hormone
D-aspartate	Reproductive system (rat)	↑ Leutinizing hormone, androgen receptor
D-aspartate	Brain	↑ Glutamate release
D-aspartate, D-serine and D-alanine	Nervous system (human)	↑ NMDA receptor function
D-alanine	Anterior pituitary gland (rat)	↑ ACTH synthesis
D-alanine	Adrenal gland (rat)	↑ Glucocorticoid secretion (via ACTH)

Table 6.2 D-amino acids in health

D-aspratate, modifying levels of D-serine may play a role in treating neurological disorders (Fossat et al. 2012). Furthermore, D-aspartate supplementation has been proposed as a new way to promote myelin recovery (de Rosa et al. 2019).

D-alanine has been shown to affect hormonal secretion in the pineal gland, anterior pituitary and adrenal glands (Errico et al. 2000, Etoh et al. 2009). It is also interesting to note that D-alanine levels exhibit circadian rhythm changes in concentration (Karakawa et al. 2013). Intestinal flora may be responsible for D-alanine production while intestinal absorption could explain diurnal variations in D-alanine levels (Karakawa et al. 2013).

6.5 Amino Acids and Diabetes

Amino acid profiles are significantly altered in individuals with metabolic disorders, specifically obesity, type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome. For example, valine, isoleucine, glutamic acid and proline levels increased in these metabolic disorders, while glycine decreased in one study (Okekunle et al. 2017). Another study noted that the development of diabetes in individuals may be associated with isoleucine, leucine, valine, tyrosine and phenylalanine levels (Wang et al. 2011). As mentioned above, these same five amino acids are also associated with impaired fasting blood glucose in patients with hypertension (Weng et al. 2015). As mentioned above, these amino acids are also elevated in patients with β blocker induced impaired fasting glucose (Cooper-Dehoff et al. 2014).

Branched-chain amino acids provide an interesting association with diabetes. Overconsumption of food has notably been associated with elevated levels of BCAA (Elshorbagy et al. 2018) thus making the understanding of the relationship between diabetes and these amino acids, both as a whole and on an individual amino acid basis vital. To further emphasize this point, consumption of diets high in fat accompanied by branched chain amino acid consumption is associated with obesity induced insulin resistance (Newgard et al. 2009).

On an individual basis, leucine provides an interesting window into the relationship between BCAA and diabetes. Leucine administration to mice fed on a high fat diet significantly improves glucose tolerance and insulin signalling while reducing hepatic steatosis and adipose tissue inflammation (Macotela et al. 2011). When combined with resistance training, leucine can synergistically reduce muscle loss in diabetic rats by increasing protein synthesis (Martins et al. 2017). In contrast, reduced leucine intake has been shown to improve hepatic sensitivity to insulin which may help improve insulin resistance (Fei Xiao et al. 2011). Similarly, leucine supplementation caused a delay in muscle IR/PI3K signaling, leading to impaired glucose tolerance (Balage et al. 2011). These conflicting findings regarding BCAA (individual vs combinatorial) suggests that these amino acids exert different effects depending on what other amino acids they are consumed with and in what ratios. To that end, the co-administration of glucose with leucine and phenylalanine to healthy individuals results in an additive effect on insulin production. Findings from this study suggest that the effect of leucine on insulin production is apparently different than that of phenylalanine (Iverson et al. 2013). Other amino acids worth discussing in relation to diabetes are arginine/citrulline and glutamate/glutamine.

Supplementation with citrulline and arginine or citrulline alone can reduce endothelial senescence in dyslipidemic type 2 diabetic rats fed a high glucose diet (Tsuboi et al. 2018). It has also been noted that L-arginine supplementation may reduce the onset of type 2 diabetes via a reduction in oxidative stress. Subjects treated with L-arginine demonstrated an improvement in both insulin sensitivity and secretion (Monti et al. 2018).

Glutamine and glutamate, as well as their ratio, may serve as markers for the incidence of diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetics (Rhee et al. 2018). The mechanism is not entirely understood, but it is interesting to point out that the glutamine/glutamate ratio does correlate to insulin resistance in some study groups (Cheng et al. 2012). This is contrasted by findings which indicate that in healthy individuals glutamine can slow gastric emptying and reduce blood glucose spike associated with consuming a high energy glucose drink (Du et al. 2018). It is thought that glutamine accomplishes this by increasing pyloric motility (Chang et al. 2013). Interestingly, both L-glutamine supplementation and whole protein diet low in glutamine can help restore the first phase insulin response in type 2 diabetics (Samocha-Bonet et al. 2015). Given that glutamine can be readily synthesized in cells and plasma glutamine levels were not monitored, it is possible that the additional dietary protein led to an undetected increase in glutamine production. Glutamate plays a vital role in islet cell function (Maechler and Wollheim 1999) and it has been suggested that NMDA receptors may be important targets for treating type 2 diabetes (Otter and Lammert 2016).

Pharmaceutical treatment of diabetes apparently does have an effect on certain amino acid levels. It is interesting to note that metformin, used to control high blood glucose, does elevate plasma levels of histidine while lowering levels of phenylalanine and tyrosine (Preiss et al. 2016). L-amino acid transporters have been demonstrated to play a key role in regulating beta cell function and signalling and they could, indeed, be a good target for drug design in the treatment of type 2 diabetes (Cheng et al. 2016).

6.6 Amino Acid Signaling in Muscle

A significant level of research has emerged regarding amino acid signalling in muscle and particularly leucine. Many of these effects are mediated through the mTOR signaling pathway which has been reviewed elsewhere (Wu 2009, El Hiani et al. 2019). Leucine has a synergistic effect on insulin signaling in muscle by supporting select phosphorylation events (Di Camillo et al. 2014). It activates mTOR signaling in human myotubes via phosphorylation and was shown to be independent of insulin. This did not affect amino acid transport expression, but did increase expression of human vacuolar sorting protein. (Gran and Cameron-Smith 2011). Leucine also has been shown to upregulate muscle slow fiber and glucose oxidative metabolism through the mTOR signaling pathway (Sato et al. 2018). Furthermore, there is evidence that combining leucine supplementation with vitamin D supplementation can improve muscle protein synthesis in older men (Chanet et al. 2017).

The effect of leucine on muscle in certain populations is certainly worth mentioning. Leucine serves a more potent anabolic role than total protein in older women (McGlory et al. 2018). Additionally, regulation of mTOR signaling in older rats may be reduced in skeletal muscle and increased in adipose tissue (Zeanandin et al. 2012). Sarcopenia is a muscle disease which involves the loss of both muscle mass and strength over time. Leucine may serve a beneficial role in treating sarcopenia (Tessier and Chevalier 2018). Whey supplement enriched with leucine negated lower protein synthetic rates in sarcopenic males (Kramer et al. 2017). Expanding this to other BCAA, BCAA supplementation prevents liver cirrhosis-induced sarcopenia (Kitajima et al. 2018).

It is worth mentioning that other amino acids have been shown to affect the mTOR pathway in muscle. Glutamine, for example, also affects mTOR by decreasing phosphorylation (Deldicque et al. 2008). Arginine has been shown to reverse altered mTOR signalling in a model of Pompe disease (Lim et al. 2017). Modifying BCAA ratios can affect mTOR expression (Duan et al. 2017). These researchers were also able to demonstrate that modifying ratios of BCAA had beneficial effects on myocytes with regard to differentiation and amino acid expression.

6.7 Amino Acid Metabolism and Glucocorticoids

Glucocorticoids play an important role in modulating amino acid metabolism and subsequent signalling. For example, in the nervous system they can protect cells from toxic concentrations of glutamate. This effect is mediated by decreasing cytosolic calcium concentrations in cortical neurons (Suwanjang et al. 2013). Asymmetric dimethylarginine, an endogenous inhibitor of NO production, can be antagonized by homoarginine (Tsikas and Wu 2015). It is interesting to note that homoarginine levels are lower while asymetric dimethylarginine levels are higher in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. This leads to an impairment of NO production via arginine which can be alleviated through glucocorticoid treatment (Horster et al. 2015). Amino acids, on the other hand, can ameliorate effects of glucocorticoids. For example, leucine has been shown to alleviate the effect of dexamethasone on muscle protein accretion by acting synergistically on mTOR and AMPK systems in cultured cells (Wang et al. 2016).

6.8 Amino Acids and Thyroid Function

Amino acid transporters may work cooperatively to facilitate transport of various iodocompounds to regulate cellular thyroid status (Zevenbergen et al. 2015). L-type amino acid transporters, in particular, may play a role in mediating this (Hinz et al. 2015, Krause and Hinz 2017). Zevenbergen was able to demonstrate that there was differential transport between the five L-type amino acid transporters that were studied. Metabolism of alternative amino acids may provide an additional mechanism whereby thyroid hormones can be produced in the thyroid. To this end, metabolism and production of D-aspartate via actions of D-aspartate oxidase and D-aspartate racemase, may provide another mechanism whereby thyroid hormones can be produced due to production of H_2O_2 during metabolism (Enza Topo et al. 2010).

6.9 Amino Acids and Glucagonlike Peptide 1

Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP1) is a 30 amino acid peptide hormone produced in epithelial endocrine cells and the brain in response to meal intake (Sekar et al. 2016). It is produced via differential processing of proglucagon in these cells. Proglucagon is expressed in the intestine, β cells and the brain, but pancreatic processing yields the precursor molecule responsible for the production of GLP1. Effects of this molecule include inhibition of gastric acid production and stimulation of glucagon secretion. It plays a needed role in stimulating insulin release in response to other signalling events (Drucker and Nauck 2006). As a result, the control of GLP1 via amino acids and their associated metabolism merits discussion.

Administration of oral amino acid solutions were shown to increase levels in non-diabetic patients (Lindgren et al. 2015). This was not mirrored in intravenous administered amino acid solutions. Glutamine has been shown to increase GLP-1 levels in Type 2 diabetics (Samocha-Bonet et al. 2011, 2015). It has been suggested that this
response is due to an activated glutamate dehydrogenase (Andersson et al. 2018). Interstingly, human milk elicits a significant increase in concentration in healthy adult subjects (Gunnerud et al. 2012). This ties directly into the observation that mature human milk is extremely high in glutamine (Zhang et al. 2013). With regard to other amino acids, administration of L-tryptophan but not L-leucine to lean and non-diabetic subjects can modulate levels of GLP1 in blood (Meyer-Gerspach et al. 2016).

6.10 Amino Acids and Ghrelin

Ghrelin, discovered 20 years ago, can be produced by several cells including the small intestine, pancreas, brain and stomach which is the primary producer. It is known to stimulate production of growth hormone and ACTH (Gray et al. 2019). Other effects include increase in appetite, elevated gut motility and increased gastric acid secretion. It increases lipolysis and has recently been demonstrated to affect insulin release by β cells. Recently, Wu et al. (2020) have shown that ghrelin protects aging mice from fasting-induced muscle atrophy. Several amino acids are known to affect ghrelin levels in organisms.

Lysine-restricted diets have been shown to reduce ghrelin expression in piglets (Yin et al. 2017). Note that this amino acid is abundant in animal-source foods but is relatively deficient in most plant-source foods (Hou et al. 2019; Li and Wu 2020). Duodenal supply of glutamate, glutamine, lysine, threonine and valine have been shown to enhance ghrelin release in sheep (Elsabagh et al. 2018). In humans, both tryptophan and leucine exhibit a stronger reduction than glutamine on plasma levels of ghrelin (Steinert et al. 2017), while L-cysteine has been shown to reduce ghrelin plasma levels in mice (McGavigan et al. 2015).

There is evidence to suggest that the arginine/ NO pathway may be involved in modulating some of the effects of ghrelin on cells. Ghrelin has been shown to enhance uptake of food and oxidation of carbohydrates in a NO dependent manner using L-NAME, a NO donor (Abtahi et al. 2017). Similarly, NO has been implicated in mediating effects of ghrelin on potassium currents in the hippocampus (Lu et al. 2018). Another pathway which may involve amino acids and ghrelin could be the extracellular signal regulated kinase pathway since glutamate has been shown to inhibit ghrelin expression in cell lines through this pathway (Chacrabati et al. 2017).

6.11 Amino Acids and IGF-1

Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) is important in mediating fetal and postnatal growth and development. The interplay between IGF-1 and growth hormone has sometimes been debated. Many believe that there are codependent and independent effects in regard to these two signaling molecules.

Amino acids can certainly exhibit an effect on IGF-1 levels in cells and production. Consumption of carbohydrates with branched chain amino acids resulted in an increase in serum IGF-1 levels in humans (Li et al. 2015). Administration of L-leucine to resistance trained men results in increased IGF-1 levels in muscle (Church et al. 2016). It was also determined that infants fed formula containing tryptophan and phenylalanine exhibited elevated IGF-1 compared to controls (Fleddermann et al. 2017). There is evidence that administration of several amino acids can increase IGF-1 levels under specialized metabolic conditions. In this respect, administration of an amino acid supplement containing eight essential amino acids resulted in an increase in IGF-1 levels in healthy men placed on bed rest (Brooks et al. 2014). This could lead to specialized treatment paradigms where reducing muscle atrophy due to illness or restricted activity is desired. All of these findings need to be tempered with the understanding that other amino acids, such as citrulline, can certainly provide similar beneficial physiological effects without directly affecting insulin action (Jourdan et al. 2015).

6.12 Amino Acids and Leptin

Leptin is produced by adipose tissue cells and affects the hippocampus to modulate eating behaviors and energy expenditure. It plays a major role in regulating feed intake. Amino acids can have significant effects on leptin levels. Branched chain amino acids are positively correlated with leptin levels in nondiabetics (Katagiri et al. 2018). Lysine restricted diets have been shown to reduce leptin concentrations in the blood of piglets (Yin et al. 2017) while leucine can improve leptin sensitivity in rats fed a high fat diet (Yuan et al. 2015).

6.13 Future Work

In summary, there are several identified areas of future study that emerged from this review. These include studying the fertile area of D-amino acid metabolism and actions as well as the multiple effects of branched chain amino acids on health and endocrine function. The interplay between amino acid transporters, the endocrine system and other physiological functions (e.g. D-amino acid metabolism, thyroid and β -cells) certainly deserves more attention. Finally, the recently discovered effects of arginine and nitric oxide on ghrelin function suggests that the nitric oxide field is by no means played out.

Acknowledgements We would like to express our appreciation to the Welch Foundation (Grant # AE-025) for their support of Max Shaw in this and other scholarly pursuits.

References

- Abtahi S, Mirza A, Howell E, Currie PJ (2017) Ghrelin enhances food intake and carbohydrate oxidation in a nitric oxide dependent manner. Gen Comp Endocrinol 250:9–14
- Agostinelli E (2020) Biochemical and pathophysiological properties of polyamines. Amino Acids 52:111–117
- Andersson LE, Shcherbina L, Al-Majdoub M, Vishnu N, Arroyo CB, Aste Carrara J, Wollheim CB, Fex M, Mulder H, Wierup N, Spegel P (2018) Glutamineelicited secretion of glucagon-like peptide 1 is governed by an activated glutamate dehydrogenase. Diabetes 67:372–384
- Balage M, Dupont J, Mothe-Satney I, Tesseraud S, Mosoni L, Dardevet D (2011) Leucine supplementation in rats induced a delay in muscle IR/PI3K signaling pathway associated with overall impaired glucose tolerance. J Nutr Biochem 22:219–226

- Brooks NE, Cadena SM, Cloutier G, Vega-Lopez S, Roubenoff R, Castaneda-Sceppa C (2014) Influence of exercise on the metabolic profile caused by 28 days of bed rest with energy deficit and amino acid supplementation in healthy men. Int J Med Sci 11:1248–1257
- Chacrabati R, Gong Z, Ikenoya C, Kondo D, Zigman JM, Sakai T, Sakata I (2017) The effect of glutamate on ghrelin release in mice. Cell Biol Int 41:320–327
- Chanet A, Verlaan S, Salles J, Giraudet C, Patrac V, Pidou V, Pouyet C, Hafnaoui N, Blot A, Cano N, Farigon N, Bongers A, Jourdan M, Luiking Y, Walrand S, Boirie Y (2017) Supplementing breakfast with a vitamin D and leucine–enriched whey protein medical nutrition drink enhances postprandial muscle protein synthesis and muscle mass in healthy older men. J Nutr 147:2262–2271
- Chang J, Wu T, Greenfield JR, Samocha-Bonet D, Horowitz M, Rayner CK (2013) Effects of intraduodenal glutamine on incretin hormone and insulin release, the glycemic response to an intraduodenal glucose infusion, and antropyloroduodenal motility in health and type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 36:2262–2265
- Cheng S, Rhee E, Larson M, Lewis G, McCabe E, Shen D, Palma M, Roberts L, Dejam A, Souza A, Deik Amy A, Magnusson M, Fox C, O'Donnell C, Vasan Ramachandran S, Melander O, Clish Clary B, Gerszten R, Wang T (2012) Metabolite profiling identifies pathways associated with metabolic risk in humans. Circulation 125:2222–2231
- Cheng Q, Beltran VD, Chan SM, Brown JR, Bevington A, Herbert TP (2016) System-L amino acid transporters play a key role in pancreatic β-cell signalling and function. J Mol Endocrinol 56:175–187
- Church DD, Schwarz NA, Spillane MB, McKinley-Barnard SK, Andre TL, Ramirez AJ, Willoughby DS (2016) L-leucine increases skeletal muscle IGF-1 but does not differentially increase Akt/mTORC1 signaling and serum IGF-1 compared to ursolic acid in response to resistance exercise in resistance-trained men. J Am Coll Nutr 35:627–638
- Cooper-Dehoff RM, Hou W, Weng L, Baillie RA, Beitelshees AL, Gong Y, Shahin MH, Turner ST, Chapman A, Gums JG, Boyle SH, Zhu H, Wikoff WR, Boerwinkle E, Fiehn O, Frye RF, Kaddurah-Daouk R, Johnson JA (2014) Is diabetes mellitus-linked amino acid signature associated with β-blocker-induced impaired fasting glucose? Circ Cardiovasc Genet 7:199–205
- da Silva DVT, Conte-Junior CA, Paschoalin VMF, Alvares Tda S (2014) Hormonal response to L-arginine supplementation in physically active individuals. Food Nutr Res 58:22569
- de Rosa V, Secondo A, Pannaccione A, Ciccone R, Formisano L, Guida N, Crispino R, Fico A, Polishchuk R, D'Aniello A, Annunziato L, Boscia F (2019) D-Aspartate treatment attenuates myelin damage and stimulates myelin repair. EMBO Mol Med 11:e9278
- Deldicque L, Sanchez Canedo C, Horman S, De Potter I, Bertrand L, Hue L, Francaux M (2008) Antagonistic

effects of leucine and glutamine on the mTOR pathway in myogenic C2C12 cells. Amino Acids 35:147–155

- Di Camillo B, Eduati F, Nair SK, Avogaro A, Toffolo GM (2014) Leucine modulates dynamic phosphorylation events in insulin signaling pathway and enhances insulin-dependent glycogen synthesis in human skeletal muscle cells. BMC Cell Biol 15:1–9
- Drucker DJ, Nauck MA (2006) The incretin system: glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists and dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes. Lancet 368:1696–1705
- Du YT, Piscitelli D, Ahmad S, Trahair LG, Greenfield JR, Samocha-Bonet D, Rayner CK, Horowitz M, Jones KL (2018) Effects of glutamine on gastric emptying of low- and high-nutrient drinks in healthy young subjects- impact on glycaemia. Nutrients 10:E739
- Duan Y, Zeng L, Li F, Wang W, Li Y, Guo Q, Ji Y, Tan B, Yin Y (2017) Effect of branched-chain amino acid ratio on the proliferation, differentiation, and expression levels of key regulators involved in protein metabolism of myocytes. Nutrition 36:8–16
- El Hiani Y, Egom EE, Dong XP (2019) mTOR signalling: jack-of-all-trades (1). Biochem Cell Biol 97:58–67
- Elsabagh M, Ishikake M, Sakamoto Y, Haruno A, Miura M, Fujieda T, Obitsu T, Sugino T (2018) Postruminal supply of amino acids enhances ghrelin secretion and lipid metabolism in feed-deprived sheep. Anim Sci J 89:1663–1672
- Elshorbagy AK, Samocha-Bonet D, Jerneren F, Turner C, Refsum H, Heilbronn LK (2018) Food overconsumption in healthy adults triggers early and sustained increases in serum branched-chain amino acids and changes in cysteine linked to fat gain. J Nutr 148:1073–1080
- Enza Topo GF, Sorricellic A, Erricod F, Usiellod A, Antimo D (2010) Thyroid hormones and D-aspartic acid, D-aspartate oxidase, D-aspartate racemase, H₂O₂, and ROS in rats and mice. Chem Biodivers 7:1467–1478
- Errico F, D'Aniello A, Tolino A, D'Aniello G, Fisher GH, Di Fiore MM (2000) The role of D-aspartic acid and N-Methyl-D-aspartic acid in the regulation of prolactin release. Endocrinology 141:3862–3870
- Errico F, Nuzzo T, Carella M, Bertolino A, Usiello A (2018) The emerging role of altered D-aspartate metabolism in schizophrenia: new insights from preclinical models and human studies. Front Psychiatry 9:559
- Etoh S, Hamase K, Morikawa A, Ohgusu T, Zaitsu K (2009) Enantioselective visualization of D-alanine in rat anterior pituitary gland: localization to ACTHsecreting cells. Anal Bioanal Chem 393:217–223
- Fei Xiao ZH, Houkai L, Junjie Y, Chunxia W, Shanghai C, Qingshu M, Ying C, Xiang G, Jia L, Yong L, Feifan G (2011) Leucine deprivation increases hepatic insulin sensitivity via GCN2/mTOR/S6K1 and AMPK pathways. Diabetes 60:746–756
- Figueroa A, Alvarez-Alvarado S, Jaime SJ, Kalfon R (2016) L-Citrulline supplementation attenuates blood pressure, wave reflection and arterial stiffness

responses to metaboreflex and cold stress in overweight men. Br J Nutr 116:279-285

- Fike CD, Dikalova A, Kaplowitz MR, Cunningham G, Summar M, Aschner JL (2015) Rescue treatment with L-citrulline inhibits hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension in newborn pigs. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 53:255–264
- Fleddermann M, Demmelmair H, Grote V, Bidlingmaier M, Grimminger P, Bielohuby M, Koletzko B (2017) Role of selected amino acids on plasma IGF-I concentration in infants. Eur J Nutr 56:613–620
- Forbes SC, Harber V, Bell GJ (2014) Oral L-arginine before resistance exercise blunts growth hormone in strength trained males. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab 24:236–244
- Fossat P, Turpin FR, Sacchi S, Dulong J, Shi T, Rivet JM, Sweedler JV, Pollegioni L, Millan MJ, Oliet SH, Mothet JP (2012) Glial D-serine gates NMDA receptors at excitatory synapses in prefrontal cortex. Cereb Cortex 22:595–606
- Fukumori R, Yokotani A, Sugino T, Itoh F, Kushibiki S, Shingu H, Moriya N, Hasegawa Y, Kojima M, Kangawa K, Obitsu T, Taniguchi K (2011) Effects of amino acids infused into the vein on ghrelin-induced GH, insulin and glucagon secretion in lactating cows. Anim Sci J 82:267–273
- Gran P, Cameron-Smith D (2011) The action of exogenous leucine on mTOR signalling and amino acid transporters in human myotubes. BMC Physiol 11:10
- Gray SM, Page LC, Tong J (2019) Ghrelin regulation of glucose metabolism. J Neuroendocrinol:e12705
- Gunnerud U, Holst JJ, Ostman E, Bjorck I (2012) The glycemic, insulinemic and plasma amino acid responses to equi-carbohydrate milk meals, a pilot- study of bovine and human milk. Nutr J 11:83
- Han H, Miyoshi Y, Koga R, Mita M, Konno R, Hamase K (2015) Changes in D-aspartic acid and D-glutamic acid levels in the tissues and physiological fluids of mice with various D-aspartate oxidase activities. J Pharm Biomed Anal 116:47–52
- Hinz KM, Meyer K, Kinne A, Schülein R, Köhrle J, Krause G (2015) Structural insights into thyroid hormone transport mechanisms of the L-type amino acid transporter 2. Mol Endocrinol 29:933–942
- Hoffman JR, Gepner Y, Hoffman MW, Zelicha H, Shapira S, Ostfeld I (2018) Effect of high-dose, short-duration β-alanine supplementation on circulating IL-10 concentrations during intense military training. J Strength Cond Res 32:2978–2981
- Horster I, Weigt-Usinger K, Carmann C, Chobanyan-Jurgens K, Kohler C, Schara U, Kayacelebi AA, Beckmann B, Tsikas D, Lucke T (2015) The L-arginine/NO pathway and homoarginine are altered in Duchenne muscular dystrophy and improved by glucocorticoids. Amino Acids 47:1853–1863
- Hou YQ, He WL, Hu SD, Wu G (2019) Composition of polyamines and amino acids in plant-source foods for human consumption. Amino Acids 51:1153–1165
- Iverson JF, Gannon MC, Nuttall FQ (2013) Ingestion of leucine + phenylalanine with glucose produces

an additive effect on serum insulin but less than additive effect on plasma glucose. J Amino Acids 2013:964637

- Jennings A, MacGregor A, Spector T, Cassidy A (2016) Amino acid intakes are associated with bone mineral density and prevalence of low bone mass in women: evidence from discordant monozygotic twins. J Bone Miner Res 31:326–335
- Jourdan M, Nair KS, Carter RE, Schimke J, Ford GC, Marc J, Aussel C, Cynober L (2015) Citrulline stimulates muscle protein synthesis in the post-absorptive state in healthy people fed a low-protein diet – a pilot study. Clin Nutr 34:449–456
- Juszkiewicz A, Glapa A, Basta P, Petriczko E, Żołnowski K, Machaliński B, Trzeciak J, Łuczkowska K, Skarpańska-Stejnborn A (2019) The effect of L-theanine supplementation on the immune system of athletes exposed to strenuous physical exercise. J Int Soc Sports Nutr 16:7
- Karakawa S, Miyoshi Y, Konno R, Koyanagi S, Mita M, Ohdo S, Hamase K (2013) Two-dimensional highperformance liquid chromatographic determination of day–night variation of d-alanine in mammals and factors controlling the circadian changes. Anal Bioanal Chem 405:8083–8091
- Katagiri R, Goto A, Budhathoki S, Yamaji T, Yamamoto H, Kato Y, Iwasaki M, Tsugane S (2018) Association between plasma concentrations of branched-chain amino acids and adipokines in Japanese adults without diabetes. Sci Rep 8:1043
- Ke Q, Chen C, He F, Ye Y, Bai X, Cai L, Xia M (2018) Association between dietary protein intake and type 2 diabetes varies by dietary pattern. Diabetol Metab Syndr 10:48
- Kiriyama Y, Nochi H (2016) D-amino acids in the nervous and endocrine systems. Scientifica (Cairo) 2016:6494621
- Kitajima Y, Takahashi H, Akiyama T, Murayama K, Iwane S, Kuwashiro T, Tanaka K, Kawazoe S, Ono N, Eguchi T, Anzai K, Eguchi Y (2018) Supplementation with branched-chain amino acids ameliorates hypoalbuminemia, prevents sarcopenia, and reduces fat accumulation in the skeletal muscles of patients with liver cirrhosis. J Gastroenterol 53:427–437
- Kramer IF, Verdijk LB, Hamer HM, Verlaan S, Luiking YC, Kouw IWK, Senden JM, van Kranenburg J, Gijsen AP, Bierau J, Poeze M, van Loon LJC (2017) Both basal and post-prandial muscle protein synthesis rates, following the ingestion of a leucine-enriched whey protein supplement, are not impaired in sarcopenic older males. Clin Nutr 36:1440–1449
- Krause G, Hinz KM (2017) Thyroid hormone transport across L-type amino acid transporters: what can molecular modelling tell us? Mol Cell Endocrinol 458:68–75
- Kunle-Alabi T, Akindele O, Odoh M, Oghenetega B, Raji Y (2017) Comparative effects of coconut water and N-acetyl cysteine on the hypothalamo-pituitarygonadal axis of male rats. Songklanakarin J Sci Technol 36:759–764

- Li P, Wu G (2020) Composition of amino acids and related nitrogenous nutrients in feedstuffs for animal diets. Amino Acids 52:523–542
- Li R, Ferreira MP, Cooke MB, La Bounty P, Campbell B, Greenwood M, Willoughby DS, Kreider RB (2015) Co-ingestion of carbohydrate with branched-chain amino acids or L-leucine does not preferentially increase serum IGF-1 and expression of myogenicrelated genes in response to a single bout of resistance exercise. Amino Acids 47:1203–1213
- Lim JA, Li L, Shirihai OS, Trudeau KM, Puertollano R, Raben N (2017) Modulation of mTOR signaling as a strategy for the treatment of Pompe disease. EMBO Mol Med 9:353–370
- Lindgren O, Pacini G, Tura A, Holst JJ, Deacon CF, Ahren B (2015) Incretin effect after oral amino acid ingestion in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 100:1172–1176
- Lu Y, Dang S, Wang X, Zhang J, Zhang L, Su Q, Zhang H, Lin T, Zhang X, Zhang Y, Sun H, Zhu Z, Li H (2018) NO involvement in the inhibition of ghrelin on voltage-dependent potassium currents in rat hippocampal cells. Brain Res 1678:40–46
- Lushchak O, Strilbytska OM, Yurkevych I, Vaiserman AM, Storey KB (2019) Implications of amino acid sensing and dietary protein to the aging process. Exp Gerontol 115:69–78
- Macotela Y, Emanuelli B, Bang AM, Espinoza DO, Boucher J, Beebe K, Gall W, Kahn CR (2011) Dietary leucine- an environmental modifier of insulin resistance acting on multiple levels of metabolism. PLoS One 6:e21187
- Maechler P, Wollheim CB (1999) Mitochondrial glutamate acts as a messenger in glucose-induced insulin exocytosis. Nature 402:685–689
- Martins CEC, Lima VBS, Schoenfeld BJ, Tirapegui J (2017) Effects of leucine supplementation and resistance training on myopathy of diabetic rats. Physiol Rep 5:e13273
- Massa NM, Silva AS, Toscano LT, Silva JD, Persuhn DC, Goncalves MC (2016) Watermelon extract reduces blood pressure but does not change sympathovagal balance in prehypertensive and hypertensive subjects. Blood Press 25:244–248
- McGavigan AK, O'Hara HC, Amin A, Kinsey-Jones J, Spreckley E, Alamshah A, Agahi A, Banks K, France R, Hyberg G, Wong C, Bewick GA, Gardiner JV, Lehmann A, Martin NM, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR, Murphy KG (2015) L-cysteine suppresses ghrelin and reduces appetite in rodents and humans. Int J Obes 39:447–455
- McGlory C, Devries MC, Phillips SM, Baker SK, Kamil A, Bolster DR, Harkness L, Rahn M (2018) Leucine, not total protein, content of a supplement is the primary determinant of muscle protein anabolic responses in healthy older women. J Nutr 148:1088–1095
- McNeal CJ, Meininger CJ, Wilborn CD, Tekwe CD, Wu G (2018) Safety of dietary supplementation with arginine in adult humans. Amino Acids 50:1215–1229
- Menzel D, Haller H, Wilhelm M, Robenek H (2018) L-Arginine and B vitamins improve endothelial func-

tion in subjects with mild to moderate blood pressure elevation. Eur J Nutr 57:557–568

- Meyer-Gerspach AC, Hafliger S, Meili J, Doody A, Rehfeld JF, Drewe J, Beglinger C, Wolnerhanssen B (2016) Effect of L-tryptophan and L-leucine on gut hormone secretion, appetite feelings and gastric emptying rates in lean and non-diabetic obese participants: A randomized, double-blind, parallel-group trial. PLoS One 11:e0166758
- Monti LD, Galluccio E, Villa V, Fontana B, Spadoni S, Piatti PM (2018) Decreased diabetes risk over 9 year after 18-month oral L-arginine treatment in middle-aged subjects with impaired glucose tolerance and metabolic syndrome (extension evaluation of L-arginine study). Eur J Nutr 57:2805–2817
- Newgard CB, An J, Bain JR, Muehlbauer MJ, Stevens RD, Lien LF, Haqq AM, Shah SH, Arlotto M, Slentz CA, Rochon J, Gallup D, Ilkayeva O, Wenner BR, Yancy WS, Eisenson H, Musante G, Surwit RS, Millington DS, Butler MD, Svetkey LP (2009) A branched-chain amino acid-related metabolic signature that differentiates obese and lean humans and contributes to insulin resistance. Cell Metab 9:311–326
- Okekunle AP, Li Y, Liu L, Du S, Wu X, Chen Y, Li Y, Qi J, Sun C, Feng R (2017) Abnormal circulating amino acid profiles in multiple metabolic disorders. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 132:45–58
- Otter S, Lammert E (2016) Exciting times for pancreatic islets: glutamate signaling in endocrine cells. Trends Endocrinol Metab 27:177–188
- Preiss D, Rankin N, Welsh P, Holman RR, Kangas AJ, Soininen P, Wurtz P, Ala-Korpela M, Sattar N (2016) Effect of metformin therapy on circulating amino acids in a randomized trial: the CAMERA study. Diabet Med 33:1569–1574
- Raucci F, D'Aniello A, Di Fiore MM (2014) Stimulation of androgen production by D-aspartate through the enhancement of StAR, P450scc and 3β-HSD mRNA levels *in vivo* rat testis and in culture of immature rat Leydig cells. Steroids 84:103–110
- Rhee SY, Jung ES, Park HM, Jeong SJ, Kim K, Chon S, Yu S-Y, Woo J-T, Lee CH (2018) Plasma glutamine and glutamic acid are potential biomarkers for predicting diabetic retinopathy. Metabolomics 14:89
- Rosenberg D, Artoul S, Segal AC, Kolodney G, Radzishevsky I, Dikopoltsev E, Foltyn VN, Inoue R, Mori H, Billard JM, Wolosker H (2013) Neuronal D-serine and glycine release via the Asc-1 transporter regulates NMDA receptor-dependent synaptic activity. J Neurosci 33:3533–3544
- Samocha-Bonet D, Wong O, Synnott E-L, Piyaratna N, Douglas A, Gribble FM, Holst JJ, Chisholm DJ, Greenfield JR (2011) Glutamine reduces postprandial glycemia and augments the Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 response in type 2 diabetes patients. J Nutr 141:1233–1238
- Samocha-Bonet D, Chisholm DJ, Holst JJ, Greenfield JR (2015) L-glutamine and whole protein restore first-phase insulin response and increase glucagon-

like peptide-1 in type 2 diabetes patients. Nutrients 7:2101–2108

- Santillo A, Falvo S, Chieffi P, Burrone L, Chieffi Baccari G, Longobardi S, Di Fiore MM (2014) D-aspartate affects NMDA receptor-extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway and upregulates androgen receptor expression in the rat testis. Theriogenology 81:744–751
- Sato Y, Sato Y, Obeng KA, Yoshizawa F (2018) Acute oral administration of L-leucine upregulates slow-fiberand mitochondria-related genes in skeletal muscle of rats. Nutr Res 57:36–44
- Sekar R, Singh K, Arokiaraj AW, Chow BK (2016) Pharmacological actions of glucagon-like Peptide-1, gastric inhibitory polypeptide, and glucagon. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 326:279–341
- Smeets ETHC, Schutzler SE, Wei JY, Azhar G, Wolfe RR (2017) Do anabolic nutritional supplements stimulate human growth hormone secretion in elderly women with heart failure? Physiol Rep 5:e13366
- Steinert RE, Ullrich SS, Geary N, Asarian L, Bueter M, Horowitz M, Feinle-Bisset C (2017) Comparative effects of intraduodenal amino acid infusions on food intake and gut hormone release in healthy males. Physiol Rep 5:e13492
- Suwanjang W, Holmstrom KM, Chetsawang B, Abramov AY (2013) Glucocorticoids reduce intracellular calcium concentration and protects neurons against glutamate toxicity. Cell Calcium 53:256–263
- Suzuki M, Imanishi N, Mita M, Hamase K, Aiso S, Sasabe J (2017) Heterogeneity of D-serine distribution in the human central nervous system. ASN Neuro 9:1759091417713905
- Tanaka-Hayashi A, Hayashi S, Inoue R, Ito T, Konno K, Yoshida T, Watanabe M, Yoshimura T, Mori H (2015) Is D-aspartate produced by glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase-1 like 1 (Got111): a putative aspartate racemase? Amino Acids 47:79–86
- Tessier AJ, Chevalier S (2018) An update on protein, leucine, omega-3 fatty acids, and vitamin D in the prevention and treatment of sarcopenia and functional decline. Nutrients 10:1099
- Teymoori F, Asghari G, Mirmiran P, Azizi F (2017) Dietary amino acids and incidence of hypertension: A principle component analysis approach. Sci Rep 7:16838
- Teymoori F, Asghari G, Mirmiran P, Azizi F (2018) High dietary intake of aromatic amino acids increases risk of hypertension. J Am Soc Hypertens 12:25–33
- Topo E, Soricelli A, D'Aniello A, Ronsini S, D'Aniello G (2009) The role and molecular mechanism of D-aspartic acid in the release and synthesis of LH and testosterone in humans and rats. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 7:120
- Tsikas D, Wu (2015) Homoarginine, arginine, and relatives: Analysis, metabolism, transport, physiology, and pathology. Amino Acids 47:1697–1702
- Tsuboi T, Maeda M, Hayashi T (2018) Administration of L-arginine plus L-citrulline or L-citrulline alone suc-

cessfully retarded endothelial senescence. PLoS One 13:e0192252

- Wandita TG, Joshi N, Nam IS, Yang SH, Park HS, Hwang SG (2018) Dietary supplementation of purified amino acid derived from animal blood on immune response and growth performance of broiler chicken. Trop Anim Sci J 41:108–113
- Wang TJ, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Cheng S, Rhee EP, McCabe E, Lewis GD, Fox CS, Jacques PF, Fernandez C, O'Donnell CJ, Carr SA, Mootha VK, Florez JC, Souza A, Melander O, Clish CB, Gerszten RE (2011) Metabolite profiles and the risk of developing diabetes. Nat Med 17:448–453
- Wang XJ, Yang X, Wang RX, Jiao HC, Zhao JP, Song ZG, Lin H (2016) Leucine alleviates dexamethasoneinduced suppression of muscle protein synthesis via synergy involvement of mTOR and AMPK pathways. Biosci Rep 36:e00346
- Weng L, Quinlivan E, Gong Y, Beitelshees AL, Shahin MH, Turner ST, Chapman AB, Gums JG, Johnson JA, Frye RF, Garrett TJ, Cooper-DeHoff RM (2015) Association of branched and aromatic amino acids levels with metabolic syndrome and impaired fasting glucose in hypertensive patients. Metab Syndr Relat Disord 13:195–202
- Wu G (2009) Amino acids: metabolism, functions, and nutrition. Amino Acids 37:1–17
- Wu G (2013) Amino Acids: Biochemistry and Nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA
- Wu G (2016) Dietary protein intake and human health. Food Funct 7:1251–1265

- Wu G (2020) Important roles of dietary taurine, creatine, carnosine, anserine and hydroxyproline in human nutrition and health. Amino Acids 52:329–360
- Wu CS, Wei Q, Wang H, Kim DM, Balderas M, Wu G, Lawler J, Safe S, Guo S, Devaraj S, Chen Z, Sun Y (2020) Protective effects of ghrelin on fastinginduced muscle atrophy in aging mice. J Gerontol A 75:621–630
- Yin J, Han H, Li Y, Liu Z, Zhao Y, Fang R, Huang X, Zheng J, Ren W, Wu F, Liu G, Wu X, Wang K, Sun L, Li C, Li T, Yin Y (2017) Lysine restriction affects feed intake and amino acid metabolism via gut microbiome in piglets. Cell Physiol Biochem 44:1749–1761
- Yuan XW, Han SF, Zhang JW, Xu JY, Qin LQ (2015) Leucine supplementation improves leptin sensitivity in high-fat diet fed rats. Food Nutr Res 59:27373
- Zeanandin G, Balage M, Schneider SM, Dupont J, Hebuterne X, Mothe-Satney I, Dardevet D (2012) Differential effect of long-term leucine supplementation on skeletal muscle and adipose tissue in old rats: an insulin signaling pathway approach. Age 34:371–387
- Zevenbergen C, Meima ME, Lima de Souza EC, Peeters RP, Kinne A, Krause G, Visser WE, Visser TJ (2015) Transport of iodothyronines by human L-type amino acid transporters. Endocrinology 156:4345–4455
- Zhang Z, Adelman AS, Rai D, Boettcher J, Lonnerdal B (2013) Amino acid profiles in term and preterm human milk through lactation: a systematic review. Nutrients 5:4800–4821

7

Amino Acids in Reproductive Nutrition and Health

Haijun Gao

Abstract

Amino acids are not only the building blocks of proteins, an indispensable component of cells, but also play versatile roles in regulating cell metabolism, proliferation, differentiation and growth by themselves or through their derivatives. At the whole body level, the bioavailability and metabolism of amino acids, interacting with other macronutrients, is critical for the physiological processes of reproduction including gametogenesis, fertilization, implantation, placentation, fetal growth and development. In fertilization and early pregnancy, histotroph in oviductal and uterine secretions provides nutrients and microenvironment for conceptus (embryo and extraembryonic membranes) development. These nutrients include select amino acids in histotroph (arginine, leucine and glutamine of particular interest) that stimulate conceptus growth and development, as well as interactions between maternal uterus and the conceptus, thus impacting maintenance of pregnancy, placental growth, development and functions, fetal growth and development, and consequential pregnancy outcomes. Gestational

H. Gao (🖂)

Department of Obstetrics & Gynecology, Howard University College of Medicine, Washington, DC, USA e-mail: haijun.gao@howard.edu protein undernutrition causes fetal growth restriction and predisposes cardiovascular, metabolic diseases and others in offspring via multiple mechanisms, whereas the supplementation of glycine, leucine and taurine during pregnancy partially rescues growth restriction and beneficially modulates fetal programming. Thus, amino acids are essential for the fertility of humans and all animals.

Keywords

Amino acid · Nutrition · Reproduction · Metabolism · Uterus · Pregnancy · Mechanistic target of rapamycin

7.1 Introduction

Nutrition is critical for any organism's growth and reproduction because nutrients not only provide building blocks for the growth of any cell, organ and whole body, but also regulate the development of reproductive organs, onset of reproduction and fetal growth and development (Wallace et al. 2006; Wang et al. 2012; Bloomfield et al. 2013). Among nutrients, amino acids not only function as the building block of proteins, one of the major components of cells, tissues, organs or organisms, but also plays versatile roles in reproduction, development and production

Check for updates

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

G. Wu (ed.), *Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2_7

(Wu et al. 2004, 2014; Wu 2009). Here we review the essential functions of amino acids, particularly derived from diet, in reproductive processes including gametogenesis, conceptus development and the long term impacts of their nutritional status during pregnancy on the health and diseases of adult offspring. Because published studies that address the role of amino acid in reproduction focus on amino acid transport and metabolism, the related main findings will be the focus of this review. Mammals (e.g., humans, pigs, sheep and cattle) will be included, but knowledge from other vertebrates such as rodents is also discussed if appropriate.

7.2 Amino Acids in Gametogenesis

7.2.1 Oogenesis

In mammals, oogenesis is a long and complicated process, which requires the hormonal and nutritional interactions between oocyte and surrounding granulosa and/or cumulus cells, dependent on the stage of oogenesis. This event is also affected by the environment (Wu et al. 2019). To date, our understanding of the metabolic control of oocyte development primarily comes from the oocyte's in vitro maturation, while little is known about its metabolism in the early stage of oogenesis (Gu et al. 2015). Dietary deficiency of essential amino acids rapidly induces cessation of the rat estrous cycle (Narita et al. 2011), and preovulatory exposure to a protein-restricted diet disrupts amino acid kinetics and alters mitochondrial structure and function in the rat oocyte (Schutt et al. 2019). Therefore, amino acid metabolism is indispensable for oocyte development. Decreased amino acid transport proteins levels and increased glucose/lipid content in oocytes have been implicated in meiotic defects, organelle dysfunction and epigenetic alteration (Gu et al. 2015). To date, amino acid transport and metabolism in mammalian oocyte growth and development remains largely unknown.

The expression of amino acid transporter(s) in oocytes and follicular cells demonstrates a developmental stage-dependent manner. In mice, amino acid transport systems b^{0,+}, L, and asc/ ASC are active throughout oocyte growth and maturation; amino acid transport systems X_{AG}-, $B^{0,+}$, A, and CAT/y⁺ are not active in growing or meiotically maturing oocytes; amino acid transport systems GLY, β , and x_{c^-} are activated in oocytes during meiotic maturation (Pelland et al. 2009). In particular, glycine transport was mainly via system GLY and cysteine/glutamate transport was via system x_c- in immature oocytes, while system β , L, GLY, x_{c} , and $b^{0,+}$ were detected in matured oocytes (Haghighat and Van Winkle 1990; Van Winkle et al. 1990, 1992). Similarly, follicular cells (granulosa and cumulus cells) also demonstrated development stagedependent expression of amino acid transporters and ability to promote amino acid transport into oocyte (Eppig et al. 2005). The extent to which follicular cells enhance uptake of a particular amino acid into oocytes depends on at least three physiologically important variables, the stage of follicular development, the presence of other amino acids in the environment, and gap junctional communication (Haghighat and Van Winkle 1990). It is noteworthy that cumulus and granulosa cells have distinct pattern of expression of amino acid transporters, for instance, Slc38a3 (a transcript encoding a sodium-coupled neutral amino acid transporter that has high substrate preference for alanine) was abundantly expressed in cumulus cells (Eppig et al. 2005), while granulosa cells promote transport of Gly, Ala, taurine and Lys into oocytes (Colonna et al. 1983; Haghighat and Van Winkle 1990; Pelland et al. 2009).

The prolife of amino acids in follicular fluids in antral follicles changes with the progression of follicular development. In pigs, regardless of follicle size, Gly, Ala, Gln, and Pro were the most abundant amino acids in follicular fluid (Hong and Lee 2007). As follicle size increased in antral follicles, the concentration of Asn significantly increased, but the concentrations of other amino acids, except Arg and Trp, significantly decreased (Hong and Lee 2007).

Oocytes and follicular cells have different metabolic requirements. While growing oocytes preferentially metabolize pyruvate over glucose, the somatic compartment of ovarian follicles is more glycolytic. Accumulating evidence supports other nutrients, amino acids including Gln, Arg and Leu, and fatty acids, play an important role in the maturation of oocytes (Collado-Fernandez et al. 2012). Thus, the unusually high abundance of amino acids such as Gln may complement the metabolism of glucose and fatty acids via transamination and participation of the TCA cycle (Cetica et al. 2003), and serve as the energy substrate to support oocyte development (Collado-Fernandez et al. 2012). During oocyte maturation, the metabolism rate is increased and the oxidative metabolism is supported by an increase in glucose oxidation via the TCA cycle. This cycle is facilitated by pyruvate, Gln and Gly metabolism (Rieger and Loskutoff 1994). The utilization of amino acids also represents the developmental competence of oocyte in early embryonic development (Thompson et al. 2007).

7.2.2 Spermatogenesis

Similar to oogenesis, spermatogenesis is an intricate and complex process, which occurs in the two specialized compartments in seminiferous tubules, basal and Sertoli cell formed compartments. To date, little has been known about the metabolism of germ cells in the basal compartment where spermatogonia use glucose as a fuel for ATP production. More developed germ cells, such as spermatids, are unable to use glucose, despite of expressing all enzymes for glycolysis, and utilize lactate for ATP production (Boussouar and Benahmed 2004). The metabolism of sperm cells closely interacts with that of Sertoli cells when sperm germ cells enter meiosis. In general, Sertoli cells are involved in the regulation of spermatogenesis, providing nutritional support for germ cells. The characteristic of Sertoli cells in metabolism is its potent capacity of glycolysis, and low capacity of oxidative metabolism (Robinson and Fritz 1981; Grootegoed et al. 1986). Lactate is primarily derived from glycolysis in Sertoli cells (Robinson and Fritz 1981). The export of lactate from Sertoli cells by specific monocarboxylate transporters is responsible for improved lactate supply to germ cells and Sertoli cells preferentially use lipids as an energy source primarily via beta oxidation of fatty acids (Xiong et al. 2009). Recent studies suggest that despite being an energy substrate, glucose is not the main metabolite used for ATP synthesis in Sertoli cells (Riera et al. 2009), because Sertoli cells possesses a strong capacity of metabolizing fatty acids via the mitochondrial β -oxidation pathway (Xiong et al. 2009) and of the oxidation of amino acids, primarily Gln and Leu and also other amino acids, such as Ala and Val (Kaiser et al. 2005). Macronutrients have regulatory roles in Sertoli cells. First, glucose metabolism could modulate the oxidation of Ala and Val by competing with acetyl-CoA. Second, glucose metabolism stimulates the conversion of Val into lipids. Third, Gln inhibits the oxidation of Leu, Val, and Ala, but does not alter the conversion of these amino acids into lipids. Fourth, Gln also inhibits the incorporation of Ala into proteins (Kaiser et al. 2005). Fifth, Ala is the main glucogenic amino acid, since it can be converted into pyruvate that can be used as a substrate by Sertoli cells for several biochemical pathways, including the TCA cycle and possibly gluconeogenesis (Kaiser et al. 2005; Rato et al. 2012).

7.3 Amino Acids in Conceptus Development

In most mammalian species, fertilization and early mitotic divisions of the zygotes occur in the oviduct, followed by hatching from zona pellucid, implantation, placentation and fetal development in the uterus. Thus, oocytes containing nutrients, the oviductal fluid, uterine fluid and maternal circulation serve as the nutrient sources for conceptus development.

7.3.1 Fertilization Stage

Fertilization occurs in the oviduct for most mammals. The oviduct provides the minienvironment for fertilization and the subsequent development of zygotes and early embryo. In bovine oviduct fluid, concentrations of amino acids were not affected by day of cycle (Days 0, 2, 3, 4 and 6). Asp, Glu, Ser, Gly, Ala, Tyr, Phe and Lys in oviductal fluid were present in higher concentrations than in plasma. Gly was the most abundant amino acid, and the concentration of many amino acids in oviduct fluid were higher than their plasma levels, indicating their transport into the oviduct (Hugentobler et al. 2007). To date, how these amino acids are transported from maternal circulation to the oviductal fluid remains unknown; however, recent studies support the view that the presence of multiple embryos in the oviduct could induce many differentiated gene expressions in the oviductal epithelial cells (Maillo et al. 2015).

Amino acids in the oviductal fluid may affect the process of fertilization including sperm penetration and pronuclear formation. In pigs, sperm penetration was not altered by amino acid treatment during oocyte in vitro maturation (IVM), but monospermic fertilization was increased by Gln, Asp, and Val. All amino acids except Asp and Asn stimulated male pronuclear formation after IVF. Arg and Ala treatment during IVM improved blastocyst formation (Hong and Lee 2007). Interestingly, gonadotrophins (FSH and LH) plus 11 amino acids interacted with cysteamine (a mercaptoethylamine compound that is endogenously derived from the CoA degradation) to improve oocyte maturation, while enhancing the decondensation of spermatozoa and maternal pronuclear formation. However, the addition of 10% serum or gonadotrophins with or without amino acids did not support male pronuclear formation without cysteamine. This suggests the importance of cysteamine in the formation of male pronuclear formation. In contrast, female pronuclear formation was apparently similar between controls and IVM oocytes (Kito and Bavister 1997).

7.3.2 Peri-Implantation Stage

Embryonic loss represents a major constraint in both human reproduction and the livestock industry. There is a high rate of loss of early pregnancies in humans and 75% of this loss represents a failure of implantation (Wilcox et al. 1988). Much pregnancy wastage is caused by abnormal embryos (Roberts and Lowe 1975); however, it has been estimated that 27% of normal embryos are lost at the time of or soon after implantation (Clark 2003). Similarly, the incidence of embryonic loss in sheep is 20–30%, of which two-thirds occurs during the peri-implantation period between Days 12 and 18 of gestation (Nancarrow 1994), when rapid trophectoderm growth and conceptus elongation occur (Guillomot and Leroy 1993). In addition, up to 40% of cattle embryos die within 3 weeks of fertilization (Hugentobler et al. 2007). Therefore, periimplantation stage is critical for improving pregnancy outcomes.

In most mammals, an embryo at the morula stage enters uterine lumen and further develops in the minienvironment provided by uterine endometrium and uterine secretions termed histotroph. The latter includes secretions of uterine epithelia and molecules transported into the uterine lumen, a complex mixture of enzymes, growth factors, cytokines, lymphokines, hormones, transport proteins and nutrients. Histotroph is critical for growth and development of ovine conceptuses as they undergo morphological transitions from spherical to tubular to filamentous forms, as well as differentiation between Days 13 and 16 of pregnancy and immediately prior to implantation (Bazer 1975; Spencer and Bazer 2004). In ewes, survival and elongation of the conceptus as well as growth of trophectoderm are dependent on uterine secretions (Heyman et al. 1984; Flechon et al. 1986), as conceptuses fail to elongate beyond the tubular stage of development in ewes lacking uterine glands (Gray et al. 2001). Histotroph supports conceptus survival and development during the critical peri-implantation period of pregnancy in mammals (Bazer 1975; Spencer and Bazer 2004).

7.3.2.1 Amino Acid Profile in Uterine Secretions

Among the components in histotroph, amino acids play critical roles in embryonic development, especially the trophectoderm development during peri-implantation stage. In reality, amino acid turnover has been identified as an indicator of embryonic viability in humans and cattle (Houghton et al. 2002; Sturmey et al. 2010). To date, the amino acid profile in the uterine secretions has been measured in sheep (Gao et al. 2009d), pigs (Bazer et al. 2015a), cattle (Forde et al. 2014), and humans (Kermack et al. 2015).

In sheep, total recoverable glucose, Arg, Gln, Leu, Asp, Glu, Asn, His, beta-Ala, Tyr, Trp, Met, Val, Phe, Ile, Lys, Cys, Pro, glutathione, calcium, and sodium were greater in the uterine fluid of pregnant compared with cyclic ewes between Days 10 and 16. In cyclic ewes, only modest changes in the total amounts of glucose, Asn, Cit, Tyr, Trp, Met, Val, Cys, glutathione, calcium, and potassium were detected between Days 3 and 16. However, in pregnant ewes, amounts of glucose, Arg, Gln, Glu, Gly, Cys, Leu, Pro, glutathione, calcium, and potassium in uterine fluids increased 3- to 23-fold between Days 10 and 14 and remained high to Day 16. Of particular interest were increases in glucose, Arg, Leu, and Gln in uterine flushings of pregnant ewes between Days 10 and 16 of pregnancy (Fig. 7.1). Total amounts of His, ornithine (Orn), Lys, Ser, Thr, Ile, Phe, Trp, Met, and Cit in uterine fluids also increased, but to a lesser extent during early pregnancy. These novel results indicate activation of pregnancy-associated mechanisms for transport of nutrients into the uterine lumen, and they provide a framework for future studies of nutrients, including glucose, amino acids, and glutathione, required to activate nutrient-sensing cell signaling pathways for growth, development, and survival of conceptuses, as well as for optimization of culture media for in vitro studies of conceptus development (Gao et al. 2009d). The detailed amino acid profile in the ovine uterine flushings from cyclic and early pregnant ewes were described in our original publication (Gao et al. 2009d). Similarly, there were significant changes in amino acids in uterine flushing of pigs during



Fig. 7.1 Total recoverable Glucose (a), arginine (b), leucine (c) and glutamine (d) (nmol) in uterine flushings from cyclic and pregnant ewes. Effects of day, pregnancy status and day by pregnancy status were significant (P < 0.05)

the estrous cycle (Days 5-15) and pregnancy (Days 9-15). Among all amino acids investigated, concentrations of Arg, Gln, Leu, His, Orn, Lys, Asp, Ser and Cys were affected by the status of pregnancy or cyclicity; concentrations of Arg, His, Asn, Gly, Ala, Cys, Glutathione, Tyr, Trp and Pro were changed with the days investigated; concentrations of Gln, Glu, Ser, Cys and Trp were affected by the interaction of status of pregnancy and Days (Bazer et al. 2015a). Amino acid profiles in bovine uterine secretions were also changed with the status of the estrus cycle and/or pregnancy. The concentrations of multiple amino acids (Asp, Arg, Gln, His, Lys, Ile, Leu, Phe, tTyr, Glu, Asn and Val) in bovine uterine luminal fluid were increased during peri-implantation (Days 7-19 of pregnancy investigated) (Forde et al. 2014).

In literature, there is only one study of amino acid profile in human uterine secretions. In nonpregnant subjects, concentrations of 18 amino acids were not significantly altered by age, BMI, cycle phase or the presence of specific benign gynecological pathologies, although concentrations of several amino acids in the uterine fluid were increased by Western diet, including Asn, His, Ser, Gln, Val, Phe, Ile and Leu. In addition, there were no significant correlations between serum amino acid concentrations and those in the uterine fluid (Kermack et al. 2015).

7.3.2.2 Nutrient Sensing: Mechanistic Target of Rapamycin (MTOR) Signaling

MTOR, a highly conserved serine-threonine protein kinase, senses and responds to changes in amino acid levels and energy sufficiency, as well as select agents, such as hormones and mitogens (Dennis et al. 1996; Gingras et al. 1999, 2001), thus integrating both extracellular and intracellular factors to control growth and development of cells and tissues. MTOR and associated proteins comprise two structurally and functionally distinct complexes, mTORC1 and mTORC2 (Guertin et al. 2006; Wullschleger et al. 2006; Liao et al. 2008). The MTOR-associated proteins appear to determine specificity of the two different cell signaling pathways

(Schmelzle and Hall 2000; Gao et al. 2002; Zhang et al. 2003; Sarbassov et al. 2005) mediated by mTOR complexes, associated regulators and effectors.

MTORC1 and MTORC2 mediated cell signaling pathways may be critical for growth and development of the conceptus, as well as implantation. First, in mice, disruption of the MTOR gene leads to post-implantation lethality due to impaired cell proliferation and hypertrophy in both the embryonic disc and trophoblast (Gangloff et al. 2004; Murakami et al. 2004) and dysfunction of MTOR complex 1 and 2 leads to fetal lethality occurring at different stages of development (Guertin et al. 2006; Jacinto et al. 2006; Shiota et al. 2006). Second, MTOR signaling regulates translation of proteins in the uterus, including insulin-like growth factor-2 (IGF2), ornithine decarboxylase (ODC1) and nitric oxide synthases (NOS) (Nielsen et al. 1995; Kimball et al. 1999; Martin and Sutherland 2001), which play important roles in trophoblast cell proliferation, differentiation and migration in varied species including sheep and pigs (Kim et al. 2008, 2011, 2013; Kong et al. 2012, 2014; Wang et al. 2014a, b, 2015, 2016; Lenis et al. 2018). Third, MTOR promotes translation of the "polypyrimidine tract" mRNA family (Jefferies et al. 1994) that is critical to fetal and placental development (Ohlsson et al. 1989; Zhou and Bondy 1992; Wathes et al. 1998), as well as trophoblast development, differentiation, and motility (Martin and Sutherland 2001; Martin et al. 2003; Wu et al. 2004). Fourth, emerging evidence indicates that the MTOR cell signaling pathways regulate expression of the glucose transporters SLC2A1 (Buller et al. 2008; Zhou et al. 2008) and SLC2A12 (Schmid et al. 2008), and amino acid transporters SLC1A5 (neutral amino acid transporter) (Fuchs and Bode 2005; Fuchs et al. 2007) and SLC7A5 (L-type amino acid transporter 1) (Liu et al. 2004; Fuchs and Bode 2005), which together with other amino acid transporters mediate the transport of glucose or amino acids from blood circulation into histotroph including oviductal and uterine secretions, critical microenvironments for fertilization and early conceptus development.

117

Our previous study demonstrated, for the first time, that MTOR and its complexes are present in both ovine uterine endometrium and conceptus during peri-implantation stage (Gao et al. 2009c). The mRNAs for MTOR, LST8, MAPKAP1, RAPTOR, RICTOR, TSC1, TSC2, RHEB, and EIF4EBP1 were localized to luminal, superficial glandular, and glandular epithelia and stromal cells of uteri from cyclic and pregnant ewes, as well as trophectoderm and endoderm of conceptuses between Days 13 and 18 of pregnancy. In endometria of pregnant ewes, increases in abundance of mRNAs for RICTOR, RHEB, and EIF4EBP1, as well as RHEB protein, correlated with rapid conceptus growth and development during the peri-implantation period. In addition, P4 and IFNT stimulated expression of RHEB and EIF4EBP1 in uterine endometria. These results suggest that the MTOR cell signaling pathway mediates interactions between the maternal uterus and peri-implantation conceptuses and that P4 and IFNT affect this pathway by regulating expression of RHEB and EIF4EBP1. To support this notion, further in vivo and ex vivo studies have demonstrated the critical role of MTOR signaling in early conceptus development in response to IGF2, SPP1 (osteopontin), select nutrients (glucose, Arg, Leu and Gln) and manipulation of production of NO and polyamine (Mehrotra et al. 1998; Wu and Morris 1998; Martin and Sutherland 2001; Martin et al. 2003; Kwon et al. 2004; Wu et al. 2005).

7.3.2.3 Amino Acid Transport

Amino acid transporters are required for amino acid transport from blood circulation into tissue and cells where amino acids are utilized. In human placentae, amino acid transport requires active amino acid transporters which belong to different families and systems (Regnault and Hay 2006; Grillo et al. 2008), but little is known about their expression in the uterine endometrium and conceptuses in livestock. Our studies, taking the advantage of prolonged period of periimplantation in ovine conceptus development, first revealed the expression of multiple amino acid transporters in ovine uterine endometrium and conceptus (Gao et al. 2009a, b).

Cationic amino acids including Arg are primarily transported by SLC7A1-3. SLC7A1 mRNA was most abundant in endometrial luminal (LE) and superficial glandular (sGE) epithelia in both cyclic and early pregnant ewes, SLC7A2 mRNA was most abundant in LE and mid to deep glandular (GE) epithelia on Days 14-20 of gestation and SLC7A3 mRNA was expressed ubiquitously in uterine endometrial cells. SLC7A1, SLC7A2, and SLC7A3 mRNAs were expressed in trophectoderm and endoderm of conceptuses. More importantly, the expression of SLC7A2 in uterine endometrium was induced by P4 and further stimulated by IFNT (Gao et al. 2009a), which may be responsible for the marked increase of Arg in uterine secretions during early pregnancy (Gao et al. 2009d). The detailed mRNA expressions of neutral and acidic amino acids transporters in ovine uterine tissue and conceptus are summarized in Table 7.1. Briefly, SLC1A2, SLC3A1, SLC6A14, SLC1A3, SLC6A19, SLC7A6, SLC38A3, and SLC38A6 mRNAs were weakly expressed in the ovine endometrium. However, SLC1A4, SLC1A5, SLC7A8, and SLC43A2 mRNAs were detectable in uterine luminal epithelia (LE), superficial glandular epithelia (sGE), and/or glandular epithelia (GE). SLC1A1 and SLC7A5 mRNAs were most abundant in LE/sGE and GE. SLC1A3 and SLC38A4 mRNAs were most abundant in uterine stroma. SLC38A6 mRNA was detected only in cells with a stromal distribution suggesting immune lineage. SLC1A5 mRNA was expressed primarily in LE/sGE and stromal cells, and it was more abundant in uteri of pregnant ewes. Furthermore, P4 induced and IFNT further stimulated SLC1A5 expression in LE/sGE. Endometrial SLC1A1, SLC7A5, and SLC43A2 mRNAs demonstrated both temporal and cell SLC specific changes. Several mRNAs were detectable in trophectoderm (SLC6A19, SLC7A5, SLC7A6, and SLC43A2), while others were more abundant in endoderm (SLC1A4, SLC1A5, SLC6A19, SLC7A5, SLC7A6, SLC7A8, and SLC43A2) of conceptuses. These results document coordinate changes in expression of transporters that are likely responsible for increases in amounts of neutral and acidic amino acids in the uterine

Gene	
abbreviation	Full name of gene in HGNC and function
SLC1A1 a	Solute carrier family 1 (neuronal/
	epithelial high affinity glutamate
	transporter, system X_{AG}), member 1
SLC1A2 *	Solute carrier family 1 (glial high
	affinity glutamate transporter), member
	2
SLC1A3 * b	Solute carrier family 1 (glial high
	affinity glutamate transporter), member
at at t to d	3
SLCIA4 ^{a,d}	Solute carrier family 1 (glutamate/
	4 neutral amino acid transporter), member
SLC1A5 a,b,d	Solute carrier family 1 (neutral amino
	acid transporter), member 5
SLC3A1 *	Solute carrier family 3 (cystine, dibasic
	and neutral amino acid transporters,
	activator of cystine, dibasic and neutral
	amino acid transport), member 1
SLC6A14 *	Solute carrier family 6 (amino acid
	transporter), member 14
SLC6A19 *	Solute carrier family 6 (neutral amino
d	acid transporter), member 19
SLC7A5 ^{b,d}	Solute carrier family 7 (cationic amino
	acid transporter, y + system), member
	5; transport large neutral amino acid
SLC7A6 * d	Solute carrier family 7 (cationic amino
	acid transporter, y + system), member
	6; transport cationic and neutral amino
at an india	
SLC/A8 ^{a,u}	Solute carrier family / (cationic amino
	acid transporter, y + system), member
	8; transport large and small neutral
GL G204.2 *	amino acids
SLC38A3 *	Solute carrier family 38, member 3;
	corporaging
CL C 204 4 *	Solute comion formily 28 meanshor 4:
<i>SLC38A4</i> *	solute carrier family 38, member 4;
	etc
SIC3816 °	Solute carrier family 38 member 6
SLCJOAU	transport neutral amino acids
SIC43A2	Solute carrier family 43 member 4:
a,d	transport large neutral amino acids
	a anoport imge neutral annio aetas

Table 7.1 Gene name and function of members of solutecarrier families 1, 3, 7 and 43

*Weak to undetectable in uterine endometrial epithelia aDetectable in endometrial luminal, superficial glandular and/or glandular epithelia

^bExpression most abundant in endometrial stroma

^cDetected in unidentified cells in endometrial stroma that appeared to be macrophages

^dDetected in conceptus trophectoderm and endoderm

lumen to support conceptus growth, development, and survival (Gao et al. 2009b).

Similar to sheep, temporal changes in the expression of amino acid transporters in the endometrium and conceptus occurred during early pregnancy in cattle (Days 7–19 of pregnancy) and SLC1A1, -1A4, -1A5, -38A2, -38A4, -38A7, -43A2, -6A14, -7A1, -7A5 and -7A7 in the endometrium, some of which were modified by P4 (Bazer et al. 2015a). Temporal changes in expression of the cationic AA transporters SLC7A1, SLC7A4 and SLC7A6 occurred in the endometrium during the estrous cycle/early pregnancy coordinate with changes in conceptus expression of SLC7A4, SLC7A2 and SLC7A1. Only one acidic AA transporter (SLC1A5) increased in the endometrium while conceptus expression of SLC1A4 increased. The neutral AA transporters SLC38A2 and SLC7A5 increased in the endometrium in a temporal manner while conceptus expression of SLC38A7, SLC43A2, SLC38A11 and SLC7A8 also increased.

It is noteworthy that due to the lack of specific inhibitor for certain amino acid transporters and the substrate sharing among different amino acid transporters, it is difficult to analyze the activity of single amino acid transporter in vivo or ex vivo. More advanced techniques are highly demanded in the study of amino acid transport in both uterine endometrium and conceptus during peri-implantation and thereafter. Overexpression of genes or specific knockout of genes/proteins can provide a powerful tool to study a role of amino acid transporters in conceptus survival, growth and development.

7.3.2.4 Select Amino Acid Metabolism in Conceptus During Peri-Implantation Stage

Arginine

Arg is a conditionally essential amino acid for conceptus survival, growth and development (Wu et al. 2013, 2017, 2018). In general, Arg exerts its functions primarily through its metabolites and is a precursor for important biological molecules including urea, creatinine, Orn, Pro, nitric oxide, agmatine (Agm) and polyamines (Wu and Morris 1998). Arginine metabolism via nitric oxide and polyamines plays critical roles in conceptus development (Mehrotra et al. 1998; Wu and Morris 1998; Martin and Sutherland 2001; Martin et al. 2003; Kwon et al. 2004; Wu et al. 2005). In addition, Arg activates the mTOR cell signaling pathway to induce proliferation, migration and adhesion of ovine and pig trophectoderm cells required for implantation, survival and growth of blastocysts, as well as survival, growth, and health of mammalian conceptuses (Kong et al. 2012, 2014; Wang et al. 2014a, 2016; Bazer et al. 2015a).

In the ovine conceptus, mRNA expressions of SLC7A1-3 are present during peri-implantation stage. In vivo morpholino antisense oligonucleotide (MAO)-mediated knockdown of SLC7A1 mRNA in ovine trophectoderm report that SLC7A1 accounts for 73% of arginine uptake, thus being the key transporter of arginine by conceptus trophectoderm (Wang et al. 2014a). Interestingly, MAO knockdown of SLC7A1 also reduced the abundance of ornithine decarboxyl-ase, and nitric oxide synthase (NOS3) proteins, arginine-related amino acids [Cit (76%) and Orn (40%)] and polyamines, which likely accounts for the retarded development (Wang et al. 2014a).

In ovine trophectoderm cells, Arg is used for biosynthesis of NO and polyamines (putrescine, spermidine and spermine) (Wang et al. 2014b, 2015; Lenis et al. 2018), which are critical to the morphological transition of conceptuses from the spherical to filamentous forms and signaling for pregnancy recognition by IFNT from conceptus trophectoderm. The NOS3 is rate-limiting enzymes in the production of NO in ovine conceptus, while ODC1, is the rate limiting enzyme in the production of polyamines from ornithine which is derivatives of arginine catalyzed by arginase I/II. In addition, Arg is also converted to agmatine by ADC and agmatine is converted to putrescine by AGMAT in the uterus and conceptus trophectoderm to generate polyamines or agmatine may have direct effects on the uterus or conceptus (Wang et al. 2014b). Both putrescine and NO stimulate cell proliferation via activation

of the TSC2-MTOR signaling cascade, whereas only putrescine increased IFNT production (Wang et al. 2015). MAO-mediated knockdown ODC1 and ADC mRNAs was most detrimental to conceptus development and their production of IFNT. Agm, polyamines, amino acids, and adequate secretion of IFNT are critical for establishment and maintenance of pregnancy during the peri-implantation period of gestation in sheep (Lenis et al. 2018) (Fig. 7.2).

Arg also stimulates cell migration of ovine trophoblast cells and demonstrates synergistic effects on adhesion medicated by SPP1 in ovine trophectoderm cells. Those cooperative effects of arginine and SPP1 were mediated by focal adhesion assembly-MTORC2-cytoskeletal reorganization and MAPK pathways, which may play an important role in rapid elongation of ovine conceptuses during the peri-implantation period of pregnancy (Wang et al. 2016).

The acute stimulation of L-arginine on MTOR signaling has been reported in ovine and porcine trophoblast cells. In ovine trophoblast cells, Arg activates mTOR cell signaling and phosphorylation of RPS6, V-AKT murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog 1 (AKT1), glycogen synthase kinase 3-beta (GSK3B), mTOR and RPS6 kinase (RPS6K) proteins (Kim et al. 2010). Similarly, Arg activates MTOR signaling dose-dependently in porcine trophectoderm cell line (Kong et al. 2012) via the production of putrescine (Kong et al. 2014).

Leucine

Among all amino acids investigated before, the role of Leu in regulating activities of EIF4EBP1 and RPS6KB1 via MTOR signaling is well established (Proud 2002; Ban et al. 2004). Leu is the most effective single amino acid as other amino acids have little or no effect on phosphorylation or dephosphorylation of EIF4EBP1. Leu has a potent capability of regulating kinase activity of RPS6KB1 through phosphorylation (Ban et al. 2004). It has been proposed that Leu modulates MTOR function, in part, by regulating mitochondrial function and AMPK because it may serve both as a mitochondrial fuel through oxidative carboxylation and as an allosteric activator of



Fig. 7.2 Biosynthesis of nitric oxide and polyamines from L-arginine in ovine trophectoderm cells. Arg in uterine lumen, primarily transported by solute carrier family 7 member 2 (SLC7A2) in uterine endometrial epithelia, is transported into trophectoderm (Tr) and/or endoderm (En) cells by the solute carrier family 7 member 1 (SLC7A1) where Arg can be converted to nitric oxide (NO) by nitric oxide synthase 3 (NOS3) or can be converted to ornithine

glutamate dehydrogenase (Tokunaga et al. 2004). In ovine trophectoderm cells, leucine stimulates MTOR-RPS6K-RPS6 cell signaling pathways to stimulate hypertrophy, hyperplasia, and migration (Kim et al. 2011). Similarly, in porcine trophectoderm cells, physiological levels of Leu stimulate activities of mTOR and RPS6K, and proliferation of trophectoderm cells (Kim et al. 2013). More importantly, dietary supplementation of Leu during pregnancy may promote fetal growth and pregnancy outcome (Teodoro et al. 2012; Liu et al. 2018); therefore, Leu has the potential to be applied in the livestock industry and human clinic to overcome fetal growth restriction.

by arginase and then ornithine is converted to putrescine by ornithine decarboxylase (ODC1). However, the sheep conceptus can also convert arginine to agmatine via arginine decarboxylase and agmatine can be converted to putrescine by agmatinase. *ADC* arginine decarboxylase, *BH4* tetrahydrobiopterin, *OCT* optimal cutting temperature, *AGMAT* agmatinase. (Gao et al. 2009a; Bazer et al. 2015b)

Glutamine

To date, little is known about the Gln metabolism during early conceptus development in livestock. In ovine fetuses, however, Gln may be synthesized from branched-chain amino acids (BCAA) including Ile, Leu, and Val by BCAA transaminase in the placenta (Goodwin et al. 1987). Gln metabolism provides reducing equivalents for energy production in ovine (Wales and Du 1994) and bovine (Rieger et al. 1992) conceptuses, possibly to compensate for glucose metabolism (Gardner et al. 1993). In addition, Gln is essential for the synthesis of nucleotides, NAD(P)⁺, and aminosugars (glucosamine-6-phosphate, UDP-N-acetylgalactosamine, and UDP-N-

acetylglucosamine), and a precursor for synthesis of all macromolecules containing amino sugars (Wu 2013; Flynn et al. 2002). Gln can be converted into citrulline, the precursor of Arg, in ovine placentae (Kwon et al. 2003a) and inhibit NO production from Arg (Wu et al. 2001); therefore, Gln and Arg are closely linked in conceptus metabolism. There is evidence that dietary supplementation with glutamine to swine during late gestation enhances pregnancy outcomes (Wu et al. 2011).

Proline

Little is known about proline metabolism and function in the conceptuses in early pregnancy; however, ovine placentae have a high capacity for Pro catabolism and polyamine production as Pro is synthesized from pyrroline-5-carboxylate (P5C) by cytosolic NAD(P)H)-dependent P5C reductase, and P5C is formed mainly from Orn, Gln and Glu (Wu and Morris 1998; Wu et al. 2008b). Arg can also be converted into Pro in ovine placentae via the arginase pathway (Kwon et al. 2003b). Pro is a major substrate for polyamine synthesis via Pro oxidase, Orn aminotransferase and Orn decarboxylase in both ovine and porcine placentae. Pro can be converted into ornithine, which is subsequently converted into putrescine, spermidine and spermine via ornithine decarboxylase (ODC), spermidine synthase and spermine synthase, respectively in the cytosol (Wu et al. 2005). In addition, allantoic and amniotic fluids contain enzymes to convert Pro into Orn for delivery into the circulation of the conceptus (Kwon et al. 2003b). The important role of Pro in fetal development is supported by a positive association between fetal growth and Pro availability during pregnancy. Reduced placental and reduced fetal growth are associated with reductions in placental Pro transport, Pro oxidase activity, and concentrations of polyamines in gestating dams with either naturally occurring or malnutrition-induced growth retardation, while increasing Pro availability in maternal plasma through nutritional or pharmacological modulation in pigs and sheep enhances concentrations of Pro and polyamines in placentae and fetal fluids,

as well as fetal growth (Wu et al. 2008a). In support of an important role of Pro in mammalian pregnancy, Liu et al. (2019a) recently reported that dietary supplementation with Pro to gestating mice enhanced the number of live-born pups. Interestingly, the F1 generation female offspring from Pro-supplemented dams had higher concentrations of Glu and Tau in plasma; of putrescine and spermidine in placental tissues; and of Gly, Tau, and spermidine in amniotic fluid at E12.5, as compared with F1 generation female offspring from dams without Pro supplementation (Liu et al. 2019b).

Other Amino Acids

Other amino acids play important roles in conceptus development. For example, Ala, and Ser, together with Gln, are major glucogenic precursors in humans (Wu 2013) and ewes (Clark et al. 1976). Ser also plays an important role in onecarbon unit metabolism essential for 2'-deoxythymidylate synthesis and methylation (Snell and Fell 1990). Ser participates in the synthesis of phosphatidylserine and ceramide (signaling molecules). These events are critical for DNA synthesis and consequently, cell proliferation. Gly and Ser are interconvertible via serine hydroxymethyltransferase, which also contributes to onecarbon unit metabolism essential for synthesis of purine and pyrimidine nucleotides in DNA synthesis and cell proliferation. Interestingly, Gly is the most abundant amino acid in ovine uterine arterial plasma (Kwon et al. 2003a), and uterine fluids from cyclic cows (Hugentobler et al. 2007).

7.3.3 Placentation Stage and Thereafter

In contrast to the extensive studies during periimplantation stage, little is known about the amino acid transport and metabolism in placentation stage in most species. Placentation refers to the formation and arrangement of placenta, leading to a fully functional placenta, which maintains pregnancy, nurtures the fetus and modulates the bidirectional interactions between the mother and fetus. Like the formation of any organs, the development of placenta undergoes cell proliferation, death and differentiation in two major types of cells, trophoblast and endothelial cells, which execute two primary functions of the placenta, nutrient transport from the maternal circulation to fetal capillaries and hormone synthesis and release.

Studies of amino acids in the placenta can be primarily divided into two fields of research, metabolic pathways and transport systems (Vonnahme et al. 2015). Previous research has shown net uteroplacental consumption of Ile, Leu, and Val, while Met was the only essential amino acid showing a net uteroplacental release (Chung et al. 1998). The ovine placenta has the capability of Gln synthesis due to the activity of Gln synthetase, which catalyzes the transamination of Glu, derived from α -ketoglutarate (Wu et al. 2015), a metabolite of branch-chained amino acids in the placenta (Chung et al. 1998). BCAA, especially Leu can activate mTOR signaling, a nutritional sensor, which stimulates cell growth and protein synthesis via increased rates of mRNA translation through the phosphorylation of eukaryotic initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1 (4E-BP1) and the ribosomal protein S6 kinase 1, and also cell proliferation, differentiation and migration. The regulatory mechanisms of amino acids on mTOR signaling have been described above. Supplementation of Leu to dams on a protein deficient diet can restore fetal growth and minimize the decreases in fetal organ mass and carcass fat, which is associated with increased mTOR signaling in the fetus (Teodoro et al. 2012). On the other hand, mTOR signaling regulates several type of amino acid transporters in trophoblast cells or cell lines at transcriptional and posttranslational levels (Edinger and Thompson 2002). In human primary trophoblast cell cultures, rapamycin, the inhibitor of mTOR complex 1, reduced the activity of system A, system L, and taurine amino acid transporters, but not protein expression, thus, amino acid transporter activation may be independent of protein synthesis (Edinger and Thompson 2002).

7.3.4 Beneficial Effects of Dietary Arginine Supplementation on Embryonic/Fetal Survival and Growth in Mammals

Dietary supplementation of Arg has been studied extensively in pregnant pigs in the past decade, with the dose and timing of supplementation being determined to maximize the benefits of Arg in reproductive performance of pregnant dams. To date, dietary Arg at the doses of 0.4, 0.5, 0.83, 1 and 1.7% has been supplemented to pregnant sows at the early, mid and late gestation. Most of these studies demonstrated the beneficial effect of Arg on pregnancy outcomes including increased live litter size and birthweight (Wu et al. 2017, 2018). An increase in the number of live-born pigs markedly increases the profit margin associated with reproduction and lactation performance in dams and reduced low-birthweight piglets greatly improves the management of neonatal pigs and maximizes pre-weaning survival and growth (Wu et al. 2010). However, dietary Arg supplementation immediately postmating at the dose of 0.83% may have deleterious effects on reproductive performance of pigs (ovulation, luteinization and fetal development) (Li et al. 2010), and in stark contrast, dietary Arg supplementation starting post-mating 14 increased reproductive performance (Berard and Bee 2010; Li et al. 2014). In addition, Arg supplementation from early to late gestation increased pregnancy outcomes (increased live litter size and birth weight), but whether Arg supplementation at late gestation is beneficial is controversial (Bass et al. 2017; Nuntapaitoon et al. 2018). Thus, maternal dietary Arg supplementation holds great promise in improving reproductive efficiency in livestock industry.

Besides pregnant pigs, other species also benefit from the supplementation of Arg during pregnancy, including sheep, rats and humans. Intravenous administration of Arg prevents IUGR in underfed ewes (Lassala et al. 2010) and dietinduced obese ewes (Carey Satterfield et al. 2012). Dietary supplementation of pregnant rats with Arg increased the numbers of implantation sites and litter size by approximately three (Zeng et al. 2008, 2013). More interestingly, intravenous Arg supplementation also improved fetalplacental growth and prevented IUGR in pregnant women by reducing placental apoptosis and improving fetal growth and development (Shen and Hua 2011), increasing birth weight at term (Xiao and Li 2005; Singh et al. 2015), reducing diastolic blood pressure and prolonging pregnancy in patients with gestational hypertension with or without proteinuria (Gui et al. 2014). Thus, Arg supplementation could be potentially used to prevent or treat IUGR and pregnancy related disorders.

7.4 Amino Acids in Developmental Origins of Health and Diseases

7.4.1 Protein Restriction During Maternal Gestation and Associated Fetal Growth Restriction and Fetal Programming of Adult Diseases

Evidence from numerous human studies and animal experiments supports the Barker Hypothesis, which propose that the in utero environment especially nutrition affects fetal growth and development and has long term effects on offspring health and diseases in adulthood (Fleming et al. 2015; Daniels 2016; Sferruzzi-Perri and Camm 2016). Pregnant rats with dietary protein insufficiency have been widely used as an animal model in the study of fetal programming of adult diseases, or developmental origin of adult health and diseases and other experimental models include mice (Gheorghe et al. 2009; Mortensen et al. 2010; Gonzalez et al. 2016) and non-human primate (Roberts et al. 2018). One of important findings in the study of gestational protein insufficiency is the association between fetal growth restriction and predisposition of adult diseases. Gestational protein insufficiency programmed diseases include cardiovascular diseases (hypertension, cardiac and arterial disorders), metabolic diseases (obesity and diabetes) and endocrine disorders (Sferruzzi-Perri and Camm 2016). To date, although many mechanisms have been proposed, the placenta is emerging as a critical player in fetal programming (Burton et al. 2016; Sferruzzi-Perri and Camm 2016; Myatt and Thornburg 2018). Placentas of dams with gestational protein insufficiency demonstrate impaired growth and placental efficiency (the ratio of fetal to placental weight) (Gao et al. 2012a), which is associated with reduced expression and/or activities of amino acid transporters and MTOR signaling (Jansson et al. 2006; Rosario et al. 2011; Sferruzzi-Perri and Camm 2016).

7.4.2 Amino Acids in Maternal and Fetal Plasma in Response to a Low Protein Diet During Pregnancy

One may assume that the abundance of amino acids in maternal plasma will be decreased if pregnancy dams are fed a low protein diet. In striking contrast to this assumption, in pregnant rats fed the low protein diet during mid and late pregnancy, the total concentration of amino acids in maternal plasma is not reduced by protein insufficiency, resulting from increased levels of so-called "non-essential amino acids" and reduced levels of essential amino acids (Gao et al. 2012a) and altered maternal metabolism related to diet intake (Gao et al. 2015a, b) and insulin secretion (Gao et al. 2017), which may represent a successful adaptation to maternal nutritional stresses. Similarly, protein-deficient gilts maintain maternal plasma concentrations of amino acids by mobilizing maternal protein stores and decreasing oxidation of amino acids during the first half of gestation (Wu et al. 1998). The "non-essential amino acids" likely play an important role in the adaptation of the conceptus to a nutritional insult for survival.

To date, few studies measured fetal plasma amino acids in response to maternal dietary protein insufficiency due to the technical limits in fetal plasma sampling in most experimental animals. In rats with gestational protein insufficiency, among all the measured amino acids, Thr is the only amino acid whose fetal plasma levels are remarkably reduced in late pregnancy (Rees et al. 1999). However, the dietary supplementation of Thr failed to rescue the fetal growth restriction and programmed adult diseases in offspring (Rees et al. 2006). In contrast, in pigs, reduced concentration of multiple amino acids were seen in both fetal plasma and allantoic fluid during mid-pregnancy (fetal plasma: Ala, Arg, BCAAs, Gln, Gly, Lys, Orn, Pro, Tau, Thr and urea; allantoic fluid: Ala, Arg, BCAA, Cit, Cys, Gly, His, Met, Pro, Ser, Tau, Thr and Tyr) (Wu et al. 1998). This discrepancy in fetal amino acid profile in response to gestational protein insufficiency may result from species differences in the metabolism, stage of pregnancy as well as different diet components.

7.4.3 Mechanisms of Fetal Growth Restriction

To date, emerging evidence suggests the following mechanisms to be responsible for fetal growth restriction. Reduced mTOR signaling in the placenta. Gestational protein insufficiency in rats leads to reduced mTOR signaling, and decreased expressions and activities of several sodiumdependent neutral amino acid transporters such as system A in the placenta (Jansson et al. 2006), possibly due to reduced plasma BCAAs (Gao et al. 2012a) and insulin (Gao et al. 2017) which are known stimulators of MTOR signaling.

Activation of the amino acid response (AAR) pathway in the placenta and IGFBP-1 activity. The mammalian AAR pathway (activating transcription factor-3 and 4) in the placenta are upregulated by a maternal low-protein diet (Strakovsky et al. 2010) and the activation of AAR stimulates both IGFBP-1 secretion and hyperphosphorylation (pSer101/pSer119/ pSer169), decreasing IGF-1 bioavailability and its activity as potent regulator of fetal growth (Karl 1995).

Altered renin-angiotensin system (RAS) in maternal, uterine and placental compartments.

RAS plays a critical role in regulating blood flow, including the blood flow in maternal-utero-fetal units. The low protein diet alters the expression of RAS in maternal and utero-placental units, including enhanced angiotensin II production in maternal lung (Gao et al. 2012d, 2016), increased expression of angiotensin receptor type I in uterine artery (Gao et al. 2012d), reduced expression of angiotensin converting enzyme II (ACE2) in placental labyrinth zone (Gao et al. 2012c). All these alterations contribute to the reduced uterofetal blood flow, a determinant of fetal growth (Lang et al. 2003), and local accumulation of angiotensin II in placental labyrinth zone inhibits amino acid transport in trophoblast cells (Shibata et al. 2006).

Increased testosterone. The LP diet enhances the plasma levels of testosterone in pregnant rats (Zambrano et al. 2005; Gao et al. 2012b). Increased testosterone inhibits the expression and activity of neutral amino acid transporters (Sathishkumar et al. 2011), thus resulting in IUGR as well as associated hypertension and other disorders in adult offspring (Chinnathambi et al. 2012, 2013).

Impaired mitochondrial function. Gestational protein insufficiency causes the mitochondrial abnormality with increased oxygen uptake and impaired oxidative phosphorylation (Rebelato et al. 2013), negatively affecting placental functions including amino acid transport which requires continuous energy supply. Improving anti-oxidative responses and reducing obesity likely play an important role in mitigating mitochondrial dysfunction (Ji et al. 2017).

7.4.4 Prevention of Fetal Programming in Response to Maternal Gestational Protein Restriction

Supplementations of Gly (Jackson et al. 2002), taurine (Mortensen et al. 2010) and Leu (Teodoro et al. 2012) during pregnancy have been reported to benefit fetal growth and longterm health in response to maternal protein

125

insufficiency, although the underlying mechanisms remain unclear. Dietary supplementation of Gly throughout pregnancy normalized the predisposed hypertension in offspring from pregnant rats fed a low protein diet (Jackson et al. 2002), possibly by reversing vascular dysfunction in mesenteric artery and improving NO release in maternal circulation. The supplementation of taurine in maternal gestational protein restriction partly rescues fetal growth retardation, restores fatty acid metabolism in the liver and oxidative phosphorylation and TCA cycle in skeletal muscle (Mortensen et al. 2010), normalizes proliferation and vascularization and cytokine sensitivity in pancreatic islets in offspring (Boujendar et al. 2002; Merezak et al. 2004). The supplementation with Leu also reversed this growth deficit, minimizing the difference or restoring the mass of organs and carcass fat, the liver and muscle protein, and the RNA concentrations in offspring of rats with gestational protein restriction, possibly by the activation of the mTOR signaling pathway (Teodoro et al. 2012). Dietary supplementation of Leu to premating SD rats improved the within-litter birth weight uniformity, antioxidative capability, and immune function (Liu et al. 2018). However, a recent study with a large cohort of human subjects suggested that the dietary amino acid pattern, rich in branchedchain, aromatic, and aliphatic amino acids, and proline could increase the risk of hypertension (Teymoori et al. 2017). The controversy on the benefits of dietary amino acids in pregnancy and non-pregnancy may result from the differences in the metabolic patterns of amino acids (including ammonia production) and metabolic adaptations during pregnancy (Herring et al. 2018).

7.5 Summary

Amino acids are critical for animal production and human reproduction because they modulate major processes of reproduction, including gametogenesis, fertilization, implantation, placentation, and fetal growth and development. Peri-implantation stage of pregnancy is associated with significant embryonic loss in both humans and livestock, and the remarkable increases of amino acids in the uterine secretions, hormonally regulated expression of amino acid transporters in the uterine endometrium, and the activation of MTOR signaling pathway provide an intricate regulatory system in conceptus growth and development, implantation and maintenance of pregnancy. Select amino acids in uterine secretions, particularly Arg, Leu and Gln, together with glucose, stimulate trophectoderm or trophoblast cell proliferation, differentiation and growth through the MTOR cell signaling. Arg exerts its stimulatory effects on placental and fetal growth primarily through its derivatives, NO and polyamines, whose production in the trophectoderm/trophoblast cells are regulated by key enzymes NOS3, ODC1, ADC, AGMAT, and proline oxidase. Dietary or intravenous Arg supplementation improves reproductive performances of domestic animals and humans and could serve as a potential means to prevent or treat fetal growth restriction. Dietary supplementation with Gln during late gestation can also improve fetal growth. Extreme nutritional conditions, including gestational protein undernutrition, cause fetal growth restriction and long-term effects on the health and disease in offspring via impaired MTOR and amino acid response signaling in the placenta, altered RAS in maternal, placental and fetal compartments, and elevated testosterone. Dietary supplementation of Gly, Leu and taurine to dams with a severe protein deficiency can partially rescue fetal growth restriction and fetal programming of adult diseases.

References

- Ban H, Shigemitsu K, Yamatsuji T, Haisa M, Nakajo T, Takaoka M, Nobuhisa T, Gunduz M, Tanaka N, Naomoto Y (2004) Arginine and leucine regulate p70 S6 kinase and 4E-BP1 in intestinal epithelial cells. Int J Mol Med 13:537–543
- Bass BE, Bradley CL, Johnson ZB, Zier-Rush CE, Boyd RD, Usry JL, Maxwell CV, Frank JW (2017) Influence of dietary L-arginine supplementation of sows during late pregnancy on piglet birth weight and sow and litter performance during lactation. J Anim Sci 95:248–256

- Bazer FW (1975) Uterine protein secretions: relationship to development of the conceptus. J Anim Sci 41:1376–1382
- Bazer FW, Johnson GA, Wu G (2015a) Amino acids and conceptus development during the peri-implantation period of pregnancy. Adv Exp Med Biol 843:23–52
- Bazer FW, Wang X, Johnson GA, Wu G (2015b) Select nutrients and their effects on conceptus development in mammals. Anim Nutr 1:85–95
- Berard J, Bee G (2010) Effects of dietary l-arginine supplementation to gilts during early gestation on foetal survival, growth and myofiber formation. Animal 4:1680–1687
- Bloomfield FH, Jaquiery AL, Oliver MH (2013) Nutritional regulation of fetal growth. Nestle Nutr Inst Workshop Ser 74:79–89
- Boujendar S, Reusens B, Merezak S, Ahn MT, Arany E, Hill D, Remacle C (2002) Taurine supplementation to a low protein diet during foetal and early postnatal life restores a normal proliferation and apoptosis of rat pancreatic islets. Diabetologia 45:856–866
- Boussouar F, Benahmed M (2004) Lactate and energy metabolism in male germ cells. Trends Endocrinol Metab 15:345–350
- Buller CL, Loberg RD, Fan MH, Zhu Q, Park JL, Vesely E, Inoki K, Guan KL, Brosius FC III (2008) A GSK-3/ TSC2/mTOR pathway regulates glucose uptake and GLUT1 glucose transporter expression. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 295:C836–C843
- Burton GJ, Fowden AL, Thornburg KL (2016) Placental origins of chronic disease. Physiol Rev 96:1509–1565
- Carey Satterfield M, Dunlap KA, Keisler DH, Bazer FW, Wu G (2012) Arginine nutrition and fetal brown adipose tissue development in diet-induced obese sheep. Amino Acids 43:1593–1603
- Cetica P, Pintos L, Dalvit G, Beconi M (2003) Involvement of enzymes of amino acid metabolism and tricarboxylic acid cycle in bovine oocyte maturation in vitro. Reproduction 126:753–763
- Chinnathambi V, Balakrishnan M, Yallampalli C, Sathishkumar K (2012) Prenatal testosterone exposure leads to hypertension that is gonadal hormonedependent in adult rat male and female offspring. Biol Reprod 86: 137, 1–7
- Chinnathambi V, Balakrishnan M, Ramadoss J, Yallampalli C, Sathishkumar K (2013) Testosterone alters maternal vascular adaptations: role of the endothelial NO system. Hypertension 61:647–654
- Chung M, Teng C, Timmerman M, Meschia G, Battaglia FC (1998) Production and utilization of amino acids by ovine placenta in vivo. Am J Phys 274:E13–E22
- Clark DA (2003) Is there any evidence for immunologically mediated or immunologically modifiable early pregnancy failure? J Assist Reprod Genet 20:63–72
- Clark MG, Filsell OH, Jarrett IG (1976) Gluconeogenesis in isolated intact lamb liver cells. Effects of glucagon and butyrate. Biochem J 156:671–680
- Collado-Fernandez E, Picton HM, Dumollard R (2012) Metabolism throughout follicle and oocyte development in mammals. Int J Dev Biol 56:799–808

- Colonna R, Cecconi S, Buccione R, Mangia F (1983) Amino acid transport systems in growing mouse oocytes. Cell Biol Int Rep 7:1007–1015
- Daniels SR (2016) The barker hypothesis revisited. J Pediatr 173:1–3
- Dennis PB, Pullen N, Kozma SC, Thomas G (1996) The principal rapamycin-sensitive p70(s6k) phosphorylation sites, T-229 and T-389, are differentially regulated by rapamycin-insensitive kinase kinases. Mol Cell Biol 16:6242–6251
- Edinger AL, Thompson CB (2002) Akt maintains cell size and survival by increasing mTOR-dependent nutrient uptake. Mol Biol Cell 13:2276–2288
- Eppig JJ, Pendola FL, Wigglesworth K, Pendola JK (2005) Mouse oocytes regulate metabolic cooperativity between granulosa cells and oocytes: amino acid transport. Biol Reprod 73:351–357
- Flechon JE, Guillomot M, Charlier M, Flechon B, Martal J (1986) Experimental studies on the elongation of the ewe blastocyst. Reprod Nutr Dev 26:1017–1024
- Fleming TP, Velazquez MA, Eckert JJ (2015) Embryos, DOHaD and David Barker. J Dev Orig Health Dis 6:377–383
- Flynn NE, Meininger CJ, Haynes TE, Wu G (2002) The metabolic basis of arginine nutrition and pharmacotherapy. Biomed Pharmacother 56:427–438
- Forde N, Simintiras CA, Sturmey R, Mamo S, Kelly AK, Spencer TE, Bazer FW, Lonergan P (2014) Amino acids in the uterine luminal fluid reflects the temporal changes in transporter expression in the endometrium and conceptus during early pregnancy in cattle. PLoS One 9:e100010
- Fuchs BC, Bode BP (2005) Amino acid transporters ASCT2 and LAT1 in cancer: partners in crime? Semin Cancer Biol 15:254–266
- Fuchs BC, Finger RE, Onan MC, Bode BP (2007) ASCT2 silencing regulates mammalian target-of-rapamycin growth and survival signaling in human hepatoma cells. Am J Phys 293:C55–C63
- Gangloff YG, Mueller M, Dann SG, Svoboda P, Sticker M, Spetz JF, Um SH, Brown EJ, Cereghini S, Thomas G, Kozma SC (2004) Disruption of the mouse mTOR gene leads to early postimplantation lethality and prohibits embryonic stem cell development. Mol Cell Biol 24:9508–9516
- Gao X, Zhang Y, Arrazola P, Hino O, Kobayashi T, Yeung RS, Ru B, Pan D (2002) Tsc tumour suppressor proteins antagonize amino-acid-TOR signalling. Nat Cell Biol 4:699–704
- Gao H, Wu G, Spencer TE, Johnson GA, Bazer FW (2009a) Select nutrients in the ovine uterine lumen. III. Cationic amino acid transporters in the ovine uterus and peri-implantation conceptuses. Biol Reprod 80:602–609
- Gao H, Wu G, Spencer TE, Johnson GA, Bazer FW (2009b) Select nutrients in the ovine uterine lumen. IV. Expression of neutral and acidic amino acid transporters in ovine uteri and peri-implantation conceptuses. Biol Reprod 80:1196–1208

- Gao H, Wu G, Spencer TE, Johnson GA, Bazer FW (2009c) Select nutrients in the ovine uterine lumen. VI. Expression of FK506-binding protein 12-rapamycin complex-associated protein 1 (FRAP1) and regulators and effectors of mTORC1 and mTORC2 complexes in ovine uteri and conceptuses. Biol Reprod 81:87–100
- Gao H, Wu G, Spencer TE, Johnson GA, Li X, Bazer FW (2009d) Select nutrients in the ovine uterine lumen.
 I. Amino acids, glucose, and ions in uterine lumenal flushings of cyclic and pregnant ewes. Biol Reprod 80:86–93
- Gao H, Sathishkumar KR, Yallampalli U, Balakrishnan M, Li X, Wu G, Yallampalli C (2012a) Maternal protein restriction regulates IGF2 system in placental labyrinth. Front Biosci (Elite Ed) 4:1434–1450
- Gao H, Yallampalli U, Yallampalli C (2012b) Gestational protein restriction reduces expression of Hsd17b2 in rat placental labyrinth. Biol Reprod 87:68
- Gao H, Yallampalli U, Yallampalli C (2012c) Maternal protein restriction reduces expression of angiotensin I-converting enzyme 2 in rat placental labyrinth zone in late pregnancy. Biol Reprod 86:31
- Gao H, Yallampalli U, Yallampalli C (2012d) Protein restriction to pregnant rats increases the plasma levels of angiotensin II and expression of angiotensin II receptors in uterine arteries. Biol Reprod 86:68
- Gao H, Sisley S, Yallampalli C (2015a) Blunted hypothalamic ghrelin signaling reduces diet intake in rats fed a low-protein diet in late pregnancy. Physiol Rep 3:e1262
- Gao H, Tanchico DT, Yallampalli U, Balakrishnan MP, Yallampalli C (2015b) Appetite regulation is independent of the changes in ghrelin levels in pregnant rats fed low-protein diet. Physiol Rep 3:e12368
- Gao H, Tanchico DT, Yallampalli U, Yallampalli C (2016) A low-protein diet enhances angiotensin II production in the lung of pregnant rats but not nonpregnant rats. J Pregnancy 2016:4293431
- Gao H, Ho E, Balakrishnan M, Yechoor V, Yallampalli C (2017) Decreased insulin secretion in pregnant rats fed a low protein diet. Biol Reprod 97:627–635
- Gardner DK, Lane M, Batt P (1993) Uptake and metabolism of pyruvate and glucose by individual sheep preattachment embryos developed in vivo. Mol Reprod Dev 36:313–319
- Gheorghe CP, Goyal R, Holweger JD, Longo LD (2009) Placental gene expression responses to maternal protein restriction in the mouse. Placenta 30:411–417
- Gingras AC, Gygi SP, Raught B, Polakiewicz RD, Abraham RT, Hoekstra MF, Aebersold R, Sonenberg N (1999) Regulation of 4E-BP1 phosphorylation: a novel two-step mechanism. Genes Dev 13:1422–1437
- Gingras AC, Raught B, Gygi SP, Niedzwiecka A, Miron M, Burley SK, Polakiewicz RD, Wyslouch-Cieszynska A, Aebersold R, Sonenberg N (2001) Hierarchical phosphorylation of the translation inhibitor 4E-BP1. Genes Dev 15:2852–2864
- Gonzalez PN, Gasperowicz M, Barbeito-Andres J, Klenin N, Cross JC, Hallgrimsson B (2016) Chronic protein restriction in mice impacts placental function and

maternal body weight before fetal growth. PLoS One 11:e0152227

- Goodwin GW, Gibboney W, Paxton R, Harris RA, Lemons JA (1987) Activities of branched-chain amino acid aminotransferase and branched-chain 2-oxo acid dehydrogenase complex in tissues of maternal and fetal sheep. Biochem J 242:305–308
- Gray CA, Taylor KM, Ramsey WS, Hill JR, Bazer FW, Bartol FF, Spencer TE (2001) Endometrial glands are required for preimplantation conceptus elongation and survival. Biol Reprod 64:1608–1613
- Grillo MA, Lanza A, Colombatto S (2008) Transport of amino acids through the placenta and their role. Amino Acids 34:517–523
- Grootegoed JA, Oonk RB, Jansen R, van der Molen HJ (1986) Metabolism of radiolabelled energyyielding substrates by rat Sertoli cells. J Reprod Fertil 77:109–118
- Gu L, Liu H, Gu X, Boots C, Moley KH, Wang Q (2015) Metabolic control of oocyte development: linking maternal nutrition and reproductive outcomes. Cell Mol Life Sci 72:251–271
- Guertin DA, Stevens DM, Thoreen CC, Burds AA, Kalaany NY, Moffat J, Brown M, Fitzgerald KJ, Sabatini DM (2006) Ablation in mice of the mTORC components raptor, rictor, or mLST8 reveals that mTORC2 is required for signaling to Akt-FOXO and PKCalpha, but not S6K1. Dev Cell 11:859–871
- Gui S, Jia J, Niu X, Bai Y, Zou H, Deng J, Zhou R (2014) Arginine supplementation for improving maternal and neonatal outcomes in hypertensive disorder of pregnancy: a systematic review. J Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone Syst 15:88–96
- Guillomot MFJ, Leroy F (1993) Blastocyst development and implantation. In: Reproduction in Mammals and Man (eds: Thibault C, Levasseur MC, Hunter RHF). Ellipses, Paris, pp 387–411
- Haghighat N, Van Winkle LJ (1990) Developmental change in follicular cell-enhanced amino acid uptake into mouse oocytes that depends on intact gap junctions and transport system Gly. J Exp Zool 253:71–82
- Herring CM, Bazer FW, Johnson GA, Wu G (2018) Impacts of maternal dietary protein intake on fetal survival, growth and development. Exp Biol Med 243:525–533
- Heyman Y, Camous S, Fevre J, Meziou W, Martal J (1984) Maintenance of the corpus luteum after uterine transfer of trophoblastic vesicles to cyclic cows and ewes. J Reprod Fertil 70:533–540
- Hong J, Lee E (2007) Intrafollicular amino acid concentration and the effect of amino acids in a defined maturation medium on porcine oocyte maturation, fertilization, and preimplantation development. Theriogenology 68:728–735
- Houghton FD, Hawkhead JA, Humpherson PG, Hogg JE, Balen AH, Rutherford AJ, Leese HJ (2002) Noninvasive amino acid turnover predicts human embryo developmental capacity. Hum Reprod 17:999–1005
- Hugentobler SA, Diskin MG, Leese HJ, Humpherson PG, Watson T, Sreenan JM, Morris DG (2007) Amino

acids in oviduct and uterine fluid and blood plasma during the estrous cycle in the bovine. Mol Reprod Dev 74:445–454

- Jacinto E, Facchinetti V, Liu D, Soto N, Wei S, Jung SY, Huang Q, Qin J, Su B (2006) SIN1/MIP1 maintains rictor-mTOR complex integrity and regulates Akt phosphorylation and substrate specificity. Cell 127:125–137
- Jackson AA, Dunn RL, Marchand MC, Langley-Evans SC (2002) Increased systolic blood pressure in rats induced by a maternal low-protein diet is reversed by dietary supplementation with glycine. Clin Sci (Lond) 103:633–639
- Jansson N, Pettersson J, Haafiz A, Ericsson A, Palmberg I, Tranberg M, Ganapathy V, Powell TL, Jansson T (2006) Down-regulation of placental transport of amino acids precedes the development of intrauterine growth restriction in rats fed a low protein diet. J Physiol 576:935–946
- Jefferies HB, Reinhard C, Kozma SC, Thomas G (1994) Rapamycin selectively represses translation of the "polypyrimidine tract" mRNA family. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91:4441–4445
- Ji Y, Wu ZL, Dai ZL, Wang XL, Li J, Wang BG, Wu G (2017) Fetal and neonatal programming of postnatal growth and feed efficiency in swine. J Anim Sci Biotechnol 8:42
- Kaiser GR, Monteiro SC, Gelain DP, Souza LF, Perry ML, Bernard EA (2005) Metabolism of amino acids by cultured rat Sertoli cells. Metabolism 54:515–521
- Karl PI (1995) Insulin-like growth factor-1 stimulates amino acid uptake by the cultured human placental trophoblast. J Cell Physiol 165:83–88
- Kermack AJ, Finn-Sell S, Cheong YC, Brook N, Eckert JJ, Macklon NS, Houghton FD (2015) Amino acid composition of human uterine fluid: association with age, lifestyle and gynaecological pathology. Hum Reprod 30:917–924
- Kim J, Song G, Gao H, Farmer JL, Satterfield MC, Burghardt RC, Wu G, Johnson GA, Spencer TE, Bazer FW (2008) Insulin-like growth factor II activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-protooncogenic protein kinase 1 and mitogen-activated protein kinase cell signaling pathways, and stimulates migration of ovine trophectoderm cells. Endocrinology 149:3085–3094
- Kim J, Erikson DW, Burghardt RC, Spencer TE, Wu G, Bayless KJ, Johnson GA, Bazer FW (2010) Secreted phosphoprotein 1 binds integrins to initiate multiple cell signaling pathways, including FRAP1/mTOR, to support attachment and force-generated migration of trophectoderm cells. Matrix Biol 29:369–382
- Kim JY, Burghardt RC, Wu G, Johnson GA, Spencer TE, Bazer FW (2011) Select nutrients in the ovine uterine lumen. VII. Effects of arginine, leucine, glutamine, and glucose on trophectoderm cell signaling, proliferation, and migration. Biol Reprod 84:62–69
- Kim J, Song G, Wu G, Gao H, Johnson GA, Bazer FW (2013) Arginine, leucine, and glutamine stimulate proliferation of porcine trophectoderm cells through the

MTOR-RPS6K-RPS6-EIF4EBP1 signal transduction pathway. Biol Reprod 88:113

- Kimball SR, Shantz LM, Horetsky RL, Jefferson LS (1999) Leucine regulates translation of specific mRNAs in L6 myoblasts through mTOR-mediated changes in availability of eIF4E and phosphorylation of ribosomal protein S6. J Biol Chem 274:11647–11652
- Kito S, Bavister BD (1997) Male pronuclear formation and early embryonic development of hamster oocytes matured in vitro with gonadotrophins, amino acids and cysteamine. J Reprod Fertil 110:35–46
- Kong X, Tan B, Yin Y, Gao H, Li X, Jaeger LA, Bazer FW, Wu G (2012) L-Arginine stimulates the mTOR signaling pathway and protein synthesis in porcine trophectoderm cells. J Nutr Biochem 23:1178–1183
- Kong X, Wang X, Yin Y, Li X, Gao H, Bazer FW, Wu G (2014) Putrescine stimulates the mTOR signaling pathway and protein synthesis in porcine trophectoderm cells. Biol Reprod 91:106
- Kwon H, Spencer TE, Bazer FW, Wu G (2003a) Developmental changes of amino acids in ovine fetal fluids. Biol Reprod 68:1813–1820
- Kwon H, Wu G, Bazer FW, Spencer TE (2003b) Developmental changes in polyamine levels and synthesis in the ovine conceptus. Biol Reprod 69:1626–1634
- Kwon H, Wu G, Meininger CJ, Bazer FW, Spencer TE (2004) Developmental changes in nitric oxide synthesis in the ovine placenta. Biol Reprod 70:679–686
- Lang U, Baker RS, Braems G, Zygmunt M, Kunzel W, Clark KE (2003) Uterine blood flow – a determinant of fetal growth. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 110(Suppl 1):S55–S61
- Lassala A, Bazer FW, Cudd TA, Datta S, Keisler DH, Satterfield MC, Spencer TE, Wu G (2010) Parenteral administration of L-arginine prevents fetal growth restriction in undernourished ewes. J Nutr 140:1242–1248
- Lenis YY, Johnson GA, Wang X, Tang WW, Dunlap KA, Satterfield MC, Wu G, Hansen TR, Bazer FW (2018) Functional roles of ornithine decarboxylase and arginine decarboxylase during the peri-implantation period of pregnancy in sheep. J Anim Sci Biotechnol 9:10
- Li X, Bazer FW, Johnson GA, Burghardt RC, Erikson DW, Frank JW, Spencer TE, Shinzato I, Wu G (2010) Dietary supplementation with 0.8% L-arginine between days 0 and 25 of gestation reduces litter size in gilts. J Nutr 140:1111–1116
- Li X, Bazer FW, Johnson GA, Burghardt RC, Frank JW, Dai Z, Wang J, Wu Z, Shinzato I, Wu G (2014) Dietary supplementation with L-arginine between days 14 and 25 of gestation enhances embryonic development and survival in gilts. Amino Acids 46:375–384
- Liao XH, Majithia A, Huang X, Kimmel AR (2008) Growth control via TOR kinase signaling, an intracellular sensor of amino acid and energy availability, with crosstalk potential to proline metabolism. Amino Acids 35:761–770
- Liu XM, Reyna SV, Ensenat D, Peyton KJ, Wang H, Schafer AI, Durante W (2004) Platelet-derived growth

factor stimulates LAT1 gene expression in vascular smooth muscle: role in cell growth. FASEB J 18:768–770

- Liu T, Zuo B, Wang W, Wang S, Wang J (2018) Dietary supplementation of leucine in premating diet improves the within-litter birth weight uniformity, Antioxidative capability, and immune function of Primiparous SD rats. Biomed Res Int 2018:1523147
- Liu N, Dai ZL, Zhang YC, Chen JQ, Yang Y, Wu G, Tso P, Wu ZL (2019a) Maternal L-proline supplementation enhances fetal survival and placental nutrient transport in mice. Biol Reprod 100:1073–1081
- Liu N, Dai ZL, Jia H, Zhang YC, Chen JQ, Sun SQ, Wu G, Wu ZL (2019b) Maternal L-proline supplementation during gestation alters amino acid and polyamine metabolism in the first generation female offspring of C57BL/6J mice. Amino Acids 51:805–811
- Maillo V, Gaora PO, Forde N, Besenfelder U, Havlicek V, Burns GW, Spencer TE, Gutierrez-Adan A, Lonergan P, Rizos D (2015) Oviduct-embryo interactions in cattle: two-way traffic or a one-way street? Biol Reprod 92:144
- Martin PM, Sutherland AE (2001) Exogenous amino acids regulate trophectoderm differentiation in the mouse blastocyst through an mTOR-dependent pathway. Dev Biol 240:182–193
- Martin PM, Sutherland AE, Van Winkle LJ (2003) Amino acid transport regulates blastocyst implantation. Biol Reprod 69:1101–1108
- Mehrotra PK, Kitchlu S, Farheen S (1998) Effect of inhibitors of enzymes involved in polyamine biosynthesis pathway on pregnancy in mouse and hamster. Contraception 57:55–60
- Merezak S, Reusens B, Renard A, Goosse K, Kalbe L, Ahn MT, Tamarit-Rodriguez J, Remacle C (2004) Effect of maternal low-protein diet and taurine on the vulnerability of adult Wistar rat islets to cytokines. Diabetologia 47:669–675
- Mortensen OH, Olsen HL, Frandsen L, Nielsen PE, Nielsen FC, Grunnet N, Quistorff B (2010) A maternal low protein diet has pronounced effects on mitochondrial gene expression in offspring liver and skeletal muscle; protective effect of taurine. J Biomed Sci 17(Suppl 1):S38
- Murakami M, Ichisaka T, Maeda M, Oshiro N, Hara K, Edenhofer F, Kiyama H, Yonezawa K, Yamanaka S (2004) mTOR is essential for growth and proliferation in early mouse embryos and embryonic stem cells. Mol Cell Biol 24:6710–6718
- Myatt L, Thornburg KL (2018) Effects of prenatal nutrition and the role of the placenta in health and disease. Methods Mol Biol 1735:19–46
- Nancarrow CD (1994) Embryonic mortality in the ewe and doe. In: Zavy MT, Geisert RD (eds) Embryonic mortality in domestic species. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 79–97
- Narita K, Nagao K, Bannai M, Ichimaru T, Nakano S, Murata T, Higuchi T, Takahashi M (2011) Dietary deficiency of essential amino acids rapidly induces cessation of the rat estrous cycle. PLoS One 6:e28136

- Nielsen FC, Ostergaard L, Nielsen J, Christiansen J (1995) Growth-dependent translation of IGF-II mRNA by a rapamycin-sensitive pathway. Nature 377:358–362
- Nuntapaitoon M, Muns R, Theil PK, Tummaruk P (2018) L-arginine supplementation in sow diet during late gestation decrease stillborn piglet, increase piglet birth weight and increase immunoglobulin G concentration in colostrum. Theriogenology 121:27–34
- Ohlsson R, Larsson E, Nilsson O, Wahlstrom T, Sundstrom P (1989) Blastocyst implantation precedes induction of insulin-like growth factor II gene expression in human trophoblasts. Development 106:555–559
- Pelland AM, Corbett HE, Baltz JM (2009) Amino acid transport mechanisms in mouse oocytes during growth and meiotic maturation. Biol Reprod 81:1041–1054
- Proud CG (2002) Regulation of mammalian translation factors by nutrients. Eur J Biochem 269:5338–5349
- Rato L, Alves MG, Socorro S, Duarte AI, Cavaco JE, Oliveira PF (2012) Metabolic regulation is important for spermatogenesis. Nat Rev Urol 9:330–338
- Rebelato HJ, Esquisatto MA, Moraes C, Amaral ME, Catisti R (2013) Gestational protein restriction induces alterations in placental morphology and mitochondrial function in rats during late pregnancy. J Mol Histol 44:629–637
- Rees WD, Hay SM, Buchan V, Antipatis C, Palmer RM (1999) The effects of maternal protein restriction on the growth of the rat fetus and its amino acid supply. Br J Nutr 81:243–250
- Rees WD, Hay SM, Antipatis C (2006) The effect of dietary protein on the amino acid supply and threonine metabolism in the pregnant rat. Reprod Nutr Dev 46:227–239
- Regnault TR, Hay WW Jr (2006) In vivo techniques for studying fetoplacental nutrient uptake, metabolism, and transport. Methods Mol Med 122:207–224
- Rieger D, Loskutoff NM (1994) Changes in the metabolism of glucose, pyruvate, glutamine and glycine during maturation of cattle oocytes in vitro. J Reprod Fertil 100:257–262
- Rieger D, Loskutoff NM, Betteridge KJ (1992) Developmentally related changes in the uptake and metabolism of glucose, glutamine and pyruvate by cattle embryos produced in vitro. Reprod Fertil Dev 4:547–557
- Riera MF, Galardo MN, Pellizzari EH, Meroni SB, Cigorraga SB (2009) Molecular mechanisms involved in Sertoli cell adaptation to glucose deprivation. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 297:E907–E914
- Roberts CJ, Lowe CR (1975) Where have all the conceptions gone? Lancet 1:636–637
- Roberts VHJ, Lo JO, Lewandowski KS, Blundell P, Grove KL, Kroenke CD, Sullivan EL, Roberts CT Jr, Frias AE (2018) Adverse placental perfusion and pregnancy outcomes in a new nonhuman primate model of gestational protein restriction. Reprod Sci 25:110–119
- Robinson R, Fritz IB (1981) Metabolism of glucose by Sertoli cells in culture. Biol Reprod 24:1032–1041
- Rosario FJ, Jansson N, Kanai Y, Prasad PD, Powell TL, Jansson T (2011) Maternal protein restriction in the

rat inhibits placental insulin, mTOR, and STAT3 signaling and down-regulates placental amino acid transporters. Endocrinology 152:1119–1129

- Sarbassov DD, Ali SM, Sabatini DM (2005) Growing roles for the mTOR pathway. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17:596–603
- Sathishkumar K, Elkins R, Chinnathambi V, Gao H, Hankins GD, Yallampalli C (2011) Prenatal testosterone-induced fetal growth restriction is associated with down-regulation of rat placental amino acid transport. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 9:110
- Schmelzle T, Hall MN (2000) TOR, a central controller of cell growth. Cell 103:253–262
- Schmid H, Bertoluci M, Coimbra TM (2008) Glucose transporter 12 and mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 signaling: a new target for diabetes-induced renal injury? Endocrinology 149:913–916
- Schutt AK, Blesson CS, Hsu JW, Valdes CT, Gibbons WE, Jahoor F, Yallampalli C (2019) Preovulatory exposure to a protein-restricted diet disrupts amino acid kinetics and alters mitochondrial structure and function in the rat oocyte and is partially rescued by folic acid. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 17:12
- Sferruzzi-Perri AN, Camm EJ (2016) The programming power of the placenta. Front Physiol 7:33
- Shen SF, Hua CH (2011) Effect of L-arginine on the expression of Bcl-2 and Bax in the placenta of fetal growth restriction. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 24:822–826
- Shibata E, Powers RW, Rajakumar A, von Versen-Hoynck F, Gallaher MJ, Lykins DL, Roberts JM, Hubel CA (2006) Angiotensin II decreases system A amino acid transporter activity in human placental villous fragments through AT1 receptor activation. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 291:E1009–E1016
- Shiota C, Woo JT, Lindner J, Shelton KD, Magnuson MA (2006) Multiallelic disruption of the rictor gene in mice reveals that mTOR complex 2 is essential for fetal growth and viability. Dev Cell 11:583–589
- Singh S, Singh A, Sharma D, Singh A, Narula MK, Bhattacharjee J (2015) Effect of L-arginine on nitric oxide levels in intrauterine growth restriction and its correlation with fetal outcome. Indian J Clin Biochem 30:298–304
- Snell K, Fell DA (1990) Metabolic control analysis of mammalian serine metabolism. Adv Enzym Regul 30:13–32
- Spencer TE, Bazer FW (2004) Uterine and placental factors regulating conceptus growth in domestic animals. J Anim Sci 82(E-Suppl):E4–E13
- Strakovsky RS, Zhou D, Pan YX (2010) A low-protein diet during gestation in rats activates the placental mammalian amino acid response pathway and programs the growth capacity of offspring. J Nutr 140:2116–2120
- Sturmey RG, Bermejo-Alvarez P, Gutierrez-Adan A, Rizos D, Leese HJ, Lonergan P (2010) Amino acid metabolism of bovine blastocysts: a biomarker of sex and viability. Mol Reprod Dev 77:285–296

- Teodoro GF, Vianna D, Torres-Leal FL, Pantaleao LC, Matos-Neto EM, Donato J Jr, Tirapegui J (2012) Leucine is essential for attenuating fetal growth restriction caused by a protein-restricted diet in rats. J Nutr 142:924–930
- Teymoori F, Asghari G, Mirmiran P, Azizi F (2017) Dietary amino acids and incidence of hypertension: a principle component analysis approach. Sci Rep 7:16838
- Thompson JG, Lane M, Gilchrist RB (2007) Metabolism of the bovine cumulus-oocyte complex and influence on subsequent developmental competence. Soc Reprod Fertil Suppl 64:179–190
- Tokunaga C, Yoshino K, Yonezawa K (2004) mTOR integrates amino acid- and energy-sensing pathways. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 313:443–446
- Van Winkle LJ, Campione AL, Gorman JM, Weimer BD (1990) Changes in the activities of amino acid transport systems b^{0,+} and L during development of preimplantation mouse conceptuses. Biochim Biophys Acta 1021:77–84
- Van Winkle LJ, Mann DF, Wasserlauf HG, Patel M (1992) Mediated Na⁺-independent transport of L-glutamate and L-cystine in 1- and 2-cell mouse conceptuses. Biochim Biophys Acta 1107:299–304
- Vonnahme KA, Lemley CO, Caton JS, Meyer AM (2015) Impacts of maternal nutrition on vascularity of nutrient transferring tissues during gestation and lactation. Nutrients 7:3497–3423
- Wales RG, Du ZF (1994) The metabolism of glutamine by the preimplantation sheep conceptus and its interaction with glucose. Reprod Fertil Dev 6:659–667
- Wallace JM, Luther JS, Milne JS, Aitken RP, Redmer DA, Reynolds LP, Hay WW Jr (2006) Nutritional modulation of adolescent pregnancy outcome – a review. Placenta 27(Suppl A):S61–S68
- Wang J, Wu Z, Li D, Li N, Dindot SV, Satterfield MC, Bazer FW, Wu G (2012) Nutrition, epigenetics, and metabolic syndrome. Antioxid Redox Signal 17:282–301
- Wang X, Frank JW, Little DR, Dunlap KA, Satterfield MC, Burghardt RC, Hansen TR, Wu G, Bazer FW (2014a) Functional role of arginine during the periimplantation period of pregnancy. I. Consequences of loss of function of arginine transporter SLC7A1 mRNA in ovine conceptus trophectoderm. FASEB J 28:2852–2863
- Wang X, Ying W, Dunlap KA, Lin G, Satterfield MC, Burghardt RC, Wu G, Bazer FW (2014b) Arginine decarboxylase and agmatinase: an alternative pathway for de novo biosynthesis of polyamines for development of mammalian conceptuses. Biol Reprod 90:84
- Wang X, Burghardt RC, Romero JJ, Hansen TR, Wu G, Bazer FW (2015) Functional roles of arginine during the peri-implantation period of pregnancy. III. Arginine stimulates proliferation and interferon tau production by ovine trophectoderm cells via nitric oxide and polyamine-TSC2-MTOR signaling pathways. Biol Reprod 92:75

- Wang X, Johnson GA, Burghardt RC, Wu G, Bazer FW (2016) Uterine histotroph and conceptus development. II. Arginine and secreted phosphoprotein 1 cooperatively stimulate migration and adhesion of ovine trophectoderm cells via focal adhesion-MTORC2 mediated cytoskeleton reorganization. Biol Reprod 95:71
- Wathes DC, Reynolds TS, Robinson RS, Stevenson KR (1998) Role of the insulin-like growth factor system in uterine function and placental development in ruminants. J Dairy Sci 81:1778–1789
- Wilcox AJ, Weinberg CR, O'Connor JF, Baird DD, Schlatterer JP, Canfield RE, Armstrong EG, Nisula BC (1988) Incidence of early loss of pregnancy. N Engl J Med 319:189–194
- Wu G (2009) Amino acids: metabolism, functions, and nutrition. Amino Acids 37:1–17
- Wu G (2013) Amino acids: biochemistry and nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Wu G, Morris SM Jr (1998) Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. Biochem J 336:1–17
- Wu G, Pond WG, Ott T, Bazer FW (1998) Maternal dietary protein deficiency decreases amino acid concentrations in fetal plasma and allantoic fluid of pigs. J Nutr 128:894–902
- Wu G, Haynes TE, Li H, Yan W, Meininger CJ (2001) Glutamine metabolism to glucosamine is necessary for glutamine inhibition of endothelial nitric oxide synthesis. Biochem J 353:245–252
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Cudd TA, Meininger CJ, Spencer TE (2004) Maternal nutrition and fetal development. J Nutr 134:2169–2172
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Hu J, Johnson GA, Spencer TE (2005) Polyamine synthesis from proline in the developing porcine placenta. Biol Reprod 72:842–850
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Datta S, Johnson GA, Li P, Satterfield MC, Spencer TE (2008a) Proline metabolism in the conceptus: implications for fetal growth and development. Amino Acids 35:691–702
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Datta S, Johnson GA, Li P, Satterfield MC, Spencer TE (2008b) Proline metabolism in the conceptus: implications for fetal growth and development. Amino Acids 35:691–702
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Burghardt RC, Johnson GA, Kim SW, Li XL, Satterfield MC, Spencer TE (2010) Impacts of amino acid nutrition on pregnancy outcome in pigs: mechanisms and implications for swine production. J Anim Sci 88:E195–E204
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Johnson GA, Knabe DA, Burghardt RC, Spencer TE, Li XL, Wang JJ (2011) Important roles for L-glutamine in swine nutrition and production. J Anim Sci 89:2017–2030
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Satterfield MC, Li X, Wang X, Johnson GA, Burghardt RC, Dai Z, Wang J, Wu Z (2013) Impacts of arginine nutrition on embryonic and fetal development in mammals. Amino Acids 45:241–256

- Wu G, Bazer FW, Dai Z, Li D, Wang J, Wu Z (2014) Amino acid nutrition in animals: protein synthesis and beyond. Annu Rev Anim Biosci 2:387–417
- Wu X, Xie C, Zhang Y, Fan Z, Yin Y, Blachier F (2015) Glutamate-glutamine cycle and exchange in the placenta-fetus unit during late pregnancy. Amino Acids 47:45–53
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Johnson GA, Herring C, Seo H, Dai ZL, Wang JJ, Wu ZL, Wang XL (2017) Functional amino acids in the development of the pig placenta. Mol Reprod Dev 84:879–882
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Johnson GA, Hou YQ (2018) Arginine nutrition and metabolism in growing, gestating and lactating swine. J Anim Sci 96:5035–5051
- Wu G, Brown J, Zamora ML, Miller A, Satterfield MC, Meininger CJ, Steinhauser CB, Johnson GA, Burghardt RC et al (2019) Adverse organogenesis and predisposed long-term metabolic syndrome from prenatal exposure to fine particulate matter. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 116:11590–11595
- Wullschleger S, Loewith R, Hall MN (2006) TOR signaling in growth and metabolism. Cell 124:471–484
- Xiao XM, Li LP (2005) L-Arginine treatment for asymmetric fetal growth restriction. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 88:15–18
- Xiong W, Wang H, Wu H, Chen Y, Han D (2009) Apoptotic spermatogenic cells can be energy sources for Sertoli cells. Reproduction 137:469–479
- Zambrano E, Martinez-Samayoa PM, Bautista CJ, Deas M, Guillen L, Rodriguez-Gonzalez GL, Guzman C, Larrea F, Nathanielsz PW (2005) Sex differences in transgenerational alterations of growth and metabolism in progeny (F2) of female offspring (F1) of rats fed a low protein diet during pregnancy and lactation. J Physiol 566:225–236
- Zeng X, Wang F, Fan X, Yang W, Zhou B, Li P, Yin Y, Wu G, Wang J (2008) Dietary arginine supplementation during early pregnancy enhances embryonic survival in rats. J Nutr 138:1421–1425
- Zeng X, Mao X, Huang Z, Wang F, Wu G, Qiao S (2013) Arginine enhances embryo implantation in rats through PI3K/PKB/mTOR/NO signaling pathway during early pregnancy. Reproduction 145:1–7
- Zhang Y, Gao X, Saucedo LJ, Ru B, Edgar BA, Pan D (2003) Rheb is a direct target of the tuberous sclerosis tumour suppressor proteins. Nat Cell Biol 5:578–581
- Zhou J, Bondy C (1992) Insulin-like growth factor-II and its binding proteins in placental development. Endocrinology 131:1230–1240
- Zhou QL, Jiang ZY, Holik J, Chawla A, Hagan GN, Leszyk J, Czech MP (2008) Akt substrate TBC1D1 regulates GLUT1 expression through the mTOR pathway in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Biochem J 411:647–655



Impacts of Amino Acids on the Intestinal Defensive System 8

Wenkai Ren, Peng Bin, Yulong Yin, and Guoyao Wu

Abstract

The intestine interacts with a diverse community of antigens and bacteria. To keep its homeostasis, the gut has evolved with a complex defense system, including intestinal microbiota, epithelial layer and lamina propria. Various factors (e.g., nutrients) affect the intestinal defensive system and progression of intestinal diseases. This review highlights the current understanding about the role of amino acids (AAs) in protecting the intestine from

P. Bin

Jiangsu Co-Innovation Center for Important Animal Infectious Diseases and Zoonoses, Joint International Research Laboratory of Agriculture and Agri-Product, Safety of Ministry of Education of China, College of Veterinary Medicine, Yangzhou University, Yangzhou, China

Y. Yin

G. Wu (🖂)

Department of Animal Science, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA e-mail: g-wu@tamu.edu harm. Amino acids (e.g., arginine, glutamine and tryptophan) are essential for the function of intestinal microbiota, epithelial cells, tight junction, goblet cells, Paneth cells and immune cells (e.g., macrophages, B cells and T cells). Through the modulation of the intestinal defensive system, AAs maintain the integrity and function of the intestinal mucosa and inhibit the progression of various intestinal diseases (e.g., intestinal infection and intestinal colitis). Thus, adequate intake of functional AAs is crucial for intestinal and whole-body health in humans and other animals.

Keywords

Amino acids · Intestinal microbiota · Tight junction · Macrophages · T cells

Abbreviations

AAs	amino acids
AJ	adheren junction
Akt	protein kinase B
AMPK	AMP-activated protein kinase
Ang4	RNase angiogenin 4
APRIL	a proliferation-inducing ligand
BCAAs	branched-chain amino acids
CaMKK2	calcium/calmodulin-dependent
	kinase 2

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

G. Wu (ed.), *Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2_8

W. Ren

Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Animal Nutrition Control, Institute of Subtropical Animal Nutrition and Feed, College of Animal Science, South China Agricultural University, Guangzhou, China

Laboratory of Animal Nutrition and Health and Key Laboratory of Agro-Ecology, Institute of Subtropical Agriculture, The Chinese Academy of Sciences, Changsha, China

Crs1c cryptdin-related sequence 1c DAOD-amino acid oxidase DSS dextran sulfate sodium ERK extracellular regulated protein kinases ETEC enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli FcRnneonatal Fc receptor GABA gamma-aminobutyric acid IELs intraepithelial lymphocytes IFN interferon IL interleukin IR ischemia/reperfusion MAPK mitogen-activated protein kinase mTORC1 mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 NK natural killer PI3K phosphatidylinositol 3' -kinase ROS reactive oxygen species S6K1 ribosomal protein S6 kinase 1 Sirt1 sirtuin-1 TEER transepithelial electrical resistance TJ tight junction

TNF tumor necrosis factor

ZO zonula occludens

8.1 Introduction

Interactions with pathogens and toxins are a fact of life for almost all animals, and this is more pronounced in the intestine than any other organs. The small intestine is responsible for nutrient digestion and absorption (Wu 2018). In addition, the gut is the home to a diverse community of indigenous microorganisms. Thus, both the small intestine and the large intestine are constantly exposed to various antigens from food and water, as well as a large number of bacteria that coexist in the intestinal lumen. The gastrointestinal tract has evolved with a sophisticated barrier defense system to protect against this exposure and to distinguish "self" from "foreign". This defense system includes indigenous commensal microorganisms, epithelial layer, and the lamina propria (Fig. 8.1). Intestinal microbiota is associated with the intestinal defensive system through its regulation on intestinal or systemic innate and adaptive immunities (Honda and Littman 2016; Thaiss et al. 2016), as well as direct effects on pathogens via colonization resistance or competition for nutrients (Endt et al. 2010; Seekatz and Young 2014). The epithelial layer includes absorptive hormone-secreting enterocytes, enteroendocrine cells, mucus-secreting goblet cells. antimicrobial-secreting Paneth cells, intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs), microfold cells, and dendritic cells. The lamina propria harbors various immune cells, such as dendritic cells, neutrophils, macrophages, B lymphocytes (B cells), T lymphocytes (T cells), and fibroblasts. Based on published studies (Johansson and Hansson 2016; Mukherjee and Hooper 2015; Pabst et al. 2016), the intestinal epithelium produces and releases secretory IgA, antimicrobial proteins and mucins in a cellspecific manner.

Recent years have witnessed growing interest in the biochemistry and physiology of amino acids (AAs) in mammals, such as arginine, glutamine, glycine, and tryptophan (Fan et al. 2019; Le Floc'h et al. 2018; Hou and Wu 2017; Wu 2013). Notably, dietary contents of AAs are crucial for intestinal physiology, especially the intestinal defensive immune (Li et al. 2007; Ren et al. 2016a, b). The review highlights our current understanding of the influences of dietary AAs on intestinal defensive system in humans and animal models, including intestinal microbiota, cells in the epithelial layer and immune cells in the lamina propria.

8.2 Amino Acids and Intestinal Microbiota

Intestinal microbiota is present in virtually any metazoans, ranging from invertebrates to vertebrates. It affects numerous physiological functions of the gut (Lee and Hase 2014; Ren et al. 2016b; Subramanian et al. 2014; Thaiss et al. 2016) and is linked to the pathogenesis of various diseases (Anhe et al. 2014; Lee and Hase 2014; Louis et al. 2014; Qin et al. 2014; Thaiss et al. 2016) through the microbiome and its metabolic products (Lee and Hase 2014; Ren et al. 2016d). Intestinal microbiota has critical roles in intesti-



Fig. 8.1 The mucosal barrier defense system in the intestine. This defense system includes indigenous commensal microorganisms, epithelial layer, and the lamina propria. The epithelial layer consists of absorptive enterocytes, hormone-secreting enteroendocrine cells, mucin-secreting goblet cells, antimicrobial-secreting Paneth cells, intraep-

ithelial lymphocytes (IELs), microfold cells, and dendritic cells. The lamina propria harbors various immune cells [e.g., dendritic cells (DC), neutrophils, macrophages, B cells, and T cells], fibroblasts, and blood vessels. ILC3 = group 3 innate lymphoid cell

nal immune response through its regulation of intestinal or systemic innate and adaptive immunities (Honda and Littman 2016; Thaiss et al. 2016), as well as by direct effects on pathogens via colonization resistance (Endt et al. 2010; Seekatz and Young 2014). For example, infection by Clostridium difficile, which is the leading health care-associated illness, usually follows the disruption of the indigenous gut microbiota after antibiotic treatment, leading to the loss of colonization resistance against the pathogen (Britton and Young 2014; Seekatz and Young 2014; Theriot et al. 2014). A successful treatment strategy for C. difficile infection is fecal microbiota transplantation from healthy individuals, which can recover the gut microbiome after transplantation (Fuentes et al. 2014; Seekatz et al. 2014).

Dietary AAs regulate the diversity, composition and metabolism of intestinal microbiota (Dai et al. 2011, 2015). For example, arginine decreases the net utilization of lysine, threonine, isoleucine, leucine, glycine and alanine by jejunal or ileal mixed bacteria (Dai et al. 2012). Arginine supplementation shifts the population of microbes in the jejunum and ileum of mice to favor the growth of Bacteroidetes by decreasing the number of Firmicutes, but increasing the abundance of Bacteroidetes (Ren et al. 2014a). Arginine also enhances the abundance of Lactobacillus in the jejunum and the abundance of Streptococcus in the ileum (Ren et al. 2014a). Thus, feeding Lactobacillus reuteri DSM 17938 to newborn mice increased the concentration of beneficial AAs and their metabolites in the large intestine, while regulating gut microbiota and immune responses (Liu et al. 2019b). In addition, dietary supplementation with glutamine to mice decreases the abundance of Firmicutes in their jejunum and

ileum, while increasing the abundance of Streptococcus and Bifidobacterium in their jejunum (Ren et al. 2014b). Furthermore, adding proline to the diet of Huanjiang mini-pigs decreases the amounts of Klebsiella pneumoniae, Peptostreptococcus productus, Pseudomonas, and Veillonella spp. in distal colonic contents (Ji et al. 2018). Likewise, dietary supplementation with gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) regulates the community richness and diversity of the ileal microbiota, as well as the abundances of the dominant microbial populations in weaned piglets (Chen et al. 2019b). Interestingly, dietary lysine restriction decreases the bacterial diversity and increases the abundance of Actinobacteria, Saccharibacteria, and Synergistetes in the intestine at the phylum level, as well as the abundances of Moraxellaceae. Halomonadaceae, Shewanellaceae, Corynebacteriaceae, Bacillaceae. Comamonadaceae, Microbacteriaceae. Caulobacteraceae, and Synergistaceae in the intestine at the family level (Yin et al. 2017).

The exact mechanisms whereby AAs modulate intestinal microbiota need further investigation. It is possible that AA supplementation or restriction alters the intestinal microenvironment, and then influences the composition and function of the intestinal microbiota. Notably, beneficial effects of AAs on gut health are associated with similar changes in the intestinal microbiota, but some AAs exert specific effects. Also, the influences of AAs on the intestinal microbiota depend on their supplemental dosages. For example, dietary supplementation with 0.5 and 1% aspartate to mice reduces the ratio of Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes in the ileum and feces, but dietary supplementation with 2% aspartate increases this ratio in the feces (Bin et al. 2017).

Results of our recent studies indicate that arginine or glutamine supplementation promotes the activation of intestinal innate immunity, including expression of factors (e.g., toll-like receptors) and activation of signaling pathways [e.g., mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)] associated with intestinal innate immunity (Ren et al. 2014a, b). Thus, dietary supplementation with arginine or glutamine enhances the ability of the host to clear infections by pathogens (e.g., porcine circovirus type 2 and *Pasteurella multocida*) (Chen et al. 2014; Ren et al. 2012, 2013a, b, c, d), especially intestinal pathogens (e.g. enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*) (Liu et al. 2017a). However, whether arginine or glutamine promotes the clearance of these pathogens in the host through the intestinal microbiota remains to be explored.

Intestinal microbiota also affects the host AA metabolism and, therefore, the defensive responses. For example, the intestinal microbiota (Clostridium sporogenes) uses aromatic AAs (tryptophan, phenylalanine and tyrosine) as substrates to produce metabolites (e.g., indolepropionic acid), which in turn affect intestinal permeability and systemic immunity (Dodd et al. 2017). The enrichment of the intestinal microbiota that synthesizes the branched-chain amino acids (BCAA), such as Prevotella copri and Bacteroides vulgatus, and that have a low capacity to take up BCAAs, are associated with high concentrations of BCAA in serum (Pedersen et al. 2016). Indeed, the levels of AAs in the ileum differ markedly between conventionally reared and germ-free mice, indicating that the gut microbiota greatly affects the metabolism of AAs in the ileum (Mardinoglu et al. 2015). Those AAs include arginine, asparagine, histidine, isoleucine, leucine, methionine, phenylalanine, proline, serine, threonine, tryptophan, tyrosine, valine and glutamine (Mardinoglu et al. 2015). It is unknown whether this alteration in AA metabolism is associated with the abnormities of intestinal immunity in germ-free mice, such as Paneth cell dysfunction (Zhang et al. 2015). During enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli infection, hosts (i.e., piglets and mice) experience remarkable alterations in the intestinal microbiota, especially increases in the abundance of Lactococcus lactis subsp. (Ren et al. 2016d). Lactococcus lactis subsp. regulates the host immune responses against enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli infection through producing GABA, which promotes intestinal expression of IL-17 to activate the mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1)-ribosomal protein S6 kinase 1 (S6K1) signaling (Fig. 8.2) (Ren et al. 2016d). Besides glycine and the L-isoform of AAs, the mouse intestine contains high levels of free D-AAs derived from the microbiota (Kepert et al. 2017; Sasabe et al. 2016). Interestingly, the intesti-



Fig. 8.2 γ-Aminobutyrate (GABA) mediates intestinal interleukin-17 expression during infection by enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* (ETEC). During ETEC infection, the pathogen induces dysbiosis in the gut microbiota, increasing *Lactococcus lactis subsp*. The *Lactococcus lactis subsp*. The *Lactococcus lactis subsp*. produces GABA from glutamate through the action of glutamate decarboxylase (GAD). GABA is sensed by Th17 cells through GABA receptors (GABAR),

nal microbiota stimulates the release of D-amino acid oxidase (DAO) from intestinal epithelial cells (including goblet cells) into the intestinal lumen, resulting in the oxidative deamination of intestinal D-AAs to yield a potent antimicrobial product, H_2O_2 , thereby protecting the mucosal surface in the small intestine from the cholera pathogen (Sasabe et al. 2016). DAO has also been shown to modify the composition of the microbiota and production of intestinal SIgA (Sasabe et al. 2016). This illustrates the importance of D-AAs in nutrition and metabolism. Collectively, there is significant crosstalk between host AAs and the intestinal microbiota, and this interplay regulates the intestinal

leading to the activation of the mTOR pathway. The mTOR signaling promotes IL-17 expression during infection through the mTOR-S6K1-EGR2-GF11 pathway. GABA transporter 2 is negatively associated with Th17 response during intestinal infection by terminating the GABA signaling through the translocation of GABA from the extracellular to the intracellular space

defensive responses and the progression of intestinal infection.

8.3 Amino Acids and Intestinal Epithelial Cells

Besides the absorption of nutrients (including AAs, glucose, fatty acids, and electrolytes), intestinal epithelial cells (generated from intestinal epithelial stem cells) represent an effective barrier ling the gastrointestinal mucosal surface, and regulate the functions of intestinal immune cells as well as intestinal homeostatic and inflam-

matory responses (Nowarski et al. 2017). For example, the villous epithelial cells that express the neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn) play a role in binding intestinal antigens (McDole et al. 2012; Schulz and Pabst 2013). FcRn on villus epithelial cells aids in the secretion of IgG across the intestinal epithelium into the lumen, and also contributes to the uptake of intestinal antigens from the lumen through the IgG-dependent process (Yoshida et al. 2004, 2006). Also, the expression of *Ifnlr1* [the receptor for interferon (IFN)- λ] on intestinal epithelial cells in the small intestine and colon is critical for enteric IFN- λ antiviral activity in mice (Baldridge et al. 2017). Importantly, Ifnlr1 expression in intestinal epithe lial cells affects the efficacy of IFN- λ in resolving persistent murine norovirus infection, and is necessary for the sterilizing innate immune effects of IFN- λ (Baldridge et al. 2017). Although p40 (a Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG-derived protein) treatment directly on B cells shows little effect on IgA production, p40 promotes the expression of a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL) in intestinal epithelial cells, resulting in an increase in fecal IgA levels, as well as IgA⁺B220⁺, IgA⁺CD19⁺, and IgA⁺ plasma cells in the lamina propria of mice (Wang et al. 2017). Collectively, intestinal epithelial cells are closely associated with intestinal immunity responses.

It is well known that AAs, such as glutamate, cysteine, glutamine and glycine, promote protein synthesis in intestinal epithelial cells and their growth via various cellular signaling, such as the mTOR signaling (He et al. 2016; Honda and Littman 2016; Wang et al. 2014a, 2016; Ye et al. 2016), as well as nutrient metabolism, glutathione synthesis, and ATP production (Li et al. 2020). For example, arginine enhances DNA synthesis, cellcycle progression, and mitochondrial bioenergetics in intestinal epithelial cells through mechanisms involving activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase (PI3K)-protein kinase B (Akt pathway) (Tan et al. 2015). Given the importance of AAs in these physiological processes, we surmise that AAs may affect intestinal defensive responses by regulating the expression and secretion of immune regulators in intestinal epithelial cells. For example, BCAA stimulate the expression of β -defensin

from porcine intestinal epithelial cells possibly through activation of the sirtuin-1(Sirt1)/extracellular regulated protein kinases (ERK) signaling pathway (Ren et al. 2016a). In addition, tryptophan inhibits the secretion of interleukin (IL)-8 in intestinal epithelial cells after tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α challenge through the calcium-sensing receptor (Mine and Zhang 2015). Glycine attenuates the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in intestinal epithelial cells via promoting the synthesis of glutathione and expression of glycine transporter 1, while reducing the activation of the MAPK signaling pathway (Wang et al. 2014a). Amino acids also regulate the function of intestinal epithelial cells and the intestinal immunity. For example, AA starvation in intestinal epithelial cells induces autophagy responses in intestinal epithelial cells, resulting in lower levels of ROS and IL-1beta as well as a reduction in the abundance of IL-17A-producing CD4+ T cells (Ravindran et al. 2016). Collectively, epithelial cells are involved in intestinal immune responses, such as antigen recognition, IgA production, and the killing of pathogens. Some AAs (e.g., arginine, BCAA and glycine) regulate protein synthesis in intestinal epithelial cells, their proliferation and migration, as well as the generation and secretion of immune regulators by the cells.

8.4 Amino Acids and Intercellular Junction

Between intestinal epithelial cells, there are intercellular junctions that include an apical tight junction (TJ), subjacent adheren junction (AJ), and desmosomes, controlling the movement of fluids and solutes in the paracellular space and the establishment of cell polarity (Luissint et al. 2016; Tsukita et al. 2001). Tight junctions reside include claudins, TJ-associated MARVEL domain-containing proteins (TAMPs, including occludin, MARVELD2, and MARVELD3), and members of the cortical thymocyte marker in the Xenopus family, such as junctional adhesion molecules (Luissint et al. 2016; Raleigh et al. 2010). The AJ is an ancient junctional complex that initiates and maintains epithelial cell-cell

contacts, while the desmosomes provides mechanical strength to the epithelium. The key transmembrane protein in the epithelial AJ is E-cadherin, while the desmosomes include desmoglein and desmocollin proteins (Green and Simpson 2007; Ivanov and Naydenov 2013). The maintenance of the intestinal epithelial barrier is dependent on the crosstalk among TJs, AJs, and desmosomes (Luissint et al. 2016). A functional intestinal epithelium allows for selective absorption of nutrients, while restricting the passage of pathogens and food-borne antigens. However, various intestinal pathogens have been reported to target the intestinal epithelial barrier to induce disassembly and barrier defects. For example, the enterotoxin produced by Clostridium perfringens has been reported to bind claudins 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 14, resulting in their internalization from the TJ and therefore compromising mucosal barrier function (Fernandez Miyakawa et al. 2005; Saitoh et al. 2015; Veshnyakova et al. 2010).

Dietary AAs are important regulators of intercellular function, especially the expression and abundance of TJs. This notion is supported results from both in vitro and in vivo experiments. For example, tryptophan enhances the abundances of occludin, claudin-4, zonula occludens (ZO)-1 and 2 in intestinal porcine epithelial cells (Wang et al. 2015a). Similarly, glutamine decreases the TJ permeability, but increases the monolayer transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER), the abundances of transmembrane proteins (including occludin, claudin-4, ZO-1, ZO-2, and ZO-3) through activation of the calcium/calmodulindependent kinase 2 (CaMKK2)-AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) signaling (Jiao et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2016). Subsequent investigations with piglets also demonstrate the positive influence of physiological levels of AAs on the expression of TJ proteins. Specifically, dietary supplementation with glutamine to weanling piglets augments the abundances of occludin, claudin-1, ZO-2, and ZO-3 proteins in the jejunum (Wang et al. 2015b). Besides glutamine, dietary supplementation with putrescine or proline to neonatal piglets between day 1 of age and weaning at 14 day of age increases the abundances of ZO-1, occludin, and claudin-3 proteins in the

jejunum (Wang et al. 2015c). Similarly, studies with post-weaning pigs have shown that dietary supplementation with 1% glutamine (Wu et al. 1996), 1% proline (Wu et al. 2011), or 1-2% glycine (Wang et al. 2014b) ameliorated intestinal atrophy and improved their growth performance, whereas dietary supplementation with 0.2% putrescine dihydrochloride improved intestinal integrity and decreased the incidence of diarrhea (Liu et al. 2019a). Note that glutamine, glycine and proline are highly abundant in animal-source proteins such as meat & bone meal, poultry byproducts, and chicken visceral digest (Wu and Li 2020), whereas the content of glycine and proline is relatively low in all plant-source proteins (Hou et al. 2019).

Animals are frequently exposed to stressful conditions in their life times. Importantly, AAs are beneficial for maintaining the adequate expression of intestinal TJ proteins in subjects with various intestinal diseases, such as intestinal inflammation that is associated with the defect of TJ functions. In the dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitic mouse model, which is similar to human ulcerative colitis, dietary supplementation with arginine or glutamine increases the abundance of the claudin-1 protein in the colon (Ren et al. 2014c). Likewise, glutamine administration increases the abundance of the ZO-1 protein in the small-intestinal mucosa of DSS-treated mice (Pai et al. 2014). Similarly, in rats with methotrexate-induced mucositis, glutamine or arginine supplementation enhances the jejunal abundances of claudin-1, occludin and ZO-1 proteins through ERK and NF-κB pathways (Beutheu et al. 2014). In addition to intestinal inflammation, AAs are also essential for the homeostasis of TJ proteins in other situations. For example, although a western-style high-fat diet lowers the levels of occludin and ZO-1 proteins in the upper part of the mouse small intestine, oral administration of arginine restores the abundances of occludin and ZO-1 proteins (Sellmann et al. 2017a). Liang et al. (2018) reported that dietary supplementation with 0.2% tryptophan to weanling pigs increased the abundances of ZO-1 and occludin proteins in the colon. Furthermore, dietary supplementation

with 0.2% and 0.4% tryptophan to weanling pigs augmented the abundances of the jejunal ZO-1, ZO-3 and claudin proteins in a dose-dependent manner, whereas dietary supplementation with 0.4% tryptophan also enhanced the abundance of the jejunal occludin protein (Liang et al. 2019). Thus, much evidence shows that intercellular junctions, including TJ, AJ and desmosomes, play a critical role in the hemostasis of the intestinal epithelium. Dietary AAs are essential for the expression of the TJ proteins, especially in various intestinal diseases that are characterized by defects in the intestinal mucosal barrier (Table 8.1). However, it remains unknown how AAs affect the location of intestinal TJ proteins or the homeostasis of the intestinal AJ and desmosomes. This remains to be an active area of research in AA physiology and nutrition.

8.5 Amino Acids and Goblet Cells

In addition to enterocytes, the second subtype of cells in the intestinal epithelium is the mucusproducing goblet cells. Goblet cells are specialized secretory cells lining intestinal mucosal epithelia. The differentiation of goblet cells from intestinal epithelial stem cells is tightly regulated by the sterile α motif pointed domain epithelial specific transcription factor (Spdef), which responds to the downstream of both Notch and Wnt signaling. Spdef-null mice show a reduction in mature, differentiated goblet cells in the intestine, whereas overexpression of Spdef in the expansion intestine displays an of Muc2-expressing goblet cells at the expense of other intestinal cell types (Gregorieff et al. 2009; Noah et al. 2010). Goblet cells have critical roles in maintaining intestinal homeostasis through secreting a variety of factors, such as mucins and trefoil factors (Johansson and Hansson 2016; McCauley and Guasch 2015). The secretion of these factors from goblet cells depends on various stimuli, such as microbial factors, growth factors and inflammatory cytokines (Deplancke and Gaskins 2001; McCauley and Guasch 2015; Wlodarska et al. 2014), as well as the availability

of threonine (a major AA in mucins; Wu 2018). These factors entrap external insults such as pathogens, toxins, and allergens, and prevent their translocation into the blood and other extraintestinal tissues (Johansson and Hansson 2016). Besides the secretory function, goblet cells have recently been implicated as antigen-presenting cells because goblet cells in the small intestine present intestinal luminal antigens to the underlying dendritic cells so that dendritic cells can sense intestinal insults without a break in intestinal barrier integrity (Knoop et al. 2015; McDole et al. 2012).

Increasing evidence has shown that dietary AAs actively maintain the number of intestinal goblet cells and the expression of mucins in the intestine. For example, in healthy mice, dietary supplementation with 1.0% glutamine for 2 weeks promotes the expression of mucin-4 in the jejunum (Ren et al. 2014b). Similar observation has also been reported in various models of intestinal diseases. For example, in rats with DSS-induced colitis, dietary supplementation with a mixture of AAs (containing L-threonine, L-serine, L-proline, and L-cysteine) attenuates reductions in the number of Muc2-containing goblet cells in the intestinal epithelium of the ulcerated area and mucin production in the colon, while restoring the mucin AA composition and mucosal content (Faure et al. 2006). Likewise, in rats with experimental diversion colitis, glutamine supplementation increases the number of goblet cells in the colonic lamina propria (Pacheco et al. 2012). Also, in enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli (ETEC) infected mice, glutamine promotes the expression of mucin-2 in the jejunum (Xu et al. 2017), providing another line of evidence for a crucial role of the functional AA in gut integrity and function (Rhoads and Wu 2009).

Under certain experimental conditions, some AAs have little effect on or even reduce the number of intestinal goblet cells. For example, glutamine supplementation to weaning mice did not affect the number of goblet cells, or the expression of markers for goblet cells (Chen et al. 2018a). In male 50-day-old Wistar rats, dietary supplementation with 2.0% glutamine for 10 days

Amino acide	Models	Effect on TIs	Peferences
Truntanhan	IDEC	Effect of 135	Wang at al
Tryptopnan	IPEC	claudin-4, ZO-1 and ZO-2.	(2015a)
	Pigs	Tryptophan supplementation enhances the mRNA levels of claudin-3 and ZO-1.	Liu et al. (2017b)
Methionine	Rats	Methionine restriction increases the mRNA levels of claudin-3	Ramalingam
		and changes the posttranslational modification of occludin.	et al. (2010)
	Renal	Methionine restriction decreases the protein abundances of	Mullin et al.
	epithelial cells	claudin-3 and 7, but dramatically increases the abundances of claudin-4 and 5.	(2009)
Glycine	IPEC	Glycine supplementation enhances the protein abundances of claudin-3, claudin-7 and ZO-3.	Li et al. (2016)
Valine	Grass carp	Valine deficiency decreases mRNA levels of claudin-b, claudin-3, occludin and ZO-1, but increases the mRNA level of claudin-15.	Feng et al. (2015b)
Phenylalanine	Grass carp	Phenylalanine supplementation increases the mRNA levels of ZO-1, occludin and claudin-c.	Feng et al. (2015a)
Leucine	Grass carp	Leucine supplementation increases the mRNA levels of occludin, ZO-1, claudin-b, claudin-3 and claudin-12.	Jiang et al. (2017b)
Isoleucine	Hen	Excess digestible isoleucine level does not change mRNA levels of claudin-1 and occludin.	Dong et al. (2016)
	Grass carp	Isoleucine deficiency down-regulates the mRNA levels of claudin-3, claudin-b, claudin-c, occludin and ZO-1, but	Feng et al. (2017)
		up-regulates the mRNA level of claudin-12.	()
Proline	Piglet	Proline increases the protein abundances of ZO-1, occludin and claudin-3.	Wang et al. (2015c)
Glutamine	IPEC	Glutamine increases the protein abundances of occludin, claudin-4, junction adhesion molecule (JAM)-A, ZO-1, ZO-2 and ZO-3.	Wang et al. (2016)
	Weanling piglet	Glutamine increases the protein abundances of occludin, claudin-1, ZO-2, and ZO-3.	Wang et al. (2015b)
	Caco-2 cells	Deprivation of glutamine decreases protein abundances of claudin-1, occludin and ZO-1.	Li et al. (2004)
Glutamate	IPEC	Glutamate enhances the mRNA and protein abundances of occludin, claudin-3, ZO-2 and ZO-3.	Jiao et al. (2015)
	Caco-2 cells	Glutamate supplementation increases the mRNA levels of ZO-1 and occludin during MTX treatment.	Beutheu et al. (2013)
	Carp	Glutamate supplementation increases mRNA levels of ZO-1, occludin, claudin-2, 3 and 7 during LPS challenge.	Jiang et al. (2017a)
Arginine	Caco-2 cells	Arginine supplementation increases the mRNA levels of ZO-1 and occludin during MTX treatment.	Beutheu et al. (2013)
	Grass carp	Arginine supplementation enhances the mRNA levels of occludin, claudin-3 and claudin-c.	Chen et al. (2019a)
Threonine	Broiler chickens	Threonine administration increases the mRNA levels of claudin-3 and ZO-1 during LPS challenge.	Chen et al. (2018b)
Histidine	Grass carp	Histidine deficiency down-regulates the mRNA levels of claudin-b, claudin-c, claudin-3, claudin-12, claudin-15, occludin and ZO-1.	Jiang et al. (2016)
Citrulline	Mice	Citrulline increases the protein abundances of occludin and ZO-1.	Sellmann et al. (2017b)

 Table 8.1
 Effects of amino acids on intestinal tight junction proteins
was reported to decrease the numbers of goblet cells in the villi and crypt of the jejunum or ileum (Martins et al. 2016). Similarly, glutamine supplementation reduced the number of goblet cells in the villi and crypt of jejunum or ileum in rats with Walker-256 tumor (Martins et al. 2016). However, the provision of glutamine from the basal diet was not known in all these studies. In weaned piglets, tryptophan supplementation had little effect on the numbers of goblet cells in the duodenum, jejunum and ileum (Tossou et al. 2016). Similarly, threonine supplementation did not influence the numbers of goblet cells in the jejunum and colon or the amounts of mucins in the scrapings of the jejunum and colon in weaning piglets (Trevisi et al. 2015). The possible reasons for these discrepancies include animal models, intakes of the AAs from the basal diets, supplemental dosages of the AAs, and the methods used for the analysis of goblet cells. Thus, the influences of AA in intestinal goblet cells need further investigation. It is interesting to determine whether specific AAs (e.g., glutamine, arginine and glycine) regulates the differentiation of intestinal goblet cells from intestinal epithelial stem cells.

8.6 Amino Acids and Paneth Cells

With the lineage of secretory cells from intestinal epithelial stem cells, Paneth cells produce antimicrobial peptides, which are rich in proline (Hou et al. 2017). Various cellular signaling pathways affect the differentiation of Paneth cells, such as Notch, PKC λ /t and mTORC1 (Heuberger et al. 2014; Nakanishi et al. 2016; Zhou et al. 2015). Unlike the enterocytes, Paneth cells reside at the base of the small intestinal crypts of Lieberkühn, where epithelial stem cells are also present.

Paneth cells secrete a wide variety of peptides and proteins, such as lysozyme, α -defensin peptides and secretory phospholipase A2 isotype II (Clevers and Bevins 2013; Porter et al. 2002; Salzman and Bevins 2013). Most of these peptides and proteins have antimicrobial effects, which target microorganisms, including the resident microbiota of the small intestine and the intruding pathogens that can potentially penetrate the mucus layer to invade the crypt or other parts of the intestinal epithelium (Ayabe et al. 2000; Bevins and Salzman 2011). Thus, Paneth cells help protect the gut from pathogenic microbes and shape the composition of the intestinal resident microbiota (Brandl et al. 2007; Salzman et al. 2010; Veshnyakova et al. 2010).

Paneth cells also secrete ligands that provide trophic support for the adjacent epithelial stem cells (Sato et al. 2011). These peptides and proteins are stored in the large secretory granules of Paneth cells and secreted into the crypt lumen via mechanisms mediated by KCa3.1 calciumactivated potassium channels in response to a variety of stimuli, including bacterial products (Ayabe et al. 2000, 2002).

Dietary AAs have been reported to regulate the production of antimicrobial peptides by Paneth cells. For example, arginine supplementation upregulates the expression of *cryptdins 1, 4*, and 5, cryptdin-related sequence 1c (Crs1c), and RNase angiogenin 4 (Ang4) in the jejunum and ileum (Ren et al. 2014a). Similarly, glutamine supplementation increases the mRNA levels for cryptdins 1, 4, and 5 in the jejunum, cryptdins 4 in the ileum, and Reg3g in the colon (Ren et al. 2014b). In ETEC-infected mice, arginine or glutamine supplementation also promotes the expression of the Crs1c and Reg3g genes (Liu et al. 2017a). Although these results indicate the beneficial function of arginine or glutamine in Paneth cells, the underlying mechanisms are largely unknown. It remains to be determined whether other functional AAs regulate the differentiation of Paneth cells or the expression of antimicrobial peptides in the cells. Collectively, arginine or glutamine can modulate the synthesis of antimicrobial peptides in Paneth cells. However, the roles of other AAs in the secretion of intestinal antimicrobial peptides and the differentiation of Paneth cells remain to be explored.

8.7 Amino Acids and Intestinal Immune Cells

There are various types of immune cells in the intestine, including IELs, microfold cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, B cells, and T cells (Fig. **8.1**). The intestine has now been characterized as the largest lymphoid organ in humans and other mammals. The intricate intestinal immune system consists of the outer epithelial layer and the inner lamina propria. The components of the outer section include IELs, the dendritic cell extensions and microfold cells. Intraepithelial lymphocytes are an important line of the first defense that maintains the integrity of intestinal epithelial cells, and dendritic cells help to determine the type of immune response as needed by presenting luminal antigens. In pigs, IELs respond well to T-cell mitogens after weaning but not during the preweaning period (Wu 1996). Microfold cells also mediate the transcytosis of antigens across the epithelium. The inner section of the intestinal defense locates below the IELs, and includes dendritic cells, neutrophils, macrophages, immunoglobulin (Ig) A-producing B cells, natural killer (NK) cells, NK T-cells, conventional T-cells, and T-regulatory cells.

The numbers of macrophages, T cells, and B cells in the intestinal mucosa are greater in weanling mammals (e.g., pigs) than in preweaning ones (Wu 1995). These immune cells initiate inflammation and injury in the gut. Available evidence shows that AAs are important regulators of the activation and function of intestinal immune cells. For example, glutamine promotes the secretion of IgA and increases the abundance of IgA-producing B cells in the intestine (Ren et al. 2016b; Wu et al. 2016). Glutamine also highly shapes the polarization of macrophages through mechanisms, including glutamine-UDP-N-acetylglucosamine pathway, glutamine-derived α -ketoglutarate via glutaminolysis, and glutamine-dependent anerplerosis or the GABA shunt (Ren et al. 2019a; Xia et al. 2019). Dietary deficiency of AAs significantly reduces the

number of F4/80⁺CD11b⁺ macrophages and the number of IL-10⁺F4/80⁺CD11b⁺ macrophages in the mouse small intestine (Ochi et al. 2016). The influence of dietary AAs on small-intestinal macrophages may depend on mTOR signaling because an inhibition of this signaling by rapamycin also reduces the number of IL-10⁺F4/80⁺CD11b⁺ macrophages in the mouse small intestine (Ochi et al. 2016).

Considering the importance of AAs in T cell fate decision (Ren et al. 2016c, 2017a, b), it is not surprising that AAs regulate intestinal T cell response. For example, during ETEC infection, intestinal GABA promotes the expression of IL-17 in the jejunum of both mice and piglets (Ren et al. 2016d, 2019b). In addition to conventional T-cells, AAs also modulate the intestinal un-conventional T-cell response. For example, in the DSStreated mice, glutamine administration increases the proportion of small-intestinal IEL $\gamma\delta$ -T cells but decreases the expression of genes responsible for immunomodulation in IEL $\gamma\delta$ -T cells, such as *Ifn-* γ , *Tnf-* α and *Il-17* (Pai et al. 2014). Similarly, glutamine decreases the percentage of IEL $\gamma\delta$ -T cells, and regulates the mRNA expression of Bcl-xl, *Il-7 receptor* and *Reg3g* in IEL $\gamma\delta$ -T cells in mice with ischemia/reperfusion injury (Pai et al. 2015). Furthermore, dietary supplementation with L-tryptophan (0.1 g/kg body weight per day) to mice with DSS-induced inflammation reduced the abundances of macrophages and neutrophils in the colon and improved colonic immune responses partly through attenuating the activation of toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-STAT3 signaling and nucleus p-65 (Wang et al. 2020). Thus, dietary AAs play an important role in the activation and function of intestinal immune cells (e.g., IgA-producing B cells, macrophages and T cells, Table 8.2). However, the influences of AAs on the number and function of other types of intestinal immune cells, such as M cell, dendritic cells and neutrophils, need further investigation. Besides the mTOR signaling, whether AAs affects the fate of intestinal immune cells through other cellular signaling molecules (such as nitric oxide, kynurenine, glycine, glutamate and hydroxyproline) remain to be determined (Hou and Wu 2018; Li and Wu 2018; Wang et al. 2013, 2020; Wu et al. 2019b).

Amino acids	Models	Effect on intestinal immunity	References
Tryptophan	Acetic acid-treated mice	Tryptophan supplementation inhibits the colonic mRNA expression of IL-22.	Chen et al. (2018a)
	DSS- treated mice	Tryptophan supplementation reduces the colonic mRNA levels of IL-6, TNF- α , IL-1 β , CCL2, CXCL1 and CXCL2.	Islam et al. (2017)
Methionine	Chemotherapy- induced intestinal mucositis rats	Methionine supplementation increases the intestinal mRNA levels of IL-10.	Wu et al. (2019a)
Glycine	Rodent postoperative inflammatory ileus	Glycine treatment reduces the mRNA levels of IL-6 and TNF- α in the rat small intestinal muscularis.	Stoffels et al. (2011)
Valine	Normal grass carp	Valine deficiency down-regulates mRNA levels of IL-10 and TGF- β 1, but up-regulates the mRNA levels of TNF- α and IL-8 in the small intestine.	Luo et al. (2014)
Phenylalanine	Normal grass carp	Phenylalanine supplementation increases the mRNA levels of IL-10 and TGF-β1 in the intestine.	Feng et al. (2015a)
Leucine	LPS-treated chicken embryos	Leucine supplementation decreases IgA production and mRNA level of IL-6 in small intestine.	Liu et al. (2018)
	Normal grass carp	Leucine supplementation down-regulates the mRNA levels of TNF- α and IL-8 in the mid and distal intestine.	Jiang et al. (2015)
Serine	Early-weaned piglets	Serine supplementation decreases both cytokine secretion and mRNA levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- α in the small intestine.	Zhou et al. (2018)
	LPS-treated mice	Serine treatment reduces the mRNA levels of IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, IL-8 and IL-10 in the ileum.	Zhou et al. (2017)
Cysteine	LPS-treated piglets	Cysteine supplementation down-regulates the mRNA levels of TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-8 in the jejunum and ileum.	Song et al. (2016)
	DSS-treated piglets	Cysteine supplementation reduces the colonic mRNA levels of TNF- α , IL-6, IL-12p40 and IL-1 β .	Kim et al. (2009)
Asparagine	LPS-treated piglets	Asparagine supplementation down-regulates the intestinal TNF- α secretion.	Chen et al. (2016)
Glutamine	Normal mouse	Glutamine supplementation increases ileal mRNA levels of IL-5, IL-6, IL-13 and TGF-β.	Wu et al. (2016)
	DSS-treated mouse	Glutamine administration increases the proportion of small-intestinal IEL $\gamma\delta$ -T cells but decreases the mRNA levels of IFN- γ , TNF- α and IL-17 in IEL $\gamma\delta$ -T cells.	Pai et al. (2014)
	Normal mouse	Glutamine supplementation enhances mRNA levels for IL-1 β , IL-17 and TNF- α in the ileum.	Ren et al. (2014b)
	Soybean meal-induced enteritis turbot	Glutamine decreases the infiltration of leucocytes in the lamina propria and submucosa, as well as the mRNA levels of IL-8, TNF- α and TGF- β in the intestine.	Gu et al. (2017)
Threonine	LPS-treated chicken	Threonine administration reduces mRNA levels of the jejunal IFN- γ and ileal IL-1 β .	Chen et al. (2018c)
	IUGR weanling piglets	Threonine supplementation reduces the ileal mRNA level of TNF- α , and increases the production of Muc2 and SIgA, as well as the density of goblet cells.	Zhang et al. (2019)
Aspartate	Normal mouse	Aspartate supplementation decreases the ileal mRNA levels of IL-17, IFN- γ and Muc2.	Bin et al. (2017)
Glutamate	LPS-treated Jian carp	Glutamate treatment suppresses the mRNA levels of IL-1 β , IL-8 and TNF- α , but enhances the mRNA levels of IL-10 in the intestine.	Jiang et al. (2017a)

Table 8.2 Effects of amino acids on intestinal immunity

(continued)

Amino acids	Models	Effect on intestinal immunity	References
Arginine	Clostridium perfringens infected chickens	Arginine supplementation elevates jejunal mRNA levels of IFN-γ, IL-10 and NOD1.	Zhang et al. (2017)
	Normal mouse	Arginine supplementation increases the ileal mRNA levels of IL-1 β , TNF- α and IFN- γ , and promotes the production of SIgA, mucins, and Paneth antimicrobials in the jejunum and ileum.	Ren et al. (2014a)
	LPS-treated weaned pigs	Arginine administration reduces the mRNA levels of jejunal IL-6, and jejunal and ileal TNF- α .	Liu et al. (2008)
γ-aminobutyric acid	Normal weaned piglets	γ -aminobutyric acid supplementation inhibits the intestinal mRNA levels of IL-22, IL-1, IL-18 and Muc1, but increases the mRNA levels of IFN- γ , IL-4 and IL-10.	Chen et al. (2019b)
	ETEC infected mouse or piglets	Intestinal γ -aminobutyric acid promotes the mRNA level of IL-17 in the jejunum.	Ren et al. (2016d)

Table 8.2 (continued)

8.8 Conclusion

The intestine interacts with a diverse community of antigens and bacteria, and has evolved with a complex defense system, including the indigenous intestinal microbiota, epithelial layer and lamina propria. Dietary intakes of AAs profoundly affect this defense system that involves not only luminal microbes but also intestinal epithelial cells, TJs, globet cells, Paneth cells and immune cells (e.g., macrophages, B cells and T cells). It is imperative to explore the roles of AAs on the function of other components of the intestinal defense system, such as tuft cells, enteroendocrine cells and intestinal innate lymphoid cells. Through modulation of the intestine immune and anti-inflammatory systems, AAs can control the progression of various intestinal diseases, such as intestinal infection and intestinal colitis. However, we eagerly await further investigations of the new roles of AAs in intestinal physiology and pathology, and more evidence about the benefits of manipulating AA metabolism for mitigating intestinal diseases. In practice, adequate intakes of dietary AAs, particularly functional AAs (Wu 2010), are crucial for maintaining the integrity and function of the intestine and the whole-body in humans and other animals.

Acknowledgements Work in our laboratories was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China grants (31872365 and 31790411), the Innovation Team Project at Universities of Guangdong Province (2017KCXTD002), and Texas A&M AgriLife Research (H-8200). We thank Mr. Yaoyao Xia for assistance in preparing Fig. 8.1.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Anhe FF, Roy D, Pilon G, Dudonne S, Matamoros S, Varin TV, Garofalo C, Moine Q, Desjardins Y et al (2014) A polyphenol-rich cranberry extract protects from diet-induced obesity, insulin resistance and intestinal inflammation in association with increased Akkermansia spp. population in the gut microbiota of mice. Gut 64:872–883
- Ayabe T, Satchell DP, Wilson CL, Parks WC, Selsted ME, Ouellette AJ (2000) Secretion of microbicidal alphadefensins by intestinal Paneth cells in response to bacteria. Nat Immunol 1:113–118
- Ayabe T, Wulff H, Darmoul D, Cahalan MD, Chandy KG, Ouellette AJ (2002) Modulation of mouse Paneth cell alpha-defensin secretion by mIKCa1, a Ca2+–activated, intermediate conductance potassium channel. J Biol Chem 277:3793–3800
- Baldridge MT, Lee S, Brown JJ, McAllister N, Urbanek K, Dermody TS, Nice TJ, Virgin HW (2017) Expression of Ifnlr1 on intestinal epithelial cells is critical to the antiviral effects of interferon lambda against norovirus and reovirus. J Virol 91:e02079-16
- Beutheu S, Ghouzali I, Galas L, Dechelotte P, Coeffier M (2013) Glutamine and arginine improve permeability and tight junction protein expression in methotrexatetreated Caco-2 cells. Clin Nutr 32:863–869
- Beutheu S, Ouelaa W, Guerin C, Belmonte L, Aziz M, Tennoune N, Bole-Feysot C, Galas L, Dechelotte P et al (2014) Glutamine supplementation, but not combined

glutamine and arginine supplementation, improves gut barrier function during chemotherapy-induced intestinal mucositis in rats. Clin Nutr 33:694–701

- Bevins CL, Salzman NH (2011) Paneth cells, antimicrobial peptides and maintenance of intestinal homeostasis. Nat Rev Microbiol 9:356–368
- Bin P, Liu S, Chen S, Zeng Z, Huang R, Yin Y, Liu G (2017) The effect of aspartate supplementation on the microbial composition and innate immunity on mice. Amino Acids 49:2045–2051
- Brandl K, Plitas G, Schnabl B, DeMatteo RP, Pamer EG (2007) MyD88-mediated signals induce the bactericidal lectin RegIII gamma and protect mice against intestinal Listeria monocytogenes infection. J Exp Med 204:1891–1900
- Britton RA, Young VB (2014) Role of the intestinal microbiota in resistance to colonization by Clostridium difficile. Gastroenterology 146:1547–1553
- Chen S, Liu S, Zhang F, Ren W, Li N, Yin J, Duan J, Peng Y, Liu G et al (2014) Effects of dietary L-glutamine supplementation on specific and general defense responses in mice immunized with inactivated Pasteurella multocida vaccine. Amino Acids 46:2365–2375
- Chen S, Liu Y, Wang X, Wang H, Li S, Shi H, Zhu H, Zhang J, Pi D et al (2016) Asparagine improves intestinal integrity, inhibits TLR4 and NOD signaling, and differently regulates p38 and ERK1/2 signaling in weanling piglets after LPS challenge. Innate Immun 22:577–587
- Chen S, Xia Y, Zhu G, Yan J, Tan C, Deng B, Deng J, Yin Y, Ren W (2018a) Glutamine supplementation improves intestinal cell proliferation and stem cell differentiation in weanling mice. Food Nutr Res 62:1439
- Chen Y, Zhang H, Cheng Y, Li Y, Wen C, Zhou Y (2018b) Dietary L-threonine supplementation attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory responses and intestinal barrier damage of broiler chickens at an early age. Br J Nutr 119:1254–1262
- Chen Y, Zhang H, Cheng Y, Li Y, Wen C, Zhou Y (2018c) Dietary l-threonine supplementation attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory responses and intestinal barrier damage of broiler chickens at an early age. Br J Nutr 119:1254–1262
- Chen J, Zhang D, Tan Q, Liu M, Hu P (2019a) Arginine affects growth and integrity of grass carp enterocytes by regulating TOR signaling pathway and tight junction proteins. Fish Physiol Biochem 45:539–549
- Chen S, Tan B, Xia Y, Liao S, Wang M, Yin J, Wang J, Xiao H, Qi M et al (2019b) Effects of dietary gamma-aminobutyric acid supplementation on the intestinal functions in weaning piglets. Food Funct 10:366–378
- Clevers HC, Bevins CL (2013) Paneth cells: maestros of the small intestinal crypts. Annu Rev Physiol 75:289–311
- Dai ZL, Wu G, Zhu WY (2011) Amino acid metabolism in intestinal bacteria: links between gut ecology and host health. Front Biosci 16:1768–1786

- Dai ZL, Li XL, Xi PB, Zhang J, Wu G, Zhu WY (2012) Regulatory role for L-arginine in the utilization of amino acids by pig small-intestinal bacteria. Amino Acids 43:233–244
- Dai ZL, Wu ZL, Hang SQ, Zhu WY, Wu G (2015) Amino acid metabolism in intestinal bacteria and its potential implications for mammalian reproduction. Mol Hum Reprod 21:389–409
- Deplancke B, Gaskins HR (2001) Microbial modulation of innate defense: goblet cells and the intestinal mucus layer. Am J Clin Nutr 73:1131S–1141S
- Dodd D, Spitzer MH, Van Treuren W, Merrill BD, Hryckowian AJ, Higginbottom SK, Le A, Cowan TM, Nolan GP et al (2017) A gut bacterial pathway metabolizes aromatic amino acids into nine circulating metabolites. Nature 551:648–652
- Dong XY, Azzam MM, Zou XT (2016) Effects of dietary L-isoleucine on laying performance and immunomodulation of laying hens. Poult Sci 95:2297–2305
- Endt K, Stecher B, Chaffron S, Slack E, Tchitchek N, Benecke A, Van Maele L, Sirard JC, Mueller AJ et al (2010) The microbiota mediates pathogen clearance from the gut lumen after non-typhoidal Salmonella diarrhea. PLoS Pathog 6:e1001097
- Fan XX, Li S, Wu ZL, Dai ZL, Li J, Wang XL, Wu G (2019) Glycine supplementation to breast-fed piglets attenuates postweaning jejunal epithelial apoptosis: a functional role of CHOP signaling. Amino Acids 51:463–473
- Faure M, Mettraux C, Moennoz D, Godin JP, Vuichoud J, Rochat F, Breuille D, Obled C, Corthesy-Theulaz I (2006) Specific amino acids increase mucin synthesis and microbiota in dextran sulfate sodium-treated rats. J Nutr 136:1558–1564
- Feng L, Li W, Liu Y, Jiang WD, Kuang SY, Jiang J, Tang L, Wu P, Tang WN et al (2015a) Dietary phenylalanineimproved intestinal barrier health in young grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*) is associated with increased immune status and regulated gene expression of cytokines, tight junction proteins, antioxidant enzymes and related signalling molecules. Fish Shellfish Immunol 45:495–509
- Feng L, Luo JB, Jiang WD, Liu Y, Wu P, Jiang J, Kuang SY, Tang L, Zhang YA et al (2015b) Changes in barrier health status of the gill for grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*) during valine deficiency: regulation of tight junction protein transcript, antioxidant status and apoptosis-related gene expression. Fish Shellfish Immunol 45:239–249
- Feng L, Gan L, Jiang WD, Wu P, Liu Y, Jiang J, Tang L, Kuang SY, Tang WN et al (2017) Gill structural integrity changes in fish deficient or excessive in dietary isoleucine: towards the modulation of tight junction protein, inflammation, apoptosis and antioxidant defense via NF-kappaB, TOR and Nrf2 signaling pathways. Fish Shellfish Immunol 63:127–138
- Fernandez Miyakawa ME, Pistone Creydt V, Uzal FA, McClane BA, Ibarra C (2005) Clostridium perfringens enterotoxin damages the human intestine in vitro. Infect Immun 73:8407–8410

- Fuentes S, van Nood E, Tims S, Heikamp-de Jong I, ter Braak CJ, Keller JJ, Zoetendal EG, de Vos WM (2014) Reset of a critically disturbed microbial ecosystem: faecal transplant in recurrent Clostridium difficile infection. ISME J 8:1621–1633
- Green KJ, Simpson CL (2007) Desmosomes: new perspectives on a classic. J Invest Dermatol 127:2499–2515
- Gregorieff A, Stange DE, Kujala P, Begthel H, van den Born M, Korving J, Peters PJ, Clevers H (2009) The ETS-domain transcription factor Spdef promotes maturation of goblet and paneth cells in the intestinal epithelium. Gastroenterology 137:1333–1345
- Gu M, Bai N, Xu B, Xu X, Jia Q, Zhang Z (2017) Protective effect of glutamine and arginine against soybean meal-induced enteritis in the juvenile turbot (Scophthalmus maximus). Fish Shellfish Immunol 70:95–105
- He L, Li H, Huang N, Tian J, Liu Z, Zhou X, Yao K, Li T, Yin Y (2016) Effects of alpha-Ketoglutarate on glutamine metabolism in piglet enterocytes in vivo and in vitro. J Agric Food Chem 64:2668–2673
- Heuberger J, Kosel F, Qi J, Grossmann KS, Rajewsky K, Birchmeier W (2014) Shp2/MAPK signaling controls goblet/paneth cell fate decisions in the intestine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:3472–3477
- Honda K, Littman DR (2016) The microbiota in adaptive immune homeostasis and disease. Nature 535:75–84
- Hou YQ, Wu G (2017) Nutritionally nonessential amino acids: a misnomer in nutritional sciences. Adv Nutr 8:137–139
- Hou YQ, Wu G (2018) L-glutamate nutrition and metabolism in swine. Amino Acids 50:1497–1510
- Hou YQ, He WL, Hu SD, Wu G (2019) Composition of polyamines and amino acids in plant-source foods for human consumption. Amino Acids 51:1153–1165
- Hou YQ, Wu ZL, Dai ZL, Wang GH, Wu G (2017) Protein hydrolysates in animal nutrition: industrial production, bioactive peptides, and functional significance. J Anim Sci Biotechnol 8:24
- Islam J, Sato S, Watanabe K, Watanabe T, Ardiansyah, Hirahara K, Aoyama Y, Tomita S, Aso H et al (2017) Dietary tryptophan alleviates dextran sodium sulfateinduced colitis through aryl hydrocarbon receptor in mice. J Nutr Biochem 42:43–50
- Ivanov AI, Naydenov NG (2013) Dynamics and regulation of epithelial adherens junctions: recent discoveries and controversies. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 303:27–99
- Ji Y, Guo Q, Yin Y, Blachier F, Kong X (2018) Dietary proline supplementation alters colonic luminal microbiota and bacterial metabolite composition between days 45 and 70 of pregnancy in Huanjiang mini-pigs. J Anim Sci Biotechnol 9:18
- Jiang WD, Deng YP, Liu Y, Qu B, Jiang J, Kuang SY, Tang L, Tang WN, Wu P et al (2015) Dietary leucine regulates the intestinal immune status, immune-related signalling molecules and tight junction transcript abundance in grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*). Aquaculture 444:134–142
- Jiang WD, Feng L, Qu B, Wu P, Kuang SY, Jiang J, Tang L, Tang WN, Zhang YA et al (2016) Changes in integ-

rity of the gill during histidine deficiency or excess due to depression of cellular anti-oxidative ability, induction of apoptosis, inflammation and impair of cell-cell tight junctions related to Nrf2, TOR and NF-kappaB signaling in fish. Fish Shellfish Immunol 56:111–122

- Jiang J, Yin L, Li JY, Li Q, Shi D, Feng L, Liu Y, Jiang WD, Wu P et al (2017a) Glutamate attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced oxidative damage and mRNA expression changes of tight junction and defensin proteins, inflammatory and apoptosis response signaling molecules in the intestine of fish. Fish Shellfish Immunol 70:473–484
- Jiang WD, Deng YP, Zhou XQ, Liu Y, Jiang J, Kuang SY, Tang L, Tang WN, Wu P et al (2017b) Towards the modulation of oxidative damage, apoptosis and tight junction protein in response to dietary leucine deficiency: a likely cause of ROS-induced gill structural integrity impairment. Fish Shellfish Immunol 70:609–620
- Jiao N, Wu Z, Ji Y, Wang B, Dai Z, Wu G (2015) L-glutamate enhances barrier and antioxidative functions in intestinal porcine epithelial cells. J Nutr 145:2258–2264
- Johansson ME, Hansson GC (2016) Immunological aspects of intestinal mucus and mucins. Nat Rev Immunol 16:639–649
- Kepert I, Fonseca J, Muller C, Milger K, Hochwind K, Kostric M, Fedoseeva M, Ohnmacht C, Dehmel S et al (2017) D-tryptophan from probiotic bacteria influences the gut microbiome and allergic airway disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 139:1525–1535
- Kim CJ, Kovacs-Nolan J, Yang C, Archbold T, Fan MZ, Mine Y (2009) L-cysteine supplementation attenuates local inflammation and restores gut homeostasis in a porcine model of colitis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1790:1161–1169
- Knoop KA, McDonald KG, McCrate S, McDole JR, Newberry RD (2015) Microbial sensing by goblet cells controls immune surveillance of luminal antigens in the colon. Mucosal Immunol 8:198–210
- Le Floc'h N, Wessels A, Corrent E, Wu G, Bosi P (2018) The relevance of functional amino acids to support the health of growing pigs. Anim Feed Sci Technol 245:104–116
- Lee WJ, Hase K (2014) Gut microbiota-generated metabolites in animal health and disease. Nat Chem Biol 10:416–424
- Li P, Wu G (2018) Roles of dietary glycine, proline and hydroxyproline in collagen synthesis and animal growth. Amino Acids 50:29–38
- Li N, Lewis P, Samuelson D, Liboni K, Neu J (2004) Glutamine regulates Caco-2 cell tight junction proteins. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 287:G726–G733
- Li P, Yin YL, Li DF, Kim SW, Wu G (2007) Amino acids and immune function. Br J Nutr 98:237–252
- Li W, Sun K, Ji Y, Wu Z, Wang W, Dai Z, Wu G (2016) Glycine regulates expression and distribution of claudin-7 and ZO-3 proteins in intestinal porcine epithelial cells. J Nutr 146:964–969

- Li P, Wu G (2020) Composition of amino acids and related nitrogenous nutrients in feedstuffs for animal diets. Amino Acids 52:523–542.
- Li XL, Zheng SX, Wu G (2020) Nutrition and metabolism of glutamate and glutamine in fish. Amino Acids 52:671–691
- Liang HW, Dai ZL, Ma XS, Liu N, Ji Y, Chen JQ, Zhang YC, Yang Y, Li J et al (2018) Dietary L-tryptophan modulates the structural and functional composition of the intestinal microbiome in weaned piglets. Front Microbiol 9:1736
- Liang HW, Dai ZL, Kou J, Sun KJ, Chen JQ, Yang Y, Wu G, Wu ZL (2019) Dietary L-tryptophan supplementation enhances the intestinal mucosal barrier function in weaned piglets: implication of tryptophanmetabolizing microbiota. Int J Mol Sci 20:20
- Liu Y, Huang J, Hou Y, Zhu H, Zhao S, Ding B, Yin Y, Yi G, Shi J et al (2008) Dietary arginine supplementation alleviates intestinal mucosal disruption induced by Escherichia coli lipopolysaccharide in weaned pigs. Br J Nutr 100:552–560
- Liu G, Ren W, Fang J, Hu CA, Guan G, Al-Dhabi NA, Yin J, Duraipandiyan V, Chen S et al (2017a) L-glutamine and L-arginine protect against enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli infection via intestinal innate immunity in mice. Amino Acids 49:1945–1954
- Liu W, Mi S, Ruan Z, Li J, Shu X, Yao K, Jiang M, Deng Z (2017b) Dietary tryptophan enhanced the expression of tight junction protein ZO-1 in intestine. J Food Sci 82:562–567
- Liu SQ, Wang LY, Liu GH, Tang DZ, Fan XX, Zhao JP, Jiao HC, Wang XJ, Sun SH et al (2018) Leucine alters immunoglobulin a secretion and inflammatory cytokine expression induced by lipopolysaccharide via the nuclear factor-kappaB pathway in intestine of chicken embryos. Animal 12:1903–1911
- Liu BM, Jiang XR, Cai L, Zhao XM, Dai ZL, Wu G, Li XL (2019a) Putrescine mitigates intestinal atrophy through suppressing inflammatory response in weanling piglets. J Anim Sci Biotechnol 10:69
- Liu YY et al. (2019b) Lactobacillus reuteri DSM 17938 feeding of healthy newborn mice regulates immune responses while modulating gut microbiota and boosting beneficial metabolites. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 317:G824–G838
- Louis P, Hold GL, Flint HJ (2014) The gut microbiota, bacterial metabolites and colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Microbiol 12:661–672
- Luissint AC, Parkos CA, Nusrat A (2016) Inflammation and the intestinal barrier: leukocyte-epithelial cell interactions, cell junction remodeling, and mucosal repair. Gastroenterology 151:616–632
- Luo JB, Feng L, Jiang WD, Liu Y, Wu P, Jiang J, Kuang SY, Tang L, Zhang YA et al (2014) The impaired intestinal mucosal immune system by valine deficiency for young grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*) is associated with decreasing immune status and regulating tight junction proteins transcript abundance in the intestine. Fish Shellfish Immunol 40:197–207

- Mardinoglu A, Shoaie S, Bergentall M, Ghaffari P, Zhang C, Larsson E, Backhed F, Nielsen J (2015) The gut microbiota modulates host amino acid and glutathione metabolism in mice. Mol Syst Biol 11:834
- Martins HA, Sehaber CC, Hermes-Uliana C, Mariani FA, Guarnier FA, Vicentini GE, Bossolani GD, Jussani LA, Lima MM et al (2016) Supplementation with L-glutamine prevents tumor growth and cancerinduced cachexia as well as restores cell proliferation of intestinal mucosa of Walker-256 tumor-bearing rats. Amino Acids 48:2773–2784
- McCauley HA, Guasch G (2015) Three cheers for the goblet cell: maintaining homeostasis in mucosal epithelia. Trends Mol Med 21:492–503
- McDole JR, Wheeler LW, McDonald KG, Wang B, Konjufca V, Knoop KA, Newberry RD, Miller MJ (2012) Goblet cells deliver luminal antigen to CD103+ dendritic cells in the small intestine. Nature 483:345–349
- Mine Y, Zhang H (2015) Calcium-sensing receptor (CaSR)-mediated anti-inflammatory effects of L-amino acids in intestinal epithelial cells. J Agric Food Chem 63:9987–9995
- Mukherjee S, Hooper LV (2015) Antimicrobial defense of the intestine. Immunity 42:28–39
- Mullin JM, Skrovanek SM, Valenzano MC (2009) Modification of tight junction structure and permeability by nutritional means. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1165:99–112
- Nakanishi Y, Reina-Campos M, Nakanishi N, Llado V, Elmen L, Peterson S, Campos A, De SK, Leitges M et al (2016) Control of Paneth cell fate, intestinal inflammation, and tumorigenesis by PKClambda/iota. Cell Rep 16:3297–3310
- Noah TK, Kazanjian A, Whitsett J, Shroyer NF (2010) SAM pointed domain ETS factor (SPDEF) regulates terminal differentiation and maturation of intestinal goblet cells. Exp Cell Res 316:452–465
- Nowarski R, Jackson R, Flavell RA (2017) The stromal intervention: regulation of immunity and inflammation at the epithelial-Mesenchymal barrier. Cell 168:362–375
- Ochi T, Feng Y, Kitamoto S, Nagao-Kitamoto H, Kuffa P, Atarashi K, Honda K, Teitelbaum DH, Kamada N (2016) Diet-dependent, microbiota-independent regulation of IL-10-producing lamina propria macrophages in the small intestine. Sci Rep 6:27634
- Pabst O, Cerovic V, Hornef M (2016) Secretory IgA in the coordination of establishment and maintenance of the microbiota. Trends Immunol 37:287–296
- Pacheco RG, Esposito CC, Muller LC, Castelo-Branco MT, Quintella LP, Chagas VL, de Souza HS, Schanaider A (2012) Use of butyrate or glutamine in enema solution reduces inflammation and fibrosis in experimental diversion colitis. World J Gastroenterol 18:4278–4287
- Pai MH, Liu JJ, Yeh SL, Chen WJ, Yeh CL (2014) Glutamine modulates acute dextran sulphate sodiuminduced changes in small-intestinal intraepithelial

gammadelta-T-lymphocyte expression in mice. Br J Nutr 111:1032–1039

- Pai MH, Shih YM, Shih JM, Yeh CL (2015) Glutamine modulates changes in intestinal intraepithelial gammadeltaT-lymphocyte expressions in mice with ischemia/reperfusion injury. Shock 44:77–82
- Pedersen HK, Gudmundsdottir V, Nielsen HB, Hyotylainen T, Nielsen T, Jensen BA, Forslund K, Hildebrand F, Prifti E et al (2016) Human gut microbes impact host serum metabolome and insulin sensitivity. Nature 535:376–381
- Porter EM, Bevins CL, Ghosh D, Ganz T (2002) The multifaceted Paneth cell. Cell Mol Life Sci 59:156–170
- Qin N, Yang F, Li A, Prifti E, Chen Y, Shao L, Guo J, Le Chatelier E, Yao J et al (2014) Alterations of the human gut microbiome in liver cirrhosis. Nature 513:59–64
- Raleigh DR, Marchiando AM, Zhang Y, Shen L, Sasaki H, Wang Y, Long M, Turner JR (2010) Tight junctionassociated MARVEL proteins marveld3, tricellulin, and occludin have distinct but overlapping functions. Mol Biol Cell 21:1200–1213
- Ramalingam A, Wang X, Gabello M, Valenzano MC, Soler AP, Ko A, Morin PJ, Mullin JM (2010) Dietary methionine restriction improves colon tight junction barrier function and alters claudin expression pattern. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 299:C1028–C1035
- Ravindran R, Loebbermann J, Nakaya HI, Khan N, Ma H, Gama L, Machiah DK, Lawson B, Hakimpour P et al (2016) The amino acid sensor GCN2 controls gut inflammation by inhibiting inflammasome activation. Nature 531:523–527
- Ren W, Yin Y, Liu G, Yu X, Li Y, Yang G, Li T, Wu G (2012) Effect of dietary arginine supplementation on reproductive performance of mice with porcine circovirus type 2 infection. Amino Acids 42:2089–2094
- Ren W, Li Y, Yu X, Luo W, Liu G, Shao H, Yin Y (2013a) Glutamine modifies immune responses of mice infected with porcine circovirus type 2. Br J Nutr 110:1053–1060
- Ren W, Liu S, Chen S, Zhang F, Li N, Yin J, Peng Y, Wu L, Liu G, Yin Y, Wu G (2013b) Dietary L-glutamine supplementation increases Pasteurella multocida burden and the expression of its major virulence factors in mice. Amino Acids 45:947–955
- Ren W, Luo W, Wu M, Liu G, Yu X, Fang J, Li T, Yin Y, Wu G (2013c) Dietary L-glutamine supplementation improves pregnancy outcome in mice infected with type-2 porcine circovirus. Amino Acids 45:479–488
- Ren W, Zou L, Li N, Wang Y, Liu G, Peng Y, Ding J, Cai L, Yin Y, Wu G (2013d) Dietary arginine supplementation enhances immune responses to inactivated Pasteurella multocida vaccination in mice. Br J Nutr 109:867–872
- Ren W, Chen S, Yin J, Duan J, Li T, Liu G, Feng Z, Tan B, Yin Y, Wu G (2014a) Dietary arginine supplementation of mice alters the microbial population and activates intestinal innate immunity. J Nutr 144:988–995
- Ren W, Duan J, Yin J, Liu G, Cao Z, Xiong X, Chen S, Li T, Yin Y, Hou Y, Wu G (2014b) Dietary L-glutamine supplementation modulates microbial community

and activates innate immunity in the mouse intestine. Amino Acids 46:2403–2413

- Ren W, Yin J, Wu M, Liu G, Yang G, Xion Y, Su D, Wu L, Li T et al (2014c) Serum amino acids profile and the beneficial effects of L-arginine or L-glutamine supplementation in dextran sulfate sodium colitis. PLoS One 9:e88335
- Ren M, Zhang S, Liu X, Li S, Mao X, Zeng X, Qiao S (2016a) Different lipopolysaccharide branchedchain amino acids modulate porcine intestinal endogenous beta-defensin expression through the Sirt1/ERK/90RSK pathway. J Agric Food Chem 64:3371–3379
- Ren W, Wang K, Yin J, Chen S, Liu G, Tan B, Wu G, Bazer FW, Peng Y, Yin Y (2016b) Glutamine-induced secretion of intestinal secretory immunoglobulin a: a mechanistic perspective. Front Immunol 7:503
- Ren W, Yin J, Duan J, Liu G, Tan B, Yang G, Wu G, Bazer FW, Peng Y, Yin Y (2016c) mTORC1 signaling and IL-17 expression: defining pathways and possible therapeutic targets. Eur J Immunol 46:291–299
- Ren W, Yin J, Xiao H, Chen S, Liu G, Tan B, Li N, Peng Y, Li T et al (2016d) Intestinal microbiota-derived GABA mediates interleukin-17 expression during enterotoxigenic escherichia coli infection. Front Immunol 7:685
- Ren W, Liu G, Chen S, Yin J, Wang J, Tan B, Wu G, Bazer FW, Peng Y, Li T, Reiter RJ, Yin Y (2017a) Melatonin signaling in T cells: functions and applications. J Pineal Res 62:e12394
- Ren W, Liu G, Yin J, Tan B, Wu G, Bazer FW, Peng Y, Yin Y (2017b) Amino-acid transporters in T-cell activation and differentiation. Cell Death Dis 8:e2757
- Ren W, Xia Y, Chen S, Wu G, Bazer FW, Zhou B, Tan B, Zhu G, Deng J, Yin Y (2019a) Glutamine metabolism in macrophages: a novel target for obesity/type 2 diabetes. Adv Nutr 10:321–330
- Ren W, Liao Y, Ding X, Jiang Y, Yan J, Xia Y, Tan B, Lin Z, Duan J et al (2019b) Slc6a13 deficiency promotes Th17 responses during intestinal bacterial infection. Mucosal Immunol 12:531–544
- Rhoads JM, Wu G (2009) Glutamine, arginine, and leucine signaling in the intestine. Amino Acids 37:111–122
- Saitoh Y, Suzuki H, Tani K, Nishikawa K, Irie K, Ogura Y, Tamura A, Tsukita S, Fujiyoshi Y (2015) Tight junctions. Structural insight into tight junction disassembly by Clostridium perfringens enterotoxin. Science 347:775–778
- Salzman NH, Bevins CL (2013) Dysbiosis a consequence of Paneth cell dysfunction. Semin Immunol 25:334–341
- Salzman NH, Hung K, Haribhai D, Chu H, Karlsson-Sjoberg J, Amir E, Teggatz P, Barman M, Hayward M et al (2010) Enteric defensins are essential regulators of intestinal microbial ecology. Nat Immunol 11:76–83
- Sasabe J, Miyoshi Y, Rakoff-Nahoum S, Zhang T, Mita M, Davis BM, Hamase K, Waldor MK (2016) Interplay between microbial d-amino acids and host d-amino acid oxidase modifies murine mucosal defence and gut microbiota. Nat Microbiol 1:16125

- Sato T, van Es JH, Snippert HJ, Stange DE, Vries RG, van den Born M, Barker N, Shroyer NF, van de Wetering M, Clevers H (2011) Paneth cells constitute the niche for Lgr5 stem cells in intestinal crypts. Nature 469:415–418
- Schulz O, Pabst O (2013) Antigen sampling in the small intestine. Trends Immunol 34:155–161
- Seekatz AM, Young VB (2014) Clostridium difficile and the microbiota. J Clin Invest 124:4182–4189
- Seekatz AM, Aas J, Gessert CE, Rubin TA, Saman DM, Bakken JS, Young VB (2014) Recovery of the gut microbiome following fecal microbiota transplantation. MBio 5:e00893–e00814
- Sellmann C, Degen C, Jin CJ, Nier A, Engstler AJ, Hasan Alkhatib D, De Bandt JP, Bergheim I (2017a) Oral arginine supplementation protects female mice from the onset of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Amino Acids 49:1215–1225
- Sellmann C, Jin CJ, Engstler AJ, De Bandt JP, Bergheim I (2017b) Oral citrulline supplementation protects female mice from the development of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Eur J Nutr 56:2519–2527
- Song Z, Tong G, Xiao K, Jiao le F, Ke Y, Hu C (2016) L-cysteine protects intestinal integrity, attenuates intestinal inflammation and oxidant stress, and modulates NF-kappaB and Nrf2 pathways in weaned piglets after LPS challenge. Innate Immun 22:152–161
- Stoffels B, Turler A, Schmidt J, Nazir A, Tsukamoto T, Moore BA, Schnurr C, Kalff JC, Bauer AJ (2011) Anti-inflammatory role of glycine in reducing rodent postoperative inflammatory ileus. Neurogastroenterol Motil 23:76–87
- Subramanian S, Huq S, Yatsunenko T, Haque R, Mahfuz M, Alam MA, Benezra A, DeStefano J, Meier MF et al (2014) Persistent gut microbiota immaturity in malnourished Bangladeshi children. Nature 510:417–421
- Tan B, Xiao H, Xiong X, Wang J, Li G, Yin Y, Huang B, Hou Y, Wu G (2015) L-arginine improves DNA synthesis in LPS-challenged enterocytes. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) 20:989–1003
- Thaiss CA, Zmora N, Levy M, Elinav E (2016) The microbiome and innate immunity. Nature 535:65–74
- Theriot CM, Koenigsknecht MJ, Carlson PE Jr, Hatton GE, Nelson AM, Li B, Huffnagle GB, Young VB (2014) Antibiotic-induced shifts in the mouse gut microbiome and metabolome increase susceptibility to Clostridium difficile infection. Nat Commun 5:3114
- Tossou MC, Liu H, Bai M, Chen S, Cai Y, Duraipandiyan V, Liu H, Adebowale TO, Al-Dhabi NA et al (2016) Effect of high dietary tryptophan on intestinal morphology and tight junction protein of weaned pig. Biomed Res Int 2016:1–6
- Trevisi P, Corrent E, Mazzoni M, Messori S, Priori D, Gherpelli Y, Simongiovanni A, Bosi P (2015) Effect of added dietary threonine on growth performance, health, immunity and gastrointestinal function of weaning pigs with differing genetic susceptibility to Escherichia coli infection and challenged with E. coli K88ac. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (Berl) 99:511–520

- Tsukita S, Furuse M, Itoh M (2001) Multifunctional strands in tight junctions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2:285–293
- Veshnyakova A, Protze J, Rossa J, Blasig IE, Krause G, Piontek J (2010) On the interaction of Clostridium perfringens enterotoxin with claudins. Toxins (Basel) 2:1336–1356
- Wang WW, Wu ZL, Dai ZL, Yang Y, Wang JJ, Wu G (2013) Glycine metabolism in animals and humans: implications for nutrition and health. Amino Acids 45:463–477
- Wang W, Wu Z, Lin G, Hu S, Wang B, Dai Z, Wu G (2014a) Glycine stimulates protein synthesis and inhibits oxidative stress in pig small intestinal epithelial cells. J Nutr 144:1540–1548
- Wang WW, Dai ZL, Wu ZL, Lin G, Jia SC, Hu SD, Dahanayaka S, Wu G (2014b) Glycine is a nutritionally essential amino acid for maximal growth of milkfed young pigs. Amino Acids 46:2037–2045
- Wang H, Ji Y, Wu G, Sun K, Sun Y, Li W, Wang B, He B, Zhang Q, Dai Z, Wu Z (2015a) L-tryptophan activates mammalian target of rapamycin and enhances expression of tight junction proteins in intestinal porcine epithelial cells. J Nutr 145:1156–1162
- Wang H, Zhang C, Wu G, Sun Y, Wang B, He B, Dai Z, Wu Z (2015b) Glutamine enhances tight junction protein expression and modulates corticotropin-releasing factor signaling in the jejunum of weanling piglets. J Nutr 145:25–31
- Wang J, Li GR, Tan BE, Xiong X, Kong XF, Xiao DF, Xu LW, Wu MM, Huang B et al (2015c) Oral administration of putrescine and proline during the suckling period improves epithelial restitution after early weaning in piglets. J Anim Sci 93:1679–1688
- Wang B, Wu Z, Ji Y, Sun K, Dai Z, Wu G (2016) L-glutamine enhances tight junction integrity by activating CaMK kinase 2-AMP-activated protein kinase signaling in intestinal porcine epithelial cells. J Nutr 146:501–508
- Wang Y, Liu L, Moore DJ, Shen X, Peek RM, Acra SA, Li H, Ren X, Polk DB, Yan F (2017) An LGG-derived protein promotes IgA production through upregulation of APRIL expression in intestinal epithelial cells. Mucosal Immunol 10:373–384
- Wang B, Sun SQ, Liu MY, Chen H, Liu N, Wu G et al. (2020) Dietary L-tryptophan supplementation regulates colonic serotonin homeostasis and inhibits gut inflammation in mice with dextran sodium sulfateinduced colitis. J Nutr 150:1966–1976
- Wlodarska M, Thaiss CA, Nowarski R, Henao-Mejia J, Zhang JP, Brown EM, Frankel G, Levy M, Katz MN et al (2014) NLRP6 inflammasome orchestrates the colonic host-microbial interface by regulating goblet cell mucus secretion. Cell 156:1045–1059
- Wu G (1995) Urea synthesis in enterocytes of developing pigs. Biochem J 312:717–723
- Wu G, Meier SA, Knabe DA (1996) Dietary glutamine supplementation prevents jejunal atrophy in weaned pigs. J Nutr 126:2578–2584

- Wu G (2010) Functional amino acids in growth, reproduction and health. Adv Nutr 1:31–37
- Wu G (1996) Effects of concanavalin A and phorbol myristate acetate on glutamine metabolism and proliferation of porcine intraepithelial lymphocytes. Comp Biochem Physiol A 114:363–368
- Wu G et al. (2011) Proline and hydroxyproline metabolism: implications for animal and human nutrition. Amino Acids 40:1053–1063
- Wu G (2013) Amino acids: biochemistry and nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL
- Wu G (2018) Principles of animal nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL
- Wu M, Xiao H, Liu G, Chen S, Tan B, Ren W, Bazer FW, Wu G, Yin Y (2016) Glutamine promotes intestinal SIgA secretion through intestinal microbiota and IL-13. Mol Nutr Food Res 60:1637–1648
- Wu CH, Ko JL, Liao JM, Huang SS, Lin MY, Lee LH, Chang LY (2019a) Ou CC D-methionine alleviates cisplatin-induced mucositis by restoring the gut microbiota structure and improving intestinal inflammation. Ther Adv Med Oncol 11:1758835918821021
- Wu ZL, Hou YQ, Dai ZL, Hu CA, Wu G (2019b) Metabolism, nutrition and redox signaling of hydroxyproline. Antioxid Redox Signal 30:674–682
- Xia Y, Chen S, Zeng S, Zhao Y, Zhu C, Deng B, Zhu G, Yin Y, Wang W, Hardeland R, Ren W (2019) Melatonin in macrophage biology: current understanding and future perspectives. J Pineal Res 66:e12547
- Xu T, Stewart KM, Wang X, Liu K, Xie M, Ryu JK, Li K, Ma T, Wang H et al (2017) Metabolic control of TH17 and induced Treg cell balance by an epigenetic mechanism. Nature 548:228–233
- Ye JL, Gao CQ, Li XG, Jin CL, Wang D, Shu G, Wang WC, Kong XF, Yao K, Yan HC, Wang XQ (2016) EAAT3 promotes amino acid transport and proliferation of porcine intestinal epithelial cells. Oncotarget 7:38681–38692
- Yi D, Li BC, Hou YQ, Wang L, Zhao D, Chen HB, Wu T, Zhou Y, Ding BY, Wu G (2018) Dietary supplemen-

tation with an amino acid blend enhances intestinal function in piglets. Amino Acids 50:1089–1100

- Yin J, Han H, Li Y, Liu Z, Zhao Y, Fang R, Huang X, Zheng J, Ren W et al (2017) Lysine restriction affects feed intake and amino acid metabolism via gut microbiome in piglets. Cell Physiol Biochem 44:1749–1761
- Yoshida M, Claypool SM, Wagner JS, Mizoguchi E, Mizoguchi A, Roopenian DC, Lencer WI, Blumberg RS (2004) Human neonatal fc receptor mediates transport of IgG into luminal secretions for delivery of antigens to mucosal dendritic cells. Immunity 20:769–783
- Yoshida M, Kobayashi K, Kuo TT, Bry L, Glickman JN, Claypool SM, Kaser A, Nagaishi T, Higgins DE et al (2006) Neonatal Fc receptor for IgG regulates mucosal immune responses to luminal bacteria. J Clin Invest 116:2142–2151
- Zhang Q, Pan Y, Yan R, Zeng B, Wang H, Zhang X, Li W, Wei H, Liu Z (2015) Commensal bacteria direct selective cargo sorting to promote symbiosis. Nat Immunol 16:918–926
- Zhang B, Lv Z, Li H, Guo S, Liu D, Guo Y (2017) Dietary l-arginine inhibits intestinal Clostridium perfringens colonisation and attenuates intestinal mucosal injury in broiler chickens. Br J Nutr 118:321–332
- Zhang H, Chen Y, Li Y, Zhang T, Ying Z, Su W, Zhang L, Wang T (2019) L-threonine improves intestinal mucin synthesis and immune function of intrauterine growthretarded weanling piglets. Nutrition 59:182–187
- Zhou Y, Rychahou P, Wang Q, Weiss HL, Evers BM (2015) TSC2/mTORC1 signaling controls Paneth and goblet cell differentiation in the intestinal epithelium. Cell Death Dis 6:e1631
- Zhou X, Zhang Y, He L, Wan D, Liu G, Wu X, Yin Y (2017) Serine prevents LPS-induced intestinal inflammation and barrier damage via p53-dependent glutathione synthesis and AMPK activation. J Funct Foods 39:225–232
- Zhou X, Zhang Y, Wu X, Wan D, Yin Y (2018) Effects of dietary serine supplementation on intestinal integrity, inflammation and oxidative status in early-weaned piglets. Cell Physiol Biochem 48:993–1002

Maternal Nutrient Restriction and Skeletal Muscle Development: Consequences for Postnatal Health

Camila Sandoval, Guoyao Wu, Stephen B. Smith, Kathrin A. Dunlap, and M. Carey Satterfield

Abstract

Severe undernutrition and famine continue to be a worldwide concern, as cases have been increasing in the past 5 years, particularly in developing countries. The occurrence of nutrient restriction (NR) during pregnancy affects fetal growth, leading to small for gestational age (SGA) or intrauterine growth restricted (IUGR) offspring. During adulthood, SGA and IUGR offspring are at a higher risk for the development of metabolic syndrome. Skeletal muscle is particularly sensitive to prenatal NR. This tissue plays an essential role in oxidation and glucose metabolism because roughly 80% of insulin-mediated glucose uptake occurs in muscle, and it represents around 40% of body weight. Alterations in myofiber number, hypertrophy and myofiber type composition, decreased protein synthesis, lower mitochondrial content and activity of oxidative enzymes, and increased accumulation of intramuscular triglycerides are among the described programming effects of maternal NR on skeletal muscle. Together, these features would add to a phenotype that is prone to insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes,

C. Sandoval \cdot G. Wu \cdot S. B. Smith \cdot K. A. Dunlap M. C. Satterfield (\boxtimes)

Department of Animal Science, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA e-mail: csatterfield@tamu.edu obesity, and metabolic syndrome. Insights from diverse animal models (i.e. ovine, swine, and rodent) have provided valuable information regarding the molecular mechanisms behind those altered developmental pathways. Understanding those molecular signatures supports the development of efficient treatments to counteract the effects of maternal NR on skeletal muscle, and its negative implications for postnatal health.

Keywords

 $Maternal nutrient \ restriction \cdot SGA \cdot Skeletal \\ muscle \cdot Metabolic \ syndrome$

9.1 Introduction

Long-term maternal nutrient restriction (NR) during pregnancy impairs fetal growth, leading to intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) or small for gestational age (SGA) offspring. In human medicine, intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) has been defined as the offspring placed below the tenth percentile of fetal weight distribution at birth, and is typically associated to asymmetric growth (Goldenberg and Cliver 1997). In livestock species, maternal nutrient restriction is also a prevalent cause for IUGR, which have been defined as an impairment in gestational develop-

Check for updates

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

G. Wu (ed.), Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2_9

ment of a fetus or its parts (Wu et al. 2006). A similar concept is small for gestational age (SGA) offspring, which is a broader classification and refers to fetuses that are smaller than expected for the species at a given gestational age (Goldenberg and Cliver 1997). IUGR or SGA offspring present a higher perinatal mortality and increased risk of metabolic syndrome during postnatal life (Barker et al. 1989).

Skeletal muscle, which represents about 40–45% of body weight in the young and adult, respectively (Wu 2018), is among the most sensitive tissues to maternal NR (Desai et al. 1996), and it plays an essential role in metabolic dysregulation due to its prominence in glucose and oxidative metabolism (Brown 2014). In addition, skeletal muscle is the major site for initiating the catabolism of branched-chain amino acids to synthesize glutamate, alanine and glutamine in mammals (Hou and Wu 2018; Wu 2013). Both alanine and glutamine participate in the interorgan metabolism of nitrogen and carbons. Particularly, alanine is a major glucogenic precursor in the liver, whereas glutamine is used by the small intestine of many mammals (including sheep, swine and humans) to synthesize citrulline (Wu and Morris Jr. 1998). The latter is either converted locally into arginine in enterocytes or taken up by extra-intestinal tissues and cells (e.g., kidneys, endothelial cells, and macrophages) to generate arginine, the nitrogenous precursor of nitric oxide (a major vasodilator, a neurotransmitter, a signaling molecule, and a killer of pathogens), creatine (crucial for energy metabolism), and polyamines (essential for DNA and protein syntheses) in animals (Dai et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2014; Wu et al. 2016, 2018). Therefore, skeletal muscle plays an important role in both growth and health of individuals.

Using animal models to understand the effects of maternal undernutrition in skeletal muscle growth and metabolism provides valuable information for translational research as well as agricultural performance. This chapter will discuss insights from the sheep, pig, and rodent models regarding the effect of maternal nutrient restriction (NR) on fetal skeletal muscle and its potential implications for postnatal health.

9.2 Maternal Undernutrition and SGA Offspring

Worldwide estimations indicate that around 821 million people are undernourished. Famine and undernutrition cases have continuously increased since 2014 and are a public health concern primarily in developing and low-income countries (FAO 2017) with the majority of cases occurring in Africa and Asia, followed by Latin America and The Caribbean (FAO 2017). The consequences of undernutrition are ample and include a higher predisposition for disease, and in extreme situations, death. This scenario becomes particularly challenging during pregnancy, when the female experiences a physiological increase in nutrient requirements to support herself as well as the needs of her developing fetus and placenta. Maternal undernutrition during pregnancy results in SGA offspring, with more than 20 million cases reported annually (UNICEF 2004).

Individuals born as IUGR or SGA are more prone to suffer perinatal mortality and experience increased risk for hypertension (Gennser et al. 1988), obesity (Fernandez-Twinn and Ozanne 2006), type 2 diabetes (Rich-Edwards et al. 1999), heart disease (Barker et al. 1989) and metabolic syndrome (McMillen and Robinson 2005). Epidemiological studies in the field of fetal programming have suggested the thrifty phenotype hypothesis (Hales and Barker 1992), which suggests that early life nutrient deficiency leads to a programming effect that would support immediate survival. However, in a postnatal scenario of normal or excessive nutrient availability, these adaptations would lead to type 2 diabetes, obesity, and other dysregulations associated with metabolic syndrome (Gluckman et al. 2005; Symonds et al. 2009; Hyatt et al. 2011).

The use of animal models for the study of maternal NR on programming of fetal growth and metabolism has provided supporting evidence for the initial epidemiological studies. A decrease in fetal weight has been a seminal finding of these studies (Osgerby et al. 2002; Kwon et al. 2004; Gao et al. 2008; Lassala et al. 2010; Satterfield et al. 2010). Results from our group show that impairment of fetal growth is corre-

lated to reduced concentration of polyamines and amino acids in maternal and fetal plasma, as well as fetal allantoic and amniotic fluids (Kwon et al. 2004). Lower plasma levels of insulin like growth factor 1 (IGF1) and insulin have also been reported in fetal plasma as a consequence of maternal NR (Osgerby et al. 2002), and both factors play an essential role in stimulation of fetal growth (Fowden et al. 1989; Baker et al. 1993).

Growth and metabolism in several fetal organs are affected by maternal NR (Osgerby et al. 2002; Vonnahme et al. 2003; Zhu et al. 2004, 2006; Costello et al. 2008; George et al. 2012; Lloyd et al. 2012; Satterfield et al. 2013; Shukla et al. 2014). Among them, skeletal muscle is particularly susceptible to maternal NR during fetal development because of nutrient prioritization to vital organs such as the brain (Desai et al. 1996)

9.3 Overview of Fetal Skeletal Muscle Development

Skeletal muscle development and growth during the fetal stage are accomplished by both cellular hyperplasia and fusion to originate myofibers (myogenesis), and hypertrophy, which continues postnatally. Myogenesis can be divided into primary and secondary myogenesis. During primary myogenesis, myoblasts fuse to form a primary myotube which will become a primary myofiber. A small percentage of myofibers are formed in this process, which starts during the first third of pregnancy (Maltin 2008). Secondary myogenesis occurs during the second third of pregnancy and accounts for the majority of myofiber formation (Maltin 2008).

Once the majority of myofibers are formed, fetal muscle growth continues through hypertrophy which starts around the second half of pregnancy and remains as an active process postnatally. In the sheep, it has been shown that myofiber area begins to increase around gestational day (GD) 85 (term ~147 days), which was caused by the addition of myonuclei between GD 85 and 100, while myoblast proliferation was completed by GD 100, and was followed by an increase in myofiber size, likely due to intracellular protein deposition (Wei et al. 2014). Since hypertrophy continues during postnatal life, prenatal alterations in myofiber size due to maternal NR have the potential to be compensated postnatally. However, persistent reductions in muscle mass and a tendency to increased adipose tissue have been demonstrated in adult sheep after prenatal NR (Ford et al. 2007), and similarly, decreased muscle mass persists until adulthood in low-birth-weight humans (Kensara et al. 2005).

Protein deposition is essential for muscle growth and hypertrophy (Yao et al. 2008) and is dependent upon an increase in the net balance of protein synthesis and protein degradation (Brown 2014). A central regulator of protein deposition is mechanistic target of rapamycin (MTOR), particularly MTOR complex 1, which is associated with regulatory associated protein of MTOR complex 1 (RPTOR) (Kim et al. 2002) and is activated by phosphorylation of its serine 2448 residue. Insulin, IGF1, AKT1, and amino acids (e.g., leucine, arginine, glutamine and glycine) have a stimulatory effect on MTOR complex 1 activity (Sun et al. 2016; Yao et al. 2008; Yoon 2017). In contrast, the activity of MTOR complex 1 is inhibited by glucocorticoids (Shimizu et al. 2011), protein kinase AMP-activated catalytic subunit alpha 2AMP-dependent kinase (PRKAA2) (aka AMPK), and myostatin (Rodriguez et al. 2014) (Fig. 9.1). As activation of MTOR is nutrient-dependent, severe prenatal undernutrition has the potential to decrease protein deposition in the fetus, and produce a reduction in lean mass content in the body.

9.4 Maternal Nutrient Restriction and Developmental Programming of Skeletal Muscle

9.4.1 Role of Skeletal Muscle in Whole-Body Metabolism

Skeletal muscle plays an essential role in locomotion and structural support, but it is also



Fig. 9.1 Major regulatory pathways in skeletal muscle protein deposition. Protein deposition depends on the rate of protein synthesis and degradation. Pathways that stimulate protein synthesis in skeletal muscle are shown in blue. Amino acids (primarily the branched-chain amino acid leucine, and arginine) induce translocation of MTOR complex 1 to the lysosome, where the complex is activated by RHEB. TSC has inhibitory activity over RHEB. Insulin and IGF1 activate *AKT1* which activates RHEB by inducing its separation from the inhibitory factor TSC. Pathways that inhibit protein synthesis or stimulate protein degradation are shown in orange. Myostatin

involved in several functions that regulate amino acid and energy metabolism. This tissue is highly abundant in free glutamine, glutamate, alanine, glycine, and taurine (Wu and Thompson 1990; Wu et al. 1991; Flynn and Wu 1996). Examples are, the capacity for oxidation of fatty acids, glucose, and some amino acids; storage of glycogen (Argilés et al. 2016), and support of gluconeogenesis in liver and kidney through the release of the amino acids, alanine and glutamine (Marliss et al. 1971; Garber and Missouri 1976). Skeletal muscle is essential in the regulation of glucose metabolism because about 80% of insulininduced glucose uptake occurs in this tissue (Ferrannini et al. 1985; DeFronzo and Tripathy 2009). Skeletal muscle represents 45% of body

inhibits MTOR through inactivation of AKT1. Glucocorticoids bind to their receptor (NR3C1) to induce expression of KLF15. It is suggested that this decreases activation of MTOR through increased breakdown of branched-chain amino acids (BCAA) via BCAT2. KFL15 upregulation would also increase protein degradation through upregulation of the ubiquitin ligases FBXO32 and TRIM63. PRKAA2 (aka AMPK) also has an inhibitory effect on MTOR when AMP is increased in the cell (not shown) (Based on the data from Shimizu et al. 2011; Yoon 2017)

mass in adult organisms (Janssen et al. 2000; Wu 2018), so any alteration in muscle mass or metabolism will significantly impact whole-body metabolism (Brown 2014). As example, it has been shown that insulin resistance at the skeletal muscle level is one of the primary metabolic alterations leading to type 2 diabetes in humans (DeFronzo and Tripathy 2009).

Solute carrier family 2 member 4 (SLC2A4) is the major glucose transporter in skeletal muscle, and its action is insulin-dependent. The abundance and activity of this transporter are essential for insulin-mediated glucose uptake (Scheepers et al. 2004). SLC2A4 proteins are stored in cytoplasmic vesicles and translocated to the plasma membrane by activation of the PI3K/AKT1 pathway after



binding of insulin to insulin receptor (INSR) (Fig. 9.2) (Kohn et al. 1996; Taniguchi et al. 2006). IGF1 can also trigger the activation of this pathway by binding to its receptor or to INSR (Mora et al. 1995; Belfiore et al. 2009). Muscle contraction can also stimulate SLC2A4 translocation, which becomes relevant during postnatal life (Gao et al. 1994). Upregulation of SLC2A4 in skeletal muscle begins late in fetal life and continues postnatally when this glucose transporter reaches maximum functionality (Stuart et al. 2000).

Another factor that influences the metabolic characteristics of skeletal muscle is myofiber type composition, which impacts glucose metabolism and fatty acid oxidation (Mortensen et al. 2010). Type I myofibers are primarily oxidative and more sensitive to insulin than type II myofibers. Thus, its proportion shows a positive correlation with fatty acids and glucose oxidation, and with insulin-mediated glucose transport and whole-body insulin sensitivity (Lillioja et al. 1987; Fisher et al. 2017). Several studies have demonstrated that maternal NR impairs skeletal muscle growth, insulin sensitivity, and energetic metabolism (Table 9.1), which in addition to other systemic alterations, leads to a phenotype of increased risk for metabolic syndrome.

9.4.2 Prenatal Programming of Skeletal Muscle and Consequences for Postnatal Health

9.4.2.1 Ovine Model

Decreased number of secondary myofibers has been found in longissimus dorsi at GD 78 after 50% maternal NR between GD 28 and 78. Similarly, a peri-conception treatment of 50% NR applied from 18 days before ovulation to 6 days after ovulation found a tendency for decreased myofiber number in sheep semitendinosus muscle at GD 75 (Quigley et al. 2005). The study of Zhu et al. (2004) also found a decrease in myofiber area in longissimus dorsi of fetuses from NR dams which was associated with a reduction in MTOR and RPS6KB1 protein phosphorylation. Another model of 50% NR from GD 85 to 115 found a decrease in weight of longissimus dorsi in 14-dayold lambs (Fahey et al. 2005). Decreased muscle mass can be partially compensated postnatally as hypertrophy continues as an active process. However, having a lower number of myofibers limits a complete compensation because myofiber formation is not an active process under normal postnatal conditions.

		Gestational		
Model	Treatment	day	Effect	References
Ovine	50% NR	28 to 78	Reduced secondary myofiber number, smaller myofiber area, and downregulation in MTOR signaling at GD 78.	Zhu et al. (2004)
	50% NR	85 to 115	Reduced muscle mass in 14-day-old lambs.	Fahey et al.
		30 to 70	Increased type I myofiber content in 14-day-old- lambs	(2005)
	50% NR	28 to 78	Increased adipose tissue, tendency towards reduced muscle mass, hyperglycemia and reduced insulin secretion after GTT ^a in 280-day-old lambs.	Ford et al. (2007)
	50% NR	104 to 127	Upregulation of mRNA expression of <i>SLC2A4</i> , <i>INSR</i> , and <i>IGF1</i> , and reduced type I myofiber content at GD 127.	Costello et al. (2008)
	50% NR	28 to 78	Increased type IIb myofiber content, decreased activity of CPT1B, and increased IMTG ^b in 8-month-old lambs	Zhu et al. (2006)
Swine	6% crude protein	0 to Term	Decreased muscle mass, smaller myofiber area, upregulation in MSTN signaling, and downregulation in MTOR signaling in 35-day-old piglets.	Liu et al. (2015)
	Reduced digestible energy (11.24 MJ/kg)	0 to 90	Downregulation of mRNA expression of genes involved in mitochondrial signaling (<i>PPARGC1A</i> , <i>NRF1</i> , <i>TFAM</i> , <i>ATB5B</i> , <i>SIRT1</i> , and <i>CS</i>), and reduced mitochondrial DNA content at GD 90.	Zou et al. (2016)
	75% NR	0 to Term	Downregulation of mRNA expression of <i>SLC2A4</i> , and increased area under the curve in GTT in 6-week-old piglets.	Wang et al. (2016)
	Uterine crowding (naturally occurring NR)	0 to Term	Increased content of proteasome, a major system for protein degradation in skeletal muscle.	Wang et al. (2008)
Rat	50% protein- Isocaloric diet	0 to Term	Increased mRNA and protein levels of SLC2A4, and histone epigenetic modifications in SLC2A4 promotor zone in 38-day-old female offspring	Zheng et al. (2012)
	50% protein- Isocaloric diet	2 to Term	Upregulation in mRNA expression and protein content of C/EBPβ, and increase in histone acetylation at C/EBPβ promotor region in 38-day old female offspring	Zheng et al. (2011)
Mouse	50% NR	12.5 to 18.5	Reduced mitochondrial content, and resistance to weight loss in 14-week-old offspring.	Beauchamp et al. (2015)

Table 9.1 Summary of selected studies indicating the effect of maternal NR on fetal skeletal muscle features in different animal models

^aGTT = Glucose tolerance test

^bIMTG = Intramuscular triglycerides

Impaired fetal growth after prenatal nutrient restriction is usually followed by compensatory growth during postnatal life (De Blasio et al. 2007). However, in the long term, this compensatory growth will favor adipose tissue deposition instead of muscle growth. For example, 280-dayold lambs born to dams that were subjected to 50% NR from GD 28 to 78 were heavier than controls, had increased renal and pelvic adipose tissue, and a tendency for decreased weight in longissimus dorsi and semitendinosus muscles. This study also found evidence of hyperglycemia and altered insulin secretion after a glucose tolerance test (Ford et al. 2007). Accordingly, 1-year-old offspring born to sheep under 50% NR from GD 110 to term, showed evidence of glucose intolerance as indicated by increased areas under the curve for glucose and insulin (Gardner et al. 2005). Indicators of alterations in glucose and insulin metabolism have also been found in skeletal muscle at the fetal stage after maternal nutrient restriction. A sheep model of 50% NR from GD 104 to 127 produced upregulation of *SLC2A4*, *INSR*, and *IGF1* mRNA in fetal triceps brachii muscle at GD127 (Costello et al. 2008). These results suggest a metabolic programming effect that could be partly responsible for the compensatory growth that SGA animals experience early in postnatal life. The authors also suggested that an initial upregulation in insulin receptor may play a role in the development of metabolic diseases later in postnatal life (Costello et al. 2008).

Maternal nutrient restriction has also been shown to alter myofiber type composition in skeletal muscle. A 50% NR from GD 28 to GD 78 has been associated with increased content of type IIb myofibers in longissimus dorsi of 8-monthold lambs (Zhu et al. 2006). This study also found decreased activity of the enzyme carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1, which is involved in fatty acid oxidation, and accordingly, intramuscular triglyceride (IMTG) content was increased. These findings suggest a metabolic programming in skeletal muscle that would impair oxidative capacity and insulin sensitivity, as type II myofibers are primarily glycolytic and less insulin sensitive than type I myofibers (He et al. 2001). Accumulation of IMTG has also been recognized as a cause for disruption in insulin signaling, and insulin resistance in skeletal muscle (Corcoran et al. 2007).

Contradictory results have been found in the longissimus dorsi of 14-day-old lambs in which an increase in type I myofibers was found after 50% NR from GD 30 to 70 (Fahey et al. 2005). The difference in offspring age at which these two studies were conducted may be a cause for these conflicting results. However; the results of Zhu et al. (2006) are supported by the study of Costello et al. (2008), in which a sheep model of 50% NR from GD 104 to 127 was shown to reduce type I myofiber content in fetal triceps brachii muscle at GD127. Myofiber type composition conserves a certain level of plasticity during postnatal life in response to some stimuli such as exercise. Thus, more research is needed

to confirm the long-lasting effect of myofiber type programming during fetal development (Brown 2014).

Findings from our group showed that administration of arginine to 50% NR ewes was successful in increasing fetal weight (Lassala et al. 2010). Similarly, administration of sildenafil citrate from GD 28 to 115 to ewes under 50% NR was effective in increasing fetal weight and total amino acids and polyamines in amniotic and allantoic fluids, and fetal serum (Satterfield et al. 2010). Amino acids are building blocks for protein synthesis (Wu 2013), and particularly leucine and arginine stimulate MTOR activity (Yao et al. 2008; Davis et al. 2010), enhancing protein deposition and skeletal muscle growth. Arginine also stimulates myoblast proliferation (Kalbe et al. 2013) and fusion (Long et al. 2006), likely supporting myofiber formation. These results represent potential treatments to mitigate the effects of maternal NR on skeletal muscle in the sheep model (Fig. 9.3).

9.4.2.2 Swine Model

A model of restricted protein (6% dietary crude protein) throughout pregnancy led to decreased muscle mass and myofiber area, upregulated MSTN signaling, and downregulated MTOR signaling in longissimus dorsi muscle of 35-day-old piglets (Liu et al. 2015). Moreover, a model of maternal low-energy diet (11.24 MJ/Kg of digestible energy) from mating to GD 90 was found to downregulate mRNA expression of PPARGC1A, NRF1, TFAM, ATB5B, SIRT1, and CS, which are regulators of mitochondrial biogenesis (Zou et al. 2016). Mitochondrial DNA content was also reduced, indicating a negative programming in oxidative capacity of skeletal muscle after prenatal NR (Zou et al. 2016). Decreased oxidative capacity in skeletal muscle may lead to IMTG accumulation, which is associated with the onset of insulin resistance (Corcoran et al. 2007). Accordingly, a model of 75% NR throughout pregnancy, followed by a postnatal cafeteria feeding up to 6 weeks, resulted in an impaired ability to clear blood glucose and was associated with a downregulation of SLC2A4 mRNA in skeletal muscle (Wang et al. 2016).



Fig. 9.3 Suggested model for the effects of maternal NR on fetal skeletal muscle growth and metabolism and consequences for postnatal health. Three major pathways of programming have been described in studies from ovine, swine, and rodent models. They are decreased muscle mass (blue), decreased oxidative capacity (green), and

In addition to dietary NR, the pig model presents naturally occurring IUGR fetuses which suffer nutrient restriction because of uterine crowding (Wu et al. 2006). Using this model, the skeletal muscle proteome of IUGR piglets showed higher content of proteasome, a major system involved in protein degradation in skeletal muscle, indicating an upregulation of ubiquitindependent protein degradation in these animals (Wang et al. 2008). Enhanced protein degrada-

accumulation of IMTG and decreased insulin sensitivity (yellow). The additive effect of those programming trajectories would lead to impaired glucose clearance capacity, insulin resistance at the skeletal muscle level, and progression to type 2 diabetes, obesity, and metabolic syndrome

tion would lead to decreased muscle mass, which, in addition to impaired oxidative metabolism, may enhance the postnatal risk of metabolic syndrome. Through genetic and epigenetic changes, underdevelopment of fetal skeletal muscle has negative impacts on the postnatal growth and health of offspring (Ji et al. 2016, 2017).

Emerging evidence shows that glycine enhances MTOR activity and inhibits expression of genes involved in ubiquitin-dependent protein degradation (FBXO32 and TRIM63) in C2C12 myoblasts (Sun et al. 2016). Because the content of glycine is low in all plant-source foods (Hou et al. 2019), endogenous synthesis from amino acids or dietary provision of glycine plays an important role in stimulating muscle protein synthesis and animal growth (Li and Wu 2018, 2020; Wu et al. 2019). Leucine supplementation in neonatal pigs receiving a low-protein diet has been effective to enhance protein synthesis in longissimus dorsi muscle (Yin et al. 2010). Arginine supplementation in neonatal pigs was effective in increasing MTOR signaling and protein synthesis in skeletal muscle (Yao et al. 2008). Also, arginine supplementation in adult pigs had a beneficial effect on metabolic profiles in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue (Tan et al. 2011). These insights from the pig model are promising treatment alternatives to enhance muscle growth and metabolic profiles. However, their efficiency in a prenatal NR context remain to be determined.

9.4.2.3 Rodent Models

A rat model of 50% protein restriction and isocaloric diet throughout pregnancy showed increased mRNA and protein levels of SLC2A4 within gastrocnemius muscle in 38-day-old female offspring. Histone epigenetic modifications in the promoter region of *SLC2A4* were also found in female offspring from this study (Zheng et al. 2012). An early-life upregulation in insulinresponsive molecules has been suggested to happen before progression to metabolic diseases in postnatal life (Costello et al. 2008; Muhlhausler et al. 2009), and the discussed results indicate a potential sex-specific programming in glucose metabolism in skeletal muscle.

An upregulation in mRNA expression and protein content of *Cebpb* was found in gastrocnemius muscle of 38-day-old female offspring using a rat model of 50% protein restriction and isocaloric diet from GD 2 to term. An increase in histone acetylation was found at the promoter region of *Cebpb* in those females (Zheng et al. 2011). *Cebpb* is a transcription factor involved in the regulation of genes related to energy homeostasis, and one of its effects is the stimulation of adipogenesis by induction of fibroblast differentiation to adipocytes. These results support a programming effect towards increased intramuscular fat accumulation, which is correlated with insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes.

A mouse model of 50% NR from GD 12.5 to 18.5 reduced the mitochondrial content in tibialis anterior muscle and increased the levels of carcass adiposity in 14-week-old offspring (Beauchamp et al. 2015). This study also showed resistance to weight loss in offspring from NR dams, as these animals lost 50% of weight compared to control after a 40% caloric restriction from postnatal week 10-14. A decreased oxidative capacity and resistance to lose weight would further enhance the risk of metabolic disease. Interestingly, dietary supplementation with watermelon juice, which is a source of citrulline, increases arginine availability and reduced adipose tissue accretion, serum glucose concentrations and free fatty acids in a rat model of non-insulin dependent diabetes (Wu et al. 2007). Additionally, leucine supplementation to dietinduced obese mice was successful in activating genes involved in mitochondrial biogenesis and preventing mitochondrial dysfunction (Li et al. 2012). These results represent potential treatments to counteract the enhanced risk for metabolic disease once a stage of disease is already present. However, their effectiveness in individuals that have experienced maternal NR remains to be tested.

9.5 Concluding Remarks

Several studies have demonstrated that maternal nutrient restriction is a cause for SGA or IUGR offspring, which was epidemiologically correlated with increased risk of metabolic syndrome. Insights from diverse animal models have provided the molecular basis for the developmental trajectories that are induced by nutrient scarcity and lead to postnatal metabolic dysregulation. Seminal results collected from ovine, swine, and rodent models indicate that muscle mass, oxidative capacity, and insulin sensitivity are the major features affected by prenatal NR. These would contribute to the onset of insulin resistance at the skeletal muscle level, with progression to a whole-body effect and type 2 diabetes, and obesity. Current data provide promising treatment alternatives to counteract these effects and minimize the negative consequences of prenatal NR in postnatal health. However, the specific windows for intervention, and conclusive results from NR models are still needed.

Acknowledgements C. Sandoval was supported by Becas Chile (CONICYT) during the preparation of this manuscript.

References

- Argilés JM, Campos N, Lopez-Pedrosa JM, Rueda R, Rodriguez-Mañas L (2016) Skeletal muscle regulates metabolism via interorgan crosstalk: roles in health and disease. J Am Med Dir Assoc 17:789–796
- Baker J, Liu JP, Robertson EJ, Efstratiadis A (1993) Role of insulin-like growth factors in embryonic and postnatal growth. Cell 75:73–82
- Barker DJP, Osmond C, Winter PD, Margetts B (1989) Weight in infancy and death from ischaemic heart disease. Lancet 2(8663):577–580
- Beauchamp B, Ghosh S, Dysart MW et al (2015) Low birth weight is associated with adiposity, impaired skeletal muscle energetics and weight loss resistance in mice. Int J Obes 39:702–711
- Belfiore A, Frasca F, Pandini G, Sciacca L, Vigneri R (2009) Insulin receptor isoforms and insulin receptor/ insulin-like growth factor receptor hybrids in physiology and disease. Endocr Rev 30:586–623
- Brown LD (2014) Endocrine regulation of fetal skeletal muscle growth: impact on future metabolic health. J Endocrinol 221:R13–R29
- Corcoran MP, Lamon-Fava S, Fielding RA (2007) Skeletal muscle lipid deposition and insulin resistance: effect of dietary fatty acids and exercise. Am J Clin Nutr 85:662–677
- Costello PM, Rowlerson A, Astaman NA, Anthony FE, Sayer AA, Cooper C, Hanson M, Green L (2008) Periimplantation and late gestation maternal undernutrition differentially affect fetal sheep skeletal muscle development. J Physiol 586:2371–2379
- Dai ZL, Wu ZL, Yang Y, Wang JJ, Satterfield MC, Meininger CJ, Bazer FW, Wu G (2013) Nitric oxide and energy metabolism in mammals. Biofactors 39:383–391
- Davis TA, Suryawan A, Orellana RA, Fiorotto ML, Burrin DG (2010) Amino acids and insulin are regulators of muscle protein synthesis in neonatal pigs. Animal 4:1790–1796

- De Blasio MJ, Gatford KL, Robinson JS, Owens JA (2007) Placental restriction of fetal growth reduces size at birth and alters postnatal growth, feeding activity, and adiposity in the young lamb. Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol 292:R875–R886
- DeFronzo RA, Tripathy D (2009) Skeletal muscle insulin resistance is the primary defect in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 32(Suppl 2):S157–SS63
- Desai M, Crowther NJ, Lucas A, Nicholas HC (1996) Organ-selective growth in the offspring of proteinrestricted mothers. Br J Nutr 76:591–603
- Fahey AJ, Brameld JM, Parr T, Buttery PJ (2005) The effect of maternal undernutrition before muscle differentiation on the muscle fiber development of the newborn lamb. J Anim Sci 83:2564–2571
- FAO (2017) The state of food security and nutrition in the world 2017. Building resilience for peace and food security. Rome, FAO
- Fernandez-Twinn DS, Ozanne SE (2006) Mechanisms by which poor early growth programs type-2 diabetes, obesity and the metabolic syndrome. Physiol Behav 88:234–243
- Ferrannini E, Bjorkman O, Reichard GA, Pilo A, Olsson M, Wahren J, DeFronzo R (1985) The disposal of an oral glucose load in healthy subjects. A quantitative study. Diabetes 34:580–588
- Fisher G, Windham ST, Griffin P, Warren J, Gower B, Hunter G (2017) Associations of human skeletal muscle fiber type and insulin sensitivity, blood lipids, and vascular hemodynamics in a cohort of premenopausal women. Eur J Appl Physiol 117:1413–1422
- Flynn NE, Wu G (1996) An important role for endogenous synthesis of arginine in maintaining arginine homeostasis in neonatal pigs. Am J Physiol 271:R1149–R1155
- Ford SP, Hess BW, Schwope MM, Nijland MJ, Gilbert JS, Vonnahme K, Means W, Han H, Nathanielsz PW (2007) Maternal undernutrition during early to midgestation in the ewe results in altered growth, adiposity, and glucose tolerance in male offspring. J Anim Sci 85:1285–1294
- Fowden AL, Hughes P, Comline RS (1989) The effects of insulin on the growth rate of the sheep fetus during late gestation. Q J Exp Physiol 74:703–714
- Gao J, Ren J, Gulve EA, Holloszy JO (1994) Additive effect of contractions and insulin on GLUT-4 translocation into the sarcolemma. J Appl Physiol 77:1597–1601
- Gao F, Hou XZ, Liu YC, Wu SQ, Ao CJ (2008) Effect of maternal under-nutrition during late pregnancy on lamb birth weight. Asian-Australasian J Anim Sci 21:371–375
- Garber J, Missouri L (1976) Alanine and glutamine synthesis and release from skeletal muscle. J Biol Chem 251:836–843
- Gardner DS, Tingey K, Van Bon BWM, Ozanne SE, Wilson V, Dandrea J, Keisler DH, Stephenson T, Symonds ME (2005) Programming of glucose-insulin metabolism in adult sheep after maternal undernu-

trition. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 289:947–954

- Gennser G, Rymark P, Isberg PE (1988) Low birth weight and risk of high blood pressure in adulthood. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 296:1498–1500
- George LA, Zhang L, Tuersunjiang N, Ma Y, Long NM, Uthlaut AB, Smith DT, Nathanielsz PW, Ford SP (2012) Early maternal undernutrition programs increased feed intake, altered glucose metabolism and insulin secretion, and liver function in aged female offspring. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 302:R795–R804
- Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Spencer HG (2005) Predictive adaptive responses and human evolution. Trends Ecol Evol 20:527–533
- Goldenberg RL, Cliver SP (1997) Small for gestational age and intrauterine growth restriction: definitions and standards. Clin Obstet Gynecol 40:704–714
- Hales CN, Barker DJP (1992) Type 2 (non-insulindependent) diabetes mellitus: the thrifty phenotype hypothesis. Diabetologia 35:595–601
- He J, Watkins S, Kelley DE (2001) Skeletal muscle lipid content and oxidative enzyme activity in relation to muscle fiber type in type 2 diabetes and obesity. Diabetes 50:817–823
- Hou YQ, Wu G (2018) L-Glutamate nutrition and metabolism in swine. Amino Acids 50:1497–1510
- Hou YQ, He WL, Hu SD, Wu G (2019) Composition of polyamines and amino acids in plant-source foods for human consumption. Amino Acids 51:1153–1165
- Hyatt MA, Gardner DS, Sebert S, Wilson V, Davidson N, Nigmatullina Y, Chan LLY, Budge H, Symonds ME (2011) Suboptimal maternal nutrition, during early fetal liver development, promotes lipid accumulation in the liver of obese offspring. Reproduction 141:119–126
- Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Wang Z, Ross R (2000) Skeletal muscle mass and distribution in 468 men and women aged 18–88 yr. J Appl Physiol 89:81–88
- Ji Y, Wu ZL, Dai ZL, Sun KJ, Wang JJ, Wu G (2016) Nutritional epigenetics with a focus on amino acids: Implications for the development and treatment of metabolic syndrome. J Nutr Biochem 27:1–8
- Ji Y, Wu ZL, Dai ZL, Wang XL, Li J, Wang BG, Wu G (2017) Fetal and neonatal programming of postnatal growth and feed efficiency in swine. J Anim Sci Biotechnol 8:42
- Kalbe C, Bérard J, Porm M, Rehfeldt C, Bee G (2013) Maternal l-arginine supplementation during early gestation affects foetal skeletal myogenesis in pigs. Livest Sci 157:322–329
- Kensara OA, Wootton SA, Phillips DI, Patel M, Jackson AA, Elia M (2005) Fetal programming of body composition: relation between birth weight and body composition measured with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and anthropometric methods in older Englishmen. Am J Clin Nutr 82:980–987
- Kim DH, Sarbassov DD, Ali SM, King JE, Latek RR, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Sabatini DM (2002) mTOR interacts with raptor to form a nutrient-

sensitive complex that signals to the cell growth machinery. Cell 110:163–175

- Kohn AD, Summers SA, Birnbaum MJ, Roth RA (1996) Expression of a constitutively active Akt Ser/ Thr kinase in 3T3-L1 adipocytes stimulates glucose uptake and glucose transporter 4 translocation. J Biol Chem 271:31372–31378
- Kwon H, Ford SP, Bazer FW, Spencer TE, Nathanielsz PW, Nijland MJ, Hess BW, Wu G (2004) Maternal nutrient restriction reduces concentrations of amino acids and polyamines in ovine maternal and Fetal plasma and Fetal Fluids1. Biol Reprod 71:901–908
- Lassala A, Bazer FW, Cudd TA, Datta S, Keisler DH, Satterfield MC, Spencer TE, Wu G (2010) Parenteral administration of L-arginine prevents Fetal growth restriction in undernourished ewes. J Nutr 140:1242–1248
- Li P, Wu G (2018) Roles of dietary glycine, proline and hydroxyproline in collagen synthesis and animal growth. Amino Acids 50:29–38
- Li P, Wu G (2020) Composition of amino acids and related nitrogenous nutrients in feedstuffs for animal diets. Amino Acids 52:523–542
- Li H, Xu M, Lee J, He C, Xie Z (2012) Leucine supplementation increases SIRT1 expression and prevents mitochondrial dysfunction and metabolic disorders in high-fat diet-induced obese mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 303:1234–1244
- Lillioja S, Young AA, Culter CL et al (1987) Skeletal muscle capillary density and fiber type are possible determinants of in vivo insulin resistance in man. J Clin Invest 80:415–424
- Liu X, Pan S, Li X, Sun Q, Yang X, Zhao R (2015) Maternal low-protein diet affects myostatin signaling and protein synthesis in skeletal muscle of offspring piglets at weaning stage. Eur J Nutr 54:971–979
- Lloyd LJ, Foster T, Rhodes P, Rhind SM, Gardner DS (2012) Protein-energy malnutrition during early gestation in sheep blunts fetal renal vascular and nephron development and compromises adult renal function. J Physiol 590:377–393
- Long JHD, Lira VA, Soltow QA, Betters JL, Sellman JE, Criswell DS (2006) Arginine supplementation induces myoblast fusion via augmentation of nitric oxide production. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 27:577–584
- Maltin CA (2008) Muscle development and obesity. Organogenesis 4:158–169
- Marliss EB, Aoki TT, Pozefsky T, Most AS, Cahill GF (1971) Muscle and splanchnic glutmine and glutamate metabolism in postabsorptive and starved man. J Clin Invest 50:814–817
- McMillen IC, Robinson JS (2005) Developmental origins of the metabolic syndrome: prediction, plasticity, and programming. Physiol Rev 85:571–633
- Mora S, Kaliman P, Chillarón J, Testar X, Palacín M, Zorzano A (1995) Insulin and insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) stimulate GLUT4 glucose transporter translocation in Xenopus oocytes. Biochem J 311:59–65

- Mortensen OH, Olsen HL, Frandsen L, Nielsen PE, Grunnet N, Quistorff B (2010) Gestational protein restriction in mice has pronounced effects on gene expression in newborn offspring's liver and skeletal muscle; protective effect of taurine. Pediatr Res 67:47–53
- Muhlhausler BS, Duffield JA, Ozanne SE, Pilgrim C, Turner N, Morrison JL, McMillen IC (2009) The transition from fetal growth restriction to accelerated postnatal growth: a potential role for insulin signalling in skeletal muscle. J Physiol 587:4199–4211
- Osgerby J, Wathes D, Howard D, Gadd T (2002) The effect of maternal undernutrition on ovine fetal growth. J Endocrinol 173:131–141
- Quigley SP, Kleemann DO, Kakar MA, Owens JA, Nattrass GS, Maddocks S, Walker SK (2005) Myogenesis in sheep is altered by maternal feed intake during the periconception period. Anim Reprod Sci 87:241–251
- Rich-Edwards JW, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willet CW, Gillman MW, Hennekens CH, Speizer FE, Manson JE (1999) Birthweight and the risk for type 2 diabetes mellitus in adult women. Ann Intern Med 130:278–284
- Rodriguez J, Vernus B, Chelh I, Cassar-Malek I, Gabillard JC, Sassi AH, Seiliez I, Picard B, Bonnieu A (2014) Myostatin and the skeletal muscle atrophy and hypertrophy signaling pathways. Cell Mol Life Sci 71:4361–4371
- Satterfield MC, Bazer FW, Spencer TE, Wu G (2010) Sildenafil citrate treatment enhances amino acid availability in the Conceptus and Fetal growth in an ovine model of intrauterine growth restriction. J Nutr 140:251–258
- Satterfield MC, Dunlap KA, Keisler DH, Bazer FW, Wu G (2013) Arginine nutrition and fetal brown adipose tissue development in nutrient-restricted sheep. Amino Acids 45:489–499
- Scheepers A, Joost HG, Schürmann A (2004) The glucose transporter families SGLT and GLUT: molecular basis of normal and aberrant function. J Parenter Enter Nutr 28:364–371
- Shimizu N, Yoshikawa N, Ito N et al (2011) Crosstalk between glucocorticoid receptor and nutritional sensor mTOR in skeletal muscle. Cell Metab 13:170–182
- Shukla P, Ghatta S, Dubey N et al (2014) Maternal nutrient restriction during pregnancy impairs an endotheliumderived hyperpolarizing factor-like pathway in sheep fetal coronary arteries. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 307:134–142
- Stuart CA, Wen G, Gustafson WC, Thompson EA (2000) Comparison of GLUT1, GLUT3, and GLUT4 mRNA and the subcellular distribution of their proteins in normal human muscle. Metabolism 49:1604–1609
- Sun K, Wu Z, Ji Y, Wu G (2016) Glycine regulates protein turnover by activating protein kinase B/mammalian target of rapamycin and by inhibiting MuRF1 and atrogin-1 gene expression in C2C12 myoblasts. J Nutr 146:2461–2467
- Symonds ME, Sebert SP, Hyatt MA, Budge H (2009) Nutritional programming of the metabolic syndrome. Nat Rev Endocrinol 5:604–610

- Tan B, Yin Y, Liu Z et al (2011) Dietary L-arginine supplementation differentially regulates expression of lipidmetabolic genes in porcine adipose tissue and skeletal muscle. J Nutr Biochem 22:441–445
- Taniguchi CM, Emanuelli B, Kahn CR (2006) Critical nodes in signalling pathways: insights into insulin action. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 7:85–96
- UNICEF (2004) Low birtweight: country, regional and global estimates. UNICEF, New York
- Vonnahme KA, Hess BW, Hansen TR et al (2003) Maternal undernutrition from early- to mid-gestation leads to growth retardation, cardiac ventricular hypertrophy, and increased liver weight in the fetal sheep. Biol Reprod 69:133–140
- Wang J, Chen L, Li D, Yin Y, Wang X, Li P, Dangott LJ, Hu W, Wu G (2008) Intrauterine growth restriction affects the proteomes of the small intestine, liver, and skeletal muscle in newborn pigs. J Nutr 138:60–66
- Wang XQ, Ying W, Dunlap KA, Lin G, Satterfield MC, Burghardt RC, Wu G, Bazer FW (2014) Arginine decarboxylase and agmatinase: an alternative pathway for de novo biosynthesis of polyamines for development of mammalian conceptuses. Biol Reprod 90:84
- Wang J, Cao M, Zhuo Y, Che L, Fang Z, Xu S, Lin Y, Feng B, Wu D (2016) Catch-up growth following food restriction exacerbates adulthood glucose intolerance in pigs exposed to intrauterine undernutrition. Nutrition 32:1275–1284
- Wei C, Li L, Su H, Xu L, Lu J, Zhang L, Liu W, Ren H, Du L (2014) Identification of the crucial molecular events during the large-scale myoblast fusion in sheep. Physiol Genomics 46:429–440
- Wu G (2013) Amino acids: biochemistry and nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Wu G (2018) Principles of animal nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Wu G, Thompson JR (1990) The effect of glutamine on protein turnover in chick skeletal muscle in vitro. Biochem J 265:593–598
- Wu G, Thompson JR, Baracos VE (1991) Glutamine metabolism in skeletal muscle from the broiler chick (Gallus domesticus) and the laboratory rat (Rattus norvegicus). Biochem J 274:769–774
- Wu G, Morris SM Jr (1998) Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. Biochem J 336:1–17
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Wallace JM, Spencer TE (2006) Board-invited review: intrauterine growth retardation: implications for the animal sciences. J Anim Sci 84:2316–2337
- Wu G, Collins JK, Perkins-Veazie P, Siddiq M, Dolan KD, Kelly KA, Heaps CL, Meininger CJ (2007) Dietary supplementation with watermelon pomace juice enhances arginine availability and ameliorates the metabolic syndrome in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. J Nutr 137:2680–2685
- Wu ZL, Hou YQ, Hu SD, Bazer FW, Meininger CJ, McNeal CJ, Wu G (2016) Catabolism and safety of supplemental L-arginine in animals. Amino Acids 48:1541–1552

- Wu G, Bazer FB, Johnson GA, Hou YQ (2018) Arginine nutrition and metabolism in growing, gestating and lactating swine. J Anim Sci 96:5035–5051
- Wu ZL, Hou YQ, Dai ZL, Hu CA, Wu G (2019) Metabolism, nutrition and redox signaling of hydroxyproline. Antioxid Redox Signal 30:674–682
- Yao K, Yin Y, Chu W et al (2008) Dietary arginine supplementation increases mTOR signaling activity in skeletal muscle of neonatal pigs. J Nutr 138:867–872
- Yin Y, Yao K, Liu Z, Gong M, Ruan Z, Deng D, Tan B, Liu Z, Wu G (2010) Supplementing l-leucine to a lowprotein diet increases tissue protein synthesis in weanling pigs. Amino Acids 39:1477–1486
- Yoon MS (2017) mTOR as a key regulator in maintaining skeletal muscle mass. Front Physiol 8:1–9
- Zheng S, Rollet M, Pan YX (2011) Maternal protein restriction during pregnancy induces CCAAT/ enhancer-binding protein (C/EBPβ) expression through the regulation of histone modification at its

promoter region in female offspring rat skeletal muscle. Epigenetics 6:161–170

- Zheng S, Rollet M, Pan YX (2012) Protein restriction during gestation alters histone modifications at the glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) promoter region and induces GLUT4 expression in skeletal muscle of female rat offspring. J Nutr Biochem 23:1064–1071
- Zhu M-J, Ford SP, Nathanielsz PW, Du M (2004) Effect of maternal nutrient restriction in sheep on the development of fetal skeletal muscle1. Biol Reprod 71:1968–1973
- Zhu MJ, Ford SP, Means WJ, Hess BW, Nathanielsz PW, Du M (2006) Maternal nutrient restriction affects properties of skeletal muscle in offspring. J Physiol 575:241–250
- Zou T, Yu B, Yu J, Mao X, Zheng P, He J, Huang Z, Liu Y, Chen D (2016) Moderately decreased maternal dietary energy intake during pregnancy reduces fetal skeletal muscle mitochondrial biogenesis in the pigs. Genes Nutr 11:1–10



10

Metabolism of Amino Acids in the Brain and Their Roles in Regulating Food Intake

Wenliang He and Guoyao Wu

Abstract

Amino acids (AAs) and their metabolites play an important role in neurological health and function. They are not only the building blocks of protein but are also neurotransmitters. In the brain, glutamate and aspartate are the major excitatory neurotransmitters, whereas y-aminobutyrate (GABA, a metabolite of glutamate) and glycine are the major inhibitory neurotransmitters. Nitric oxide (NO, a metabolite of arginine), H₂S (a metabolite of cysteine), serotonin (a metabolite of tryptophan) and histamine (a metabolite of histidine), as well as dopamine and norepinephrine (metabolites of tyrosine) are neurotransmitters to modulate synaptic plasticity, neuronal activity, learning, motor control, motivational behavemotion, executive function. ior, and Concentrations of glutamine (a precursor of glutamate and aspartate), branched-chain AAs (precursors of glutamate, glutamine and aspartate), L-serine (a precursor of glycine and D-serine), methionine and phenylalanine in plasma are capable of affecting neurotransmission through the syntheses of glutamate, aspartate, and glycine, as well as the competitive transport of tryptophan and tyrosine

Department of Animal Science, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA e-mail: g-wu@tamu.edu across from the blood-brain barrier. Adequate consumption of AAs is crucial to maintain their concentrations and the production of neurotransmitters in the central nervous system. Thus, the content and balance of AAs in diets have a profound impact on food intake by animals. Knowledge of AA transport and metabolism in the brain is beneficial for improving the health and well-being of humans and animals.

Keywords

Amino acids · Center nervous system · Neurotransmission · Brain · Food intake

10.1 Introduction

The brain, which is contained within the head and protected by its skull bones, is a highly complex organ and is the central commander of the body (Hellier 2014). Amino acids (AAs) are selectively transported from the blood into the brain, where they undergo active metabolism in the brain to maintain its normal structure and function. As shown in Table 10.1, neurotransmitters (chemical messengers) in the central nervous system (CNS) are AAs, low-molecular-weight metabolites of AAs, oligopeptides of AAs, or other nitrogenous metabolites (Dingledine and

W. He \cdot G. Wu (\boxtimes)

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

G. Wu (ed.), Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2_10

Neurotransmitter	Precursor(s)	Function
Acetylcholine	Choline and acetyl-CoA	Neurotransmitters and neuromodulators in the brain; modulation of arousal, attention, memory and motivation
γ-Aminobutyrate	Glutamate (ultimately BCAAs)	The principal inhibitory neurotransmitter in the brain; a major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the spinal cord (50% sharing with glycine); regulation of food intake
Aspartate	Glutamine, glutamate, BCAAs	A major excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain
Carbon monoxide (CO)	Heme (ultimately glycine)	A neurotransmitter and a neuromodulator in the brain; modulation of synaptic plasticity and neuronal activity; modulation of LTP
Dopamine	Tyrosine	A neurotransmitter in the brain; modulation of learning, motor control, reward, emotion, and executive function; inhibition of food intake
Epinephrine	Tyrosine	A neurotransmitter in the brain; enhancer of memory formation processes
Glutamate	Glutamine, BCAAs, and	The primary excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain; primary mediator of possibly ammonia plus α -KG neuron system plasticity
Glycine	Serine, 4-hydroxyproline	A major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the spinal cord & lower brainstem; a co-agonist with glutamate at NMDA receptors
Hydrogen sulfide	Cysteine	A neurotransmitter and a neuromodulator in the brain; modulation of (H_2S) synaptic plasticity and neuronal activity; facilitating the induction of hippocampal LTP; potentiating the activity of NMDA receptors
Histamine	Histidine	A neurotransmitter in the brain and spinal cord; inhibition of food intake; promotion of wakefulness; control of motivational behavior
Nitric oxide	Arginine	A neurotransmitter and a neuromodulator in the brain; modulation of (NO) synaptic plasticity and neuronal activity; inhibiting the activity of NMDA receptors at physiological levels
Non-opioid NPs ^a	Amino acids	Neurotransmitters and neuromodulators in the brain; modulation of analgesia, hypothermia, and locomotion; involved in regulation of dopamine pathways
Norepinephrine	Tyrosine	A neurotransmitter in the brain; modulation of emotion, sleep, attention, focus and learning in the brain; modulation of response to the ANS
Opioid peptides ^b	Amino acids	Neurotransmitters and neuromodulators in the brain and spinal cord; modulation of pain perception, analgesia, and euphoria; modulation of the actions of other neurotransmitters
Serotonin	Tryptophan	A neurotransmitter in the brain and gastrointestine; modulation of neuropsychological processes and neural activity; in the brain, inhibition of food intake; in the small intestine, endocrine cells synthesize and release serotonin to stimulate gastrointestinal motility and food intake

 Table 10.1
 Neurotransmitters or neuromodulators in the central nervous system of animals

ANS autonomic nervous system, α -KG α -ketoglutarate, LTP long-term potentiation, NMDA N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (a glutamate receptor and an ion channel protein present in *nerve cells*), NPs neurotransmitter peptides ^aIncluding (1) neurotensin (a 13 amino acid neuropeptide that plays a role in regulating the release of luteinizing hormone and prolactin from the anterior pituitary gland and has a significant interaction with the dopaminergic system in the brain; and (2) cholecystokinin (CCK) that is produced by endocrine cells of the small intestine and acts as a neurotransmitter and a neuromodulator in the gut and brain. CCK is composed of different numbers of amino acid residues (e.g., CCK58, CCK33, CCK22 and CCK8), depending on the post-translational modification of its 150-amino acid precursor, preprocholecystokinin

^bMethionine-enkephalin (a pentapeptide), leucine-enkephalin (a pentapeptide), and related neuropeptides (e.g., endorphins) are generated from the degradation of proteins, and serve as endogenous opioid neurotransmitters. Opiates (e.g., morphine; naturally present) and opioids (e.g., heroin; synthetic substances) mimic the effects of the neuropeptides

McBain 1999; Smith 2000). For example, γ -aminobutyrate (GABA) is synthesized from glutamate, nitric oxide (NO) from arginine, sero-

tonin from tryptophan, histamine from histidine, and norepinephrine from tyrosine (Wu 2013). The availability of AAs in plasma can affect the uptake of neutral and basic AAs by the brain, as well as their concentrations and, therefore, the generation of neurotransmitters in the CNS. These processes are also influenced by the integrity of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and complex interactions among AAs (Fernstrom 2013; Tran et al. 2019). Thus, the dietary content and balance of AAs have a profound impact on the nutrition, growth, development, and health of humans and animals. This article highlights the metabolism of AAs in the brain and their roles in regulating food intake of mammals.

10.2 Anatomy of the Brain

The brain consists of three specialized parts: the cerebrum (the largest part), the brainstem, and the cerebellum (Hellier 2014). The cerebrum is divided into two broadly similar cerebral hemispheres that are connected via commissural nerve tracts, with the cerebral cortex (an outer layer of grey matter) covering the core of white matter. Each hemisphere is divided into four lobes (frontal, temporal, parietal, and occipital) with different functions, with the frontal lobe for thought, the temporal lobe for auditory and visual memories as well as language, the parietal lobe for sensory information (including spatial sense and navigation), and the occipital lobe for vision. The brainstem (a stalk) connects: (1) the cerebrum to the spinal cord, and (2) the cerebellum by pairs of tracts. The cerebellum, which is smaller than the cerebrum in humans and many other animals, plays an important role in motor control. The cerebrum, brainstem, cerebellum, and spinal cord are covered for protection by a layer of three membranes (meninges): the dura mater, the arachnoid mater, and the pia mater (Dasgupta and Jeong 2019). Cerebrospinal fluid is located between the arachnoid mater and the pia mater.

Neurons (nerve cells) and glial cells (also known as glia or neuroglia) are the major cell types in the brain (Hellier 2014). The adult human brain is estimated to contain 86 billion neurons [16 billion (19%) in the cerebral cortex and 69 billion (80%) in the cerebellum] and an approximately equal number (85 billion) of glial

cells (Azevedo et al. 2009; von Bartheld et al. 2016). The neuron has a cell body (containing all the components of the animal cell), dendrites (thin, branching structures from the cell body), and an axon (also known as a nerve fiber that projects usually with numerous branches). A myelinated axon is wrapped in an insulating sheath of myelin (a mixture of proteins and phospholipids), which serves to greatly increase the speed of signal propagation. The junction between two neurons is called a synapse. The types of neuron include: (1) sensory neurons in the sense organs; (2) motor neurons, which are efferent neurons that originate in the spinal cord and form synapses with skeletal muscle to control muscle contraction; and (3) inter-neurons that connect neurons within the central nervous system (Finlay and Darlington 1995). Neurons play an important role in neurotransmission.

There are four major types of glial cells in the CNS: astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, microglia, and ependymal cells (Verkhratsky et al. 2019). Astrocytes connect neurons to the CNS vasculature through the extended astrocyte end feet that attach to the basement membrane surrounding the endothelial cells and pericytes. The latter function as phagocytes. In humans, a single astrocyte can interact with up to 2 million neurons at a time (Hellier 2014). Although glial cells do not participate in neurotransmission, together they function to: (1) maintain the composition of the specialized extracellular environment surrounding the neurons within narrow limits that are optimal for normal neuronal function; (2) form myelin; (3) modulate (depress or enhance) synaptic function; and (4) support and protect neurons both physically and metabolically. For example, the astrocyte, which is most abundant among the glial cells, acts to (1) hold the neurons together; (2) help to form the blood-brain barrier; (3) transfer nutrients from blood to neurons; (4) take up and degrade locally released neurotransmitters; and (5) enhance synapse formation (Trujillo-Estrada et al. 2019).

The BBB separates the circulating blood from the brains, consists of endothelial cells of the capillary wall, the astrocyte end-feet, and pericytes (Daneman and Prat 2015). The endothelial



Fig. 10.1 Transport of amino acids (AAs) across the blood-brain barrier (BBB). The BBB consists of two polarized membranes: luminal membrane (blood side) and abluminal membrane (brain side). Nutrients in the blood must cross both membranes to enter the brain. Three classes of Na⁺-independent facilitative AA transporters for large neutral amino acids (L1), cationic AAs (y⁺), and acidic AAs (x_{G} -), as well as one Na⁺-dependent AA transport for neutral AAs with a side-chain NH₂ group (N) exist on the luminal membrane. L1 and y⁺ are present in both membranes. In contrast, the *ASC* and imino systems are absent from the luminal membrane of the endothelial cells in the BBB. Thus, large neutral AAs (e.g., branched-chain AAs, phenylalanine, tyrosine, and trypto-

cell has two polarized membranes: luminal membrane (facing the blood) and abluminal membrane (facing the brain; Fig. 10.1). Nutrients in the blood must cross both membranes to enter the brain. Except for branched-chain AAs (BCAAs), methionine, phenylalanine, and tryptophan, the concentrations of AAs in the brain are generally much greater than those in plasma (Jobgen et al. 2009; Sase et al. 2013; Ajinkya et al. 2016). The BBB allows for the entry of basic AAs (e.g., arginine, lysine, histidine and ornithine), large neutral AAs (e.g., BCAAs, citrulline, tryptophan, tyrosine, phenylalanine, and methionine), AAs with a side-chain NH₂ group (e.g., glutamine and asparagine), and small neutral AAs (alanine, serine, glycine, threonine, cysteine, and β -alanine) from the blood into the brain at different rates, and vice versa (Boado et al. 1999; Bagga et al. 2014; Barar et al. 2016). In contrast, the BBB

phan) and basic AAs (e.g., arginine, lysine, histidine, and ornithine) in the blood readily cross the BBB into the brain. Small neutral AAs (e.g., alanine, glycine, serine, and cysteine) in the blood readily cross the BBB into the brain, but the BBB restricts the entry of physiological concentrations of proline and hydroxyproline from the blood into the brain. The abluminal membrane of the endothelial cells in the BBB contain Na⁺-dependent AA transport systems ASC (for small AAs), A (for alanine, serine, glycine, cysteine, threonine and proline), N (for glutamine, citrulline, asparagine and histidine), and EAAT (for acidic AAs and cysteine) for effluxes from the brain into the blood

restricts the entry of physiological concentrations of both acidic AAs (glutamate and aspartate) and GABA from the blood into the brain (Dingledine and McBain 1999; Smith 2000; Hawkins et al. 2006). Interestingly, proline undergoes efflux from the brain into the blood via SNAT2 (the transporter system A for small neutral AAs) in the abluminal membrane and a yet unidentified transporter in the luminal membrane of the endothelial cell in the BBB, but influx of physiological concentrations of proline from the blood into the brain is limited (Benrabh and Lefauconnier 1996; Takanaga et al. 2002; Langen et al. 2005). In addition, glucose, lactate, pyruvate are readily transported from the blood into the brain via specific transporters, whereas the BBB does not allow for the passage of long-chain saturated fatty acids from the blood into the brain (Kubo et al. 2015; Wu 2018). Of note, a small amount of long-chain unsaturated fatty acids in the blood can cross the BBB into the brain, but gaseous molecules (e.g., O_2 and CO_2) rapidly diffuse through the BBB (Wu 2018). This indicates that the movement of substances (including AAs) between the blood and the brain is strictly regulated to ensure proper neuronal function and optimal health.

10.3 Neurotransmission in the Brain

Neurons connect to form neural pathways (circuits) and communicate via neurotransmitters (Table 10.1). When a neuron generates an electrical signal (also called an action potential) that travels along its axon to reach a synapse, the action potential causes the release of a neurotransmitter into the cleft of the synapse for uptake by target cells (Boto and Tomchik 2019). The neurotransmitter binds to the membrane receptor of the target cells to alter their electrical activity. An excitatory or inhibitory neurotransmitter affects trans-membrane ion flow to increase or decrease the action potentials of target cells, respectively. The target cells are nearby neurons, or other cell types (e.g., skeletal muscle, heart, and smooth muscle). For example, when an excitatory neurotransmitter is released by a neuron, the chemical molecule generates an action potential in the receiving neuron to exert an excitatory effect. Conversely, an inhibitory neurotransmitter released by a neuron reduces the action potential of the nearby receiving neuron below the threshold potential, such that the receiving neuron will not be excited. Most neurotransmitters are inactivated by high-affinity uptake into nerve terminals (Snyder 2017). Abnormalities of neurotransmission negatively affect mood (e.g., anxiety, depression), behavior, reasoning, locomotion, food intake, and sleep cycle, while increasing risks for Alzheimer's disschizophrenia, ease, Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease, and epilepsy (Fernando-Valenzuela et al. 2011). The following sections highlight AA transmitters as well as their metabolism and function in the brain.

10.4 Glutamate, Glutamine, GABA, and Aspartate

Glutamate is the principal excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain (Raevskii 1986). The excitatory actions of glutamate are terminated through its removal from the synaptic cleft by neuronal presynaptic and astrocyte reuptake systems. Thus, normal brain functions depend on the cooperation of different cell types to provide neurons with sufficient glutamate. As shown in Table 10.2, the concentration of glutamate in the brain is particularly high relative to its concentrations in plasma. Although the glutamate released from synaptic vesicles passes through the synaptic cleft to postsynaptic neurons, the glutamate

Table 10.2 Concentrations of free amino acids and glutathione in the brain and plasma of rats

Amino acid	Brain ^a	Plasma ^b
Alanine	1.00-1.35	0.37-0.45
β-Alanine	0.07-0.09	0.009-0.013
γ-Aminobutyrate	3.50-4.06	0.002-0.0025
Arginine	1.09–1.32	0.16-0.22
Asparagine	0.22-0.25	0.05-0.06
Aspartate	3.50-4.46	0.02-0.03
Citrulline	0.11-0.12	0.06-0.08
Cys + Cystine	0.33-0.41	0.15-0.22
Glutamate	9.41–14.3	0.06-0.09
Glutamine	5.64-6.82	0.53-0.66
Glycine	1.41-2.03	0.21-0.35
Histidine	1.30-1.97	0.05-0.08
Isoleucine	0.07-0.09	0.06-0.08
Leucine	0.14-0.22	0.13-0.16
Lysine	0.83-1.30	0.28-0.31
Methionine	0.06-0.09	0.03-0.06
Ornithine	0.13-0.15	0.03-0.06
Phenylalanine	0.08-0.09	0.05-0.08
Proline	0.84-0.90	0.31-0.39
Serine	1.23-1.42	0.24-0.31
Taurine	7.46-8.97	0.37-0.43
Threonine	0.57-0.73	0.19-0.25
Tyrosine	0.30-0.50	0.06-0.09
Tryptophan	0.06-0.08	0.07-0.09
Valine	0.14-0.19	0.12-0.16
Glutathione	3.20-4.25	0.004-0.005

Data are expressed as mM

^aAdapted from Sase et al. (2013, 2016). Values were calculated on the basis of water content (70%) in the brain ^bAdapted from Jobgen et al. (2009)

its excitatory property, excessive glutamate in postsynaptic neurons is excitotoxic, resulting in

rons remain constant in healthy individuals (Boldyrev 2000; Snyder 2017). This can be explained by active glutamate synthesis in the neurons and the intercellular glutamine-glutamate cycle between the neurons and astrocytes (Dingledine and McBain 1999; Hutson et al. 2001). In this glutamine-glutamate cycle (Fig. 10.2), neurons take up extracellular glutamine and hydrolyze it into glutamate by phosphate-activated glutaminase and then release the glutamate (Lee et al. 1998; Hediger and Welbourne 1999; Senkowska and Ossowska 2003), whereas astrocytes take up the glutamate and convert it into glutamine by glutamine synthetase (Norenberg and Martinez-Hernandez 1979; Storm-Mathisen et al. 1986). The glutamine is released from astrocytes into the interstitium to be taken up by the neurons. The sources of the extracellular glutamine for uptake by the neurons are: (1) the glutamine in the blood that crosses the BBB into the brain via the Na+dependent AA transport system N (Chaudhry et al. 1999); and (2) the glutamine synthesized by astrocytes. (Holten and Gundersen 2008). Due to

pools in the presynaptic and postsynaptic neu-

postsynaptic neurons is excitotoxic, resulting in brain injury, hypoxia, and epilepsy (Scheppach et al. 1991; Olney 2003; Waxman and Lynch 2005). Thus, glutamate readily exits the brain into the blood through the X_{AG}^- transporter and the Xc⁻ exchange (Hosoya et al. 1999).

In the brain, glutamate decarboxylase (GDC) catalyzes the decarboxylation of glutamate into GABA. This enzyme is localized in the grey matter of the CNS (specifically synaptosomes), and is inhibited by aspartate (Porter and Martin 1987). GABA is the primary inhibitory neurotransmitter in the brain (Porter and Martin 1984; Waagepetersen et al. 1999). In response to plasma membrane depolarization, the nerve terminals release GABA into the synaptic cleft, followed by its binding to GABA receptors on the post-synaptic cell membranes. The effect of GABA is terminated by its re-uptake by presynaptic neurons or nearby glial cells via specific and high-affinity transporters (Schousboe 2000). The enzyme for initiating the catabolism of GABA into succinate semialdehyde is GABA transaminase, which is present in the mitochon-



Fig. 10.2 Metabolism of glutamate and glutamine in the astrocytes and neurons of the central nervous system. Astrocytes are a sub-type of glial cells. *BBB* blood = brain barrier, *BCATc* branched-chain amino acid transaminase (cytosolic isoform), *BCATm* branched-chain amino acid

transaminase (mitochondrial isoform), *BCKA* branchedchain α -keto acid, *BCKD* branched-chain α -keto acid dehydrogenase complex, *PAG* phosphate-activated glutaminase, *GS* glutamine synthetase, α -KG α -ketoglutarate

dria of grey matter in the brain and in other tissues (Sherif and Oreland 1992). Succinate semialdehyde is converted into succinate by succinate semialdehyde dehydrogenase, which is distributed in the CNS in a similar manner to that of GABA transaminase. The decarboxylation of glutamate to GABA, the transamination of GABA, and the dehydrogenation of succinate semialdehyde are collectively called the GABA shunt. As the precursors of GABA, the concentrations of glutamate and glutamine in the brain influence those of GABA in the brain. Because of its active synthesis, high concentrations of GABA are present in the brain of mammals although its concentrations in the plasma are exceedingly low (Table 10.2). As noted previously, in healthy humans and other animals, the BBB is impermeable to not only glutamate and aspartate, but also GABA in the blood and the endogenous cerebral GABA (Kuriyama and Sze 1971). However, GABA readily undergoes efflux from the brain to the blood to regulate its concentration in the CNS (Kakee et al. 2001).

Because of its active synthesis, aspartate (an excitatory neurotransmitter) is present at a high concentration in the brain relative to its concentration in plasma (Table 10.2). This is consistent with the finding that 90% of glutamate in the mitochondria of the brain undergoes transamination to generate aspartate (Banay-Schwartz et al. 1996; Holten and Gundersen 2008). The catabolism of aspartate is initiated by aspartate aminotransferase (Yoneda and Byori 2001). This enzyme is localized in the mitochondria and cytoplasm of neurons as distinct isoforms. The mitochondrial form of aspartate transaminase participates in the Krebs cycle, whereas the cytoplasmic form of the enzyme may play a regulatory role in glutamate and alanine syntheses (Yudkoff 1997). Because of its excitatory effect, excessive aspartate in postsynaptic neurons results in brain injury, hypoxia, and epilepsy (Waxman and Lynch 2005). Thus, aspartate readily exits the brain into the blood through the X_{AG}^{-} transporter in the luminal and abluminal membranes of the endothelial cell (Hosoya et al. 1999).

Dietary glutamate and aspartate are extensively catabolized by enterocytes of the small intestine in humans (Wu 1998) and animals, including fish (Jia et al. 2017; Li et al. 2020), swine (Hou and Wu 2018) and poultry (He et al. 2018). Therefore, only a small amount of the dietary glutamate and aspartate (e.g., about 5% in swine) enter the portal circulation. Thus, although plant- and animal-source proteins contain large amounts of both glutamate and aspartate (Li and Wu 2020; Wu et al. 2016; Hou et al. 2019), the concentrations of these two AAs in the plasma and brain of humans and animals are not changed after a meal or by their dietary supplementation within physiological levels (Fernstrom 1994; Rezaei et al. 2013). These findings are not consistent with a common misconception that ingestion of a small amount of monosodium glutamate as a flavor or aspartame (which contains aspartate) as a sweeter increases the concentrations of acidic AAs in the CNS, affects neurological function, and even causes brain damage in humans. Glutamate is classified as GRAS in the USA with an LD_{50} of 15.8 g/kg in the rat (Ataseven et al. 2016). Swine can tolerate oral administration of 2 g supplemental glutamic acid or 1.46 g supplemental monosodium glutamate per kg BW per day without adverse effects (Hou and Wu 2018). Due to a lack of experimental data, it is not possible to set an upper limit for dietary glutamate intake or supplementation for a NOAEL (no observed adverse effects level) in humans.

Ketogenic diets enhance the hepatic production of ketone bodies and have an antiepileptic effect (Wilder 1921; Wilkins 1937; Yudkoff et al. 2001; Freeman et al. 2006; Clanton et al. 2017). Ketone bodies replace some glucose as metabolic fuels in the brain (Yudkoff et al. 2001) and affect nitrogen metabolism in the whole body, including (1) the reduction of alanine and aspartate syntheses through an inhibition of glycolysis, (2) the stimulation of glutamine release by skeletal muscle (Thompson and Wu 1991), and (3) enhanced GABA generation in the brain (Erecinska et al. 1996). Addition of either acetoacetate or β-hydroxybutyrate to incubation medium increased glutamate concentration, as well as the formation of GABA and its concentration in rat brain synaptosomes (Erecinska et al. 1996). These metabolic effects may contribute to the anti-epileptic function of high-fat diets or ketone bodies.

10.5 Glycine and Serine as Well as Creatine Synthesis

Glycine is the simplest AA in animals. It is a major inhibitory transmitter in the spinal cord and lower brainstem but not in the cerebral cortex (Snyder 2017). Glycine is also a co-agonist with glutamate at N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors in the cerebral cortex to further impact neurotransmission. L-Serine is the precursor of D-serine, which stimulates NMDA receptors that are essential for neurological function (including memory). Thus, when the concentration of L-serine is low in the brain, its conversion into D-serine by serine racemase (a vitamin B_6 -dependent enzyme) is impaired, leading to reductions in neuronal plasticity and function as well as the associated memory capacities. Both glycine and serine readily cross the BBB through the LAT2 system for utilization by astrocytes and neurons (Holopainen and Kontro 1989; Bixel et al. 1993; Smith 2000). Thus, dietary supplementation with glycine or serine enhances their concentrations in the brain of rats (Shigemi et al. 2015). Interestingly, in a recent study with a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease where astrocytes have an impairment of L-serine synthesis due to defective glycolysis, Le Douce et al. (2020) reported that dietary supplementation with L-serine ameliorated cognitive deficits in the animals. This finding supports the notion that endogenous syntheses of so-called nonessential AAs (e.g., L-serine) are insufficient for meeting nutritional and physiological needs in mammals (Hou et al. 2015b; 2016b; Wu et al. 2013).

There are three metabolic pathways of glycine catabolism in the nervous tissues (Ashmarin et al. 1996): (1) reversible conversion of serine into glycine by serine hydroxymethyl transferase (SHMT), (2) oxidation of glycine to glyoxylate by glycine oxidase; and (3) decarboxylation of glycine to ammonia and CO_2 by glycine cleavage

system in mitochondria. Glycine cleavage system is present exclusively in astrocytes (Sato et al. 1991; Bommacanti et al. 1996). The L-serine synthesized in astrocytes is released and taken up by neurons. L-Serine is converted into glycine in the neurons, and glycine is subsequently taken up by astrocytes. This pattern of glycine metabolism between astrocytes and neurons is called "the glycine-serine cycle" (Berl et al. 1977; Hamberger et al. 1977; Van den Berg et al. 1978; Westergaard et al. 1995; Sibson et al. 1997).

Previous studies using ¹³C-nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy identified ¹⁴C-labeled creatine, serine, and glutathione in cell extracts and incubation medium when astrocytes were incubated with [2-13C]glycine, suggesting that glycine is a precursor of creatine, serine, and glutathione synthesis in these cells (Bixel et al. 1993). This observation was confirmed by Dringen et al. (1998). As in the liver and kidneys, creatine is synthesized from glycine, arginine and S-adenosylmethionine (a metabolite of methionine) via L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT) and S-adenosylmethionine:Nguanidinoacetate methyltransferase (GAMT) in the rat brain (Braissant et al. 2001). AGAT and GAMT are expressed in neurons and glial cells, whereas creatine transporter-1 (CRT1) is present in neurons and oligodendrocytes throughout the brain but is absent from astrocytes. The endogenous synthesis of creatine in the CNS is physiologically significant, because (1) the permeability of the BBB for creatine is limited and creatine can cross blood-brain barrier only with a low efficiency (Béard and Braissant 2010); and (2) astrocytes lack CRT1 (Braissant et al. 2001). This indicates the importance of the balance and amount of dietary AAs for optimal neurological health and function.

10.6 Branched-Chain Amino Acids (BCAAs)

The transport systems for neutral AAs in the BBB are about 50% saturated with phenylalanine and leucine (Smith et al. 1987). Because BCAAs do not directly participate in neuronal activity, at

physiological concentrations of these AAs traffic within the brain without causing harm. BCAAs are amino group donors for glutamate and glutamine syntheses in the CNS (Yudkoff et al. 2005). Results of studies involving isotopic tracers indicate that about one-fourth of all glutamate nitrogen is derived from leucine via transamination with α -ketoglutarate (Yudkoff 1997). This reaction is catalyzed by BCAA transaminase (BCAT), with a branched-chain α -ketoacid (BCKA) being a product (Chaplin et al. 1976). In vivo studies with magnetic resonance spectroscopy have demonstrated that about 50% of all glutamate nitrogen in the brain comes from leucine (Kanamori et al. 1998). The significance of BCAAs as nitrogen donors for glutamate synthesis have also been established in other tissues, including skeletal muscle (Harper et al. 1984; Haymond et al. 1978), placentae (Self et al. 2004), and mammary glands (Li et al. 2009a).

There are two isoforms of BCAT in the CNS, with the mitochondrial form (BCATm) in astrocytes but the cytosolic form (BCATc) in neurons (Bixel et al. 2001). Immunocytochemical analyses have shown the absence of BCATc from astrocytes and of BCATm from neurons (Hall et al. 1993; Hutson et al. 2001). The second, committed step in the BCAA catabolism is the oxidative decarboxylation of BCKAs by the mitochondrial BCKA dehydrogenase complex (BCKD). BCKD is present in both astrocytes and neurons but its activity varies greatly among cell types. This enzyme is largely inactive in astrocytes but is active in neurons. Thus, after the blood-borne BCAAs enter astrocytes where they undergo transamination with α -ketoglutarate to form glutamate (which may be further amidated to glutamine), BCKAs (which are poorly oxidized in these cells) exit the astrocytes and are taken up by neurons for either transamination with glutamate to generate BCAAs and α -ketoglutarate or oxidative decarboxylation by BCKD (Shambaugh and Koehler 1981; Auestad et al. 1991; Bixel et al. 2001). In the neurons, the α -ketoglutarate may be reductively aminated with NH₄⁺ to glutamate by glutamate dehydrogenase (a mitochondrial enzyme). Because leucine is the most abundant BCAA in the brain, this

"glutamate buffering system" is referred to as "the leucine-glutamate cycle" (Fig. 10.2), which functions to maintain the concentrations of BCAAs, BCKAs, and glutamate in the CNS within physiological concentrations. The significance of such a metabolic cycle is epitomized by the maple syrup urine disease in patients with inborn BCKD mutations, leading to the accumulation of BCAAs in the brain, severe brain damage, and mental retardation (Yudkoff et al. 2005).

10.7 Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids

Interest in the metabolism and neurological function of sulfur-containing AAs originated from the early observation that a high concentration of cystathionine was present in the human brain (Tallan et al. 1958). Cystathionine is a condensation product of serine and homocysteine [catalyzed by cystathionine β -synthase (CBS), a vitamin B₆-dependent enzyme] in the transsulfuration pathway for methionine catabolism (Bao et al. 1998; Wu 2013). The activity of CBS can be allosterically enhanced by S-adenosylmethionine (Pey et al. 2013), and a deficiency of this enzyme induces hyperhomocysteinemia/homocystinuria to cause mental retardation in humans (Dutta et al. 2005). Because homocysteine (an oxidant) is a toxic molecule contributing to various diseases, its removal from the brain is of physiological significance. As in the liver (Kashiwamata and Greenberg 1970; Kashiwamata et al. 1970), CBS is essential for cysteine generation in the cerebral regions of the brain (Bao et al. 1998; Enokido et al. 2005). Cysteine is used via many metabolic pathways, such as the syntheses of protein, neuropeptids, and glutathione (a potent antioxidant) and taurine (Dringen and Hamprecht et al. 1996; Kranich et al. 1996; Vitvitsky et al. 2011). In the brain of noncarnivorous animals, the rate of conversion of methionine into cysteine is low as compared with their liver (Hayes and Sturman 1981). Although taurine can be formed from cysteine in neurons and astrocytes of non-carnivorous animals (Vitvitsky et al. 2011), the rate of taurine synthesis by these cells and the brain is low as compared with their hepatocytes and liver (Hayes and Sturman 1981). To fulfill some of its physiological functions, cysteine is the substrate for the production of hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) by cystathionine γ -lyase (cystathionase) or CBS (Wu 2013). Of note, H₂S is a gasotransmitter in the CNS that affects protein activity through attachment to the sulfhydryl group of cysteine reside (called sulfhydration) in the protein (Snyder 2017). At physiological concentrations, H₂S is also a regulator of glutathione synthesis and a vasorelaxant in the vasculature (Li et al. 2009b). Thus, hypertension occurs in mice with the deletion of cystathionine γ -lyase (Yang et al. 2008).

Methionine and cysteine in the blood cross the BBB through specific AA transporters (Wu 2013). Methionine competes with large neutral AAs for Na⁺-independent transporters [LAT1 (SLC7A5), LAT2 (SLC7A8), LAT3 (SLC43A1), and LAT4 (SLC43A2)] and Na+-dependent trans- $[B^{\circ}AT2 \quad (SLC6A15)]$ and B°AT3 porters (SLC6A18). Thus, large neutral AAs can affect the concentration of methionine in the brain, and vice versa (Fernstrom 2013). In animals consuming AA balanced diets, methionine and cysteine are distributed evenly among different regions of the brain (Shaw and Heine 1965; Perry et al. 1971, 1972; Gaull et al. 1975) and their concentrations in the CNS do not change appreciably after normal feeding (Zeisel and Wurtman 1979). However, administration of high doses of methionine or cysteine alone can substantially increase the concentration of the test AA in the brain well above its physiological range (Anderson and Meister 1989; Daniel and Waisman 1969; Rubin et al. 1974). This explains, in part, why consumption of excessive methionine and cysteine is toxic to animals (Wu 2018).

10.8 Aromatic Amino Acids

Tryptophan is the precursor of serotonin, whereas tyrosine is the precursor of dopamine and norepinephrine (catecholamines) in the brain (Fernstrom 2013). The CNS lacks phenylalanine hydroxylase and, therefore, cannot convert phenylalanine into tyrosine (Karobath and Baldessarini 1972; Abita et al. 1974). This enzyme is present in the liver and kidneys to degrade phenylalanine and regulate the concentration of tyrosine in plasma (Wu 2013). Both serotonin and catecholamines are neurotransmitters in the brain (Table 10.1). Thus, there is growing interest in the metabolism of aromatic AAs in the CNS (Brosnan et al. 1984; Sperringer et al. 2017; Neinast et al. 2019). Because tryptophan and tyrosine are not synthesized by any cells in the brain, their uptake from the blood through the BBB is of enormous physiological significance. Tryptophan and tyrosine compete with BCAAs for passage through the BBB as noted previously. Therefore, the concentrations of tryptophan and tyrosine in the CNS are affected by dietary intakes of BCAAs and phenylalanine. In the brain, tryptophan is metabolized to 5-hydroxytryptophan by tetrahydrobiopterin-dependent tryptophan hydroxylase, followed by the conversion of 5-hydroxytryptophan into serotonin. Because tryptophan hydroxylase is not saturated with the normal physiological concentrations of tryptophan in the brain, the synthesis of serotonin is dependent on tryptophan availability (Feenstra and der Plasse 2010).

In neurons that use dopamine as a neurotransmitter, tyrosine is oxidized to DOPA by tetrahydrobiopterin-dependent tyrosine hydroxylase (Nagatsu et al. 1964; Kaufman and Kaufman 1985), and DOPA is subsequently decarboxylated by vitamin B₆-dependent DOPA decarboxylase to form dopamine (Wu 2013). Tyrosine hydroxylase is inhibited by catecholamines (Pogson et al. 1989). In neurons that use norepinephrine as a neurotransmitter, tyrosine-derived dopamine undergoes mono-oxygenation to norepinephrine by dopamine hydroxylase. Furthermore, in neurons that use epinephrine as a neurotransmitter, phenylethanolamine N-methyltransferase catalyzes the conversion of norepinephrine into epinephrine. Thus, the availability of tyrosine in the CNS affects not only the rate of DOPA synthesis but also the overall production of catecholamines by neurons (Gibson 1986; During et al. 1988; McTavish et al. 1999).

10.9 Basic Amino Acids

Histidine is not synthesized by any cells of the CNS but is readily transported across the BBB (Fig. 10.1). In the brain, histidine is decarboxylated by histidine decarboxylase to generate histamine, which is a neurotransmitter and a neuromodulator (Snyder 2017). This enzyme is localized in the cytoplasm of nerve endings and is regulated via cAMP-dependent cell signaling (Moreno-Delgado et al. 2006). The newly synthesized histamine is stored in synaptic vesicles and released in response to K+-induced depolarization. Once released, histamine interacts with its receptors, some of which have a postsynaptic neuronal localization. The activity of histidine decarboxylase in mammalian brain is relatively low (only about 10% of the activities of the enzymes that synthesize catecholamines and serotonin), which makes it technically difficult to determine its activity (Schwartz et al. 1970). The overall rate of histamine synthesis is dependent on the rate of histidine transport into neurons; and 2) the rate of histidine decarboxylation in the cells. The former step is not affected by prior depolarization of synaptosomes and is not ratecontrolling for histamine production (Chudomelka and Murrin 1983). Administration of histidine either intraperitoneally or intraventricularly increases the activity of histamine decarboxylase and the concentration of histamine in the hypothalamus (Yoshimatsu et al. 2002). This histidine-induced lowering appetite is inhibited by supplementing BCAAs. Among different regions in the brain, the concentration of histamine is highest in the hypothalamus and lowest in the cerebellum, indicating the uneven distribution of this neurotransmitter in the brain (Ronnberg and Schwartz 1969).

Comparable amounts of arginine are present in synaptosomes and vesicles from several brain regions (Kontro et al. 1980). The metabolic path-

ways of arginine include: (1) NO synthesis by tetrahydrobiopterin-dependent NO synthase, with L-citrulline being a co-product (Snyder 2017; (2) conversion into ornithine and urea by arginase (Johnson and Roberts 1984); and (3) production of agmatine and carbon dioxide by arginine decarboxylase (Wu and Morris 1998). Note that arginine and citrulline in the blood enter the brain through the y⁺ and LAT1 system, respectively, and vice versa (Fig. 10.1). NO is a neurotransmitter to maintain CNS function (Snyder 2017), whereas agmatine may play a role in learning and memory (McKay et al. 2002; Liu et al. 2008; Leitch et al. 2011) as well as mediating the production of NO and polyamines (Halaris and Piletz 2007). Ornithine can be further metabolized to yield proline, glutamate and polyamines (putrescine, spermidine, and spermine). The latter are essential for cell growth (including neurogenesis) and function (Wallace et al. 2003; Malaterre et al. 2004). As an inhibitor of arginase (Wu and Morris 1998), high concentrations of extracellular ornithine can spare arginine for NO generation. Likewise, extracellular proline and GABA can reduce their formation from ornithine and glutamate, respectively, by inhibiting pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase (Yoneda and Roberts 1982) and ornithine aminotransferase (Yoneda et al. 1982), respectively. An emerging research area is arginine metabolism in the brain during the aging process (Liu et al. 2009; Gupta et al. 2012; Rushaidhi et al. 2012; Mazlan et al. 2017). The postrhinal cortex, entorhinal cortex, and cerebellum are most affected by age. Postrhinal cortex and entorhinal cortex are mainly involved in memory processing (Squire et al. 2004; Agster and Burwell 2009), whereas the cerebellum is responsible for motor control, emotion and cognition (Augustin et al. 2001; Schutter and van Honk 2005; Schmahmann and Caplan 2006). We reported that changes of hippocampal citrulline levels paralleled the early and late phases of retrieval in the Morris Water maze (Sase et al. 2013). These results indicate the complexity in the regulation of arginine metabolism in the CNS and the diverse roles of this AA in neurological function. Oral administration of up to 30 g L-arginine/day (in two or more divided

doses) to healthy adult humans for 3 months does not adversely affect their neurological function or physiological metabolites (McNeal et al. 2018).

In animals, lysine is catabolized via the saccharopine and pipecolate pathways (André et al. 2013; Wu 2013), as well as the homoarginine pathway (Hou et al. 2015a, 2016a). The saccharopine pathway is mainly present in the developing brain and extracerebral tissues, and the pipecolate pathway in the adult mammalian brain (Chang 1977; Hallen 2013; Roland et al. 2015). These two pathways converge at the level of Δ^1 -piperideine-6-carboxylate, which is in equilibrium with its open-chain aldehyde form (α -aminoadipate δ -semialdehyde). The latter is metabolized via a series of enzymes to acetyl-CoA. A cerebral ketimine reductase, which catareduction lyzes the of Δ^1 -piperide ine-2-carboxylate to L-pipecolate, is identical to thyroid hormone-binding protein (µ-crystallin; Hallen 2013). L-pipecolate binds tightly to the P2 fraction membranes of mouse brain, indicating its neurochemical importance (Gutierrez and Giacobini 1985). In the homoarginine pathway, L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase transfers the amidino group from L-arginine to the ε -amino group of L-lysine to form L-homoarginine, with the concentration of homoarginine in the rat brain being 1.05 nmol/g wet tissue (Hou et al. 2015a). There are suggestions that homoarginine contributes to neurological function, including behavior (Bernstein et al. 2015; Ajinkya et al. 2016). Because lysine interferes with NO synthesis by cells (Li et al. 2009b), lysine catabolism plays a role in maintaining neurological function.

10.10 The Role of Amino Acids in Regulating Food Intake

The amounts and balance of AAs in diets greatly affect the concentrations of neurotransmitters in the brain (Fernstrom 1990, 2013; Tews et al. 1984b) and food intake by animals (Wu 2018). An appropriate amount of some AAs (e.g., glycine, tryptophan, and glutamate) stimulates food intake. In contrast, an excess or deficiency of an

AA (e.g., methionine, arginine, and leucine), particularly an AA that is not synthesized by animal cells, or an imbalance of AAs in diets, generally reduces food intake. For example, supplementing 0.2% tryptophan to a corn- and soybean mealbased, 19.5% crude-protein diet (containing 0.25% tryptophan) increases the feed intake of weanling piglets by 10% (Liang et al. 2018), whereas supplementing 2% glutamine to a cornand soybean meal-based, 21% crude-protein diet (containing 1.82% glutamine) decreases the feed intake of weanling piglets by 18% (Wu 2018). Furthermore, rats prefer an AA balanced diet when compared with a diet deficient in one or more nutritionally essential AAs (Feurte et al. 1999; Gietzen and Magrum 2001). Clearly, animals increase the consumption of a low-protein diet to meet the minimum requirement for all proteinogenic AAs (Wu 2018). The underlying mechanisms are largely unknown but likely involve the metabolism of AAs, the production of neurotransmitters (including neuropeptides), and their signaling in the CNS (Michael 1987; Fernstrom 1994, 2013; Tran et al. 2019).

First, the concentrations of AAs, ammonia, glucose, and fatty acids in plasma affect food intake by animals (Holt et al. 1996; Morens et al. 2003; Wu 2018). Second, AAs influence the metabolism of the hypothalamus, which is the major region in the brain responsible for the control of food intake (Kelley et al. 2005). For example, whether administered intraperitoneally or intraventricularly into the hypothalamus, histidine dose-dependently increases the hypothalamic activity of histidine decarboxylase and the hypothalamic levels of histamine to inhibit food intake by rodents (Yoshimatsu et al. 1999, 2002; Kasaoka et al. 2004; Jørgensen et al. 2006; Gotoh et al. 2009). Interestingly, a histidine-induced decrease in appetite is attenuated by dietary supplementation with BCAAs (DiNicolantonio et al. 2018), suggesting an interaction between histidine and BCAAs or their metabolites (e.g., glutamate and GABA). Third, dopamine mediates anorexia (a lack or loss of appetite for food) in animals (Fibiger et al. 1973; Breese 1975). In support of this view, intraventricular injection of dopamine decreases the food intake of rats, and this effect of

dopamine is attenuated by co-administration with a dopamine antagonist into the perifornical hypothalamus (Leibowitz and Rossakis 1978, 1979). Fourth, serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine) innervates the hypothalamus, whereby modulating its physiological activity (Saavedra et al. 1974; Palkovits et al. 1977). An increase in brain serotonin inhibits food intake, but a decrease in brain serotonin promotes hyperphagia and weight gain (Goldman et al. 1971; Singer et al. 1971; Lam et al. 2010). Similarly, intrahypothalamic injection of 5-hydroxytryptophan or tryptophan (precursors of serotonin) also suppresses food intake (Joyce and Mrosovsky 1964; Singer et al. 1971; Blundell and Leshem 1975; Goudie et al. 1976; Sugrue and Mireylees 1978; Blundell et al. 1980). Conversely, the anorectic effect of serotonin is blocked by the prior administration of the peripheral serotonin receptor antagonist, xylamidine (Clineschmidt et al. 1978). In the small intestine, serotonin is synthesized by enteroendocrine cells to promote gastrointestinal motility, which may explain why dietary supplementation with tryptophan enhances food intake by animals (Liang et al. 2018). Fifth, GABA regulates food intake by animals in a complex manner, depending on dose and anatomical site as well as dietary protein level. For example, Tews et al. (1984a) reported that supplementing GABA at 5%, but not 3%, of a low-protein diet depressed the food intake and growth of kittens. However, food intake is increased by microinjection of either 100 ng bicuculline methiodide (a GABA antagonist) into the anterolateral hypothalamus or 100 ng GABA into the ventromedial hypothalamus, but is decreased by microinjection of 100 ng GABA into the origin of the nigrostriatal dopamine neurons in the substantia nigra (Kelly et al. 1977). In contrast, microinjection of 100 ng GABA into the origin of the mesolimbic dopamine cells in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) does not affect feeding behavior (Kelly et al. 1977). These observations suggest that the GABAergic neurons in the lateral and ventromedial hypothalamus may serve as modulators of afferent inputs to feeding control neurons. There is evidence that dietary supplementation with GABA (75 and 100 mg/kg feed) for 35 days stimulated feed intake by broiler chickens exposed to cyclic heat stress (Chand et al. 2016).

10.11 Conclusion

Metabolism of AAs in the brain involves their transport across the BBB, catabolism (including the generation of low-molecular-weight neurotransmitters), and syntheses, as well as the production of proteins and oligopeptides (including neuropeptides). Physiological concentrations of AAs in plasma and the CNS are essential to maintain brain health and function. Some AAs or metabolites of certain AAs are neurotransmitters or modulators of neurotransmission (Table 10.1). The homeostasis of AAs in the CNS is regulated via tightly integrated metabolic pathways, including the glutamate-glutamine cycle, the glycineserine cycle, the leucine-glutamate cycle, and the intracellular protein turnover. Glutamate, aspartate, histamine, serotonin, dopamine, and GABA in the brain are key regulators of neurological function. Some neurotransmitters (dopamine and serotonin) are often closely correlated with the aging process in that their concentrations in the brain decrease gradually with aging. Additionally, neurotransmitters are responsible for the regulation of food intake, movement control, and memory function, the adequate consumption of AAs (e.g., a proper mixture of animal- and plantsource proteins) is necessary for optimal health and well-being in humans and animals.

Acknowledgments We thank students and research assistants in our laboratory for helpful discussions. Work in our laboratory is supported by Texas AgriLife Research Hatch project H-8200.

References

- Abita JP, Dorche C, Kaufman S (1974) Further studies on the nature of phenylalanine hydroxylation in brain. Pediatr Res 8:714–717
- Agster KL, Burwell RD (2009) Cortical efferents of the perirhinal, postrhinal, and entorhinal cortices of the rat. Hippocampus 19:1159–1186
- Ajinkya S, Nawaratna G, Hu SD, Wu G, Lubec G (2016) Decreased hippocampal homoarginine and increased
nitric oxide and nitric oxide synthase levels in rats parallel training in a radial arm maze. Amino Acids 48:2197–2204

- Anderson ME, Meister A (1989) Marked increase of cysteine levels in many regions of the brain after administration of 2-oxothiazolidine-4-carboxylate. FASEB J 3:1632–1636
- André H, Jamie JF, Cooper AJ (2013) Lysine metabolism in mammalian brain: an update on the importance of recent discoveries. Amino Acids 45:1249–1272
- Ashmarin IP, Antipenko AE, Ashapkin VV (1996) Neirokhimiya: uchebnik dlya biologicheskikh i meditsinskikh VUZov (Neurochemistry: Handbook for Biological and Medical Universities). Izd. Instituta Biomedkhimii RAMN, Moscow
- Ataseven N, Yuzbasioglu D, Keskin AC, Unal F (2016) Genotoxicity of monosodium glutamate. Food Chem Toxicol 91:8–18
- Auestad N, Korsak RA, Morrow JW, Edmond J (1991) Fatty acid oxidation and ketogenesis by astrocytes in primary culture. J Neurochem 56:1376–1386
- Augustin I, Korte S, Rickmann M (2001) The cerebellum specific Munc13 isoform Munc13-3 regulates cerebellar synaptic transmission and motor learning in mice. J Neurosci 21:10–17
- Azevedo F, Carvalho LR, Grinberg LT, Farfel JM, Ferretti RE, Leite RE, Jacob Filho W, Lent R, Herculano-Houzel S (2009) Equal numbers of neuronal and nonneuronal cells make the human brain an isometrically scaled-up primate brain. J Comp Neurol 513:532–541
- Bagga P, Behar KL, Mason GF, De Feyter HM, Rothman DL, Patel AB (2014) Characterization of cerebral glutamine uptake from blood in the mouse brain: implications for metabolic modeling of ¹³C NMR data. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 34:1666–1672
- Banay-Schwartz M, DeGuzman T, Lajtha A, Palkovits M (1996) Amino acid distribution in immature rat brain. Neurobiology (Bp) 4:393–403
- Bao L, Vlcek C, Paces V, Kraus JP (1998) Identification and tissue distribution of human cystathionine betasynthase mRNA isoforms. Arch Biochem Biophys 350:95–103
- Barar J, Rafi M, Mostafa PM, Yadollah O (2016) Bloodbrain barrier transport machineries and targeted therapy of brain diseases. Bioimpacts 6:225–248
- Béard E, Braissant O (2010) Synthesis and transport of creatine in the CNS: importance for cerebral functions. J Neurochem 115:297–313
- Benrabh H, Lefauconnier JM (1996) Blood-endothelial cell and blood-brain transport of L-proline, alphaaminoisobutyric acid, and L-alanine. Neurochem Res 21:1227–1235
- Berl S, Nicklas WJ, Clarke DD (1977) Glial cells and metabolic compartmentation. Pergamon Press, Oxford, pp 143–149
- Bernstein HG, Jäger K, Dobrowolny H, Steiner J, Keilhoff G, Bogerts B, Laube G (2015) Possible sources and functions of L-homoarginine in the brain: review of the literature and own findings. Amino Acids 47:1729–1740

- Bixel G, Dringer R, Wiesinger H, Stock W, Hamprecht B (1993) Consumption of branched-chain amino acids and glycine by astroglia-rich rat brain cell cultures. Biol Chem Hoppe-Seyler 374:915
- Bixel M, Shimomura Y, Hutson S, Hamprecht B (2001) Distribution of key enzymes of branched-chain amino acid metabolism in glial and neuronal cells in culture. J Histochem Cytochem 49:407–418
- Blundell JE, Leshem MB (1975) The effect of 5-hydroxytryptophan on food intake and on the anorexic action of amphetamine and fenfluramine. J Pharm Pharmol 27:31–37
- Blundell JE, Tombros E, Rogers PJ, Latham CJ (1980) Behavioural analysis of feeding: implications for the pharmacological manipulation of food intake in animals and man. Progr Neuro- Psychopharmacol 4:319–326
- Boado RJ, Li JY, Nagaya M, Zhang C, Pardridge WM (1999) Selective expression of the large neutral amino acid transporter at the blood–brain barrier. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:12079–12084
- Boldyrev AA (2000) Functional interactions between glutamate receptors of different classes. Byul Eksp Biol Med 130:244–251
- Bommacanti RK, Beavan M, Ng K, Jois M (1996) Oxidation of glycine by chicken astrocytes in primary culture. J Neurochem 66(Suppl 2):S90A
- Boto T, Tomchik SM (2019) The excitatory, the inhibitory, and the modulatory: mapping chemical neurotransmission in the brain. Neuron 101:763–765
- Braissant O, Henry H, Loup M, Eilers B, Bachmann C (2001) Endogenous synthesis and transport of creatine in the rat brain: an in situ hybridization study. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 86:193–201
- Breese GR (1975) Chemical and immunochemical lesions by specific neurotoxic substances and antisera. In: Handbook of psychopharmacology. Raven Press, New York, pp 137–189
- Brosnan JT, Forsey RG, Brosnan ME (1984) Uptake of tyrosine and leucine in vivo by brain of diabetic and control rats. Am J Physiol 247:C450–C453
- Chand N, Muhammad S, Khan RU, Alhidary IA, Rehman ZU (2016) Ameliorative effect of synthetic γ-aminobutyric acid (GABA) on performance traits, antioxidant status and immune response in broiler exposed to cyclic heat stress. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 23:23930–23935
- Chang Y (1977) Lysine metabolism in the rat brain: the pipecolic acid-forming pathway. J Neurochem 30:347–354
- Chaplin ER, Goldberg AL, Diamond I (1976) Leucine oxidation in brain slices and nerve endings. J Neurochem 26:701–707
- Chaudhry FA, Reimer RJ, Krizaj D, Barber D, Storm-Mathisen J, Copenhagen DR, Edwards RH (1999) Molecular analysis of system N suggests novel physiological roles in nitrogen metabolism and synaptic transmission. Cell 99:769–780

- Chudomelka PJ, Murrin LC (1983) Transport of histidine into synaptosomes of the rat central nervous system. J Neurochem 40:830–835
- Clanton R, Wu G, Akabani G, Aramayo R (2017) Control of seizures by ketogenic diet-induced modulation of metabolic pathways. Amino Acids 47:1–20
- Clineschmidt BV, Mcguffin JC, Pfluefer AB, Totaro JA (1978) A 5-hydroxytryptamineqike mode of anorectic action for 6-chloro-2-(1-piperazinyl)-pyrazine (Mk-212). Br J Pharmacol 62:579–589
- Daneman R, Prat A (2015) The blood–brain barrier. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 7:a020412
- Daniel RG, Waisman HA (1969) The influence of excess methionine on the free amino acids of brain and liver of the weanling rat. J Neurochem 16:787–795
- Dasgupta K, Jeong J (2019) Developmental biology of the meninges. Genesis 57:e23288
- Dingledine R, McBain CJ (1999) Glutamate and aspartate are the major excitatory transmitters in the brain. In: Siegel GJ, Agranoff BW, Albers RW, Fisher SK, Uhler MD (eds) Basic neurochemistry: molecular, cellular and medical aspects, 6th edn. Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Philadelphia, pp 315–333
- DiNicolantonio JJ, McCarty MF, OKeefe JH (2018) Role of dietary histidine in the prevention of obesity and metabolic syndrome. Open Heart 5:e000676
- Dringen R, Hamprecht B (1996) Glutathione content as an indicator for the presence of metabolic pathways of amino acids in astroglial cultures. J Neurochem 67:1375–1382
- Dringen R, Verleysdonk S, Hamprecht B, Willker W, Leibfritz D, Brand A (1998) Metabolites of glycine in primary astroglial cells: synthesis of creatine, serine, and glutathione. J Neurochem 70:835–840
- During MJ, Acworth IN, Wurtman RJ (1988) Effects of systemic tyrosine on dopamine release from rat corpus striatum and nucleus accumbens. Brain Res 452:378–380
- Dutta S, Sinha S, Chattopadhyay A, Gangopadhyay PK, Mukhopadhyay J, Singh M, Mukhopadhyay K (2005) Cystathionine beta-synthase T833C/844INS68 polymorphism: a family-based study on mentally retarded children. Behav Brain Funct 1:25
- Enokido Y, Suzuki E, Iwasawa K, Namekata K, Okazawa H, Kimura H (2005) Cystathionine beta-synthase, a key enzyme for homocysteine metabolism, is preferentially expressed in the radial glia/astrocyte lineage of developing mouse CNS. FASEB J 19:1854–1856
- Erecinska M, Nelson D, Daikhin Y, Yudkoff M (1996) Regulation of GABA level in rat brain synaptosomes: fluxes through enzymes of the GABA shunt and effects of glutamate, calcium and ketone bodies. J Neurochem 67:2325–2334
- Feenstra MGP, der Plasse G (2010) Tryptophan depletion and serotonin release -A critical reappraisal. In: Handbook of behavioral neuroscience, vol 21. Elsevier, pp 249–258

- Fernando-Valenzuela C, Puglia MP, Zucca S (2011) Focus on: neurotransmitter systems. Alcohol Res Health 34:106–120
- Fernstrom JD (1990) Aromatic amino acids and monoamine synthesis in the central nervous system: influence of the diet. J Nutr Biochem 1:508–517
- Fernstrom JD (1994) Dietary amino acids and brain function. J Am Diet Assoc 94:71–77
- Fernstrom JD (2013) Large neutral amino acids: dietary effects on brain neurochemistry and function. Amino Acids 45:419–430
- Feurte S, Nicolaidis S, Even PC, Tome D, Mahe S, Fromentin G (1999) Rapid fall in plasma threonine followed by increased intermeal interval in response to first ingestion of a threonine-devoid diet in rats. Appetite 3:329–341
- Fibiger HC, Zis AP, Mcgeer EG (1973) Feeding and drinking deficits after 6-hydroxydopamine administration in the rat: similarities to the lateral hypothalamic syndrome. Brain Res 55:135–148
- Finlay BL, Darlington RB (1995) Linked regularities in the development and evolution of mammalian brains. Science 268:1578–1584
- Freeman J, Veggiotti P, Lanzi G, Tagliabue A, Perucca E (2006) The ketogenic diet: from molecular mechanisms to clinical effects. Epilepsy Res 68:145–180
- Gaull GE, Tallan HH, Lajtha A, Rassin DK (1975) Biology of brain dysfunction, vol 3 (Gaull GE ed). Plenum Press, New York, pp 47–143
- Gibson CJ (1986) Dietary control of retinal dopamine synthesis. Brain Res 382:195–198
- Gietzen DW, Magrum LJ (2001) Molecular mechanisms in the brain involved in the anorexia of branched-chain amino acid deficiency. J Nutr 131:851S–855S
- Goldman HW, Lehr D, Friedman E (1971) Antagonistic effects of alpha and beta-adrenergically coded hypothalamic neurones on consummatory behaviour in the rat. Nature 231:453–455
- Gotoh K, Masaki T, Chiba S (2009) Hypothalamic neuronal histamine signaling in the estrogen deficiencyinduced obesity. J Neurochem 110:1796–1805
- Goudie AJ, Thornton EW, Wheeler TJ (1976) Effects of Lilly 110140, a specific inhibitor of 5-hydroxytryptamine uptake, on food intake and on 5-hydroxytryptophaninduced anorexia. Evidence for serotoninergic inhibition of feeding. J Pharm Pharmacol 28:318–320
- Gupta N, Jing Y, Collie ND, Zhang H, Liu P (2012) Ageing alters behavioural function and brain arginine metabolism in male Sprague-Dawley rats. Neurosci 226:178–196
- Gutierrez MD, Giacobini E (1985) Identification and characterization of pipecolic acid binding sites in mouse brain. Neurochem Res 10:691–702
- Halaris A, Piletz J (2007) Agmatine: metabolic pathway and spectrum of activity in brain. CNS Drugs 21:885–900
- Hall TR, Wallin R, Reinhart GD, Hutson SM (1993) Branched-chain aminotransferase isoenzymes.

Purification and characterization of the rat brain isoenzyme. J Biol Chem 268:3092–3098

- Hallen A, Jamie JF, Cooper AJ (2013) Lysine metabolism in mammalian brain: an update on the importance of recent discoveries. Amino Acids 45:1249–1272
- Hamberger A, Cotman CW, Sellstrom A, Weiler CT (1977) Glutamine, glial cells and their relationship to transmitter glutamate. In: Dynamic properties of glia cells (Schoffeniels E ed). Pergamon Press, Oxford, pp 163–172
- Harper AE, Miller RH, Block KP (1984) Branched-chain amino acid metabolism. Annu Rev Nutr 4:409–454
- Hawkins RA, O'Kane RL, Simpson IA, Viña JR (2006) Structure of the blood–brain barrier and its role in the transport of amino acids. J Nutr 136:218S–226S
- Haymond MW, Ben-Galim E, Strobel KE (1978) Glucose and alanine metabolism in children with maple syrup urine disease. J Clin Invest 78:398–405
- Hayes KC, Sturman JA (1981) Taurine in metabolism. Annu Rev Nutr 1:401–425
- He WL, Furukawa K, Leyva-Jimenez H, Bailey CA, Wu G (2018) Oxidation of energy substrates by enterocytes of 0- to 42-day-old chickens. Poult Sci 97(E-Suppl. 1):3
- Hediger MA, Welbourne TC (1999) Introduction: glutamate transport, metabolism, and physiological responses. Am J Phys 277:F477–F480
- Hellier J (2014) The brain, the nervous system, and their diseases. ABC-Clio, Santa Barbara
- Holopainen I, Kontro P (1989) Uptake and release of glycine in cerebellar granule cells and astrocytes in primary culture: potassium stimulated release from granule cells is calcium dependent. J Neurosci Res 24:373–383
- Holt S, Brand-Miller JC, Petocz P (1996) Interrelationship among post-prandial satiety, glucose and insulin responses and changes in susquent food intake. Eur J Clin Nutr 50:788–797
- Holten AT, Gundersen V (2008) Glutamine as a precursor for transmitter glutamate, aspartate and GABA in the cerebellum: a role for phosphate-activated glutaminase. J Neurochem 104:1032–1042
- Hosoya K, Sugawara M, Asaba H, Terasaki T (1999) Blood-brain barrier produces significant efflux of L-aspartic acid but not D-aspartic acid: in vivo evidence using the brain efflux index method. J Neurochem 73:1206–1211
- Hou YQ, Yin YL, Wu G (2015b) Dietary essentiality of "nutritionally nonessential amino acids" for animals and humans. Exp Biol Med 240:997–1007
- Hou YQ, Yao K, Yin YL, Wu G (2016b) Endogenous synthesis of amino acids limits growth, lactation and reproduction of animals. Adv Nutr 7:331–342
- Hou YQ, Wu G (2018) L-Glutamate nutrition and metabolism in swine. Amino Acids 50:1497–1510
- Hou YQ, Jia SC, Nawaratna G, Hu SD, Dahanayaka S, Bazer FW, Wu G (2015a) Analysis of L-homoarginine in biological samples by HPLC involving pre-column derivatization with *o*-phthalaldehyde and *N*-acetyl-Lcysteine. Amino Acids 47:2005–2014

- Hou YQ, Hu SD, Jia SC, Nawaratna G, Che DS, Wang FL, Bazer FW, Wu G (2016a) Whole-body synthesis of L-homoarginine in pigs and rats supplemented with L-arginine. Amino Acids 48:993–1001
- Hou YQ, He WL, Hu SD, Wu G (2019) Composition of polyamines and amino acids in plant-source foods for human consumption. Amino Acids 51:1153–1165
- Hutson SM, Lieth E, LaNoue KF (2001) Function of leucine in excitatory neurotransmitter metabolism in the central nervous system. J Nutr 131:846S–850S
- Jia SC, Li XY, Zheng SX, Wu G (2017) Amino acids are major energy substrates for tissues of hybrid striped bass and zebrafish. Amino Acids 49:2053–2063
- Jobgen WJ, Meininger CJ, Jobgen SC, Li P, Lee MJ, Smith SB, Spencer TE, Fried SK, Wu G (2009) Dietary L-arginine supplementation reduces whitefat gain and enhances skeletal muscle and brown fat masses in diet-induced obese rats. J Nutr 139:230–237
- Johnson JL, Roberts E (1984) Arginine metabolism in mouse brain synaptosomes. J Neurochem 42:1123–1126
- Jørgensen EA, Vogelsang TW, Knigge U (2006) Increased susceptibility to diet-induced obesity in histaminedeficient mice. Neuroendocrinology 83:289–294
- Joyce D, Mrosovsky N (1964) Eating, drinking and activity in rats following 5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP) administration. Psychopharmacologia 5:417–423
- Kakee A, Takanaga H, Terasaki T, Naito M, Tsuruo T, Sugiyama Y (2001) Efflux of a suppressive neurotransmitter, GABA, across the blood brain barrier. J Neurochem 79:110–118
- Kontro P, Marnela KM, Oja SS (1980) Free amino acids in the synaptosome and synaptic vesicle fractions of different bovine brain areas. Brain Res 184:129–141
- Kanamori K, Ross BD, Kondrat RW (1998) Rate of glutamate synthesis from leucine in rat brain measured in vivo by ¹⁵N NMR. J Neurochem 70:1304–1315
- Karobath M, Baldessarini RJ (1972) Formation of catechol compounds from phenylalanine and tyrosine with isolated nerve endings. Nat New Biol 236:206–208
- Kasaoka S, Tsuboyama-Kasaoka N, Kawahara Y (2004) Histidine supplementation suppresses food intake and fat accumulation in rats. Nutrition 20:991–996
- Kashiwamata S, Greenberg DM (1970) Studies on cystathionine synthase of rat liver. Properties of the highly purified enzyme. Biochim Biophys Acta 212:488–500
- Kashiwamata S, Kotake Y, Greenberg DM (1970) Studies of cystathionine synthase of rat liver: dissociation into two components by sodium dodecyl sulfate disc electrophoresis. Biochim Biophys Acta 212:501–503
- Kaufman S, Kaufman EE (1985) Tyrosine hydroxylase. In: Folates and pterins, Chemistry and biochemistry of the pterins, vol 2 (Blakley RL, Benkovic SJ eds). Wiley, New York, pp 251–352
- Kelly J, Alheid GF, Newberg A, Grossman SP (1977) GABA stimulation and blockade in the hypothalamus and midbrain: effects on feeding and locomotor activity. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 7:537–541
- Kelley AE, Baldo BA, Pratt WE (2005) A proposed hypothalamic-thalamic-striatal axis for the integration

of energy balance, arousal, and food reward. J Comp Neurol 493:72–85

- Kranich O, Hamprecht B, Dringen R (1996) Different preferences in the utilization of amino acids for glutathione synthesis in cultured neurons and astroglial cells derived from rat brain. Neurosci Left 219:211–214
- Kubo Y, Ohtsuki S, Uchida Y (2015) Quantitative determination of luminal and abluminal membrane distributions of transporters in porcine brain capillaries by plasma membrane fractionation and quantitative targeted proteomics. J Pharm Sci 104:3060–3068
- Kuriyama K, Sze PY (1971) Blood–brain barrier to H³γ-aminobutyric acid in normal and amino oxyacetic acid-treated animals. Neuropharmacology 10:103–108
- Lam DD, Garfield AS, Marston OJ, Shaw J, Heisler LK (2010) Brain serotonin system in the coordination of food intake and body weight. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 97:84–91
- Langen KJ, Hamacher K, Bauer D, Bröer S, Pauleit D, Herzog H, Floeth F, Zilles K, Coenen HH (2005) Preferred stereoselective transport of the D-isomer of cis-4-[18F]fluoro-proline at the blood–brain barrier. J Cerebral Blood Flow Metab 25:607–616
- Lee WJ, Hawkins RA, Vina JR, Peterson DR (1998) Glutamine transport by the blood-brain barrier: a possible mechanism for nitrogen removal. Am J Phys 274:1101–1107
- Le Douce J et al. (2020) Impairment of glycolysis-derived L-serine production in astrocytes contributes to cognitive deficits in Alzheimer's disease. Cell Metab 31:503–517
- Li P, Wu G (2020) Composition of amino acids and related nitrogenous nutrients in feedstuffs for animal diets. Amino Acids 52:523–542
- Leibowitz SF, Rossakis C (1978) Analysis of feeding suppression produced by perifornical hypo- thalamic injection of catecholamines, amphetamines and mazindol. Eur J Pharmacol 53:69–81
- Leibowitz SF, Rossakis C (1979) Mapping study of brain dopamine- and epinephrine-sensitive sites which cause feeding suppression in the rat. Brain Res 172:101–113
- Leitch B, Shevtsova O, Reusch K, Bergin DH, Liu P (2011) Spatial learning-induced increase in agmatine level sathippocampal CA1 synapses. Synapse 65:146–153
- Li P, Knabe DA, Kim SW, Lynch CJ, Hutson SM, Wu G (2009a) Lactating porcine mammary tissue catabolizes branched-chain amino acids for glutamine and aspartate synthesis. J Nutr 139:1502–1509
- Li XL, Bazer FW, Gao H, Jobgen W, Johnson GA, Li P, McKnight JR, Satterfield MC, Spencer TE, Wu G (2009b) Amino acids and gaseous signaling. Amino Acids 37:65–78
- Li XL, Zheng SX, Wu G (2020) Nutrition and metabolism of glutamate and glutamine in fish. Amino Acids 52:671–691
- Liang HW, Dai ZL, Ma XS, Liu N, Ji Y, Chen JQ, Zhang YC, Yang Y, Li J, Wu ZL, Wu G (2018) Dietary L-tryptophan modulates the structural and functional

composition of the intestinal microbiome in weaned piglets. Front Microbiol 9:1736

- Liu P, Collie ND, Chary S, Jing Y, Zhang H (2008) Spatial learning results in elevated agmatine levels in the rat brain. Hippocampus 18:1094–1098
- Liu P, Jing Y, Zhang H (2009) Age-related changes in arginine and its metabolites in memory-associated brain structures. Neurosci 164:611–628
- Malaterre J, Strambi C, Aouane A, Strambi A, Rougon G, Cayre M (2004) A novel role for polyamines in adult neurogenesis in rodent brain. Eur J Neurosci 20:317–330
- Mazlan M, Hamezah HS, Taridi NM, Jing Y, Liu P, Zhang H, Ngah WZW, Damanhuri HA (2017) Effects of aging and tocotrienol-rich fraction supplementation on brain arginine metabolism in rats. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2017:6019796
- McKay BE, Lado WE, Martin LJ, Galic MA, Fournier NM (2002) Learning and memory in agmatine-treated rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behavior 72:551–557
- McNeal CJ, Meininger CJ, Wilborn CD, Tekwe CD, Wu G (2018) Safety of dietary supplementation with arginine in adult humans. Amino Acids 50:1215–1229
- McTavish SFB, Cowen PJ, Sharp T (1999) Effect of a tyrosine-free amino acid mixture on regional brain catecholamine synthesis and release. Psychopharmacology 141:182–188
- Michael FS (1987) Neuropharmacology of drugs affecting food intake. Pharmacol Therap 32:145–182
- Moreno-Delgado D, Torrent A, Gómez-Ramírez J, Esch I, Blanco I, Ortiz J (2006) Constitutive activity of H₃ autoreceptors modulates histamine synthesis in rat brain through the cAMP/PKA pathway. Neuropharmacology 51:517-523
- Morens C, Bos C, Pueyo ME, Renamouzig R, Gausscercs N, Luengo C, Tome D, Gaudichon C (2003) Increasing habitual protein intake accentuates differences in postprandial dietary nitrogen utilization between protein sources in humans. J Nutr 133:2733–2740
- Nagatsu T, Levitt M, Udenfriend S (1964) Tyrosine hydroxylase: the initial step in norepinephrine biosynthesis. J Biol Chem 239:2910–2917
- Neinast M, Murashige D, Arany Z (2019) Branched chain amino acids. Annu Rev Physiol 81:139–164
- Norenberg MD, Martinez-Hernandez A (1979) Fine structural localization of glutamine synthetase in astrocytes of rat brain. Brain Res 161:303–310
- Olney JW (2003) Excitotoxicity, apoptosis and neuropsychiatric disorders. Curr Opin Pharmacol 3:101–109
- Palkovits M, Saavedra JM, Jacobowitz DM, Kizer JS, Zaborszky L, Brownstein MJ (1977) Serotonergic innervation of the forebrain: effect of lesions on serotonin and tryptophan hydroxylase levels. Brain Res 130:121–134
- Perry TL, Berry K, Hansen S, Diamond S, Mok C (1971) Regional distribution of amino acids in human brain obtained at autopsy. J Neurochem 18:513–519
- Perry TL, Sanders HD, Hansen S, Lesk D, Kloster M, Gravlin L (1972) Free amino acids and related

compounds in five regions of biopsied cat brain. J Neurochem 19:2651–2656

- Pey AL, Majtan T, Sanchez-Ruiz JM, Kraus JP (2013) Human cystathionine beta-synthase (CBS) contains two classes of binding sites for S-adenosyl-L-methionine (SAM): complex regulation of CBS activity and stability by SAM. Biochem J 449:109–121
- Pogson CI, Knowles RG, Salter M (1989) The control of aromatic amino acid catabolism and its relationship to neurotransmitter amine synthesis. Crit Rev Neurobiol 5:29–64
- Porter TG, Martin DL (1984) Evidence for feedback regulation of glutamate decarboxylase by γ- aminobutyric acid. J Neurochem 43:1464–1467
- Porter TG, Martin DL (1987) Rapid inactivation of brain glutamate decarboxylase by aspartate. J Neurochem 48:67–72
- Raevskii KS (1986) Mediator amino acids: neuropharmacological and neurochemical aspects. Moscow, Meditsina
- Rezaei R, Knabe DA, Tekwe CD, Dahanayaka S, Ficken MD, Fielder SE, Eide SJ, Lovering SL, Wu G (2013) Dietary supplementation with monosodium glutamate is safe and improves growth performance in postweaning pigs. Amino Acids 44:911–923
- Roland P, Silvana O, Eduard AS, Alfred V, Heribert M, Georg FH, Stefan K, Sven WS, Jürgen GO (2015) Understanding cerebral L-lysine metabolism: the role of L-pipecolate metabolism in Gcdh-deficient mice as a model for glutaric aciduria type I. J Inherit Metab Dis 38:265–272
- Ronnberg AL, Schwartz J-C (1969) Regional distribution of histamine in the rat brain. C R Acad Sci Hebd Seances Acad Sci D 268:2376–2379
- Rubin RA, Ordonez LA, Wurtman RJ (1974) Physiological dependence of brain methionine and S-adenosylmethionine concentrations on serum amino acid pattern. J Neurochem 1:227–231
- Rushaidhi M, Jing Y, Kennard J (2012) Aging affects L-arginine and its metabolites in memory-associated brain structures at the tissue and synaptoneurosome levels. Neuroscience 209:21–31
- Saavedra JM, Palkovits M, Brownstein MJ, Axelrod J (1974) Serotonin distribution in the nuclei of the rat hypothalamus and preoptic region. Brain Res 77:157–165
- Sase A, Dahanayaka S, Höger H, Wu G, Lubec G (2013) Changes of hippocampal β-alanine and citrulline levels parallel early and late phase of retrieval in the Morris water maze. Behav Brain Res 249:104–108
- Sato K, Yoshida S, Fujiwara K, Tada K, Tohyama M (1991) Glycine cleavage system in astrocytes. Brain Res 567:64–70
- Scheppach W, Pomare EW, Elia M, Cummings JH (1991) The contribution of the large intestine to blood acetate in man. Clin Sci 80:177–182
- Schmahmann JD, Caplan D (2006) Cognition, emotion and the cerebellum. Brain 6129:290–292

- Schousboe A (2000) Pharmacologic and functional characterization of astrocytic GABA transport: a short review. Neurochem Res 25:1241–1244
- Schutter DJ, van Honk J (2005) The cerebellum on the rise in human emotion. Cerebellum 4:290–294
- Schwartz JC, Lampart C, Rose C (1970) Properties and regional distribution of histidine decarboxylase in rat brain. J Neurochem 17:1527–1534
- Self JT, Spencer TE, Johnson GA, Hu J, Bazer FW, Wu G (2004) Glutamine synthesis in the developing porcine placenta. Biol Reprod 70:1444–1451
- Senkowska A, Ossowska K (2003) Role of metabotropic glutamate receptors in animal models of Parkinson's disease. Pol J Pharmacol 55:935–950
- Shambaugh GE, Koehler RA (1981) Fetalfuels. IV. Regulation of branched-chain amino and keto acid metabolism in fetal brain. Am J Phys 241:E200–E207
- Shambaugh GE, Koehler RA (1983) Fetal fuels VI. Metabolism of a-ketoisocaproic acid in fetal rat brain. Metabolism 32:421–427
- Shaw RK, Heine JD (1965) Ninhydrin positive substances present in different areas of normal rat brain. J Neurochem 12:151–155
- Sherif F, Oreland L (1992) Studies on gammaaminobutyrate aminotransferase (GABA-T) activities in human and rodent brain homogenates. Arch Int Physiol Biochem 100:361–367
- Shigemi K, Tomonaga S, Uotsu N, Denbow M, Furuse M (2015) Oral administration of L-serine modifies amino acid metabolism in the brain of rats. J Anim Nutr 1:1–7
- Sibson NR, Dhankhar A, Mason GF, Behar KL, Rothman DL, Shulman RG (1997) In vivo ¹³C NMR measurements of cerebral glutamine synthesis as evidence for glutamate-glutamine cycling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:2699–2704
- Singer G, Sanghvi I, Gershon S (1971) Exploration of certain behavioral patterns induced by psychoactive agents in the rat. Commun Behav Biol 6:307–312
- Smith QR (2000) Transport of glutamate and other amino acids at the blood-brain barrier. J Nutr 130(Suppl 4S):1016S–1022S
- Smith QR, Momma S, Aoyagi M, Rapoport SI (1987) Kinetics of neutral amino acid transport across the blood-brain barrier. J Neurochem 49:1651–1658
- Snyder SH (2017) A life of neurotransmitters. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 57:1–11
- Sperringer JE, Addington A, Hutson SM (2017) Branchedchain amino acids and brain metabolism. Neurochem Res 42:1697–1709
- Squire LR, Stark CE, Clark RE (2004) The medial temporal lobe. Annu Rev Neurosci 27:279–306
- Storm-Mathisen J, Ottersen OP, Fu-Long T, Gundersen V, Laake JH, Nordbø G (1986) Metabolism and transport of amino acids studied by mmunocytochemistry. Med Biol 64:127–132
- Sugrue MF, Mireylees SE (1978) Effects of mazindol on rat brain synaptosomal monoamine uptake. Biochem Pharmacol 27:1843–1847

- Takanaga H, Tokuda N, Ohtsuki S, Hosoya K, Terasaki T (2002) ATA2 is predominantly expressed as system A at the blood-brain barrier and acts as brain-toblood efflux transport for L-proline. Mol Pharmacol 61:1289–1296
- Tallan HH, Moore S, Stein WH (1958) L-cystathionine in human brain. J Biol Chem 230:707–716
- Tews JK, Rogers QR, Morris JG, Harper AE (1984a) Effect of dietary protein and GABA on food intake, growth and tissue amino acids in cats. Physiol Behav 32:301–308
- Thompson JR, Wu G (1991) The effect of ketone bodies on nitrogen metabolism in skeletal muscle. Comp Biochem Physiol 100B:209–216
- Tran PV, Chowdhury VS, Furuse M (2019) Central regulation of feeding behavior through neuropeptides and amino acids in neonatal chicks. Amino Acids 51:1129–1152
- Trujillo-Estrada L, Gomez-Arboledas A, Forner S, Martini AC, Gutierrez A, Baglietto-Vargas D, LaFerla FM (2019) Astrocytes: from the physiology to the disease. Curr Alzheimer Res 16:675–698
- Tews JK, Rogers QR, Morris JG, Harper AE (1984b) Effect of dietary protein and GABA on food intake, growth and tissue amino acids in cats. Physiol Behav 32:301–308
- Van den Berg CJ, Matheson DF, Nijemanting WC (1978) Compartimentation of amino acids in brain: the GABA glutamine-glutamate cycle. In: Fonnum F (ed) Amino acids and chemical transmitters. Plenum Press, New York, pp 709–723
- Vitvitsky V, Garg SK, Banerjee R (2011) Taurine biosynthesis by neurons and astrocytes. J Biol Chem 286:32002–32010
- Verkhratsky A, Ho MS, Zorec R, Parpura V (2019) The concept of neuroglia. Adv Exp Med Biol 1175:1–13
- von Bartheld CS, Bahney J, Herculano-Houzel S (2016) The search for true numbers of neurons and glial cells in the human brain: a review of 150 years of cell counting. J Comp Neurol 524:3865–3895
- Waagepetersen HS, Sonnewald U, Larsson OM, Schousboe A (1999) Synthesis of vesicular GABA from glutamine involves TCA cycle metabolism in neocortical neurons. J Neurosci Res 57:342–349
- Wallace HM, Fraser AV, Hughes A (2003) A perspective of polyamine metabolism. Biochem J 376:1–14
- Waxman EA, Lynch DR (2005) N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subtypes: multiple roles in excitotoxicity and neurological disease. Neuroscientist 11:37–49
- Westergaard N, Sonnewald U, Schousboe A (1995) Metabolic trafficking between neurons and astrocytes: the glutamate/glutamine cycle revisited. Dev Neurosci 17:203–211
- Wilder RM (1921) Effects of ketonuria on the course of epilepsy. Mayo Clin Bull 2:307–310

- Wilkins L (1937) Epilepsy in childhood. III results with the ketogenic diet. J Pediatr 10:341–357
- Wu G (1998) Intestinal mucosal amino acid catabolism. J Nutr 128:1249–1252
- Wu G (2013) Amino acids: biochemistry and nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Wu G et al. (2013) Dietary requirements of "nutritionally nonessential amino acids" by animals and humans. Amino Acids 44:1107–1113
- Wu G (2018) Principles of animal nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Wu G, Morris SM (1998) Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. Biochem J 336:1–17
- Wu G, Cross HR, Gehring KB, Savell JW, Arnold AN, McNeill SH (2016) Composition of free and peptidebound amino acids in beef chuck, loin, and round cuts. J Anim Sci 94:2603–2613
- Wu G (2020) Important roles of dietary taurine, creatine, carnosine, anserine and hydroxyproline in human nutrition and health. Amino Acids 52:329–360
- Yang G, Wu L, Jiang B, Yang W, Qi J et al (2008) H_2S as a physiologic vasorelaxant: hypertension in mice with deletion of cystathionine γ -lyase. Science 322:587–590
- Yoneda Y, Roberts E (1982) A new synaptosomal biosynthetic pathway of proline from ornithine and its negative feedback inhibition by proline. Brain Res 239:479–488
- Yoneda Y, Roberts E, Dietz GW Jr (1982) A new synaptosomal biosynthetic pathway of glutamate and GABA from ornithine and its negative feedback inhibition by GABA. J Neurochem 38:1686–1694
- Yoneda K, Byori R (2001) Aspartate aminotransferase (glutamic oxalacetic transaminase) and alanine aminotransferase (glutamic pyruvic transaminase). Rinsho Byori 116(Suppl):72–80
- Yoshimatsu H, Itateyama E, Kondou S (1999) Hypothalamic neuronal histamine as a target of leptin in feeding behavior. Diabetes 48:2286–2291
- Yoshimatsu H, Chiba S, Tajima D (2002) Histidine suppresses food intake through its conversion into neuronal histamine. Exp Biol Med 227:63–68
- Yudkoff M (1997) Brain metabolism of branched-chain amino acids. Glia 21:92–98
- Yudkoff M, Daikhin Y, Nissim I, Lazarow A, Nissim I (2001) Ketogenic diet, amino acid metabolism and seizure control. J Neurosci Res 66:931–940
- Yudkoff M, Daikhin Y, Nissim I, Horyn O, Luhovyy B, Lazarow A, Nissim I (2005) Brain amino acid requirements and toxicity: The example of leucine. J Nutr 135:1531S–1538S
- Zeisel SH, Wurtman RJ (1979) Dietary intake of methionine: influence on brain S-adenosylmethionine. In: Usdin E, Borchardt RT, Creveling CR (eds) Transmethylation. Elsevier/North Holland, New York, pp 59–68

Metabolism and Functions of Amino Acids in the Skin

11

F. Solano

Abstract

Amino acids are the building blocks of all proteins, including the most abundant fibrous proteins in the skin, as keratins, collagen and elastin. Sagging and wrinkled skin are features of chronic sun-damaged and aged uncared skin, and they are mainly associated with the deterioration of collagen and elastic fibers. The maintenance of skin structures by self-repair processes is essential to skin health. Thus, amino acids significantly impact the appearance of the skin. Amino acids are important nutrients required for (a) wound healing promotion and repair of the damaged skin; (b) acid-base balance and water retention in cellular layers, such as stratum corneum; (c) protection against sunlight damage; (d) maintenance of an appropriate skin microbiome. This review highlights the contribution of all proteinogenic amino acids and some related metabolites to the skin structures as constituents of the main cutaneous proteins or as signaling molecules for the regulation and determination of skin physiology.

Keywords

Amino acids · Skin · Epidermis · Dermis · Collagen · Elastin · Keratins · Melanin · Skincare

11.1 Introduction

Skin is a largest tissue in animals, with a surface of approximately 2 m² and around 4 kg in the adult human. It is a thin but wide tissue. In humans, its thickness goes from less than 1 mm on eyelids to more than 4 mm on the palms of hands and soles of feet. Skin is essential for general health as it is the first line of defense of the body against harmful external chemical, physical and biological agents in addition to other functions, such as the control of the corporal temperature. These agents include Vis-UV irradiation, chemical air pollutants, mechanical pressure, dehydration, as well as viral, bacterial and fungal infections. Skin cannot be considered just a physical barrier but it is also a dynamic tissue with its own metabolism and interactions between external and internal cells.

Anatomically, skin is a complex organ composed of two main compartments: epidermis and dermis, separated by the epidermal-dermal junction. Epidermis has several layers, and the most external one is the *stratum corneum* that constitutes an excretion system by losing old epidermal

Check for updates

F. Solano (🖂)

Department Biochemistry and Molecular Biology B and Immunology, School of Medicine, LAIB-IMIB University of Murcia, Murcia, Spain e-mail: psolano@um.es

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

G. Wu (ed.), *Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2_11



Fig. 11.1 Structure of skin. (a) Skin showing the three main parts, external epidermis, epidermal-dermal junction and dermis. Dermis contains fibroblast among extracellular matrix, with collagen and elastin as more abundant proteins; (b) Amplification of the epidermis layer showing abundant keratinocytes with some distribution of other

cell types (Merkel and dendritic Langerhans cells). Melanocytes are also dendritic cells, but mostly found in the epidermal-dermal junction; (\mathbf{c}) Detail of one melanocyte transferring melanosomes (melanin granules) to surrounding keratinocytes through its dendritic ramifications

cells with waste components. Epidermal cells are replaced about every month. The main cellular components of the epidermis are keratinocytes, and others include melanocytes, Langerhans cells, α -dendritic cells and Merkel cells (Fig. 11.1). Keratinocytes in the deepest layer of epidermis divide constantly and the new cells are pushed towards the external surface. Dermis contains fibroblasts as main cells among other components, such as blood vessels, touch and pain sensors, hair follicles, sweat and oil glands.

Keratinocytes synthesize high amounts of keratins, which are fibrous proteins providing the skin with a durable overcoat to protect from drying, mechanical damage and infection. Around 95% of epidermal proteins are keratins. Other important protein is filaggrin. Dermal fibroblasts are producers of two important proteins in the skin, collagen and elastin. Those proteins begin to decrease from age 25 in humans, and about 70% of the dry skin mass is collagen.

Keratinocytes and fibroblasts produce the essential proteins for cutaneous fibers. An unbalanced ratio of amino acids, the building blocks of proteins, will cause a reduction in protein synthesis in the skin (Li and Wu 2018). Those proteins prevent skin thinning, loss of skin elasticity and dehydration and minimize the conditions that lead to the appearance of sagging and wrinkles. Furthermore, deficit or dysfunction of these proteins lead to severe diseases, such as urticaria, xerosis, eczemas, thrush, itching and skin ulcers. In addition to internal requirements, epidermal keratinocytes need amino acids to synthesize some antimicrobial peptides to kill pathogens (Park et al. 2013), although at the same time skin provides an interface to host the epidermal commicrobiota. The metagenomic DNA mon sequencing studies in the skin microbiota has been recently focused on Propionibacterium acnes, Staphylococcus epidermidis and Staphylococcus aureus (Byrd et al. 2018). Amino acid replacement is especially important in the skin where they are lost due to shedding of stratum corneum cells. This requirement of particular amino acids is related to: (1) their relative abundancy in the sequence of main skin proteins, and (2) their forming-capacity. As it is well known, human cells cannot synthesize all the proteinogenic amino acids (Wu 2013). From this point of view, amino acids had traditionally been classified as nutritionally essential or non-essential (Hou et al. 2015). Essential amino acids cannot be formed de novo, so that they must be obtained from foods or supplements and any deficiency can result in health problems. The "non-essential" term means that the human cells can synthesize them de novo, but it does not mean that those amino acids are less important for skincare. Some of these non-essential (arginine, glycine and tyrosine) are also known as "conditionally essential" amino acids, meaning they cannot be formed sufficiently under certain conditions. The term "nutritional nonessential amino acids" is now considered as a misnomer in nutritional sciences and should no longer be used (Hou and Wu 2017).

The most common amino acids in skincare products are the 3 cationic ones (His, Lys and Arg), and 3 neutral ones that are especially abundant in collagen (Gly, Pro and Leu). Amino acids are not only needed for protein synthesis, but they play specialized roles in maintaining healthy skin. None of them can be considered as the most important one, as they are complementary to each other. For example, a combination of Lys and Arg can effectively treat certain skin injuries by accelerating would healing, while Pro and Leu can attenuate wrinkles when paired together. A mixture of four amino acids supplemented with other components are effective to decrease the time of wound healing (Corsetti et al. 2010). It should bear in mind that they act in combination with other components of the skin, including lipids (e.g., glycerin, ceramides and ω^3 fatty acids), polysaccharides (e.g., hyaluronate, vitamins D and E, and some inorganic ions such as Zn).

Thus, amino acids are active compounds used in cosmetic and therapeutic treatments for a number of skin diseases and just for hydrated and young skin maintenance. This review is devoted to amino acids and skin health. The specific roles of each of them will be described in the next paragraphs.

11.2 Histidine (His)

This amino acid has important roles in the skin. His is related to the formation of several biomolecules, not always proteins. This paragraph will be focused on a very important protein in the stratum corneum, filaggrin and a His-derivative, urocanic acid (UCA, Fig. 11.2). In fact, both molecules are correlated because filaggrin could be a reservoir of His for its transformation into UCA. Increased filaggrin expression and urocanic concentration have been found to be correlated in chronic spontaneous urticaria (Le Pharm et al. 2017). Other roles of His are related to the prevention against certain fungal infections, as the systemic candida, due to the synthesis of one antifungal histidine-rich glycoprotein that breaks the cell walls of fungal cells by specific interactions with ergosterol (Rydengård et al. 2008) or the formation of histamine in dermal mast cells, and an involvement in inflammatory and allergic responses. The formation of antimicrobial peptides or the role of histamine are out of the scope of this review.

11.2.1 Filaggrin

His plays an important role in preserving the moisture of stratum corneum. Filaggrin is one of the most important proteins specifically located in in granular keratinocytes and lower corneocytes of the stratum corneum (Hsu et al. 2011). Filaggrin aggregate with keratin intermediate filaments during terminal differentiation of mammalian epidermis and it is a component of the cornified cell envelope. Human filaggrin is synthesized as a large, insoluble, highly phosphorylated precursor containing more than 20 tandem copies around 50 residues long (P20930, www. expasy.org) especially rich in histidine, but also serine and arginine.

The stratum corneum maintains its hydration level at ~15% by retention of free amino acids that act as emollient factors (Jacobson et al. 1990; Seguchi et al. 1996; Kim et al. 2012). Many data suggest that selective proteolysis of filaggrin is the source of those amino acids. First, the composition of free amino acids in skin shows a high degree of similarity to the composition of filaggrin. Secondly, a decrease in the amount of amino acids contributes to the pathogenesis of xerotic skin conditions (Horii et al. 1989), and this is correlated with low filaggrin content in the epidermis. Thus, during terminal differentiation filaggrin acts as a natural moisturizing factor. It is phosphorylated and proteolytically cleaved by calpain-1 (Senshu et al. 1996; Hsu et al. 2011). In addition, some His and Arg residues in filaggrin undergoes deimination, so that UCA and citrulline residues appear. Thus, filaggrin can be considered the major source of His in the stratum corneum (Koyama et al. 1984), and then this amino acid could be transformed to UCA, which is an important signal of stress conditions in the skin.

11.2.2 Urocanic Acid

UCA is produced by His deamination (Fig. 11.2). Significant amounts of this metabolite are found in blood, but interestingly it is mostly concentrated in skin, particularly in the stratum corneum (Tabachnick 1957). Due to that location and its light-absorbing properties, the initial studies of this chromophore indicated that it could play a role as a physiological sunscreen, as its main UVR absorption band around 260 nm is coincident with the absorption band of the bases contained at nucleic acids. This proposal was supported with the direct evidence of the photoprotective effect of UCA (Barresi et al. 2010). However, UCA content does not correlate with the pigmentation level or the minimal erythema doses. Therefore, the other roles of UCA were proposed, such as a buffering effect to maintain the relatively acidic pH of the stratum corneum (around 5.5) that contributes to the inhibition of pathogenic bacterial and fungal growth.

The interest in UCA has been increased in recent years and its two other possible physiological roles have been proposed, involving not only the skin but other tissues. For instance, it has been detected that the His-derived isomer trans-UCA is photoisomerized to cis-UCA by exposure to UVR. Opposite to the trans-isomer, cis-UCA produces proapoptotic intracellular acidification and oxidative DNA damage, and triggers specific immunologic responses. Some authors describe immunosuppression (Kaneko et al. 2008) and others reported an IgE-mediated basophil activation (Le Pharm et al. 2017). Relative "beneficial" versus "detrimental" properties of UCA have been reported. Thus the formation of UCA in the stratum corneum is important, but its roles are complex and remain largely unknown (Gibbs and Norval 2011).

On the other hand, a novel metabolic pathway that transforms UCA to glutamate in neurons have been suggested (Zhu et al. 2018). The UV exposure of skin increases the levels of UCA, which then could be able to cross the blood-brain barrier and be transformed into glutamate by neuronal urocanase. If so, this mechanism reveals a new glutamate biosynthetic pathway that may contribute to some of the sunlight-induced neurobehavioral changes related to the ancient belief that sunlight exposure affects mood, learning, memory and cognition. The underlying mechanisms may involve diverse signaling molecules, such as melatonin, without a total satisfactory correlation (Goswami and Haldar 2015).

11.3 Lysine (Lys)

Fig. 11.2 Chemical structure of Histidine and derived molecules with relevance in the skin: histamine: trans-urocanic acid; cis-urocanic acid

Lysine is one of the essential amino acids that have been extensively studied. Its recommended daily allowance is from 41 mg per kilogram of



Trans-urocanic acid

body weight per day in adults to 89 mg/kg of body weight in children, although the estimated requirements are lower since its absorption is dependent on other nutrients in diets. Lysine is especially important for proper collagen and elastin functions. Once Lys is incorporated into skin proteins, and some post-translational modifications on the side chain make Lys residues essential for maturation of those proteins. Those modifications are catalyzed by different types of enzymes, lysyl hydroxylases and lysyl oxidases. In preprocollagen chains, some lysyl residues are intracellularly hydroxylated at the 5-carbon by vitamin-C dependent lysyl hydroxylases. Human collagen analysis shows that approximately 20% of the Lys residues are 5-hydroxylated (Veis and Anesey 1965). Subsequently some glycosyl transferases add carbohydrate moieties at the 5-hydroxy-Lysine residues. On the other hand, once the tropocollagen or proelastin are secreted to the extracellular matrix, some ε -amine groups of lysyl or 5-hydroxylysyl residues are oxidized to aminoadipic semialdehyde (also named allysine, Fig. 11.3) by lysyl oxidases (Lox), a specific type of copper amine oxidase present in the skin. The aldehyde group of al-lysine reacts with other *\varepsilon*.NH₂ groups of unaltered lysyl residues to form covalent cross-linked bonds among tropocollagen units, thereby providing tensile strength and insolubility to protein fibers. Other crosslinking reactions are possible, forming structures such as lysinonorleucine (two cross-linked chains), merodesmosine, (3 cross-linked chains) and desmosine or isodesmosine (4 cross-linked chains with the formation of a complete pyridinoline ring). Desmosine, which is much more abundant in elastin than in collagen, is primarily responsible for the elasticity and is commonly used as a marker for elastin.

It is worth to mention that Lys supplementation has been also proposed for prevention of acne and cold sore. Complex factors, such as hormone fluctuations and stress are involved in the appearance of acne. In fact, acne is the result of a combination of bacteria, oil (sebum) and dead skin cells trapped in hair follicles, clogging pores. There is no doubt that acne repair would require collagen turnover, so that adequate intakes of amino acids, along with other nutrients, may help to treat acne. However, there is no particular scientific evidence that Lys improves the lesions of this skin disorder.

Finally, unrelated of collagen production, a tripeptide containing Lys and His has been proposed as a skin moisture agent used in skincare products (Choi et al. 2012). Gly-His-Lys is a copper(II)-chelating motif occurring in some serum proteins that promotes the survival of basal



Fig. 11.3 Chemical structure of Lysine and the derivative aldehyde Al-Lysine formed by Lox action. During the process of cross-linking in collagen and elastin, the side chain of these amino acids can react to form Lysinenorleucine (1 Lys and 1 Al-Lys), Merodesmosine

(1Lys and 2 Al-Lys) or Desmosine (1 Lys and 3 Al-Lys residues forming the pyridinoline ring). Isodesmosine is similar to desmosine, but the positions of the 4 side chains are 1,2,3 and 5

stem cells in the skin and the proliferation of keratinocytes with increased expression of integrin.

11.4 Branched-Chain Amino Acids: Isoleucine, Leucine and Valine

These branched-chain amino acids are nutritionally essential for humans (Wu 2013). Formation of keratins, collagen and skin proteins is affected by the availability of these nutrients, especially for replacement of damaged collagen. However, their specific effects on the skin have been rarely studied. Amino acid mixtures consisting of branched-chain amino acids (Ile, Leu and Val) plus Arg, Gln or Pro significantly increased the synthesis of dermal collagen in hairless mice submitted to UVR irradiation (Murakami et al. 2012). The stimulatory effect does not occur when the amino acids are supplied individually, but the presence of all the three branched-chain amino acids seems to be necessary for beneficial effects (Murakami 2014). Leu has also been used for attenuation of skin wrinkles in conjunction with Gly and Pro (Kawashima et al. 2013). Beyond the general effect as building blocks of the protein, recent data suggest that deficiencies of Leu and Ile reduce collagen synthesis in skin by suppressing the action of mTOR (Yamane et al. 2018). Thus, these amino acids could be involved in regulatory mechanisms, such as autophagy or transcription.

To strength muscles for exercise, a Leu metabolite HMB (β -Hydroxy- β -methylbutyrate) has been used as a dietary supplement. This substance has been proposed to promote wound healing, and therefore it has been added to some skincare products (Williams et al. 2002; Morfino et al. 2013). However, recent studies have shown that supplementation with Gln, Arg and HMB does not have any beneficial effect in enhancing healing of open wounds in rats (Bozkirli et al. 2015). Ile has been also used as a complement component of ceramides-based emollient cream for treatment of facial atopic eczema (Puviani et al. 2014), but the precise role of this amino acid is unclear.

11.5 Phenylalanine (Phe) and Tyrosine (Tyr)

Tyr and Phe are not very abundant in collagen, elastin or keratins, so that the correlation between the supply of these amino acids and the synthesis of skin proteins has not been reported. However, these aromatic amino acids are important as precursors of melanin (Fig. 11.4). Melanin absorbs the harmful sunlight UV and thus is the main cutaneous photoprotective pigment for avoiding DNA damage and skin cancer types (Brenner and Hearing 2008; Solano 2016; Fajuyigbe et al. 2018). Phe can be converted into Tyr by phenylalanine hydroxylase. This enzyme generates Tyr from essential Phe. Of note, Phe hydroxylase is activated in human melanocytes by ROS and the oxidant conditions created after UV exposure (Schallreuter et al. 2004). Then, Tyr is further oxidizes to melanin by tyrosinase (Solano 2014). Phe hydroxylase (a tetrahydrobiopterindependent enzyme) and tyrosinase (a copper enzyme, Solano 2018) are present in melanocytes, the specialized cells for melanin synthesis



Fig. 11.4 Scheme of the melanogenesis pathway showing the role of Phenylalanine and Tyrosine as melanin precursors. Cysteine is also involved in pheomelanin formation

(Fig. 11.1). Melanogenesis takes place in a subcellular organelle of melanocytes called melanosomes (Slominski et al. 1988), and then melanosomes are transferred to keratinocytes (Serre et al. 2018). Freckles and moles are patches of skin with more melanocytes and therefore more melanin than the surrounding area.

The requirements of Phe and Tyr for melanin synthesis depends on the exposure to sunlight and the skin phototype. The amount and type of melanin determines the degree of tanning in each phototype and the skin color. Dark skin needs higher amounts of (eu)-melanin than fair skin. Fair skin contains predominantly pheomelanin, a type of melanin that is structurally different from the dark eumelanin. Pheomelanin formation needs lower amounts of Phe/Tyr but it needs Cys (Wu 2013; Solano 2014).

11.6 Tryptophan (Trp)

This is another aromatic amino acid that is not abundant in skin proteins. There are very few studies on the role of tryptophan in the skin health, but Trp is the precursor of melatonin, a hormone involved in skin protection against oxidative stress. Human skin contains all the enzymes necessary to transform Trp into melatonin, as the pineal gland does (Slomisnki et al. 2008). Absorption of sunlight in the skin, particularly UVA rays, induces the formation of photosensitizers (Wondrak et al. 2006). The endogenous chromophores in human skin serve as photosensitizers but are not well characterized. In addition to melatonin, the Trp derivative, 6-formylindolo[3,2-b]carbazole (FICZ) found in epidermal keratinocytes has been proposed as one possible UVA-photosensitizer. FICS may bind to a skin-occurring aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Syed and Mukhtar 2015), and could be formed as a consequence of spontaneous chemical damage of Trp residues in the skin proteins.

Impaired Trp transport is related to Hartnup disease. The mutated gene encoding a solute car-

rier protein is mainly expressed in the small intestine and renal tubules, causing malabsorption and neutral amino aciduria including Trp and other amino acids (Wan 2011). The Hartnup symptoms are photosensitivity and pellagra-like skin rash, suggesting that Trp deficiency affects skin integrity and function.

11.7 Sulphur-Containing Amino Acids: Methionine (Met) and Cysteine (Cys)

Oral ingestion of Met can be an endogenous source of Cys in keratins, and Cys plays an important role in the formation of the disulfide bridges present in the integumentary skin structures (Fraser et al. 1972; Miniaci et al. 2016). These sulfur-containing amino acids along with other sulfated compounds are the sources of sulfur for several functions. Adequate consumption of dietary Met and Cys is required to meet the body's requirements for the formation of skin structural polysaccharides and glycosaminoglycanes (Danzberger et al. 2018). Met can also be used as a zinc-vehicle rather than a sulfur-supplier for treating acne and inflammatory cutaneous lesions as antioxidant complexes (Sardana and Garg 2010).

11.8 Threonine (Thr)

The role of Thr in skin health has not been described in the literature. Thus, there are very few data concerning nutritional Thr requirements for the maintenance of the skin or any other tissue. Thr and Ser are appropriate amino acids for keeping the stratum corneum in a hydrated state. In proteins, Thr and Ser may be phosphorylated by a number of kinases. Several epidermal proteins must be phosphorylated for a proper structural function and control of skin metabolism.

11.9 Amino Acids that Are Synthesized in Animals (AASA)

These amino acids are synthesized de novo by humans (Wu et al. 2013), and are Arg, Gly, Pro, Ala, Ser, Asp, Glu, Gln and Asn. Tyr and Cys are formed from Phe and Met, respectively, as noted previously.

11.9.1 Arginine (Arg)

Arg can formed as an intermediate in the urea cycle in the mammalian liver, but there is no net synthesis of arginine by the liver (Wu and Morris 1998). There are no reports on the urea cycle in skin. In humans, arginine is synthesized from glutamine, glutamate and proline via the intestinalrenal axis. Arg is a conditionally essential amino acid in children and possibly in adults (Wu et al. 2009). Arg is one of the highly recommended amino acids to accelerate the wound healing of injured skin (Stechmiller et al. 2005) due to the production of nitric oxide (NO). In addition, poly-Arg has been recommended for topical application for treatment of frostbite injuries in frozen skin (Auerbach et al. 2014), although the role of this polypeptide in Arg storage in vivo has not been demonstrated.

NO is involved in the inflammatory and proliferative mechanisms of wound healing and has been proposed as an inducer of collagen synthesis in fibroblasts (Childress and Stechmiller 2002; Kim et al. 2012; Alexander and Supp 2014). However, other data indicate that Arg is not a key amino acid for skin-repairing processes. First, Arg is not contained in Vulnamin (Gly, Lys, Pro and Leu), one of the most efficient creams for skin ulcers treatment (Corsetti et al. 2010). Second, protein hydrolysates of some mollusks, such as mussels (Mytilus galloprovincialis) and hard-shell clam (Rapana venosa) are really effective in wound healing. R. venosa extracts contain higher amounts of Leu, Pro, Thr and Lys but not Arg than those of mussels, but are more efficient to reduce the time of wound (Badiu et al. 2010).

F. Solano

11.9.2 Glycine (Gly) and Proline (Pro)

Gly and Pro are by far the two most abundant amino acids in collagen, and therefore it is not surprising that they play an important role in the production of this protein (Albaugh et al. 2017). These amino acids are not only abundant constituents of collagens but also regulators of collagen synthesis (Wu et al. 2011). As collagen turnover is perhaps the most important factor to keep skin health, there is a huge amount of nutritional and dermatological studies around it. There are even some collagen-containing-creams used for topical application, although this approach is unfortunately useless as collagen cannot penetrate the skin due to its high molecular mass. Compared with meat (Wu et al. 2016), the content of both glycine and proline in plant-source foods for humans and animals is relatively low (Hou et al. 2019; Li and Wu 2020). The mean molecular mass of the tropocollagen unit is around 130 kDa, much higher than the 0.5 kDa limit for possible skin penetration (Bos and Meinardi 2000). It is much more effective for topical application mixtures of free amino acids containing Gly and Pro than collagen (Corsetti et al. 2010).

Pro, similarly to Lys, undergoes significant post-translational modifications during collagen maturation. A variable number of Pro residues in preprocollagen should be hydroxylated to 4-hydroxyproline (OHPro) by vitamin-C dependent intracellular prolyl hydroxylases (Wu et al. 2019). The HOPro residues are essential for tropocollagen stability due to the formation of hydrogen bonds inside trimers. Degradation of collagen generates OHPro, which is effectively used for glycine synthesis in mammals (including humans) (Wu et al. 2019) and is a potent antioxidant (Ji et al. 2018). Quantitative determination of collagen is difficult, but some methods have been developed for diagnosis of skin disorders based on acidic hydrolysis of a tissue sample and determination of a specific marker (Stoilov et al. 2018). Pyrrole-2-carboxylic acid derived from OH-Pro is used as a biomarker for collagen.

Due to the requirements for HOPro, the mostly used collagen-related products for skincare are short collagen-peptides obtained from partial



hydrolysis. They are mixtures of low-molecularweight short-peptides obtained from gelatins of several animal sources (Gomez-Guillen et al. 2011). These peptides are most studied than the free amino acids concerning their skin effects. Their beneficial action on human fibroblasts was described 40 years ago (Postlethwaite et al. 1978) and they are currently the most important nutrient to retard skin aging (Sibilla et al. 2015). Identification, traceability, half-life and skin effects of those peptides in human blood have been studied (Iwai et al. 2005; Zague 2008; Draelos 2010). The most effective peptides are Gln-Gly-Ala-Arg (Li et al. 2007), Gly-Pro-HOPro (Watanabe-Kamiyama et al. 2010) and Pro-HOPro (Shigemura et al. 2009). They are absorbed across intestinal brush-border membrane through peptide transporter 1 (Aito-Inoue et al. 2007) and then distributed in the human body. After oral ingestion, Pro-HOPro has a long half-life in human blood until reaching the skin. Inside fibroblasts, this dipeptide is easily hydrolyzed by intracellular prolidase to release the constituent amino acids. This enzyme plays an essential regulatory role in collagen turnover, recycling peptides derived from endogenous or exogenous collagendegradation products. Several lines of evidence suggest that prolidase activity may be a step-limiting factor of this process during wound healing (Surazynski et al. 2008).

Recently, a double-blind, randomized clinical trial using collagen peptides demonstrated a significant increase in human skin elasticity after daily oral consumption of these products (Genovese et al. 2017). The measured indicators include

human skin moisture and surface roughness Proksch et al. (2014). The skin elasticity is regulated, at least in part, by maintaining the hydration degree of the stratum corneum, presumably with the contribution of several amino acids. Another clinical trial (Kawashima et al. 2013) showed that topical treatment with a proline-derivative (1-carbamimidoyl-L-proline, Fig. 11.5) also improved skin elasticity in a number of Japanese women who crow's feet lines on their faces. had 1-Carbamimidoyl-L-proline would stabilize Pro due to the carbamimidoyl group, likely increasing the absorption of this derivative through the skin.

11.9.3 Other Amino Acids

Serine (Ser) and alanine (Ala) are moisturizing agents added to some skincare products. As for free amino acids, Ser and Ala play a general role in water retention in the stratum corneum. Ser is one of the most abundant amino acids in filaggrin, the main skin protein that helps to maintain pH and hydration at the stratum corneum (see above). Therefore, dietary sericin, a Ser-rich silk protein, has been proposed for improving skin hydration in atopic dermatitis (Kim et al. 2012).

Glutamine (Gln) has been proposed as a stimulator of collagen biosynthesis (Karna et al. 2001). Thus, this amino acid is another usual ingredient of diet supplements frequently proposed for improving wound healing because it inhibits protein breakdown (Williams et al. 2002; Morfino et al. 2013; Xi et al. 2012). High levels of Gln are needed for regulation of the acid-base balance via renal ammonia genesis in the human body. When the intake of Gln decreases, this amino acid is obtained from muscle proteins hydrolysis, but also collagen and elastin, therefore decreasing the amount of those proteins. The mechanism for Gln to stimulate collagen synthesis remains unknown. It may be related to its interconversion in glutamate (Glu) and pyrroline-5-carboxylate (P5C) or pyroglutamic acid (Fig. 11.5) that allows the interconversion of Glu into Pro. Some of these molecules show higher stimulation of collagen biosynthesis than Gln (Karna et al. 2001). P5C induces the expression of prolidase, an enzyme involved in collagen metabolism. Thus, the most likely mechanism for Gln to enhance collagen biosynthesis could involve its conversion into Pro through the intermediate P5C. In most mammals (including humans), the conversion of Gln into P5C occurs exclusively in the enterocytes of the small intestine (Wu and Morris 1998), indicating a close link between gut and skin health.

Aspartic acid (Asp) and asparagine (Asn) are not considered important amino acids for skin health. However, as excitatory neurotransmitters, excessive Asp and Glu may contribute to nociception and inflammatory pain in peripheral tissues including the skin (Omote et al. 1998). On the other hand, Asp has been proposed as an aging index. In mammals, proteins are composed of L-amino acids except for glycine which has no L or L form. However, it was observed that the skin of proteins in old adults contained some D-Asp residues that resulted from the spontaneous racemization of L-Asp residues (Ritz-Timme et al. 2003). Recently, it has been demonstrated that this is a general feature of proteins (Fujii et al. 2018). Asp racemization can be correlated with long-lived proteins, and skin proteins show a low rate of turnover. The accumulation of D-Asp residues is a feature in aging elastin, and therefore the determination of the content of this racemic mixture is useful for assessing the *in vivo* turnover and degradation of skin elastin.

As n is needed for cell growth. Deprivation of As n with the bacterial enzyme asparaginase is used to inhibit cell proliferation (Durden 2016). This approach has been used for malignant cells and it might be also applied to the treatment of cell hyperproliferation of keratinocytes, as occurring in psoriasis.

11.10 Non-protein Amino Acids: Mycosporine-Like Amino Acids

These are natural products of the secondary metabolism in organisms living in marine and sunlight environments. The mycosporine family of amino acids consists of several members, but they are not alpha-amino acids. The most studied mycosporine is palythine (Fig. 11.6), extracted from corals and sea hares (Carignan et al. 2009; Kicklighter et al. 2011). These molecules are photostable and show strong UVR-absorbing properties that have evolved for protection against the chronic sunlight exposure, although they can also play other roles as chemical cues. However, the mechanisms behind the UV absorption and its photostability are largely unknown.

Concerning these ecologic photoprotectors, recent data indicate that very low concentrations of palythine can provide a significant protection to human keratinocytes exposed to UVA irradiation (Lawrence et al. 2018). In addition, when palythine is added after UV light exposure, it behaves as a potent antioxidant, reducing oxidative stress by scavenging ROS species. Those results suggest that they have an interesting potential as natural and biocompatible alternatives to currently UVR filters to protect human epidermis.



Fig. 11.6 Chemical structure of Palythine, one of the Mycosporine-like amino acids found in marine organisms

Acknowledgments The research work of the author related to this review has been supported by funds from the University of Murcia (ACI) and some research Grants from Seneca Foundation (CARM).

References

- Aito-Inoue M, Lackeyram D, Fan MZ, Sato K, Mine Y (2007) Transport of a tripeptide, Gly-Pro-Hyp, across the porcine intestinal brush-border membrane. J Pept Sci 3:468–474. https://doi.org/10.1002/psc.870
- Albaugh VL, Mukherjee K, Barbul A (2017) Proline precursors and collagen synthesis: biochemical challenges of nutrient supplementation and wound healing. J Nutr 147(11):2011–2017
- Alexander JW, Supp DM (2014) Role of arginine and Omega-3 fatty acids in wound healing and infection. Adv Wound Care 3(11):682–690
- Auerbach LJ, DeClerk BK, Fathman CG, Gurtner GC, Auerbach PS (2014) Poly-L-arginine topical lotion tested in a mouse model for frostbite injury. Wilderness Environ Med 25(2):160–165
- Badiu DL, Luque R, Dumitrescu E, Craciun A, Dinca D (2010) Amino acids from *Mytilus galloprovincialis* (L.) and *Rapana venosa* molluscs accelerate skin wounds healing via enhancement of dermal and epidermal neoformation. Protein J 29:81–92
- Barresi C, Stremnitzer C, Mlitz V, Kezik S, Kammeyer A, Ghannadan M, Posa-Markaryan K, Seiden C, Tschachier E, Eckhart L (2010) Increased sensitivity of histidinemic mice to UVB radiation suggests a crucial role of endogenous urocanic acid in photoprotection. J Invest Dermatol 131:188–194
- Bos JD, Meinardi MM (2000) The 500 Dalton rule for the skin penetration of chemical compounds and drugs. Exp Dermatol 9:165–169
- Bozkırlı BO, Gündoğdu RH, Ersoy E, Lortlar N, Yıldırım Z, Temel H, Oduncu M, Karakaya J (2015) Pilot experimental study on the effect of arginine, glutamine, and β-Hydroxy β-Methylbutyrate on secondary wound healing. J Parenter Enter Nutr 39(5):591–597
- Brenner M, Hearing VJ (2008) The protective role of melanin against UV damage in human skin. Photochem Photobiol 84(3):539–549
- Byrd AL, Belkaid Y, Segre JA (2018) The human skin microbiome. Nature Rev Microbiol 16:143–155
- Carignan MO, Cardozo KH, Oliveira-Silva D, Colepicolo P, Carreto JI (2009) Palythine-threonine, a major novel mycosporine-like amino acid (MAA) isolated from the hermatypic coral *Pocillopora capitata*. J Photochem Photobiol B 94(3):191–200
- Childress B, Stechmiller JK (2002) Role of nitric oxide in wound healing. Biol Res Nursing 4(1):–15
- Choi HR, Kang YA, Ryoo SJ, Shin JW, Na JI, Huh CH, Park KC (2012) Stem cell recovering effect of copperfree GHK in skin. J Pept Sci 18(11):685–690
- Corsetti G, D'Antona G, Dioguardi SF, Rezzani R (2010) Topical application of dressing with amino acids

improves cutaneous wound healing in aged rats. Acta Histochem 1128(5):497–507

- Danzberger J, Donovan M, Rankl C, Zhu R, Vicic S, Baltenneck C, Enea R, Hinterdorfer P, Luengo GS (2018) Glycan distribution and density in native skin's stratum corneum. Skin Res Tech 24(3):450–458
- Draelos ZD (2010) Nutrition and enhancing youthfulappearing skin. Clin Dermatol 28:400–408
- Durden DL (2016) Asparaginase and treating diseases associated with asparagine dependence. US Patent 9,353,366, Google Patents
- Fajuyigbe D, Lwin SM, Diffey BL, Baker R, Tobin DJ, Sarkany RPE, Young AR (2018) Melanin distribution in human epidermis affords localized protection against DNA photodamage and concurs with skin cancer incidence difference in extreme phototypes. FASEB J 32(7):3700–3706
- Fraser RDB, MacRae TP, Rogers GE (1972) In: Thomas CC (ed) Keratins: their composition, structure and biosynthesis. . Springfield, Ill, pp 304
- Fujii N, Takata T, Fujii N, Aki K, Sakaue H (2018) D-Amino acids in protein: the mirror of life as a molecular index of aging. Biochip Biophys Acta 1866(7):840–847
- Genovese L, Corbo A, Sibilla S (2017) An insight into the changes in skin texture and properties following dietary intervention with a Nutricosmeceutical containing a blend of collagen bioactive peptides and antioxidants. Skin Pharmacol Physiol 30:146–158
- Gibbs NK, Norval M (2011) Urocanic acid in the skin: a mixed blessing? J Invest Dermatol 131:14–17
- Gómez-Guillén MC, Giménez B, López-Caballero ME (2011) M.P.Montero. Functional and bioactive properties of collagen and gelatin from alternative sources: a review. Food Hydrocoll 25(8):1813–1827
- Goswami S, Haldar C (2015) Melatonin as a possible antidote to UV radiation induced cutaneous damages and immune-suppression: an overview. J Photochem Photobiol B Biol 153:281–288
- Horii I, Nakayama Y, Obata M, Tagami H (1989) Stratum corneum hydration and amino acid content in xerotic skin. Br J Dermatol 121(5):587–592
- Hou YQ, Wu G (2017) Nutritionally nonessential amino acids: a misnomer in nutritional sciences. Adv Nutr 8:137–139
- Hou YQ, Yin YL, Wu G (2015) Dietary essentiality of "nutritionally nonessential amino acids" for animals and humans. Exp Biol Med 240:997–1007
- Hou YQ, He WL, Hu SD, Wu G (2019) Composition of polyamines and amino acids in plant-source foods for human consumption. Amino Acids 51:1153–1165
- Hsu CY, Henry J, Raymond AA, Mechin MC, Pendaries V, Nassar D, Hansmann B, Balica S, Burlet-Schiltz O, Schmitt AM, Takahara H, Paul C, Serre G, Simon M (2011) Deimination of human filaggrin-2 promotes its proteolysis by calpain 1. J Biol Chem 286:23222–23233
- Iwai K, Hasegawa T, Taguchi Y, Morimatsu F, Sato K, Nakamura Y, Higashi A, Kido Y, Nakabo Y, Ohtsuki K (2005) Identification of food-derived collagen pep-

tides in human blood after oral ingestion of gelatin hydrolysates. J Agric Food Chem 53:6531–6536

- Jacobson TM, Yuksel YU, Geesin JC, Gordon JS, Lane AT, Gracy RW (1990) Effects of aging and Xerosis on the amino acid composition of human skin. J Invest Dermatol 95(3):296–300
- Ji Y, Dai ZL, Sun SQ, Ma XS, Yang Y, Tso P, Wu G, Wu ZL (2018) Hydroxyproline attenuates dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice: involvement of the NF-κB signaling and oxidative stress. Mol Nutr Food Res 62:1800494
- Kaneko K, Smetana-Just U, Matsui M, Young AR, John S, Norval M, Walker SL (2008) Cis-Urocanic acid initiates gene transcription in primary human keratinocytes. J Immunol 181:217–224
- Karna E, Miltyk W, Wolczynski S, Palka J (2001) A The potential mechanism for glutamine-induced collagen biosynthesis in cultured human skin fibroblasts. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol 130:23–32
- Kawashima M, Yokose U, Hachiya A, Fujimura T, Tsukahara K, Kawada H, Kitahara T, Takema Y, Terui T, Nakagawa H (2013) Improvement of crow's feet lines by topical application of 1-carbamimidoyl-Lproline(CLP). Eur J Dermatol 23(2):195–201
- Kicklighter CE, Kamio M, Nguyen L, Germann MW, Derby CD (2011) Mycosporine-like amino acids are multifunctional molecules in sea hares and their marine community. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA 108(28):11494–11499
- Kim H, Lim YJ, Park JH, Cho Y (2012) Dietary silk protein, sericin, improves epidermal hydration with increased levels of flaggrins and free amino acids in NC/Nga mice. Br. J. Nutr. 108:1726–1735
- Koyama J, Horii I, Kawasaki K, Nakayama Y, Morikawa Y, Mitsui T, Kumagai H (1984) Free amino acids of stratum corneum as a biochemical marker to evaluate dry skin. J Soc Cosm Chem 35(4):183–195
- Lawrence KP, Gacesa R, Long PF, Young AR (2018) Molecular photoprotection of human keratinocytes in vitro by the naturally occurring mycosporinelike amino acid palythine. British J Dermatol 178(6):1353–1363
- Le Pham D, Lim KM, Joo KM, Park HS, Leung DYM, Ye YM (2017) Increased cis-to-trans urocanic acid ratio in the skin of chronic spontaneous urticaria patients. Sci Rep 7. Art. No. 1318
- Li P, Wu G (2018) Roles of dietary glycine, proline and hydroxyproline in collagen synthesis and animal growth. Amino Acids 50:29–38
- Li P, Wu G (2020) Composition of amino acids and related nitrogenous nutrients in feedstuffs for animal diets. Amino Acids 52:523–542
- Li B, Chen F, Wang X, Ji B, Wu Y (2007) Isolation and identification of antioxidative peptides from porcine collagen hydrolysate by consecutive chromatography and electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Food Chem 102:1135–1143
- Miniaci MC, Irace C, Capuozzo A, Piccolo M, Di Pascale A, Russo A, Santamaria R (2016) Cysteine prevents the reduction in keratin synthesis induced by iron

deficiency in human keratinocytes. J Cell Biochem 117(2):402-412

- Molfino A, Gioia G, Rossi Fanelli F, Muscaritoli M (2013) Beta-hydroxy-beta-methylbutyrate supplementation in health and disease: a systematic review of randomized trials. Amino Acids 45(6):1273–1292
- Murakami H (2014) Branched chain amino acid cocktails and skin. In: Nutrition and Health book series, Chapter 1, pp 263–275
- Murakami H, Shimbo K, Inoue Y, Takino Y, Kobayashi H (2012) Importance of amino acid composition to improve skin collagen protein synthesis rates in UV-irradiated mice. Amino Acids 42(6):2481–2489
- Omote K, Kawamata T, Kawamata M, Namiki A (1998) Formalin-induced release of excitatory amino acids in the skin of the rat hindpaw. Brain Res 787(1):161–164
- Park K, Lee S, Lee YM (2013) Sphingolipids and antimicrobial peptides: function and roles in atopic dermatitis. Biomol Ther (Seoul) 21(4):251–257
- Postlethwaite AE, Seyer JM, Kang AH (1978) Chemotactic attraction of human fibroblasts to type I, II, and III collagens and collagen-derived peptides. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75:871–875
- Proksch E, Segger D, Degwert J, Schunck M, Zague V, Oesser S (2014) Oral supplementation of specific collagen peptides has beneficial effects on human skin physiology: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Skin Pharmacol Physiol 27:47–55
- Puviani M, Agostinis F, Milani M (2014) Barrier repair therapy for facial atopic eczema with a non-steroidal emollient cream containing rhamnosoft, ceramides and iso-leucine. A six-case report series. Minerva Pediatr 66(4):307–311
- Ritz-Timme S, Laumeier I, Collins MJ (2003) Aspartic acid racemization: evidence for marked longevity of elastin in human skin. Br J Dermatol 149(5):951–959
- Rydengård V, Shannon O, Lundqvist K, Kacprzyk L, Chalupka A, Olsson AK, Mörgelin M, Jahnen-Dechent W, Malmsten M, Schmidtchen A (2008) Histidine-rich glycoprotein protects from systemic Candida infection. PLoS Pathog 4(8):e1000116
- Sardana K, Garg VK (2010) An observational study of methionine-bound zinc with antioxidants for mild to moderate acne vulgaris. Dermatol Ther 23(4):411–418
- Schallreuter KU, Wazira U, Kothari S, Gibbons NCJ, Moore J, Wood JM (2004) Human phenylalanine hydroxylase is activated by H₂O₂: a novel mechanism for increasing the l-tyrosine supply for melanogenesis in melanocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 322(1):88–92
- Seguchi T, Chang-Yi C, Kusuda S, Takahashi M, Aisu K, Tezuka T (1996) Decreased expression of filaggrin in atopic skin. Arch Dermatol Res 288(8):442–446
- Senshu T, Kan S, Ogawa H, Manabe M, Asaga H (1996) Preferential deimination of keratin K1 and filaggrin during the terminal differentiation of human epidermis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 225:712–719
- Serre C, Busuttil V, Botto JM (2018) Intrinsic and extrinsic regulation of human skin melanogenesis and pigmentation. Int J Cosm Sci:1–20

- Shigemura Y, Iwai K, Morimatsu F, Iwamoto T, Mori T, Oda C, Taira T, Park EY, Nakamura Y, Sato K (2009) Effect of prolyl-hydroxyproline (Pro-Hyp), a foodderived collagen peptide in human blood, on growth of fibroblasts from mouse skin. J Agric Food Chem 57:444–449
- Sibilla S, Godfrey M, Brewer S, Budh-Raja A, Genovese L (2015) An Overview of the beneficial effects of hydrolysed collagen as a nutraceutical on skin properties: Scientific background and clinical studies. Open Nutr J 8:29–42
- Slominski A, Moellmann G, Kuklinska E, Bomirski A, Pawelek J (1988) Positive regulation of melanin pigmentation by two key substrates of the melanogenic pathway, L-tyrosine and L-dopa. J Cell Sci 89:287–296
- Slominski A, Tobin DJ, Zmijewski MA, Wortsman J, Paus R (2008) Melatonin in the skin: synthesis, metabolism and functions. Trends Endocr Metab 19(1):17–24
- Solano F (2014) Melanins: skin pigments and much more—types, structural models, biological functions, and formation routes. New J Sci 498276
- Solano F (2016) Photoprotection versus photodamage: updating an old but still unsolved controversy about melanin. Polym Int 65:1276–1287
- Solano F (2018) On the metal cofactor in the Tyrosinase family. Int J Mol Sci 19(2):633
- Stechmiller JK, Childress B, Cowan L (2005) Arginine supplementation and wound healing. Nutr Clin Pract 20 (1):52–61
- Stoilov I, Starcher BC, Mecham RP, Broekelmann TJ (2018) Measurement of elastin, collagen, and total protein levels in tissues. Meth Cell Biol 143:133–146
- Surazynski A, Miltyk W, Palka J, Phang JM (2008) Prolidase-dependent regulation of collagen biosynthesis. Amino Acids 35(4):731–738
- Syed DN, Mukhtar H (2015) FICZ: a messenger of light in human skin. J Investig Dermato 135(6):1468–1701
- Tabachnick J (1957) Urocanic acid, the major acid soluble, ultraviolet-absorbing compound in guinea pig epidermis. Arch Biochem Biophys 70:295
- Veis A, Anesey J (1965) Modes of intermolecular crosslinking in mature insoluble collagen. J Biol Chem 240(10):3899–3908
- Wan P (2011) Pellagra: a review with emphasis on photosensitivity. Br J Dermatol 164(6):1188–1200
- Watanabe-Kamiyama M, Shimizu M, Kamiyama S, Taguchi Y, Sone H, Morimatsu F, Shirakawa H, Furukawa Y, Komai M (2010) Absorption and effectiveness of orally administered low molecular weight collagen hydrolysate in rats. J Agric Food Chem 58(2):835–841

- Williams JZ, Abumrad N, Barbul A (2002) Effect of a specialized amino acid mixture on human collagen deposition. Ann Surg 236(3):369–374
- Wondrak GT, Jacobson MK, Jacobson EL (2006) Endogenous UVA-photosensitizers: mediators of skin photodamage and novel targets for skin photoprotection. Photochem Photobiol Sci 5:215–237
- Wu G (2013) Amino acids: biochemistry and nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Wu G, Morris SM Jr (1998) Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. Biochem J 336:1–17
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Davis TA, Kim SW, Li P, Marc Rhoads J, Carey Satterfield M, Smith SB, Spencer TE, Yin Y (2009) Arginine metabolism and nutrition in growth, health and disease. Amino Acids 37:153–168
- Wu G, Bazer FW, Burghardt RC, Johnson GA, Kim SW, Knabe DA, Li P, Li X, McKnight JR, Satterfield MC, Spencer TE (2011) Proline and hydroxyproline metabolism: implications for animal and human nutrition. Amino Acids 40:1053–1063
- Wu G, Wu ZL, Dai ZL, Yang Y, Wang WW, Liu C, Wang B, Wang JJ, Yin Y (2013) Dietary requirements of "nutritionally nonessential amino acids" by animals and humans. Amino Acids 44:1107–1113
- Wu G, Cross HR, Gehring KB, Savell JW, Arnold AN, McNeill SH (2016) Composition of free and peptidebound amino acids in beef chuck, loin, and round cuts. J Anim Sci 94:2603–2613
- Wu ZL, Hou YQ, Dai ZL, Hu CA, Wu G (2019) Metabolism, nutrition and redox signaling of hydroxyproline. Antioxid Redox Signal 30:674–682
- Xi PB, Jiang ZY, Dai ZL, Li XL, Yao K, Zheng CT, Lin YC, Wang JJ, Wu G (2012) Regulation of protein turnover by L-glutamine in porcine intestinal epithelial cells. J Nutr Biochem 23:1012–1017
- Yamane T, Morioka Y, Kitaura Y, Iwatsuki K, Shimomura Y, Oishi Y (2018) Branched-chain amino acids regulate type I tropocollagen and type III tropocollagen syntheses via modulation of mTOR in the skin. Biosci Biotech Biochem 82(4):611–615
- Zague V (2008) A new view concerning the effects of collagen hydrolysate intake on skin properties. Arch Dermatol Res 300:479–483
- Zhu H, Wang N, Yao L, Chen Q, Zhang R, Qian J, Hou Y, Guo W, Fan S, Liu S, Zhao Q, Du F, Zuo X, Guo Y, Xu Y, Li J, Xue T, Zhong K, Song X, Huang G, Xiong W (2018) Moderate UV exposure enhances learning and memory by promoting a novel glutamate biosynthetic pathway in the brain. Cell S0092–8674(18):30507–30505



Metabolism and Functions of Amino Acids in Sense Organs

12

Guoyao Wu

Abstract

Sense organs (eyes, ears, nose, tongue, and skin) provide senses of sight, hearing, smell, taste, and touch, respectively, to aid the survival, development, learning, and adaptation of humans and other animals (including fish). Amino acids (AAs) play an important role in the growth, development, and functions of the sense organs. Recent work has identified receptor-mediated mechanisms responsible for the chemosensory transduction of five basic taste qualities (sweet, sour, bitter, umami and salty tastes). Abnormal metabolism of AAs result in a structural deformity of tissues and their dysfunction. To date, there is a large database for AA metabolism in the eye and skin under normal (e.g., developmental changes and physiological responses) and pathological (e.g., nutritional and metabolic diseases, nutrient deficiency, infections, and cancer) conditions. Important metabolites of AAs include nitric oxide and polyamines (from arginine), melanin and dopamine (from phenylalanine and tyrosine), and serotonin and melatonin (from tryptophan) in both the eye and the skin; y-aminobutyrate (from glutamate) in the retina; and urocanic acid and his-

G. Wu (🖂)

Department of Animal Science, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA e-mail: g-wu@tamu.edu tamine (from histidine) in the skin. At present, relatively little is known about the synthesis or catabolism of AAs in the ears, nose, and tongue. Future research should be directed to: (1) address this issue with regard to healthy ageing, nasal and sinus cancer, the regulation of food intake, and oral cavity health; and (2) understand how prenatal and postnatal nutrition and environmental pollution affect the growth, development and health of the sense organs, as well as their expression of genes (including epigenetics) and proteins in humans and other animals.

Keywords

Amino acids · Health · Metabolism · Neurotransmitters · Receptors · Sensing

12.1 Introduction

A sense is a physiological response of the body to an external or internal stimulus, such as light, sound, odor, food, or touch. Humans and other animals have five sense organs (eyes, ears, nose, tongue, and skin) that possess sensory capabilities. They provide senses of sight, hearing, smell, taste, and physical contact, respectively, to aid the survival, development, learning, and adaptation of the organisms. Taste receptors for bitter,

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

G. Wu (ed.), Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2_12

sweet and umami stimuli are G-protein-coupled receptors, taste receptors for sour and salty substances are H⁺ and Na⁺ ion channels, respectively (Lu and Wu 2016; Ye et al. 2015). Sense organs transmit information to the brain for integration and interpretation through the actions of neurotransmitters. The latter are either amino acids (AAs; e.g., glutamate, aspartate, and glycine) or their metabolites [e.g., nitric oxide (NO), γ -aminobutyrate (GABA), and serotonin; Fernstrom 2013). Sensory capacities differ among animal species and individuals due to different genomes and epigenetic alterations. AAs are necessary for the metabolism (e.g., protein synthesis) and functions of cells in sense organs. In those organs, the syntheses and catabolism of AAs are cell-, tissue-, and species-specific (Table 12.1). Abnormalities in the syntheses, catabolism, or dietary intake of AAs can disturb the homeostasis of sense organs and result in diseases (Wu 2020a). Recent advances in this field are highlighted in the current review.

12.2 Metabolism and Functions of AAs in Eyes

The retina is a thin layer of tissue that lines the inner surface of the back of the eyeball and is located near the optic nerve. This tissue consists of photoreceptor cells (rods and cones), as well as glial and neuronal cells to convert light energy into electrical impulses for initiating the vision process. AAs are essential for retinal maturation,

	Synthesis of AAs					Catabolism of AAs				
AA	Eye	Ear	Nose	Tongue	Skin	Eye	Ear	Nose	Tongue	Skin
Alanine	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Arginine ^a	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Aspartate	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Asparagine	+	?	?	?	+	+	?	?	?	+
Cysteine ^b	-	-	-	-	-	?	?	?	?	?
Glutamate	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Glutamine	+	?	+	?	+	+	?	?	?	+
Glycine ^c	+	?	?	?	+	+	?	?	?	+
Histidine	-	_	_	_	-	?	?	?	?	+
Isoleucine	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+
Leucine	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+
Lysine	-	_	-	-	-	?	?	?	?	+
Methionine ^d	-	_	_	-	-	?	?	?	?	+
Phenylalanine	-	_	_	_	-	?	?	?	?	+
Proline	?	?	?	?	+	?	?	?	?	+
OH-Proline	+	+	+	+	+	?	?	?	?	+
Serine	?	?	?	?	+	+	?	?	?	+
Threonine	-	-	_	-	-	?	?	?	?	?
Tryptophan	-	_	_	-	-	+	?	?	?	+
Tyrosine	?	?	?	?	+	?	?	?	?	+
Valine	-	_	_	_	_	+	+	+	+	+

Table 12.1 Syntheses and catabolism of amino acids (AA) in sense organs

"?" denotes the lack of data, "+" denotes the presence of the metabolic pathway; "-" denotes the lack of synthesis of an amino acid from precursors other than its α -ketoacid

^aSynthesis of L-arginine from L-citrulline via argininosuccinate synthase and lyase, and catabolism of L-arginine via arginase and nitric oxide synthase

^bCys may be used for the synthesis of glutathione or conjugation with some biochemicals

^cSynthesis of glycine from 4-hydroxyproline and serine in the skin, and catabolism of glycine via either conversion into serine by serine hydroxymethyltransferase or oxidative decarboxylation by the glycine cleavage system

^dPartial catabolism of L-methionine by S-adenosylmethionine synthase to form S-adenosylmethionine

function. survival. and neurotransmission (Kalloniatis et al. 2013). There are reports on the syntheses of glutamate, glutamine, serine, glycine, alanine, aspartate, ornithine, and arginine, as well as the catabolism of those AAs, branched-chain AAs (BCAAs) and aromatic AAs, in the retinas of animals (see the sections below). However, little is known about the metabolism of other AAs in the retina. Many ocular diseases, including ischemia, retinal detachment, and retinal degeneration retinopathy, are associated with changes in concentrations of AAs in the retina (François 1972; Ripps and Shen 2012). Thus, AAs are essential for the health of the eyes and abnormal AA metabolism contributes to the dysfunction of this organ.

12.2.1 Metabolism of the Glutamate Family of AAs

Glutamate (the major excitatory neurotransmitter) is present in almost all retinal cells (including photoreceptor, bipolar, and ganglion cells) except for glial (Müller) cells that are virtually devoid of glutamate due to its active conversion into glutamine by glutamine synthetase (Pulido et al. 2007; Nivison-Smith et al. 2014). Both ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptors are dispersed throughout the retina (Brandstätter et al. 1998). Krebs (1935) discovered that the retinas of animals (cattle, pigs, rats, sheep, pigeons, domestic fowl, tortoises, and trout) synthesize glutamine from glutamate and ammonia, while enzymatically hydrolyzing glutamine into glutamate and ammonia. In this tissue, glutamate is also decarboxylated by glutamate decarboxylase (a cytosolic enzyme) to generate GABA (a major inhibitory neurotransmitter), which is localized in GABAergic and other amacrine cells. There is cell-specific metabolism of glutamine and glutamate in the retina, where glia cells synthesize glutamine from glutamate plus ammonia and then release glutamine. In contrast, photoreceptor cells of the retina take up glutamine and hydrolyze it into glutamate. The photoreceptor cells release the newly synthesized glutamate in exchange for the entry of cysteine (a precursor of glutathione) via the glutamate-cystine transporter (Xc⁻) for glutathione and protein syntheses. These cells can also metabolize glutamate via its transamination with oxaloacetate and pyruvate to form aspartate (an excitatory neurotransmitter) and alanine, respectively, in response to physiological needs. Thus, there is an intercellular glutamine-glutamate cycle in the retina. In this tissue, asparagine synthetase converts aspartate and glutamine into asparagine and α -ketoglutaramate, with the latter being metabolized to ammonia and α -ketoglutarate by ω -amidase (Wu 2013).

The metabolism of glutamine and glutamate is necessary to maintain the retina in the healthy state. This view is supported by several lines of evidence. First, inhibiting glutamine synthesis through intravitreal injections of methionine sulfoximine alters the concentrations of AAs in the retina and causes retinal dysfunction (Bui et al. 2009). Second, oral administration of Vigabatrin (a synthetic γ -AA that is an inhibitor of GABA transaminase, a mitochondrial enzyme) to inhibit GABA degradation results in permanent peripheral visual field deficits, retinal electrophysiological changes, and other visual disturbances (Hilton et al. 2004). Third, the glutamate recycling is important for photoreceptor-to-bipolar cell neurotransmission in vivo (Bui et al. 2009). Fourth, glutathione protects the eyes from oxidative damage, and a deficiency of intracellular glutathione in the lens, cornea, retina and other tissues of the eyes is associated with ageing, cataract, diabetes, irradiation, and the administration of some drugs (Ganea and Harding 2006).

12.2.2 Metabolism of Serine and Glycine

Recent years have witnessed growing interest in the metabolism and function of serine in the retina, where this AA is synthesized from 3-phosphoglycerate (an intermediate of glucose metabolism via glycolysis) and glutamate (the donor of the amino group) (Gantner et al. 2019). Serine is converted into glycine by serine hydroxymethyltransferase that is present in both the cytosol and mitochondria. Glycine is used for the syntheses of glutathione and purines, while serving as a major inhibitory neurotransmitter. Glutathione is a potent antioxidant and plays an important role in cellular redox signaling (Wu et al. 2004), whereas purines, such as cGMP, ATP and hypoxanthine, are required for phototransduction. In addition, serine is a substrate for the generation of glycerophospholipids, sphingosine, and ceramide (Wu 2018), which regulate the proliferation, survival, migration, neovascularization, inflammation and apoptosis of retinal cells (Simón et al. 2019). Results of genome-wide analyses indicate that key enzymes in pathways for serine and glycine metabolism have common variants associated with macular telangiectasia type 2, which is a neurovascular degenerative retinal disease (Scerri et al. 2017). Of particular note, emerging evidence from studies with humans shows that de no synthesis of serine is insufficient for the health of eyes, and an adequate amount of this AA must be provided to both children and adults to protect the retina from damage. For example, when serine is sufficient, serine palmitoyltransferase condenses serine and palmitoyl-CoA into 3-ketodihydrosphingosine, which is a precursor of sphinganine. However, when serine is deficient or a variant of serine palmitoyltransferase is expressed, this enzyme uses alanine as a substrate in addition to palmitoyl-CoA to produce 1-deoxysphinganine. The latter is highly toxic to photoreceptor cells and causes their death, resulting in retinal and peripheral neuropathies (Gantner et al. 2019).

Serine + Palmitoyl – CoA (Serine Palmitoyltransferase) -----> 3 – Ketodihydrosphingosine -----> Sphinganine

Alanine + Palmitoyl – CoA (Low Serine or Variant Enzyme) -----> 1 – Deoxysphinganine -----> Deoxysphinganine

12.2.3 Metabolism of Arginine, Proline and Ornithine

Arginine is degraded via arginase II (a mitochondrial enzyme) and NO synthase (a cytosolic enzyme) pathways in the retina. As in many extrahepatic tissues, arginase I (a cytosolic enzyme) is not expressed in either the retina or the cornea (Koshiyama et al. 2000). Arginase hydrolyzes arginine into ornithine and urea, whereas NO synthase [NOS, a tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4)- and NADPH-dependent enzyme) oxidizes arginine to generate NO and citrulline (Wu and Morris 1998). The latter is recycled into arginine by argininosuccinate synthase (requiring aspartate as a co-substrate) and argininosuccinate lyase in the retina and cornea. The argininederived ornithine is further metabolized to pyrroline-5-carboxylate (P5C) and putrescine, respectively, by ornithine aminotransferase and ornithine decarboxylase, which are expressed in both the retina and the cornea. P5C is converted into proline (required for collagen synthesis) by P5C reductase, and putrescine is sequentially converted into spermidine and spermine by spermidine synthase and spermine synthase. In addition, human retinal pigment epithelial cells can oxidize proline via proline oxidase to form P5C and then ornithine (Chao et al. 2017). Because arginase and NOS compete for the common substrate (i.e., arginine), a change in arginase activity can affect the rate of NO synthesis by cells in the eyes. Inflammatory cytokines induce the expression of these two enzymes to favor arginine utilization for polyamine and NO syntheses, whereas glucocorticoids enhance the expression of arginase but inhibits the expression of inducible NOS to reduce NO production. Furthermore, the uptake of arginine by the retina is upregulated by the photic stimulus to augment the provision of arginine to the retina (Sáenz et al. 2002).

Arginine metabolism is altered under a variety of pathological conditions, such as diabetes and an inborn deficiency of arginase or ornithine aminotransferase. For example, the retina from streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (8 days and 4 months after the onset of diabetes) exhibited increases in both arginine uptake and total NOS activity, compared with normal (nondiabetic) rats (do Carmo et al. 1998). Because the activities of both arginase II and ornithine aminotransferase are enhanced in the retina of diabetic rats (Patel et al. 2013), the concentrations of arginine and ornithine in this tissue are decreased compared with normal rats (do Carmo et al. 1998). There is evidence that a deficiency of NO contributes to the development of diabetic retinopathy, a microvascular complication that is the leading cause of blindness in affected subjects (Patel et al. 2013). Oral administration of arginine to rats with type-I diabetes mellitus ameliorates retinal retinopathy (Savitskyi et al. 2017). Based on the finding that an intravenous infusion of arginine (1 g/min for 30 min) into healthy adults increases retinal and choroidal blood flow (Garhöfer et al. 2005), dietary supplementation with arginine may be effective in treating ocular diseases associated with endothelial dysfunction in diabetes or glaucoma.

Hyperornithinemia is harmful to the retina and results in the gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina in humans (Kaiser-Kupfer et al. 1991). This is an autosomal recessive, chorioretinal dystrophy that begins in childhood and leads to blindness in the fourth to seventh decade of life. The primary defect is a deficiency of ornithine aminotransferase, which impairs the degradation of ornithine and causes the accumulation of ornithine. This disease also occurs in the gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina animals with hyperornithinemia due to a deficiency of ornithine aminotransferase (Wang et al. 1995). Thus, correction of ornithine accumulation prevents retinal degeneration in a mouse model of gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina (Wang et al. 2000). In clinical medicine, long-term (1.5 year) feeding of a diet containing 10-20 g of protein plus adequate amounts of nutritionally essential AAs can maintain plasma ornithine at 55-355 µM, inhibit chorioretinal degeneration, and improve vision in patients with a deficiency of ornithine aminotransferase (Valle et al. 1980). Similarly, long-term (5-7 years) reduction in plasma ornithine concentration through the restriction of dietary arginine intake slows retinal degeneration in children with an inborn deficiency of ornithine aminotransferase and gyrate atrophy (Kaiser-Kupfer et al. 1991).

12.2.4 Metabolism and Function of Taurine

Taurine (a β -AA) is synthesized in the liver of humans and most of other animals (Wu 2020b). This AA is neither synthesized nor degraded in

the retina and cornea. These tissues take up taurine from the arterial blood so that its retinal concentration can be 20-35 mM. Taurine plays an important role in the regulation of osmolality, cell volume, muscular function, neurological activity, antioxidant defense, immune response, as well as the stabilization of proteins and lipids. In addition, through the formation of taurinechloramine, taurine contributes to immunomodulation in the body. Furthermore, taurine participates in the production of rod photoreceptors during development through interactions with glycine receptors and GABA receptors (Ripps and Sen 2012). Thus, a deficiency of dietary taurine results in retinal degeneration in cats (Hayes et al. 1975) and children (Geggel et al. 1985) that can be corrected with taurine supplementation. Interestingly, taurine depletion in the plasma and retina contributes to the retinal toxicity of Vigabatrin (an antiepileptic drug that may inhibit hepatic taurine synthesis) in humans that is characterized by cone damage and the loss of retinal ganglion cells (Krauss 2009). Results of animal studies have shown that Vigabatrin causes abnormalities of the photopic cone system, including marked gliosis and disorganization in the peripheral retina as well as smaller photoreceptor losses in central cone segments (Duboc et al. 2004). Taurine supplementation can reduce the retinal lesions in Vigabatrin-treated rats and mice (Jammoul et al. 2008).

12.2.5 Metabolism of BCAAs

Branched-chain AAs (BCAAs) are degraded in the retina via BCAA transaminase (present in both the cytosol and mitochondria) and branchedchain α -ketoacid (BCKA) dehydrogenase, a mitochondrial enzyme (Frayser and Buse 1978). The BCAA-derived glutamate and aspartate likely contribute to neurotransmission and the inter-cellular glutamine-glutamate cycle in the retina. Interestingly, the concentrations of BCAAs in the plasma and retinas of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats are elevated due to increases in both whole-body protein breakdown and the retinal uptake of BCAAs, although the rates of retinal BCAA catabolism are greater in diabetic animals, compared with the normal (nondiabetic) ones (Frayser and Buse 1978). It is unknown whether glutamate production contributes to retinal dysfunction in diabetic subjects.

Glycolysis is the exclusive source of energy for the retina (Wu 2018). There are reports that in nondiabetic subjects, BCAAs help to maintain the integrity and function of the retina by promoting glycolysis for ATP production (Hasegawa et al. 2018). The underlying mechanisms are unknown. These authors demonstrated that administration of BCAAs to mouse models of retinitis pigmentosa and glaucoma maintained adequate ATP concentrations in the retinal cells and attenuated retinal degeneration. This finding is novel and important, as retinitis pigmentosa and the more common glaucoma are leading causes of blindness worldwide (Bourne et al. 2013).

12.2.6 Metabolism and Function of Aromatic AAs

Studies with several species (e.g., cattle, chicks, rabbits and rhesus monkeys) have revealed that aromatic AAs (phenylalanine, tyrosine and tryptophan) can be catabolized in the intact retina. Physiologically important products of the phenylalanine and tyrosine catabolism in the dopaminergic, interplexiform amacrine cells of the retina include melanin and dopamine (Witkovsky and Dearry 1991; Gustincich et al. 1997), whereas those generated from tryptophan in the photoreceptor cells of the retina include serotonin and melatonin (Chanut et al. 2002; Tosini et al. 2012). Note that dopamine, serotonin and melatonin are neurotransmitters in the retina. The pathways for the degradation of aromatic AA are initiated by specific aromatic AA decarboxylases, such as phenylalanine hydroxylase for phenylalanine, tyrosine hydroxylase for tyrosine, and tryptophan hydroxylase for tryptophan (Parkinson et al. 1981; Fernstrom et al. 1989; Iuvone et al. 2000). Intravitreal administration of α -fluoromethyldopa (an irreversible mechanism-based inactivator of aromatic AA decarboxylase) rapidly reduces the concentrations of dopamine in the retinas of chickens and rabbits (Parkinson et al. 1981). Amacrine neurons generate serotonin, dopaminergic amacrine cells synthesize dopamine in the retina, and photoreceptor cells produce melatonin at high levels in the darkness (e.g., during the night) and lower levels in response to light (e.g., during the day). Dopamine receptors (D1 and D2) are distributed throughout the retina, and melatonin receptors (MT_1 and MT_2) are expressed in the retina (all layers of the neural retina and in the retinal pigmented epithelium) (Tosini et al. 2012). There is diverse expression of serotonin (5-HT) receptors in the mammalian retina (Popova and Kupenova 2017). Specifically, 5-HT1a is localized in photoreceptor cells, ganglions cells, and a population of cells in the inner nuclear layer, 5-HT5a is restricted to ganglion cells, and 5-HT1b is predominantly in the outer plexiform layer. Retinal dopamine, serotonin and melatonin are involved in neuromodulation as well as the survival and vision function of photoreceptor cells (Witkovsky 2004; Masson 2019). In addition, melatonin acts directly on ocular structures (the retina, ciliary body, lens and cornea) to mediate a variety of diurnal rhythms (including photoreceptor disc shedding, neuronal sensitivity, and intraocular pressure control) and physiological processes within the eye (Ostrin 2019). Thus, the metabolism of aromatic AAs in the retina is essential to the eye function.

12.3 Metabolism and Functions of AAs in the Nose

In humans and other vertebrates, the nose is the primary organ of smell and is also the entrance to the respiratory tract. This organ consists of the olfactory epithelium, which is a specialized epithellial tissue inside the nasal cavity that contains olfactory receptor cells (neurons). Olfactory receptors (also known as odorant receptors; members of the class A rhodopsin-like family of G protein-coupled receptors) are expressed in the plasma membrane of olfactory receptor cells, and are responsible for the detection of odorants that give rise to the sense of smell (Fleischer et al. 2009). Activated olfactory receptors trigger nerve impulses, which transmit information about odor to the central nervous system (brain). At present, little is known about AA metabolism in the nose. Chemuturi and Donovan (2006) reported that the nasal mucosa can metabolize dopamine via monoamine oxidase to form dihydroxyphenylacetic acid.

Extensive studies have shown that fish can sense the smell of AAs dissolved in water (Caprio 1978; Schiffman et al. 1981; Caprio and Byrd 1984). For example, in channel catfish, AAs (10– 100 µM) act as ligands for olfactory receptors with high affinity and specificity. Interestingly, these receptors contain independent binding sites for acidic AAs (aspartate and glutamate); basic AAs (arginine and lysine); glutamine and small neutral AAs (glycine, alanine, serine, and possibly cysteine); and large neutral AAs (methionine, 3 BCAAs, and phenylalanine) and possibly cysteine (Caprio and Byrd 1984). Hammerhead sharks, which possess an expanded head and the enlarged olfactory epithelium, have a welldeveloped olfactory system. Work with hammerhead sharks (large carnivorous fish that have an enlarged olfactory epithelium) indicates that micromolar concentrations of cysteine evoke the greatest electro-olfactogram response among all 20 proteinogenic AAs (Tricas et al. 2009). In these aquatic animals, olfactory thresholds for detection differ among AAs: alanine (92 pM), cysteine (835 pM), aspartate (63.7 nM), methionine (13.6 nM), serine (216 nM), and proline $(3.28 \ \mu M)$. These thresholds values for hammerhead shark are comparable or lower than those reported for other teleost and elasmobranch species (Tricas et al. 2009). Likewise, in humans, AAs contribute to the flavor of food by serving not only as taste stimuli (via a G-protein-coupled sensing mechanism) but also as olfactory stimuli (via ortho- or retronasal smell) (Laska 2014). In adult men and women, olfactory thresholds for AA detection are 10 µM for D-methionine and 80 µM for L-methionine; 220 µM for D-cysteine and 200 µM for L-cysteine; 75 µM for D-proline and 100 µM for L-proline (Laska 2014). Thus, the sensitivity of the nose to AAs varies greatly among animal species.

Some microbial metabolites, such as dimethylamine and trimethylamine with a strong odor), stimulate the olfactory bulb of fish and, therefore, are used as feed attractants (Harada 1985). Intestinal bacteria converts dietary choline, betaine and carnitine into dimethylamine and trimethylamine, which is subsequently metabolized into trimethylamine-N-oxide (an odorless substance) in the liver (Messenger et al. 2013). The presence of dimethylamine and trimethylamine in fishmeal contributes to the preference of fish for this high-protein feedstuff. Similarly, in humans, excessive production of trimethylamine due to increases in dietary protein intake as well as the number and activity gastrointestinal bacteria, along with a reduced ability to break down trimethylamine in the body, can result in fish odor (Mackay et al. 2011). Of note, trimethylaminuria (also known as fish odor syndrome) occurs in humans with mutations in the FMO3 gene (Treacy et al. 1998). This gene encodes for a hepatic enzyme named flavin-containing monooxygenase 3, which catalyzes the N-oxygenation of dietary or bacterial trimethylamine into trimethylamine N-oxide. A defect of this enzyme causes the accumulation of trimethylamine in the sweat, urine, and breath of affected individuals, giving rise to a strong fishy odor in humans.

12.4 Metabolism and Functions of AAs in the Tongue

The tongue is the muscular organ within the cavity of the vertebrate mouth and is almost completely covered by a mucosa. Much of the tongue's surface is covered by taste buds housed in numerous lingual papillae. Taste receptor cells are located on the taste buds of the tongue and connect with nerves that detect and transmit taste signals to the brain, giving rise to five distinct tastes (sweet, sour, bitter, salty, and umami). At present, little is known about AA metabolism in the tongue. However, there are reports that some AA metabolites in the tongue and the oral cavity, such as hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) and methyl mercaptan (methanethiol, CH₃-SH), are the sources of bad breath in humans (Porter and Scully 2006). Furthermore, a dietary deficiency of isoleucine, leucine or phenylalanine causes a deformity of the tongue (i.e., the folding-back of the tip of the tongue) in chicks (Grau 1945) and young turkeys (Bragg 1953), indicating an important role for these AAs in the development of the tongue.

12.4.1 Tastes of AAs

Different AAs confer different tastes (Table 12.2). Generally speaking, small AAs [except for small sulfur AA (taurine and cysteine)] and β -alanine

Table 12.2 Tastes of amino acids in humans

Taste	Amino acids			
Sweet	L-Alanine ^a , γ-aminobutyrate, L-citrulline ^a , glycine, L-4-hydroxyproline ^a , L-proline ^a , L-serine ^a , L-threonine ^a ;			
	D-Alanine; D-asparagine, D-glutamine, D-histidine, D-isoleucine, D-leucine, D-methionine, D-phenylalanine, D-serine, D-threonine, D-tryptophan, D-tyrosine, D-valine			
Sour	L-Aspartate (with a slight Umami flavor), L-cysteine-HCl, L-glutamic acid-HCl;			
	D-Aspartate ^b , D-aspartic acid, D-cysteine, D-glutamic acid, D-histidine-HCl ^b			
Bitter	L-Arginine (a characteristically unpleasant taste), L-glutamate monoammonium, L-isoleucine ^c , L-phenylalanine ^c , L-lysine ^c , L-histidine-HCl ^c (slightly bitter after an initial sour taste), L-valine ^a (bitter after an initial slightly sweet taste); D-Arginine, D-cysteine, D-4- hydroxyproline, D-lysine, D-lysine-HCl, D-proline			
Umami ^d	L-Glutamate (e.g., L-monosodium glutamate and monopotassium glutamate), glutamic acid			
Flat ^e	β-Alanine, L-cystine, L-methionine, L-tyrosine, D-Cystine;			
	L-Asparagine (flat to slightly sweet), L-glutamine (flat to slightly sweet and meaty), D-glutamate (almost tasteless), taurine (flat to very slightly sour);			
Flat ^e to SB	L-Cysteine, L-histidine, L-leucine,			
SCT	L-Arginine-HCl, L-lysine, L-ornithine-HCl			

^aSlightly sweet

^bComplex with sour and slightly bitter tastes

°Slightly bitter

dMeaty, broth-like, or savory taste

^eFlat (lacking tastiness or flavor; tasteless) to slightly bitter *SB* slightly bitter, *SCT* slight characteristic tastes. Each of these three amino acids have different characteristic tastes

confer sweet taste, whereas most of the large L-AAs are bitter tastants. Many large D-AAs (including D-leucine and D-tryptophan except for D-lysine, D-proline and D-4-hydroxyproline), and some small D-AAs (including D-alanine and D-serine except for D-cysteine and D-threonine) have sweet taste. D-Arginine, D-lysine, D-cysteine, D-proline and D-4-hydroxyproline have a bitter taste, whereas β -alanine, L-cystine, L-methionine, and L-tyrosine are flat (lacking flavor) (Schiffman et al. 1981; Birch and Kemp 1989; Bachmanov et al. 2016). The taste of an AA may differ among animal species. For example, pigs (Hu et al. 2015) and rats (Tsubuku et al. 2004) tolerate very well crystalline L-arginine (in either the base or HCl form) supplemented into their pellet diets, but humans are very sensitive to the unpleasant taste of the L-arginine base and would not consume any unencapsulated crystalline L-arginine or its solution. Thus, when L-arginine-HCl (with a slight characteristic taste) is orally administered to humans, it is usually dissolved in a lemon-based solution to induce palatability (McNeal et al. 2018).

12.4.2 Taste Receptors in the Plasma Membrane of Taste Receptor Cells

Taste cells express different taste receptors (transmembrane proteins) for different tastants. The gene *Tas2R* encodes for bitter receptor proteins, whereas the gene *Tas1R* encodes for sweet and umami receptor proteins (Jaggupilli et al. 2016); The latter have three subunits, Tas1R1, Tas1R2, and Tas1R3. Taste receptors for bitter, sweet, and umami tastants are all transmembrane G protein–coupled receptors that are composed of a GTP-binding α subunit and $\beta\gamma$ -subunit (Banik et al. 2019). The G-protein's α -subunit (α -gustducin) is expressed in taste buds of all taste papillae (circumvallate, foliate and fungiform) (Lee and Owyang 2017). As noted previously, sour and salty taste receptors are H⁺ and Na⁺ channels, respectively.

Bitter receptors are Tas2Rs (or T2Rs) belong to the taste receptor family 2 proteins and are composed of about 30 members (Matsunami et al. 2000). They were originally identified in type II taste receptor cells in the taste bud of the tongue (Chandrashekar et al. 2000, 2006; Shi et al. 2003), where they initiate bitter taste perception. Subsequent work has shown that T2Rs are expressed widely in many organs and cell types, including the intestinal, respiratory, genitourinary, central nervous, and immune systems, to mediate both tasting and nontasting responses of the organisms to bitter tastants (Jaggupilli et al. 2016).

Sweet taste receptors are heterodimers of taste 1 receptor member 2 (Tas1R2 or T1R2) and taste 1 receptor member 3 (Tas1R3 or T1R3; Li et al. 2002), and are present in many organs, including the gastrointestinal tract as well as the hypothalamus (Lee and Owyang 2017). Note that two T1R3 molecules can form a homodimeric lowaffinity sweet taste receptor (T1R3-T1R3) (Zhao et al. 2003). Sweet taste receptors can be activated by such ligands as sugars (fructose, glucose, maltose and sucrose), artificial sweeteners [e.g., aspartame (L-aspartyl-L-phenylalanine), cyclamate and saccharin], as well as sweettasting AAs and proteins (e.g., brazzein, monellin and thaumatin).

Three known umami (meaty, broth-like, or savory taste) substances are glutamate, 5'-inosine monophosphate, and 5'-guanosine monophosphate 2009). (Kurihara Umami receptors (Tas1R1 + Tas1R3, mGluR4, and mGluR1) have been identified over the past 20 years. Tas1Rs include Tas1R1 and Tas1R3 and are the family C of transmembrane G protein-coupled receptors, as noted previously. These receptors have three regions: the large extracellular region, the sevenspanning transmembrane region, and the cytoplasmic region (Muto et al. 2007). A synergism exists between glutamate and 5'-nucleotides to enhance the response of taste cell receptors to glutamate (Kurihara 2009; San Gabriel et al. 2005, 2009). In humans and rats, the response of the taste cell receptors to a mixture of L-glutamate plus 5'-inosinate is approximately 8 and 1.7 times, respectively, greater than that to glutamate alone (Kurihara 2009). Mammalian milk contains not only abundant L-glutamate but also 5'-inosinate (Rezaei et al. 2016; Wu and Knabe 1994), and these nutrients are also present in the lumen of the small intestine as shown for AAs in Table 12.3. This explains why human infants and livestock neonates enjoy the consumption of their mothers' milk.

Sour taste is initiated by protons (H⁺ ions) acting on specific receptors [e.g., hyperpolarizationactivated and cyclic-nucleotide-gated (HCN) channels, HCN1 and HCN4] in a subset of taste cells on the tongue and palate epithelium (Stevens et al. 2001). These cells do not express gustducin, which is the G-protein participating in the sensing of bitter and sweet taste. Extracellular H+ ions enter sour taste cells through HCN1 and HCN4, resulting in changes in membrane potential and intracellular acidification that play an important role in the transduction of sour taste to the central nervous system (Liman et al. 2014). A second element of the sensory transduction in sour taste cells involves an acid-sensitive K⁺ channel $(K_{IR}2.1)$, which is inhibited by intracellular acidification (Ye et al. 2015). The presence of $K_{IR}2.1$ allows for the amplification of the sensory response. This may help to explain why weak acids (e.g., acetic acid) taste sourer than strong acids (e.g., HCl and H₂SO₄).

The sodium taste receptor [also known as the epithelial sodium channel (ENaC)] has been shown to mediate the sense of salty taste (Chandrashekar et al. 2010). Passive influx of Na⁺ ions through the ion channel via a Na⁺ concentration gradient depolarizes taste receptor cells, leading to changes in their membrane potential and excitement. In mice, the taste for low concentrations of sodium ions (NaCl, typically conferring good appetite) is highly selective and is blocked by an ion-channel inhibitor called amiloride. However, detection of high concentrations of sodium ions (generally eliciting robust behavioral aversion) is not selective for sodium ions and is not blocked by amiloride, and can be substituted by other salts (Ye et al. 2015).

12.4.3 Mechanisms of Actions Bitter, Sweet, or Umami Tastes

Transduction of bitter, sweet, or umami tastes involves G protein-coupled receptors, as noted previously. The binding of a ligand (e.g., a bitter, sweet, or umami tastant) at its taste receptors (e.g., Tas2Rs, Tas1R2 + Tas1R3, or Tas1R1 + Tas1R3, respectively) leads to the dissociation of a heterotrimeric G-protein into an α

Amino acid	Day 2	Day 7	Day 14	Day 21
Ala	1.85 ± 0.24	2.09 ± 0.27	2.26 ± 0.31	2.21 ± 0.34
Arg	0.79 ± 0.09^{b}	1.66 ± 0.20^{a}	1.52 ± 0.23^{a}	1.40 ± 0.25^{a}
Asn	0.52 ± 0.08	0.61 ± 0.10	0.56 ± 0.07	0.50 ± 0.08
Asp	1.03 ± 0.16	1.27 ± 0.21	1.46 ± 0.19	1.35 ± 0.17
Citrulline	0.10 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.02	0.11 ± 0.02	0.12 ± 0.02
Gln	1.96 ± 0.21 ^b	2.06 ± 0.25^{b}	2.28 ± 0.32^{b}	3.25 ± 0.34^{a}
Glu	3.62 ± 0.52	3.04 ± 0.46	2.96 ± 0.30	2.88 ± 0.37
Gly	1.97 ± 0.24	2.05 ± 0.18	2.45 ± 0.14	2.24 ± 0.21
His	0.52 ± 0.07	0.55 ± 0.07	0.58 ± 0.08	0.53 ± 0.08
Ile	0.66 ± 0.07	0.70 ± 0.09	0.74 ± 0.08	0.76 ± 0.10
Leu	2.72 ± 0.29	2.94 ± 0.33	3.15 ± 0.36	3.23 ± 0.41
Lys	3.14 ± 0.32	2.98 ± 0.35	3.22 ± 0.38	3.06 ± 0.43
Met	0.61 ± 0.08	0.64 ± 0.07	0.67 ± 0.09	0.70 ± 0.08
Ornithine	0.40 ± 0.06	0.46 ± 0.05	0.53 ± 0.07	0.56 ± 0.08
Phe	0.88 ± 0.13	0.94 ± 0.15	0.96 ± 0.11	1.02 ± 0.17
Pro	3.72 ± 0.44	3.51 ± 0.48	3.39 ± 0.41	3.26 ± 0.47
Ser	1.27 ± 0.16	1.15 ± 0.18	1.34 ± 0.23	1.22 ± 0.19
Taurine	0.15 ± 0.02	0.18 ± 0.03	0.19 ± 0.03	0.21 ± 0.03
Thr	0.70 ± 0.09	0.76 ± 0.13	0.88 ± 0.15	0.82 ± 0.13
Trp	0.20 ± 0.03	0.22 ± 0.03	0.24 ± 0.03	0.21 ± 0.02
Tyr	1.06 ± 0.15	1.28 ± 0.21	1.40 ± 0.19	1.23 ± 0.22
Val	0.73 ± 0.09	0.78 ± 0.12	0.82 ± 0.10	0.85 ± 0.12
Ammonia ^c	0.28 ± 0.01	0.20 ± 0.02	0.22 ± 0.01	0.21 ± 0.01

Table 12.3 Concentrations of free amino acids and ammonia (mM) in the jejunal luminal fluid of sow-reared piglets

Data are means \pm SEM, n = 6. Milk was obtained from sows on Days 2, 7, 14 and 21 of lactation, as previously described (Wu and Knabe 1994). Jejunal luminal fluid samples were obtained from sow-reared piglets at 1 h after suckling

^{a-b}Within a row, means not sharing the same superscript letters differ (P < 0.05), as analyzed by one-way ANOVA and the Student-Newmans-Keul multiple comparison test (Assaad et al. 2014)

°NH4+ plus NH3

subunit (α -gustducin) and $\beta\gamma$ subunits (Fig. 12.1). The α -gustducin activates phospholipase C $\beta 2$ (a membrane-associated enzyme), which stimulates the release of inositol-1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol from membrane phospholipids (i.e., phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate). The IP3 increases the intracellular concentration of Ca²⁺ through (1) activating Ca²⁺ channels for Ca²⁺ influx and (2) inducing the release of Ca²⁺ from the endoplasmic reticulum. This, in turn, activates the transient receptor potential cation channel M5 (TRPM5), leading to Na⁺ influx and the depolarization of the plasma membrane, followed by the release of ATP from taste cells in the tongue or the production of NO and serotonin by taste cells in the gastrointesti-

nal tract. In the tongue, ATP activates adjacent sensory gustatory (afferent) neurons that send signals (electrical impulses) to brain. In the gastrointestinal tract, the depolarization of the plasma membrane of taste cells enhances the direct release of serotonin from the cells and the release of serotonin from NO-stimulated enteroendocrine cells; serotonin acts on vagal nerve endings, which transmit signals to the forebrain. Thus, in chemosensory transduction, different taste receptors share the use of phospholipase phospholipase C β 2 and the TRPM5 ion channel. The physiological responses help humans and other animals to avoid foods with strong bitter or sour tastes and protect the organisms against poisons.



Fig. 12.1 Taste signaling mechanisms in the digestive tract (including the tongue) of humans and other animals. Extracellular taste stimuli induce a series of chemosensing cascade reactions that are common in both the tongue and the gastrointestinal tract. *NO* nitric oxide, PI(4,5)P2

12.5 Metabolism and Functions of AAs in the Ear

The ear, which is the organ of hearing and in mammals also balance, consists of the outer ear (the pinna and the ear canal), the middle ear (including the tympanic cavity and the three ossicles), and the inner ear (the semicircular canals, the utricle and saccule, and the cochlea for hearing). A signaling cascade enables hearing and balance via a transmembrane channel-like protein (TMC-1) located in the inner ears that is present in mammals, birds, fish, amphibians, and reptiles (Pan et al. 2018). This protein forms a sound- and motion-activated pore that allows the conversion of sound or head movement into nerves that send signals to the brain. Severe dam-

phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate, *TRPM5* transient receptor potential melastatin 5 (selective cation channel), *Tas1R1* taste receptor type 1, member 1, *Tas1R2* taste receptor type 1, member 2, *Tas1R3* taste receptor type 1, member 3, *Tas2R* taste receptor type 2 (Tas2R)

age to the inner ear (as inflicted by cochlear ablation) results in decreases in the concentrations of glutamate and aspartate in the ipsilateral ventral cochlear nucleus and the deep layer of the dorsal cochlear nucleus (Godfrey et al. 2015). Conversely, impaired AA metabolism, a deficiency of glutathione, and oxidative stress increases risk for sensorineural hearing loss (Capaccio et al. 2012). For example, accumulation of homocysteine in the cochlea because of a defect in its recycling into methionine due to mutations of the genes (including methionine synthase) or a deficiency of water-soluble vitamins contributes to the onset and progression of sensorineural hearing loss (Partearroyo et al. 2017). In addition, excessive production of NO from arginine by inducible NO synthase under

inflammatory conditions may result in cochlear damage, and the injury can be prevented by inhibiting inducible NO synthase (Watanabe et al. 2000). Furthermore, the cochleas of normal rats contain substantial amounts of spermidine and spermine but no detectable putrescine (Schweitzer et al. 1986). Interestingly, ornithine decarboxylase activity is not detectable in this tissue (Schweitzer et al. 1986), raising an important question of whether spermidine and spermine in the cochlea are derived from the blood circulation. At present, there is a paucity of information regarding the metabolism of AAs in the different parts of the ear. However, there are reports that the concentrations of aspartate and glutamate are higher in the endolymph than in the perilymph, whereas those of all other AAs are substantially lower in the endolymph than in the perilymph (Thalmann and Thalmann 1987). Thus, it is possible that cell-specific synthesis and catabolism of AAs exist in the ear.

12.6 Metabolism and Functions of AAs in the Skin

The skin is a large organ in the body to provide a physical barrier from the external environment (including water, toxic chemicals, and pathogens), regulate the body temperature, and permit the sensations of physical contact. The skin has several layers, including (1) the epidermis (the outermost layer of skin), (2) the dermis (beneath the epidermis, containing tough connective tissue, hair follicles, and sweat glands); and (3) the deeper subcutaneous tissue (hypodermis) that consists of fat and connective tissue (Slominski et al. 2012). The skin has an extensive neural network represented by somato-sensory and autonomic nerve fibers. Skin health is particularly important for aquatic animals, which are constantly in contact with water and toxic molecules in the living environment. In this volume, Solano (2020) has extensively reviewed the metabolism and functions of AAs in the skin, and here we only highlight key aspects related to skin health and growth. Epidermis melanocytes of the human skin contain all the enzyme [including phenylalanine hydroxylase and tyrosine hydroxylase (Schallreuter et al. 2004)] for converting: (1) phenylalanine into tyrosine and then the tyrosine molecule into the pigment melanin (Serre et al. 2018), and (2) tryptophan into melatonin and serotonin (Slominski et al. 2008, 2012). Human phenylalanine hydroxylase is activated by H₂O₂, which provides a mechanism for increasing the intracellular provision of L-tyrosine for melanogenesis in melanocytes (Schallreuter et al. 2004). The skin's color is determined by the amount of melanin and related metabolites in melanocytes. Melanin absorbs the harmful sunlight UV rays and protects the cutaneous DNA from damage (Fajuyigbe et al. 2018), whereas melatonin protects the skin from oxidative stress and regulates hair growth (Slominski et al. 2008). Similarly, urocanic acid (a metabolite of histidine in melanocytes) confers a photoprotective effect in the skin. Furthermore, histamine is produced from histidine by both mast cells and other cells of epidermis and dermis to act locally through binding to H1-H4 receptors (Slominski et al. 2012).

Collagen is the most abundant protein in the skin. Thus, adequate provision of glycine and proline is essential for skin health (Li and Wu 2018). These two AAs are generally deficient in plant-source foods (Hou et al. 2019) but are highly abundant in meat (Wu 2020b). Thus, regular consumption of meat (e.g., beef) is beneficial for delaying skin ageing and maintaining bone strength in humans. For a 70-kg healthy adult consuming 52.5 g protein/day, dietary intake provides only 14% of the daily requirement for glycine, and the endogenous synthesis of glycine from 4-hydroyproline in tissues (including the skin, Fig. 12.2) contributes to 59% of the daily requirement for glycine (Wu 2020b). Likewise, for piglets reared by sows, milk-borne and endogenous collagen-derived 4-hydroxyproline contribute to 14% and 31%, respectively, of glycine needed by the young pig (Wu et al. 2019). Nearly all ($\geq 95\%$) of the skin-derived 4-hydroxyproline is used for glycine synthesis in the body. This metabolic pathway allows for the conversion of (1) arginine and proline into glycine via the posttranslational hydroxylation of collagen's proline residues in all animals, and (2) glutamine and



Fig. 12.2 Catabolism of 4-hydroxyproline in animal tissues. This metabolic pathway occurs in humans and other animals (including fish), with the skin, small intestine, liver, kidneys and skeletal muscle being the major sites for the conversion of 4-hydroxyproline into glycine. Through L-amino acid oxidase, 4-hydrocyproline is oxidized to pyrrole-2-carboxylate. *Ala* alanine, *AGT* alanine-glyoxylate aminotransferase, *DAO* D-amino acid oxidase,

glutamate into glycine in humans and other mammals (including pigs, cattle and rats), as well as birds and fish.

Lysine is required for the proper structure of collagen and elastin proteins (Li and Wu 2018). Specifically, some lysine residues in these proteins must be hydroxylated by vitamin C-dependent lysyl hydroxylase and lysyl oxidase for their maturation and function. In humans, about 20% of the collagen's lysine residues are 5-hydroxylated (Veis and Anesey 1965), followed by the addition of carbohydrate moieties through the action of glycosyl transferases. Once

GLO glycolate oxidase, *Glu* glutamate, *GO* glyoxylate oxidase, *GPT* glutamate pyruvate transaminase, *GR* glyoxylate reductase, α -*KG* α -ketoglutarate, *LDH* lactate dehydrogenase, *MTHF* N⁵-N¹⁰-methylene tetrahydrofolate, *OAA* oxaloacetate, *PDH* pyruvate dehydrogenase, *Pyr* pyruvate, *SHMT* serine hydroxymethyl transferase, *THF* tetrahydrofolate. Adapted from Wu et al. (2019)

the tropocollagen or proelastin is secreted to the extracellular matrix, some ε -amine groups of lysyl or 5-hydroxylysyl residues are oxidized to aminoadipic semialdehyde by lysyl oxidases (a copper-containing amine oxidase in the skin). The aldehyde group of aminoadipic semialdehyde further reacts with some ε -NH₂ groups of unaltered lysyl residues to form covalent cross-linked bonds among tropocollagen units. This is essential to tensile structure and strength. Other cross-linking reactions may result in the formation of lysinonorleucine, merodesmosine, and desmosine or isodesmosine. Note that desmosine

is primarily responsible for the elasticity of elastin and is often used to indicate the content of the elastin (Stoilov et al. 2018).

12.7 Conclusion and Perspectives

AAs as well as their receptors and transporters play an important role in the growth, development, and functions of sense organs in humans and other animals (including fish). Knowledge of the smell and taste of AAs can guide the practice of their supplementation to diets for humans and other animals. Abnormal metabolism of AAs results in a deformity of tissue structures and the dysfunction of the organs. For AAs that are synthesized in the sense organs, the necessary biochemical pathways are cell-, tissue, and species-specific. This metabolic principle also applies to the catabolism of all AAs in the organs. To date, there is a large database for AA metabolism in the eye and skin under normal (e.g., developmental changes and physiological responses) and pathological (e.g., nutritional and metabolic diseases, nutrient deficiency, infections, and cancer) conditions. However, relatively little is known about the synthesis or catabolism of AAs in the ear, nose, and tongue. This should be an active area of biomedical research, particularly regarding healthy ageing, nasal and sinus cancers, the regulation of food intake, and oral cavity health). Because BCAA transaminase, glutamate-pyruvate transaminase, and glutamateoxaloacetate transaminase are widely spread in animal tissues (Wu 2013), it is expected that BCAAs, glutamate, alanine, and aspartate are degraded in the ear, nose, and tongue as in the eyes and skin. The development and health of the sense organs are particularly vital for aquatic animals because they are constantly exposed to water, potentially harmful chemicals, and predators in their naturally living environment. Future research is warranted to study how prenatal and postnatal nutrition and environmental pollution affect the growth, development and health of the sense organs, as well as their expression of genes (including epigenetics) and proteins in humans and other animals. This knowledge can be applied

to prevent and treat disorders in the eyes, ears, nose, tongue, and skin.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by Texas A&M AgriLife Research (H-8200). The author thanks Dr. Ana San Gabriel for helpful discussion.

References

- Assaad H, Zhou L, Carroll RJ, Wu G (2014) Rapid publication-ready MS-Word tables for one-way ANOVA. SpringerPlus 3:474
- Bachmanov AA, Bosak NP, Glendinning JI, Inoue M, Li X, Manita S et al (2016) Genetics of amino acid taste and appetite. Adv Nutr 7:806S–822S
- Banik DD, Benfey ED, Martin LE, Kay KE, Loney GC, Nelson AR et al (2019) Multiple PLCβ signaling pathways in taste receptor cells contribute to the detection of bitter, sweet and umami stimuli. BioRxiv. https:// doi.org/10.1101/660589
- Birch BG, Kemp SE (1989) Apparent specific volumes and tastes of amino acids. Chem Senses 14:249–258
- Bourne RR, Stevens GA, White RA, Smith JL, Flaxman SR, Price H et al (2013) Causes of vision loss worldwide, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis. Lancet Glob Health 1:e339–e349
- Bragg DD (1953) An attempt to determine the cause of curled or deformed tongues in young Beltsville White turkeys. Poult Sci 32:294–303
- Brandstätter JH, Koulen P, Wässle H (1998) Diversity of glutamate receptors in the mammalian retina. Vis Res 38:1385–1397
- Bui BV, Hu RG, Acosta ML, Donaldson P, Vingrys AJ, Kalloniatis M (2009) Glutamate metabolic pathways and retinal function. J Neurochem 111:589–599
- Capaccio P, Pignataro L, Gaini LM, Sigismund PE, Novembrino C, De Giuseppe R et al (2012) Unbalanced oxidative status in idiopathic sudden sensorineural hearing loss. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 269:449–453
- Caprio J (1978) Olfaction and taste in the channel catfish: an electrophysiological study of the responses to amino acids and derivatives. J Comp Physiol A 123:357–371
- Caprio J, Byrd RP (1984) Electrophysiological evidence for acidic, basic, and neutral amino acid olfactory receptors in the catfish. J Gen Physiol 84:403–422
- Chandrashekar J, Mueller KL, Hoon MA, Adler E (2000) T2Rs functions as bitter taste receptors. Cell 100:703–711
- Chandrashekar J, Hoon MA, Ryba NJ, Zuker CS (2006) The receptors and cells for mammalian taste. Nature 444:288–294
- Chandrashekar J, Kuhn C, Oka Y, Yarmolinsky DA, Hummler E, Ryba NJ, Zuker CS (2010) The cells and peripheral representation of sodium taste in mice. Nature 464:297–301

- Chanut E, Nguyen-Legros J, Labarthe B, Trouvin JH, Versaux-Botteri C (2002) Serotonin synthesis and its light-dark variation in the rat retina. J Neurochem 83:863–869
- Chao JR, Knight K, Engel AL, Jankowski C, Wang Y, Manson MA, Gu H, Djukovic D, Raftery D, Hurley JB, Du J (2017) Human retinal pigment epithelial cells prefer proline as a nutrient and transport metabolic intermediates to the retinal side. J Biol Chem 292:12895–12905
- Chemuturi NV, Donovan MD (2006) Metabolism of dopamine by the nasal mucosa. J Pharm Sci 95:2507–2515
- Do Carmo A, Lopes C, Santos M, Proença R, Cunha-Vaza J, Carvalho AP (1998) Nitric oxide synthase activity and L-arginine metabolism in the retinas from streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Gen Pharmacol 30:319–324
- Duboc A, Hanoteau N, Simonutti M, Rudolf G, Nehlig A, Sahel JA et al (2004) Vigabatrin, the GABAtransaminase inhibitor, damages cone photoreceptors in rats. Ann Neurol 55:695–705
- Fajuyigbe D, Lwin SM, Diffey BL, Baker R, Tobin DJ, Sarkany RPE, Young AR (2018) Melanin distribution in human epidermis affords localized protection against DNA photodamage and concurs with skin cancer incidence difference in extreme phototypes. FASEB J 32:3700–3706
- Fernstrom JD (2013) Large neutral amino acids: dietary effects on brain neurochemistry and function. Amino Acids 45:419–430
- Fernstrom MH, Baker RL, Fernstrom JD (1989) In vivo tyrosine hydroxylation rate in retina: effects of phenylalanine and tyrosine administration in rats pretreated with p-chlorophenylalanine. Brain Res 499:291–298
- Fleischer J, Breer H, Strotmann J (2009) Mammalian olfactory receptors. Front Cell Neurosci 3:9
- François J (1972) Ocular manifestations in aminoacidopathies. Adv Ophthalmol 25:28–103
- Frayser R, Buse MG (1978) Branched chain amino acid metabolism in the retina of diabetic rats. Diabetologia 14:171–176
- Ganea E, Harding JJ (2006) Glutathione-related enzymes and the eye. Curr Eye Res 31:1–11
- Gantner ML, Eade K, Wallace M, Handzlik MK, Fallon R, Trombley J et al (2019) Serine and lipid metabolism in macular disease and peripheral neuropathy. N Engl J Med 381:1422–1433
- Garhöfer G, Resch H, Lung S, Weigert G, Schmetterer L (2005) Intravenous administration of L-arginine increases retinal and choroidal blood flow. Am J Ophthalmol 140:69–76
- Geggel H, Ament M, Heckenlively J (1985) Nutritional requirement for taurine in patients receiving longterm, parenteral nutrition. N Engl J Med 312:142–146
- Godfrey DA, Chen K, Godfrey MA, Lee AC, Crass SP, Shipp D et al (2015) Cochlear ablation effects on amino acid levels in the chinchilla cochlear nucleus. Neuroscience 297:137–159
- Grau CR (1945) Deformity of the tongue associated with amino acid deficiencies in the chick. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 59:177–178

- Gustincich S, Feigenspan A, Wu DK, Koopman LJ, Raviola E (1997) Control of dopamine release in the retina: a transgenic approach to neural networks. Neuron 18:723–736
- Harada K (1985) Feeding attraction activities of amino acids and nitrogenous bases for oriental weatherfish. Bull Jpn Soc Sci Fish 51:461–466
- Hasegawa T, Ikeda HO, Iwai S, Muraoka Y, Tsuruyama T, Okamoto-Furuta K et al (2018) Branched chain amino acids attenuate major pathologies in mouse models of retinal degeneration and glaucoma. Heliyon 4:e00544
- Hayes KC, Carey RE, Schmidt SY (1975) Retinal degeneration associated with taurine deficiency in the cat. Science 188:949–951
- Hilton EJ, Hosking SL, Betts T (2004) The effect of antiepileptic drugs on visual performance. Seizure 13:113–128
- Hou YQ, He WL, Hu SD, Wu G (2019) Composition of polyamines and amino acids in plant-source foods for human consumption. Amino Acids 51:1153–1165
- Hu SD, Li XL, Rezaei R, Meininger CJ, McNeal CJ, Wu G (2015) Safety of long-term dietary supplementation with L-arginine in pigs. Amino Acids 47:925–936
- Iuvone PM, Chong NW, Bernard M, Brown AD, Thomas KB, Klein DC (2000) Melatonin biosynthesis in chicken retina: regulation of tryptophan hydroxylase and arylalkylamine N-acetyltransferase. Adv Exp Med Biol 460:31–42
- Jaggupilli A, Howard R, Upadhyaya JD, Bhullar RP, Chelikani P (2016) Bitter taste receptors: novel insights into the biochemistry and pharmacology. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 77:18–96
- Jammoul F, Wang Q, Nabbout R, Coriat C, Duboc A, Simonutti M et al (2008) Taurine deficiency is a cause of vigabatrin-induced retinal phototoxicity. Ann Neurol 65:98–107
- Kaiser-Kupfer MI, Caruso RC, Valle D (1991) Gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina. Long-term reduction of ornithine slows retinal degeneration. Arch Ophthalmol 109:1539–1548
- Kalloniatis M, Loh CS, Acosta ML, Tomisich G, Zhu Y, Nivison-Smith L et al (2013) Retinal amino acid neurochemistry in health and disease. Clin Exp Optom 96:310–332
- Koshiyama Y, Gotoh T, Miyanaka K, Kobayashi T, Negi A, Mori M (2000) Expression and localization of enzymes of arginine metabolism in the rat eye. Curr Eye Res 20:313–321
- Krauss GL (2009) Evaluating risks for vigabatrin treatment. Epilepsy Curr 9:125–129
- Krebs HA (1935) Metabolism of amino acids. IV. The synthesis of glutamine from glutamic acid and ammona and the enxymatic hydrolysis of glutamine in animal tissues. Biochem J 29:1951–1969
- Kurihara K (2009) Glutamate: from discovery as a food flavor to role as a basic taste (umami). Am J Clin Nutr 90:719S–722S
- Laska M (2014) Olfactory perception of 6 amino acids by human subjects. Chem Senses 35:279–287
- Lee AA, Owyang C (2017) Sugars, sweet taste receptors, and brain responses. Nutrients 9:653

- Li X, Staszewski L, Xu H, Durick K, Zoller M, Adler E (2002) Human receptors for sweet and umami taste. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:4692–4696
- Liman ER, Zhang YV, Montell C (2014) Peripheral coding of taste. Neuron 81:984–1000
- Lu M, Wu B (2016) Structural studies of G proteincoupled receptors. IUBMB Life 68:894–903
- Mackay RJ, McEntyre CJ, Henderson C, Lever M, George PM (2011) Trimethylaminuria: causes and diagnosis of a socially distressing condition. Clin Biochem Rev 32:33–43
- Masson J (2019) Serotonin in retina. Biochimie 161:51-55
- Matsunami H, Montmayeur JP, Buck LB (2000) A family of candidate taste receptors in human and mouse. Nature 404:601–604
- McNeal CJ, Meininger CJ, Wilborn CD, Tekwe CD, Wu G (2018) Safety of dietary supplementation with arginine in adult humans. Amino Acids 50:1215–1229
- Messenger J, Clark S, Massick S (2013) A review of trimethylaminuria: (fish odor syndrome). J Clin Aesthet Dermatol 6:45–48
- Muto T, Tsuchiya D, Morikawa K, Jingami H (2007) Structures of the extracellular regions of the group II/ III metabotropic glutamate receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:3759–3764
- Nivison-Smith L et al (2014) Amino acid signatures in the developing mouse retina. Int J Dev Neurosci 33:62–80
- Ostrin LA (2019) Ocular and systemic melatonin and the influence of light exposure. Clin Exp Optom 102:99–108
- Pan B, Akyuz N, Liu XP, Asai Y, Nist-Lund C, Kurima K et al (2018) TMC1 forms the pore of mechanosensory transduction channels in vertebrate inner ear hair cells. Neuron 99:736–753
- Parkinson D, Baughman R, Masland RH, Rando RR (1981) Dopamine metabolism following irreversible inactivation of aromatic amino acid decarboxylase in retina. J Neurosci 1:1205–1210
- Partearroyo T, Vallecillo N, Pajares MA, Varela-Moreiras G, Varela-Nieto I (2017) Cochlear homocysteine metabolism at the crossroad of nutrition and sensorineural hearing loss. Front Mol Neurosci 10:107
- Patel C, Rojas M, Narayanan SP, Zhang W, Xu Z, Lemtalsi T et al (2013) Arginase as a mediator of diabetic retinopathy. Front Immunol 4:173
- Popova E, Kupenova P (2017) Interaction between the serotoninergic and GABAergic systems in frog retina as revealed by electroretinogram. Acta Neurobiol Exp 77:351–361
- Porter, Scully C (2006) Oral malodour (halitosis). BMJ 333:632–635
- Pulido JE, Pulido JS, Erie JC, Arroyo J, Bertram K, Lu MJ, Shippy SA (2007) A role for excitatory amino acids in diabetic eye disease. Exp Diabetes Res 2007:36150
- Rezaei R, Wu ZL, Hou YQ, Bazer FW, Wu G (2016) Amino acids and mammary gland development: nutritional implications for neonatal growth. J Anim Sci Biotechnol 7:20

- Ripps H, Sen W (2012) Taurine: A "very essential" amino acid. Mol Vis 18:2673–2686
- Sáenz DA, Cymeryng CB, De Nichilo A, Sacca GB, Keller Sarmiento MI, Rosenstein RE (2002) Photic regulation of L-arginine uptake in the golden hamster retina. J Neurochem 80:512–519
- San Gabriel A, Uneyama H, Yoshie S, Torii K (2005) Cloning and characterization of a novel mGluR1 variant from vallate papillae that functions as a receptor for Lglutamate stimuli. Chem Senses 30(Suppl 1):i25–i26
- San Gabriel A, Maekawa T, Uneyama H, Torii K (2009) Metabotropic glutamate receptor type 1 in taste tissue. Am J Clin Nutr 90:743S–746S
- Savitskyi IV, Semenko VV, Serdiuk VM (2017) Metabolic correction of experimental diabetic retinopathy. J Ophthalmol (Ukraine) 6:72–77
- Scerri TS, Quaglieri A, Cai C, Zernant J, Matsunami N, Baird L et al (2017) Genomewide analyses identify common variants associated with macular telangiectasia type 2. Nat Genet 49:559–567
- Schallreuter KU, Wazir U, Kothari S, Gibbons NC, Moore J, Wood JM (2004) Human phenylalanine hydroxylase is activated by H₂O₂: a novel mechanism for increasing the L-tyrosine supply for melanogenesis in melanocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 322:88–92
- Schiffman SS, Sennewald K, Gagnon J (1981) Comparison of taste qualities and thresholds of D- and L-amino acids. Physiol Behav 27:51–59
- Schweitzer L, Casseday JH, Sjoerdsma A, McCann PP, Bartolome JV (1986) Identification of polyamines in the cochlea of the rat and their potential role in hearing. Brain Res Bull 16:215–218
- Serre C, Busuttil V, Botto JM (2018) Intrinsic and extrinsic regulation of human skin melanogenesis and pigmentation. Int J Cosmet Sci:1–20
- Shi P, Zhang J, Yang H, Zhang YP (2003) Adaptive diversification of bitter taste receptor genes in mammalian evolution. Mol Biol Evol 20:805–814
- Simón MV, Spalm FHP, Vera MS, Rotstein NP (2019) Sphingolipids as emerging mediators in retina degeneration. Front Cell Neurosci 13:246
- Slominski A, Tobin DJ, Zmijewski MA, Wortsman J, Paus R (2008) Melatonin in the skin: synthesis, metabolism and functions. Trends Endocrinol Metab 19:17–24
- Slominski AT, Zmijewski MA, Skobowiat C, Zbytek B, Slominski RM, Steketee JD (2012) Sensing the environment: regulation of local and global homeostasis by the skin neuroendocrine system. Adv Anat Embryol Cell Biol 212:1–115
- Solano F (2020) Metabolism and functions of amino acids in the skin. Adv Exp Med Biol 1265:187–199
- Stevens DR, Seifert R, Bufe B, Müller F, Kremmer E, Gauss R et al (2001) Hyperpolarization-activated channels HCN1 and HCN4 mediate responses to sour stimuli. Nature 413:631–635
- Stoilov I, Starcher BC, Mecham RP, Broekelmann TJ (2018) Measurement of elastin, collagen, and total protein levels in tissues. Methods Cell Biol 143:133–146

- Thalmann R, Thalmann I (1987) Role of amino acids in the inner ear with special reference to tectorial membrane. Adv Otorhinolaryngol 37:5–10
- Tosini G, Baba K, Hwang CK, Iuvone PM (2012) Melatonin: an underappreciated player in retinal physiology and pathophysiology. Exp Eye Res 103:82–89
- Treacy EP, Akerman BR, Chow LM, Youil R, Bibeau C, Lin J et al (1998) Mutations of the flavin-containing monooxygenase gene (FMO3) cause trimethylaminuria, a defect in detoxication. Hum Mol Genet 7:839–845
- Tricas TC, Kajiura SM, Summers AP (2009) Response of the hammerhead shark olfactory epithelium to amino acid stimuli. J Comp Physiol A 195:947–954
- Tsubuku S, Hatayama K, Mawatari K, Smriga M, Kimura T (2004) Thirteen-week oral toxicity study of l-arginine in rats. Int J Toxicol 23:101–105
- Valle D, Walser M, Brusilow SW, Kaiser-Kupfer M (1980) Gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina: amino acid metabolism and correction of hyperornithinemia with an arginine-deficient diet. J Clin Invest 65:371–378
- Veis A, Anesey J (1965) Modes of intermolecular crosslinking in mature insoluble collagen. J Biol Chem 240:3899–3908
- Wang T, Lawler AM, Steel G, Sipila I, Milam AH, Valle D (1995) Mice lacking ornithine-delta-aminotransferase have paradoxical neonatal hypoornithinaemia and retinal degeneration. Nat Genet 11:185–190
- Wang T, Steel G, Milam AH, Valle D (2000) Correction of ornithine accumulation prevents retinal degeneration in a mouse model of gyrate atrophy of the choroid and retina. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:1224–1229
- Watanabe KI, Hess A, Bloch W, Michel O (2000) Inhibition of inducible nitric oxide synthase lowers the cochlear damage by lipopolysaccharide in Guinea pigs. Free Radic Res 32:363–370

- Witkovsky P (2004) Dopamine and retinal function. Doc Ophthalmol 108:17–40
- Witkovsky P, Dearry A (1991) Functional roles of dopamine in the vertebrate retina. Progr Retin Res 11:247–292
- Wu G (2013) Amino acids: biochemistry and nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Wu G (2018) Principles of animal nutrition. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Wu G (2020a) Management of metabolic disorders (including metabolic diseases) in ruminant and nonruminant animals. In: Bazer FW, Lamb GC, Wu G (eds) Animal agriculture: challenges, innovations, and sustainability. Elsevier, New York, pp 471–492
- Wu G (2020b) Important roles of dietary taurine, creatine, carnosine, anserine and hydroxyproline in human nutrition and health. Amino Acids 52:329–360
- Wu G, Knabe DA (1994) Free and protein-bound amino acids in sow's colostrum and milk. J Nutr 124:415–424
- Wu G, Morris SM Jr (1998) Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. Biochem J 336:1–17
- Wu G, Fang FZ, Yang S, Lupton JR, Turner ND (2004) Glutathione metabolism and its implications for health. J Nutr 134:489–492
- Wu ZL, Hou YQ, Dai ZL, Hu CA, Wu G (2019) Metabolism, nutrition and redox signaling of hydroxyproline. Antioxid Redox Signal 30:674–682
- Ye W, Chang RB, Bushman JD, Tu YH, Mulhall EM, Wilson CE et al (2015) The K⁺ channel $K_{IR}2.1$ functions in tandem with proton influx to mediate sour taste transduction. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 113:E229–E238
- Zhao GQ, Zhang Y, Hoon MA, Chandrashekar J, Erlenbach I, Ryba NJ, Zuker CS (2003) The receptors for mammalian sweet and umami taste. Cell 115:255–266
Index

A

Amino acids, 1–14, 21–35, 39–51, 57–67, 71–89, 97–105, 111–125, 133–162, 167–179, 187–197, 201–214 Animals, 1, 22, 42, 58, 72, 98, 123, 134, 154, 168,

Animais, 1, 22, 42, 38, 72, 98, 123, 134, 134, 168 187, 201

Atherosclerosis, 40, 42, 43, 47-50, 81

B

Bacterial metabolites, 7, 10-13, 66

Barrier (mucosal), 2, 7–12, 14, 40, 58–66, 134, 135, 137, 139, 140, 169, 170, 172, 174, 187, 190, 212 Brain, 27, 83, 99, 155, 167, 190, 202

С

Cells, 2, 22, 40, 58, 73, 98, 111, 134, 154, 168, 187, 202 Central nervous system, 167–169, 172–179, 207, 209 Collagen, 42, 46, 50, 63, 64, 188, 189, 191, 192, 194–196, 204, 212, 213

D

D-amino acid, 98, 100–101, 105, 137, 213 Dermis, 187, 188, 212 Diabetes, 27, 40, 42, 43, 50, 51, 77, 84, 87, 98, 101, 102, 123, 154, 156, 160–162, 203–205 Dietary, 1, 26, 43, 58, 77, 98, 112, 134, 159, 169, 192, 202

E

Elastin, 188, 191, 192, 196, 213, 214 Endothelium, 23, 42, 43, 45, 48–50, 81 Epidermis, 187–189, 196, 212

F

Food intake, 7, 22, 61, 167-179, 214

G

Ghrelin, 98, 99, 104, 105

Glucagon like protein-1 (GLP-1), 13, 73, 98, 99, 103, 104 Glucocorticoids, 27, 58, 61, 73, 74, 98, 101, 103, 155,

156, 204

H

Health, 1–14, 21, 30, 39–51, 60, 62, 66, 72, 80, 84, 87, 89, 97–105, 111–125, 135, 136, 153–162, 169, 171, 174, 179, 187, 189, 193, 194, 196, 203, 204, 212, 214

Humans, 1, 22, 41, 58, 72, 99, 112, 134, 153, 169, 187, 201

Hypertension, 40, 42, 43, 46, 48, 50, 51, 62, 88, 98–101, 123–125, 154, 176

I

Inflammatory response, 10, 58, 60, 62, 64–67, 88 Integrity, 12, 13, 58, 60, 62, 66, 87, 139, 140, 143, 145, 169, 193, 206 Intestinal barrier, 7–12, 61–63, 140 Intestinal epithelial cells, 2–5, 7, 11, 137, 138, 140, 142, 143, 145 Intestinal microbiota, 2, 6, 7, 10, 11, 13, 66, 134–137, 145

Intracellular metabolism, 4, 32, 86

J

Junction, 8-10, 59, 63, 138-141, 169, 187, 188

K

Keratins, 188, 189, 192, 193 Kidney, 5, 27, 43, 71, 154, 174, 213

L

L-Arginine, 33, 40–44, 58, 59, 62, 81, 82, 86, 102, 119, 120, 174, 177, 178, 202, 208 L-Cysteine, 40, 49, 50, 104, 140, 207, 208 Leptin, 98, 99, 104, 105 L-Glutamine, 40, 44–46, 59, 62, 102, 208

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

G. Wu (ed.), *Amino Acids in Nutrition and Health*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1265, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45328-2

Liver, 5, 21, 42, 75, 103, 121, 153, 174, 194, 205 L-Tryptophan, 40, 46–49, 104, 143, 208 Lung dysfunction, 57–67

Μ

- Macrophages, 8, 23, 40, 43, 46, 47, 59, 60, 63–66, 88, 118, 134, 135, 143, 145, 154 Maternal nutrient restriction, 153–162 Mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR), 8, 98, 102,
- 103, 116, 117, 119, 120, 122–125, 136–138, 143, 155–161, 192
- Melanin, 31, 32, 188, 192, 193, 206, 212
- Metabolic syndrome, 28, 101, 154, 157, 160, 161
- Metabolism, 2, 21, 40, 58, 72, 100, 112, 135, 154, 167, 187, 202
- Microbiota, 2, 5-14, 65, 66, 134-137, 142, 145, 188

Ν

- Neurotransmission, 169, 171, 174, 179, 203, 205
- Neurotransmitters, 11, 41, 46, 84, 154, 167-169,
- 171–173, 176–179, 196, 202, 203, 206
- Nutrition, 14, 31, 32, 61–63, 67, 111–125, 137, 140, 169, 214

0

Organs, 4, 9, 21, 22, 27, 30–33, 40, 58, 60, 64, 67, 72–74, 77, 78, 81–83, 88, 98, 101, 111, 122, 125, 134, 143, 154, 155, 167, 169, 187, 201–214

P

Pregnancy, 112, 114-125, 153-155, 159, 161

R

Receptors, 7, 29, 40, 64, 74, 98, 124, 136, 156, 168, 193, 201 Renal dysfunction, 72, 81, 88, 89 Reproduction, 62, 98, 111, 112, 114, 122, 125

\mathbf{S}

- Sensing, 7, 98, 115, 116, 138, 207, 209
- Signaling pathways, 31, 49, 65, 66, 102, 115–117, 119, 120, 125, 136, 138, 142
- Skeletal muscle, 22, 27, 30, 32, 33, 76, 78, 79, 82–84, 86, 89, 99, 102, 125, 153–162, 169, 171, 173, 175, 213
- Skin, 30, 32, 187-196, 201, 202, 212-214
- Skincare, 189, 191, 192, 194, 195
- Small for gestational age (SGA), 153, 154, 159, 161
- Systems, 23, 43, 58, 73, 99, 112, 134, 157, 167, 187, 202

Т

- T cells, 40, 48, 64, 88, 134, 135, 138, 143-145
- Thyroid, 31, 73, 74, 84, 98, 103, 105, 178
- Tight, 8, 9, 59, 138, 141
- Tissues, 2, 22, 43, 61, 74, 101, 111, 140, 154, 173, 187, 202

U

Uterus, 83, 113, 116, 117, 119

V

Vascular disease, 41, 42, 44, 51 Vascular smooth muscle cells, 40